JMIR Nursing

Virtualizing care from hospital to community: Mobile health, telehealth, and digital patient care Volume 5 (2022), Issue 1 ISSN 2562-7600 Editor in Chief: Elizabeth Borycki, RN, PhD, FIAHIS, FACMI, FCAHS, Social Dimensions of Health Program Director, Health and Society Program Director, Office of Interdisciplinary Studies; Professor, School of Health Information Science, University of Victoria, Canada

Contents

Viewpoint

Virtual Reality in Clinical Practice and Research: Viewpoint on Novel Applications for Nursing (e34036) Hyojin Son, Alyson Ross, Elizabeth Mendoza-Tirado, Lena Lee.	4
Reviews	
Technology-Supported Guidance Models Stimulating the Development of Critical Thinking in Clinical Practice: Mixed Methods Systematic Review (e37380)	
Jaroslav Zlamal, Edith Roth Gjevjon, Mariann Fossum, Marianne Trygg Solberg, Simen Steindal, Camilla Strandell-Laine, Marie Hamilton Larsen, Andréa Nes.	11
The Impact of Digital Health Transformation Driven by COVID-19 on Nursing Practice: Systematic Literature Review (e40348)	
Robab Abdolkhani, Sacha Petersen, Ruby Walter, Lin Zhao, Kerryn Butler-Henderson, Karen Livesay	24
Digital Technologies and the Role of Health Care Professionals: Scoping Review Exploring Nurses' Skills in the Digital Era and in the Light of the COVID-19 Pandemic (e37631)	
Valentina Isidori, Francesco Diamanti, Lorenzo Gios, Giulia Malfatti, Francesca Perini, Andrea Nicolini, Jessica Longhini, Stefano Forti, Federica Fraschini, Giancarlo Bizzarri, Stefano Brancorsini, Alessandro Gaudino.	39

Original Papers

RenderX

Nurses' Experiences Using an Interactive System to Assess and Manage Treatment-Related Symptoms of Patients With Pancreatic Cancer: Interview Study (e36654) Maria Mangsbacka, Tina Gustavell.	47
The Outcomes of App-Based Health Coaching to Improve Dietary Behavior Among Nurses in a Tertiary Hospital: Pilot Intervention Study (e36811) Wei Lim, Stephanie Fook-Chong, John Lim, Wee Gan	55
Supporting Decision-Making About Patient Mobility in the Intensive Care Unit Nurse Work Environment: Work Domain Analysis (e41051) Anna Krupp, Linsey Steege, John Lee, Karen Lopez, Barbara King	65

JMIR Nursing 2022 | vol. 5 | iss. 1 | p.1

Code-Switching Automatic Speech Recognition for Nursing Record Documentation: System Development and Evaluation (e37562)	
Shih-Yen Hou, Ya-Lun Wu, Kai-Ching Chen, Ting-An Chang, Yi-Min Hsu, Su-Jung Chuang, Ying Chang, Kai-Cheng Hsu.	76
Web-Based Training for Nurses on Using a Decision Aid to Support Shared Decision-making About Prenatal Screening: Parallel Controlled Trial (e31380)	
Alex Poulin Herron, Titilayo Agbadje, Sabrina Guay-Bélanger, Gérard Ngueta, Geneviève Roch, François Rousseau, France Légaré	86
Investigating Psychological Differences Between Nurses and Other Health Care Workers From the Asia-Pacific Region During the Early Phase of COVID-19: Machine Learning Approach (e32647)	
Ahmad, Benjamin Tan, Roger Ho, Matthew Chua, Vijay Sharma.	100
Acceptance of an Internet-Based Team Development Tool Aimed at Improving Work-Related Well-being in Nurses: Cross-sectional Study (e36702)	
Sylvia Broetje, Georg Bauer, Gregor Jenny.	117
Digital Health Literacy During the COVID-19 Pandemic Among Health Care Providers in Resource-Limited Settings: Cross-sectional Study (e39866)	
Mohammedjud Ahmed, Habtamu Guadie, Habtamu Ngusie, Gizaw Teferi, Monika Gullslett, Samuel Hailegebreal, Mekonnen Hunde, Dereje Donacho, Binyam Tilahun, Shuayib Siraj, Gebiso Debele, Mohammedamin Hajure, Shegaw Mengiste	130
Understanding Whole-Person Health and Resilience During the COVID-19 Pandemic and Beyond: A Cross-sectional and Descriptive Correlation Study (e38063)	
Sripriya Rajamani, Robin Austin, Elena Geiger-Simpson, Ratchada Jantraporn, Suhyun Park, Karen Monsen.	141
Acceptability of an mHealth Family Self-management Intervention (myFAMI) for Pediatric Transplantation Families: Qualitative Focus (e39263)	
Stacee Lerret, Erin Flynn, Rosemary White-Traut, Estella Alonso, Alisha Mavis, M Jensen, Caitlin Peterson, Rachel Schiffman.	155
Normalizing Telemonitoring in Nurse-Led Care Models for Complex Chronic Patient Populations: Case Study (e36346)	
Kayleigh Gordon, Katie Dainty, Carolyn Steele Gray, Jane DeLacy, Amika Shah, Emily Seto.	166
Patients' Experiences of Care With or Without the Support of an Interactive App During Neoadjuvant Chemotherapy for Breast Cancer: Interview Study (e39983)	
Maria Fjell, Ann Langius-Eklöf, Marie Nilsson, Kay Sundberg.	179
Uncovering Important Drivers of the Increase in the Use of Virtual Care Technologies in Nursing Care: Quantitative Analysis From the 2020 National Survey of Canadian Nurses (e33586)	
Waldo Beauséjour, Simon Hagens.	190
Nurses' Perspectives on an Electronic Medication Administration Record in Home Health Care: Qualitative Interview Study (e35363)	
Sara Karnehed, Lena-Karin Erlandsson, Margaretha Norell Pejner.	204
Investigating #covidnurse Messages on TikTok: Descriptive Study (e35274)	
Bhavya Yalamanchili, Lorie Donelle, Leo-Felix Jurado, Joseph Fera, Corey Basch	215
Developing and Testing a Protocol for Managing Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation of Patients with Suspected or Confirmed COVID-19: In Situ Simulation Study (e38044)	
Azizeh Sowan, Jenny Heins, Christopher Dayton, Elizabeth Scherer, Wing Tam, Haritha Saikumar.	221

XSL•FO RenderX

Nurses' Experiences After Implementation of an Organization-Wide Electronic Medical Record: Qualitative Descriptive Study (e39596)	
Rebecca Jedwab, Elizabeth Manias, Alison Hutchinson, Naomi Dobroff, Bernice Redley.	229
Exploring the Impact of Virtual Reflection Groups on Advanced Practice Nurse Students During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Focus Group Study With Master's Students (e40418)	
Jofrid Høybakk, Andréa Nes, Monica Kvande, Marianne Solberg	243
Nurse-Led Virtual Delivery of PIECES in Canadian Long-Term Care Homes to Support the Care of Older Adults Experiencing Responsive Behaviors During COVID-19: Qualitative Descriptive Study (e42731)	
Anna Garnett, Denise Connelly, Marie-Lee Yous, Lillian Hung, Nancy Snobelen, Melissa Hay, Cherie Furlan-Craievich, Shannon Snelgrove, Melissa Babcock, Jacqueline Ripley, Pam Hamilton, Cathy Sturdy-Smith, Maureen O'Connell.	254
An mHealth App-Based Self-management Intervention for Family Members of Pediatric Transplant Recipients (myFAMI): Framework Design and Development Study (e32785)	
Riddhiman Adib, Dipranjan Das, Sheikh Ahamed, Stacee Lerret.	268
Personality, Attitudes, and Behaviors Predicting Perceived Benefit in Online Support Groups for Caregivers: Mixed Methods Study (e36167)	
Athena Milios, Ting Xiong, Karen McEwan, Patrick McGrath	286

Virtual Reality in Clinical Practice and Research: Viewpoint on Novel Applications for Nursing

Hyojin Son¹, RN, PhD; Alyson Ross¹, RN, PhD; Elizabeth Mendoza-Tirado¹, BA; Lena Jumin Lee¹, RN, PhD Translational Biobehavioral and Health Disparities Branch, National Institutes of Health Clinical Center, Bethesda, MD, United States

Corresponding Author:

Hyojin Son, RN, PhD Translational Biobehavioral and Health Disparities Branch National Institutes of Health Clinical Center 10 Center Drive Bethesda, MD, 20892 United States Phone: 1 667 701 5768 Email: hyojin.son@nih.gov

Abstract

Virtual reality is a novel technology that provides users with an immersive experience in 3D virtual environments. The use of virtual reality is expanding in the medical and nursing settings to support treatment and promote wellness. Nursing has primarily used virtual reality for nursing education, but nurses might incorporate this technology into clinical practice to enhance treatment experience of patients and caregivers. Thus, it is important for nurses to understand what virtual reality and its features are, how this technology has been used in the health care field, and what future efforts are needed in practice and research for this technology to benefit nursing. In this article, we provide a brief orientation to virtual reality, describe the current application of this technology in multiple clinical scenarios, and present implications for future clinical practice and research in nursing.

(JMIR Nursing 2022;5(1):e34036) doi:10.2196/34036

KEYWORDS

virtual reality; health care; application; nursing

Introduction

Virtual reality (VR) is a type of extended reality technology that is increasingly being used in health care, from assisting medical staff in practicing new techniques to supporting treatment procedures and wellness activities [1-4]. In nursing, VR technology has been primarily used in nursing education, such as simulation-based skills training and distance learning [3]. Although there is growing evidence that VR can be used in more innovative ways, such as improving troublesome physical and psychological symptoms [5,6], many nurses in clinical practice and research may be unfamiliar with novel applications of VR technology. In this article, we provide a brief orientation to VR, describe the current application of this technology in health care, and present implications for clinical practice and future research in nursing.

A Brief Look at Virtual Reality

VR is defined as "an artificial world made up of computer-generated images and sounds and is influenced by the actions of an individual who is experiencing that world"

```
https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e34036
```

RenderX

[7]. The technology stimulates a user's multiple senses, enabling the user to interact with realistic 3D virtual environments [5,8]. VR is different from augmented reality, which is another type of extended reality technology; while augmented reality superimposes digital data onto the real world, VR shuts out the real world and provides interaction with the simulated virtual world [9]. Simulated virtual worlds can be delivered in a nonimmersive or immersive manner. Nonimmersive VR implements the virtual environment by projecting it onto a large display or wall screen (eg, Powerwall screens and cave automatic virtual environments), while immersive VR commonly applies a head-mounted display to provide full immersion and interaction with the virtual environment [10].

VR technology has become more immersive, affordable, and portable due to the ubiquity of mobile high-performance computing and the availability of various software programs [8]. VR is being used in various fields such as education, business, medical and military training, treatment of mental health and traumatic disorders, and entertainment [4]. In particular, the use of VR has increased for recreational purposes during the COVID-19 pandemic, with users reporting its positive impact on physical activity and mental well-being [4]. In recent

years, VR technology has also been recognized for its value of application for health-related purposes, including symptom improvement and pain management in diverse populations [5,11]. As VR continues to advance, we expect more active use of the technology in health care practice and research.

Virtual Reality in Health Care

Features of VR have gained attention in the health care field, and in particular, this technology has been actively used in education and training for students and staff in medical professions. In medical education, VR has been often used for surgical and physical examination skills training, acquisition of anatomical knowledge, and building empathy for patients with neurodegenerative diseases [1]. Although VR has a comparatively short history in nursing, VR has been mainly used for nursing education purposes to optimize nursing students and nurses' acquisition of practical skills and theoretical knowledge. Some examples include urinary catheterization practice, basic life support training, and communication practice with patients having virtual dementia [3]. Most participants who experienced VR in medical and nursing education indicated that VR-based trainings were motivating and helpful in acquiring knowledge and skills [1,3]. With the high demand for contactless learning due to the recent COVID-19 pandemic, the application of VR to health care education has never been more prominent.

The application of VR is not limited to these education or training purposes but is increasingly being used for therapeutic purposes as well. Several major therapeutic purposes of VR use include distraction from pain or uncomfortable medical procedures [2,11], relaxation and mindfulness for stress and symptom improvement [12-15], cognitive coping as psychotherapy [16,17], and rehabilitation of neuromotor functions [18]. VR has shown promising levels of effectiveness in various clinical scenarios.

Distraction

VR can be a method of distraction for overcoming uncomfortable medical procedures or as a nonpharmaceutical therapy for pain management. Current regimens in pain management, including surgical treatment, physical rehabilitation, or implantable drug-delivery systems, can be costly and ineffective [19]. Furthermore, opioids prescribed for pain control may lead to dependency and misuse [19]. Studies reporting positive results of VR interventions for pain management suggest that nurses working in a variety of care settings could use VR as an alternative therapy for pain relief [11]. In a randomized controlled study with 120 adults hospitalized in orthopedics or internal medicine with a pain score of at least 3 out of 10, those using multiple options of VR experience (eg, meditation, game, and nature experience) through a headset showed significant reductions in pain after 48 and 72 hours compared with those watching a television channel on health and wellness [8]. Importantly, the effect of this VR intervention was more pronounced in patients with severe baseline pain (pain score 7 out of 10) [8]. VR can also assist patients in coping with uncomfortable and even painful medical procedures [2]. Piskorz et al [20] found that 36 children whose attentions were distracted by playing or watching VR

games during blood sampling reported significantly lower pain and stress than 21 children who did not experience VR.

Relaxation and Mindfulness

VR can be an effective and feasible relaxation tool for individuals suffering from stress and psychological symptoms [5]. One experimental study assessed the effects of a VR intervention that provided relaxing videos of nature along with guided meditation and muscle relaxation to 49 individuals with depression, anxiety, or bipolar disorder [14]. This study revealed the beneficial effects of the VR intervention in improving mood and decreasing symptoms of depression and anxiety [14]. Kamińska et al [12] tested a 15-minute nature-based relaxation training program that comprised forest scenery and birdsong to relieve workplace stress in 28 office workers. The participants experienced significant improvements in perceived stress and mood [12]. Nurses are subject to workplace stress and symptoms such as anxiety and depression, and the recent pandemic has further aggravated the problem [21]. As a result, some hospitals have implemented VR experiences for frontline health care workers, explaining that VR may help them detach from stressful work environments and feel relaxed [22].

VR has the potential to increase mindfulness, focusing one's attention on the present moment with an accepting and nonjudgmental attitude [23]. Developing mindfulness can reduce stress and improve symptoms, but mindfulness can be difficult to practice due to environmental and personal distractions [23]. VR may address these difficulties by providing an immersive virtual environment that supports the user to focus on the present moment. Seabrook et al [13] found that a VR mindfulness app that delivered a 15-minute program of a peaceful forest scenery video with a guided mindfulness voice-over significantly increased mindfulness and positive emotions in 37 adults. The participants reported a strong sense of being in the virtual forest while using the program [13]. Studies examining VR use to enhance relaxation and mindfulness have often involved healthy populations [13,15,23], yet increasing levels of mindfulness using VR may be beneficial to patients with a variety of physical and mental conditions.

Cognitive Coping

The potential of VR-based therapy is gaining attention as a way to develop cognitive coping skills in individuals with psychiatric disorders such as posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD) and depressive disorder. Peskin et al [16] tested 12 weekly 90-minute VR exposure therapy sessions in 25 adults with PTSD following the September 11 attacks. The participants described their trauma in detail while being exposed to VR scenarios simulating the attacks and reported significant decreases in PTSD, which in turn led to decreased depressive symptoms [16]. Another experimental study assessed the effects of up to 16 sessions of VR-based cognitive behavioral therapy (CBT) in 15 adult patients diagnosed with generalized social anxiety disorder [17]. The participants were exposed to behaviors and sounds of digital humans in virtual environments that simulated places that might trigger anxiety for these individuals, such as crowded cafés or supermarkets. This study indicated that VR-based CBT can be effective in improving social anxiety and depressive symptoms [17]. These studies suggest that VR may be a useful adjunct to

XSL•FO RenderX

psychotherapy to safely expose individuals to their traumatic triggers in a carefully controlled environment, enabling them to establish healthy cognitive coping skills over time.

Rehabilitation

In recent years, VR has shown its potential as an assistive technology to aid the rehabilitation of patients with impaired neuromotor functions. Although VR cannot replace conventional physical or occupational therapies, it can promote the effectiveness of rehabilitation by providing task-oriented and multisensory training within an individualized safe virtual environment [18]. Mekbib et al [24] developed a VR-based rehabilitation system and validated its therapeutic potential in 23 recent patients who had stroke. The system provided upper extremity training in an immersive virtual environment and was effective in recovering upper extremity motor function when combined with conventional occupational therapy [24]. Regularity and repetition are essential in rehabilitation training for individuals with neurological disorders; however, motivation and adherence often decrease over time [18]. VR combined with traditional rehabilitation training may improve motivation and training outcomes. Winter et al [25] demonstrated that VR-based treadmill training improved motivation and gait rehabilitation in 36 healthy participants and 14 patients with multiple sclerosis or stroke. VR-assisted therapy is also promising for rehabilitation of children with neuromotor impairments. In the study by Bortone et al [26], VR games were introduced to 8 children with cerebral palsy or developmental coordination disorder through immersive virtual environments and wearable haptic devices, improving the children's functionality of upper extremity.

Future Implications for Practice and Research in Nursing

As VR technology becomes more popular and diverse in contents, the application of VR is expanding beyond education and training to support treatments or therapies and to promote wellness. Nurses can incorporate VR into clinical practice to improve treatment experience of patients and caregivers. Nurses may introduce relaxing VR experiences to reduce stress and anxiety in patients undergoing uncomfortable and painful procedures or surgeries [27]. VR can be a supportive medium to alleviate distress of patients undergoing intense treatments, such as chemotherapy [28]. Entertaining elements of VR can be effective in relieving pain and promoting psychological well-being in hospitalized patients, especially pediatric patients who tend to be more interested in gaming technology [29]. For patients with impaired cognitive or neuromotor functions, VR-based programs may stimulate their interests and motivate them to engage in long-term therapy sessions or rehabilitation [17,25].

For caregivers as well as patients, VR could also be useful for coping with stress and improving symptoms. While caring for individuals with acute or chronic conditions, caregivers often experience high levels of stress and associated multiple symptoms (eg, fatigue, sleep disturbance, depression, anxiety, and impaired cognition) due to the burden of caregiving tasks

```
https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e34036
```

and changes in their circumstances [30]. Caregivers tend to be reluctant to leave the patient to practice their own health-promoting activities [31], but limited resources are available that enable caregivers to cope with stress without leaving the side of the patient. Through a VR platform, caregivers could briefly escape their real circumstances by exploring peaceful nature scenes or practicing mindfulness, which may lead to stress reduction and symptom improvement.

Although VR is a promising technology that can be used in diverse care settings, the realities we face in our practice and research may differ from our expectations. While some patients and caregivers are interested in and willing to use VR, others may be skeptical about the technology [8]. They may think that using VR takes away therapeutic encounters with care providers, and those with less affinity for technology may be somewhat averse to trying VR [32]. As such, the acceptance of VR depends on each person's characteristics and perception and attitudes toward VR use [32]. More evidence should be generated regarding factors closely associated with VR acceptance. To optimize the opportunities VR can provide in health care, nurses need to first become familiar with the technology so that they can introduce and educate patients and caregivers about VR-based programs. It is important to create an environment that supports nurses to be competent in using digital health technologies, including VR [33]. Efforts also should be made to evaluate and improve user-friendliness and usefulness of VR-based programs perceived by various users [34].

As for research, more large-scale, long-term studies are needed to rigorously evaluate the effects of VR interventions on mood, cognitive function, as well as physical and psychological symptoms across different age groups and clinical populations. Expanding scientific research of physiological markers (eg, pulse rate, cortisol, cytokines, and genomic DNA) or neuroscientific measures (eg, real time functional magnetic resonance imaging) will also contribute to understanding the impact of VR interventions [35,36]. In addition, research on VR use in care settings should be practical, examining not just whether the interventions are effective, but also whether they are feasible for nurses to use in their practice and satisfactory to subjects [37]. Another important consideration when it comes to VR research is designing the research based on theoretical knowledge. Designing VR research referring to well-validated theories helps develop interventions that reflect the characteristics and needs of the target population; however, existing VR studies have rarely discussed theoretical components [34]. Further efforts are encouraged to develop and perform clinically meaningful and methodologically robust theory-based VR research.

When introducing VR to real subjects, especially patients, we should always keep in mind that we need to ensure their safety from any potential side effects. Nausea and dizziness caused by simulation sickness have been reported as common side effects associated with VR experiences [38]. VR-related side effects could lead to physical risks or injuries in those who are sensitive to motion sickness or individuals with impaired functions [39]. To prevent these potential side effects, it is recommended that VR interventions be applied for a limited period of time in a quiet and safe place to individuals who do

XSL•FO

not have restrictions on using the technology [37]. Nurses and other staff members also need to assess any physical discomfort associated with wearing VR devices, especially a bulky head-mounted display [37].

We should assess cost-effectiveness as well as efficacy and safety in order to leverage VR technology in clinical practice. VR is a high-cost technology that requires software development and equipment [34]. Implementing VR-based programs without considering cost-effectiveness within the already expensive US health care system could increase care costs and worsen health disparities caused by an individual's ability to pay for such novel programs [40]. People with lower education and income levels may lag in getting information on treatments using VR technology as they tend to have limited eHealth literacy and poor access to health resources [41]. Care should be taken to ensure that all individuals have equitable access to participation in VR-based treatments and interventions.

Textbox 1 summarizes recommendations when incorporating VR into nursing practice and research.

Textbox 1. Summary of recommendations for use of virtual reality in clinical practice and research.

- Research recommendations
 - Investigate factors associated with virtual reality acceptance
 - Assess user-friendliness and usefulness of virtual reality interventions
 - Evaluate the effectiveness of virtual reality interventions in a variety of populations (eg, pediatric patients and caregivers)
 - Establish virtual reality interventions based on theoretical components
 - Conduct long-term studies with large samples
 - Use physiological and neuroscientific measures as well as self-reported measures
 - Assess nurses' perception whether virtual reality interventions are feasible in practice
 - Collect data regarding the optimal frequency, duration, and timing of use for virtual reality interventions
- Implications for clinical practice
 - Create an environment that supports nurses becoming familiar with virtual reality
 - Ensure participant safety from potential virtual reality-related adverse effects or discomfort
 - · Assess cost-effectiveness of virtual reality in the current health care system
 - Establish evidence-based guidelines for implementing virtual reality interventions

Conclusions

With care recipient needs and care environments becoming more complex, VR technology may provide opportunities to improve clinical practice and research. Beyond health care staff and students' education and training, evidence in the literature supports VR use in pain management, distraction from difficult medical procedures and treatments, relaxation and mindfulness, CBT, and rehabilitation. Future studies are encouraged to evaluate how the impact of VR use differs across age groups and populations and explore which VR interventions are appropriate for each group and population. Evidence-based practice guidelines for implementing VR in care settings should be established through active research and quality improvement activities. Nurses need to be equipped with up-to-date information on VR use in health care, including trends and prospects, and interact with experts in relevant fields. We cannot stop the flow of novel technologies into health care. The use of such technologies should be optimized in a way that supports the current health care delivery.

Acknowledgments

All authors collaborated in preparing the literature and organizing the content for this paper. This paper was supported by the Intramural Research Program at the National Institutes of Health (NIH) Clinical Center. This work was conducted while AR was an employee of the NIH Clinical Center.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

RenderX

 Barteit S, Lanfermann L, Bärnighausen T, Neuhann F, Beiersmann C. Augmented, Mixed, and Virtual Reality-Based Head-Mounted Devices for Medical Education: Systematic Review. JMIR Serious Games 2021 Jul 08;9(3):e29080 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/29080] [Medline: 34255668]

- Kılıç A, Brown A, Aras I, Hui R, Hare J, Hughes LD, et al. Using Virtual Technology for Fear of Medical Procedures: A Systematic Review of the Effectiveness of Virtual Reality-Based Interventions. Ann Behav Med 2021 Oct 27;55(11):1062-1079 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/abm/kaab016] [Medline: <u>33821879</u>]
- Plotzky C, Lindwedel U, Sorber M, Loessl B, König P, Kunze C, et al. Virtual reality simulations in nurse education: A systematic mapping review. Nurse Educ Today 2021 Jun;101:104868. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.nedt.2021.104868</u>] [Medline: <u>33798987</u>]
- 4. Siani A, Marley SA. Impact of the recreational use of virtual reality on physical and mental wellbeing during the Covid-19 lockdown. Health Technol (Berl) 2021;11(2):425-435 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s12553-021-00528-8] [Medline: 33614391]
- Ioannou A, Papastavrou E, Avraamides M, Charalambous A. Virtual Reality and Symptoms Management of Anxiety, Depression, Fatigue, and Pain: A Systematic Review. SAGE Open Nurs 2020;6:2377960820936163 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/2377960820936163] [Medline: 33415290]
- Leggiero NM, Armstrong TS, Gilbert MR, King AL. Use of virtual reality for symptom management in solid-tumor patients with implications for primary brain tumor research: a systematic review. Neurooncol Pract 2020 Oct;7(5):477-489 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/nop/npaa012] [Medline: 33014388]
- 7. Virtual Reality. The Britannica Dictionary. URL: <u>https://learnersdictionary.com/definition/virtual%20reality</u> [accessed 2021-12-10]
- Spiegel B, Fuller G, Lopez M, Dupuy T, Noah B, Howard A, et al. Virtual reality for management of pain in hospitalized patients: A randomized comparative effectiveness trial. PLoS One 2019;14(8):e0219115 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0219115] [Medline: <u>31412029</u>]
- Logeswaran A, Munsch C, Chong YJ, Ralph N, McCrossnan J. The role of extended reality technology in healthcare education: Towards a learner-centred approach. Future Healthc J 2021 Mar;8(1):e79-e84 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7861/fhj.2020-0112] [Medline: 33791482]
- Pereira MF, Prahm C, Kolbenschlag J, Oliveira E, Rodrigues NF. Application of AR and VR in hand rehabilitation: A systematic review. J Biomed Inform 2020 Nov;111:103584 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2020.103584] [Medline: 33011296]
- 11. Pourmand A, Davis S, Marchak A, Whiteside T, Sikka N. Virtual Reality as a Clinical Tool for Pain Management. Curr Pain Headache Rep 2018 Jun 15;22(8):53. [doi: 10.1007/s11916-018-0708-2] [Medline: 29904806]
- 12. Kaminska D, Smolka K, Zwolinski G, Wiak S, Merecz-Kot D, Anbarjafari G. Stress Reduction Using Bilateral Stimulation in Virtual Reality. IEEE Access 2020;8:200351-200366. [doi: 10.1109/access.2020.3035540]
- Seabrook E, Kelly R, Foley F, Theiler S, Thomas N, Wadley G, et al. Understanding How Virtual Reality Can Support Mindfulness Practice: Mixed Methods Study. J Med Internet Res 2020 Mar 18;22(3):e16106 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/16106] [Medline: 32186519]
- Veling W, Lestestuiver B, Jongma M, Hoenders HJR, van Driel C. Virtual Reality Relaxation for Patients With a Psychiatric Disorder: Crossover Randomized Controlled Trial. J Med Internet Res 2021 Jan 15;23(1):e17233 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/17233] [Medline: <u>33448933</u>]
- Yildirim C, Grady T. The efficacy of a virtual reality-based mindfulness intervention. 2020 Presented at: 2020 IEEE International Conference on Artificial Intelligence and Virtual Reality (AIVR); December 14 - 18, 2020; Utrecht, Netherlands p. 158-165. [doi: 10.1109/aivr50618.2020.00035]
- Peskin M, Wyka K, Cukor J, Olden M, Altemus M, Lee FS, et al. The relationship between posttraumatic and depressive symptoms during virtual reality exposure therapy with a cognitive enhancer. J Anxiety Disord 2019 Jan;61:82-88. [doi: 10.1016/j.janxdis.2018.03.001] [Medline: 29580634]
- 17. Geraets CN, Veling W, Witlox M, Staring AB, Matthijssen SJ, Cath D. Virtual reality-based cognitive behavioural therapy for patients with generalized social anxiety disorder: a pilot study. Behav Cogn Psychother 2019 Nov;47(6):745-750. [doi: 10.1017/S1352465819000225] [Medline: 30915939]
- Amirthalingam J, Paidi G, Alshowaikh K, Iroshani Jayarathna A, Salibindla DBAMR, Karpinska-Leydier K, et al. Virtual Reality Intervention to Help Improve Motor Function in Patients Undergoing Rehabilitation for Cerebral Palsy, Parkinson's Disease, or Stroke: A Systematic Review of Randomized Controlled Trials. Cureus 2021 Jul;13(7):e16763 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7759/cureus.16763] [Medline: 34367835]
- 19. Turk DC, Wilson HD, Cahana A. Treatment of chronic non-cancer pain. Lancet 2011 Jun 25;377(9784):2226-2235. [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(11)60402-9] [Medline: 21704872]
- 20. Piskorz JE, Czub M, Šulžickaja B, Kiliś-Pstrusińska K. Mobile virtual reality distraction reduces needle pain and stress in children? Cyberpsychology 2020 Feb 21;14(1):1-12. [doi: 10.5817/cp2020-1-3]
- Serrano J, Hassamal S, Hassamal S, Dong F, Neeki M. Depression and anxiety prevalence in nursing staff during the COVID-19 pandemic. Nurs Manage 2021 Jun 01;52(6):24-32 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/01.NUMA.0000752784.86469.b9] [Medline: 34016869]
- 22. Does Virtual Reality Reduce Stress? Bayhealth Medical Center. 2021 Mar 25. URL: <u>https://www.bayhealth.org/</u> <u>community-health-and-wellness/newsroom/2021/march/virtual-reality</u> [accessed 2021-12-10]

- 23. Navarro-Haro MV, López-Del-Hoyo Y, Campos D, Linehan MM, Hoffman HG, García-Palacios A, et al. Meditation experts try Virtual Reality Mindfulness: A pilot study evaluation of the feasibility and acceptability of Virtual Reality to facilitate mindfulness practice in people attending a Mindfulness conference. PLoS One 2017;12(11):e0187777 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0187777] [Medline: 29166665]
- 24. Mekbib DB, Debeli DK, Zhang L, Fang S, Shao Y, Yang W, et al. A novel fully immersive virtual reality environment for upper extremity rehabilitation in patients with stroke. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2021 Jun;1493(1):75-89. [doi: 10.1111/nyas.14554] [Medline: 33442915]
- 25. Winter C, Kern F, Gall D, Latoschik ME, Pauli P, Käthner I. Immersive virtual reality during gait rehabilitation increases walking speed and motivation: a usability evaluation with healthy participants and patients with multiple sclerosis and stroke. J Neuroeng Rehabil 2021 Apr 22;18(1):68 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12984-021-00848-w] [Medline: 33888148]
- 26. Bortone I, Barsotti M, Leonardis D, Crecchi A, Tozzini A, Bonfiglio L, et al. Immersive Virtual Environments and Wearable Haptic Devices in rehabilitation of children with neuromotor impairments: a single-blind randomized controlled crossover pilot study. J Neuroeng Rehabil 2020 Oct 28;17(1):144 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12984-020-00771-6] [Medline: 33115487]
- 27. Ganry L, Hersant B, Sidahmed-Mezi M, Dhonneur G, Meningaud J. Using virtual reality to control preoperative anxiety in ambulatory surgery patients: A pilot study in maxillofacial and plastic surgery. J Stomatol Oral Maxillofac Surg 2018 Sep;119(4):257-261. [doi: 10.1016/j.jormas.2017.12.010] [Medline: 29317347]
- 28. Wilson K, Scorsone G. The Use of Virtual Reality Technologies to Reduce Anxiety and Improve Experience in Chemotherapy Patients During Treatment. Front. Virtual Real 2021 Jun 30;2:1-8. [doi: 10.3389/frvir.2021.695449]
- Tennant M, Youssef GJ, McGillivray J, Clark T, McMillan L, McCarthy MC. Exploring the use of Immersive Virtual Reality to enhance Psychological Well-Being in Pediatric Oncology: A pilot randomized controlled trial. Eur J Oncol Nurs 2020 Oct;48:101804. [doi: 10.1016/j.ejon.2020.101804] [Medline: 32949941]
- Lee LJ, Wehrlen L, Wallen GR, Ding Y, Ross A. Symptom Clusters and Influencing Factors in Family Caregivers of Individuals With Cancer. Cancer Nurs 2021;44(6):E547-E555 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/NCC.00000000000877] [Medline: <u>33259376</u>]
- 31. Ross A, Jumin Lee L, Wehrlen L, Cox R, Yang L, Perez A, et al. Factors That Influence Health-Promoting Behaviors in Cancer Caregivers. Oncol Nurs Forum 2020 Nov 01;47(6):692-702. [doi: <u>10.1188/20.ONF.692-702</u>] [Medline: <u>33063787</u>]
- 32. Mosadeghi S, Reid MW, Martinez B, Rosen BT, Spiegel BMR. Feasibility of an Immersive Virtual Reality Intervention for Hospitalized Patients: An Observational Cohort Study. JMIR Ment Health 2016 Jun 27;3(2):e28 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mental.5801] [Medline: 27349654]
- Buchanan C, Howitt ML, Wilson R, Booth RG, Risling T, Bamford M. Predicted Influences of Artificial Intelligence on Nursing Education: Scoping Review. JMIR Nurs 2021;4(1):e23933 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/23933] [Medline: 34345794]
- 34. Garrett B, Taverner T, Gromala D, Tao G, Cordingley E, Sun C. Virtual Reality Clinical Research: Promises and Challenges. JMIR Serious Games 2018 Oct 17;6(4):e10839 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.2196/10839</u>] [Medline: <u>30333096</u>]
- Ansado J, Chasen C, Bouchard S, Northoff G. How brain imaging provides predictive biomarkers for therapeutic success in the context of virtual reality cognitive training. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 2021 Jan;120:583-594. [doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2020.05.018] [Medline: 32533997]
- 36. Smith V, Warty RR, Sursas JA, Payne O, Nair A, Krishnan S, et al. The Effectiveness of Virtual Reality in Managing Acute Pain and Anxiety for Medical Inpatients: Systematic Review. J Med Internet Res 2020 Nov 02;22(11):e17980 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/17980] [Medline: 33136055]
- Birckhead B, Khalil C, Liu X, Conovitz S, Rizzo A, Danovitch I, et al. Recommendations for Methodology of Virtual Reality Clinical Trials in Health Care by an International Working Group: Iterative Study. JMIR Ment Health 2019 Jan 31;6(1):e11973 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/11973] [Medline: 30702436]
- Saredakis D, Szpak A, Birckhead B, Keage HAD, Rizzo A, Loetscher T. Factors Associated With Virtual Reality Sickness in Head-Mounted Displays: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Front Hum Neurosci 2020;14:96 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2020.00096] [Medline: 32300295]
- Warner N, Teo JT. Neurological injury from virtual reality mishap. BMJ Case Rep 2021 Oct 12;14(10):e243424 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bcr-2021-243424] [Medline: 34642218]
- 40. Vincent C, Eberts M, Naik T, Gulick V, O'Hayer CV. Provider experiences of virtual reality in clinical treatment. PLoS One 2021;16(10):e0259364 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0259364] [Medline: 34714889]
- 41. Saeed SA, Masters RM. Disparities in Health Care and the Digital Divide. Curr Psychiatry Rep 2021 Jul 23;23(9):61 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11920-021-01274-4] [Medline: 34297202]

Abbreviations

CBT: cognitive behavioral therapy **PTSD:** posttraumatic stress disorder **VR:** virtual reality



Edited by E Borycki; submitted 04.10.21; peer-reviewed by A King, J Zlamal, A McLean, H Mehdizadeh; comments to author 30.11.21; accepted 10.12.21; published 16.03.22. <u>Please cite as:</u> Son H, Ross A, Mendoza-Tirado E, Lee LJ Virtual Reality in Clinical Practice and Research: Viewpoint on Novel Applications for Nursing JMIR Nursing 2022;5(1):e34036 URL: https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e34036 doi:10.2196/34036 PMID:35293870

©Hyojin Son, Alyson Ross, Elizabeth Mendoza-Tirado, Lena Jumin Lee. Originally published in JMIR Nursing (https://nursing.jmir.org), 16.03.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Nursing, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://nursing.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Technology-Supported Guidance Models Stimulating the Development of Critical Thinking in Clinical Practice: Mixed Methods Systematic Review

Jaroslav Zlamal¹, MHP; Edith Roth Gjevjon¹, PhD; Mariann Fossum², PhD; Marianne Trygg Solberg³, PhD; Simen A Steindal^{3,4}, PhD; Camilla Strandell-Laine^{1,5}, PhD; Marie Hamilton Larsen³, PhD; Andréa Aparecida Gonçalves Nes¹, PhD

¹Department of Bachelor Education in Nursing, Lovisenberg Diaconal University College, Oslo, Norway

²Department of Health and Nursing Sciences, University of Agder, Kristiansand, Norway

³Department of Postgraduate Studies, Lovisenberg Diaconal University College, Oslo, Norway

⁴Faculty of Health Studies, VID Specialized University, Oslo, Norway

⁵Faculty of Health and Welfare, Novia University of Applied Sciences, Åbo, Finland

Corresponding Author:

Jaroslav Zlamal, MHP Department of Bachelor Education in Nursing Lovisenberg Diaconal University College Lovisenberggt. 15b Oslo, 0456 Norway Phone: 47 95963522 Email: Jaroslav.Zlamal@ldh.no

Abstract

Background: Nursing education has increasingly focused on critical thinking among nursing students, as critical thinking is a desired outcome of nursing education. Particular attention is given to the potential of technological tools in guiding nursing students to stimulate the development of critical thinking; however, the general landscape, facilitators, and challenges of these guidance models remain unexplored, and no previous mixed methods systematic review on the subject has been identified.

Objective: This study aims to synthesize existing evidence on technology-supported guidance models used in nursing education to stimulate the development of critical thinking in nursing students in clinical practice.

Methods: This mixed methods systematic review adopted a convergent, integrated design to facilitate thematic synthesis. This study followed the guidelines of the *Joanna Briggs Institute Manual for Evidence Synthesis*.

Results: We identified 3 analytical themes: *learning processes implemented to stimulate critical thinking, organization of the learning process to stimulate critical thinking,* and *factors influencing the perception of the learning process.* We also identified 4 guidance models, all based on facilitator or preceptorship models using tailored instructional or learning strategies and one or several technological tools that were either generic or custom-made for specific outcomes. The main facilitators of these technology-supported guidance models were nurse educators or nurse preceptors, and the main challenges in using technology-supported guidance models were the stress associated with technical difficulties or increased cognitive load.

Conclusions: Although we were able to identify 4 technology-supported guidance models, our results indicate a research gap regarding the use of these models in nursing education, with the specific aim of stimulating the development of critical thinking. Both nurse preceptors and nurse educators play a crucial role in the development of critical thinking among nursing students, and technology is essential for such development. However, technology-supported guidance models should be supervised to mitigate the associated stress.

International Registered Report Identifier (IRRID): RR2-10.2196/25126

(JMIR Nursing 2022;5(1):e37380) doi:10.2196/37380



KEYWORDS

critical thinking; guidance models; technology; nursing education; clinical practice

Introduction

Background

The increasing complexity of modern health care demands not only a new kind of thinking among nurses but also a complex set of skills and competencies [1]. Although earlier nursing education focused on building knowledge [2], modern nursing education to teach highly professional nurses needs to shift its focus to nurses' ability to combine various skills and competencies that demand critical thinking [3].

Critical thinking can be understood as a manifestation of a set of dynamic skills that are purposeful and self-regulatory [4]. A critically thinking nurse is creative, flexible, and open-minded [5] and is able to question established assumptions [6]. To acquire a deeper understanding of a situation, a critically thinking nurse considers its context [7] and exhibits the ability to think logically, seek information, and transform knowledge into actions [8]. Hence, critically thinking nurses are highly skilled professionals [7]. Despite the importance of critical thinking in nursing practice, concerns have been raised as to whether newly graduated nurses possess the necessary level of critical thinking skills [9-11]; therefore, the means by which nursing students become critical thinkers has become a recurring topic in nursing education [12].

Traditionally, clinical practice during nursing education has been an important learning context in becoming a highly skilled professional nurse and, as such, also a critical thinker. In European countries, learning has mostly been facilitated through a guidance model in which registered nurses as nurse preceptors provide continuing guidance and nurse educators maintain oversight of the learning process [13]. A guidance model is a distinct way of organizing clinical practice for nursing students, involving predefined tasks, procedures, and guidelines. According to these models, nursing students are guided in clinical practice to achieve learning outcomes [14].

The introduction of technological tools has transformed nursing education in many ways and facilitated flexible new approaches in the education of nursing students [15]. Previous research has questioned whether technology can be used to facilitate the development of critical thinking [16]. The use of tailored technological tools in nursing education seems still to be somewhat limited [17], but earlier research has shown that mobile-based learning may support the development of knowledge and nursing students' skills both outside and within clinical practice [18]. Technology-supported guidance models draw on the principle of integrating technological tools into guidance models and the use of technological tools to increase knowledge and improve attitudes and learning outcomes [19].

Previous systematic reviews have focused on the effectiveness and obstacles of teaching strategies in the development of critical thinking, with or without the use of technology, but not in the context of clinical learning and guidance [20-24]. Other systematic reviews have focused on the use of mobile

XSL•F() RenderX technology in nursing education but without an explicit focus on critical thinking or clinical learning and guidance [18,25,26].

In these reviews, some of the strategies identified to support the development of critical thinking were problem-based learning, concept mapping, simulation, narrative pedagogy, critical reading and writing, videotaped vignettes, web-based animated pedagogical agents, reflective writing, grand round strategies, videodisc systems, and evidence-based courses [20-24].

The identified obstacles and challenges in supporting the development of critical thinking include learning and educational culture, language barriers, lack of a common understanding of the term *critical thinking*, educators' beliefs and knowledge, and attitudes about critical thinking [23].

No previous systematic review has combined the focus on critical thinking and its development with the use of technology as part of a guidance model in the context of clinical practice. For this purpose, we selected a mixed methods systematic review. A traditional systematic review would provide us with findings that could answer, for example, the effect of interventions; however, adding qualitative data to a systematic review and conducting a mixed methods systematic review enables us to explore a body of literature on both qualitative and quantitative approaches. This provides us with the possibility of examining research gaps and answering multiple research questions. As such, a mixed methods approach may increase the impact and use [27].

Objectives

This review aimed to synthesize existing evidence on a range of guidance models supported by technology and enhance nursing students' critical thinking during clinical practice.

Research Questions

The research questions are as follows:

- 1. Which technology-supported guidance models are used to stimulate the development of critical thinking in the context of clinical practice in nursing education?
- 2. What are the challenges and facilitators of such technology-supported guidance models?

Methods

Design

This mixed methods systematic review adopted a convergent integrated design following the guidelines outlined in the *Joanna Briggs Institute* (JBI) *Manual for Evidence Synthesis* [28]. The review is reported according to the PRISMA (Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses) 2020 checklist [29], as described in Multimedia Appendix 1. Deviations from the published protocol [30] are summarized in Multimedia Appendix 2 [31-35].

Ethics Approval

Eligibility Criteria

This study is exempt from institutional review board evaluation [28].

The eligibility criteria are elaborated in Textbox 1.

Textbox 1. Inclusion and exclusion criteria [30].

Inclusion criteria

- Study population: preregistration nursing students or undergraduate nursing students
- Phenomenon of interest: technological tools used in clinical practice, technology-assisted guidance models, technology-supported guidance models, guidance models, mentoring, tutoring, preceptorship in clinical practice, or clinical educational models
- Context: clinical practice in hospitals, nursing homes, community health care, or other health care institutions and settings
- Type of study: qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods studies using experimental, quasi-experimental, or nonexperimental design published in peer-reviewed journals
- Type of outcome: critical thinking, clinical decision-making, analytical thinking, creative thinking, problem solving, reflective thinking, diagnostic reasoning, and clinical judgment

Exclusion criteria

- Study population: nursing students studying at the master's or graduate level; postregistration nursing students; student paramedics; students of midwifery, physiotherapy, or occupational therapy; medical students; and dental students
- Phenomenon of interest: technology-assisted guidance models; clinical educational models; guidance models; mentoring, tutoring, or preceptorship outside clinical practice in clinical laboratories or as a preparation for clinical practice; and simulation or technology use in conjunction with simulation
- Context: outside clinical practice, such as in classes for preparation for clinical practice, simulation sessions, and training in a clinical laboratory
- Type of study: any type of systematic or nonsystematic review, non-peer-reviewed articles, conference proceedings, comments or opinion articles, official guidelines, national nursing curriculums, editorials, abstracts, and doctoral theses
- Type of outcome: all outcomes other than those mentioned in the inclusion criteria

Main Outcome

As previously published in the study protocol of this mixed methods systematic review [30], the primary outcome is critical thinking according to the definition of Facione [4], as well as synonyms of the term *critical thinking* as outlined in Textbox 1.

Search Strategy

The review team chose the initial terms suitable for building a search strategy. Using Medical Subject Headings, CINAHL headings, and subject terms, a research librarian (Fredrik Solvang Pettersen), the first author (JZ), and the last author (AAGN) constructed a search strategy for MEDLINE and CINAHL. The search strategy was tested in MEDLINE and CINAHL, peer reviewed by a second research librarian (Mia Ølnes), and then further used in CINAHL, Cochrane Trials, Embase, ERIC, MEDLINE, PsycINFO, and Web of Science. The search strategy has been previously published [30] and is presented in Multimedia Appendix 3. In addition, the first (JZ) and last author (AAGN) conducted forward and backward citation searches. It was not feasible to conduct searches of the gray literature because of the lack of an accepted standard method to conduct such searches [36].

Database searches were performed on October 21, 2020. Database searches were updated on December 3, 2021.

Data Management

RenderX

Rayyan (Rayyan Systems Inc) [37] used a web-based tool to facilitate the screening process. We used the Paperpile

```
https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e37380
```

(Paperpile, LLC) [31] web-based tool for record storage and management.

Selection Process

On the basis of the inclusion and exclusion criteria, titles and abstracts were screened independently by pairs of authors [38] (AAGN and JZ, ERG and MF, MHL and CSL, and SAS and MTS). The first author uploaded the full-text articles to the Notion (Notion Labs, Inc) [39] web-based tool, enabling other authors to access them. The pairs of authors (AAGN and JZ, ERG and MF, MHL and CS-L, and SAS and MTS) then independently assessed the full-text articles and included or excluded them based on the eligibility criteria. We encountered uncertainty regarding the selection of some of the full-text articles, which were discussed with the team in question and the first and last authors. The final decision was made through consensus.

Assessment of Methodological Quality

We appraised the methodological quality of the included studies using the JBI Critical Appraisal Tool checklist for qualitative research [40] and quasi-experimental studies [41]. For mixed methods studies, we used the Mixed Methods Appraisal Tool [42]. This process was conducted independently by the pairs of authors (AAGN and JZ, ERG and MF, MHL and CS-L, and SAS and MTS). We included all studies in the data extraction and synthesis, regardless of the results of the assessment of methodological quality.

Data Extraction and Data Items

Using the standardized JBI Mixed Methods Data Extraction Form and using a convergent integrated method [28], the pairs of authors (AAGN and JZ, ERG and MF, MHL and CS-L, and SAS and MTS) extracted data from the included studies. We included data on the country of origin, year of publication, population, phenomenon of interest, type of study, methods, context, period, outcomes, percentages, averages, significant and nonsignificant results, and themes and subthemes [28].

Thematic Synthesis

We adopted a thematic synthesis approach, which Thomas and Harden [43] regarded as founded upon thematic analysis [43]. The first author (JZ) uploaded the extracted textual data to the MAXQDA tool (VERBI GmbH) for further analysis [32], read the textual data, and used color marking to identify the data or concepts present. Quantitative data were transformed to qualitative data through the process of qualitization of data, qualitizing the data through textual descriptions of the quantitative data [28]. Following this process, the first author (JZ) conducted line-by-line textual coding, in which, text was segmented and initial codes were developed [43,44]. At this stage, textual data were not related to the research questions. Subsequently, the first author (JZ) reread the textual data, assigned codes, and reviewed them in relation to the research questions. At this stage of the synthesis process, the codes were combined and reduced and a codebook with code definitions was created. The first (JZ) and last (AAGN) authors then individually coded the text segments and jointly reviewed the results, looking for discrepancies or necessary adjustments. The

codes were then further reduced and combined. Through this process, we developed descriptive themes that were closely related to the original text segments [43]. In the next step of the synthesis process, we developed analytical themes to generate new insights [43]. In total, 110 text segments were coded with 80 initial codes and subcodes, with their descriptions. The final number of codes was 14.

The completed codebook and text segments were sent to all the coauthors (ERG, MF, MHL, CS-L, SAS, and MTS), who also individually coded the text segments with the provided codebook. On the basis of this coding, the intercoder reliability was calculated [38] using the DataTab (DATAtab e.U.) [45] statistical tool, which yielded a Fleiss κ of 0.25 on individual codes, indicating fair agreement (0.21-0.40) [46]. After this process, we identified the need for further interpretation, abstraction, and combination of codes and themes. The first (JZ) and last (AAGN) authors conducted a final review of themes and codes relative to the original text segments and further combined and reduced the descriptive and analytical themes. A new intercoder reliability was calculated, which yielded a Cohen κ of 0.49 on individual codes, indicating moderate agreement (0.41-0.60) [47]. With regard to the descriptive themes, Cohen K was 0.54, also indicating moderate agreement (0.41-0.60) [47]. On the analytical themes, Cohen κ was 0.62, indicating substantial agreement (0.61-0.80) among the coders [47]. The final results comprised 7 descriptive themes and 3 analytical themes. Table 1 provides a detailed overview of the results of intercoder reliability calculations. An example of the coding process is presented in Table 2.

Table 1. Fleis κ and Cohen κ of individual codes, descriptive themes, and analytical themes.

	On individual codes (intercoder reliability among all authors)	On individual codes (inter- coder reliability between the first and last authors)	On descriptive themes (intercoder reliability be- tween the first and last authors)	On analytical themes (in- tercoder reliability be- tween the first and last authors)	Asymptomatic SE	95% CI
Fleiss ĸ	0.25	N/A ^a	N/A	N/A	0.02	0.21-0.29
Cohen ĸ	N/A	0.49	N/A	N/A	0.06	0.37-0.61
$\text{Cohen}\kappa$	N/A	N/A	0.54	N/A	0.07	0.40-0.68
$\text{Cohen}\kappa$	N/A	N/A	N/A	0.62	0.07	0.48-0.76

^aN/A: not applicable.

Table 2. Example of the coding process.

Analytical themes	Descriptive themes	Code (identifier)	Text segment
Learning processes implemented to stimulate critical thinking	Learning	Learning activities (LA)	The students explained the procedures and nursing skills they had learnt.
Organization of the learning process to stimulate critical thinking	Help and support	Mentoring (ME)	The lecturers avoided teaching the students on the forum and instead tried to give the students possibilities to solve the problems themselves. Giving support to think, compare, and reflect the students' nursing actions.
Factors influencing the percep- tion of the learning process	Technological tools	Advantages of technological tools (ATT)	[The] student and instructor said that they greatly benefited from the use of the mobile e-based system for clinical practicums.

Results

Search and Selection Process

We identified 9553 records, of which, after removing 5317 (55.66%) duplicates, we screened the titles and abstracts of 4236 (44.34%) records. A total of 1.68% (17/9553) of reports were assessed for eligibility, and 0.04% (4/9553) of studies were included.

We identified 8 records through forward and backward citation searches. We retrieved these records and accessed them for eligibility; however, none were eligible for inclusion. We did not contact any other researchers in this field.

Figure 1 provides a detailed overview of the selection process and the reasons for exclusion.

Figure 1. PRISMA (Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses) flow diagram.



Study Characteristics and Methodological Quality

The studies included in this review (N=4) were conducted in Taiwan (n=3, 75%) [48-50] and Finland (n=1, 25%) [51]. Their sample sizes ranged from 8 to 64 [48-51], and their participants were undergraduate nursing students in clinical practice in community health practice (n=64), psychiatric nursing (n=18), and surgical theaters (n=25) [48-51].

All the studies (N=4) used the organized guidance of nursing students in a procedural setup, but the guidance models were poorly described in all the articles, which lacked detailed descriptions of both guidance procedures and student follow-up and cooperation between nurse preceptors and nurse educators [48-51].

The technological tools used in the studies included web-based discussion forums (1/4, 25%), mobile devices (1/4, 25%), e-portfolio systems (1/4, 25%), and e-book systems (1/4, 25%).

A description of the theoretical framework was provided in 2 studies [49,51].

Lai and Wu [48] measured critical thinking among participants using an author to develop a competency scale that included critical thinking and was a student- and instructor-assessed scale. Wu et al [50] also evaluated critical thinking on a scale that authors called "The seven dimensions of learning effectiveness." No information was provided regarding the characteristics of the scales or the scoring methods. All included studies (N=4) either lacked information, such as a description of the design and methods, or provided an unclear statistical analysis or unclear interpretation of the results [48-51]. Multimedia Appendix 4 [48-51] provides a detailed overview of the characteristics of the studies. The assessment of methodological quality is provided in Multimedia Appendix 5-8.

Results Related to the Research Questions

Overview

To answer the research questions, the results were organized on the basis of the analytical themes presented in Table 3: *learning processes implemented to stimulate critical thinking, organization of the learning process to stimulate critical thinking,* and *factors influencing the perception of the learning process.*

The first research question aimed to identify technology-supported guidance models used to stimulate the development of critical thinking in the context of clinical practice in nursing education. All participants in the selected studies [48-51] received guidance during clinical practice through lecturers, nurse preceptors, or both, and the guidance was supported by technological tools. Table 4 provides a detailed overview of the organization of guidance and the technological tools used to support guidance.



Zlamal et al

Table 3. Comprehensive overview of analytical themes, descriptive themes, codes, and their definitions.

Analytical and descriptive themes	Code (identifier)	Code definition	Study
Learning processes implemented	to stimulate critical thinkin	g	
Teaching	Instructional strategies (IS)	A teacher's overall approach that facilitates the learning process and includes various teaching activities, strategies, styles, and training; in- cludes time allocated for learning	[49,51]
Learning			
	Learning activities (LA)	Activities targeted toward the learning process that involve technology and learning from one's own and others' experiences, discussions, or reflections	[49,51]
	Learning results (LR)	The effect of diverse approaches and guidance on the process of learning	[49-51]
	Learning strategy (LS)	Approaches that facilitate diverse learning styles without the use of technology	[49,51]
	Learning motivation (LM)	The motivation to learn; a personal drive to learn and acquire knowledge	[50,51]
Professional knowledge	Knowledge construction (KC)	The process of evaluating, adding, explaining, transforming, and sum- marizing information, including self-awareness of what one does not know as well as reflection, self-judgment, self-observation, and con- sciousness of one's own needs	[48,49,51]
Professional skills	Competence (C)	The set of skills and abilities by which one connects theoretical knowledge with practice and understands context; includes both ac- quired and improved competence	[48,50,51]
Organization of the learning pro	cess to stimulate critical thin	king	
Technological tools	Use of technological tools (UTT)	Various uses of diverse technological tools to showcase one's work, write daily journals, submit assignments, search for answers, complete daily tasks, access necessary information, and assess learning; techno- logical tools serving as cognitive tools; use of discussion forums	[49,51]
Help and support			
	Mentoring (ME)	The process of giving students the opportunity to solve problems and of providing support for thinking and reflecting on their actions	[51]
	Supervision (SUP)	The process of continuous supervision	[51]
	Peer support (PSU)	Sharing learned knowledge, creating dialogue and conversation, and understanding and encouraging one another	[51]
Factors influencing the perception	on of the learning process		
Technological tools			
	Technical problems (TP)	Technical problems that make the use of technological tools challenging	[48]
	Advantages of technological tools (ATT)	Positive experiences of using technological tools and descriptions of their advantages	[48-50]
	Stress (ST)	Stress in relation to learning or using technological tools	[48,50]

Table 4. Organization of guidance and technological tools used in guidance.

Study	Organization of guidance	Technological tools used in guidance
Mettiäinen and Vähämaa [51]	Supervision organized in a web-based discussion forum in which guidance was provided by nurse educators with additional atten- tion to peer support	An online discussion forum on the Moodle platform (a learning management system)
Lai and Wu [48]	A clinical e-portfolio system supervised by nurse educators	An e-portfolio system running on mobile netbooks
Lai and Yen [49]	Guidance provided by nurse educators, both with and without the use of technological tools	A mobile voice recording app, various evaluation apps, videos, mobile devices, and a web-based learning platform
Wu et al [50]	An e-book system in conjunction with guidance from nurse preceptors and nurse educators	A web-based e-book system

XSL•FO RenderX

Learning Processes Implemented to Stimulate Critical Thinking and Organization of the Learning Process to Stimulate Critical Thinking

With regard to our primary outcome of critical thinking, the results showed that critical thinking was described in diverse terms in the selected studies. Mettiäinen and Vähämaa [51] refer directly not only to the term critical thinking but also to reflective thinking, whereas Wu et al [50] refer to both critical and creative thinking and problem solving. Lai and Wu [48] and Lai and Yen [49] also use the term critical thinking.

Technological tools were not used on their own but jointly with varied instructional and learning strategies and activities to stimulate the development of critical thinking. Among such strategies were discussion [51], demonstration [49], dividing students into groups to tailor learning, compulsory participation and preparation of students for activities, giving students space and time to learn, and supporting students through their learning while motivating them to share their experiences [51].

Other strategies include checking factual information against theory [51], viewing one another's assignments [48], comparing diverse learning strategies, posting and reading comments in a web-based environment [51], and observing patients' states [49]. During these activities, improvements in the ability to reflect [49,51] and improved theoretical knowledge and practical skills were observed [48]. Students also experienced improved self-satisfaction and became aware of their own feelings, learning needs, and areas where their skills needed improvement [48,50,51].

To support the development of critical thinking, lecturers supported students in various ways, such as by providing feedback [50] and giving time and opportunities for students to find their own solutions [51]. The lecturers avoided teaching the students and gave them opportunities to solve problems themselves. The lecturers also provided comments and feedback and supported the students' thinking, reflection, and discussion. The lecturers followed the students' discussions and provided active and continuous supervision [51]. The students also found support from their peers, with whom they could share knowledge, feelings, conversations, encouragement, and understanding [51].

Lai and Wu [48] measured critical thinking as a part of competency among participants, as assessed by instructors and showed increased scores from 2.7 at week 1 to 4.3 at week 3 (P<.001). Wu et al [50] did not provide any results for critical thinking in their evaluation of "The seven dimensions of learning effectiveness."

Factors Influencing the Perception of the Learning Process

The second research question aimed to identify the challenges and facilitators of technology-supported guidance models. In the included studies, we found that some guidance models used custom-made technological tools (such as bespoke software) that were created or adapted for the context [48,50,51], whereas others used mobile devices in a more generic way [49]. In addition, some guidance models used only one technological tool, whereas others incorporated several technological tools

```
https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e37380
```

simultaneously, as noted in Table 4. All the technological tools described in the chosen studies at least partially required access to the internet to work for their intended purpose [48-51]. Some technological tools required that users connect to the internet at home [51], whereas others used the available internet access in clinical practice [48-50].

The students deemed technological tools to be beneficial facilitators of learning in clinical practice [48]. These tools facilitate reflection and decision-making [50]; serve as additional learning resources [48]; facilitate discussions [50,51]; and improve competencies, patient care, and interactions with instructors [48]. Technological tools also gave students opportunities to showcase their own work [50], achieve clinical practice objectives [50], write daily reflective journals, and take notes of important information [49]. They also facilitated patient assessment, writing and submitting assignments, summarizing information, and recording instructors' demonstrations [50]. The students who used technological tools in clinical practice scored better on evaluation instruments than their counterparts who did not use the tools [50].

However, technology-supported guidance models were also associated with stress, which was identified in relation to the challenges or mental load of students in a technology-supported guidance model. Some students experienced an increased mental load related to spending more energy and mental resources on tasks in clinical practice than those who did not receive guidance involving technology [50]. Other students experienced stress related to technical challenges that hindered the use of technological tools, such as setting up a wireless internet connection in clinical practice [48].

Discussion

Principal Findings

This review synthesizes the existing evidence on a range of guidance models supported by technology to enhance nursing students' critical thinking during clinical practice. However, of the 71 reports assessed for eligibility, only 4 (6%) were eligible for inclusion, which may point to a research gap. The topic of technology-supported guidance models in conjunction with critical thinking and in the context of nursing students' clinical practice appears to be an underresearched area.

In all the included studies, guidance and technological tools were set up and organized within a guidance model, a framework with an organized, predefined set of procedures [14]. We identified diverse types of technology-supported guidance models in which nurse preceptors, nurse educators, or both provided guidance with the support of one or more technological tools. Although none of the studies offered detailed descriptions of the guidance model, all the guidance models we identified were either preceptor and facilitator or preceptor based [52]. The facilitation- or preceptor-based guidance model, in which nursing students, nurse preceptors, and nurse educators cooperate in the guidance process, is common in European countries. The main advantage of this approach is the provision of mutual support and exchange of knowledge, which ensures that nursing students develop the necessary competencies and

XSL•FO RenderX

achieve learning outcomes [53]. However, the degree of cooperation may vary, and cooperation may be challenging [53,54].

We also found that the guidance of nursing students in these technology-supported guidance models occurs in 2 distinct ways. In one instance, guidance was provided by a nurse preceptor in clinical practice without access to or the use of technological tools, whereas guidance was simultaneously provided by nurse educators with the support of such tools. However, if the common guidance models are facilitation- or preceptor-based [53], nurse educators and nurse preceptors do not have access to or use the same technological tools, which may exacerbate division and result in less cooperation and support. In other instances, guidance with access to and support from the same technological tools was provided by both nurse preceptors and nurse educators.

We found that only half of technology-supported guidance models were based on a theoretical framework [49,51]. If we regard such models as interventions, it is necessary to base the intervention on a theoretical framework that can provide understanding and important insights on how a guidance model works and creates change [55].

This systematic review also found that technology-supported guidance models include diverse instructional and learning strategies, including reflection, discussion, and demonstration. Thus, our results confirm the findings of previous research, which showcase a plethora of approaches to support the development of critical thinking [20-24].

Regardless of the approach to critical thinking, it is regarded as something that can be learned [12]. Our findings identified learning activities targeted at critical thinking, such as comparing and contrasting, observational learning, discussion in an e-environment (ie, a discussion forum), and project-based learning. According to Krishna et al [56], students can gain a deeper understanding and develop critical thinking by comparing different concepts or processes; with regard to observational learning, it is assumed that observation contributes to learning through behavior change [57]. Wang et al [58] and Puig et al [59] pointed out that technological tools, such as e-environments, bring advantages that enhance the learning of critical thinking skills, as students in an e-learning environment can easily discuss, collaborate, or practice diverse skills. As Lee et al [21] noted, there is no universal agreement on the most suitable approach to developing critical thinking. However, this diversity of approaches may reflect that critical thinking is a multidimensional concept; as such, the development of critical thinking can be approached in various ways [12].

In our findings, the students perceived technological tools as essential to clinical practice; they might be used for many purposes, such as a knowledge database, sharing of experiences, or as knowledge or communication tools [48-51]. Contrary to our results, Lee et al [25] found no evidence that technological tools, such as mobile technology, support the development of knowledge or skills.

We identified nurse educators as the main facilitators of technology-supported guidance models. Nurse educators have

```
https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e37380
```

XSL•FO

facilitated these guidance models by supporting students in various ways, such as allowing time for students to find their own solutions [51] and providing situational feedback [48,50]. Nurse educators also avoided teaching the students and gave them opportunities to solve problems themselves. Nurse educators provided comments and feedback and supported students in thinking, reflection, and discussion.

Nurse educators also followed the discussions and provided active and continuous supervision [51]. These findings on the contributions of nurse educators have been confirmed in previous research [53,54] and point to the fact that technological tools in guidance models cannot be introduced on their own but require oversight, as well as support and mentoring by nurse educators, and peers may be a valuable addition in facilitating technology-supported guidance models. Students perceive their peers as facilitators who provide support by sharing knowledge and feelings, engaging in conversation and encouraging and understanding one another [49,51]. The positive influence of peer support and interaction has also been confirmed in previous research [60]. Anderson and Soden [60] pointed out that peer interaction is important for developing critical thinking skills.

In line with previous research [61], we identified the need for infrastructure, such as internet or Wi-Fi access, for technological tools to work properly [48]. Previous research has shown that simply setting up a technological tool, such as an e-learning environment, is not sufficient to support the development of critical thinking; resources, careful planning, and implementation are also required [59]. Our results indicate that technological tools were set up by educational institutions [48-51] and supervised mostly by lecturers [48,49,51] and that students were provided with regular feedback [48-51].

Our findings also show that technological tools are to varying degrees customized for the context in which they are used [48-51]. Students have called for bespoke technological tools [17]; however, as O'Connor and Andrews [17,61] found, most technological tools, such as mobile apps used in nursing education, are generic and not customized for the specific needs of nursing students. This may be particularly relevant if the aim of technological tools is to stimulate the development of critical thinking. However, if customized technological tools are used, they must be developed collaboratively with nursing students to ensure that their functionality addresses the specific context of nursing education and clinical practice [17].

We observed that technology-supported guidance models can cause stress that can influence the development of critical thinking [48,50]. O'Connor and Andrews [61] pointed out that technological tools have many advantages, but some students may experience them negatively, causing stress. Upadhyaya [62] described the stress caused by technological tools as *technostress*, which in the worst case may negatively influence students' academic productivity.

Regarding the primary outcome, we found various usages of the term *critical thinking* and its synonyms, confirming earlier research. As Mundy and Denham [63] and Andreou et al [64] pointed out, there is no consistent agreement among educators or students in the understanding of critical thinking and the approaches that may support its development, which may pose

a challenge in implementing technology-supported guidance models.

Strengths and Limitations

This mixed method systematic review has several strengths. We conducted a comprehensive literature search and pairs of independent researchers appraised the quality of the resulting articles. We then conducted thematic synthesis with textual coding, with all authors coding the same texts, and the intercoder reliability was calculated to ensure the integrity of the results. Other strengths of this review include the inclusion of newer articles and the use of innovative contemporary technological tools in all included articles.

The primary outcome was critical thinking among nursing students in clinical practice. In line with our inclusion criteria and the definition of critical thinking according to Facione [4], we found that critical thinking was described directly by the concept of critical thinking, by the use of other synonymous concepts, or by a broader description.

All the included studies used some kind of intervention or technique to stimulate the development of critical thinking, although the aims of these interventions or techniques related to the development of critical thinking may be implied. Consequently, the included studies met the inclusion or exclusion criteria for this mixed methods review.

We followed the principles of thematic synthesis outlined by Thomas and Harden [43]. However, the researchers [43] did not use a traditional codebook in their approach to thematic synthesis; instead, they used a diagram of relationships among the descriptive themes, which was created by the EPPI Reviewer software [65]. As this study did not use EPPI Reviewer, we created a traditional codebook with code definitions to facilitate the coding process.

Thomas and Harden [43] did not outline a process for calculating intercoder reliability, but the authors of this study built a thematic synthesis on thematic analysis. Braun and Clarke [66] note that calculating intercoder reliability is an important step to ensure the quality and integrity of the coding process.

The initial result of the intercoder reliability calculation among all the authors indicated only fair agreement; however, that calculation clarified the need for further analysis, abstraction, and reduction of codes and themes, leading to a more robust coding process and result. The final intercoder reliability of analytical themes between the first and last authors indicates substantial agreement.

The main limitation of this systematic review is the quality of the included articles, all of which lacked detailed descriptions of technology-supported guidance models and research methods. However, we chose to include all studies in the synthesis, regardless of their methodological quality. One could argue that this decision weakened the final review, but our rationale was that the included studies uncovered a potential research gap, pointing to areas that merit exploration in future research, with a focus on methodological rigor. We were also able to identify valuable experiences with technology-supported guidance models that could both inspire and strengthen future research and the design of guidance models.

We also used a search strategy that identified several studies in Chinese and Korean that were potentially relevant to the aim of the review, but which, because of the language barrier, had to be excluded. Thus, we may have missed eligible studies that were unavailable in English.

Regarding other limitations, we tried on the basis of earlier research to identify all possible synonyms of the term *critical thinking*, which were used in the literature search and screening process. However, because of the multidimensional nature of critical thinking, we may have missed some terms that authors used to describe critical thinking, which may have influenced the search strategy and, consequently, the identification of potential articles.

Conclusions

In nursing education, a few technology-supported guidance models that vary in setup and organization are used to stimulate the development of critical thinking in the context of clinical practice. The main characteristic of these models is the combination of instructional strategies with the active use of technological tools during guidance. The type of technological tools and how they are used in these guidance models vary across models. Thus, when using technology-supported guidance models, one should consider the underlying technological, instructional, and learning strategies incorporated in such models, as well as their suitability for intended use.

The main facilitators of these technology-supported guidance models are lecturers and nurse preceptors, who play an important role in nursing students' guidance and support the development of critical thinking.

Technological tools themselves can be the primary facilitators of these guidance models, enabling the development of critical thinking. However, technology-supported guidance models can also cause stress, which may negatively affect the development of critical thinking skills among nursing students.

We do not have sufficient data nor it is the aim of this mixed method review to conclude with which technology-supported guidance model is superior or inferior in relation to supporting the development of critical thinking.

The findings of this mixed methods systematic review are relevant to the future development of technology-supported guidance models that support the development of critical thinking among nursing students in clinical practice. However, because of the quality of the included studies, we recommend that our results be used only as inspiration for further research or in designing new technology-supported guidance models.



Acknowledgments

The authors thank Fredrik Solvang Pettersen for helping them build the search strategy and Mia Ølnes for peer reviewing it. They also thank the Norwegian Agency for International Cooperation and Quality Enhancement and Lovisenberg Diaconal University College for funding and the Lovisenberg Diaconal University College for sponsoring this study. The funding source played no role in this study.

Authors' Contributions

ет (

m• 4

JZ was responsible for conceptualization, methodology, formal analysis, writing the original draft, writing the review and editing, visualization, and project administration. ERG and MF were responsible for writing the review and editing, formal analysis, and supervision. MTS, SAS, CSL, and MHL were responsible for writing the review and editing and formal analysis. AAGN was responsible for methodology, formal analysis, writing the review and editing, visualization, and supervision.

Conflicts of Interest
None declared.
Multimedia Appendix 1 PRISMA (Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses) 2020 checklist. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 85 KB - nursing v5i1e37380 app1.pdf]
Multimedia Appendix 2 Deviations from study protocol. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 64 KB - nursing_v5i1e37380_app2.pdf]
Multimedia Appendix 3 Example of the MEDLINE search strategy applied to all databases in the search strategy. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 112 KB - nursing v5i1e37380 app3.pdf]
Multimedia Appendix 4 Study characteristics and methodological quality of the included studies. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 158 KB - nursing v5i1e37380 app4.pdf]
Multimedia Appendix 5 Joanna Briggs Institute checklist for qualitative research—article 1. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 633 KB - nursing v5i1e37380 app5.pdf]
Multimedia Appendix 6

Mixed Methods Appraisal Tool—article 2. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 816 KB - nursing_v5i1e37380_app6.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 7 Joanna Briggs Institute checklist for qualitative research—article 3. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 1035 KB - nursing_v5i1e37380_app7.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 8

Joanna Briggs Institute checklist for quasi-experimental studies—article 4. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 1067 KB - <u>nursing_v5i1e37380_app8.pdf</u>]

References

- Mannino J, Cotter E. Educating nursing students for practice in the 21st century. Int Arch Nurs Health Care 2016 Feb 29;2(1):1-4 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.23937/2469-5823/1510026]
- Pitt V, Powis D, Levett-Jones T, Hunter S. The influence of critical thinking skills on performance and progression in a pre-registration nursing program. Nurse Educ Today 2015 Jan;35(1):125-131. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.nedt.2014.08.006</u>] [Medline: <u>25194469</u>]
- Kong L, Qin BO, Zhou YQ, Mou SY, Gao HM. The effectiveness of problem-based learning on development of nursing students' critical thinking: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Nurs Stud 2014 Mar;51(3):458-469. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2013.06.009] [Medline: 23850065]

- 4. Facione P. Critical thinking: a statement of expert consensus for purposes of educational assessment and instruction. Insight Assessment. 1990. URL: <u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/</u> 242279575 Critical Thinking A Statement of Expert Consensus for Purposes of Educational Assessment and Instruction [accessed 2022-05-05]
- 5. Aagbedia C, Ogbe J. Critical thinking; issues in nursing education and practice. Int J Advanced Nursing Stud 2013;3(1):13-17. [doi: <u>10.14419/ijans.v3i1.1200</u>]
- Pucko Z, Przybek-Mita J. Critical thinking as an indispensable component of the Polish nurses' education process and a necessary condition for the development of nursing. Pielegniarstwo XXI wieku 2020;18(3):142-114. [doi: 10.2478/pielxxiw-2019-0020]
- Falcó-Pegueroles A, Rodríguez-Martín D, Ramos-Pozón S, Zuriguel-Pérez E. Critical thinking in nursing clinical practice, education and research: from attitudes to virtue. Nurs Philos 2021 Jan 07;22(1):e12332. [doi: <u>10.1111/nup.12332</u>] [Medline: <u>33029860</u>]
- Scheffer BK, Rubenfeld MG. A consensus statement on critical thinking in nursing. J Nurs Educ 2000 Nov;39(8):352-359. [doi: <u>10.3928/0148-4834-20001101-06</u>] [Medline: <u>11103973</u>]
- 9. del Bueno D. A crisis in critical thinking. Nurs Educ Perspect 2005;26(5):278-282. [Medline: 16295306]
- 10. Fero L, Witsberger C, Wesmiller S, Zullo T, Hoffman L. Critical thinking ability of new graduate and experienced nurses. J Adv Nurs 2009 Jan;65(1):139-148 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2648.2008.04834.x] [Medline: 19032517]
- 11. Castledine G. Critical thinking is crucial. Br J Nurs 2010 Mar;19(4):271. [doi: <u>10.12968/bjon.2010.19.4.46792</u>] [Medline: <u>20220680</u>]
- 12. Cassum S, Profetto-McGrath J, Begum Gul R, Dilshad A, Syeda K. Multidimensionality of critical thinking: a holistic perspective from multidisciplinary educators in Karachi, Pakistan. J Nursing Educ Pract 2013 Jan 09;3(7):9-23. [doi: 10.5430/jnep.v3n7p9]
- Heinonen A, Kääriäinen M, Juntunen J, Mikkonen K. Nursing students' experiences of nurse teacher mentoring and beneficial digital technologies in a clinical practice setting. Nurse Educ Pract 2019 Oct;40:1-6. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.nepr.2019.102631</u>] [Medline: <u>31585310</u>]
- 14. Struksnes S, Engelien RI, Bogsti WB, Moen OL, Nordhagen SS, Solvik E, et al. Nurses' conceptions of how an alternative supervision model influences their competence in assessment of nursing students in clinical practice. Nurse Educ Pract 2012 Mar;12(2):83-88. [doi: 10.1016/j.nepr.2011.07.009] [Medline: 21852193]
- 15. Harerimana A, Mtshali NG. Nursing students' perceptions and expectations regarding the use of technology in nursing education. Africa J Nurse Midwifery 2019 Nov 13;21(2):257-264. [doi: 10.25159/2520-5293/5103]
- 16. Pucer P, Trobec I, Žvanut B. An information communication technology based approach for the acquisition of critical thinking skills. Nurse Educ Today 2014 Jun;34(6):964-970. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.nedt.2014.01.011</u>] [Medline: <u>24581890</u>]
- 17. O'Connor S, Andrews T. Using co-design with nursing students to create educational apps for clinical training. Stud Health Technol Inform 2016;225:334-338. [Medline: 27332217]
- Kim JH, Park H. Effects of smartphone-based mobile learning in nursing education: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Asian Nurs Res (Korean Soc Nurs Sci) 2019 Feb;13(1):20-29 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.anr.2019.01.005] [Medline: 30659927]
- Ahmed V, Opoku A. Technology supported learning and pedagogy in times of crisis: the case of COVID-19 pandemic. Educ Inf Technol (Dordr) 2022 Aug 26;27(1):365-405 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1007/s10639-021-10706-w</u>] [Medline: <u>34462626</u>]
- Carter AG, Creedy DK, Sidebotham M. Efficacy of teaching methods used to develop critical thinking in nursing and midwifery undergraduate students: a systematic review of the literature. Nurse Educ Today 2016 May;40:209-218. [doi: 10.1016/j.nedt.2016.03.010] [Medline: 27125175]
- 21. Lee J, Lee Y, Gong S, Bae J, Choi M. A meta-analysis of the effects of non-traditional teaching methods on the critical thinking abilities of nursing students. BMC Med Educ 2016 Sep 15;16(1):1-9 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12909-016-0761-7] [Medline: 27633506]
- 22. Oliveira LB, Díaz LJ, Carbogim FD, Rodrigues AR, Püschel VA. Effectiveness of teaching strategies on the development of critical thinking in undergraduate nursing students: a meta-analysis. Rev Esc Enferm USP 2016 Apr;50(2):355-364. [doi: 10.1590/s0080-623420160000200023]
- 23. Chan ZC. A systematic review of critical thinking in nursing education. Nurse Educ Today 2013 Mar;33(3):236-240. [doi: 10.1016/j.nedt.2013.01.007] [Medline: 23394977]
- 24. Payan-Carreira R, Cruz G, Papathanasiou IV, Fradelos E, Jiang L. The effectiveness of critical thinking instructional strategies in health professions education: a systematic review. Stud Higher Educ 2019 Mar 20;44(5):829-843. [doi: 10.1080/03075079.2019.1586330]
- 25. Lee H, Min H, Oh S, Shim K. Mobile technology in undergraduate nursing education: a systematic review. Healthc Inform Res 2018 Apr;24(2):97-108 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4258/hir.2018.24.2.97] [Medline: 29770243]
- 26. Chen B, Wang Y, Xiao L, Xu C, Shen Y, Qin Q, et al. Effects of mobile learning for nursing students in clinical education: a meta-analysis. Nurse Educ Today 2021 Feb;97:1-9. [doi: 10.1016/j.nedt.2020.104706] [Medline: 33360012]

- 27. Harden A. Mixed-methods systematic reviews: integrating quantitative and qualitative findings. National Center for the Dissemination of Disability Research (NCDDR). 2010. URL: <u>https://ktdrr.org/ktlibrary/articles_pubs/ncddrwork/focus/focus25/Focus25.pdf</u> [accessed 2022-05-05]
- 28. Lizarondo L, Stern C, Carrier J, Godfrey C, Rieger K, Salmond S, et al. Chapter 8: Mixed methods systematic reviews. In: Aromataris EMZ, editor. JBI Manual for Evidence Synthesis. Adelaide, Australia: JBI; 2020.
- 29. Page M, McKenzie J, Bossuyt P, Boutron I, Hoffmann T, Mulrow C, et al. The PRISMA 2020 statement: an updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews. BMJ 2021 Mar 29;372:n71 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.n71] [Medline: 33782057]
- Zlamal J, Gjevjon ER, Fossum M, Solberg MT, Steindal SA, Strandell-Laine C, et al. Technology-supported guidance models stimulating the development of critical thinking in clinical practice: protocol for a mixed methods systematic review. JMIR Res Protoc 2021 Jan 19;10(1):e25126 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/25126] [Medline: 33464214]
- 31. Paperpile LLC. Paperpile version 0.6.12 [Internet]. URL: http://paperpile.com/ [accessed 2022-05-05]
- 32. Maxqda 2020. MAXQDA. URL: http://www.maxqda.com/ [accessed 2022-05-05]
- 33. EndNote version 20. EndNote. URL: <u>https://endnote.com/</u> [accessed 2022-05-13]
- 34. Unlock insights in your data with the best qualitative data analysis software. NVIVO. URL: <u>https://www.qsrinternational.com/</u> <u>nvivo-qualitative-data-analysis-software/home</u> [accessed 2022-05-13]
- 35. Kinnear FJ, Wainwright E, Perry R, Lithander FE, Bayly G, Huntley A, et al. Enablers and barriers to treatment adherence in heterozygous familial hypercholesterolaemia: a qualitative evidence synthesis. BMJ Open 2019 Jul 31;9(7):e030290 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2019-030290] [Medline: 31371299]
- 36. Paez A. Gray literature: an important resource in systematic reviews. J Evid Based Med 2017 Aug 31;10(3):233-240. [doi: 10.1111/jebm.12266] [Medline: 28857505]
- 37. Ouzzani M, Hammady H, Fedorowicz Z, Elmagarmid A. Rayyan-a web and mobile app for systematic reviews. Syst Rev 2016 Dec 05;5(1):210 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13643-016-0384-4] [Medline: 27919275]
- 38. Kruse CS. Writing a systematic review for publication in a health-related degree program. JMIR Res Protoc 2019 Oct 14;8(10):e15490. [doi: <u>10.2196/15490</u>]
- 39. Notion Labs Inc. Notion version 2021 [internet]. URL: https://www.notion.so/product [accessed 2022-05-13]
- 40. Checklist for qualitative research. Joanna Briggs Institute. URL: <u>https://joannabriggs.org/sites/default/files/2019-05/</u> JBI_Critical_Appraisal-Checklist_for_Qualitative_Research2017_0.pdf [accessed 2022-05-05]
- 41. Checklist for quasi-experimental studies (non-randomized experimental studies). Joanna Briggs Institute. URL: <u>https://joannabriggs.org/sites/default/files/2019-05/JBI_Quasi-Experimental_Appraisal_Tool2017_0.pdf</u> [accessed 2022-05-05]
- 42. Hong QN, Fàbregues S, Bartlett G, Boardman F, Cargo M, Dagenais P, et al. The Mixed Methods Appraisal Tool (MMAT) version 2018 for information professionals and researchers. Educ Inf 2018 Dec 18;34(4):285-291. [doi: 10.3233/efi-180221]
- 43. Thomas J, Harden A. Methods for the thematic synthesis of qualitative research in systematic reviews. BMC Med Res Methodol 2008 Jul 10;8(1):45 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2288-8-45] [Medline: 18616818]
- 44. Azungah T. Qualitative research: deductive and inductive approaches to data analysis. Qual Res J 2018 Oct 31;18(4):383-400. [doi: <u>10.1108/qrj-d-18-00035</u>]
- 45. DATAtab: online statistics calculator. DATAtab Team. URL: https://datatab.net [accessed 2022-05-13]
- 46. Landis JR, Koch GG. The measurement of observer agreement for categorical data. Biometrics 1977 Mar;33(1):159-174. [doi: <u>10.2307/2529310</u>]
- 47. McHugh ML. Interrater reliability: the kappa statistic. Biochem Med 2012;22(3):276-282. [doi: 10.11613/bm.2012.031]
- 48. Lai C, Wu CC. Promoting nursing students' clinical learning through a mobile e-portfolio. Comput Inform Nurs 2016 Nov;34(11):535-543. [doi: 10.1097/CIN.00000000000263] [Medline: 27315365]
- 49. Lai C, Yen Y. Using mobile devices to support cognitive apprenticeship in clinical nursing practice a case study. Interact Technol Smart Educ 2018 Jul 12;15(4):348-362. [doi: 10.1108/itse-02-2018-0008]
- 50. Wu T, Huang Y, Su C, Chang L, Lu Y. Application and analysis of a mobile e-book system based on project-based learning in community health nursing practice courses. Educ Technol Soc 2018;21(4):143-156 [FREE Full text]
- 51. Mettiäinen S, Vähämaa K. Does reflective web-based discussion strengthen nursing students' learning experiences during clinical training? Nurse Educ Pract 2013 Sep;13(5):344-349. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.nepr.2012.09.012</u>] [Medline: <u>23116619</u>]
- 52. Franklin N. Clinical supervision in undergraduate nursing students: a review of the literature. e J Business Educ Scholarship Teach 2013;7(1):34-42 [FREE Full text]
- Warne T, Johansson U, Papastavrou E, Tichelaar E, Tomietto M, Van den Bossche K, et al. An exploration of the clinical learning experience of nursing students in nine European countries. Nurse Educ Today 2010 Nov;30(8):809-815. [doi: 10.1016/j.nedt.2010.03.003] [Medline: 20409620]
- Skaalvik MW, Henriksen N, Normann HK. The nurse teacher's role in clinical practice -Norwegian nursing students' experiences. A cross-sectional survey. Nordisk sygeplejeforskning 2015 Dec 10;5(4):356-366. [doi: 10.18261/issn1892-2686-2015-04-05]
- Sales A, Smith J, Curran G, Kochevar L. Models, strategies, and tools. Theory in implementing evidence-based findings into health care practice. J Gen Intern Med 2006 Feb;21 Suppl 2(S2):S43-S49 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1525-1497.2006.00362.x] [Medline: 16637960]

- 56. Krishna MRK, Shafique RM, Faisal K, Bagais A. Infusing critical thinking skill compare and contrast into content of data structures course. FECS [Internet]. URL: <u>https://eprints.kfupm.edu.sa/id/eprint/14851/2/FEC3931.pdf</u> [accessed 2022-05-05]
- Fryling MJ, Johnston C, Hayes LJ. Understanding observational learning: an interbehavioral approach. Analysis Verbal Behav 2017 Jul 8;27(1):191-203. [doi: 10.1007/bf03393102]
- 58. Wang Q, Woo HL, Zhao J. Investigating critical thinking and knowledge construction in an interactive learning environment. Interact Learn Environ 2009 Mar 13;17(1):95-104. [doi: <u>10.1080/10494820701706320</u>]
- 59. Puig B, Blanco AP, Bargiela I. A systematic review on e-learning environments for promoting critical thinking in higher education. In: Handbook of Research in Educational Communications and Technology. Cham: Springer; 2020.
- 60. Anderson T, Soden R. Peer interaction and the learning of critical thinking skills. Psychol Learn Teach 2016 Jul 31;1(1):37-40. [doi: 10.2304/plat.2001.1.1.37]
- 61. O'Connor S, Andrews T. Smartphones and mobile applications (apps) in clinical nursing education: a student perspective. Nurse Educ Today 2018 Oct;69:172-178. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.nedt.2018.07.013</u>] [Medline: <u>30096510</u>]
- 62. Upadhyaya P, Vrinda. Impact of technostress on academic productivity of university students. Educ Inf Technol 2020 Sep 11;26(2):1647-1664. [doi: 10.1007/s10639-020-10319-9]
- 63. Mundy K, Denham SA. Nurse educators—still challenged by critical thinking. Teach Lear Nurs 2008 Jul;3(3):94-99. [doi: 10.1016/j.teln.2008.02.007]
- 64. Andreou C, Papastavrou E, Merkouris A. Learning styles and critical thinking relationship in baccalaureate nursing education: a systematic review. Nurse Educ Today 2014 Mar;34(3):362-371. [doi: 10.1016/j.nedt.2013.06.004] [Medline: 23830067]
- 65. Thomas J, Brunton J, Graziosi S. EPPI-Reviewer 4: software for research synthesis. EPPI Centre. URL: <u>https://eppi.ioe.ac.uk/</u> CMS/Default.aspx?alias=eppi.ioe.ac.uk/cms/er4.; [accessed 2022-05-05]
- 66. Braun V, Clarke V. One size fits all? What counts as quality practice in (reflexive) thematic analysis? Qual Res Psychol 2020 Aug 12;18(3):328-352. [doi: 10.1080/14780887.2020.1769238]

Abbreviations

JBI: Joanna Briggs Institute PPISMA: Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic

PRISMA: Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses

Edited by E Borycki; submitted 17.02.22; peer-reviewed by C Kruse, A McLean; comments to author 22.03.22; revised version received 07.04.22; accepted 07.04.22; published 07.06.22.

Please cite as:

Zlamal J, Roth Gjevjon E, Fossum M, Trygg Solberg M, Steindal SA, Strandell-Laine C, Hamilton Larsen M, Nes AAG Technology-Supported Guidance Models Stimulating the Development of Critical Thinking in Clinical Practice: Mixed Methods Systematic Review JMIR Nursing 2022;5(1):e37380 URL: https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e37380 doi:10.2196/37380 PMID:35671078

©Jaroslav Zlamal, Edith Roth Gjevjon, Mariann Fossum, Marianne Trygg Solberg, Simen A Steindal, Camilla Strandell-Laine, Marie Hamilton Larsen, Andréa Aparecida Gonçalves Nes. Originally published in JMIR Nursing (https://nursing.jmir.org), 07.06.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Nursing, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://nursing.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Review

The Impact of Digital Health Transformation Driven by COVID-19 on Nursing Practice: Systematic Literature Review

Robab Abdolkhani^{1*}, PhD; Sacha Petersen^{1*}, PhD; Ruby Walter^{1*}, PhD; Lin Zhao^{1*}, PhD; Kerryn Butler-Henderson^{1*}, PhD; Karen Livesay^{1*}, PhD

School of Health and Biomedical Sciences, Science, Technology, Engineering, and Mathematics College, Royal Melbourne Institute of Technology University, Melbourne, Australia

^{*}all authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author:

Robab Abdolkhani, PhD School of Health and Biomedical Sciences Science, Technology, Engineering, and Mathematics College Royal Melbourne Institute of Technology University 289 McKimmies Rd Bundoora Melbourne, 3083 Australia Phone: 61 98098654 Email: <u>robab.abdolkhani@rmit.edu.au</u>

Abstract

Background: The COVID-19 pandemic has accelerated the uptake of digital health innovations due to the availability of various technologies and the urgent health care need for treatment and prevention. Although numerous studies have investigated digital health adoption and the associated challenges and strategies during the pandemic, there is a lack of evidence on the impact on the nursing workforce.

Objective: This study aims to identify the impact of digital health transformation driven by COVID-19 on nurses.

Methods: The online software Covidence was used to follow the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) protocol. Relevant scientific health and computing databases were searched for papers published from January 2020 to November 2021. Using the 8D sociotechnical approach for digital health in health care systems, the papers were analyzed to identify gaps in applying digital health in nursing practice.

Results: In total, 21 papers were selected for content analysis. The analysis identified a paucity of research that quantifies the impact of the digital health transformation on nurses during the pandemic. Most of the initiatives were teleconsultation, followed by tele–intensive care unit (tele-ICU), and only 1 (5%) study explored electronic medical record (EMR) systems. Among the sociotechnical elements, the human-related factor was the most explored and the system measurement was the least studied item.

Conclusions: The review identified a significant gap in research on how implementing digital health solutions has impacted nurses during the COVID-19 pandemic. This gap needs to be addressed by further research to provide strategies for empowering the nursing workforce to be actively involved in digital health design, development, implementation, use, and evaluation.

(JMIR Nursing 2022;5(1):e40348) doi:10.2196/40348

KEYWORDS

digital health; COVID-19 pandemic; nursing informatics; nursing workforce

Introduction

RenderX

In 2019, when the COVID-19 pandemic was declared worldwide, the delivery and organization of health care were propelled into an environment of rapid change. The change was associated with the deployment of staff, isolation of patients,

https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e40348

protection of staff well-being, and public health education and initiatives to reduce or slow the transmission of the virus [1]. The pandemic has likely accelerated the adoption of digital health implementation [2]. Similarly, nurses providing care across a broad range of health care contexts, including community, primary health care, tertiary health care, and

specialist services, such as aged care, are likely to be impacted by the uptake of digital technologies [3].

As the pandemic has not yet passed, it is expected that digital health will play an increasingly critical role in the future and even the postpandemic era due to the availability of various technologies and the urgent health care need for treatment and prevention [4]. The pandemic created a widespread and rapid adaptation to previously limited or unused forms of technology; this rapid adaptation has changed the ways clinicians and patients interact, for example, the now commonplace use of telehealth appointments rather than face-to-face appointments. Indeed, health care systems are investing much effort and focus on establishing long-term strategies to integrate digital health care models into routine practices and equip clinical professionals with knowledge and expertise to apply digital technologies efficiently [5].

The need for digital health implementation requires a transformation in nursing roles to acquire informatics-related skills to optimize and advance in this field in research, practice, and education. The pivotal contribution of nurses to the population's health worldwide is undeniable. However, despite the necessity for increased digital health adoption in the health care system, the skills nurses need to obtain to participate in digital health implementation are not comprehensively understood. As stated in Wu's study [6], the literature that discusses the need for nursing informatics skills was significantly increased since the COVID-19 outbreak (from January 2020 to August 2021), of which 36.7% emphasized informatics skills for nurses in clinical settings and 28.6% highlighted nursing informatics education. It is yet unclear how the COVID-19 pandemic is transforming the nursing professionals' awareness of digital health-in other words, what skills nurses are required to achieve and how they can be trained during nursing education to efficiently act in digitally rich health care organizations.

Although digital health competencies for nurses were extensively outlined in the nursing informatics field [7], there are still uncertainties as to which technologies and to what extent nurses need to learn and work. Before the pandemic, digital health adoption was lacking due to numerous technical, organizational, environmental, behavioral, and operational challenges, whereas most of these issues were abandoned due to the pandemic priorities. However, despite the unprecedented expansion of digital health technologies during the pandemic, many countries worldwide were not sufficiently ready to utilize them due to these challenges [8]. Therefore, these issues need to be considered for adopting these initiatives to prepare the health care workforce for future pandemics [9].

The COVID-19 pandemic has transformed current digital health models to have an increased focus on interdisciplinary teams to co-design, develop, and implement digital health solutions [10]. Experienced nurses who received professional training in informatics can play a critical role in such teams. It is essential to understand which digital health technologies were established during the pandemic. Moreover, the environments in which they are used, the users interacting with those technologies, the communication between different tools and users, and the

```
https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e40348
```

workflows and processes being performed all impact the data, information, and knowledge generated and the decisions made.

The digital health implementation experience during the pandemic indicates the need for effective planning to use these initiatives distinct from the prepandemic models. For example, it is critical to avoid disparities in accessing care when selecting digital health solutions [11]. These disparities include nurses who faced challenges accessing and using digital health technologies during the pandemic. To mitigate such inequities, nurses need to be educated and actively involved throughout the digital health pipeline. This study aims to answer the question "How did the digital health transformation driven by COVID-19 impact nurses?" The following questions address this overall question:

- Which digital health initiatives were implemented or expanded in health care during the COVID-19 pandemic?
- In what contexts were the digital health initiatives implemented or expanded?
- What issues influenced nurses' experience of these digital health initiatives?
- What methods were used to identify these issues?
- What gaps were raised in these studies about nurses' digital health experience during the pandemic that need to be considered?

Methods

Search Strategy

A literature review was conducted using the online software Covidence following the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) protocol [12] shown in Figure 1. The search concepts fell into 3 categories: COVID-19, digital health, and nursing. The concepts and their associated Medical Subject Headings (MeSH) and non-MeSH terms are described in Table 1. Cited and citing sources were double-checked to ensure no relevant items were missed.

The Boolean operator OR was used between the terms in each category, and then the operator AND was applied to combine the results by category. The search was applied to terms occurring in the title, abstract, or body text of full-text publications. The time frame selected was when COVID-19 was announced as a pandemic up to the time we conducted this study from January 2020 to November 2021. Scientific subscription databases searched contained both health and computing and information science databases, including PubMed, Ovid MEDLINE, Scopus, Web of Science, Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers (IEEE) Xplore, and Association for Computing Machinery (ACM) Digital Library. Google Scholar's database was also searched using the same terms.

The search results were imported from Endnote into Covidence. The authors double-screened the titles and abstracts based on the eligibility criteria defined at the screening stage shown in the PRISMA flowchart. In the case of conflicts among the authors on a title or abstract exclusion, discussions were undertaken in regular meetings to reach a consensus. This

XSL•FO RenderX

approach was then applied to the selected abstracts to conduct the full-text review. The papers selected following double full-text review were accepted for the content analysis.

Figure 1. PRISMA diagram. ACM: Association for Computing Machinery; IEEE: Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers; PRISMA: Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses.





Table 1. Search terms.

Search concepts	MeSH ^a terms	Non-MeSH terms
COVID-19	• COVID-19	 Coronavirus disease COVID-19 COVID-19 pandemic COVID-19 disease Global pandemic
Nursing	 Nurse Telenursing Advanced practice nursing Evidence-based nursing Nursing education Nurse practitioners 	Nurs* +: • educators • professional • informatics • informatician
Digital health	 Artificial intelligence Augmented reality Big data Clinical decision support systems Computerized medical record Deep learning Electronic health record Electronic medical record Electronic record systems Health information exchange Machine learning Patient portals Remote sensing technology Social media Telemedicine Virtual reality 	 Connected health Digital health Digital medicine Digital therapeutics eHealth mHealth^b Mobile health Remote patient monitoring Remote monitoring Smart home Telehealth Telemonitoring Telerehabilitation Virtual care

^aMeSH: Medical Subject Headings. ^bmHealth: mobile health.

Eligibility Criteria

Studies were eligible for review if they presented original research in the English language, discussed digital health initiatives implemented during the COVID-19 pandemic, and addressed nurses' experience in using digital health during the pandemic. Exclusion criteria were considered at each stage of the PRISMA flowchart to exclude publications not relevant to this study.

Content Analysis

A descriptive qualitative approach to content analysis [13] was used to describe the characteristics of the included studies that were relevant to the research questions outlined in the background. This approach is well suited for analyzing the multifaceted use of digital health in nursing practice in various health care contexts. Inductive reasoning was applied to investigate the literature to answer the study questions [14]. Next, the 8D sociotechnical model designed by Sitting and Singh [15] was selected to deductively analyze the selected studies and explore the interaction between digital health tools and technologies, individuals, and activities. This approach was applied to better understand the nurses' experience of issues inherent in the design, development, implementation, use, and evaluation of digital health solutions during the pandemic. The findings were synthesized based on the 8 themes of the sociotechnical approach, including hardware and software computing infrastructure; clinical content; human-computer

https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e40348

RenderX

interface; people; workflows and communication; internal organizational policies, procedures, and culture; external rules, regulations, and pressures; and system measurement and monitoring. To ensure interrater reliability, 3 researchers undertook the content analysis independently.

Results

Characteristics of the Included Studies

A total of 21 studies met the inclusion criteria: 4 (19%) qualitative studies targeted nurses only [16-19], whereas the remaining 17 (81%) studies included nurses and other health care providers and did not differentiate nurses' responses from others [20-36].

In addition, 13 (62%) studies explored users' experience with digital health applications for COVID-19 control [16,17,19-22,26-30,35,36]. In comparison, 8 (38%) studies investigated the use of digital health to manage other acute and chronic conditions during the pandemic, including pediatric otolaryngology [23], alcohol management [18], cancer management [24], hemophilia [25], opioids [31], pediatric chronic pain [34], and mental [32], behavioral, and sexual health [33].

In terms of digital health services, 16 (76%) studies used teleconsultations in home care [16-25,30-34,36], 4 (19%)

applied tele–intensive care unit (tele-ICU) [27-29,35], and 1 (5%) study focused on electronic medical records (EMRs) [26].

Regarding the type of health care setting, 10 (48%) studies were conducted in hospital settings [16,20,23,25-29,34,35], 8 (38%) studies were conducted in primary care facilities

[17,19,21,24,30,31,33,36], 2 (10%) studies included both primary care and hospital organizations [18,32], and 1 (5%) study involved national nonclinical institutes [22].

The characteristics of the selected studies are shown in Table 2. The studies were sorted in alphabetical order.

Table 2. Characteristics of the selected studies (N=21).

Abdolkhani et al

First author/year	Type of digital health service	Study aim	Method
Arem/2021	Teleconsultations	Understanding the provider and survivor perspec- tives on the impact of telemedicine on cancer survivorship care during the pandemic	Of 607 health care providers, 273 (45%) were nurses. They were surveyed about their experience with telehealth.
Bavare/2021	Tele-ICU ^a	Studying how hybrid ward rounds could facili- tate social distancing and maintain patient-cen- tered care	Of 114 participants, 32 (28%) were nurses. They participated in a mixed methods study to evaluate the usability of a video conference platform implemented for interaction between the patient, the nurse, and the partial ICU team.
Belcher/2021	Teleconsultations	Understanding providers' experience of a 1- month otolaryngology teleconsultation pilot during the COVID-19 pandemic	Of 16 participants, 8 (50%) were nurses. They were surveyed about telehealth appointments that occurred during the study period.
Connolly/2021	Teleconsultations	Assessing provider perceptions of virtual care for mental health by comparing virtual (phone and telehealth) care to in-person care	Of 998 participants, 120 (12%) were nurses. They were surveyed about the quality and effica- cy of virtual care versus face-to-face care with masks, the challenges of virtual care, and their willingness to continue virtual care in the future.
Esmaeilzadeh/2021	Electronic health records (EHRs)	Examining the impact of using EHRs on clini- cians' burnout in wards with COVID-19 cases	Of 368 participants, 147 (40%) were nurses. They were asked via a survey about cases of EHR-related burnout and usability challenges.
Franzosa/2021	Teleconsultations	Understanding clinicians' experience of COVID- 19–related video visits	Of 13 participants, 3 (23%) were nurses. They were interviewed about the flexibility, benefits, and limits of teleconsultations, as well as factors to consider for future implementation of these services.
Garber/2021	Teleconsultations	Identifying the difference between the COVID- 19 telehealth training levels for clinicians and the perceived usefulness, self-efficacy, knowl- edge, satisfaction, and frequency of actual use of telehealth	Of 224 participants, 47 (21%) were nurses. They were surveyed on the usefulness, self-efficacy, knowledge, use, and satisfaction of telehealth based on the telehealth training provided.
Gilkey/2021	Teleconsultations	Characterizing primary care professionals' recent use and attitudes of adolescent telehealth during COVID-19 and their support of offering tele- health after the COVID-19 pandemic	Of 1047 participants, 123 (12%) were nurses in a national survey of primary care professionals on their experience of teleconsultations with adolescents.
Hughes/2021	Teleconsultations	Exploring nurses' experiences of utilizing virtual care and remote working during COVID-19 to identify what elements could be implemented into a recovery model following the pandemic	In total, 17 operational lead nurses and 31 nurses at different levels of seniority were interviewed (semistructured) on the advantages and disadvan- tages of telehealth and whether they would sup- port telehealth after the pandemic. Interviews of the first cohort (n=17, 100%) informed the inter- views of the second cohort (n=31, 100%).
Hunter/2021	Teleconsultations	Understanding the change of service delivery with opioid treatment programs through the use of teleconsultations during COVID-19	Of 20 participants, 3 (15%) were nurse practi- tioners. Semistructured phone interviews were conducted on their experience of using telecon- sultations and quality implications.
James/2021	Teleconsultations	Exploring the experiences of primary health care nurses in the use of teleconsultations during COVID-19	All 25 (100%) participants were nurses. Semistructured phone interviews were conducted on their preparedness and experience of tele- health.
Killackey/2021	Teleconsultations	Understanding how pediatric pain care clinics operated during COVID-19 and the uptake of virtual care	Of 151 participants, 17 (11%) were nurses. Two online cross-sectional surveys on experience of virtual care were conducted.
Mohammed/2021	Teleconsultations	Exploring the use of virtual visits among primary care providers during COVID-19 and anticipated use postpandemic, understanding user percep- tions of the available support tools, and identify- ing factors that influence success and challenges to adoption and incorporation of virtual visits	Of 200 participants, 37 (19.5%) were nurse practitioners. A descriptive cross-sectional sur- vey of their experience with virtual visits was conducted.

XSL•FO RenderX

Abdolkhani et al

JMIR	NURSING
------	---------

First author/year	Type of digital health service	Study aim Method		
O'Donovan/2020	Teleconsultations	Exploring patient and health care provider expe- rience of telehealth in the European Haemophilia Comprehensive Care Centre during COVID-19	Of 21 health care provider participants, 9 (43%) were nurses. A systematic evaluation of patient surveys and health care provider surveys was performed, and a comparison of in-person appointments and teleconsultations was made.	
Park/2021	Teleconsultations	Assessing the satisfaction of patients and medi- cal staff with telemedicine used during the 17- day hospital outpatient/emergency department (ED) closure due to COVID-19	Of 155 medical staff participants, 100 (64.5%) were nurses. Surveys via text were conducted to assess their satisfaction with and experience of teleconsultations.	
Pilosof/2021	Tele-ICU	Examining the implementation of telemedicine in COVID-19 ICUs	Of 30 participants, 3 (10%) were nurses. Semistructured interviews were conducted with medical staff, telemedicine companies, and ar- chitectural design teams on the use of telemedicine.	
Ramnath/2021	Tele-ICU	Developing, implementing, and evaluating a novel tele-ICU program during the COVID-19 pandemic	Of 27 participants, 10 (37%) were nurses. Per- formance metrics were collected, and surveys of staff perceptions of tele-ICU were conducted.	
Safaeinili/2021	In-patient telemedicine	Assessing the acceptability and effectiveness of in-patient telemedicine during the COVID-19 pandemic	Of 15 participants, 5 (33.3%) were nurses. Semistructured interviews were conducted with nurses and attending and resident physicians on the use of telemedicine.	
Searby/2021	Teleconsultations	Examining the experiences of alcohol and other drug (AOD) nurses transitioning to telehealth during COVID-19	All 19 (100%) participants were nurses. Semistructured interviews were conducted with AOD nurses from Australia and New Zealand on the use of telehealth.	
Silva/2021	Teleconsultations	Reporting on monitoring of patients by nursing students who volunteered at COVID-19 clinics with telehealth duties.	All 17 (100%) participants were nurses, includ- ing nursing students (n=14, 82%) and nursing professors (n=3, 18%). A descriptive experience report was prepared on phone monitoring 1400 patients, ~80 cases per day.	
Srinivasan/2020	Teleconsultations	Assessing rapid transformation to video consul- tations at an academic medical center during COVID-19	Of 53 participants, 4 (7.5%) were nurses. Semistructured interviews of perspectives on video visit acceptability were conducted.	

^aICU: intensive care unit.

Sociotechnical Elements of Using Digital Health in Nursing Practice

The selected studies were synthesized according to the sociotechnical approach. Table 3 shows the frequency of the 8 dimensions of the sociotechnical approach for using digital health technology systems in the selected studies.

As shown in Table 3, none of the selected studies addressed all the 8 dimensions of the sociotechnical approach when exploring nurses' use of digital health during the pandemic. Among the 8 dimensions, the people-related aspect was the most frequently discussed item, studied by 17 (81%) papers, whereas system measurement and monitoring were mentioned in only 2 (10%) papers. Details of each dimension are addressed in Table 4.



Abdolkhani et al

Table 3. Frequency of the sociotechnical themes in the included studies (N=21).

Author	Sociotechnical	Sociotechnical theme addressed (yes/no)								
	Hardware and software com- puting infras- tructure	Human-com- puter inter- face	Clinical con- tent	People	Workflows and commu- nication	Internal organiza- tional policies, procedures, and culture	External rules, regula- tions, and pressures	System mea- surement and monitoring		
Arem	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No		
Bavare	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	No		
Belcher	Yes	No	No	No	Yes	No	No	No		
Connolly	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No	No	No		
Esmaeilzadeh	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes		
Franzosa	Yes	No	No	Yes	Yes	No	No	No		
Garber	No	No	No	Yes	No	No	No	No		
Gilkey	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	No	No		
Hughes	Yes	No	No	Yes	No	No	No	No		
Hunter	Yes	No	No	No	Yes	Yes	No	No		
James	No	No	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	No		
Killackey	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No		
Mohammed	Yes	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	No		
O'Donovan	No	No	No	No	Yes	Yes	No	No		
Park	Yes	No	No	Yes	Yes	No	No	No		
Pilosof	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	No	No	No	No		
Ramnath	No	No	No	Yes	No	No	No	No		
Safaeinili	No	No	No	Yes	Yes	No	No	No		
Searby	Yes	No	No	Yes	Yes	No	No	No		
Silva	No	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	No		
Srinivasan	Yes	No	No	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Yes		



Abdolkhani et al

JMIR NURSING

Sociotechnical themes	Considerations		
Hardware and software computing infrastructure	 Unreliable internet access [18,21,24] Variable audiovisual quality and internet connection [16,21,29,33,34,36] Lack of appropriate video and audiological mechanism to perform a physical examination remotely [18,20,23,30-34,36] Limited visibility in tele-ICU^a cameras [35] 		
Human-computer interface	 Screen freezing and audio delays [20,24,34] Alarm interference [29] Difficulties in video platform usability [32] High volume of data entry [26] Multiple visual communication on segregated screens [35] 		
Clinical content	 Lack of interpretation services [24,33] Need for a data analyst to extract meaningful insights from data [26] 		
People	 Limited training on using telehealth and in-patient telemonitoring [17,19,21,24,28,30,32-34,36] Concerns about the privacy of patients' information [21,24,33-36] Concerns about missing something important about patients [16-18,24,36] Lack of teaching during rounds and lack of situational awareness [29] Poor leadership support for telehealth [21,32,34] Increased burnout in using EMRs^b due to lack of training [26] Lack of trust in discussing sensitive topics via video visits [30] Lack of provider's adoption of telehealth due to training as written instructions without actual telehealth use [22] Fatigue from conducting a large number of video visits [16,20,36] Feelings of disconnection and lack of social interaction with patients [16,18,28,35] Need for the implementation team to perform innovative change in implementing tele-ICU in critical care [27] 		
Workflows and communication	 Inconsistency in team communication and presence at the bedside [28,29] Concern about full responsibility of clinicians for connectivity that limits the volume and efficiency of telehealth visits [23] Difficulties in scheduling procedures [28,32] Need for streamlined video integration into clinical workflows [21,32] Challenges in setting up a large number of patient portal accounts [30] Challenges when needing to rapidly consent patients [30] Need for extra time to communicate and coordinate visits [21,25,28,31] Lack of local information technology (IT) support and communication [34,36] Lack of integration between telehealth visits and EMRs and need for roles to support these integrations [21] Miscommunication [20] Nursing being the only profession left to work on-site during the transition to telehealth [18] Constant updates for actions [19] 		
Internal organizational policies, procedures, and culture	 Difficulty capturing reimbursement for services [21,24,25,33,34] Lack of integrated approach to implementing tele-ICU across the setting [29] Need for clear regulations and policies about clinicians' responsibilities when making errors using technology [26] Lack of preparedness and strategies on which platform to use for video visits [17,31] Constraints of the funding models in health care settings [17] Lack of equipment for using telehealth services [19] 		
External rules, regulations, and pressures	 Issues with multijurisdictional licensure [24,36] Concerns about complying with legal standards [24] Litigation concerns [24] Need for unified standards for order entry and reporting among hospitals [26] Limited licenses for video visit platforms [34] 		
System measurement and monitor- ing	 Need for regular assessment of technology effectiveness [26] Need for a systematic approach to measure workplace burnout in using technology [26] Need for new digital data sources and comprehensive remote monitoring systems to continue and scale up the services and make them ongoing part of clinical practice [36] 		

^aICU: intensive care unit.

XSL•FO RenderX

https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e40348

^bEMR: electronic medical record.

Hardware and Software Computing Infrastructure

This dimension focuses on the hardware and software components of digital health technologies, such as machines, devices, storage, network, and power required to run the applications. Most studies addressed audiovisual issues with variable quality in telehealth services, which led to difficulties in undertaking physical exams virtually [18,20,23,30-34,36]. An unreliable internet connection [16,21,29,33,34,36] and lack of access [18,21,24] also delayed the communication between nurse and patient in these services. Limited connectivity in the network caused poor visibility when using tele-ICUs, which resulted in a noncomprehensive picture of the patients, wards, and beds [35].

Human-Computer Interface

The interface includes aspects of the technology with which the user can interact. It contains any issues that users find in using the systems. The studies on telehealth reported that screen freezing, audio delays [20,24,34], and alarm interference [29] impacted their interaction with patients during the virtual visits. As health care organizations rapidly implemented telehealth during the pandemic and workflows highly increased, there was a heavy load of data entry and a lack of time for it and documentation [26]. Moreover, the implementation of various platforms that the nurses were unfamiliar with brought usability challenges [32]. Connecting via segregated screens led to multiple visual communications that added a burden to the workforce [35].

Clinical Content

The lack of interpretation services was challenging to nurses and other health care providers [24,33]. The new digital health services provide new information and insights to the health care workforce and require further interpretation. Of the 21 studies, 1 (5%) study reported a need for a data analyst to extract meaningful information and insights from the large volume of data collected from various tools to manage people's health during the pandemic [26].

People

Most of the studies addressed the lack of training in using new home telehealth and in-patient telemonitoring initiatives and EMR use, which led to burnout as well as fatigue from number virtual conducting а large of visits [16,17,19-21,24,26,28,30,32-34,36]. There were concerns among nurses and other clinicians that they might miss important things, such as emotional interactions, when the visits were conducted virtually [16-18,24,36]. The respondents felt disconnected and did not have the social interaction they usually would during in-person visits [16,18,28,35]. Being connected through various devices and networks, many reported concerns about patients' privacy [21,24,33-36] and felt there was not enough trust to discuss sensitive topics virtually [30]. Poor support from leadership in providing training and improved situational awareness was another challenge to using digital health efficiently [21,29,32,34]. The studies also showed that written instructions on using different technologies without proper practical testing do not enhance providers' adoption of the digital health [22]. Nurses were not involved during digital health implementation to understand the process and raise the issues nurses encounter in incorporating digital health into their workflow [27].

Workflows and Communication

The pandemic has interrupted clinical workflows due to increased demands for health care. The increased use of digital health has added another layer of interruption. Inconsistency in team communication [28,29]; difficulties in scheduling procedures [28,32], setting up different accounts, and obtaining various consents [30]; and constant updates [19] were among the issues the studies raised about workflows. The nurses were concerned about having the full responsibility for connectivity [23], which required extra time to communicate and coordinate visits [16,20,23,26], in turn limiting the number and efficiency of telehealth visits. Therefore, the nurses requested streamlined video integration into clinical workflows [21,32]. Nurses also raised disconnection [20] and lack of support from information technology (IT) support teams when using digital health services [34,36].

Internal Organizational Policies, Procedures, and Culture

The shortage of funding and reimbursement models was a significant internal issue that impacted the implementation of digital health use during the past 2 years [17,21,24,25,33,34]. The studies reported a lack of strategies and policies for integrating different tools across health care settings, workflows, training, and preparedness [17,29,31]. In addition, once the pandemic escalated, limited equipment was available for telehealth services [19]. There was an absence of policies on integrating different platforms and clarity about accountability for medical errors when using digital health services [26].

External Rules, Regulations, and Pressure

As many telehealth services were implemented, concerns arose around the lack of compliance with legal standards for data sharing, multijurisdictional licensure, and litigation [24,34,36]. The studies emphasized the need for unified standards for data collection, documentation, usage, and sharing among health care settings [26].

System Measurement and Monitoring

This element was the least explored sociotechnical dimension, with only 2 (10%) papers presenting relevant data in this area. They reported a lack of regular assessment of technology effectiveness. They suggested developing a systematic approach to measure burnout and usability and the need for new digital data sources and strategies to scale the initiatives to be integrated into the workflow [26,36].

Discussion

Principal Findings

This literature review identified that the sociotechnical aspects of digital health in nursing practice are not widely investigated

by the literature examining the impact on nursing practice due to the digital health transformation driven by COVID-19. Despite their recognized importance for efficient interaction between nurses, the technology and process within the health care environment were largely not addressed. This suggests that there are gaps in how the interaction with digital health innovations contributes to nurses' practice to provide efficient care and ensure patient safety and the quality of care. The results showed that the clinical participants mainly discussed patient experiences of digital health, not their own experiences. This indicates a lack of emphasis on understanding nurses' struggles within their workflows.

Of the 21 studies selected, only 4 papers examined the nurses' views and experiences of digital health during the pandemic. Undoubtedly, implementing digital health innovations requires a multidisciplinary team, which may explain the multidisciplinary approach of many of the papers examined. However, there needs to be a dedicated examination of the issues nurses face in using digital health during their routine practice in different care settings to identify nursing-specific needs.

Teleconsultations were the most used type of digital health during the pandemic, as evidenced in 16 studies. The high demand for social distancing and the reduction in in-person visits shifted clinic appointments to the virtual model. The findings showed that the health care settings that had already implemented telehealth services and needed to expand them during the pandemic were more confident, satisfied, and less challenged than those that implemented them for the first time in the pandemic. Overall, the studies reported positive attitudes among nurses toward applying telehealth consultations, such as satisfaction, improved communication with patients [23,30,33], improved productivity and quality of care [16,32], and enhanced flexibility in the workflow [16].

The other digital health service applied during the pandemic was tele-ICU, explored in 4 studies, to keep the optimal distance between the control team and clinical providers within acute care departments. The studies showed overall satisfaction with the service that improved the workflow, teamworking, and patient-centered care [27-29,35].

Surprisingly, only 1 study investigated the issues related to the EMR system during the pandemic. EMRs are 1 of the tools that might have been implemented by most of the health care settings before the other digital health services in the prepandemic era. The study explored the causes of EMR-related burnout during the pandemic as the workload and documentation suddenly increased. In contrast to the positive outcomes of virtual visits reported in the studies discussed earlier, the burnout of EMR utilization mainly was reported due to a lack of face-to-face interactions [26].

Regarding disease treatment and monitoring, 13 studies used digital health exclusively for COVID-19, while 8 reported transitioning to telehealth to manage other conditions during the pandemic. Considering the opportunities and challenges expressed in the studies, the digital health transformation requires strategies to overcome the barriers and provide ways to sustain the initiatives for integration with routine nursing practice.

```
https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e40348
```

XSL•FO

Gaps in Sociotechnical Elements of Digital Health in Nursing Practice

The synthesis of the elements of the sociotechnical approach in the literature showed that the rise and acceleration of digital health during the COVID-19 pandemic era has posed challenges regarding usability, functionality, and transformation. The sociotechnical elements were not thoroughly investigated in the literature, whereas the implementation and use of digital health services require interaction between the human, technology, and process-related factors shown via the sociotechnical approach elements to provide efficient and quality care.

The predominant consideration discussed in the literature was the people factor, which highlights the need to focus further on the nursing workforce. As most digital health studies concentrate on the technology, intervention, or outcome, the people factor, people's needs, and their competencies are usually overlooked. System measurement and monitoring was the least explored element, indicating that despite the massive implementation of digital health services, there is little research on evaluating effectiveness and plans for ongoing use of services and nurses' roles in these evaluations.

The literature showed that nurses are less likely to adopt the appropriateness of telehealth services [24] and to use secure messaging in providing virtual care [21]. Anxiety was the biggest challenge for nurses transitioning to telehealth, because moving toward telehealth would reduce patients' and nurses' engagement to interact with each other [18]. Nurses reported that the nursing care provided face to face cannot be easily replicated in a telehealth setting due to the type of care provided and the patient group's needs [16]. Telehealth is a barrier to providing basic nursing skills, such as reassuring a patient [18]. Nurses perceived that their exposure to patients stays at a similar level after implementing in-patient telemedicine [28].

Lack of training has been identified as 1 of the core causes hampering the usability of the digital health system. Further, the literature has identified the connection between poor usability and varying levels of trust in using new technology in privacy protection [21,24,30,33-36]. Therefore, the solution lies in ensuring safe implementation training embedded in the routine training of nurses from undergraduate courses to postgraduate training and continuous professional training. Dedicated training in health informatics provides nurses with in-depth knowledge and skills to become comfortable with technological changes. It translates more robust safeguards to health information used in the digital health platform [37].

Although the telehealth services were perceived as an acceptable solution to increase access to care services during the pandemic [17] and were rapidly deployed during the pandemic, insufficient resources to implement telehealth at a large scale lowers the reimbursement and nurses' motivation to use the services [24]. The prepandemic studies have addressed the reimbursement challenge as the most significant barrier to scaling up pediatric telehealth programs. The participants reported that reimbursement was a major barrier to the widespread use of telemedicine before the pandemic [31]. However, the payer reimbursement rapidly expanded during the pandemic [33]. As telehealth services are increasingly adopted in primary care,

funding for general practice nurses needs to continue to facilitate better use of their roles [17].

There was a vast difference among nurses in various specialties in the perceived quality of care delivered via telehealth. This emphasizes the need for training in virtual physical examinations for different diseases [32]. Similarly, Esmaeilzadeh et al [26] found that the leading cause of EMR-related stress is insufficient training in the use of technology. However, receiving education as written instructions only was deemed the equivalent of having no education in using telehealth and did not enhance the adoption of these services [22]. There was insufficient training on how staff should use and support video visits conducted for the first time [36]. Limited telehealth education in health care professional programs might result from a lack of faculty expertise, technology, or opportunities for clinical experience in telehealth [22]. Nurses' preparedness to use telehealth depends on the availability of technology and the skillset [17]. Moreover, interpretive services need to be embedded in future telehealth implementations to facilitate communication and improve nursing practice [23].

The other most challenging issues were the usability issues of technology and complicated workflows and communication. Clinicians had challenges deciding which infrastructure, logistics, and platforms to use [34]. The technological challenges were often linked to financial barriers [34]. Lack of adequate resources and the need for more time to conduct teleconsultations were the main challenges reported by O'Donovan et al [25].

System-level challenges exist in navigating payment models offered by different insurance companies, licensure, and litigation issues [24]. Nurses raised concerns about poor phone connectivity that hampered communication and jeopardized patient safety [29]. They felt that telehealth consultations increase their responsibility for connectivity and intake, which would severely limit the volume and efficiency of telehealth services [23]. For example, in tele-ICU services, nurses were frustrated about staying away from the bedside to overcome communication barriers. This increased the need for another nurse to fulfil the needs of critically ill patients [29].

A significant drawback of virtual visits is the inability to conduct physical examinations remotely [32]. There are concerns about not getting a holistic picture of the patient's status in video visits due to technological and connection issues [20,30]. The inability to adequately assess the patient's situation due to audiovisual issues reduces the quality of care [31]. There was an increased risk of nurses being unable to visually assess the patients and having difficulties assessing risks, such as domestic violence [18]. The findings showed that those with more EMR experience were more likely to be concerned about patients' increased demand for virtual care, which is not integrated into EMR workflows [21]. Therefore, more investment is required in the internet infrastructure and access [34]. Effective support processes, such as change management strategies for integrating EMRs and virtual care services, will improve nurses' practices in providing efficient care [21].

These challenges are not surprising. The rapid adoption of new digital health technologies at short notice in complex health care systems is an economically challenging and time-consuming process [2]. However, this justifies the need for more research in this area. Understanding these challenges can help better prepare nurses for using digital health in clinical practice and not stretch already exhausted systems.

Comparison With Prior Work

Several literature review studies have been published since the pandemic began that explore the use of digital health in this context [5,8,38-40]. However, these studies have discussed digital health in general and have not focused on nursing practice. This study is the first of its kind that reviewed original research conducted during 2020-2021, focusing on nurses' digital health experience. It used the 8D sociotechnical approach to comprehensively address the challenges related to the design, development, implementation, use, and evaluation of digital health initiatives that nurses confront in their practice in complex, real-world settings.

Limitations and Future Work

As the scope of this review was limited to the past 2 years, it did not cover the research conducted before the pandemic on nurses' experience with digital health. Moreover, it was limited to English papers and original research. Due to the pressure on the health care systems, nursing practice in many regions might not have researched the nurses' experience and outcomes during the pandemic or their findings might have been published as white papers or industry reports that were excluded from our screening.

Conclusion

This literature review studied the role and engagement of nurses in the digital transformation of health during the first 2 years of the COVID-19 pandemic. Despite the rapid growth and adoption of digital health [41], as the largest group of health care providers, nurses remained passive users of these technologies. The sociotechnical elements showed a lack of assessing nurses' interaction with and use of digital health. Despite overwhelming evidence suggesting digital health care improves efficiency and equity, many of the studies reviewed highlighted concerns about adopting digital health. Examples included disrupted workflows, lack of regulatory support, and ongoing system monitoring. It is well known that the health care industry is always slow in implementing new technology, which is often a safety-driven decision or due to a lack of supportive evidence [42]. Further, it usually takes a long time to validate and integrate digital health into the existing health services due to the complexity of this process. Recognizing the impact of the health service system and policy on digital health, all stakeholders need to be involved so their needs and interests can be incorporated into the digital health policy development and planning. Future work can explore ways in which nurses can be actively engaged in the design, development, implementation, and efficiency assessment of digital health within health care systems.



Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- Zhou X, Dang Y, Wang X, Yang W, Lu W, Zhang J. Factors influencing nurses' work interruption in Wuhan isolation wards during the COVID-19 pandemic. Med Sci Monit 2021 Jun 28;27:e929851 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.12659/MSM.929851] [Medline: 34181636]
- Marwaha JS, Landman AB, Brat GA, Dunn T, Gordon WJ. Deploying digital health tools within large, complex health systems: key considerations for adoption and implementation. NPJ Digit Med 2022 Jan 27;5(1):13 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41746-022-00557-1] [Medline: 35087160]
- 3. Rutledge CM, O'Rourke J, Mason AM, Chike-Harris K, Behnke L, Melhado L, et al. Telehealth competencies for nursing education and practice. Nurse Educ 2021 Jan 19;46(5):300-305. [doi: <u>10.1097/nne.0000000000988</u>]
- 4. Srinivas P, Chakkravarthy D, Battacharyya D. Artificial intelligence approaches for the COVID-19 pandemic. In: Garg L, Chakraborty C, Mahmoudi S, Sohmen V, editors. Healthcare Informatics for Fighting COVID-19 and Future Epidemics. Cham: Springer; 2022:249-267.
- Tilahun B, Gashu KD, Mekonnen ZA, Endehabtu BF, Angaw DA. Mapping the role of digital health technologies in prevention and control of COVID-19 pandemic: review of the literature. Yearb Med Inform 2021 Aug 03;30(1):26-37 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1055/s-0041-1726505] [Medline: 34479378]
- 6. Wu Y. Utilization of telehealth and the advancement of nursing informatics during COVID-19 pandemic. Int J Nurs Sci 2021 Oct 10;8(4):367-369 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ijnss.2021.09.004] [Medline: 34552807]
- 7. Australian Digital Health Agency. National Nursing and Midwifery Digital Health Capability Framework. URL: <u>https://www.digitalhealth.gov.au/sites/default/files/2020-11/</u>
- National Nursing and Midwifery_Digital_Health_Capability_Framework_publication.pdf [accessed 2022-08-15]
- 8. R Niakan Kalhori S, Bahaadinbeigy K, Deldar K, Gholamzadeh M, Hajesmaeel-Gohari S, Ayyoubzadeh SM. Digital health solutions to control the COVID-19 pandemic in countries with high disease prevalence: literature review. J Med Internet Res 2021 Mar 10;23(3):e19473 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/19473] [Medline: 33600344]
- Petracca F, Ciani O, Cucciniello M, Tarricone R. Harnessing digital health technologies during and after the COVID-19 pandemic: context matters. J Med Internet Res 2020 Dec 30;22(12):e21815 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/21815] [Medline: 33351777]
- Ambrosini F, Di Stasio A, Mantica G, Cavallone B, Serao A. COVID-19 pandemic and uro-oncology follow-up: a "virtual" multidisciplinary team strategy and patients' satisfaction assessment. Arch Ital Urol Androl 2020 Jun 23;92(2):78-79 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4081/aiua.2020.2.78] [Medline: 32597103]
- 11. Nouri S, Khoong E, Lyles C, Karliner L. Addressing equity in telemedicine for chronic disease management during the Covid-19 pandemic. NEJM Catal Innov Care Deliv 2020;1(3):1-13.
- Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG, PRISMA Group. Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses: the PRISMA statement. PLoS Med 2009 Jul 21;6(7):e1000097 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1000097] [Medline: 19621072]
- Vaismoradi M, Turunen H, Bondas T. Content analysis and thematic analysis: implications for conducting a qualitative descriptive study. Nurs Health Sci 2013 Sep 11;15(3):398-405. [doi: <u>10.1111/nhs.12048</u>] [Medline: <u>23480423</u>]
- 14. Simon MA. Beyond inductive and deductive reasoning: the search for a sense of knowing. Educ Stud Math 1996 Mar;30(2):197-210. [doi: 10.1007/bf00302630]
- 15. Sitting D, Singh H. A new socio-technical model for studying health information technology in complex adaptive healthcare systems. In: Patel V, Kannampallil T, Kaufman D, editors. Cognitive Informatics for Biomedicine. Cham: Springer; 2015:59-80.
- Hughes L, Petrella A, Phillips N, Taylor RM. Virtual care and the impact of COVID-19 on nursing: a single centre evaluation. J Adv Nurs 2022 Feb 30;78(2):498-509 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/jan.15050] [Medline: 34590738]
- James S, Ashley C, Williams A, Desborough J, Mcinnes S, Calma K, et al. Experiences of Australian primary healthcare nurses in using telehealth during COVID-19: a qualitative study. BMJ Open 2021 Aug 06;11(8):e049095 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2021-049095] [Medline: 34362804]
- Searby A, Burr D. Telehealth during COVID-19: the perspective of alcohol and other drug nurses. J Adv Nurs 2021 Sep 16;77(9):3829-3841 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/jan.14939] [Medline: 34133036]
- Silva CBD, Trindade LDL, Kolhs M, Barimacker SV, Schacht L, Bordignon M. Implementation of COVID-19 telemonitoring: repercussions in nursing academic training. Rev Gaucha Enferm 2021;42(spe):e20200395 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1590/1983-1447.2021.20200395] [Medline: 34524361]
- Park H, Kwon Y, Jun H, Jung S, Kwon S. Satisfaction survey of patients and medical staff for telephone-based telemedicine during hospital closing due to COVID-19 transmission. Telemed J E Health 2021 Jul 01;27(7):724-732 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2020.0369] [Medline: 33216710]
- Mohammed HT, Hyseni L, Bui V, Gerritsen B, Fuller K, Sung J, et al. Exploring the use and challenges of implementing virtual visits during COVID-19 in primary care and lessons for sustained use. PLoS One 2021 Jun 24;16(6):e0253665 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0253665] [Medline: 34166441]
- 22. Garber K, Gustin T. Telehealth education: impact on provider experience and adoption. Nurse Educ 2021;47(2):75-80. [doi: 10.1097/nne.00000000001103]
- 23. Belcher RH, Phillips J, Virgin F, Werkhaven J, Whigham A, Wilcox L, et al. Pediatric otolaryngology telehealth in response to COVID-19 pandemic: lessons learned and impact on the future management of pediatric patients. Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol 2021 Jul 26;130(7):788-795 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0003489420976163] [Medline: 33238714]
- 24. Arem H, Moses J, Cisneros C, Blondeau B, Nekhlyudov L, Killackey M, et al. Cancer provider and survivor experiences with telehealth during the COVID-19 pandemic. JCO Oncol Pract 2022 Apr;18(4):e452-e461. [doi: 10.1200/op.21.00401]
- 25. O'Donovan M, Buckley C, Benson J, Roche S, McGowan M, Parkinson L, et al. Telehealth for delivery of haemophilia comprehensive care during the COVID-19 pandemic. Haemophilia 2020 Nov 30;26(6):984-990 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/hae.14156] [Medline: 32997849]
- Esmaeilzadeh P, Mirzaei T. Using electronic health records to mitigate workplace burnout among clinicians during the COVID-19 pandemic: field study in Iran. JMIR Med Inform 2021 Jun 03;9(6):e28497 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/28497] [Medline: 34033578]
- Ramnath VR, Hill L, Schultz J, Mandel J, Smith A, Morris T, et al. An in-person and telemedicine "hybrid" system to improve cross-border critical care in COVID-19. Ann Glob Health 2021 Jan 04;87(1):1 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5334/aogh.3108] [Medline: 33505860]
- Safaeinili N, Vilendrer S, Williamson E, Zhao Z, Brown-Johnson C, Asch SM, et al. Inpatient telemedicine implementation as an infection control response to COVID-19: qualitative process evaluation study. JMIR Form Res 2021 Jun 16;5(6):e26452 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/26452] [Medline: 34033576]
- 29. Bavare A, Goldman J, Musick M, Sembera K, Sardual A, Lam A. Virtual communication embedded bedside ICU rounds: a hybrid rounds practice adapted to the Coronavirus pandemic. Pediatr Crit Care Med 2021;22(8):E427-E436. [doi: 10.1097/pcc.00000000002704]
- 30. Franzosa E, Gorbenko K, Brody AA, Leff B, Ritchie CS, Kinosian B, et al. "There is something very personal about seeing someone's face": provider perceptions of video visits in home-based primary care during COVID-19. J Appl Gerontol 2021 Nov 01;40(11):1417-1424 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/07334648211028393] [Medline: 34210200]
- Hunter SB, Dopp AR, Ober AJ, Uscher-Pines L. Clinician perspectives on methadone service delivery and the use of telemedicine during the COVID-19 pandemic: a qualitative study. J Subst Abuse Treat 2021 May;124:108288 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jsat.2021.108288] [Medline: <u>33771285</u>]
- Connolly S, Gifford A, Miller C, Bauer M, Lehmann L, Charness M. Provider perceptions of virtual care during the coronavirus disease 2019 pandemic: a multispecialty survey study. Med Care 2021;59(7):646-652. [doi: 10.1097/mlr.00000000001562]
- 33. Gilkey MB, Kong WY, Huang Q, Grabert BK, Thompson P, Brewer NT. Usingtelehealth to deliver primary care to adolescents during and after the COVID-19 pandemic: national survey study of US primary care professionals. J Med Internet Res 2021 Sep 10;23(9):e31240 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/31240] [Medline: 34406974]
- 34. Killackey T, Noel M, Birnie KA, Choinière M, Pagé MG, Dassieu L, et al. COVID-19 pandemic impact and response in Canadian pediatric chronic pain care: a national survey of medical directors and pain professionals. Can J Pain 2021 Jun 30;5(1):139-150 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/24740527.2021.1931069] [Medline: 34263096]
- Pilosof NP, Barrett M, Oborn E, Barkai G, Pessach IM, Zimlichman E. Telemedicine implementation in COVID-19 ICU: balancing physical and virtual forms of visibility. HERD 2021 Jul 02;14(3):34-48 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/19375867211009225] [Medline: 34075789]
- Srinivasan M, Asch S, Vilendrer S, Thomas SC, Bajra R, Barman L, et al. Qualitative assessment of rapid system transformation to primary care video visits at an academic medical center. Ann Intern Med 2020 Oct 06;173(7):527-535. [doi: <u>10.7326/m20-1814</u>]
- Chen Y, Banerjee A. Improving the digital health of the workforce in the COVID-19 context: an opportunity to future-proof medical training. Future Healthc J 2020 Oct 16;7(3):189-192 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.7861/fhj.2020-0162</u>] [Medline: <u>33094221</u>]
- Grimes CL, Balk EM, Crisp CC, Antosh DD, Murphy M, Halder GE, et al. A guide for urogynecologic patient care utilizing telemedicine during the COVID-19 pandemic: review of existing evidence. Int Urogynecol J 2020 Jun 27;31(6):1063-1089 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00192-020-04314-4] [Medline: 32342112]
- Golinelli D, Boetto E, Carullo G, Nuzzolese AG, Landini MP, Fantini MP. Adoption of digital technologies in health care during the COVID-19 pandemic: systematic review of early scientific literature. J Med Internet Res 2020 Nov 06;22(11):e22280 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/22280] [Medline: 33079693]
- 40. Eichberg D, Basil G, Di L, Shah A, Luther E, Lu V, et al. In reply: telemedicine in neurosurgery: lessons learned from a systematic review of the literature for the COVID-19 era and beyond. Neurosurgery 2021 Aug 16;89(3):E191-E192 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/neuros/nyab226] [Medline: 34133719]

```
https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e40348
```

- 41. World Health Organization. Global Strategy on Digital Health 2020–2025. URL: <u>https://www.who.int/docs/default-source/documents/gs4dhdaa2a9f352b0445bafbc79ca799dce4d.pdf</u> [accessed 2022-08-15]
- 42. Van Winkle B, Solad Y, Vaswani N, Rosner B. Navigating the digital health ecosystem to bridge the gap from innovation to transformation: A NODE. Health perspective on digital evidence. Digit Biomark 2019 Jun 25;3(2):83-91 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1159/000500194] [Medline: 32095768]

Abbreviations

EMR: electronic medical record ICU: intensive care unit MeSH: Medical Subject Headings PRISMA: Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses

Edited by E Borycki; submitted 16.06.22; peer-reviewed by E Hovenga; comments to author 22.07.22; revised version received 31.07.22; accepted 01.08.22; published 30.08.22. <u>Please cite as:</u> Abdolkhani R, Petersen S, Walter R, Zhao L, Butler-Henderson K, Livesay K The Impact of Digital Health Transformation Driven by COVID-19 on Nursing Practice: Systematic Literature Review JMIR Nursing 2022;5(1):e40348 URL: https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e40348 doi:10.2196/40348 PMID:35867838

©Robab Abdolkhani, Sacha Petersen, Ruby Walter, Lin Zhao, Kerryn Butler-Henderson, Karen Livesay. Originally published in JMIR Nursing (https://nursing.jmir.org), 30.08.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Nursing, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://nursing.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Review

Digital Technologies and the Role of Health Care Professionals: Scoping Review Exploring Nurses' Skills in the Digital Era and in the Light of the COVID-19 Pandemic

Valentina Isidori¹; Francesco Diamanti¹; Lorenzo Gios²; Giulia Malfatti²; Francesca Perini²; Andrea Nicolini²; Jessica Longhini³; Stefano Forti²; Federica Fraschini⁴; Giancarlo Bizzarri⁵; Stefano Brancorsini¹; Alessandro Gaudino¹

¹Department of Medicine and Surgery, University of Perugia, Terni, Italy

²TrentinoSalute4.0, Centro di Competenza per la Sanità Digitale, Trento, Italy

³Azienda Provinciale per i Servizi Sanitari, Trento, Italy

⁴Azienda Unità Sanitaria Locale Umbria 2, Terni, Italy

⁵Amministratore Unico di PuntoZero, Perugia, Italy

Corresponding Author:

Valentina Isidori Department of Medicine and Surgery University of Perugia Viale Tristano di Joannuccio Terni, 05100 Italy Phone: 39 3398830048 Email: <u>valeisi97@gmail.com</u>

Abstract

Background: The nursing role significantly changed following reforms in the nurse training process. Nowadays, nurses are increasingly trained to promote and improve the quality of clinical practice and to provide support in the assistance of patients and communities. Opportunities and threats are emerging as a consequence of the introduction of new disruptive technologies in public health, which requires the health care staff to develop new digital skills.

Objective: The aim of this paper is to review and define the role of nurses and the skills they are asked to master in terms of new methodological approaches and digital knowledge in a continuously evolving health care scenario that relies increasingly more on technology and digital solutions.

Methods: This scoping review was conducted using a thematic summary of previous studies. Authors collected publications through a cross-database search (PubMed, Web of Science, Google Scholar) related to new telemedicine approaches impacting the nurses' role, considering the time span of 2011-2021 and therefore including experiences and publications related to the first phase of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Results: The assessment was completed between April and July 2021. After a cross-database search, authors reviewed a selection of 60 studies. The results obtained were organized into 5 emerging macro areas: (1) leadership (nurses are expected to show leadership capabilities when introducing new technologies in health care practices, considering their pivotal role in coordinating various professional figures and the patient), (2) soft skills (new communication skills, adaptiveness, and problem solving are needed to adapt the interaction to the level of digital skills and digital knowledge of the patient), (3) training (specific subjects need to be added to nursing training to boost the adoption of new communication and technological skills, enabling health care professionals to largely and effectively use new digital tools), (4) remote management of COVID-19 or chronic patients during the pandemic (a role that has proved to be fundamental is the community and family nurse and health care systems are adopting novel assistance models to support patients at home and to enable decentralization of services from hospitals to the territory), and (5) management of interpersonal relationships with patients through telemedicine (a person-centered approach with an open and sensitive attitude seems to be even more important in the framework of telemedicine where a face-to-face session is not possible and therefore nonverbal indicators are more problematic to be noticed).

Conclusions: Further advancing nurses' readiness in adopting telemedicine requires an integrated approach, including combination of technical knowledge, management abilities, soft skills, and communication skills. This scoping review provides a wide-ranging

and general—albeit valuable—starting point to identify these core competences and better understand their implications in terms of present and future health care professionals' roles.

(JMIR Nursing 2022;5(1):e37631) doi:10.2196/37631

KEYWORDS

role of the nurse in telemedicine; telenursing; new technological approaches; communication and technological skills; leadership; nursing training; nursing; health care; digital knowledge; online health; digital health; COVID-19; telehealth; telemedicine

Introduction

Over the years, the nursing profession has been exposed to relevant changes, from the mother-rescuer's role to the intuitions of Florence Nightingale [1,2] and considering the reforms in the nurse training process, which now requires a 3-year university degree in most countries [2,3].

Thanks to higher education curricula and advanced educational training, nurses have become increasingly prepared, competent, and autonomous [1,3]. Even if this advancement has led to a tangible improvement in the quality of clinical practice and assistance to the person and the community [4], much more has to be done considering the wide-ranging digital health revolution we are witnessing over the past years. Nowadays, health care is undergoing profound changes, moving toward the decentralization of services and promoting outpatient activities. The delivery of health care treatments with the support of new technologies has an increasingly significant impact on the health care management and organizational asset.

This new scenario highlights the need for highly skilled nursing staff, able to adapt to new contexts and challenges that are constantly and quickly emerging within the digital health revolution [5].

In this rapidly changing context, the training of nursing skills and competences need to include the use and administration of new technologies, as well as the capacity to support the use of technological tools for patients and caregivers [6], identifying those who are eligible candidates for services enabled by digital technologies [7].

The whole process has been inevitably accelerated by the COVID-19 pandemic, which is highlighting the limited amount of resources in terms of health care staff and in terms of technological tools. The pandemic is also pushing health care institutions in reshaping service delivery, the management of patients' journeys, and the use of telemedicine [8].

The aim of this paper is to review and define the role of nurses and the skills they are asked to master in terms of new methodological approaches and digital knowledge, considering the changes that have occurred in the health sector in the past decade (2011-2021). The COVID-19 pandemic has led to an exponential increase in the use of telemedicine, and consequently, this has led to a radical change in the health care organization and in the role of professionals as well, particularly in the past couple of years. In fact, a large part of the available literature (including reviews) is related to a pre–COVID-19 period. Despite a considerable number of current reviews including robust systematic and statistical analysis, these papers (1) mainly address the issue of telemedicine only as case studies or isolated experiments, focusing on the perception of its use among nurses and students and on possible future prospects, underlining the main limitations [9,10], and (2) somehow miss detecting the massive impact of the pandemic on the health care sector and its recent acceleration in terms of the digital revolution.

In the continuum of experiences that have occurred in the past 10 years in the field of digitalization of the health care sector, this review also covers the recent COVID-19 outbreak that has contributed to largely expand telemedicine across several countries, with the aim of mapping the key concepts and implications underpinning the fast/changing role of the nurse in the digital era, as well as exploring the boundaries of the role and the skills that need to be acquired as they are redefined through the COVID-19 pandemic.

Therefore, this paper can be considered a preliminary—albeit necessary—exercise prior to conducting a structured systematic review.

Methods

Aim

The core objective is to review and define the role of nurses and the skills they are asked to master in terms of new methodological approaches and digital knowledge that have emerged before and during the COVID-19 pandemic (2011-2021). The review maps present (and future) skills that nurses are expected to develop when using new technologies, considering the novel organizational assets that are emerging in the digitalization process of health care.

Design

From a methodological viewpoint, the scoping review has been identified as the most suitable tool as this approach is particularly useful for exploring new evidence, embracing evidence from heterogeneous sources of data, and providing a broad overview of the current and rapidly changing health care scenario [11]. Authors performed a scoping review [12-14]. In line with the scoping review principles, the steps of the review were as follows: (1) defining the focus of the review, (2) identifying relevant studies using inclusion and exclusion criteria, (3) charting the studies, and (4) summarizing the core results. Results were analyzed adopting a thematic synthesis approach. Further details about the method adopted will be presented in the following sections.

Search Strategy

The search strategy was defined as follows:

- Participants: nursing professionals, researchers, and university professors
- Interest: application of telehealth in nursing practice
- International electronic databases: PubMed, Google Scholar, and Web of Science, considering the time span of 2011-2021
- Keywords used: "telenursing," "nursing," and "telemedicine"
- Search strings: (telenursing) AND (role of the nurse in telemedicine), (nurse's role) AND (eHealth), (nurse's role) AND (telemedicine COVID-19), ((community nurse) AND (telemedicine)) AND (COVID-19), and (telenursing) AND (telemedicine)

Authors conducted the research through the Perugia University library (Italy) using PubMed, Google Scholar, and Web of Science. The search was planned considering a 10-year span from 2011 to 2021.

 Table 1. Paper selection process.

Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria

Papers from 2011 to 2021 were identified using the keyword search strings through the PICO (population, intervention, control, outcome) method. During screening, all papers meeting the following selection criteria were selected: written in English; being of international significance; being searched through a cross-database search (PubMed, Web of Science, Google Scholar), considering elimination of redundant papers; including a reference to the nursing figure and the role of the nurse, with reference to the leadership role; and including the use of telemedicine systems. In addition, papers considering at least 1 of the following issues/topics were selected: nursing education and introducing clinical practice supported by telemedicine systems into the curriculum, interpersonal and communication skills in terms of telemedicine systems, and telemedicine experience (see Table 1). The final list included 60 papers.

Step	Process
Identification	 In total, 250 papers written in English, with international significance, in the time span of 2011-2021 were identified through the PICO method based on the keywords selected: (telenursing) AND (role of the nurse in telemedicine), (nurse's role) AND (eHealth), (nurse's role) AND (telemedicine COVID-19), ((community nurse) AND (telemedicine)) AND (COVID-19), and (telenursing) AND (telemedicine). No additional records were found from other searches.
Screening	 A cross-database search (PubMed, Web of Science, Google Scholar) allowed the elimination of 8 (3.2%) redundant papers. The remaining 242 (96.8%) papers were reviewed, and 156 (64.5%) that did not have free full text and did not meet the purpose of the research were excluded.
Eligibility	• All the remaining 86 (35.5%) papers with free full text were considered eligible. Of these, 26 (30.2%) papers with redundant topics not in sufficient detail were further excluded.
Included	• Finally, 60 (69.8%) papers were included.

Publication Assessment

An assessment of the risk of bias in the publications is usually not performed in the framework of a scoping review; therefore, no assessments of the papers' quality were performed [14].

Data Abstraction and Synthesis

After collection, the papers were divided and analyzed. The results of authors' analysis are presented in Tables A1-A3 in Multimedia Appendix 1. The tables summarize the core pieces of information for each item: numerical code, title of the paper, aim, journal, authors, year, telehealth/eHealth application, data collection methods, and summary of contents.

Results

Search Outcomes

In the initial phase, authors selected many papers from international peer-reviewed journals. In total, 250 papers were found matching the topic of the review. After reading the abstracts, papers that were not in line with the inclusion criteria of the review were removed. A total of 60 (24%) papers were selected to be reviewed. Of these 60 papers, 22 (37%) covered the period 2011-2018 and were therefore not affected by the COVID-19 pandemic (process summarized in the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analysis (PRISMA) flowchart in Figure 1).

Specific recurring themes and fundamental constructs that emerged in this review are presented in the following sections and then elaborated in the Discussion section.



Figure 1. Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analysis (PRISMA) flowchart for the scoping review process.



Communication Skills in Telemedicine for Nurses

This scoping review highlighted the importance of communication skills that appear to be even more important for nurses in the case of telemedicine compared to in-person visits [15]. Communication abilities and the capacity to manage interpersonal relations with patients through telemedicine tools are described as key abilities. In this case, solid professional experience is evidenced to be a vital factor in ensuring ideal quality in organizational assets supported by new technologies. This research explored the importance of improvements telemedicine systems and informatics in nurse practitioner (NP) education [5,16]. Recent research from the American Academy of Family Physicians (AAFP) highlighted the lack of training as 1 of the most common barriers to using telehealth [7]. Furthermore, another systematic review emphasized insufficient access and lack of training and education as key factors in the nonadoption of new technologies [7]. For these reasons, international organizations (eg, the Commission on Accreditation for Health Informatics and Information Management Education and the International Medical Informatics Association) have proposed a new mobile health (mHealth) skills training framework to prepare health professionals to deploy and implement mHealth interventions. This framework considers teaching digital communication skills, technology literacy and usage skills, telehealth business cases, regulatory and compliance issues, interprofessional teams, and deploying of telehealth products and services [7]. The skills are considered as basic competences to conduct remote consultation, monitor, diagnose, and treat patients. The final goal is to expand the use of digital tools and technological devices in different health care contexts, such as telepresence robots, patient-monitoring devices, pulse oximeters, blood pressure monitors, radiofrequency identification and temperature sensors, electrocardiography (ECG), and others.

From this perspective, the following list [7] of skills emerged as core competencies:

 Technical skills to use telemedicine (system use and troubleshooting telemedicine software and hardware issues)

```
https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e37631
```

- Skills in terms of using mobile communication devices and wireless remote patient-monitoring applications for treatment support, chronic disease management, and disease surveillance
- Skills in designing patient-centered health informatics systems
- Skills in understanding specific health informatics issues and suggesting/designing technological solutions
- Skills to assess data integrity and health data analysis

It is therefore possible to affirm that there is a need to recommend specific skill training; however, a clear and effective training method to properly train clinicians is far from being determined yet. The current education based on traditional lectured instruction methods is presumably not sufficient for proper adoption of new technologies, leading to bottlenecks in integrating monitoring technologies into daily practice.

Management of Interpersonal Relationships With Patients Through Telemedicine

Telehealth nursing primarily focuses on patients' long-term wellness, self-management, and health. According to the American Telemedicine Association, information technology (IT) solutions provide the delivery of nursing care, regardless of distance, while expanding the care providers' ability to monitor, educate, follow up, collect data, and provide multidisciplinary care, including remote interventions, pain management, and family support, in an innovative fashion [17]. When targeting elderly people, 1 of the emerging skills for nurses adopting telemedicine is communication, which is essential in telephone counseling. A person-centered approach with an open and sensitive attitude seems to be even more important in the framework of telemedicine where a face-to-face (FTF) session is not possible and therefore nonverbal indicators are more problematic to be noticed.

Another relevant item to consider is the nurses' working environment, which should be carefully considered. A quiet, disturbance-free environment was clearly indicated as a core issue when delivering telemedicine sessions in order to promote a contextual environment supporting mutual understanding and smooth interaction [18].

Remote Management of COVID-19 or Chronic Patients During the Pandemic

A role that has proved to be fundamental is the community and family nurse. Health care systems are adopting novel assistance models to support patients at home and to enable decentralization of services from hospitals to the territory [19]. The process was further fostered—and it is still evolving—by the recent COVID-19 pandemic, which represents an engine of massive acceleration for digital health. During the strict lockdown period, the reduction of routine FTF care, the provisional interruption of most outpatient care services and the stay-at-home directives added a significant pressure to the community component of health care systems.

From this perspective, community nurses play a key role in integrating health and social care services, particularly supporting self-care that has also proved to be beneficial during the pandemic. Community nurses have shifted from FTF care to teleconsultations to keep services accessible during the pandemic [19]. If this was possible for standard support, during the most critical phases of the COVID-19 pandemic, a reduced level of direct assistance was experienced from patients in the last stage of the disease, given the need for isolation at home. To overcome this problem, in some areas, end-of-life health care services are delivered remotely and support to the families/patients can be managed through technological platforms [20]. UK national guidelines have been delivered to allow family caregivers to administer end-of-life medications, if appropriate, and have access to timely clinical advice. Often, district nursing teams provide ongoing training and support to family caregivers willing to take on increased responsibility for patient care and associated management techniques. One of the enduring implications of the COVID-19 pandemic is also the increased need to deliver remote consultations in the field of end-of-life planning and palliative care [20].

eHealth can be supported by rapid counseling models based on remote calling by health care professionals, as shown in a randomized controlled trial [21] that evaluated the effect of remote nursing-monitoring of overweight women and confirmed the benefits in terms of improved anthropometric measurements.

This study, therefore, allows us to understand the positive effect of this approach (monitoring via phone calls) and confirms the effectiveness of the home remote control method, mainly as an educational strategy, for flexibility of schedules, optimization of times and resources, and the ability to reach many users who encounter difficulties related to geographical and financial barriers to access the health service.

Management and Leadership Within Advanced Telemedicine Systems

The nurse is increasingly becoming a key figure for the implementation of telemedicine in clinical practice. This requires specific leadership skills. Leaders set standards, develop plans, and remove barriers to implementation. The leader understands and can deliver and adapt evidence-based practice knowledge. The leader supports the efforts of others to learn and use evidence-based practice, as well as supports the implementation of evidence-based practice in a consistent and deliberate way

```
https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e37631
```

XSL•FO

[22]. The nurse plays a fundamental role in assistance supported by telemedicine systems. In fact, as demonstrated by Parimbelli et al [6], the nurse is the figure who participates in the creation of the project and is responsible for the patient's enrollment phase, for the explanation of the service to the patient and the caregiver, and, finally, for the management of the data they receive through the device used. As modes of delivery for services such as telehealth and telenursing changes, nurses are increasingly working independently and using information and communication technologies to collaborate with the health team. The goals for the future are better use of technology and information, promotion and dissemination of innovation and quality improvements, and the creation of leaders and capacities in terms of administering new technologies. This means that nursing care must focus on the delivery of services such as telemedicine and teleassistance [23].

Impact of Nurses' Previous Professional Experience When Using Telemedicine

If the technology is not optimal, more experienced nurses can compensate the suboptimal technology with their clinical experience, while younger nurses often face bigger challenges, despite their higher digital skills. In some cases, it is emphasized that digital natives often have more doubts about the correct application of digital tools in health care. The study titled "Telehealth and Telenursing Perception and Knowledge Among University Students of Nursing in Poland" [24] was conducted to investigate the perception of telenursing among nursing students, providing some predictive data for the near-future nursing practice in the country. The current generation of nursing students appear to be well qualified in the use of IT and medical technology (personal computers, personal email, etc). They seem to be better prepared for joining the information society, including the practice of telemedicine. Most of the students interviewed reported a positive attitude toward the use of telenursing. The fact that a significant number of students are familiar with the terms "telemedicine" and "telenursing" could be a prognostic factor in the future development of telenursing [24].

Discussion

Principal Findings

This review aimed at exploring the present (and future) nursing role, considering the new digital health era where the use of telemedicine is becoming a standard in health care delivery. From a methodological viewpoint, the scoping review represents the most suitable tool for this exercise, as this approach is appropriate when exploring emerging evidence from heterogeneous sources of data [25,26].

Revising the literature published within a 10-year span, authors were able to outline (1) the emerging skills and attitudes nurses are required to master within a digitalized health care system, (2) the new responsibilities that are emerging for health care staff (and nurses in particular) when digital health approaches are adopted, and (3) the (potential) impact of digital innovation in terms of requirements for the nurses' university curricula.

Among the core emerging issues highlighted in this paper, the leadership role that the nurse plays is key when new technologies are structurally part of the health care process and service delivery. In fact, nurses are (and will increasingly be) the cornerstone of communication and coordination among different professional stakeholders (eg, general practitioners, specialists), patients, and caregivers. Another important point emerging from our analysis is the need for developing new communication, adaptation, and problem-solving capabilities to flexibly adapt the use of technologies to the level of digital literacy (digital skills) of patients. This implies the capacity to assess not only the clinical profile of a patient but also the extent to which new technologies can be used in managing a specific case. This is even more important, considering an increasing body of publications [16,24] highlighting the key role of telemedicine also during first contacts with patients, in the case of urban, rural, and remote settings. This is the case for developing countries but also in industrialized areas (eg, Canada) and in emergency scenarios (eg, pandemic). Finally, the need for introducing transversal, communicative, and technological skills in the university curricula of nurses was highlighted in order to improve their capability of using and adapting new technological approaches to current (and future) health care delivery pathways.

Limitations

The authors acknowledge some limitations of this review. First, the level of eHealth literacy of nurses was assessed only in a limited number of papers, in many cases outdated, as in the case of Norman and colleagues [25,26]. This can be considered an intrinsic limitation for this kind of study. Second, potentially relevant sources of information may have been omitted because of different wording that is sometimes adopted in the literature targeting telemedicine. In addition, the wording adopted for the review might have led to potential biases. In addition, the study considered health care approaches supported by telemedicine systems as its main topic, which is constantly evolving, especially after the COVID-19 pandemic. Future studies can further explore the multifaced impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the health care system. Another limitation is the

scarce presence of papers relating to experiences in the field of nursing care supported by telemedicine systems. The nursing role in terms of new technologies is not yet well defined; in fact, this study can represent a basis from which to start to define a nurse with new specific skills and technological capabilities. Only when these skills are included in the educational path will it be possible to witness the detailed delineation of the nurse of the future in terms of technological knowledge. Finally, a core limitation lies in the lack of a standard curriculum throughout Europe regarding the nursing figure. This does not allow a clear mapping of proper strategies to integrate technological skills into educational courses for nurses.

Conclusion

As highlighted in this review, the role of nurses has widely changed over the past decades, with tremendous acceleration in the past few years and in the COVID-19 era. Studies included in this scoping review provide insight into present and future skills that might constitute the core abilities of the nurses' curricula. At the same time, additional information is needed to better understand how these skills can be included in the training and nurses' formal curricula, particularly considering the radical transformation we are witnessing, where the traditional models of care are continuously modified and sometimes replaced with advanced approaches enabled by up-to-date technologies. Our research can be considered a starting point to outline the core areas of development for the future nurse, in terms of technological, organizational, and relational skills [27]. These areas of development clearly impact the training curricula that are still wide ranging at a global level, leading to a still fragmented scenario in terms of digitally skilled nurses. This lack of professional nurses familiar with telemedicine is recurrent evidence across the literature [8,16]. The large majority of the selected papers refer to experiments or possible future training initiatives that are not yet in place, calling for a revolution also in terms of educational curricula in order to further improve the capacity and flexibility of nurses in the digital era. This issue needs to be further investigated through future research.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1

Results of authors' analysis of 60 papers selected for this study. [DOCX File , 50 KB - nursing_v5i1e37631_app1.docx]

References

- 1. Spitzer A, Perrenoud B. Reforms in nursing education across Western Europe: implementation processes and current status. J Prof Nurs 2006;22(3):162-171. [doi: 10.1016/j.profnurs.2006.03.011] [Medline: 16759959]
- Garofalo ME, Fee E. Florence Nightingale (1820–1910): feminism and hospital reform. Am J Public Health 2010 Sep;100(9):1588-1588. [doi: 10.2105/ajph.2009.188722]
- 3. Arreciado Marañón A, Isla Pera MP. Theory and practice in the construction of professional identity in nursing students: a qualitative study. Nurse Educ Today 2015 Jul;35(7):859-863. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.nedt.2015.03.014</u>] [Medline: <u>25863650</u>]
- 4. Salminen L, Stolt M, Saarikoski M, Suikkala A, Vaartio H, Leino-Kilpi H. Future challenges for nursing education: a European perspective. Nurse Educ Today 2010 Apr;30(3):233-238. [doi: 10.1016/j.nedt.2009.11.004] [Medline: 20005606]

- 5. Phillips TA, Munn AC, George TP. Assessing the impact of telehealth objective structured clinical examinations in graduate nursing education. Nurse Educ 2020;45(3):169-172. [doi: 10.1097/nne.00000000000729]
- 6. Parimbelli E, Sacchi L, Budasu R, Napolitano C, Peleg M, Quaglini S. The role of nurses in e-health: the MobiGuide Project experience. Stud Health Technol Inform 2016;225:153-157. [Medline: <u>27332181</u>]
- Sapci AH, Sapci HA. Digital continuous healthcare and disruptive medical technologies: m-Health and telemedicine skills training for data-driven healthcare. J Telemed Telecare 2018 Aug 22;25(10):623-635. [doi: 10.1177/1357633x18793293]
- Mahoney MF. Telehealth, telemedicine, and related technologic platforms: current practice and response to the covid-19 pandemic. J Wound Ostomy Continence Nurs 2020;47(5):439-444 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/WON.00000000000694] [Medline: 32970029]
- 9. Koivunen M, Saranto K. Nursing professionals' experiences of the facilitators and barriers to the use of telehealth applications: a systematic review of qualitative studies. Scand J Caring Sci 2018 Mar 03;32(1):24-44. [doi: 10.1111/scs.12445] [Medline: 28771752]
- 10. Taylor J, Coates L. Caring from a distance: the role of telehealth. Nurs Times 2015;111(28-29):18-20. [Medline: 26477231]
- 11. The Joanna Briggs Institute. The Joanna Briggs Institute Reviewers' Manual 2015 Methodology for JBI Scoping Reviews. 2015. URL: <u>https://nursing.lsuhsc.edu/jbi/docs/reviewersmanuals/scoping-.pdf</u> [accessed 2022-09-28]
- Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG, PRISMA Group. Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. BMJ 2009 Jul 21;339(jul21 1):b2535-b2535 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.b2535] [Medline: 19622551]
- 13. Vaismoradi M, Turunen H, Bondas T. Content analysis and thematic analysis: implications for conducting a qualitative descriptive study. Nurs Health Sci 2013 Sep 11;15(3):398-405. [doi: 10.1111/nhs.12048] [Medline: 23480423]
- Munn Z, Peters MDJ, Stern C, Tufanaru C, McArthur A, Aromataris E. Systematic review or scoping review? Guidance for authors when choosing between a systematic or scoping review approach. BMC Med Res Methodol 2018 Nov 19;18(1):143 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12874-018-0611-x] [Medline: 30453902]
- Morony S, Weir K, Duncan G, Biggs J, Nutbeam D, Mccaffery KJ. Enhancing communication skills for telehealth: development and implementation of a Teach-Back intervention for a national maternal and child health helpline in Australia. BMC Health Serv Res 2018 Mar 07;18(1):162 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12913-018-2956-6] [Medline: 29514642]
- 16. Emerson MR, Buchanan L, Golden A. Telehealth simulation with graduate nurse practitioner students. Nurse Educ 2020 Apr 22;46(2):126-129. [doi: <u>10.1097/nne.0000000000843</u>]
- 17. Bashir A, Bastola DR. Perspectives of nurses toward telehealth efficacy and quality of health care: pilot study. JMIR Med Inform 2018 May 25;6(2):e35 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/medinform.9080] [Medline: 29802089]
- 18. Holmström IK, Nokkoudenmäki MB, Zukancic S, Sundler AJ. It is important that they care older persons' experiences of telephone advice nursing. J Clin Nurs 2016 Jun;25(11-12):1644-1653. [doi: <u>10.1111/jocn.13173</u>] [Medline: <u>26961337</u>]
- Yi X, Jamil NB, Gaik ITC, Fee LS. Community nursing services during the COVID-19 pandemic: the Singapore experience. Br J Community Nurs 2020 Aug 02;25(8):390-395. [doi: <u>10.12968/bjcn.2020.25.8.390</u>] [Medline: <u>32757894</u>]
- 20. Bowers B, Pollock K, Oldman C, Barclay S. End-of-life care during COVID-19: opportunities and challenges for community nursing. Br J Community Nurs 2021 Jan 02;26(1):44-46. [doi: <u>10.12968/bjcn.2021.26.1.44</u>] [Medline: <u>33356939</u>]
- Palmeira CS, Mussi FC, Santos CASDT, Lima ML, Ladeia AMT, Silva LCDJ. Effect of remote nursing monitoring on overweight in women: clinical trial. Rev Lat Am Enfermagem 2019 Mar 10;27:e3129 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1590/1518-8345.2651.3129] [Medline: 30916230]
- Ronquillo C, Dahinten VS, Bungay V, Currie LM. The Nurse LEADership for Implementing Technologies Mobile Health Model (Nurse LEAD-IT - mHealth). Nurs Leadersh (Tor Ont) 2019 Jun;32(2):71-84. [doi: <u>10.12927/cjnl.2019.25960</u>] [Medline: <u>31613215</u>]
- 23. Honey M, Westbrooke L. Evolving national strategy driving nursing informatics in New Zealand. Stud Health Technol Inform 2016;225:183-187. [Medline: 27332187]
- 24. Glinkowski W, Pawłowska K, Kozłowska L. Telehealth and telenursing perception and knowledge among university students of nursing in Poland. Telemed J E Health 2013 Jul;19(7):523-529 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2012.0217] [Medline: 23650941]
- 25. Norman CD, Skinner HA. eHealth literacy: essential skills for consumer health in a networked world. J Med Internet Res 2006 Jun 16;8(2):e9 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.8.2.e9] [Medline: 16867972]
- 26. Peters MDJ, Marnie C, Colquhoun H, Garritty CM, Hempel S, Horsley T, et al. Scoping reviews: reinforcing and advancing the methodology and application. Syst Rev 2021 Oct 08;10(1):263 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13643-021-01821-3] [Medline: 34625095]
- 27. Risling T. Educating the nurses of 2025: technology trends of the next decade. Nurse Educ Pract 2017 Jan;22:89-92. [doi: 10.1016/j.nepr.2016.12.007] [Medline: 28049072]

Abbreviations

RenderX

ECG: electrocardiography **FTF:** face-to-face

https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e37631

IT: information technologymHealth: mobile healthNP: nurse practitionerPICO: population, intervention, control, outcome

Edited by E Borycki; submitted 02.03.22; peer-reviewed by G Deckard, G Nneji, H Monday, D Pessoa, H Mehdizadeh, S El kefi, M Kleib; comments to author 06.04.22; revised version received 28.04.22; accepted 04.05.22; published 04.10.22.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Isidori V, Diamanti F, Gios L, Malfatti G, Perini F, Nicolini A, Longhini J, Forti S, Fraschini F, Bizzarri G, Brancorsini S, Gaudino A Digital Technologies and the Role of Health Care Professionals: Scoping Review Exploring Nurses' Skills in the Digital Era and in the Light of the COVID-19 Pandemic JMIR Nursing 2022;5(1):e37631 URL: https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e37631 doi:10.2196/37631 PMID:36194466

©Valentina Isidori, Francesco Diamanti, Lorenzo Gios, Giulia Malfatti, Francesca Perini, Andrea Nicolini, Jessica Longhini, Stefano Forti, Federica Fraschini, Giancarlo Bizzarri, Stefano Brancorsini, Alessandro Gaudino. Originally published in JMIR Nursing (https://nursing.jmir.org), 04.10.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Nursing, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://nursing.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Nurses' Experiences Using an Interactive System to Assess and Manage Treatment-Related Symptoms of Patients With Pancreatic Cancer: Interview Study

Maria Mangsbacka^{1,2}, MSc; Tina Gustavell^{3,4}, PhD

¹School of Health and Welfare, Dalarna University, Falun, Sweden

²Nursing Research, Department of Surgical Sciences, Uppsala University, Uppsala, Sweden

⁴Department of Upper Abdominal Diseases, Cancer Theme, Karolinska University Hospital (Huddinge), Stockholm, Sweden

Corresponding Author:

Tina Gustavell, PhD Department of Upper Abdominal Diseases Cancer Theme Karolinska University Hospital (Huddinge) Hälsovägen, Flemingsberg (Main entrance) C1:77 Stockholm, 14186 Sweden Phone: 46 724682250 Email: <u>tina.gustavell@ki.se</u>

Abstract

Background: Treatment for pancreatic cancer entails symptom distress and a high burden of self-care. Patient-reported outcomes, collected with the support of mobile health (mHealth), have shown positive effects on symptom management, patient satisfaction, and quality of life for patients with cancer. For mHealth tools to become an integral part of clinical routine, experiences from health care professionals are needed.

Objective: The aim of this paper is to describe nurses' experiences of integrating an interactive system (Interaktor) for symptom assessment and management into daily practice, when caring for patients following pancreaticoduodenectomy and during chemotherapy treatment due to pancreatic cancer.

Methods: Patients reported symptoms via the Interaktor app daily for 6 months. In the event of alarming symptoms, an alert was triggered to the patient's nurse who then called the patient to offer advice and support. All nurses (n=8) who assessed patients were interviewed either individually or in a group. Transcribed interviews were analyzed using qualitative thematic analysis.

Results: mHealth can facilitate person-centered care by offering nurses a way to gain knowledge about patients and to build relationships. Further, obstacles to implementation could be seen due to a lack of structural prerequisites and uncertainty about multiple ways to interact with patients.

Conclusions: The Interaktor system can provide person-centered care. However, to implement mHealth tools as a clinical routine, focus needs to be placed on creating the necessary organizational conditions.

(JMIR Nursing 2022;5(1):e36654) doi:10.2196/36654

KEYWORDS

app; health care professionals; mobile health; mHealth; nurses; pancreatic cancer; person-centered care; symptom-management; qualitative interview; nursing; interview

Introduction

RenderX

Pancreatic cancers have a high mortality rate and short median survival. The best hope of curing the cancer is to undergo

```
https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e36654
```

surgical resection followed by adjuvant chemotherapy. The most common surgical procedure is pancreaticoduodenectomy where the head of the pancreas, duodenum, distal common bile duct, the gall bladder, and sometimes the gastric antrum and

³Division of Nursing, Department of Neurobiology, Care Sciences and Society, Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden

pylorus are removed. Unfortunately, the surgery often results in severe symptoms and a prolonged reduction in quality of life [1]. Common symptoms are related to eating, bowel function, and emotional well-being, along with fatigue and pain [2]. Great demands are placed on patients to manage their illness following surgery, and patients experience high levels of unmet physical and psychological supportive care needs [3]. Collecting electronic patient-reported outcomes (PRO) has an important role in supportive care to patients with pancreatic cancer [4]. Medical and public health practices supported by mobile devices have been defined by the World Health Organization as mobile health (mHealth) [5]. Several studies have shown positive effects on symptom management and quality of life when mHealth is used to collect and monitor PROs and to support self-management in cancer care [6,7].

The Interaktor system has been developed to meet the different needs patients may experience as they manage symptoms and concerns related to their illness. Interaktor includes a web interface and an app that is downloaded onto a smartphone or a tablet. The components are as follows: (1) patients' assessment of the occurrence, frequency, and distress level of symptoms; (2) a web interface for the health care providers, for monitoring patients' data in real time; (3) an alert function based on a risk assessment model, which sends alerts to the nurses via SMS text messaging; (4) access to evidence-based self-care advice related to symptoms and links to relevant websites; and (5) graphs of symptom report history. The web interface functions both as an aid in patient-clinician communication about symptoms and self-care and as a decision aid for health care professionals to manage symptoms. The reported data are stored on a designated secure server [8]. The Interaktor app has been evaluated for patients with breast-, pancreatic-, or prostate cancer with positive effects on symptom burden [9-11]. Patients with pancreatic cancer described that the app enabled them to be seen as a person by allowing their voices to be heard, to have access to an extended arm of health care, and to learn about their own health [12].

In Sweden, patients with a cancer diagnosis are offered a nurse navigator. The nurse navigator is a registered nurse (3 years of higher education with a bachelor's degree) who functions as a support for the patients and relatives throughout the care chain. The role includes being accessible, informing about future steps in care and treatment, providing support in the event of normal crisis reactions, and mediating contacts with other professional groups [13].

The benefit to patients with cancer of using mHealth to interact with health care is clear. However, there is limited research regarding health care professionals' perspective on how mHealth can enhance care and be implemented as clinical practice. To implement mHealth as clinical practice, there is a need to gain further knowledge about how the use of mHealth can be helpful for health care professionals in their work and about requirements for implementation. Therefore, the aim of this study was to describe nurses' experiences of integrating an interactive system (Interaktor) for symptom assessment and management into daily practice when caring for patients following pancreaticoduodenectomy and during chemotherapy treatment due to pancreatic cancer.

Methods

Design

This study has a qualitative descriptive design.

Setting, Procedure, and Participants

The study was performed at a high-volume center for pancreatic surgery, with over 100 pancreaticoduodenectomies performed annually. At the time of the study, standard care after discharge following pancreaticoduodenectomy and during adjuvant chemotherapy meant that patients were able to call the clinic's advice line during office hours (daytime, Monday to Friday) to contact their nurse navigator when necessary. A few weeks after discharge, patients had one scheduled visit to the surgeon and sometimes the nurse navigator where symptoms could be discussed. Patients undergoing adjuvant chemotherapy were monitored weekly before the start of the intravenous treatment. Patients with severe symptoms were referred to an advanced home care team offering frequent visits by nurses at home.

In addition to standard care, patients using the Interaktor app reported symptoms to their nurse navigator, starting the first day after discharge and until 1 week after their final dose of intravenous chemotherapy. They were encouraged to report symptoms once a day, preferably in the morning. They were informed that alerts were only monitored during office hours, and if they needed help at other times, they were to telephone the national Healthcare Advice Line or visit the nearest Emergency Department. The nurse's involvement was to monitor alerts and call patients following an alert to give support. The alerts came as an SMS text message to a study-specific mobile phone, one at each unit. For red alerts, a nurse should contact the patient within 1 hour. For yellow alerts, contact should be made within the same day.

Before the study started, the nurse navigators were invited to attend a 2-hour training session on the use of the Interaktor platform and their responsibilities throughout the study. Nurse navigators who could not attend the training session, or those employed after the session, received "in-house" training from nurses who had attended the training session. The training was held by one of the researchers, and throughout the study, the same researcher was available to answer questions that might arise. The total study period was 21 months. During that time, the nurse navigators at the surgical clinic monitored all patients who started to use the app (n=36), and they had 1-10 patients to monitor at the same time. Not all patients received adjuvant chemotherapy treatment. Those who did (n=21) were allocated to one of two oncological clinics. Those two clinics had, respectively, 1-8 patients and 1-5 patients to monitor at the same time.

Sample

All nurse navigators (n=8, hereafter referred to as nurses) who had monitored symptom alerts of patients with pancreatic cancer using the Interaktor app were invited to participate in the study, and all consented. The nurses worked either at the surgical clinic where they monitored patients after discharge and until start of adjuvant chemotherapy, or at one of the oncological clinics

XSL•FO RenderX

where the patients received their chemotherapy for up to 6 months.

Data Collection

Focus groups were chosen since this method takes advantage of group processes to explore and clarify participants' attitudes, needs, and ideas of structural solutions [14]. The focus groups (n=3) were held at the workplace during working hours with

nurses from the same unit, to take advantage of natural interactions. One nurse was interviewed over the phone since she was unable to participate in the focus group with her colleagues. To ensure trustworthiness, the interviews followed a semistructured interview guide (Textbox 1). The interviews were audio recorded and lasted for 18, 22, 23, and 25 minutes, respectively.

Textbox 1. Semistructured interview guide used for the focus groups (n=3) and the individual interview (n=1).

Main questions

- What was it like to implement the app system?
- How did it affect your working situation?
- What was it like to monitor alerts?
- How well did the technology function?
- Can you describe in which way the patients using the app contacted you during the study and if there were any differences between them and other patients?
- What were your thoughts about the benefits for patients who used the app?

Data Analysis

The interviews were analyzed using thematic analysis [15]. To begin with, the first author transcribed all interviews verbatim, and both authors read through the transcripts several times to familiarize themselves with the data. Then, the text was systematically coded throughout the entire data set with an inductive approach. A code consisted of a few words or a sentence related to the aim of the study. After the initial coding, matching codes were put together into areas. The areas were then reviewed so that they covered all codes. After this step, the areas were analyzed into themes. The themes were reviewed, discussed, and revised several times by both authors. The final analysis resulted in 2 main themes with 2 subthemes each (Figure 1). Some quotes were chosen to exemplify the findings, which are presented in the Results section. To establish rigor of the analysis, the 15-point checklist of criteria for good thematic analysis by Braun and Clark [15] was followed.

Figure 1. Examples of areas (white rectangle) connected to sub-themes (light grey rectangle) and overarching themes (dark grey rectangle) identified through the thematic analysis of interviews with nurses (n=8) responsible for monitoring and responding to alerts coming from patients using the Interaktor app following pancreaticoduodenectomy due to cancer.



Mangsbacka & Gustavell

JMIR NURSING

Ethical Considerations

Ethical approval was given by the Regional Ethical Review Board in Stockholm, Sweden (Registration number 2011/1780-13/2), and the research followed the Declaration of Helsinki. Before inclusion in the study, all participants were informed, both verbally and in writing, about the voluntary nature and confidentiality of participation and their right to withdraw at any time. They were also made aware that confidentiality would be preserved and that access to the audio recordings would only be given to researchers involved in the analysis. Further, they were informed that quotes from the interviews would be formulated to protect the identity of the participants.

Results

The two main themes identified were as follows: "mHealth as a facilitator for person-centered care" and "Obstacles in implementing mHealth in clinical care."

mHealth as a Facilitator for Person-Centered Care

Gaining More Knowledge About the Patients

The nurses described that through the Interaktor system, they could capture patients who did not normally contact them. Even though they told their patients to call if distressing symptoms occurred, they were aware that some patients hesitated to call since they did not want to bother the nurse. In the nurses' experiences, many patients normally waited a long time before contacting their health care provider. The alerts enabled the nurses to be notified right away if a patient had symptoms at home that needed attention. Thereby, even patients who hesitated to call were acknowledged and could receive rapid support, and attention could be focused on patients most in need.

Some might think to themselves, okay, I've got a fever but it's probably nothing to worry about, even though we've told them to call if they have a fever. The system allows us to automatically call in the event of an alarm, I think that's the most important thing. Then, hopefully, you can spend time on the patients with problems, rather than calling the ones who are well and don't really need any help. [Nurse at Unit C]

The nurses mentioned that the alerts and their different response times contributed to the rapid reaction. The early identification of symptoms and the possibility to view symptom graphs enabled the nurses to check on their patients at home. From the nurses' perspective, the patients felt secure and relaxed knowing that someone was monitoring them and that someone other than themselves was responsible for them being contacted.

The patients could rely on us to contact them, meaning that they did not need to feel responsible for contacting us. They trusted that we would contact them when they reported more severe symptoms. I really think they appreciated that. [Nurse at Unit A]

Building Relationships With Patients

The nurses stated that they had more regular contact with the patients who used the app and therefore spent more time with

RenderX

them. Thus, this experience showed the nurses that patients felt close to them even if the patients were at home.

The alert levels did not suit all patients, which resulted in alerts being triggered even if the patient was not in need of support. Patients sometimes felt guilty and apologized if the nurse called several times for the same alert. As a solution, the nurses made individual plans together with the patients about when to call and when not to call. In addition, the patients were encouraged to write messages in the free text section to specify if they needed contact or not. This enhanced the communication between the nurse and the patient.

And then there was a patient who we had a lot of contact with. She had numbness all the time and felt that many times I called unnecessarily. But after a few times I still wanted to call, but then she said, I will write a comment if I want you to call. That was --- [mentions patient by name], I think you knew her even better [addresses colleague]. [Nurse at Unit C]

The self-care advice enabled the nurses to give personalized advice to the patients. When talking to a patient, the advice could form the basis of the conversations. The nurses and the patients could then discuss different actions and what suited that patient, or the nurse could clarify the text that the patient had read. Further, by reading the self-care advice, patients could ease their symptom burden at home without having to seek medical care, and self-control of the disease could be achieved, which created security.

Obstacles in Implementing mHealth in Clinical Care

Lacking Structural Prerequisites

The nurses felt that they lacked a clear structure for how to set up the work around the patients who used the app. The nurses themselves had to create a structure for how to monitor and respond to alerts, which took time from their usual tasks. Moreover, the experience was that that they spent more time on patients who used the app, which resulted in extra work. None of the units had adapted their workflow in any way when introducing the app, which meant that the resources available were the existing staff. The lack of structure, time, and staff resulted in work with the Interaktor system being deprioritized. However, there was a varying engagement in working with the system among the nurses, with different views on how to structure the work. Here is a discussion between 2 nurses:

The other day we talked about how we didn't have any good routines for this system, or at least I felt that we didn't have a routine for when to check for alerts, so that it just became automatic.

Hmm, but for myself, every time I walked by the phone, I checked it for alerts. [Two nurses at Unit C]

The nurses mentioned that it was time-consuming to work with both the Interaktor system and the regular electronic medical records system. There was a strong wish that the two systems could have been integrated to a greater extent, so that information about the patients was easy to access when an alert came, and they could facilitate documentation of actions and advice.

Being Unsure About Multiple Ways to Interact With Patients

Often, when the nurses came to work on Mondays, there was a long list of alerts that had come in over the weekend. This created a concern that patients had not received help with their problems, and they felt obliged to call to make sure that no one was feeling unwell at home. Sometimes patients had awaited a call from the nurse, which made the nurses unsure about how to clarify ways to contact health care. Further, there was uncertainty as to whether alerts might have been missed or not, due to technical problems with the phone, or it not being checked regularly.

Since only a few patients were included in the study at any one time, the nurses felt that it was hard to set routines and keep track of patients who used the app. Most patients they cared for did not participate in the study and did not have access to the app, which made their work more difficult as different patients could reach them in different ways.

At a small unit, it was hard to respond to alerts within the specified times. Therefore, it happened that patients called the clinic's advice line as well, which resulted in uncertainty as to whether the patient had already spoken to someone or not. In the same way, uncertainties arose about the responsibility to contact patients who were connected to the advanced home care team or who were about to receive chemotherapy at the treatment unit. As a result, the nurses found that patients received numerous phone calls and had contact with several nurses.

They meet a nurse in the treatment unit quite regularly and then maybe they feel that they do not need to report an alert. They know that tomorrow they can discuss this at the treatment unit. At least half of the alerts were connected to the treatment and then the nurses needed to talk to them to adjust the doses or something like that. [Nurse at Unit B]

Discussion

Principal Results

Important findings in this study are that the nurses emphasized that incorporating mHealth in clinical practice is helpful in facilitating person-centered care. The Interaktor system enabled the nurses to form partnerships with patients and to capture patients in most need. However, they experienced obstacles in incorporating the Interaktor system due to lack of structural prerequisites and uncertainty about the multiple ways of interacting with patients.

Limitations

There are some limitations with this study. For some periods of time, the nurses had few patients to monitor, which could well have affected their understanding of the system and its use. If other patient groups had been included in the study, the nurses might have gained more experience and insights about this new way to support and monitor patients with cancer. Further limitation is the risk that, when using focus groups, individual voices and certain views are prevented from emerging due to

```
https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e36654
```

group dynamics [14]. Sometimes it was notable that someone expressed themselves more strongly than the others in the group. However, discrepancies were captured even at the same workplace, indicating that diverse views were given room in the interviews. A strength with the analysis is that the authors have different preunderstandings of the study and the data. The initial coding and analysis of themes was carried out without the influence of previous evaluations of the Interaktor app. Later in the analysis process, the researchers who conducted the interviews were involved, which facilitated the validation that initial thoughts were not lost during the analysis.

Comparison With Prior Work

Forming partnerships with patients has been described as the foundation for person-centered care [16]. According to Swedish law and regulations, nurses are obligated to create conditions for individual planning, and to allow patients to participate in their own care and to perform self-care as much as possible [17,18]. The results illustrate several ways in which partnership and participation can be achieved by implementing the Interaktor app. The nurses had a close connection to patients, even if they were at home. Further, they could follow up on patients' self-care through the symptom monitoring and then interact with patients and make individual plans. The results demonstrate that nurses are ready to use mHealth to bring knowledge and increase patients' participation in care, a focus that has been highlighted by international and national nurse associations [19,20].

One of the main findings, that the Interaktor system could capture patients in most need without patients having to be responsible for contacting health care themselves, is consistent with descriptions from patients using the app [12]. To be able to implement such a tool as a clinical routine, it is important that there is consensus on its benefits. On the other hand, when the responsibility was placed on the nurses, a worry arose that patients might be neglected. This highlights the importance of creating clear routines when implementing new ways of working.

Neither workplace had adapted their structure in any way prior to the introduction of the app, meaning that the nurses received this new workload in addition to their regular duties. Monitoring patients and responding to alerts took more time than the standard care, where patients got in touch with them when they needed something. The description of an extra workload has been highlighted previously in evaluations of mHealth and must be considered before implementation [21,22]. A clear structure, proper training, and introduction along with positive and engaged nurses are prerequisites when implementing mHealth [22]. Further, previous research has found that nurse managers have shown stronger motivation to use information and communication technology than registered nurses and that team climate and collegial and organizational support are essential to build positive experiences for health care professionals [23]. If the app is to be implemented in the standard care, it is important for workplace managers to adapt the workplace so that the app becomes part of the normal routine. This will require clear manuals and steering documents. Furthermore, focus needs to be placed on engaging nurses and making them identify

XSL•FO

benefits themselves, along with suitable training and introduction to the system.

Since the web interface was not incorporated in the systems that nurses already used daily, they experienced duplicated work, using two systems to document interactions and support to patients. This is in line with findings from a review where a major barrier for health care professionals to incorporate collection of PROs as clinical routine was that PROs were not incorporated in the hospital's electronic records resulting in multiple log-ins with the risk of ineffectiveness [24]. For implementation work, it will be important to incorporate collection of PROs along with self-care advice and documentation of support into systems that are used daily.

The nurses pointed out that it was not optimal to call patients on Mondays for alerts that had occurred over the weekend. This was also brought up by patients as a flaw with the system, as it is often over weekends and during the night that feelings of loneliness can arise and thereby the need to talk to someone [12]. It has been concluded that a lack of outpatient services on weekends for patients following pancreatic cancer surgery leads to increased emergency room use, and that early identification and triage of adverse events are essential [25]. This highlights the need to offer patients with pancreatic cancer support outside of office hours, even for symptoms of less acute nature.

Conclusions

In conclusion, the findings show that with the help of mHealth, health care professionals can gain more knowledge about patients at home and build relationships from a distance. As such, person-centered care can be facilitated for patients undergoing treatment for pancreatic cancer. By identifying patients in most need, health care professionals can allocate their resources accordingly, which makes care more effective. For tools such as Interaktor to be implemented in standard care, there are important organizational issues to consider. Health care professionals need time and resources to create new routines and adapt the workplace, together with proper introduction, training, and support from unit managers. Further, it would be beneficial if the app was incorporated in already-used systems and if alerts were monitored and responded to during all hours of the day.

Acknowledgments

The authors thank the nurses who participated in this study. We also thank Kay Sundberg for valuable help with data collection. No funding is to be disclosed.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- Kleeff J, Korc M, Apte M, La Vecchia C, Johnson CD, Biankin AV, et al. Pancreatic cancer. Nat Rev Dis Primers 2016 Apr 21;2(1):16022. [doi: 10.1038/nrdp.2016.22] [Medline: 27158978]
- 2. Gustavell T, Sundberg K, Frank C, Wengström Y, Browall M, Segersvärd R, et al. Symptoms and self-care following pancreaticoduodenectomy: Perspectives from patients and healthcare professionals Foundation for an interactive ICT application. Eur J Oncol Nurs 2017 Feb;26:36-41. [doi: 10.1016/j.ejon.2016.12.002] [Medline: 28069150]
- Beesley V, Janda M, Goldstein D, Gooden H, Merrett ND, O'Connell DL, et al. A tsunami of unmet needs: pancreatic and ampullary cancer patients' supportive care needs and use of community and allied health services. Psychooncology 2016 Feb;25(2):150-157. [doi: 10.1002/pon.3887] [Medline: 26123474]
- 4. Moffat G, Epstein A, O'Reilly E. Pancreatic cancer-A disease in need: Optimizing and integrating supportive care. Cancer 2019 Nov 15;125(22):3927-3935 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cncr.32423] [Medline: 31381149]
- 5. mHealth: New Horizons for Health through Mobile Technologies: Based on the Findings of the Second Global Survey on eHealth (Global Observatory for eHealth Series, Volume 3). World Health Organization. 2012. URL: <u>https://apps.who.int/</u> iris/bitstream/handle/10665/44607/9789241564250_eng.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y [accessed 2022-01-19]
- Hernandez Silva E, Lawler S, Langbecker D. The effectiveness of mHealth for self-management in improving pain, psychological distress, fatigue, and sleep in cancer survivors: a systematic review. J Cancer Surviv 2019 Feb;13(1):97-107. [doi: 10.1007/s11764-018-0730-8] [Medline: 30635865]
- Osborn J, Ajakaiye A, Cooksley T, Subbe C. Do mHealth applications improve clinical outcomes of patients with cancer? A critical appraisal of the peer-reviewed literature. Support Care Cancer 2020 Mar;28(3):1469-1479 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00520-019-04945-4] [Medline: 31273501]
- Langius-Eklöf A, Crafoord M, Christiansen M, Fjell M, Sundberg K. Effects of an interactive mHealth innovation for early detection of patient-reported symptom distress with focus on participatory care: protocol for a study based on prospective, randomised, controlled trials in patients with prostate and breast cancer. BMC Cancer 2017 Jul 04;17(1):466-017 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12885-017-3450-y] [Medline: 28676102]
- Fjell M, Langius-Eklöf A, Nilsson M, Wengström Y, Sundberg K. Reduced symptom burden with the support of an interactive app during neoadjuvant chemotherapy for breast cancer - A randomized controlled trial. Breast 2020 Jun;51:85-93 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.breast.2020.03.004] [Medline: 32247251]

- Gustavell T, Sundberg K, Segersvärd R, Wengström Y, Langius-Eklöf A. Decreased symptom burden following surgery due to support from an interactive app for symptom management for patients with pancreatic and periampullary cancer. Acta Oncologica 2019 Jul 09;58(9):1307-1314. [doi: 10.1080/0284186x.2019.1633473]
- 11. Sundberg K, Wengström Y, Blomberg K, Hälleberg-Nyman M, Frank C, Langius-Eklöf A. Early detection and management of symptoms using an interactive smartphone application (Interaktor) during radiotherapy for prostate cancer. Support Care Cancer 2017 Jul;25(7):2195-2204 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00520-017-3625-8] [Medline: 28236145]
- Gustavell T, Sundberg K, Langius-Eklöf A. Using an Interactive App for Symptom Reporting and Management Following Pancreatic Cancer Surgery to Facilitate Person-Centered Care: Descriptive Study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2020 Jun 17;8(6):e17855 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/17855] [Medline: 32554375]
- 13. Kontaktsjuksköterska. Regionala Cancercentrum. 2019. URL: <u>https://cancercentrum.se/samverkan/patient-och-narstaende/kontaktsjukskoterska/</u> [accessed 2022-01-24]
- 14. Kitzinger J. Qualitative research. Introducing focus groups. BMJ 1995 Jul 29;311(7000):299-302 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.311.7000.299] [Medline: 7633241]
- 15. Braun V, Clarke V. Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qualitative Research in Psychology 2006 Jan;3(2):77-101. [doi: 10.1191/1478088706qp063oa]
- Ekman I, Swedberg K, Taft C, Lindseth A, Norberg A, Brink E, et al. Person-centered care--ready for prime time. Eur J Cardiovasc Nurs 2011 Dec;10(4):248-251. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ejcnurse.2011.06.008</u>] [Medline: <u>21764386</u>]
- 17. Handbok för vårdgivare, chefer och personal. Socialstyrelsen. 2015. URL: <u>https://www.socialstyrelsen.se/globalassets/</u> sharepoint-dokument/artikelkatalog/handbocker/2015-4-10.pdf [accessed 2022-01-24]
- 18. Patientlag (2014:821). Sveriges Riksdag. 2014. URL: <u>http://www.riksdagen.se/sv/dokument-lagar/dokument/</u> <u>svensk-forfattningssamling/patientlag-2014821_sfs-2014-821</u> [accessed 2022-01-24]
- 19. The International Council of Nurses. 2020. URL: <u>https://www.icn.ch/what-we-do/projects/ehealth-icnptm</u> [accessed 2022-01-24]
- 20. Kompetensbeskrivning för legitimerad sjuksköterska. Svensk sjuksköterskeförening. 2017. URL: <u>https://tinyurl.com/bdepz9dw</u> [accessed 2022-01-24]
- 21. Chiang K, Wang H. Nurses' experiences of using a smart mobile device application to assist home care for patients with chronic disease: a qualitative study. J Clin Nurs 2016 Jul;25(13-14):2008-2017. [doi: 10.1111/jocn.13231] [Medline: 27136280]
- 22. Maguire R, McCann L, Miller M, Kearney N. Nurse's perceptions and experiences of using of a mobile-phone-based Advanced Symptom Management System (ASyMS) to monitor and manage chemotherapy-related toxicity. Eur J Oncol Nurs 2008 Sep;12(4):380-386. [doi: 10.1016/j.ejon.2008.04.007] [Medline: 18539527]
- 23. Konttila J, Siira H, Kyngäs H, Lahtinen M, Elo S, Kääriäinen M, et al. Healthcare professionals' competence in digitalisation: A systematic review. J Clin Nurs 2019 Mar;28(5-6):745-761. [doi: <u>10.1111/jocn.14710</u>] [Medline: <u>30376199</u>]
- 24. Nguyen H, Butow P, Dhillon H, Sundaresan P. A review of the barriers to using Patient-Reported Outcomes (PROs) and Patient-Reported Outcome Measures (PROMs) in routine cancer care. J Med Radiat Sci 2021 Jun 19;68(2):186-195 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/jmrs.421] [Medline: 32815314]
- 25. Kothari AN, Qu LT, Gil LA, di Chiaro B, Sweigert PJ, Kulshrestha S, et al. Weekend readmissions associated with mortality following pancreatic resection for cancer. Surg Oncol 2020 Sep;34:218-222. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.suronc.2020.05.001</u>] [Medline: <u>32891334</u>]

Abbreviations

mHealth: mobile health **PRO:** patient-reported outcomes

Edited by E Borycki; submitted 24.01.22; peer-reviewed by S Erdley; accepted 13.03.22; published 16.05.22.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Mangsbacka M, Gustavell T Nurses' Experiences Using an Interactive System to Assess and Manage Treatment-Related Symptoms of Patients With Pancreatic Cancer: Interview Study JMIR Nursing 2022;5(1):e36654 URL: <u>https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e36654</u> doi:10.2196/36654 PMID:35576577

©Maria Mangsbacka, Tina Gustavell. Originally published in JMIR Nursing (https://nursing.jmir.org), 16.05.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Nursing, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://nursing.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



The Outcomes of App-Based Health Coaching to Improve Dietary Behavior Among Nurses in a Tertiary Hospital: Pilot Intervention Study

Wei Xiang Lim¹, MBBS, GDOM, GDFM; Stephanie Fook-Chong², BSc, MSc; John Wah Lim¹, MBChB, GDFM, MPH; Wee Hoe Gan¹, MBBS, MPH, MRCP, DAvMed

¹Department of Occupational and Environmental Medicine, Singapore General Hospital, Singapore, Singapore

²Programme in Health Services and Systems Research, Duke-NUS Medical School, Singapore, Singapore

Corresponding Author:

Wee Hoe Gan, MBBS, MPH, MRCP, DAvMed Department of Occupational and Environmental Medicine Singapore General Hospital Academia, Level 4 20 College Road Singapore, 169856 Singapore Phone: 65 65767438 Email: gan.wee.hoe@singhealth.com.sg

Abstract

Background: At the workplace, health care workers face multiple challenges in maintaining healthy dietary behaviors, which is the major factor behind obesity. A hospital-wide mass health screening exercise showed an increasing trend in the prevalence of obesity and median BMI from 2004 to 2019, as well as a higher crude obesity rate among shift workers.

Objective: We aimed to evaluate the effectiveness of mobile app–based health coaching and incentives for achieving weight loss from better dietary choices among hospital nurses.

Methods: We conducted a pilot study from June 2019 to March 2020, involving the use of a health-coaching app by 145 hospital nurses over 6 months. Weight and BMI were self-reported, and food scores were calculated. Data among overweight nurses, shift work nurses, and incentive groups were analyzed.

Results: A total of 61 nurses were included in the final analysis. Of these 61 nurses, 38 (62%) lost weight. The median percentage weight loss was 1.2% (IQR 0%-2.9%; *P*<.001), and the median decrease in BMI was 0.35 (IQR -0.15 to 0.82; *P*<.001), but they were not clinically significant. The median improvement in the food score was 0.4 (IQR 0-0.8). There was no difference between the incentive and nonincentive groups. A total of 49 (34%) participants engaged for ≥ 8 weeks.

Conclusions: The study demonstrated an association between the use of app-based health coaching and the attainment of some weight loss in nurses, without a significant improvement in the food score. Incentives may nudge on-boarding, but do not sustain engagement.

(JMIR Nursing 2022;5(1):e36811) doi:10.2196/36811

KEYWORDS

smartphone app; weight loss; dietary behavior; nurse; app; mobile health; mHealth; app-based health; health coaching; diet; dietary choice

Introduction

Background

RenderX

Overweight and obesity are the leading risk factors for a multitude of noncommunicable diseases around the world, including cardiovascular diseases, diabetes mellitus, and some

```
https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e36811
```

types of cancers [1-3]. Health care professionals may themselves be obese [4-6] and less healthy compared with the general population [7,8]. Studies have identified dietary behaviors to be the major factors behind obesity, in particular, the consumption of high caloric food rich in fat and sugar [7,9]. At

the workplace, health care workers face multiple challenges in maintaining a healthy diet [6,10,11].

Prior to this study, we conducted a mass health screening exercise for 5171 of our hospital staff members across various job classifications, and the results showed an increasing trend in the prevalence of obesity and median BMI from 2004 to 2019. The median BMI increased from 22.6 kg/m² in 2004 to 23.5 kg/m² in 2019, and the crude obesity rate (BMI \ge 30 kg/m²) has correspondingly increased from 7.5% to 13.2%.

Comparing the results to the most recently available data provided by Singapore's National Population Health Survey in 2020 [12], our hospital staff members have a higher crude obesity rate of 12.0% (gender standardized) as compared to a rate of 10.5% in the Singapore population. Hence, we identified the health care worker population as a group increasingly at risk for obesity and other long-term effects associated with obesity.

Among our staff, the crude obesity rate (BMI \ge 30 kg/m²) among shift workers is higher than that among nonshift workers (13% vs 11%). The barriers to healthy dietary behavior include shift duties, having irregular meals, or absence of a diet plan as a result of shift work [11,13,14]. Standard dietary interventions often involve face-to-face programs during day time working hours and rarely address those performing shift work. Nurses form the majority of the hospital workforce, and they are susceptible to the negative effects of shift duties on nutrition patterns and obesity [15,16].

A systematic review of 136 lifestyle health promotion intervention studies for nurses found that interventions targeting diet, body composition, physical activity, or stress are most likely to have positive outcomes for nurses' health or well-being [17]. The review also suggested that interventions aimed at improving nutrition amongst nurses commonly result in improved outcomes, especially when the interventions are education based. However, the use of web technology was mainly limited to education websites and not mobile apps. A study involving female health care workers found that a web-based educational tool was not useful for improving and modifying their lifestyle [18].

There have been efforts launched to address obesity and other health outcomes among the general and patient populations using smart apps both locally in Singapore [19-21] and internationally [22-26]. Mobile app-based health coaching has been used in a local study to target the diabetic patient population with a similar study period of 6 months for the participants [19]. Another local pilot randomized controlled trial targeting overweight pregnant women [20] had a different objective to control gestational weight gain and macronutrient intake rather than weight loss. A local randomized controlled trial protocol has also been proposed locally to evaluate the effectiveness of a comprehensive diabetes management package involving 2 health apps over 24 months, with weight loss as its secondary objective [21]. An American study also indicated that the use of diet/nutrition apps is associated with diet-related behavior change, namely increased actual goal setting to eat a healthy diet, increased frequency, and consistency of eating healthy foods [27].

https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e36811

However, based on published literature, there are limited programs using smart apps targeted at health care workers. Therefore, we hope to provide a multi-domain nonface-to-face dietary behavior coaching program by leveraging digital technology. Instead of a prescribed date and time of a physical session, this modality enables nurses to interact and participate in the program any time at their convenience.

Objective

With funding from Singapore's Health Promotion Board (HPB), a small pilot study was implemented by onboarding nurses onto a digital app to participate in a dietary behavior health coaching program.

The primary aim of this study was to evaluate the effectiveness of a mobile app for improving dietary behaviors among nurses, especially among shift workers, which include improving quality of food choices and achieving weight loss from better dietary choices.

The secondary aim was to evaluate the effectiveness of incentives for modifying and sustaining health behavioral change.

The data received were analyzed for program effectiveness and for the institution to gain insights into the implementation challenges around the use of digital technology for this purpose. These learning points include participant recruitment strategies, potential problem areas, and real-world operational concerns, all of which will allow us to recommend changes if the program is to be scaled to a much larger population in the future.

Methods

Study Design

This was a pilot study conducted within a tertiary acute hospital in Singapore between June 2019 and March 2020. As part of the corporate health improvement initiative and as an extension of the Workplace Alliance for Health Scheme, the hospital's Department of Occupational and Environmental Medicine partnered the national HPB to start a program of using a commercially available mobile app–based intervention to promote and improve dietary behavior among nurses.

The mobile app is a proprietary healthy lifestyle management program that was originally developed by a private company for use in Singapore for adults with type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) [28]. Screenshots of the mobile app are shown in Multimedia Appendix 1 and Multimedia Appendix 2. It is a commercially available app downloadable from either the Apple App Store or Google Play Store, and users can access its features through paid subscriptions. It comprises the following 2 components: (1) a comprehensive T2DM educational curriculum delivered through online lessons and (2) the mobile app with a health coaching feature. The mobile app enables users to log and monitor their blood glucose levels, weight, meals, and physical activity, which is captured via the mobile phone's built-in pedometer. The app also serves as a vehicle for accredited dietitians, known as health coaches, to provide personalized feedback to participants on their progress and to present opportunities for improvement.

Based on the quantum of funding secured, we were able to use only part of the suite of features offered by the mobile app, such as weight and meal logs, real-time health coaching, and general health information, for up to 145 users.

Participants

We recruited 145 nurses who are currently working in the hospital. The recruitment onboarding process took place across 3 months as planned. It was an open recruitment process where instructions for registration were cascaded through nursing leaders. Registration was on a first-come first-serve basis. Participants were included if they (1) were nurses within the hospital and (2) had a smart mobile device. We did not specifically set a target proportion of shift workers, or overweight or obese workers. Participants were excluded if they (1) were not permanent staff of the hospital or (2) did not have a smart mobile device. All successfully registered participants received 6 months of free unlimited access to mobile app-based health coaching. The app allowed them to (1) voluntarily log their weight and food intake via photos or text comments, (2) communicate with a dedicated health coach in real time via the secured in-app messaging feature, and (3) receive general health information provided within the app, such as food choices during Ramadan, the fasting month observed by Muslims.

The participants were also randomized to the low incentive group (group A) or the high incentive group (group B) in a 73:72 allocation ratio. Both groups of participants were provided with full access to the mobile app-based health coaching and its services for 6 months. Group A received S \$15 (US \$10.70) worth of health points in HPB's Healthy 365 app at the end of the first 3 months and no further incentive for the next 3 months, while group B received S \$30 (US \$21.40) worth of health points in HPB's Healthy 365 app at the end of 6 months. Healthy 365 is a mobile app by Singapore's HPB, which aims to encourage users to adopt a healthier lifestyle through the use of gamification and rewards [29]. The app seamlessly pairs with fitness tracking devices to help users log their daily step count and amount of time spent on active exercise. Users can sign up for in-app challenges and health programs to earn health points, which they can redeem for healthy lifestyle rewards from a catalogue. The criterion for the group A incentive was engagement with the app for 8 weeks out of the first 12 weeks of the program. The criteria for the group B incentive were (1) at least 4 engaged weeks in the last 12 weeks of the program and (2) qualification for the first incentive.

Data

Data, such as biodata, age, height, and weight, were self-reported by the participants in the app, and BMI was calculated based on self-reported height and weight. Food scores were assigned by the mobile app's dieticians and nutritionists based on the user's uploaded photos or text comments. The meals were given a rating of 1 to 5, in half-point increments, with 1 being the least healthy and 5 being the healthiest. The food log meal reading improvement was then derived by subtracting the mean of the last 5 food logs from the mean of the first 5 food logs. The health coaches also trended the frequency of engagement and reached out to participants who had reduced engagement with the app. An engaged week was defined as the user logging at least one food, weight, or message into the app. However, biochemical data, such as fasting glucose and lipid profiles, were not collected.

All data were self-entered by program participants into the app itself. Data from the app were kept strictly confidential and safe on a secured password-protected server, with limited access given to program coaches. Access to data was limited to the program team only. The hospital team obtained only deidentified data for program evaluation. No identifiable data were used for analysis.

Ethics Approval

We conducted the study according to the tenets of the Declaration of Helsinki and obtained approval from the SingHealth Centralized Institutional Review Board (CIRB 2019/2456). Consent was embedded in the mobile app, as part of the on-boarding/registration process to create an account within the app. Potential candidates were considered to be enrolled in the program only after they pressed the accept button on the consent page.

Statistical Analysis

Data for continuous variables were reported as median (IQR), as most data had a skewed distribution, and categorical variables were reported as count (%). Comparisons of categorical data between comparison groups of overweight nurses, shift workers, and randomization arms were performed using the chi-squared test, and the Mann-Whitney test was used for continuous variables. All tests were 2-sided, with a P value <.05 taken as indicating statistical significance. Statistical analyses were performed using IBM SPSS Statistics Version 19 software (IBM Corp).

Results

A total of 145 hospital nurses were enrolled in the program. Table 1 shows the demographic characteristics of our study population. There were 129 (89.0%) females and 16 (11.0%) males. The median age was 34 years (IQR 30-43 years, range 22-66 years). The majority of nurses were Chinese (67/145, 46.2%) and Malay (48/145, 33.1%). Moreover, 114 (78.6%) nurses were overweight (BMI \geq 23 kg/m²). The median starting weight was 67 kg (IQR 57-78 kg, range 38-125 kg), and the median starting BMI was 26.0 kg/m² (IQR 23.0-30.0 kg/m², range 17.0-45.0 kg/m²). Overall, 85 (58.6%) nurses were shift workers.

Among the 145 nurses recruited for the program, 49 (33.8%) engaged for \geq 8 weeks and 38 (26.2%) engaged for \geq 12 weeks. The median total logs (meal and weight logs) was 17 (IQR 4-37), and the median total touchpoints (Ask Coach) was 47 (IQR 17-104) per participant. Among the 61 nurses in the final analysis, the median interval between weight logs was 10 weeks (IQR 5-21 weeks).

The results of 61 (42.1%) participants were included in the final analysis (Table 2). The other 84 participants were excluded as they did not self-report their before and after weights. The median weight loss was 0.8 kg (IQR 0-2.3 kg; P<.001), and the

median percentage weight loss was 1.2% (IQR 0%-2.9%; P<.001). Of the 61 participants, 38 (62.3%) lost weight. There was a median decrease in BMI of 0.35 (IQR -0.15 to 0.82; P<.001). The median improvement in the food score was 0.4 (IQR 0-0.8; P=.07). Among the 84 participants who were

excluded due to insufficient weight data, 16 had sufficient food logs for analysis. When analyzed together with the group of 61 participants having weight data, the median improvement in the food score (77 participants with food score data) was 0.4 (IQR -0.1 to 0.8; P=.07).

Table 1. Demographic characteristics of the participants.

Characteristic	Value (N=145)			
Gender, n (%)				
Female	129 (89.0)			
Male	16 (11.0)			
Ethnicity, n (%)				
Chinese	67 (46.2)			
Indian	14 (9.7)			
Malay	48 (33.1)			
Others	16 (11.0)			
Age (years), median (IQR)	34 (30-43)			
Height (m), median (IQR)	1.59 (1.56-1.63)			
Starting weight (kg), median (IQR)	67 (57-78)			
Starting BMI (kg/m ²), median (IQR)	26 (23-30)			
Shift work, n (%)				
Nonshift	60 (41.4)			
Shift	85 (58.6)			

Table 2. Analysis of the	health outcomes	of participants.
--------------------------	-----------------	------------------

Outcome	Overall (n=61), median (IQR)	P value	Over- weight or obese (n=49), me- dian (IQR)	Nonover- weight or nonobese (n=12), me- dian (IQR)	P value	Shift work (n=33), me- dian (IQR)	Nonshift work (n=28), me- dian (IQR)	P value	Double incentive (n=30), median (IQR)	Single in- centive (n=31), median (IQR)	P value
Weight loss (kg)	0.8 (0 to 2.3)	<.001	N/A ^a	N/A		N/A	N/A		N/A	N/A	
Percentage weight loss	1.2 (0 to 2.9)	<.001	1.2 (-0.2 to 3.1)	0.5 (0 to 1.9)	.60	1.6 (0 to 3.6)	0.4 (-0.1 to 2)	.12	1.1 (-0.2 to 1.0)	1.2 (0 to 1.0)	.53
Reduction in BMI	0.35 (-0.15 to 0.82)	<.001	0.41 (-0.14 to 0.9)	0.24 (-0.11 to 0.57)	.55	0.43 (-0.8 to 0.96)	0.23 (-0.20 to 0.59)	.22	N/A	N/A	
Improvement in the food score	0.4 (0 to 0.8)	.07	0.5 (0.1 to 0.9)	0.2 (-0.1 to 0.6)	.13	0.3 (-0.6 to 1.4)	0.4 (-0.6 to 1.3)	.67	0.4 (-0.1 to 0.8)	0.4 (0.1 to 0.8)	.83

^aN/A: not applicable.

Among the 61 participants, there were 49 (80.3%) overweight or obese nurses (BMI \geq 23 kg/m²), and we observed that 63.3% (31/49) of them lost weight compared to 58.3% (7/12) of nonoverweight or nonobese nurses. The median percentage weight loss in the overweight or obese group was 1.2% (IQR -0.2% to 3.1%), and the value was higher compared to 0.5% (IQR 0%-1.9%) in the nonoverweight or nonobese group. There was a greater reduction in BMI in overweight or obese nurses (0.41, IQR -0.14 to 0.9) compared to that in nonoverweight or nonobese nurses (0.24, IQR -0.11 to 0.57). The overweight or obese group also showed better improvement in the food score, with a median improvement of 0.5 (IQR 0.1-0.9) compared to 0.2 (IQR -0.1 to 0.6) in the nonoverweight or nonobese group. However, both differences were not statistically significant.

Among the 61 participants, there were 33 (54.1%) shift workers. We observed that the median percentage weight loss in shift workers was 1.6% (IQR 0%-3.6%), and the value was higher compared to 0.4% (IQR -0.1% to 2%) in nonshift workers. There was also a greater reduction in BMI in shift workers (0.43, IQR -0.8 to 0.96) than nonshift workers (0.23, IQR -0.20 to 0.59). However, both differences were not statistically

significant. There was also no difference in meal improvement between shift workers and nonshift workers.

Comparing group B participants (n=30) who received 2 incentives (3rd month and 6th month) and group A participants (n=31) who received a single incentive (3rd month), there were no differences in both percentage weight loss and improvement in the food score.

Discussion

Principal Findings

Smart apps are being increasingly employed to address obesity and other health outcomes among the general population and patient populations. App-based interventions have been shown to be effective in promoting weight control through shaping positive dietary behavioral change, thus leading to desired health outcomes in the long term [30,31]. One main aspect that smart apps focus on is dietary self-monitoring, which is the cornerstone of behavioral weight loss treatment and has been associated with greater weight loss [31-34]. The health coaching mobile app in this pilot study was originally developed for use in Singapore as a proprietary lifestyle management program for adults with T2DM [19].

The WHO has also recommended the use of nonfood rewards in obesity treatments [35]. However, previous trials and systematic reviews have reported mixed results [36-39], with some studies suggesting that financial incentives may be appropriate when properly administered, but behavioral maintenance persists as a weakness in most cases [40,41]. Locally, the National Steps Challenge [42] is an incentive-based national program to encourage Singaporeans to be more physically active, and 90% of those who have already received all rewards continue to persist for at least another 2 months.

The median percentage weight loss was 1.2% for overweight participants after 6 months of app-based health coaching, compared to a 2.3% reduction in baseline weight in a local study by Koot et al [19]. In a systematic literature review by DiFilippo et al [23], 2 out of 3 randomized controlled trials reported percentage weight loss values of 3.2% and 2.7%. These were lower than the minimum clinically meaningful weight loss of 5%, even though the weight loss was statistically significant. The guideline of the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute recommends a 10% reduction in weight for overweight and obese people [43], although considerable literature indicates that 5% weight loss is clinically meaningful and associated with reduced health risks [44].

Another meta-analysis of 12 studies by Flores Mateo et al [24] found that those who used a mobile app showed significant decreases in weight of 1.04 kg and BMI of 0.43 kg/m^2 compared with control groups. This is higher than the median weight loss of 0.8 kg and median decrease in BMI of 0.35 kg/m^2 in our study. While the meta-analysis included studies with a duration of 6 weeks to 9 months, more than half of the studies had physical activity interventions embedded in the mobile apps. Most of the studies involved only overweight patients, and only 2 of the 12 studies reported high attrition rates. These may

explain the higher weight loss and median decrease in BMI in the other studies. Although the median reductions in percentage body weight were modest in our study, it should not be expected to achieve clinically meaningful weight loss with a single weight loss intervention when compared with programs with multiple interventions [45,46]. We recognize that health behavior modification is complex and requires a multi-faceted yet integrated approach. However, it is not the intent of this study to delve into surrounding health behavioral change, such as through the use of the Health Belief Model as an explanatory framework. The mobile app allows fast onboarding and may offer easy access to some of these other multiple interventions that are available in the full version of the app, such as glucose monitoring and physical activity tracking. Further studies can evaluate the effectiveness of an integrated program or workplace health promotion that includes a mobile intervention and its full suite of features.

A systematic review of 12 studies by Wang et al [25] found that the greatest weight loss differences were seen in patients who employed multiple tactics within their weight loss strategy. The authors postulated that while the net effect of the joint nontechnological intervention is unknown, it suggests that even though applications alone promote the self-regulation aspect of weight loss behaviors, they ought to be used in conjunction with other avenues for weight loss. A recent review by Ghelani et al [26] also found that randomized controlled trials have reported smartphone apps to be ineffective for weight management as stand-alone interventions, as they were reported to not achieve the clinically significant target percentage weight loss of 5%. The authors suggested that mobile apps showed potential to be used as an adjunct to other weight management interventions instead.

We observed that engagement levels fell greatly after the short-term engagement period of 3 months, which is consistent with other local studies using smartphone apps [19,20]. This may potentially attenuate the longer-term benefits of sustained lifestyle management, hence accounting for the clinically insignificant weight loss among the studies. The fall in sustained engagement was before Singapore had its first case of COVID-19 [47], and local hospitals had already begun preparatory work and work intensification prior to that. Less than half (61/145, 42.1%) of our participants managed to log their before and after weights. Given the self-reported nature of the dietary and weight data, the accuracy is subjected to social desirability bias and recall bias. Based on systematic reviews performed, high attrition rates are not uncommon in weight-loss intervention programs, and the reasons are varied and complex [48-51]. We also postulate that the low adherence may be due to more considerable effort required to self-monitor diet than to monitor physical activity through a passive method of using motion sensors or pedometers [34,46,52]. We suggest to appoint internal ambassadors to champion the effort and to increase peer-driven engagement, as well as to engage users with in-person events, such as booths providing in-person app support, receiving feedback, and providing healthy snacks as incentives in future studies.

Strengths and Limitations

The strengths of our study are its prospective study design and the use of standard protocols in dietary food score assessments by qualified dietitians. The limitations of the study include the small sample for analysis relative to the number of enrolled participants and the exclusion of a group of participants due to incomplete self-entered data. As this was a pilot study, the sample size was small in proportion to the nursing population of the hospital, which is around 4000 nurses. Moreover, the use of app features and the frequency of engagement with health coaches were entirely voluntary and up to the individual. Hence, the benefits of dietary modification and extent of weight management were largely dependent on user initiative. The study was also limited by its short duration, and it was not able to demonstrate the longer-term sustainability of health behavioral change and its attendant benefits.

Interestingly, we also observed no differences in percentage weight loss, improvement in food scores, and number of touch points between the low and high incentive groups. However, this can be attributed to the incentives being not too significant in terms of monetary value. According to a systematic review by Purnell et al, larger incentives are associated with better outcomes, although behavior change did not appear to be maintained [36]. Maintenance of behavior could be addressed by using financial incentives to facilitate the desired behavioral outcome rather than to reward the completion of the said behavior, as suggested by Burns et al [53]. To increase the compliance of weight reporting and to reduce the conflict of interest between an incentive and self-reported weight loss of a participant, weight should be taken in-person under supervision.

Lim et al

Future Directions

Although our study used healthy dietary coaching as the main intervention, physical activities play a significant role in weight loss as well [54-56]. We postulate that enrollment in the program may result in a step up in other active lifestyle measures, such as physical activity, that are not monitored and measured. We hope to look at multi-faceted health-seeking behaviors to better understand our context going forward and to include qualitative methods, such as in-depth interviews and focus group discussions, to better focus on our target population. Future studies could also include deeper insights into the nursing occupation, and could analyze the results while taking into account the working conditions and environment. Such analyses would serve to inform how we may influence health behaviors in the health care worker population, and to adjust health promotion interventions to achieve better outcomes.

Conclusion

Our study has demonstrated some benefits in achieving weight loss among nurses and has shown some indication of increased benefits among shift workers and overweight participants, even without significant improvements in food scores. We recommend a shorter duration of incentives (3 months) due to a decay in the engagement rate with time. We found that incentives may nudge onboarding, but do not result in sustainment of engagement over time. Future efforts should assess the effectiveness of mobile app-based health promotion using a randomized controlled trial of at least 12 months to evaluate longer-term health behavioral changes and health outcomes. It may also be useful to include more outcome parameters, such as blood pressure, random glucose, and lipid profile. Mobile apps should be used in conjunction with other nontechnological interventions, such as physical activity, group sessions, and face-to-face health coaching, to achieve a more positive effect overall.

Acknowledgments

This is a joint collaboration between Singapore General Hospital (SGH), Health Promotion Board (HPB), and Holmusk. As part of the program, HPB provided funding of S \$18,900 (US \$13,440) to Holmusk for the use of the mobile app "Glycoleap." In addition, HPB provided an amount equivalent to S \$3270 (US \$2325) in the form of health points to program participants via the Healthy 365 app. No honorarium, grant, or other form of payment was given to anyone to produce the manuscript. The authors did not receive any funding to support open-access publication. The following collaborators are acknowledged:

Liang Sai; Department of Occupational and Environmental Medicine, Singapore General Hospital, Singapore

Zeenathnisa Mougammadou Aribou; Department of Occupational and Environmental Medicine, Singapore General Hospital, Singapore

Kang Lee Lin; Health Promotion Board, Singapore

Nidu Maran Shanmugam SO Bala Krishnan; Division of Nursing, Singapore General Hospital, Singapore

Tien Choo Eng; Division of Nursing, Singapore General Hospital, Singapore

Leong Siew Teing; Division of Nursing, Singapore General Hospital, Singapore

Nur Fidtria Binte Sahat; Division of Nursing, Singapore General Hospital, Singapore

Nazrul Hisyam Bin Hamzah; Division of Nursing, Singapore General Hospital, Singapore

Xin Xiao Hui; Health Services Research Unit, Singapore General Hospital, Singapore

Wong Hui Mei; Department of Dietetics, Singapore General Hospital, Singapore

Ashley Toh; Holmusk Pte Ltd

Gracia Ho; Holmusk Pte Ltd

Bonnie Lau; Holmusk Pte Ltd

Patricia Cheong; Holmusk Pte Ltd

Yau Teng Yan; Holmusk Pte Ltd

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1

Screenshot of the mobile app and in-app health coaching. [PNG File, 276 KB - nursing_v5i1e36811_app1.png]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Screenshot of the mobile app, weight logging, and food scoring. [PNG File, 840 KB - nursing_v5i1e36811_app2.png]

References

- 1. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. URL: <u>https://webspace.science.uu.nl/~ooste108/ExpC/website5/v2/</u> adultobesitycauses.html [accessed 2022-06-30]
- Powell-Wiley TM, Poirier P, Burke LE, Després JP, Gordon-Larsen P, Lavie CJ, American Heart Association Council on LifestyleCardiometabolic Health; Council on CardiovascularStroke Nursing; Council on Clinical Cardiology; Council on EpidemiologyPrevention;Stroke Council. Obesity and cardiovascular disease: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association. Circulation 2021 May 25;143(21):e984-e1010 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1161/CIR.000000000000973] [Medline: 33882682]
- Apovian CM. Obesity: definition, comorbidities, causes, and burden. Am J Manag Care 2016 Jun;22(7 Suppl):s176-s185 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 27356115]
- 4. Kunyahamu MS, Daud A, Jusoh N. Obesity among health-care workers: which occupations are at higher risk of being obese? Int J Environ Res Public Health 2021 Apr 20;18(8):4381 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph18084381] [Medline: 33924182]
- Iwuala SO, Ayankogbe OO, Olatona FA, Olamoyegun MA, OkparaIgwe U, Sabir AA, et al. Obesity among health service providers in Nigeria: danger to long term health worker retention? Pan Afr Med J 2015;22:1 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.11604/pamj.2015.22.1.5586] [Medline: 26600902]
- 6. Luckhaupt SE, Cohen MA, Li J, Calvert GM. Prevalence of obesity among U.S. workers and associations with occupational factors. Am J Prev Med 2014 Mar;46(3):237-248. [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2013.11.002] [Medline: 24512862]
- Sharma SV, Upadhyaya M, Karhade M, Baun WB, Perkison WB, Pompeii LA, et al. Are hospital workers healthy?: a study of cardiometabolic, behavioral, and psychosocial factors associated with obesity among hospital workers. J Occup Environ Med 2016 Dec;58(12):1231-1238. [doi: 10.1097/JOM.00000000000895] [Medline: 27930484]
- 8. Hazmi H, Ishak WRW, Jalil RA, Hua GS, Hamid NF, Haron R, et al. Traditional cardiovascular risk factors among healthcare workers in Kelantan, Malaysia. Southeast Asian J Trop Med Public Health 2015 May;46(3):504-511. [Medline: <u>26521525</u>]
- 9. Raynor HA, Champagne CM. Position of the academy of nutrition and dietetics: interventions for the treatment of overweight and obesity in adults. J Acad Nutr Diet 2016 Jan;116(1):129-147. [doi: 10.1016/j.jand.2015.10.031] [Medline: 26718656]
- 10. Nicholls R, Perry L, Duffield C, Gallagher R, Pierce H. Barriers and facilitators to healthy eating for nurses in the workplace: an integrative review. J Adv Nurs 2017 May 09;73(5):1051-1065. [doi: 10.1111/jan.13185] [Medline: 27732741]
- Saulle R, Bernardi M, Chiarini M, Backhaus I, La Torre G. Shift work, overweight and obesity in health professionals: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Clin Ter 2018;169(4):e189-e197 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7417/T.2018.2077] [Medline: 30151553]
- 12. National Population Health Survey 2016/2017. Ministry of Health. URL: <u>https://www.moh.gov.sg/resources-statistics/</u> reports/national-population-health-survey-2016-17 [accessed 2022-06-30]
- 13. Walentukiewicz A, Łysak A, Wilk B. Health behavior of nursing students. Nursing Problems / Problemy Pielęgniarstwa 2013;21(4):484-488.
- Amani R, Gill T. Shiftworking, nutrition and obesity: implications for workforce health- a systematic review. Asia Pac J Clin Nutr 2013;22(4):505-515 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.6133/apjcn.2013.22.4.11] [Medline: 24231009]

- Peplonska B, Bukowska A, Sobala W. Association of rotating night shift work with BMI and abdominal obesity among nurses and midwives. PLoS One 2015 Jul 21;10(7):e0133761 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0133761] [Medline: 26196859]
- 16. Pepłońska B, Nowak P, Trafalska E. The association between night shift work and nutrition patterns among nurses: a literature review. Med Pr 2019 Jun 14;70(3):363-376 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.13075/mp.5893.00816] [Medline: 31086356]
- 17. Stanulewicz N, Knox E, Narayanasamy M, Shivji N, Khunti K, Blake H. Effectiveness of lifestyle health promotion interventions for nurses: a systematic review. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2019 Dec 18;17(1):17 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph17010017] [Medline: 31861367]
- Jukic T, Ihan A, Petek Šter M, Strojnik V, Stubljar D, Starc A. Adherence of female health care workers to the use a web-based tool for improving and modifying lifestyle: prospective target group pilot study. J Med Internet Res 2020 Aug 14;22(8):e19500 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/19500] [Medline: 32687475]
- Koot D, Goh PSC, Lim RSM, Tian Y, Yau TY, Tan NC, et al. A mobile lifestyle management program (GlycoLeap) for people with type 2 diabetes: single-arm feasibility study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019 May 24;7(5):e12965 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/12965] [Medline: 31127720]
- 20. Li L, Aris IM, Han WM, Tan KH. A promising food-coaching intervention program to achieve optimal gestational weight gain in overweight and obese pregnant women: pilot randomized controlled trial of a smartphone app. JMIR Form Res 2019 Oct 24;3(4):e13013 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/13013] [Medline: 31651407]
- Lim RSM, Gardner DSL, Bee YM, Cheung YB, Bairavi J, Gandhi M, et al. TRIal to slow the Progression Of Diabetes (TRIPOD): study protocol for a randomized controlled trial using wireless technology and incentives. Trials 2019 Nov 28;20(1):650 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13063-019-3749-x] [Medline: 31779678]
- 22. Laing BY, Mangione CM, Tseng C, Leng M, Vaisberg E, Mahida M, et al. Effectiveness of a smartphone application for weight loss compared with usual care in overweight primary care patients: a randomized, controlled trial. Ann Intern Med 2014 Nov 18;161(10 Suppl):S5-12 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7326/M13-3005] [Medline: 25402403]
- 23. DiFilippo KN, Huang W, Andrade JE, Chapman-Novakofski KM. The use of mobile apps to improve nutrition outcomes: A systematic literature review. J Telemed Telecare 2015 Jul;21(5):243-253. [doi: <u>10.1177/1357633X15572203</u>] [Medline: <u>25680388</u>]
- 24. Flores Mateo G, Granado-Font E, Ferré-Grau C, Montaña-Carreras X. Mobile phone apps to promote weight loss and increase physical activity: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Med Internet Res 2015 Nov 10;17(11):e253 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.4836] [Medline: 26554314]
- Wang E, Abrahamson K, Liu PJ, Ahmed A. Can mobile technology improve weight loss in overweight adults? a systematic review. West J Nurs Res 2020 Sep 25;42(9):747-759. [doi: <u>10.1177/0193945919888224</u>] [Medline: <u>31762402</u>]
- Ghelani DP, Moran LJ, Johnson C, Mousa A, Naderpoor N. Mobile apps for weight management: a review of the latest evidence to inform practice. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne) 2020;11:412 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fendo.2020.00412] [Medline: 32670197]
- 27. West JH, Belvedere LM, Andreasen R, Frandsen C, Hall PC, Crookston BT. Controlling your "app"etite: how diet and nutrition-related mobile apps lead to behavior change. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2017 Jul 10;5(7):e95 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.7410] [Medline: 28694241]
- 28. Glycoleap. URL: https://glycoleap.com/ [accessed 2022-06-30]
- 29. Healthy 365. Health Promotion Board. URL: <u>https://hpb.gov.sg/healthy-living/healthy-365</u> [accessed 2022-06-30]
- 30. Thomas JG, Bond DS. Review of innovations in digital health technology to promote weight control. Curr Diab Rep 2014;14(5):485. [doi: 10.1007/s11892-014-0485-1] [Medline: 24664797]
- Raber M, Liao Y, Rara A, Schembre SM, Krause KJ, Strong L, et al. A systematic review of the use of dietary self-monitoring in behavioural weight loss interventions: delivery, intensity and effectiveness. Public Health Nutr 2021 Dec;24(17):5885-5913 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1017/S136898002100358X] [Medline: 34412727]
- 32. Painter SL, Ahmed R, Hill JO, Kushner RF, Lindquist R, Brunning S, et al. What matters in weight loss? an in-depth analysis of self-monitoring. J Med Internet Res 2017 May 12;19(5):e160 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.7457] [Medline: 28500022]
- Robertson MC, Raber M, Liao Y, Wu I, Parker N, Gatus L, et al. Patterns of self-monitoring technology use and weight loss in people with overweight or obesity. Transl Behav Med 2021 Aug 13;11(8):1537-1547 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/tbm/ibab015] [Medline: <u>33837792</u>]
- Goldstein SP, Goldstein CM, Bond DS, Raynor HA, Wing RR, Thomas JG. Associations between self-monitoring and weight change in behavioral weight loss interventions. Health Psychol 2019 Dec;38(12):1128-1136 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/hea0000800] [Medline: 31556659]
- 35. Obesity : preventing and managing the global epidemic : report of a WHO consultation. World Health Organization. 1999. URL: <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/42330</u> [accessed 2022-06-30]
- 36. Purnell JQ, Gernes R, Stein R, Sherraden MS, Knoblock-Hahn A. A systematic review of financial incentives for dietary behavior change. J Acad Nutr Diet 2014 Jul;114(7):1023-1035 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jand.2014.03.011] [Medline: 24836967]

- West DS, Krukowski RA, Finkelstein EA, Stansbury ML, Ogden DE, Monroe CM, et al. Adding financial incentives to online group-based behavioral weight control: an RCT. Am J Prev Med 2020 Aug;59(2):237-246 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2020.03.015] [Medline: 32446752]
- Glanz K, Shaw PA, Kwong PL, Choi JR, Chung A, Zhu J, et al. Effect of financial incentives and environmental strategies on weight loss in the Healthy Weigh Study: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA Netw Open 2021 Sep 01;4(9):e2124132 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.24132] [Medline: 34491350]
- Pasdar Y, Najafi F, Darbandi M, Rezaeian S, Niazi P, Hamzeh B. Financial incentive strategy for weight loss and maintenance of weight loss. J Prev Med Hyg 2021 Mar;62(1):E206-E212 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.15167/2421-4248/jpmh2021.62.1.1721] [Medline: 34322638]
- 40. Yancy WS, Shaw PA, Wesby L, Hilbert V, Yang L, Zhu J, et al. Financial incentive strategies for maintenance of weight loss: results from an internet-based randomized controlled trial. Nutr Diabetes 2018 May 25;8(1):33 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41387-018-0036-y] [Medline: 29795365]
- 41. Ananthapavan J, Peterson A, Sacks G. Paying people to lose weight: the effectiveness of financial incentives provided by health insurers for the prevention and management of overweight and obesity a systematic review. Obes Rev 2018 May;19(5):605-613. [doi: 10.1111/obr.12657] [Medline: 29266677]
- 42. National Steps Challenge. Health Promotion Board. URL: <u>https://www.hpb.gov.sg/healthy-living/physical-activity/</u> <u>National-Steps-Challenge</u> [accessed 2022-06-30]
- 43. The Practical Guide: Identification, Evaluation, and Treatment of Overweight and Obesity in Adults. Bethesda, MD: National Institutes of Health, National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute, NHLBI Obesity Education Initiative, North American Association for the Study of Obesity; 2000.
- 44. Ryan DH, Yockey SR. Weight loss and improvement in comorbidity: differences at 5%, 10%, 15%, and over. Curr Obes Rep 2017 Jun;6(2):187-194 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s13679-017-0262-y] [Medline: 28455679]
- 45. Stevens J, Truesdale KP, McClain JE, Cai J. The definition of weight maintenance. Int J Obes (Lond) 2006 Mar;30(3):391-399. [doi: <u>10.1038/sj.ijo.0803175</u>] [Medline: <u>16302013</u>]
- 46. Ramage S, Farmer A, Eccles KA, McCargar L. Healthy strategies for successful weight loss and weight maintenance: a systematic review. Appl Physiol Nutr Metab 2014 Jan;39(1):1-20 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1139/apnm-2013-0026] [Medline: 24383502]
- 47. Confirmed Imported Case of Novel Coronavirus Infection In Singapore; Multi-ministry Taskforce Ramps Up Precautionary Measures. Ministry of Health. URL: <u>https://www.moh.gov.sg/news-highlights/details/</u> confirmed-imported-case-of-novel-coronavirus-infection-in-singapore-multi-ministry-taskforce-ramps-up-precautionary-measures [accessed 2022-06-30]
- Gudzune KA, Doshi RS, Mehta AK, Chaudhry ZW, Jacobs DK, Vakil RM, et al. Efficacy of commercial weight-loss programs: an updated systematic review. Ann Intern Med 2015 Apr 07;162(7):501-512 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7326/M14-2238] [Medline: 25844997]
- Ponzo V, Scumaci E, Goitre I, Beccuti G, Benso A, Belcastro S, et al. Predictors of attrition from a weight loss program. A study of adult patients with obesity in a community setting. Eat Weight Disord 2021 Aug;26(6):1729-1736 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s40519-020-00990-9] [Medline: 32816208]
- 50. Dalle Grave R, Calugi S, Compare A, El Ghoch M, Petroni ML, Tomasi F, et al. Weight loss expectations and attrition in treatment-seeking obese women. Obes Facts 2015;8(5):311-318 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1159/000441366] [Medline: 26444382]
- 51. Colombo O, Ferretti VV, Ferraris C, Trentani C, Vinai P, Villani S, et al. Is drop-out from obesity treatment a predictable and preventable event? Nutr J 2014 Mar 03;13:13 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1475-2891-13-13] [Medline: 24490952]
- Carter MC, Burley VJ, Nykjaer C, Cade JE. Adherence to a smartphone application for weight loss compared to website and paper diary: pilot randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2013 Apr 15;15(4):e32 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2283] [Medline: 23587561]
- Burns RJ, Donovan AS, Ackermann RT, Finch EA, Rothman AJ, Jeffery RW. A theoretically grounded systematic review of material incentives for weight loss: implications for interventions. Ann Behav Med 2012 Dec;44(3):375-388. [doi: 10.1007/s12160-012-9403-4] [Medline: 22907712]
- Bray GA, Frühbeck G, Ryan DH, Wilding JPH. Management of obesity. Lancet 2016 May 07;387(10031):1947-1956. [doi: <u>10.1016/S0140-6736(16)00271-3</u>] [Medline: <u>26868660</u>]
- Heymsfield SB, Wadden TA. Mechanisms, pathophysiology, and management of obesity. N Engl J Med 2017 Jan 19;376(3):254-266. [doi: <u>10.1056/NEJMra1514009</u>] [Medline: <u>28099824</u>]
- Semlitsch T, Stigler FL, Jeitler K, Horvath K, Siebenhofer A. Management of overweight and obesity in primary care-A systematic overview of international evidence-based guidelines. Obes Rev 2019 Sep;20(9):1218-1230 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/obr.12889] [Medline: 31286668]

Abbreviations

HPB: Health Promotion Board

T2DM: type 2 diabetes mellitus

Edited by E Borycki; submitted 26.01.22; peer-reviewed by C Prof. Cha, A McLean; comments to author 13.03.22; revised version received 02.06.22; accepted 14.06.22; published 15.07.22. <u>Please cite as:</u> Lim WX, Fook-Chong S, Lim JW, Gan WH The Outcomes of App-Based Health Coaching to Improve Dietary Behavior Among Nurses in a Tertiary Hospital: Pilot Intervention Study JMIR Nursing 2022;5(1):e36811 URL: https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e36811 doi:10.2196/36811 PMID:35838811

©Wei Xiang Lim, Stephanie Fook-Chong, John Wah Lim, Wee Hoe Gan. Originally published in JMIR Nursing (https://nursing.jmir.org), 15.07.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Nursing, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://nursing.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Supporting Decision-Making About Patient Mobility in the Intensive Care Unit Nurse Work Environment: Work Domain Analysis

Anna Krupp¹, BSN, MSHP, PhD; Linsey Steege², PhD; John Lee³, PhD; Karen Dunn Lopez¹, RN, MPH, PhD; Barbara King², RN, PhD

¹College of Nursing, University of Iowa, Iowa City, IA, United States

²School of Nursing, University of Wisconsin-Madison, Madison, WI, United States

³Department of Industrial and Systems Engineering, College of Engineering, University of Wisconsin-Madison, Madison, WI, United States

Corresponding Author:

Anna Krupp, BSN, MSHP, PhD College of Nursing University of Iowa 50 Newton Rd 480 CNB Iowa City, IA, 52242 United States Phone: 1 608 213 7191 Email: anna-krupp@uiowa.edu

Abstract

Background: Patient mobility is an evidenced-based physical activity intervention initiated during intensive care unit (ICU) admission and continued throughout hospitalization to maintain functional status, yet mobility is a complex intervention and not consistently implemented. Cognitive work analysis (CWA) is a useful human factors framework for understanding complex systems and can inform future technology design to optimize outcomes.

Objective: The aim of this study is to understand the complexity and constraints of the ICU work environment as it relates to nurses carrying out patient mobility interventions, using CWA.

Methods: We conducted a work domain analysis and completed an abstraction hierarchy using the CWA framework. Data from documents, observation (32 hours), and interviews with nurses (N=20) from 2 hospitals were used to construct the abstraction hierarchy.

Results: Nurses seek information from a variety of sources and integrate patient and unit information to inform decision-making. The completed abstraction hierarchy depicts multiple high-level priorities that nurses balance, specifically, providing quality, safe care to patients while helping to manage unit-level throughput needs. Connections between levels on the abstraction hierarchy describe how and why nurses seek patient and hospital unit information to inform mobility decision-making. The analysis identifies several opportunities for technology design to support nurse decision-making about patient mobility.

Conclusions: Future interventions need to consider the complexity of the ICU environment and types of information nurses need to make decisions about patient mobility. Considerations for future system redesign include developing and testing clinical decision support tools that integrate critical patient and unit-level information to support nurses in making patient mobility decisions.

(JMIR Nursing 2022;5(1):e41051) doi:10.2196/41051

KEYWORDS

clinical decision-making; early ambulation; intensive care unit; nursing; qualitative research; cognitive work analysis



Introduction

Background

Patient mobility is a critical intervention for intensive care unit (ICU) patients because hospital-acquired functional decline or a new loss in independently completing activities of daily living is a common complication of hospitalization, occurring in at least 50% of patients who require intensive care [1,2]. Mobility is a daily, progressive physical activity intervention for physiologically stable hospitalized patients, beginning with exercises in bed, transferring to a chair, and advancing to walking. International ICU guidelines recommend beginning mobility interventions in the ICU and continuing throughout hospitalization to maintain patients' physical functioning during hospitalization as a standard of care [3,4]. Prolonged bedrest is a modifiable risk factor associated with functional decline, and increasing mobility in patients in the ICU is a priority, as patients who develop functional decline are at increased risk for prolonged hospitalization, discharge to a skilled nursing facility, readmission, inability to return to work, and premature death [5-9]. Despite increasing research on the benefits of mobility ICU-based patient interventions, routine implementation of mobility into clinical practice is limited.

Possible explanations for the lack of widespread implementation of mobility interventions into routine practice may include the fact that mobility guidelines are complex and challenging to implement and require thorough assessment to determine a patient's stability and mobility status, team training and coordination to maintain safety and monitor equipment, and sufficient physical space for the patient, team, and equipment to complete activities. Mobility fits within several clinical practice domains, with physical therapists (PTs) or registered nurses (RNs) being most frequently involved in planning and implementing ICU mobility interventions [10]. RNs and PTs face multiple barriers when trying to implement mobility interventions. The major barriers to ICU-based mobility interventions have been categorized by previous researchers into the following 4 domains: patient (eg, physiologic instability, sedation, patient safety concerns), clinician (eg, inadequate training, workload, safety risk), process (eg, lack of coordination, unclear protocols), and organizational (eg, lack of mobility culture, competing priorities) [11-13]. Strategies to address barriers have included use of structured quality improvement models to identify and target local barriers [14], RN-initiated mobility protocols to standardize patient assessment and goal setting [15], and focused interdisciplinary communication and collaboration [16,17]. However, these resources and approaches have not spread widely. A limitation to mobility protocols is the poor usability given the temporal and cognitive demands associated with RN workflows.

Clinical decision support (CDS), or tools that integrate guideline recommendations with patient-specific information at the right time and at the point of care, has the potential to support the implementation of mobility guidelines into practice. CDS interventions are particularly relevant in ICU settings due to the large amounts of electronic health record (EHR) data generated and the need for time-critical decisions. CDS

Krupp et al

interventions to identify risk for clinical deterioration [18] and sepsis recognition [19] have led to improved intervention timeliness and decreased patient mortality. CDS data visualization has been shown to improve timeliness for delivering evidence-based sedation and mechanical ventilation practices [20], yet CDS to support mobility practice does not exist. In addition, CDS has focused primarily on medical decision-making, and less research has targeted decision support for acute care RNs [21]. CDS can provide data visualizations, alerts, reminders, and decision support to augment clinicians in complex processes and support coordinated care delivery [22]. However, without understanding the environment within which decisions are made, CDS may not be successfully developed and implemented [23].

We propose examining mobility decision-making using human factors methods to understand the work environment in which mobility decisions are made. Human factors methods aim to understand interactions between humans and elements of a system to optimize outcomes [24,25]. The ICU setting is a complex and dynamic environment with high levels of technology, uncertainty, time pressure, and interprofessional teamwork. Therefore, a naturalistic decision-making model is relevant for exploring the process of making decisions while appreciating the complexity of the ICU setting [25]. Because nurses provide the greatest amount of direct patient care, are responsible for patient monitoring and care coordination, and determine the patient's mobility intervention (eg, standing, walking), we aim to understand nurse decision-making regarding patient mobility. The complexity of ICU nursing work includes multiple types of demands, such as physical, emotional, and cognitive, with nurses often making decisions under time pressure and unpredictability [26]. Understanding the environment in which ICU nurses make decisions, coordinate, and implement interventions is needed to guide the development of future interventions aimed at implementing and sustaining ICU mobility programs.

Cognitive Work Analysis

One approach that has been used effectively to study real-world decision-making and inform informatics-based interventions in health care is cognitive work analysis (CWA). CWA is a methodological 5-phase framework that includes analytic tools used for systematically identifying different constraints or limitations in a work environment [27]. A fundamental concept of CWA is understanding constraints that result from the work environment, as they influence behavior and actions [28,29]. CWA uses a formative approach to analyzing the work environment. In contrast to analyzing how work should be done or how work is actually done, CWA describes principles of the work environment that are necessary for success and the range of ways that work is accomplished [27]. From this perspective, the work analysis identifies possible actions and requirements for those in a work environment to behave in new ways.

In addition, results of CWA inform system redesign and support developing decision support tools that offer flexibility in complex and unpredictable settings [29]. CWA has been applied in multiple health care settings, including ICUs, to understand complex settings and has informed design of new displays and

XSL•FO

decision support tools [30]. In summary, the theoretical approach of CWA aligns well with the current clinical challenge of implementing mobility interventions, as patients in the ICU are heterogeneous, there are multiple ways to achieve mobility interventions within a complex ICU work environment, and this analysis facilitates our long-term goal to develop CDS.

Work Domain Analysis

Work domain analysis (WDA) is the foundational phase of CWA and focuses on understanding work environment purposes,

 Table 1. Abstraction hierarchy levels used for work domain analysis.

constraints, and how the purpose(s) are achieved within the constraints of the work environment [27,31]. A result of the WDA is an abstraction hierarchy model, which provides a visual representation of the structure and functions of the work environment at different conceptual levels with means-ends linkages between levels. Table 1 summarizes the 5 abstraction levels. Each level provides a different perspective of the work environment; a linkage to a higher level describes *why* something exists and a linkage to a lower level describes *how* a purpose or function exists in the work environment.

Abstraction level	Description	Example
Functional purpose	Reason why the work environment exists	Why does the ICU ^a exist?
Values and priorities	Criteria to assess how well the work environment is performing its purpose	How do we know the ICU is achieving its purposes?
Purpose-related functions	High-level functions needed to support the values and priorities	What functions must be performed in the ICU to achieve its values and priorities?
Object-related processes	Describes what processes the objects in the work environment support	What are the functions of the resources in the ICU?
Physical objects	Objects within the work environment	What physical resources are in the ICU?

^aICU: intensive care unit.

Despite increasing research on the benefits of ICU-based patient mobility interventions, routine implementation of mobility guidelines into clinical practice is inadequate. A greater understanding of the environment in which ICU nurses make patient mobility decisions is needed to inform the development of future interventions. Therefore, the aim of this study was to apply WDA to develop an understanding of the complex ICU work environment and identify constraints as they relate to nurses carrying out patient mobility interventions.

Methods

Study Design

In this descriptive study, WDA was used as an approach for data collection and analysis. A WDA was conducted using data from multiple sources and followed an iterative process of data collection and model development. The scope of the WDA was the ICU work environment in the context of nurses carrying out patient mobility interventions.

Setting

The study was conducted in 2 adult ICUs at 2 different health systems in a Midwestern US city. The study ICUs were chosen because they had established interdisciplinary mobility programs. Both ICUs had implemented protocols for managing pain, agitation, delirium, and immobility, which included orders for nurses to advance patient mobility as tolerated and PT orders dependent upon the medical team. Mechanically ventilated patients were routinely mobilized out of bed to the chair by nurses and often walked with PTs or RNs before ICU discharge. Both sites had a well-established safe patient handling and mobility program with patient lift equipment provided in the unit and staff training in safe patient handling. In addition, both units had similar nursing characteristics (eg, nurse staffing, unit

```
https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e41051
```

leadership, shift length) and each organization had obtained Magnet Recognition for high-quality nursing care. Site 1 was a 24-bed closed-model ICU in an academic tertiary care center, and site 2 was a 12-bed open-model ICU in an academically affiliated Veterans Administration hospital. Although site 2 had slightly lower patient acuity, both units routinely admitted a range of medical and postsurgical patients.

Data Sources

Multiple data sources were chosen to understand the ICU work environment within the perspective of mobility practice.

Organizational policies and published mobility guidelines were reviewed for relevance. Organizational policies were provided by nurse leaders at each site, and mobility guidelines were retrieved from PubMed. The following search terms were used: "guideline," "intensive care units," and "early mobility." One researcher (AK) reviewed each document and extracted information related to the abstraction hierarchy levels.

Nurse observations (N=4, 32 hours total) were conducted at site 1 by 2 researchers (AK and another researcher) during normal routines of the first 4 hours of 2 separate shifts using a paper data collection tool. Both researchers observed the same nurse to capture communication, workflow, assessment, and coordination information to inform interview questions. Each nurse was interviewed within 1 week following the final observation.

Semistructured interviews (N=20) were conducted using an interview guide (Multimedia Appendix 1). Participants were asked to define mobility, describe case examples of mobilizing routine and complex patients, identify information used to make mobility decisions, barriers to mobility, and strategies used to overcome barriers. In addition, interviews with observation participants also included tailored questions based upon

observation findings. For example, after one participant was observed using the EHR, an interview question was added to understand the specific information the participant was seeking. All interviews were conducted by 1 primary researcher (AK), audio recorded, and transcribed verbatim. Interviews lasted 45 to 60 minutes and were conducted in a private office at the nurse's place of work.

Participants

Nurses with 6 months or greater of current ICU experience and working 20 hours or more each week were eligible to participate. A purposive sampling method was used to select nurses with a range of experience while including expert nurses who routinely engaged patients in mobility activities. Participants were recruited via advertisement and recruitment materials in the unit and by nurse managers providing contact information for expert nurses with experience mobilizing patients.

Ethics Approval

The University of Wisconsin-Madison institutional review board and the Madison Veterans Administration Research and Development Committee approved the study (approval #2016-1389).

Analysis

Data analysis and abstraction hierarchy development were conducted iteratively with the data collection process. Nurse observation data were summarized, and follow-up interview questions were generated after each observation. Interview data were coded using an inductive approach. Two investigators, one with expertise in critical care nursing (AK) and the other in hospital ambulation interventions and qualitative methods (BK), analyzed the interview data using inductive content analysis [32]. Investigators individually performed open coding line by line by breaking down the data and assigning labels to identify preliminary key thoughts or concepts. Together, the research team grouped labels that were related to each other by content or context into subcategories. Subcategories were then collated into higher order main categories. Dedoose software

 Table 2. Demographic characteristics of participants (N=20).

(SocioCultural Research Consultants) was used for data management [33].

The abstraction hierarchy was developed by systematically and iteratively synthesizing data extracted from document review and subcategory and category codes from interview data. Steps from Naikar's [31] 9-step method were used to develop the abstraction hierarchy. The first 5 steps describe decisions to consider before beginning the analysis and include defining the purpose and boundaries of analysis, identifying project and work domain constraints, and identifying sources of information for the analysis. For the purposes of our analysis, the boundaries of analysis were the ICU system, and interview information was limited to nurse participants. Our purpose focused on patient mobility work in the ICU system. Steps 6 through 8 consisted of iterative development of the abstraction hierarchy using available sources of information (eg, documents), special data collection (eg, observations, interviews), and domain expert review. The final step is validating the abstraction hierarchy. The initial abstraction hierarchy was developed based on data extracted from organizational mobility policies and published mobility guidelines. For example, documents described functions of team members, processes, and equipment available for mobility. The abstraction hierarchy was refined with data from interviews to include additional description and establish means-ends linkages between levels. The research team routinely discussed coding and refined the abstraction hierarchy. Later-occurring interviews at site 1 and all interviews at site 2 also included a review of the abstraction hierarchy. Participants were asked to identify if there were any missing, unclear, or redundant categories. The model was updated based on participant responses.

Results

Overview

Twenty nurses participated in the study (site 1=15, site 2=5). Participants had a range of 4 to 15 years of ICU experience, with a median of 7.8 years (Table 2).

Characteristic	Value
RN ^a experience (years) median (IQR)	10.5 (6.6-16.4)
ICU ^b experience, (years) median (IQR)	7.8 (4-14.8)
Highest degree, n (%)	
Associate degree	1 (5)
Bachelor's degree	17 (85)
Master's degree	2 (10)
Critical care certification	7 (35)

^aRN: registered nurse.

^bICU: intensive care unit.

Work Domain Analysis

Results of the WDA are presented by abstraction hierarchy level and shown in part in Figure 1. Table 3 summarizes example

https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e41051

category codes and representative quotes from the qualitative analysis that were used in developing the abstraction hierarchy. Results are presented by abstraction level.

Krupp et al

Figure 1. Abstraction hierarchy describing ICU work environment within the context of nursing implementing patient mobility. ICU: intensive care unit.





Table 3. Sample codes and representative quotes by abstraction level

Sample code by abstraction level	Representative quotes			
Functional purpose				
Stabilize	"There are some patients that are so critical that you really can't move them, but I would say that is a small portion." [RN ^a 6]			
Quality	" mobility is a huge factor in getting somebody home because even if their illness has passed, if they're not strong enough to take care of themselves they can't go home." [RN 2]			
Values and priorities				
Patient outcomes	"We've gotten so safety oriented for fear of people falling that it's hard sometimes to find a balance because even if a person seems totally alert and doesn't have a lot of tubes, I think we're still so scared that they're going to fall." [RN 11]			
Nurse safety	"I'm not going to put myself in a situation or someone else in a situation where we're going to get hurt I have to protect myself." [RN 13]			
Throughput	"We're moving people in and out, getting people to procedures, people are coming and going from every- where." [RN 4]			
Purpose-related functions				
Vigilance	"If I come on a shift and they were moving up and down on the pressors all night or unstable in their heart rate, then I probably wouldn't get them out of bed until at least the afternoon, so 4 to 6 hours of stability." [RN 10]			
Situational awareness	"We were getting 2 sick admissions, so I had to get him back to bed a little earlier than I wanted to." [RN 3]			
Individualize	"I want to know how they get up, with what equipment, and how many people do they need?" [RN 6]			
Object-related processes				
Coordination	"About 20 minutes before that time I just started getting things together." [RN 7]			
Availability	"If it [a procedure] is not scheduled it can go one of two ways, you either leave them in bed until it happens, or you just get them up and hope and pray they don't come right away." [RN 1]			
Appropriate staff available	"There are some patients, especially if we are talking about walking for the first time, that I will partner with physical therapy and not necessarily feel comfortable being the first person to stand them." [RN 12]			
Physical objects				
Human resources	"I usually need 2 to 3 people depending upon how many lines they have, if they're intubated, if we need to pull the bed out of the room" [RN 1]			
Mobility equipment	"Walkers are a big problem because we have to order them up, they're big, and somethings they take time to come [to the bedside]." [RN 6]			
Computer	"I'd like to look more in the notes and see some progress, but I feel we don't have time to do that." [RN 14]			

^aRN: registered nurse.

Functional Purpose

The functional or overall purpose of the ICU is to initially stabilize patients experiencing life-threating illness or injury and to provide high-quality care that improves outcomes for critically ill patients.

Values and Priorities

Four values and priorities were identified: improve patient outcomes, maintain nurse safety, maintain nurse competence, and maximize unit throughput. Most nurses described organizational priorities that focused on improving patient quality and outcomes, such as preventing patient falls. Moreover, staff safety and maintaining competency were promoted, as most participants described organizational training and resources available to nurses for safely assisting patients with movement. Maintaining ICU throughput was an additional priority, as most nurses described the routine, rapid turnaround of admitting highly unstable patients, stabilizing patients, and then

RenderX

transferring patients as soon as they met criteria for a lower level of care.

Purpose-Related Functions

Six purpose-related functions were identified, which describe how the values and priorities are achieved.

- 1. *Situation awareness* is recognition of unit activities and resources. Nurses described the need to assist with other unstable patients as a priority over patient mobility and increased activity on the unit limiting staffing resources to assist with mobility.
- 2. *Vigilance* is monitoring a patient's stability over the work shift. For example, participants described watching patient vital signs on the bedside monitor while assisting them with repositioning in the bed or assessing for improvement in ability to follow directions over time. Multiple shifts with a patient provided nurses with more time to know the patient. Nurses stated that they felt more confident to

progress mobility on the second day of providing care, based upon their assessment of how the patient tolerated a lower level of mobility the day prior.

- 3. *Plan* is the process of preparing for mobility interventions. Participants described multiple barriers that required clarification or adaptation before progressing mobility interventions. For example, nurses described time spent clarifying mobility orders with the medical team or asking family members about the type of assistive equipment a patient used prior to admission.
- 4. *Prevent complications* is implementing interventions to avoid harm. For the most severely ill patients, when short-term survival is not known, nurses identified that the priority is to achieve and maintain physiologic stability. As patients stabilize, participants described implementing progressive mobility interventions to prevent functional decline.
- Individualize mobility progression is the process of assessing and determining the mobility goal for the shift. For patients that had not yet gotten out of bed in the ICU, nurses described spending considerable time assessing and

synthesizing patient information to determine if the patient would tolerate out-of-bed mobility.

6. *Consult experienced colleague* is identifying and communicating with another health care professional to inform the daily mobility goal. In some situations, nurses described talking with a nursing assistant to learn how the patient tolerated walking during a prior mobility session, whereas in other situations, nurses described talking with a PT for medically complex patients with weakness or unsteady balance, or it being their first time out of bed after bed rest.

Object-Related Processes

Nine object-related processes were identified and are presented in Table 4. The object-related processes include the following: coordinate time and resources, handoff communication, daily rounds, documentation review, patient availability, staff availability, information synthesis, experience and training, and physiologic stability. These object-related processes describe how purpose-related functions are achieved and why physical objects exist in the work environment.

 Table 4. Object-related processes identified in the abstraction hierarchy.

Object-related process	Description
Coordinate time and resources	Planning and organizing when mobility interventions occur in relation to patient needs, status of unit, and avail- ability of human and equipment resources
Handoff communication	Information exchanged during nurse shift report
Daily rounds	Opportunity for various health care providers to discuss patient assessment, plan, and goals of care
Review documentation	Data and communication in the EHR ^a that convey information about patient mobility, such as level and tolerance of previous mobility event
Patient available	Awareness of patient's daily schedule included planned interventions, such as dialysis, and unanticipated events, such as a bed side procedure
Appropriate staff available	Matching patient needs as it relates to weakness, instability, and/or equipment with health care team member(s). For example, ensuring the respiratory therapist is available to assist with walking a patient requiring mechanical ventilation
Synthesize information	The process of analyzing information from multiple sources to individualize mobility progression
Experience and training	Training or experience with psychomotor skills, such as body positioning, body mechanics, and use of patient handling equipment
Physiologic stability	The ongoing assessment for changes in a patient's physical status in relation to organ support required and eval- uation of tolerance to changes in position or movement

^aEHR: electronic health record.

Physical Objects

Twelve physical objects were identified and were grouped into components of human resources, equipment, and information sources. Physical objects describe how the object-related processes are implemented. Participants described human resources, primarily nursing assistants, other nurses and PTs, and mobility equipment, such as a walker, as necessary to support mobility interventions. Nurses used information from multiple sources to establish a mobility goal for the shift. Nurses described comparing current patient assessment information (eg, strength, cognition, and physiologic response to movement) and data from bedside monitors (eg, hemodynamic, respiratory, or neurologic values) to previous values to assess stability.

RenderX

Nurses also relied on peers during shift handoff reports and on patients or family members for verbal information.

Means-Ends Linkages

Means-ends linkages were identified between levels in the abstraction hierarchy and are illustrated in Figure 1 as connecting lines between abstraction hierarchy levels. The connections provide understanding between items, as moving from the top to a lower level in the abstraction hierarchy describes *how* the concept is achieved or carried out and moving from the bottom to a higher level in the abstraction hierarchy describes *why* a concept exists. For example, the object-related process of synthesizing information is connected to 10 physical objects, illustrating how nurses seek information from a variety of sources to inform mobility decision-making. Synthesizing

information is also linked to 4 higher-level purposes, indicating why nurses integrate both patient and hospital unit information when making mobility decisions.

Discussion

Principal Findings

Our WDA describes the complexity of the ICU work environment within the context of nurses carrying out patient mobility interventions. The abstraction hierarchy depicts multiple high-level priorities that nurses balance, specifically, providing quality, safe care to patients while helping to manage unit-level throughput needs. Connections between levels on the abstraction hierarchy describe how and why nurses seek patient and hospital unit information to inform mobility decision-making. The WDA identifies several opportunities for technology design and future study at the nurse level and unit level to support nurse decision-making about patient mobility.

One key information need is to provide assessment information about patient stability to nurses. Nurses in this study described assessing the patient over the course of a shift or several shifts to individualize mobility progression, and nurses described information sources they used to determine patient stability for mobility. To improve the efficiency for nurses in seeking information about mobility decision-making, a trended display of patient stability for physiologic metrics that nurses currently use (eg, vital signs, respiratory indicators, sedation level) from the EHR may support decision-making. A second key information need is to provide historic patient mobility information to nurses. Participants described using information about the patient's past mobility activity to inform their planning for the shift and looking for this information in multiple places. There are valid numerical scales to quantify mobility status and to efficiently communicate the highest level of activity a patient has achieved [34,35]. A current mobility value and trended display of the patient's previous mobility progress or decline added to the EHR may support decision-making, as nurses in this study routinely sought out information about the patient's previous mobility and response.

We have identified information that may be amenable to technology-based interventions to support nurse decision-making for mobility in the ICU. Studies using WDA-informed information displays have demonstrated improved ability for ICU and emergency room nurses to detect patient changes when compared to use of the existing EHRs [36,37]. From our WDA, we identified a need for indicators of patient stability (or instability) using trended patient data and indicators for mobility status. Future research on the feasibility and acceptability of prototypes that communicate this clinically meaningful information is needed.

Findings from the WDA also demonstrate opportunities and recommendations for unit-level information needs. Using technology interface design to organize relevant patient and unit information may offer several benefits. For example, displaying patient and unit information simultaneously may assist with limited resource allocation by prioritizing patients who display a greater need for mobility, such as a patient that has a greater duration of immobility. A unit display may also support a unit culture of accountability for mobility progression, as each patient's mobility status is visible to the ICU team. A unit-based display or dashboard of real-time EHR data for promoting guideline-based mechanical ventilation care has been found to improve interprofessional care coordination, communication, and patient outcomes [20]. Future work is needed to develop and test visualizations for communicating guideline-based mobility care within the ICU.

Limitations

This study should be considered within the context of several limitations. First, the study was conducted in 2 medical-surgical ICUs at 2 academic medical centers. Therefore, our findings may not be generalizable to all ICUs, but we expect the findings to be transferrable to similar settings. Differences in patient population, unit culture or available resources, ICU type, such as specialty surgical ICUs or community-based ICUs, may change work environment barriers. In addition, both study ICUs had experience with implementing mobility interventions. Work environment constraints and nurse decision-making might look different depending upon the status of implementing mobility practices, unit culture, teamwork, and ICU resources. Finally, the study focused on the work environment from the perspective of nurses. Although nurses described communication and coordination with other health care providers, future work is needed to include data from patients, family members, and additional team members in the work environment. The WDA is by no means a complete representation of the ICU work environment within the context of mobility interventions. Future work should expand the analysis to other layers of CWA.

One goal of the current study was to inform future system design to support the nurse in progressing patient mobility interventions. Therefore, our focus was on possible improvements in the work environment, such as information visibility, that could influence prototype designs as opposed to physical improvements in the work environment, such as reconfiguring the structural layout of the ICU room, which might be cost prohibitive.

Conclusions

This WDA provided several important insights for understanding nurse decision-making about patient mobility within the context of the ICU work environment and identified opportunities for technology design to support decision-making. The results of this study identify strategies for integrating critical patient and unit-level information to inform patient mobility decisions. Future studies should investigate the acceptability and feasibility of interventions to support nurse decision-making about mobility interventions. This analysis demonstrates that interdependencies exist between patients, nurses, other members of the health care and unit resources. Therefore, multicomponent team, interventions that address constraints in the work environment, such as lack of human resources and nurse workload, are needed. Systems-based approaches to improve delivery of mobility and patient outcomes must include interventions that are based upon how nurses make these complex decisions within the work environment.
CWA is a valuable framework for understanding the environment in which ICU nurses make patient mobility decisions and for identifying priorities to target with future CDS designs for supporting mobility decisions at the point of care. Findings from this study provide an understanding of how mobility decisions are made from the perspective of the ICU work environment and identify a need to consider the types of information nurses use to make knowledgeable and efficient patient mobility decisions.

Acknowledgments

This work was supported by the Eckburg Dissertation Award, University of Wisconsin-Madison School of Nursing. This material is the result of work supported with resources and the use of facilities at the William S Middleton Memorial Veterans Hospital. The contents do not represent the views of the US Department of Veterans Affairs or the US Government. The authors wish to thank the nurses who participated in the study.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Interview guide. [DOCX File , 16 KB - nursing_v5i1e41051_app1.docx]

References

- Ferrante LE, Pisani MA, Murphy TE, Gahbauer EA, Leo-Summers LS, Gill TM. Factors associated with functional recovery among older intensive care unit survivors. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2016 Aug 01;194(3):299-307. [doi: 10.1164/rccm.201506-1256oc]
- 2. Iwashyna TJ, Ely EW, Smith DM, Langa KM. Long-term cognitive impairment and functional disability among survivors of severe sepsis. JAMA 2010 Oct 27;304(16):1787. [doi: 10.1001/jama.2010.1553]
- 3. Devlin JW, Skrobik Y, Gélinas C, Needham DM, Slooter AJC, Pandharipande PP, et al. Clinical practice guidelines for the prevention and management of pain, agitation/sedation, delirium, immobility, and sleep disruption in adult patients in the ICU. Critical Care Medicine 2018;46(9):e825-e873. [doi: 10.1097/CCM.00000000003299]
- 4. Lang J, Paykel M, Haines K, Hodgson C. Clinical practice guidelines for early mobilization in the ICU: a systematic review. Crit Care Med 2020;48(11):a. [doi: 10.1097/ccm.00000000004574]
- 5. Ferrante LE, Pisani MA, Murphy TE, Gahbauer EA, Leo-Summers LS, Gill TM. Functional trajectories among older persons before and after critical illness. JAMA Intern Med 2015 Apr 01;175(4):523. [doi: <u>10.1001/jamainternmed.2014.7889</u>]
- 6. Griffiths J, Hatch RA, Bishop J, Morgan K, Jenkinson C, Cuthbertson BH, et al. An exploration of social and economic outcome and associated health-related quality of life after critical illness in general intensive care unit survivors: a 12-month follow-up study. Crit Care 2013;17(3):R100. [doi: 10.1186/cc12745]
- 7. Kamdar BB, Suri R, Suchyta MR, Digrande KF, Sherwood KD, Colantuoni E, et al. Return to work after critical illness: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Thorax 2019 Nov 08;75(1):17-27. [doi: 10.1136/thoraxjnl-2019-213803]
- 8. Fan E, Dowdy DW, Colantuoni E, Mendez-Tellez PA, Sevransky JE, Shanholtz C, et al. Physical complications in acute lung injury survivors. Critical Care Medicine 2014;42(4):849-859. [doi: <u>10.1097/ccm.0000000000040</u>]
- 9. Needham DM, Wozniak AW, Hough CL, Morris PE, Dinglas VD, Jackson JC, et al. Risk factors for physical impairment after acute lung injury in a national, multicenter study. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2014 May 15;189(10):1214-1224. [doi: 10.1164/rccm.201401-01580c]
- 10. Bakhru RN, Wiebe DJ, McWilliams DJ, Spuhler VJ, Schweickert WD. An environmental scan for early mobilization practices in U.S. ICUs. Critical Care Medicine 2015;43(11):2360-2369. [doi: <u>10.1097/ccm.00000000001262</u>]
- 11. Costa DK, White MR, Ginier E, Manojlovich M, Govindan S, Iwashyna TJ, et al. Identifying barriers to delivering the awakening and breathing coordination, delirium, and early exercise/mobility bundle to minimize adverse outcomes for mechanically ventilated patients. Chest 2017 Aug;152(2):304-311. [doi: 10.1016/j.chest.2017.03.054]
- 12. Dubb R, Nydahl P, Hermes C, Schwabbauer N, Toonstra A, Parker AM, et al. Barriers and strategies for early mobilization of patients in intensive care units. Annals ATS 2016 May;13(5):724-730. [doi: <u>10.1513/annalsats.201509-586cme]</u>
- 13. Honiden S, Connors GR. Barriers and challenges to the successful implementation of an intensive care unit mobility program. Clinics in Chest Medicine 2015 Sep;36(3):431-440. [doi: 10.1016/j.ccm.2015.05.006]
- 14. Needham DM, Korupolu R. Rehabilitation quality improvement in an intensive care unit setting: implementation of a quality improvement model. Top Stroke Rehabil 2010 Jan 05;17(4):271-281. [doi: <u>10.1310/tsr1704-271</u>] [Medline: <u>20826415</u>]
- Schallom M, Tymkew H, Vyers K, Prentice D, Sona C, Norris T, et al. Implementation of an interdisciplinary AACN early mobility protocol. Crit Care Nurse 2020 Aug 01;40(4):e7-e17. [doi: <u>10.4037/ccn2020632</u>] [Medline: <u>32737495</u>]

- Schaller SJ, Anstey M, Blobner M, Edrich T, Grabitz SD, Gradwohl-Matis I, et al. Early, goal-directed mobilisation in the surgical intensive care unit: a randomised controlled trial. The Lancet 2016 Oct;388(10052):1377-1388. [doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(16)31637-3]
- 17. Phelan S, Lin F, Mitchell M, Chaboyer W. Implementing early mobilisation in the intensive care unit: An integrative review. International Journal of Nursing Studies 2018 Jan;77:91-105. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2017.09.019]
- 18. Beals J, Barnes J, Durand D. Stratifying deterioration risk by acuity at admission offers triage insights for coronavirus disease 2019 patients. Crit Care Explor 2021;3(4):e0400. [doi: 10.1097/cce.00000000000000400]
- 19. Ruminski CM, Clark MT, Lake DE, Kitzmiller RR, Keim-Malpass J, Robertson MP, et al. Impact of predictive analytics based on continuous cardiorespiratory monitoring in a surgical and trauma intensive care unit. J Clin Monit Comput 2018 Aug 18;33(4):703-711. [doi: 10.1007/s10877-018-0194-4]
- 20. Anderson B, Do D, Chivers C. Clinical impact of an electronic dashboard and alert system for sedation minimization and ventilator liberation: a before-after study. Crit Care Explor 2019;1(10):a. [doi: <u>10.1097/CCE.0000000000057</u>]
- Lopez KD, Gephart SM, Raszewski R, Sousa V, Shehorn LE, Abraham J. Integrative review of clinical decision support for registered nurses in acute care settings. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2017 Dec 01;24(2):441-450. [doi: <u>10.1093/jamia/ocw084</u>] [Medline: <u>27330074</u>]
- Sutton RT, Pincock D, Baumgart DC, Sadowski DC, Fedorak RN, Kroeker KI. An overview of clinical decision support systems: benefits, risks, and strategies for success. NPJ Digit Med 2020;3:17 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41746-020-0221-y] [Medline: 32047862]
- 23. Lopez KD, Fahey L. Advocating for greater usability in clinical technologies. Critical Care Nursing Clinics of North America 2018 Jun;30(2):247-257. [doi: 10.1016/j.cnc.2018.02.007]
- 24. Dempsey PG, Wogalter MS, Hancock PA. What's in a name? Using terms from definitions to examine the fundamental foundation of human factors and ergonomics science. Theoretical Issues in Ergonomics Science 2010 Nov 26;1(1):3-10. [doi: 10.1080/146392200308426]
- 25. Klein G. Naturalistic decision making. Hum Factors 2008 Jun;50(3):456-460. [doi: <u>10.1518/001872008X288385</u>] [Medline: <u>18689053</u>]
- 26. Carayon P, Alvarado CJ, Systems Engineering Initiative for Patient Safety. Workload and patient safety among critical care nurses. Crit Care Nurs Clin North Am 2007 Jun;19(2):121-129. [doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2007.02.001] [Medline: 17512468]
- 27. Vicente K. Cognitive Work Analysis toward Safe, Productive, and Healthy Computer-Based Work. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press; 1999.
- 28. Rasmussen J, Pejtersen A, Goodstein L. Cognitive Systems Engineering. Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons, Inc; 1994.
- 29. Roth E, Bisantz A. Cognitive work analysis. In: Lee JD, Kirlik A, editors. The Oxford Handbook of Cognitive Engineering. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press; 2013:240-260.
- 30. Jiancaro T, Jamieson GA, Mihailidis A. Twenty years of cognitive work analysis in health care: a scoping review. Journal of Cognitive Engineering and Decision Making 2013 May 29;8(1):3-22. [doi: 10.1177/1555343413488391]
- 31. Naikar N. Work Domain Analysis Concepts, Guidelines, and Cases. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press; 2014.
- 32. Elo S, Kyngäs H. The qualitative content analysis process. J Adv Nurs 2008 Apr;62(1):107-115. [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2648.2007.04569.x] [Medline: 18352969]
- 33. Dedoose Version 7.0.23, web application for managing, analyzing, and presenting qualitative and mixed method research data. Los Angeles, CA: SocioCultural Research Consultants LLC; 2016. URL: <u>http/www.dedoose.com</u> [accessed 2016-11-29]
- Hodgson CL, Stiller K, Needham DM, Tipping CJ, Harrold M, Baldwin CE, et al. Expert consensus and recommendations on safety criteria for active mobilization of mechanically ventilated critically ill adults. Crit Care 2014 Dec 04;18(6):658 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13054-014-0658-y] [Medline: 25475522]
- Perme C, Nawa R, Winkelman C, Masud F. A tool to assess mobility status in critically ill patients: the Perme Intensive Care Unit Mobility Score. Methodist Debakey Cardiovasc J 2014;10(1):41-49 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.14797/mdcj-10-1-41] [Medline: 24932363]
- 36. McGeorge N, Hegde S, Berg RL, Guarrera-Schick TK, LaVergne DT, Casucci SN, et al. Assessment of innovative emergency department information displays in a clinical simulation center. J Cogn Eng Decis Mak 2015 Dec;9(4):329-346 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1555343415613723] [Medline: 27974881]
- 37. Miller A, Scheinkestel C, Steele C. The effects of clinical information presentation on physicians' and nurses' decision-making in ICUs. Appl Ergon 2009 Jul;40(4):753-761. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.apergo.2008.07.004</u>] [Medline: <u>18834970</u>]

Abbreviations

CDS: clinical decision support CWA: cognitive work analysis EHR: electronic health record ICU: intensive care unit PT: physical therapist RN: registered nurse

https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e41051

WDA: work domain analysis

Edited by E Borycki; submitted 14.07.22; peer-reviewed by L Boehm, E Austin; comments to author 02.09.22; revised version received 09.09.22; accepted 09.09.22; published 27.09.22. <u>Please cite as:</u> Krupp A, Steege L, Lee J, Lopez KD, King B Supporting Decision-Making About Patient Mobility in the Intensive Care Unit Nurse Work Environment: Work Domain Analysis JMIR Nursing 2022;5(1):e41051 URL: https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e41051 doi:10.2196/41051 PMID:36166282

©Anna Krupp, Linsey Steege, John Lee, Karen Dunn Lopez, Barbara King. Originally published in JMIR Nursing (https://nursing.jmir.org), 27.09.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Nursing, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://nursing.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Code-Switching Automatic Speech Recognition for Nursing Record Documentation: System Development and Evaluation

Shih-Yen Hou¹, MS; Ya-Lun Wu¹, MS; Kai-Ching Chen¹, MS; Ting-An Chang¹, PhD; Yi-Min Hsu¹, PhD; Su-Jung Chuang¹, MHA; Ying Chang¹, MS; Kai-Cheng Hsu¹, MD, PhD

Artificial Intelligence Center for Medical Diagnosis, China Medical University Hospital, Taichung City, Taiwan

Corresponding Author:

Kai-Cheng Hsu, MD, PhD Artificial Intelligence Center for Medical Diagnosis China Medical University Hospital No 2, Yude Rd North Dist Taichung City, 40459 Taiwan Phone: 886 +886911284382 ext 168 Email: D35842@mail.cmuh.org.tw

Abstract

Background: Taiwan has insufficient nursing resources due to the high turnover rate of health care providers. Therefore, reducing the heavy workload of these employees is essential. Herein, speech transcription, which has various potential clinical applications, was employed for the documentation of nursing records. The requirement of including only one speaker per transcription facilitated data collection and system development. Moreover, authorization from patients was unnecessary.

Objective: The aim of this study was to construct a speech recognition system for nursing records such that health care providers can complete nursing records without typing or with only a few edits.

Methods: Nursing records in Taiwan are mainly written in Mandarin, with technical terms and abbreviations presented in both Mandarin and English. Therefore, the training set consisted of English code-switching information. Next, transfer learning (TL) and meta-TL (MTL) methods, which perform favorably in code-switching scenarios, were applied.

Results: As of September 2021, the China Medical University Hospital Artificial Intelligence Speech (CMaiSpeech) data set was established by manually annotating approximately 100 hours of recordings from 525 speakers. The word error rate (WER) of the benchmark model of syllable-based TL was 29.54% in code-switching. The WER of the proposed model of syllable-based MTL was 22.20% in code-switching. The test set comprised 17,247 words. Moreover, in a clinical case, the proposed model of syllable-based MTL yielded a WER of 31.06% in code-switching. The clinical test set contained 1159 words.

Conclusions: This paper has two main contributions. First, the CMaiSpeech data set—a Mandarin-English corpus—has been established. Health care providers in Taiwan are often compelled to use a mixture of Mandarin and English in nursing records. Second, an automatic speech recognition system for nursing record document conversion was proposed. The proposed system can shorten the work handover time and further reduce the workload of health care providers.

(JMIR Nursing 2022;5(1):e37562) doi:10.2196/37562

KEYWORDS

nursing records; automatic speech recognition; code-switching; transfer learning; meta-transfer learning

Introduction

Background

RenderX

In Taiwan, more than 80% of health care providers are employed in the acute care system, mainly providing care for inpatients. However, the turnover rate of new recruits in medical centers is considerably high, exceeding 22.5%; in regional hospitals, it

https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e37562

is approximately 29% [1-3]. Turnover rate is defined as the number of people leaving per month divided by the average number of people in the month. According to the equation below, Price [4] thinks that the turnover rate exceeds 50%, which is potentially harmful; Gauerke [5] considers that the ideal annual turnover rate should be approximately 5% to 10%. On average, 1 in 4 new health care providers leaves because

they cannot endure the harsh working conditions in hospitals. Specifically, the reasons for the high turnover rate are presented as follows. First, the clinical workload is not divided into professional and nonprofessional work; thus, delegating nonprofessional work to others is not possible and, as such, nursing personnel are responsible for various menial tasks. Second, the particularity of three-shift work is highly inconvenient [6,7].



Health care providers spend most of their time in patient rooms, including isolation rooms, and on administrative tasks, including completing nursing records and charting work and reviewing them [8,9]. Descriptions of medical evaluations and their results are included in nursing records such that the medical care team can fully understand the patient's condition. Incomplete or erroneous nursing records are a serious violation of patients' rights. The causes of incomplete nursing records are inadequate human resources and differences in writing styles, which increase cognitive differences during health care providers' shifts and can cause problems in patient care. According to the American Joint Commission International Accreditation Standards for Hospitals, approximately 65% of medical care problems are due to miscommunication [10]. Therefore, nursing records play a vital role in medical care.

Speech recognition programs, which have seen various advances in recent years, can understand human language; their application to the generation of nursing records can potentially improve work efficiency and reduce the workload of health care providers. Many countries have employed speech recognition technology in medicine [11,12]. The speech-to-text automation of nursing records can lighten the burden of administrative work. Although automatic speech recognition in the medical domain was first reported in the 1980s [13], all subsequent studies up to 1999 tested the transcription of single words as opposed to continuous speech in this context [14]. In recent years, a few studies have been conducted on speech recognition in the medical domain in terms of the word error rate (WER) [15-17].

Related Work

The connectionist temporal classification (CTC) [18] and the listen, attend, and spell (LAS) [19] frameworks have been used to record physician-patient conversations [20]. The corpus size is 14,000 hours. Data cleaning comprised a major portion of the work. The WERs of the CTC and LAS methods were 20.1% and 18.3%, respectively, but both methods can be used to transcribe conversations between health care providers and patients. For the CTC method, a clean corpus and a corresponding language model are integral. Compared with the CTC method, the LAS framework has a higher tolerance to corpora containing a small amount of error. Because all the contextual information is considered by the LAS method, its accuracy is slightly higher than that of other models; however, the LAS method cannot perform streaming of automatic speech recognition. In addition, the length of the input voice segment has a significant impact on the accuracy of the model.

The learning method proposed in Winata et al [21] was designed to overcome the shortage of code-switching data by generating synthetic code-switching sentences. In that study, a presented, was sequence-to-sequence model and pointer-generator networks were used to generate code-switching data. The model had two principal characteristics: learning how to combine words from parallel sentences and determining when to switch from one language to another. However, the model was applied only to general conversations and not to conversations in a specific field. The main reason is that there are few conversations in the nursing data set, mainly nursing records, including records of patients' physiological conditions, records of treatment and medication, and records of doctors' orders.

The Goal of This Study

The shortage of nursing labor in Taiwan has been a concern of Taiwan's Ministry of Health and Welfare in recent years, and this situation has been exacerbated and highlighted by the spread of COVID-19 [22,23]. Health care providers in Taiwan have a heavier workload compared with those in other regions and countries. To mitigate this problem, we established a code-switching automatic speech recognition system enabling health care providers to complete nursing records without typing or editing. We used the China Medical University Hospital Artificial Intelligence Speech (CMaiSpeech) data set for this purpose.

Methods

CMaiSpeech Data Set

In the medical field, automatic speech recognition poses several difficulties. First, background noise is often present during recordings. Second, speaking speed varies considerably among individuals. Third, speech may contain hesitations and utterances, such as repeated words and restarted sentences. The most formidable challenge is code-switching. Taiwanese people often use a mixture of Chinese and English in daily conversation; this is often observed in the medical field and in nursing records. Medical terms, including thousands of drug names, are often written in English or represented by English abbreviations, meaning that sentences commonly contain a mix of Mandarin and English words.

Nursing records in Taiwan mostly contain Mandarin-English sentences. To obtain a code-switching corpus for training the automatic speech recognition model, a nursing record corpus was created and used as the Mandarin-English code-switching corpus. The process of the CMaiSpeech data set has been created as follows. First, some code-switching sentences were selected from the nursing records in the China Medical University Hospital (CMUH) database. Next, volunteers were recruited to speak and record these sentences. After the recording process was completed, each sentence was annotated based on the recording context. Finally, the audio data were converted into a 16-kHz pulse-code modulation format. Figure 1 displays examples of Mandarin-English code-switching utterances in clinical nursing records.

Code-switching is a common language phenomenon and refers to a person alternately using more than one language or its variants in a conversation. A generalized definition of

code-switching includes language alternation within sentences (ie, words of different languages are in the sentence) and outside the sentences (ie, sentences of other languages are in the data set). For our cases, most language alternations happened within sentences. The CMaiSpeech data set contains numerous medical terms in both English and Mandarin. The data set was established by manually annotating approximately 100 hours of recordings from 525 speakers. Most of the speakers were nurses employed at CMUH.

Figure 1. Examples of Mandarin-English code-switching utterances in clinical nursing records.

病人 GCS E 四 M 六 V 五 此 次 因 吐 血解 黑便 至 急診 求治。 (Patient GCS E4M6V5 Went to the emergency department for treatment due to vomiting of blood and Black poops.) 左 下肢 AK 術後 傷口 hemovac 存 leak 嚴重 。 (The hemovac of the left lower extremity after the operation of AK is severely leaked.) 病患 因 PT prolong 腹水 存 經 醫師 評估 後囑 blood transfusion FFP 四 u 依 醫囑 輸血 前 給予 normal saline 五百 ml ivd stat。 (The patient had ascites due to PT prolong The doctor ordered blood transfusion FFP four u Give normal saline 500 ml ivd stat before blood transfusion according to doctor's order.)

Ethics Approval

This research was approved by the Institutional Review Board of China Medical University Hospital (CMUH), under approval No. CMUH110-REC2-187.

National Education Radio Data Set

CMaiSpeech is a code-switching data set. But model training requires a Mandarin corpus with a Taiwanese accent. Therefore, National Education Radio (NER) content is considered a Mandarin data set. NER content from the Formosa Speech in the Wild data set [24] is a Mandarin corpus. For the Mandarin corpus, volume 1 of the NER data set, which contains approximately 100 hours of speech recordings, was used. The data were split into training and evaluation sets by the setup described in the source (ie, volume 1 of the NER data set). Both CMaiSpeech and NER data sets were employed in model training, validation, and testing.

Transfer Learning

Transfer learning (TL) refers to the transfer of a trained model and parameters to a new model such that the new model does not need to be retrained [25]: this is considered positive transfer. In 2020, Joshi et al [26] applied TL to the recurrent neural network transducer model in the field of speech recognition [27,28]. When the learning of one kind of knowledge promotes the learning of another kind of knowledge, it is called positive transfer. On the contrary, when the learning of one kind of knowledge hinders the learning of another kind of knowledge, it is called negative transfer. For example, when the tasks of the source domain and the target domain are not related, this may lead to negative transfer. In this study, the TL model was regarded as a benchmark model, and the CMaiSpeech and NER data sets were used for two-stage training.

Meta–Transfer Learning

Meta-TL (MTL), proposed in Winata et al [29], is used to overcome the challenges encountered in code-switching speech

```
https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e37562
```

recognition. Specifically, this model is used to map audio recordings to graphemes with relatively few resources. MTL is based on model-agnostic meta-learning [30], with a few modifications for the code-switching tasks. These modifications exchange the model's ability to perform a wide range of tasks for a more favorable ability to initialize code-switching tasks.

Model Selection

The mainstream automatic speech recognition system can be divided into two models: syllable based and character based. Figure 2 shows the difference between the two models. The character-based model uses the hidden Markov model (HMM) to convert syllables to characters. On the contrary, the syllable-based model has no converter. In Taiwan, nursing records are mainly written in Mandarin, with technical terms and abbreviations being written in both Mandarin and English. Accordingly, we selected a method suitable for nursing handover. The syllable-based method [30] is used in Mandarin, wherein Chinese words are converted into syllables to reduce their complexity. Next, a cascade syllable decoder is used to learn the lingual information to map syllables to graphemes.

Although the most commonly used Chinese transliteration system in Taiwan is Bopomofo [31], we employed simplified pinyin (ie, standard Chinese pinyin without tone markers) to standardize the form of the English and Mandarin words at the character level. Task complexity was reduced through vocabulary minimization. For syllable decoding, the HMM was used along with the Viterbi algorithm. A lexicon containing English words was required to decode syllables produced by the speech transformer model into graphemes.

The training and testing flowchart of the proposed MTL models is shown in Figure 3. The training and testing flowchart of the MTL models is made up of three blocks. First, regarding the data set block, the monolingual data set (ie, NER) and code-switching data set (ie, CMaiSpeech) were jointly learned through meta-training; the corpora of the CMaiSpeech and NER

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

data sets were converted to characters or syllables, a step that can be understood as audio conversion into features; and character-based and syllable-based models were built. Second, regarding the training block, the models were trained using the MTL method proposed by Guzmán et al [15]; all models can then be further fine-tuned. In addition, for the syllable-based model, an HMM was trained using the CMaiSpeech data set and a lexicon that maps Mandarin characters to pinyin. Third, regarding the testing block, meta-testing was used.

Figure 2. The difference between syllable-based and character-based models.



Figure 3. Training and testing flowchart of the meta-transfer learning models. NER: National Education Radio; CMaiSpeech: China Medical University Hospital Artificial Intelligence Speech.



Results

Data Set Analysis

The MTL and TL algorithms were evaluated and compared with the CMaiSpeech and NER data sets. The statistics and experimental settings of the data sets are presented in Table 1. Regarding wave statistics, approximately 126 hours of monolingual Mandarin data (ie, NER data set) and approximately 107 hours of code-switching data (ie, CMaiSpeech data set) were employed for training and validation, respectively. Next, the TL and MTL models were assessed using approximately 1.8 hours of code-switching data (ie, CMaiSpeech data set). The CMaiSpeech data set contained 136,196 English words and 787,701 Chinese words, whereas the NER data set contained 682 English words and 1,420,101 Chinese words. On the basis of the proportions of English and Chinese words, the code-switching level of the CMaiSpeech data set was substantially higher than that of the NER data set. Therefore, the CMaiSpeech data set was determined to be more useful for testing. The testing corpus of the CMaiSpeech data set contained 2427 English words and 14,820 Chinese words. To quantify the code-switching level, the language entropy was used to evaluate the code-switching level. The language entropy of the CMaiSpeech and NER data sets in the training process was 0.6033 and 0.0060, respectively, and the language entropy of the CMaiSpeech data set in the testing process was 0.5857. The probability of switching (ie, the integration index [I-index]) [30] was used to describe the code-switching frequency. The mean I-indexes of the CMaiSpeech and NER data sets in the training process were 0.2006 and 0.0006, respectively, and the mean I-index of the CMaiSpeech data set in the testing process was 0.1411. The frequency of Chinese and English words in the CMaiSpeech data set was determined (Multimedia Appendix 1).



Table 1. Statistics and experimental setting of the CMaiSpeech and NER data sets.

Methods	CMaiSpeech ^a data set		NER ^b data set		CMaiSpeech data set
	Training	Validation	Training	Validation	Testing
Wave statistics					
Duration, hours	105.5334	1.6572	114.2523	12.4390	1.8093
Mean duration, seconds	14.2634	18.9395	21.6751	21.2028	17.5566
Utterances, n	26,636	315	18,976	2112	371
Word statistics, n					
English words	136,196	2342	682	150	2427
Chinese words	787,701	12,115	1,420,101	206,909	14,820
Total words	923,897	14,457	1,420,784	207,059	17,247
Code-switching level					
Language entropy	0.6033	0.6391	0.006	0.0086	0.5861
I-index ^c , mean (SD)	0.2006 (0.1529)	0.1896 (0.16)	0.0006 (0.0052)	0.0011 (0.008)	0.1411 (0.1372)

^aCMaiSpeech: China Medical University Hospital Artificial Intelligence Speech.

^bNER: National Education Radio.

^cI-index: integration index (ie, the probability of switching).

Model Analysis

Table 2 lists the performance of various automatic speech recognition models on CMaiSpeech test sets in WERs. The benchmark models included the character-based TL model, the syllable-based TL model, and the Microsoft Azure cloud application programming interface (API) [32]. The proposed models were the character-based MTL model and the syllable-based MTL model. The total number of words in the testing set was 17,247. The output results were Chinese characteristics: the sentences code-switched between English and Mandarin and the sentences included many drug names and English abbreviations.

Among the evaluated models, the WERs of the character- and syllable-based TL models were 27.22% and 29.54% WER–code-switching (WER-CS), respectively, whereas that of the Azure cloud API was 59.20% WER-CS. By contrast, the WERs of the proposed character- and syllable-based MTL

models were 24.78% and 22.20% WER-CS, respectively. In most cases, the MTL models yielded higher WER values than did the TL models because the CMaiSpeech data set was smaller. The MTL algorithm is suitable for solving small-sample learning problems because the MTL model was jointly trained using both the CMaiSpeech data set and the NER data set. By contrast, the TL algorithm is usually pretrained on a data set to obtain a more favorable initial model, which is then fine-tuned on the new data set. The new data set must have a considerable amount of data; this is typically not the case in a small-sample learning task. Thus, joint training enables the MTL model to have robust code-switching capabilities.

For the same test sets, the performance of syllable-based automatic speech recognition models without HMM was measured on CMaiSpeech test sets (Table S1 in Multimedia Appendix 2). The WERs of the syllable-based TL and syllable-based MTL models without HMM were 24.16% and 16.85% WER-CS, respectively. The output of the models was syllables, not Chinese characters and English words.

Table 2. Performance of various automatic speech recognition models on CMaiSpeech^a test sets (code-switching) in terms of the word error rate.

Methods	WER-CS ^b , %	WER-EN ^c , %	WER-ZH ^d , %
Character-based transfer learning	27.22	40.15	26.75
Syllable-based transfer learning	29.54	38.13	29.22
Azure cloud application programming interface	59.20	95.57	54.23
Character-based meta-transfer learning (proposed)	24.78	41.23	24.28
Syllable-based meta-transfer learning (proposed)	22.20	36.13	21.54

^aCMaiSpeech: China Medical University Hospital Artificial Intelligence Speech.

^bWER-CS: word error rate-code-switching.

^cWER-EN: word error rate-English.

^dWER-ZH: word error rate–Zhōngwén.

Two experiments were conducted for external verification. First, to analyze the performance of the proposed models and the public automatic speech recognition system, based on the experimental settings, the same CMaiSpeech test sets were applied to the automatic speech recognition model of the Azure cloud API. The WER of the Azure cloud API was 59.20% WER-CS (Table 2). This may be attributable to the fact that the CMaiSpeech test sets included domain-specific conversations about nursing care, whereas the Azure cloud API mainly included general conversations.

Second, the proposed models were deployed online in the Medical Information Technology Office of CMUH. The clinical handover data were collected and used as clinical test sets to validate various automatic speech recognition models (Table 3). The total number of words in the clinical test sets was 1159. The WER of the syllable-based TL models was 33.65% WER-CS, whereas that of the Azure cloud API was 31.75% WER-CS. As for the proposed syllable-based MTL model, the WER was 31.06% WER-CS. The WERs of the proposed systems from the online results were not as favorable as those from the offline results, possibly because the clinical test sets contained a high proportion of Mandarin words and a low proportion of English words. Therefore, when output English words were misspelled, their WERs were substantially higher than those of the Chinese words. In the future, we must focus

on increasing the size of the training database to optimize the performance of the proposed automatic speech recognition engine.

Interesting experimental results were found, as seen in Table 3. If the test sets were divided into a long sentence part and a short sentence part, with 15 seconds as the boundary, the length was categorized and the WERs were calculated separately, as shown in Table 4.

Figure 4 shows the relationship between sentence length and the WER. From the experimental results, it can be found that the sentence length has an inflection point at 40 words. When the sentence length is more than 40 words, the sentence length is positively correlated with the WER, and this result is understandable. On the contrary, when the sentence length is less than 40 words, the sentence length is negatively correlated with the WER. There are two main reasons for this. First, uncommon words in short sentences increase the probability of identification errors. Second, there are limited previous occurrences that can be referenced. Both of these reasons may increase the WER value. In addition, the relationship between the code-switching level and the WER was determined (Multimedia Appendix 3). From the experimental results, it can be found that the code-switching level has an inflection point at 0.40. When the code-switching level is more than 0.40, the code-switching level is positively correlated with the WER.

Table 3. Performance of the benchmark and proposed models on clinical test sets in the clinical field in terms of the word error rate.

Methods	WER-CS ^a , %	WER-EN ^b , %	WER-ZH ^c , %
Character-based transfer learning	60.40	107.59	56.88
Syllable-based transfer learning	33.65	85.58	30.31
Azure cloud application programming interface	31.75	96.08	27.80
Character-based meta-transfer learning (proposed)	43.57	114.06	38.41
Syllable-based meta-transfer learning (proposed)	31.06	89.52	27.84

^aWER-CS: word error rate-code-switching.

^bWER-EN: word error rate–English.

^cWER-ZH: word error rate–Zhōngwén.

Table 4. Performance of the benchmark and proposed models on long and short sentences in terms of the word error rate.

Methods	Long sentences, WER ^a , %	Short sentences, WER, %
Character-based transfer learning	33.58	10.38
Syllable-based transfer learning	35.55	13.63
Character-based meta-transfer learning (proposed)	30.87	8.66
Syllable-based meta-transfer learning (proposed)	27.14	9.11

^aWER: word error rate.



Figure 4. The relationship between sentence length and the word error rate (WER). MTL: meta-transfer learning; TL: transfer learning.



Discussion

In this study, a Mandarin-English code-switching speech recognition system was developed using a corpus of nursing records to allow such records to be completed without typing or editing. The proposed system can lighten the heavy workloads of medical personnel. The WER of the benchmark syllable-based TL model was 29.54% WER-CS, and that of the proposed syllable-based MTL model was 22.20% WER-CS. The test sets

comprised 17,247 words. In a real clinical case, the WER of the proposed model was 31.06% WER-CS. The clinical test sets contained 1159 words.

Future studies should focus on training with large Mandarin corpora to improve the performance of the proposed code-switching speech recognition engine. We plan to release the proposed corpus of nursing data with the accompanying processing software to the research and development community for the study of clinical language processing.

Acknowledgments

This research project was conducted using data pulled from the data warehouse of electronic medical records that were provided by China Medical University Hospital. We thank the National Center for High-performance Computing of the National Applied Research Laboratories in Taiwan for providing computational and storage resources. The study was funded by China Medical University and China Medical University Hospital (grants MOST 110-2314-B-039-010-MY2, MOST 111-2321-B-039-005, MOST 111-2622-8-039-001 -IE, MOST 110-2321-B-039-002, and DMR-111-227).

Authors' Contributions

K-CH and Y-LW contributed to the conception and design of the study. Y-MH, S-JC, and YC collected the data. S-YH designed and developed the system. KCC performed the data analysis. T-AC wrote the manuscript. All authors reviewed and provided feedback for each draft of the manuscript, and all authors read and approved the final version of the manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1

Frequency of Chinese and English words in the CMaiSpeech data set. CMaiSpeech: China Medical University Hospital Artificial Intelligence Speech. [PNG File, 26 KB - nursing_v5i1e37562_app1.png]

Multimedia Appendix 2

Performance of syllable-based automatic speech recognition models without the hidden Markov model (HMM) on the CMaiSpeech test set. CMaiSpeech: China Medical University Hospital Artificial Intelligence Speech. [DOCX File , 13 KB - nursing_v5i1e37562_app2.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 3



The relationship between the code-switching level and the word error rate (WER). I-index: integration index; MTL: meta-transfer learning; TL: transfer learning.

[PNG File, 116 KB - nursing_v5i1e37562_app3.png]

References

- 1. Kao CC. Multi-aspects of nursing manpower in Taiwan. Cheng Ching Med J 2011;7(3):41-46. [doi: 10.30156/CCMJ.201107.0005]
- Chou S. [Response of Taiwan nursing education to today's nursing shortage] [Article in Chinese]. Hu Li Za Zhi 2012 Oct;59(5):24-29. [doi: <u>10.6224/JN.59.5.24</u>] [Medline: <u>23034544</u>]
- Lin P, MacLennan S, Hunt N, Cox T. The influences of nursing transformational leadership style on the quality of nurses' working lives in Taiwan: A cross-sectional quantitative study. BMC Nurs 2015;14:33 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12912-015-0082-x] [Medline: 25991910]
- 4. Price JL. The impact of turnover on the organization. Work Occup 2016 Aug 17;16(4):461-473. [doi: 10.1177/0730888489016004005]
- 5. Gauerke RD. Appraisal as a retention tool. Superv Nurse 1977;8(6):34-37. [doi: 10.1097/00006247-197706000-00006]
- 6. Lin C, Huang C, Kao C, Lu M. [The nursing shortage and nursing retention strategies in Taiwan] [Article in Chinese]. Hu Li Za Zhi 2013 Jun;60(3):88-93. [doi: <u>10.6224/JN.60.3.88</u>] [Medline: <u>23729345</u>]
- Huang C, Yu C, Yu C. [An Exploration of Working Conditions and Flexible System for Hospital Nurses] [Article in Chinese]. Hu Li Za Zhi 2016 Apr;63(2):80-90. [doi: <u>10.6224/JN.63.2.80</u>] [Medline: <u>27026560</u>]
- 8. Lee S, Pai H, Yen W. [A study of perceived practice environment among nurses in Taiwan] [Article in Chinese]. Hu Li Za Zhi 2008 Aug;55(4):30-40. [Medline: <u>18668480</u>]
- 9. Yeh M, Yu S. Job stress and intention to quit in newly-graduated nurses during the first three months of work in Taiwan. J Clin Nurs 2009 Dec;18(24):3450-3460. [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2702.2009.02941.x] [Medline: 20487491]
- 10. Aiken LH, Cheung RB, Olds DM. Education policy initiatives to address the nurse shortage in the United States. Health Aff (Millwood) 2009;28(4):w646-w656 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1377/hlthaff.28.4.w646] [Medline: 19525285]
- Johnson M, Lapkin S, Long V, Sanchez P, Suominen H, Basilakis J, et al. A systematic review of speech recognition technology in health care. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2014 Oct 28;14:94 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1472-6947-14-94] [Medline: 25351845]
- Chung SL, Chen YS, Su SF, Ting HW. Preliminary study of deep learning based speech recognition technique for nursing shift handover context. In: Proceedings of the 2019 IEEE International Conference on Systems, Man and Cybernetics. 2019 Presented at: The 2019 IEEE International Conference on Systems, Man and Cybernetics; October 6-9, 2019; Bari, Italy p. 528-533. [doi: 10.1109/smc.2019.8913954]
- 13. Dudley H, Riesz R, Watkins S. A synthetic speaker. J Franklin Inst 1939 Jun;227(6):739-764. [doi: 10.1016/s0016-0032(39)90816-1]
- 14. Furui S. Automatic speech recognition and its application to information extraction. In: Proceedings of the 37th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics. 1999 Presented at: The 37th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics; June 20-26, 1999; College Park, MD p. 11-20. [doi: 10.3115/1034678.1034680]
- 15. Guzmán G, Ricard J, Serigos J, Bullock B, Toribio A. Metrics for modeling code-switching across corpora. In: Proceedings of the Conference of the International Speech Communication Association (INTERSPEECH). 2017 Presented at: the Conference of the International Speech Communication Association (INTERSPEECH); August 20-24, 2017; Stockholm, Sweden p. 67-71 URL: <u>https://www.isca-speech.org/archive/pdfs/interspeech_2017/guzman17_interspeech.pdf</u> [doi: 10.21437/interspeech.2017-1429]
- Klakow D, Peters J. Testing the correlation of word error rate and perplexity. Speech Commun 2002 Sep;38(1-2):19-28. [doi: <u>10.1016/s0167-6393(01)00041-3</u>]
- Wang YY, Acero A, Chelba C. Is word error rate a good indicator for spoken language understanding accuracy. In: Proceedings of the IEEE Workshop on Automatic Speech Recognition and Understanding. 2003 Presented at: The IEEE Workshop on Automatic Speech Recognition and Understanding; November 30-December 4, 2003; St Thomas, VI p. 577-582. [doi: 10.1109/asru.2003.1318504]
- Graves A, Fernández S, Gomez F, Schmidhuber J. Connectionist temporal classification: Labelling unsegmented sequence data with recurrent neural networks. In: Proceedings of the 23rd International Conference on Machine Learning. 2006 Presented at: The 23rd International Conference on Machine Learning; June 25-29, 2006; Pittsburgh, PA p. 369-376. [doi: 10.1145/1143844.1143891]
- 19. Chan W, Jaitly N, Le QV, Vinyals O. Listen, attend and spell. ArXiv Preprint posted online on August 20, 2015 [FREE Full text]
- 20. Chiu CC, Tripathi A, Chou K, Co C, Jaitly N, Jaunzeikare D, et al. Speech recognition for medical conversations. In: Proceedings of the Conference of the International Speech Communication Association (INTERSPEECH). 2018 Presented at: The Conference of the International Speech Communication Association (INTERSPEECH); September 2-6, 2018; Hyderabad, India p. 2972-2976 URL: <u>https://www.isca-speech.org/archive/pdfs/interspeech_2018/chiu18_interspeech.pdf</u> [doi: <u>10.21437/interspeech.2018-40</u>]

- 21. Winata GI, Madotto A, Wu CS, Fung P. Code-switched language models using neural based synthetic data from parallel sentences. In: Proceedings of the 23rd Conference on Computational Natural Language Learning. 2019 Presented at: The 23rd Conference on Computational Natural Language Learning; November 3-4, 2019; Hong Kong, China p. 271-280. [doi: 10.18653/v1/k19-1026]
- 22. Lin C, Lu MS, Huang HY. The psychometric properties and the development of the indicators of quality nursing work environments in Taiwan. J Nurs Res 2016 Mar;24(1):9-20. [doi: 10.1097/jnr.00000000000106] [Medline: 26670132]
- Lin CF, Huang CI, Yang CM, Lu MS. The relationship between work environment satisfaction and retention intention among nursing administrators in Taiwan. J Nurs Res 2019 Oct;27(5):e43 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/jnr.00000000000312] [Medline: 31524854]
- 24. Formosa Speech in the Wild. URL: https://sites.google.com/speech.ntut.edu.tw/fsw/home [accessed 2022-10-18]
- 25. Yosinski J, Clune J, Bengio Y, Lipson H. How transferable are features in deep neural networks? In: Proceedings of the 28th Conference on Neural Information Processing Systems. 2014 Presented at: The 28th Conference on Neural Information Processing Systems; December 8-13, 2014; Montréal, QC p. 1-9 URL: <u>https://proceedings.neurips.cc/paper/2014/file/375c71349b295fbe2dcdca9206f20a06-Paper.pdf</u>
- Joshi V, Zhao R, Mehta RR, Kumar K, Li J. Transfer learning approaches for streaming end-to-end speech recognition system. In: Proceedings of the Conference of the International Speech Communication Association (INTERSPEECH). 2020 Presented at: The Conference of the International Speech Communication Association (INTERSPEECH); October 25–29, 2020; Shanghai, China p. 2152-2156 URL: <u>https://www.isca-speech.org/archive/pdfs/interspeech_2020/</u> joshi20_interspeech.pdf [doi: 10.21437/interspeech.2020-2345]
- 27. Graves A. Generating sequences with recurrent neural networks. ArXiv Preprint posted online on June 5, 2014 [FREE Full text]
- 28. Graves A. Sequence transduction with recurrent neural networks. ArXiv Preprint posted online on November 14, 2012 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.48550/arXiv.1211.3711]
- 29. Winata GI, Cahyawijaya S, Lin Z, Liu Z, Xu P, Fung P. Meta-transfer learning for code-switched speech recognition. In: Proceedings of the 58th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics. 2020 Presented at: The 58th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics; July 5-10, 2020; Virtual p. 3770-3776 URL: <u>https://aclanthology.org/2020.acl-main.348.pdf</u> [doi: 10.18653/v1/2020.acl-main.348]
- 30. Finn C, Abbeel P, Levine S. Model-agnostic meta-learning for fast adaptation of deep networks. In: Proceedings of the 34th International Conference on Machine Learning. 2017 Presented at: The 34th International Conference on Machine Learning; August 6-11, 2017; Sydney, Australia p. 1126-1135.
- 31. The Manual of the Phonetic Symbols of Mandarin Chinese. Taipei, Taiwan: Ministry of Education; 2000. URL: <u>https://language.moe.gov.tw/001/Upload/files/site_content/M0001/juyin/index.html</u> [accessed 2022-10-18]
- 32. Copeland M, Soh J, Puca A, Manning M, Gollob D. Microsoft Azure: Planning, Deploying, and Managing Your Data Center in the Cloud. New York, NY: Apress; 2015.

Abbreviations

API: application programming interface
CMaiSpeech: China Medical University Hospital Artificial Intelligence Speech
CMUH: China Medical University Hospital
CTC: connectionist temporal classification
HMM: hidden Markov model
I-index: integration index
LAS: listen, attend, and spell
MTL: meta-transfer learning
NER: National Education Radio
TL: transfer learning
WER: word error rate
WER-CS: word error rate-code-switching



Edited by E Borycki; submitted 28.02.22; peer-reviewed by M Lee, D Chrimes; comments to author 13.04.22; revised version received 06.09.22; accepted 25.09.22; published 07.12.22.
<u>Please cite as:</u>
Hou SY, Wu YL, Chen KC, Chang TA, Hsu YM, Chuang SJ, Chang Y, Hsu KC
Code-Switching Automatic Speech Recognition for Nursing Record Documentation: System Development and Evaluation
JMIR Nursing 2022;5(1):e37562
URL: https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e37562
PMID:36476781

©Shih-Yen Hou, Ya-Lun Wu, Kai-Ching Chen, Ting-An Chang, Yi-Min Hsu, Su-Jung Chuang, Ying Chang, Kai-Cheng Hsu. Originally published in JMIR Nursing (https://nursing.jmir.org), 07.12.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Nursing, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://nursing.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Web-Based Training for Nurses on Using a Decision Aid to Support Shared Decision-making About Prenatal Screening: Parallel Controlled Trial

Alex Poulin Herron^{1,2}, RN, BSc; Titilayo Tatiana Agbadje¹, MSc; Sabrina Guay-Bélanger¹, PhD; Gérard Ngueta^{1,3}, PhD; Geneviève Roch^{1,2,4,5}, RN, PhD; François Rousseau^{4,6}, MD, PhD; France Légaré^{1,4,7}, BSc, MD, MSc, PhD, CCFP

¹VITAM - Research Center on Sustainable Health, Centre intégré universitaire de santé et de services sociaux de la Capitale-Nationale, Quebec City, QC, Canada

²Faculty of Nursing, University of Laval, Quebec City, QC, Canada

³Department of Epidemiology, Faculty of Medicine, University of Laval, Quebec City, QC, Canada

⁴Population Health and Optimal Health Practices, Centre Hospitalier Universitaire de Québec - Université Laval Research Centre, Quebec City, QC, Canada

⁵Centre intégré de santé et de services sociaux de Chaudière-Appalaches Research Center, Lévis, QC, Canada

⁶Department of Molecular Biology, Medical Biochemistry and Pathology, University of Laval, Quebec City, QC, Canada

⁷Department of Family Medicine and Emergency Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, University of Laval, Quebec City, QC, Canada

Corresponding Author:

France Légaré, BSc, MD, MSc, PhD, CCFP VITAM - Research Center on Sustainable Health Centre intégré universitaire de santé et de services sociaux de la Capitale-Nationale 2480, chemin de la Canardière Quebec City, QC, G1G 2G1 Canada Phone: 1 418 663 5313 ext 12286 Email: <u>France.Legare@mfa.ulaval.ca</u>

Abstract

Background: Nurses play an important role in supporting pregnant women making decisions about prenatal screening for Down syndrome. We developed a web-based shared decision-making (SDM) training program for health professionals focusing on Down syndrome screening decisions.

Objective: In this study, we aim to assess the impact of an SDM training program on nurses' intention to use a decision aid with pregnant women deciding on prenatal screening for Down syndrome.

Methods: In this 2-arm, parallel controlled trial, French-speaking nurses working with pregnant women in the province of Quebec were recruited by a private survey firm. They were allocated by convenience either to the intervention group (web-based SDM course that included prenatal screening) or to the control group (web-based course focusing on prenatal screening alone, with no SDM content). The primary outcome was the intention to use a decision aid. Secondary outcomes were psychosocial variables of intention, knowledge, satisfaction, acceptability, perceived usefulness, and reaction to the pedagogical approach. All outcomes were self-assessed through web-based questionnaires, including the space for written comments. We used 2-tailed Student *t* test and Fisher exact test to compare continuous and categorical variables between groups, respectively.

Results: Of the 57 participants assessed for eligibility, 40 (70%) were allocated to the intervention (n=20) or control group (n=20) and 36 (n=18 in each) completed the courses. The mean age of the participants was 41 (SD 9) years. Most were women (39/40, 98%), White (38/40, 95%), clinical nurses (28/40, 70%), and had completed at least a bachelor's degree (30/40, 75%). After the intervention, the mean score of intention was 6.3 (SD 0.8; 95% CI 5.9-6.7) for the intervention group and 6.0 (SD 1.2; 95% CI 5.42-6.64) for the control group (scale 1-7). The differences in intention and other psychosocial variable scores between the groups were not statistically significant. Knowledge scores for SDM were significantly higher in the intervention group (79%, 95% CI 70-89 vs 64%, 95% CI 57-71; *P*=.009). The intervention to the pedagogical approach was also significantly more positive in the intervention group (4.7, 95% CI 4.5-4.8 vs 4.4, 95% CI 4.2-4.5; *P*=.02). There was no significant difference in overall

satisfaction (or in perceived usefulness). Furthermore, 17 participants (9 in the intervention group and 8 in the control group) provided written comments on the intervention.

Conclusions: This study focuses on web-based nursing education and its potential to support pregnant women's decision-making needs. It shows that nurses' intention to use a decision aid to enhance SDM in prenatal care is high, with or without training, but that their knowledge about SDM can be improved with web-based training.

International Registered Report Identifier (IRRID): RR2-10.2196/17878

(JMIR Nursing 2022;5(1):e31380) doi:10.2196/31380

KEYWORDS

shared decision-making; prenatal screening; training; nurses; nursing; behavioral intention; trisomy; Down syndrome; continuing professional development; continuing education; medical education; decision aid; screening; prenatal; pediatrics

Introduction

Background

In Quebec, prenatal screening for trisomy 21 (Down syndrome) during prenatal follow-up is offered to all pregnant women as part of the state-run health care services, as well as in a few private clinics [1]. Pregnant women face several possible options: whether to take the test, and if so, which one (biochemical test, fetal DNA, or nuchal translucency ultrasound) [2,3]. Prenatal screening is a value-laden decision, and the probabilistic nature of the evidence makes it a difficult decision for expecting parents. It is also complex because new difficult decisions may arise if the results of screening indicate a high probability of Down syndrome in the fetus—that is, whether to perform a more invasive procedure to confirm or deny the screening results (which includes risks of miscarriage) and, ultimately, whether to continue or terminate the pregnancy, given that prenatal treatment options are not available [4].

Faced with the complex nature of this decision, future parents must not only be informed of the evidence regarding the tests but also be supported by the health care team so that their preferences and values are considered in the decision-making process [5]. Thus, shared decision-making (SDM) seems to be the most appropriate approach for setting out the possible options in the most objective and concrete way, fostering informed consent and empowering parents [6-8]. SDM improves the health care experiences of both patients and health professionals and leads to better health care processes, patient experience and outcomes, and optimal health spending [9-12]. To implement SDM in clinical practice, several approaches have been proposed in the literature, including interactive skills workshops for health professionals and implementation of SDM tools known as decision aids (DAs) [13,14]. DAs are tools used by health care professionals to assist patients in their decision-making by providing information on treatment or screening options and their associated benefits and harms and by clarifying their values and preferences regarding the decision to be made [15].

In Canada, prenatal care requires the collaboration and coordination of many health care providers [16,17]. Nurses play an essential role, especially in the province of Quebec. One of their roles is to initiate laboratory examinations and diagnostic tests, such as prenatal screening [18]. Thus, they are in a strategic position to implement SDM as they accompany

```
https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e31380
```

pregnant women and their families in decision-making about prenatal screening [18,19]. Owing to their close and trusting relationship with patients, their intimate understanding of their community environment, their understanding of biology, and their communication skills, nurses could be powerful allies in implementing SDM in prenatal care [20]. Most SDM implementation studies focus on physicians [21], but with the transformation of health care systems, nurses are increasingly involved in clinical decision-making, and their crucial role urgently needs acknowledgment [22]. Patients themselves have expressed that nurses could play a significant role in SDM; they could provide information and support as well as communicate with other clinicians [23]. Moreover, many studies highlight that an interprofessional approach to SDM, in the context of team-based health care, has benefits for SDM implementation [24-28]. Investigating nursing training in SDM not only gives us an underexplored perspective but could also inform us about the complexities involved in interprofessional SDM.

However, for nurses to implement SDM in prenatal care, they must acquire the skills to apply this approach in their practice. Web-based continuing professional development (CPD) increased 10-fold from 2002 to 2008 in the United States and has been accelerating ever since [29,30]. The continuing education needs of remote rural practices and, more recently, COVID-19 social distancing rules and health cuts have driven developers of CPD to provide more web-based courses [31,32]. Although the effect of web-based courses on clinical practice is still not clear [33], some evaluations show that they are just as effective as in-person courses [34].

Objective

Therefore, we seek to assess the impact of a web-based SDM training program on nurses' intention to use a DA with pregnant women facing a decision about prenatal screening for Down syndrome.

Methods

Overview

We used the CONSORT-EHEALTH (Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials of Electronic and Mobile Health Applications and Online Telehealth) checklist (version 1.6.1) as a reporting guideline (except for items related to randomization) to report this study (Multimedia Appendix 1). This checklist suggests information to include when reporting

eHealth or mobile health trials (not only web-based or internet-based interventions and DAs but also social media, serious games, DVDs, mobile apps, and certain telehealth applications) [35]. We also used the guidelines for reporting nonrandomized pilot and feasibility studies proposed by Lancaster and Thabane [36].

Study Design

This study was a 2-arm, parallel controlled trial with pre–post measures. Participants were conveniently allocated to two parallel groups: (1) an intervention group exposed to a 3-hour web-based course on SDM, including SDM for prenatal screening, or (2) a control group exposed to a 3-hour web-based course on prenatal screening alone with no SDM content.

Changes to Methods

Initially, this study was planned as a randomized controlled trial. Through a misunderstanding, however, the private firm who performed the recruitment used convenience allocation, and there was no randomization allocation. No content changes were made to the interventions, and no software malfunctions occurred during the interventions.

Research Approval

This project was approved by the ethics committee of the Centre Hospitalier Universitaire de Québec-Université Laval (MP-20-2019-4571). All stages of this research project were conducted in accordance with the rules of ethics. Further details on ethics can be found in the protocol by Poulin Herron et al [37].

Study Population

Inclusion criteria for nurses were that they (1) were involved in prenatal screening decision-making or prenatal screening processes in the province of Quebec; (2) spoke and wrote French; (3) were active in professional practice during the year of data collection (eg, hospitals and community clinics); and (4) had sufficient internet skills, as all procedures were web-based, requiring a minimum of ability and equipment to enter and navigate through the course. There were no exclusion criteria.

Procedures and Recruitment

Participants were recruited through a web-based approach by a private polling firm that operates an internet panel. Recruitment made use of (1) a pre-existing list of nurses held by the polling firm; (2) social media; and (3) the human resources departments of two regional health authorities, the Centre intégré universitaire de santé et de services sociaux de la Capitale-Nationale and the Centre intégré de santé et de services sociaux de Chaudière-Appalaches. Recruitment and enrollment took place on web. The procedures are described in detail in a previously published protocol [37].

Allocation

The allocation of participants to the trial groups was performed after collecting the sociodemographic data. The private firm performed the allocation by convenience, as the nurses entered the study. Participants were not blinded throughout the study but were also not told which arm (intervention or control) they were allocated.

Study Interventions

Overview

The SDM course was created by members and collaborators of the Canada Research Chair in Shared Decision Making and Knowledge Translation with help from education counselors from Université Laval and supported by the PEGASUS (Personalized Genomics for Prenatal Abnormalities Screening Using Maternal Blood) program, a pan-Canadian program. Nurse with expertise in this field created a prenatal screening course without SDM content. The mode of delivery was asynchronous and web-based.

Both programs, hosted on the Université Laval platform, could be completed in approximately 3 hours. More information about the programs can be found in the protocol by Poulin Herron et al [37]. Some participants required technical assistance with regard to the study questions (eg, about when the course is considered complete or when they should answer the postintervention questionnaire), but no technical problems arose related to the course or the platform. Multimedia Appendix 2 provides a report of both programs according to the TIDieR (Template for Intervention Description and Replication items) [38].

Intervention Group: Web-Based Course on SDM and Down Syndrome Prenatal Screening

The intervention consisted of a web-based self-study course titled Formation en ligne – La prise de décision partagée pour le test de dépistage prénatal de la trisomie 21 (Shared Decision-Making About Prenatal Screening for Down Syndrome). The course aimed to integrate SDM into prenatal care by focusing on the use of a DA. It was divided into four main modules: (1) SDM, (2) Down syndrome prenatal screening, (3) DAs, and (4) communication between health care professionals and patients. Course development was based on the SDM model [39] and its central concepts [14,39]. These include assessment with the patient and health care professional that there is a decision to be made, exploration of the options available and their pros and cons, discussion about patients' preferences, support of the patient by health care professionals in their decision-making, and discussion surrounding the decision to be made. The course depicted a DA and included a video of a clinical encounter in which the DA was used by a clinician with expecting parents. The DA was created by our research team [40] using the International Patient Decision Aids Standards [41]. The model used in the course was in paper format. Its core element is the decision of whether to undergo prenatal screening for Down syndrome. It describes Down syndrome; presents the various prenatal tests and their benefits, harms, and consequences; and provides an exercise for users to clarify their values regarding the options. Multimedia Appendix 3 includes screenshots of the training content.



Control Group: Web-Based Course on Down Syndrome Prenatal Screening

The control group course was titled *Formation sur le dépistage prénatal de la trisomie 21* (prenatal screening for Down syndrome) and focused on prenatal screening alone (without SDM content such as determining decision points or using a DA). In the control program, the topic of SDM in module 1 of the intervention arm was replaced with "Context and history of prenatal screening." The topic of DAs in module 3 of the intervention arm was replaced with "Consent in prenatal screening." There were no DA and SDM simulation videos.

Data Collection

For each study arm, data were collected before and after the nurses completed the courses. All outcomes were self-reported. No postintervention data were collected from the participants who discontinued the intervention. The Kirkpatrick and Kirkpatrick [42] model was used as an overall guide to evaluate the effectiveness of the course, as it has proven useful in guiding the evaluation of training for the health care provider [43]. This model comprises four levels: (1) reaction, (2) learning, (3) behavioral change, and (4) organizational performance (results). Level 1 (reaction) measures how participants react to training (eg, satisfaction). Level 2 (learning) analyzes whether they understood the training (eg, increase in knowledge). Level 3 (behavior) looks at whether they are using what they learned at work (eg, behavior change), and level 4 (results) determines whether the material has a positive impact on the organization [42]. Details on the rationale for the questionnaire guides (Multimedia Appendix 4 summarizes the data collection questionnaire after the training) and further explanations can be found in the protocol by Poulin Herron et al [37]. Data collection took place entirely on web. Participants received CAD \$400 (US \$315) for their participation.

Primary Outcome

The primary outcome was the intention of nurses to use a DA in clinical practice with pregnant women facing a decision about prenatal screening for Down syndrome. Intention was chosen as the primary outcome because of the literature supporting intention as a strong predictor of behavior [44-46]. Intention is defined as the degree to which a person has formulated conscious plans to perform or not perform some specified future behavior, that is, the subjective probability that they will perform the behavior [47]. According to the integrated model of the theory of planned behavior for health care providers by Godin [46], their intention to change their behavior can be predicted by four variables: social influence, beliefs about capabilities, moral norms, and beliefs about consequences, as well as by individual and environmental characteristics. The intention to use a DA could act as a proxy for level 3 in the Kirkpatrick and Kirkpatrick [42] model, that is, a proxy for changes in behavior. Thus, although nurses' mid- or long-term behavior was not evaluated in this study, we assumed that their intention to use a DA in clinical practice with pregnant women could predict their future SDM behavior in clinical practice after receiving the training and once the DA is implemented in clinical settings. Further details on the rationale for the choice of primary

outcome can be found in the protocol by Poulin Herron et al [37].

Intention was measured before the intervention (before the course) and after the intervention (within 24-72 hours after completing the course). It was assessed using the CPD-Reaction questionnaire [48], which measures intention (and its psychosocial variables) to change a behavior after completing a CPD activity. The tool is based on the theory of planned behavior [46,49] and Triandis theory [50]. This validated questionnaire has an acceptable internal consistency for each construct, with a Cronbach α ranging from .77 to .85 [45]. Intention (questions 1 and 7 of the questionnaire) was measured on a 7-point Likert scale ranging from 1 (strongly disagree) to 7 (strongly agree).

Secondary Outcomes

Secondary outcomes included the psychosocial variables of behavioral intention as evaluated with the CPD-Reaction questionnaire, that is, social influence, beliefs about capabilities, moral norms, and beliefs about consequences. These constructs were also measured on a 7-point Likert scale, from 1 (score indicating a weak determinant) to 7 (score indicating a strong determinant). Question 2, on social influence, or the percentage of one's colleagues who use DAs, is on a 5-point Likert scale from 1 (0%-20%) to 5 (81%-100%) [48].

Knowledge (level 2 in the Kirkpatrick and Kirkpatrick [42] model) was measured using a 20-item questionnaire designed by the research team and focused on 4 topics: Down syndrome (2 items), prenatal screening (7 items), SDM (7 items), and ethics (4 items). The questions had from 2 to 5 possible answers, with both true-or-false-type answers and multiple-choice answers. As the knowledge questionnaire did not use Likert scales, the knowledge score was evaluated as a percentage with a maximum knowledge score of 100%.

To measure nurses' overall impression (level 1 in the Kirkpatrick and Kirkpatrick [42] model) of the web-based course in which they were enrolled, we assessed their satisfaction, acceptability, and perceived usefulness of the course, and reaction to its pedagogical approach. We used the questionnaire by Körner et al [26] to assess satisfaction with the content (5 items), with the trainers (6 items), and overall satisfaction. We used the Giangreco [51] questionnaire to assess the perceived usefulness of the program. We assessed acceptability using a 5-item questionnaire based on the Kirkpatrick and Kirkpatrick [42] guidelines for evaluating reactions to educational programs. Finally, we assessed the reaction to the pedagogical approach using a 9-item questionnaire based on both the Kirkpatrick and Kirkpatrick [42] guidelines and the University of Connecticut School of Medicine's continuing medical education evaluation form [52]. All 4 level 1 variables were assessed using a 5-point Likert scale ranging from 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree).

In open fields, we also collected written comments on how to improve training and sociodemographic data. No changes to trial outcomes were made after the trial commenced.

XSL•FO

Data Management

All data collected were kept on the polling firm's secure server for 10 years. Following data collection, the firm sent a deidentified database of all data collected in a Microsoft Excel file (version 2019) and a SAS (version 9.4) file to the research team. An identification number was given to each participant to deidentify and track them throughout the study. The research team saved these data on the secure server of regional health authorities.

Sample Size

To detect an average difference in our primary outcome (intention to use a DA), it was estimated that a sample size of 36 nurses (n=18 per group) would be sufficient, with an error of 0.05, a size effect of 0.8, and a power of 80%. This sample size was based on a similar study assessing intention to use a DA for Down syndrome screening among midwives, a profession closely allied with nursing [53].

Data Analysis

Analyses were performed at the individual level. We used the 2-tailed Student t test and Fisher exact test [54] to compare continuous and categorical variables between groups (mean intention to use the DA in both groups, knowledge and overall impressions). The difference in scores was estimated by subtracting the preintervention score from the postintervention score. This pre–post measure of change followed a normal distribution and was used in the regression model as a response

Figure 1. Participant flow diagram.



Baseline Data

The mean age of the participants was 41 (SD 9) years. Only one male enrolled, and all participants were cisgender people. Most participants had completed at least a bachelor's degree (26/40, 65%), resided in urban regions (19/40, 47.5% in the Capitale-Nationale and 9/40, 22.5% in Chaudière-Appalaches), were White (38/40, 95%), earned between CAD \$60,000 and CAD \$99,999 (US \$46,885 and US \$78,144) (30/40, 75%), were clinical nurses (university vs college-trained; 28/40, 70%),

```
https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e31380
```

analyses, SAS was used, and a statistical significance level of .05 was defined. No imputation techniques were used to deal with attrition or missing values, as the sample size of this study could not handle such an analysis. Finally, we conducted a

Results

Participant Characteristics

Data were collected from September 2019 to late January 2020. A total of 57 potentially eligible nurses were assessed for this trial, of whom 40 were allocated to either the control group or the intervention group. Two participants per group (total n=4) discontinued participation in the study (ie, they did not complete the full module). The trial ended when 18 nurses in each group completed the course and the postintervention questionnaire (Figure 1).

and worked full-time (35/40, 87.5%) either in a hospital (19/40,

47.5%) or a local community health center (7/40, 35%). The

number of pregnant women the nurses had seen in the past

month varied: 45% (18/40) had seen from 1 to 20, 15% (6/40)

had seen from 21 to 40, 15% (6/40) had seen from 41 to 80, and

18% (7/40) had seen \geq 81. Moreover, 3 nurses (7.5%) had not

seen any pregnant women in the past month (Table 1). The

intervention and control groups did not statistically differ with

respect to demographic data.

variable without any transformation. The exposure factor under

study was the intervention (vs the control group). The

identification of confounding factors was carried out using the

10% method [55], and variables whose removal from the full

model (ie, including exposure factor and all potential covariates)

resulted in a change of $\geq 10\%$ in the effect of the intervention

were retained as confounding variables in the final model. To

compare the mean values of secondary outcomes between the

2 groups after the intervention, analyses of covariance models

were performed to control for confounding factors. For all

content analysis of written comments. All results are presented

as mean scores or percentages with 95% CIs in parentheses.

Poulin Herron et al

Table 1. Participants' sociodemographic characteristics.

Poulin Herron et al

	Total (n=40)	Intervention (n=20)	Control (n=20)
Age (years), mean (SD)	40.7 (9.4)	39.5 (9.8)	41.8 (9.1)
Biological sex, n (%)			
Male	1 (2.5)	1 (5)	0
Female	39 (97.5)	19 (95)	20 (100)
Other	0 (0)	0	0
Gender, n (%)			
Male	1 (2.5)	1 (5)	0
Female	39 (97.5)	19 (95)	20 (100)
Other	0 (0)	0	0
Formal education ^a , n (%)			
College (CEGEP)	9 (22.5)	5 (12.5)	4 (20)
University—bachelor	26 (65)	14 (70)	12 (60)
University—master	4 (10)	0	4 (20)
University-doctorate	0 (0)	0	0
Other	1 (2.5)	1 (5)	0
Residency ^a , n (%)			
Capitale-nationale	19 (47.5)	10 (50)	9 (45)
Chaudières-Appalaches	9 (22.5)	4 (20)	5 (25)
Laval	3 (7.5)	1 (5)	2 (10)
Montréal	4 (10)	1 (5)	3 (15)
Bas-Saint-Laurent	1 (2.5)	1 (5)	0
Abitibi-Téminscamingue	1 (2.5)	1 (5)	0
Gaspésie and Îles-de-la-madeleine	1 (2.5)	1 (5)	0
Center-du-Québec	1 (2.5)	0	1 (5)
Other	1 (2.5)	1 (5)	0
Ethnicity ^a , n (%)			
White	38 (95)	19 (95)	19 (95)
Racialized minority	2 (5)	1 (5)	1 (5)
Salary ^a (CAD \$), n (%)			
<cad \$23,444)<="" \$29,999="" (us="" td=""><td>1 (2.5)</td><td>0</td><td>1 (5)</td></cad>	1 (2.5)	0	1 (5)
CAD \$30,000-\$59,999 (US \$23,445-\$46,884)	5 (12.5)	3 (15)	2 (10)
CAD \$60,000-\$99,999 (US \$46,885-\$78,144)	30 (75)	15 (75)	15 (75)
≥CAD \$100,000 (US \$78,145)	4 (10)	2 (10)	2 (10)
Job title ^{a,b} , n (%)			
Nurse	11 (27.5)	8 (40)	3 (15)
Clinical nurse	28 (70)	12 (60)	16 (80)
Nurse practitioner	1 (2.5)	0	1 (5)
Job status ^a , n (%)			
Preventive withdrawal or maternity leave	1 (2.5)	0	1 (5)
Full-time	35 (87.5)	19 (95.5)	16 (80)
Part-time	3 (7.5)	1 (5)	2 (10)

https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e31380

XSL•FO RenderX JMIR Nursing 2022 | vol. 5 | iss. 1 |e31380 | p.91 (page number not for citation purposes)

	Total (n=40)	Intervention (n=20)	Control (n=20)
Retired	1 (2.5)	0	1 (5)
Work settings			
Hospital	19 (47.5)	8 (40)	11 (55)
Family medicine group	1 (2.5)	0	1 (5)
Local community services centers	14 (35)	7 (35)	7 (35)
Other	6 (15)	5 (25)	1 (5)
Estimated number of pregnant women seen in the last month			
0	3 (7.5)	1 (5)	2 (10)
1-5	7 (17.5)	6 (30)	1 (5)
6-20	11 (27.5)	6 (30)	5 (25)
21-40	6 (15)	2 (10)	4 (20)
41-80	6 (15)	3 (15)	3 (15)
≥81	7 (17.5)	2 (10)	5 (25)

^aTo simplify the table, we did not present all the subvariables for the sociodemographic variables marked with "a." Subvariables not presented in the table contained no data. For the *formal education* variable, the subvariables not presented in the table are *none completed, primary school, secondary school*, and *professional study diploma*. One participant marked other on their form, referring to a university certificate. The work setting was not found to be a confounding factor. For the variable *residency*, the subvariables not presented are *Saguenay-Lac-Saint-Jean, Mauricie, Estrie, Outaouais, Côte-Nord, Nord-du-Québec Lanaudières, Montérégie, Laurentides*, and *I do not know*. For the variable *ethnicity*, subvariables not presented are *Latino-American* (Mexico, Chili, Costa Rica, etc), *Arab* (Middle East, Maghreb, etc), *Sud-Asia* (India, Bangladesh, Pakistan, Sri Lanka, etc), *South-east Asia* (Vietnam, Cambodia, Malaysia, Laos, etc), *West Asia* (Iran, Afghanistan, etc), *Chinese, Filipino, Korean, Japanese, Other*, and *I do not know*. For the variable *salary*, subvariables not presented are *I do not know* and *I prefer not to answer*. For the variable *job status*, the subvariables that are not presented in the table are *student, no job/studies*, and *none of the above*. Other types of work settings referred to private clinics, nursing stations, First Nations services, or federal (as opposed to provincial) services.

^bThe difference between nurses and clinical nurses is their education level, proper to the province of Quebec; clinical nurses have a bachelor's degree, and nurses have a college degree; both have similar scope of practice, with distinctions in regard to care complexity, coordination and clinical supervision.

Primary Outcome: Intention

Before the intervention, the mean intention score was 6.2 (SD 0.9; 95% CI 5.8-6.7) for the intervention group and 5.9 (SD 1.4; 95% CI 5.2-6.5) for the control group. The minimum and maximum scores were 1 and 7, respectively. After the intervention, the mean intention score was 6.3 (SD 0.8; 95% CI 5.9-6.7) for the intervention group and 6.0 (SD 1.2; 95% CI 5.4-6.6) for the control group (Table 2). Between the pre- and postintervention stage, the difference in intention score was 0.1 (95% CI -0.5 to 0.6) for the intervention group and 0.1 (95%

CI –0.8 to 1.1) for the control group. Before the intervention, the difference in intention score between the intervention and control groups was 0.3 (95% CI –0.4 to 1.1). After the intervention, the difference in intention score between intervention and control groups was 0.3 (95% CI –0.4 to 1.0). The intra- and intergroup differences observed were not statistically significant. After adjustment for confounding variables, the pre–post change in intention scores did not vary significantly among the exposure groups (0.2, 95% CI –1.0 to 1.4; P=.74).



Table 2. Continuing Professional Development-Reaction construct scores.

		Before intervention		After intervention			P value	
		Total (n=40)	Intervention (n=20)	Control (n=20)	Total (n=36)	Intervention (n=18)	Control (n=18)	
Int	ention					·		.82
	Values, mean (SD; 95% CI)	6.1 (1.2; 5.7- 6.4)	6.2 (0.9; 5.8- 6.7)	5.9 (1.4; 5.2- 6.5)	6.2 (1.0; 5.8- 6.5)	6.3 (0.8; 5.9- 6.7)	6.0 (1.2; 5.4- 6.6)	
	Values, median (IQR)	6.3 (5.5-7.0)	6.5 (5.5-7.0)	6.0 (5.5-7.0)	6.5 (5.8-7.0)	6.5 (6.0-7.0)	6.5 (5.5-7.0)	
So	cial influence							.15
	Values, mean (SD; 95% CI)	3.4 (1.7; 2.9- 4.0)	2.7 (1.6; 2-3.4)	3.8 (1.7; 2.9- 4.6)	3.0 (1.4; 2.5- 3.4)	2.7 (1.3; 2.1- 3.4)	3.2 (1.5; 2.4- 3.9)	
	Values, median (IQR)	3.1 (1.8-4.8)	2.5 (1.5-3.6)	4.3 (2.7-5.1)	2.5 (1.8-3.8)	2.3 (1.5-3.9)	2.7 (2.5-3.6)	
Be	liefs about capabilities							.07
	Values, mean (SD; 95% CI)	5.7 (1.0; 5.4- 6.1)	6.1 (1.0; 5.7- 6.5)	5.4 (1.0; 4.9- 5.9)	5.8 (0.8; 5.5- 6.1)	5.8 (0.8; 5.5- 6.2)	5.8 (0.9; 5.4- 6.2)	
	Values, median (IQR)	6.0 (5.0-6.7)	6.3 (5.0-6.8)	5.7 (4.7-6.3)	6.0 (5.3-6.3)	6.0 (5.3-6.3)	6.0 (5.3-6.3)	
M	oral norm							.34
	Values, mean (SD, 95% CI)	6.6 (0.6; 6.4- 6.8)	6.9 (0.4; 6.7- 7.0)	6.4 (0.7; 6.0- 6.7)	6.5 (0.8; 6.2- 6.7)	6.6 (0.9; 6.1- 7.0)	6.4 (0.7; 6.0- 6.7)	
	Values, median (IQR)	7.0 (6.0-7.0)	7.0 (6.8-7.0)	6.5 (6.0-7.0)	7.0 (6.0-7.0)	7.0 (6.5-7.0)	6.5 (6.0-7.0)	
Be	liefs about consequences	1						.68
	Values, mean (SD; 95% CI)	6.5 (0.6; 6.3- 6.7)	6.8 (0.5; 6.6-7)	6.3 (0.7; 6-6.6)	6.6 (0.8; 6.4- 6.9)	6.9 (0.4; 6.7- 7.1)	6.3 (0.9; 5.9- 6.8)	
	Values, median (IQR)	7.0 (6.0-7.0)	7.0 (6.5-7.0)	6.0 (6.0-7.0)	7.0 (6.5-7.0)	7.0 (7.0-7.0)	6.8 (6.0-7.0)	

Secondary Outcomes

Other Constructs of the CPD-Reaction Questionnaire

Scores for social influences, beliefs about capabilities, moral norms, and beliefs about consequences are shown in Table 2. There were no statistically significant differences between the pre- and postintervention scores for any of these constructs.

Knowledge

Table 3 shows knowledge scores assessed after the intervention. The average score for the 7 knowledge questions about SDM was 79% (SD 18; 95% CI 70%-89%) in the intervention group and 64% (SD 14; 95% CI 57%-71%) in the control group. The mean difference between the 2 groups for knowledge about SDM was 15% (SD 16; 95% CI 4%-26%). This difference is statistically significant (P=.009). There was no statistically significant difference in the knowledge scores for the questions about Down syndrome, ethics, or prenatal screening.

Table 3. Knowledge scores after the intervention (n=18).

Topics	Intervention (n=18), mean (SD; 95% CI)	Control (n=18), mean (SD; 95% CI)	Mean difference (SD; 95% CI)	P value
Shared decision-making (7 items; %)	79 (18; 70 to 89)	64 (14; 57 to 71)	15 (16; 4 to 26)	.009
Down syndrome (2 items; %)	89 (21; 78 to 100)	78 (31; 62 to 93)	11 (27; -7 to 29)	.21
Ethics (7 items; %)	68 (21; 58 to 78)	69 (22; 59 to 80)	-1 (21; -16 to 13)	.85
Prenatal screening (4 items; %)	74 (13; 67 to 80)	79 (15; 71 to 86)	-5 (14; -14 to 5)	.32

Participants' Overall Impression of the Training

Table 4 shows scores of satisfaction (with content, with trainers, and overall satisfaction), acceptability, perceived usefulness, and reaction to the pedagogical approach. Item scores for participants' impression of the training was based on a scale of 1 to 5. The mean score for acceptability of the training program was 4.6 (95% CI 4.4-4.8) in the intervention group and 4.3 (95%

CI 4.1-4.5) in the control group. The difference in acceptability of training between the 2 groups was statistically significant (P=.02). The mean score of reaction to the pedagogical approach was 4.7 (95% CI 4.5-4.8) in the intervention group and 4.4 (95% CI 4.2-4.5) in the control group (ie, the intervention group reacted more positively). This difference in reaction between the 2 groups was statistically significant (P=.02). The

between-group differences in scores of satisfaction and perceived usefulness were not statistically significant.

Table 4. Overall impression of the course (scale of 1-5).

1				
	Intervention (n=18), Mean (SD; 95% CI)	Control (n=18), Mean (SD; 95% CI)	Mean difference (SD; 95% CI)	P value
Satisfaction				
Content	4.4 (0.9; 3.9 to 4.8)	4.2 (0.4; 4.02 to 4.4)	0.1 (0.7; -0.3 to 0.6)	.53
Trainers	4.6 (1.0; 4.1 to 5.02)	4.2 (0.4; 4.1 to 4.4)	0.3 (0.7; -0.2 to 0.8)	.21
Overall satisfaction	4.5 (1.0; 4.01 to 4.9)	4.2 (0.4; 4.05 to 4.4)	0.2 (0.7; -0.2 to 0.7)	.31
Acceptability	4.6 (0.4; 4.4 to 4.8)	4.3 (0.4; 4.1 to 4.5)	0.3 (0.4; 0.1 to 0.6)	.02
Perceived usefulness	4.6 (0.4; 4.4 to 4.8)	4.4 (0.5; 4.2 to 4.6)	0.2 (0.4; -0.1 to 0.5)	.13
Reaction (pedagogical aspects)	4.7 (0.4; 4.5 to 4.8)	4.4 (0.4; 4.2 to 4.5)	0.3 (0.4; 0.04 to 0.5)	.02

Written Comments

Overall, 17 participants (9 in the intervention group and 8 in the control group) provided feedback on the course. Most participants in the intervention group (6/9, 67%) described the training as excellent, perfect, practical, applicable, or relevant. One participant expressed comfort with the DA and the principle of SDM. One said that she would use the DA as soon as possible. Moreover, 2 participants emphasized the usefulness of the training, which they felt increased their knowledge and confidence and gave them the tools to better structure meetings with their patients:

I was a little uncomfortable bringing up this topic [talking about prenatal screening for Down syndrome]...this part of the information was more to discuss with the doctor...It will allow me to better structure my meetings and I feel much better equipped. [Participant 9]

However, 2 nurses pointed out that, in practice, they lack the time to use such tools and that the rapid sequence of steps leading to prenatal screening affords future parents little time for reflection:

I work in a local community health centre [CLSC] with 5 consultations per day, where there's little time allocated per client. For me it would be difficult to use this decision aid. However, if I had more time, I could, and I would find it practical and very useful. [Participant 25]

In the control group, although some participants (5/8, 63%) were happy to have had the opportunity to do this course and found it interesting, 2 of them pointed out the difficulty in understanding the person who was speaking on the PowerPoint narration videos because of their rapid speech, unclear pronunciation, and changes in intonation (control intervention only). In addition, 3 of them said that the length of the first module and the length of documents to be consulted made the course longer than 3 hours.

Discussion

Principal Findings

We assessed the impact of an SDM course on nurses' intention to use a DA with pregnant women facing the decision of prenatal screening for Down syndrome, as well as the nurses' overall impressions of the SDM training. We found no statistically significant difference in intention scores between the intervention arm (SDM course) and the control arm (course on the screening program only). However, we found a statistically significant difference in knowledge about SDM, acceptability, and reaction to the pedagogical approach between the 2 arms. In written comments, nurses identified lack of time as a barrier to the use of the DA in clinical settings. These results lead us to make the following observations.

First, there was no difference in intention scores between the intervention and control groups. This was a comparative effectiveness study [56], as both arms presented an active intervention. Although the control arm developed by nurse experts in prenatal screening excluded an SDM focus, it covered ethical aspects of the decision and information on the importance of adapting prenatal care to each pregnant woman, a core value in the nursing profession [57,58]. Consequently, it is possible that there was not enough difference between the study arms in terms of generic decision support for prenatal care. Indeed, previous research has shown that of all health professions, genetic counselors have the highest SDM scores during prenatal consultations, even in the absence of SDM training [59,60]. In addition, we observed a ceiling effect with the primary outcome at baseline, which may have limited our ability to observe the effect of the intervention. Similar ceiling effects were seen in a study assessing change in behavioral intention after CPD activities [48] and in another study assessing the impact of a patient-professional coproduced digital educational intervention [61]. Our initial high scores may also be because of the training that Canadian nurses had already received. Nursing programs emphasize fundamental knowledge of relational approaches that influence health outcomes for individuals, families, and communities [57]. In fact, the essence of nursing is based on a deep understanding of the biopsychosocial aspects of patients and on advocating for them [62]. Finally, participants may have been subjected to social pressure to state that they intended to

https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e31380

use a DA [49,63-65]. Thus, we do not have insight into the full set of factors that may have contributed to their intention (apart from the CPD-Reaction constructs), because the theories explain only part of the variance in intention [46].

Second, we found a statistically significant difference in scores for knowledge about SDM between the intervention and control groups but not for knowledge about the topics covered in both arms, such as prenatal screening and Down syndrome. Thus, the intervention arm (the SDM training program) did distinguish itself from transmitting knowledge about SDM. In addition, the intervention group found their course more acceptable and had a more positive reaction to its pedagogical approach than did the control group. This can be explained in part by the speakers, as participants in the control group expressed difficulties in understanding the speaker in their course. The course format may also have made a difference. The SDM course included a DA and a simulation video, which, especially in the context of web-based pedagogy and regardless of its content, may have been a more acceptable and effective format than the control course [37].

Third, we did not measure whether this high level of intention translated into behavior. Although intention is a strong predictor of behavior [46], the implementation of SDM in practice might depend on other external variables, such as organizational limitations [26]. Indeed, in their written comments, nurses mentioned that organizational barriers prevented them from using DAs in their clinical setting, regardless of their intention, and that they had little time to share decisions with their patients given the speed of lead up to prenatal screening procedures. Another organizational barrier that could defeat nurses' best intentions may be related to the role they are assigned in interprofessional teams or their ability to collaborate with other professionals to ensure that SDM occurs [28]. The organizational environment and care pathways need to be adapted so that pregnant women and nurses can engage fully in SDM, which is already a good fit with nurses' role in the health care system.

Limitations

This study has several limitations. First, in contrast with the planned study design, randomization allocation was not implemented. The private firm, unbeknownst to us, instead focused on ensuring a balanced number of participants in both arms by allocating them alternately to one group or the other. Nevertheless, the study was controlled and allowed us to compare the intervention and control groups. Second, nurses who agreed to participate in this trial may not be representative of all nurses involved in prenatal care in Quebec because of our web-based recruitment methods. For example, in this study, there was only 1 nurse practitioner who had a different scope of practice than other nurses. In addition, our findings may not be generalizable to nurses' engagement in SDM in other areas of their practice, such as disease management. Prenatal care does not usually involve disease management, as pregnancy itself is not an illness. Third, these results cannot be generalized to other health professionals involved in prenatal care in Quebec, as studies show that each approaches the topic of SDM in a different way [16,53]. Training nurses using an interprofessional approach to SDM might encourage interprofessional interaction and information exchange about SDM [28]. Exploration of an interdisciplinary DA model will be examined in future research.

Conclusions

This study focuses on the potential of web-based nursing education to support pregnant women's decision-making needs. We assessed nurses' intention to use a DA to support prenatal screening decisions among pregnant women and their overall impressions regarding the training. This study showed that nurses' intention to use a DA in prenatal care is already high, with or without training, but that their knowledge about SDM could be improved with training. Our results will inform future strategies for implementing SDM behaviors in this population. The study also suggested avenues for future evaluations of SDM training programs. The next steps will be to (1) update the program by incorporating the written comments received from the participants and (2) evaluate the impact of the course with all health professionals involved in prenatal care.

Acknowledgments

This study was embedded in the PEGASUS (Personalized Genomics for Prenatal Abnormalities Screening Using Maternal Blood) 2 project obtained as part of the 2017 Large-scale Applied Research Project Competition: Genomics and Precision Health. It is funded by the Génome Québec and Genome Canada. The authors would like to thank Louisa Blair for editorial support. APH was supported by the Tier 1 Canada Research Chair in Shared Decision Making and Knowledge Translation, the VITAM—Centre de recherche en santé durable and the Réseau de recherche en interventions en sciences infirmières du Québec and the Ordre régional des infirmières et infirmiers de Québec. FL holds the Tier 1 Canada Research Chair on Shared Decision Making and Knowledge Translation.

Conflicts of Interest

The authors of this paper are also the developers of the intervention. APH, TTA, and FL participated in the creation of the training program in designing and conducting the study. The other authors have no conflicts to declare.

Multimedia Appendix 1 CONSORT-eHEALTH checklist (V 1.6.1). [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 1192 KB - nursing_v5i1e31380_app1.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 2

Report of both programs according to the Template for Intervention Description and Replication items. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 105 KB - nursing v5i1e31380 app2.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 3 Screenshots of the training content. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 2108 KB - nursing_v5i1e31380_app3.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 4

Data collection questionnaire after the training. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 465 KB - nursing v5i1e31380 app4.pdf]

References

- 1. Programme québécois de dépistage prénatal. Publications du ministère de la Santé et des Services sociaux. URL: <u>https://publications.msss.gouv.qc.ca/msss/document-002818/</u> [accessed 2021-12-27]
- van den Berg M, Timmermans DR, Kleinveld JH, Garcia E, van Vugt JM, van der Wal G. Accepting or declining the offer of prenatal screening for congenital defects: test uptake and women's reasons. Prenat Diagn 2005 Jan;25(1):84-90. [doi: 10.1002/pd.1090] [Medline: 15662690]
- Wilson KL, Czerwinski JL, Hoskovec JM, Noblin SJ, Sullivan CM, Harbison A, et al. NSGC practice guideline: prenatal screening and diagnostic testing options for chromosome aneuploidy. J Genet Couns 2013 Feb;22(1):4-15. [doi: 10.1007/s10897-012-9545-3] [Medline: 23179172]
- 4. Légaré F, St-Jacques S, Gagnon S, Njoya M, Brisson M, Frémont P, et al. Prenatal screening for Down syndrome: a survey of willingness in women and family physicians to engage in shared decision-making. Prenat Diagn 2011 Apr;31(4):319-326. [doi: 10.1002/pd.2624] [Medline: 21268046]
- 5. Tucker Edmonds B. Shared decision-making and decision support: their role in obstetrics and gynecology. Curr Opin Obstet Gynecol 2014 Dec;26(6):523-530. [doi: 10.1097/GCO.00000000000120] [Medline: 25319001]
- St-Jacques S, Grenier S, Charland M, Forest J, Rousseau F, Légaré F. Decisional needs assessment regarding Down syndrome prenatal testing: a systematic review of the perceptions of women, their partners and health professionals. Prenat Diagn 2008 Dec;28(13):1183-1203. [doi: 10.1002/pd.2059] [Medline: 19097031]
- 7. Charles C, Gafni A, Whelan T. Shared decision-making in the medical encounter: what does it mean? (or it takes at least two to tango). Soc Sci Med 1997 Mar;44(5):681-692. [doi: 10.1016/s0277-9536(96)00221-3] [Medline: 9032835]
- 8. Simmons M, Hetrick S, Jorm A. Shared decision-making: benefits, barriers and current opportunities for application. Australas Psychiatry 2010 Oct;18(5):394-397. [doi: 10.3109/10398562.2010.499944] [Medline: 20863175]
- Shay LA, Lafata JE. Where is the evidence? A systematic review of shared decision making and patient outcomes. Med Decis Making 2015 Jan;35(1):114-131 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0272989X14551638] [Medline: 25351843]
- Hamann J, Langer B, Winkler V, Busch R, Cohen R, Leucht S, et al. Shared decision making for in-patients with schizophrenia. Acta Psychiatr Scand 2006 Oct;114(4):265-273. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1600-0447.2006.00798.x</u>] [Medline: <u>16968364</u>]
- 11. Hibbard JH, Greene J. What the evidence shows about patient activation: better health outcomes and care experiences; fewer data on costs. Health Aff (Millwood) 2013 Feb;32(2):207-214. [doi: 10.1377/hlthaff.2012.1061] [Medline: 23381511]
- 12. Veroff D, Marr A, Wennberg DE. Enhanced support for shared decision making reduced costs of care for patients with preference-sensitive conditions. Health Aff (Millwood) 2013 Feb;32(2):285-293. [doi: 10.1377/hlthaff.2011.0941] [Medline: 23381521]
- Joseph-Williams N, Lloyd A, Edwards A, Stobbart L, Tomson D, Macphail S, et al. Implementing shared decision making in the NHS: lessons from the MAGIC programme. BMJ 2017 Apr 18;357:j1744 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.j1744] [Medline: 28420639]
- 14. Stiggelbout A, Pieterse A, De Haes J. Shared decision making: concepts, evidence, and practice. Patient Educ Couns 2015 Oct;98(10):1172-1179. [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2015.06.022] [Medline: 26215573]
- Stacey D, Légaré F, Lewis K, Barry MJ, Bennett CL, Eden KB, et al. Decision aids for people facing health treatment or screening decisions. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2017 Apr 12;4:CD001431 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD001431.pub5] [Medline: 28402085]
- 16. Chapitre 3 : Soins pendant la grossesse. Government of Canada. URL: <u>https://www.canada.ca/fr/sante-publique/services/</u> publications/vie-saine/soins-meres-nouveau-ne-lignes-directrices-nationales-chapitre-3.html [accessed 2021-12-27]
- 17. What Mothers Say: The Canadian Maternity Experiences Survey. Ottawa: Public Health Agency of Canada; 2009.
- Standards de pratique de l'infirmière: Soins de proximité en périnatalité. Ordre des infirmières et infirmiers du Québec. URL: <u>https://www.oiiq.org/standards-de-pratique-pour-l-infirmiere-soins-de-proximite-en-perinatalite</u> [accessed 2021-12-27]
- 19. Exam blueprint and specialty competencies: introduction blueprint for the perinatal nursing certification. Canadian Nurses Association. URL: <u>https://mycna.ca/-/media/nurseone/files/en/community-health_blueprint_e.pdf</u> [accessed 2021-12-27]

- 20. Truglio-Londrigan M, Slyer JT. Shared decision-making for nursing practice: an integrative review. Open Nurs J 2018;12:1-14 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2174/1874434601812010001] [Medline: 29456779]
- Légaré F, Ratté S, Gravel K, Graham ID. Barriers and facilitators to implementing shared decision-making in clinical practice: update of a systematic review of health professionals' perceptions. Patient Educ Couns 2008 Dec;73(3):526-535. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.pec.2008.07.018</u>] [Medline: <u>18752915</u>]
- 22. Registered nurses: stepping up to transform health care. Canadian Nurses Association. URL: <u>https://tinyurl.com/2p942nwx</u> [accessed 2021-12-27]
- 23. Joseph-Williams N, Elwyn G, Edwards A. Knowledge is not power for patients: a systematic review and thematic synthesis of patient-reported barriers and facilitators to shared decision making. Patient Educ Couns 2014 Mar;94(3):291-309. [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2013.10.031] [Medline: 24305642]
- Dogba MJ, Menear M, Brière N, Freitas A, Emond J, Stacey D, et al. Enhancing interprofessionalism in shared decision-making training within homecare settings: a short report. J Interprof Care 2020;34(1):143-146. [doi: 10.1080/13561820.2019.1623764] [Medline: <u>31184540</u>]
- 25. Keshmiri F, Rezai M, Tavakoli N. The effect of interprofessional education on healthcare providers' intentions to engage in interprofessional shared decision-making: perspectives from the theory of planned behaviour. J Eval Clin Pract 2020 Aug;26(4):1153-1161. [doi: 10.1111/jep.13379] [Medline: 32114699]
- Körner M, Ehrhardt H, Steger A, Bengel J. Interprofessional SDM train-the-trainer program "Fit for SDM": provider satisfaction and impact on participation. Patient Educ Couns 2012 Oct;89(1):122-128. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.pec.2012.04.008</u>] [Medline: <u>22647558</u>]
- 27. Légaré F, Stacey D, Gagnon S, Dunn S, Pluye P, Frosch D, et al. Validating a conceptual model for an inter-professional approach to shared decision making: a mixed methods study. J Eval Clin Pract 2011 Aug 27;17(4):554-564 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2753.2010.01515.x] [Medline: 20695950]
- 28. Légaré F, Stacey D, Pouliot S, Gauvin F, Desroches S, Kryworuchko J, et al. Interprofessionalism and shared decision-making in primary care: a stepwise approach towards a new model. J Interprof Care 2011 Jan 26;25(1):18-25 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3109/13561820.2010.490502] [Medline: 20795835]
- 29. Sullivan L. A systematic review to compare the effectiveness of face-to-face versus online (including blended learning) delivery of CME/CPD for healthcare practitioners (HCPs). The University of Queensland. URL: <u>https://espace.library.uq.edu.au/view/UQ:674199</u> [accessed 2021-12-27]
- 30. O'Brien Pott M, Blanshan AS, Huneke KM, Baasch Thomas BL, Cook DA. Barriers to identifying and obtaining CME: a national survey of physicians, nurse practitioners and physician assistants. BMC Med Educ 2021 Mar 19;21(1):168 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12909-021-02595-x] [Medline: 33740962]
- Gravas S, Ahmad M, Hernández-Porras A, Furriel F, Alvarez-Maestro M, Kumar A, Office of EducationSIU Board of Directors. Impact of COVID-19 on medical education: introducing homo digitalis. World J Urol 2021 Jun;39(6):1997-2003 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00345-020-03417-3] [Medline: 32860535]
- 32. Dean E. When COVID-19 started, the CPD almost stopped. Nurs Standard 2020;35(9):33-35 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7748/ns.35.9.33.s15]
- Samuel A, Cervero RM, Durning SJ, Maggio LA. Effect of continuing professional development on health professionals' performance and patient outcomes: a scoping review of knowledge syntheses. Acad Med 2021 Jun 01;96(6):913-923. [doi: 10.1097/ACM.000000000003899] [Medline: <u>33332905</u>]
- 34. Cook DA, Levinson AJ, Garside S, Dupras DM, Erwin PJ, Montori VM. Internet-based learning in the health professions: a meta-analysis. JAMA 2008 Sep 10;300(10):1181-1196. [doi: <u>10.1001/jama.300.10.1181</u>] [Medline: <u>18780847</u>]
- Eysenbach G, CONSORT-EHEALTH Group. CONSORT-EHEALTH: improving and standardizing evaluation reports of Web-based and mobile health interventions. J Med Internet Res 2011 Dec 31;13(4):e126 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1923] [Medline: 22209829]
- 36. Lancaster GA, Thabane L. Guidelines for reporting non-randomised pilot and feasibility studies. Pilot Feasibility Stud 2019;5:114 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s40814-019-0499-1] [Medline: 31608150]
- Poulin Herron A, Agbadje TT, Cote M, Djade CD, Roch G, Rousseau F, et al. Web-based training for nurses on shared decision making and prenatal screening for down syndrome: protocol for a randomized controlled trial. JMIR Res Protoc 2020 Oct 29;9(10):e17878 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/17878] [Medline: 33118955]
- Hoffmann TC, Glasziou PP, Boutron I, Milne R, Perera R, Moher D, et al. Better reporting of interventions: template for intervention description and replication (TIDieR) checklist and guide. BMJ 2014 Mar 07;348:g1687. [doi: <u>10.1136/bmj.g1687</u>] [Medline: <u>24609605</u>]
- Elwyn G, Frosch D, Thomson R, Joseph-Williams N, Lloyd A, Kinnersley P, et al. Shared decision making: a model for clinical practice. J Gen Intern Med 2012 Oct 23;27(10):1361-1367 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11606-012-2077-6] [Medline: 22618581]
- 40. Agbadje TT, Rahimi SA, Côté M, Tremblay A, Diallo MP, Elidor H, et al. Evaluation of a prenatal screening decision aid: a mixed methods pilot study. Patient Educ Couns 2021 May 18 (forthcoming). [doi: <u>10.1016/j.pec.2021.05.025</u>] [Medline: <u>34088585</u>]

- 41. Elwyn G, O'Connor A, Stacey D, Volk R, Edwards A, Coulter A, International Patient Decision Aids Standards (IPDAS) Collaboration. Developing a quality criteria framework for patient decision aids: online international Delphi consensus process. BMJ 2006 Aug 26;333(7565):417 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.38926.629329.AE] [Medline: 16908462]
- 42. Kirkpatrick JD, Kirkpatrick WK. Kirkpatrick's Four Levels of Training Evaluation. Alexandria, Virginia: ATD Press; 2016.
- 43. Müller E, Strukava A, Scholl I, Härter M, Diouf NT, Légaré F, et al. Strategies to evaluate healthcare provider trainings in shared decision-making (SDM): a systematic review of evaluation studies. BMJ Open 2019 Jun 21;9(6):e026488 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2018-026488] [Medline: 31230005]
- 44. Armitage C, Conner M. Efficacy of the Theory of Planned Behaviour: a meta-analytic review. Br J Soc Psychol 2001 Dec;40(Pt 4):471-499. [doi: <u>10.1348/014466601164939</u>] [Medline: <u>11795063</u>]
- 45. Légaré F, Borduas F, Freitas A, Jacques A, Godin G, Luconi F, CPD-KT team. Development of a simple 12-item theory-based instrument to assess the impact of continuing professional development on clinical behavioral intentions. PLoS One 2014;9(3):e91013 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0091013] [Medline: 24643173]
- 46. Godin G. Les Comportements Dans Le Domaine De La Santé. Montréal: Presses de l'Université de Montréal; 2012.
- 47. Warshaw PR, Davis FD. Disentangling behavioral intention and behavioral expectation. J Experimental Soc Psychol 1985 May;21(3):213-228. [doi: 10.1016/0022-1031(85)90017-4]
- 48. Légaré F, Freitas A, Turcotte S, Borduas F, Jacques A, Luconi F, et al. Responsiveness of a simple tool for assessing change in behavioral intention after continuing professional development activities. PLoS One 2017;12(5):e0176678 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0176678] [Medline: 28459836]
- 49. Ajzen I. From intentions to actions: a theory of planned behavior. In: Action Control. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer; 1985.
- Godin G, Bélanger-Gravel A, Eccles M, Grimshaw J. Healthcare professionals' intentions and behaviours: a systematic review of studies based on social cognitive theories. Implement Sci 2008 Jul 16;3:36 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1748-5908-3-36] [Medline: 18631386]
- 51. Giangreco A, Sebastiano A, Peccei R. Trainees' reactions to training: an analysis of the factors affecting overall satisfaction with training. Int J Human Resource Manag 2009 Jan;20(1):96-111. [doi: 10.1080/09585190802528417]
- 52. Community and continuing medical education. UConn Health. URL: <u>https://health.uconn.edu/continuing-medical-education/</u> <u>overview/required-activity-forms/evaluation/</u> [accessed 2021-12-27]
- 53. Abbasgholizadeh Rahimi S, Lépine J, Croteau J, Robitaille H, Giguere AM, Wilson BJ, et al. Psychosocial factors of health professionals' intention to use a decision aid for down syndrome screening: cross-sectional quantitative study. J Med Internet Res 2018 Apr 25;20(4):e114 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.9036] [Medline: 29695369]
- 54. Ironyt TZ, Pereirat CA. Exact tests for equality of two proportions: fisher v. bayes. J Stat Comput Simulation 1986 Aug;25(1-2):93-114. [doi: 10.1080/00949658608810926]
- 55. Grayson DA. Confounding confounding. Am J Epidemiol 1987 Sep;126(3):546-553. [doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a114687] [Medline: 3618585]
- 56. Sox HC, Goodman SN. The methods of comparative effectiveness research. Annu Rev Public Health 2012 Apr;33:425-445. [doi: <u>10.1146/annurev-publhealth-031811-124610</u>] [Medline: <u>22224891</u>]
- 57. National nursing education framework. Canadian Association of Schools of Nursing. URL: <u>https://www.casn.ca/wp-content/uploads/2014/12/Masters-Framwork-FINAL-SB-Jan-2016.pdf</u>, [accessed 2021-12-27]
- Newman MA, Sime AM, Corcoran-Perry SA. The focus of the discipline of nursing. ANS Adv Nurs Sci 1991 Sep;14(1):1-6. [doi: <u>10.1097/00012272-199109000-00002</u>] [Medline: <u>1819254</u>]
- Birch PH, Adam S, Coe RR, Port AV, Vortel M, Friedman JM, et al. Assessing shared decision-making clinical behaviors among genetic counsellors. J Genet Couns 2018 Aug 14 (forthcoming). [doi: <u>10.1007/s10897-018-0285-x</u>] [Medline: <u>30109450</u>]
- 60. Vortel MA, Adam S, Port-Thompson AV, Friedman JM, Grande SW, Birch PH. Comparing the ability of OPTION(12) and OPTION(5) to assess shared decision-making in genetic counselling. Patient Educ Couns 2016 Oct;99(10):1717-1723. [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2016.03.024] [Medline: 27085518]
- 61. Latif A, Waring J, Chen L, Pollock K, Solomon J, Gulzar N, et al. Supporting the provision of pharmacy medication reviews to marginalised (medically underserved) groups: a before/after questionnaire study investigating the impact of a patient-professional co-produced digital educational intervention. BMJ Open 2019 Sep 17;9(9):e031548 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2019-031548] [Medline: 31530620]
- 62. Cook L, Peden A. Finding a focus for nursing: the caring concept. ANS Adv Nurs Sci 2017;40(1):12-23. [doi: 10.1097/ANS.0000000000137] [Medline: 27608144]
- 63. Mørk T, Lähteenmäki L, Grunert KG. Determinants of intention to reduce salt intake and willingness to purchase salt-reduced food products: evidence from a web survey. Appetite 2019 Aug 01;139:110-118 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.appet.2019.04.018] [Medline: 31034859]
- 64. Conner M, Norman P. Predicting Health Behaviour. London: Open University Press; 2005.
- 65. Willemsen MC, De Vries H, van Breukelen G, Oldenburg B. Determinants of intention to quit smoking among Dutch employees: the influence of the social environment. Prev Med 1996;25(2):195-202. [doi: <u>10.1006/pmed.1996.0046</u>] [Medline: <u>8860285</u>]

Abbreviations

CONSORT-EHEALTH: Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials of Electronic and Mobile Health Applications and Online Telehealth CPD: continuing professional development DA: decision aid PEGASUS: Personalized Genomics for Prenatal Abnormalities Screening Using Maternal Blood SDM: shared decision-making TIDieR: Template for Intervention Description and Replication items

Edited by A Mavragani; submitted 06.07.21; peer-reviewed by M Salimi, D Stacey; comments to author 25.08.21; revised version received 28.10.21; accepted 07.12.21; published 25.01.22.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Poulin Herron A, Agbadje TT, Guay-Bélanger S, Ngueta G, Roch G, Rousseau F, Légaré F Web-Based Training for Nurses on Using a Decision Aid to Support Shared Decision-making About Prenatal Screening: Parallel Controlled Trial JMIR Nursing 2022;5(1):e31380 URL: <u>https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e31380</u> doi:<u>10.2196/31380</u> PMID:<u>34874274</u>

©Alex Poulin Herron, Titilayo Tatiana Agbadje, Sabrina Guay-Bélanger, Gérard Ngueta, Geneviève Roch, François Rousseau, France Légaré. Originally published in JMIR Nursing (https://nursing.jmir.org), 25.01.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Nursing, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://nursing.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Investigating Psychological Differences Between Nurses and Other Health Care Workers From the Asia-Pacific Region During the Early Phase of COVID-19: Machine Learning Approach

YanHong Dong^{1*}, PhD; Mei Chun Yeo^{2*}, MTech, MEng; Xiang Cong Tham^{1*}, MPH; Rivan Danuaji^{3*}, MD; Thang H Nguyen^{4*}, MD; Arvind K Sharma^{5*}, MD; Komalkumar RN^{6*}, MD; Meenakshi PV^{7*}, MD; Mei-Ling Sharon Tai⁸, MD; Aftab Ahmad^{9*}, MD; Benjamin YQ Tan^{10,11*}, MBBS; Roger C Ho^{11,12*}, MD; Matthew Chin Heng Chua^{2*}, PhD; Vijay K Sharma^{10,11*}, MD

²Institute of Systems Science, National University of Singapore, Singapore, Singapore

⁸University of Malaya, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia

- ¹⁰Division of Neurology, National University Hospital, Singapore, Singapore
- ¹¹Yong Loo Lin School of Medicine, National University of Singapore, Singapore, Singapore
- ¹²Department of Psychological Medicine, National University Hospital, Singapore, Singapore

*these authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author:

YanHong Dong, PhD Alice Lee Centre for Nursing Studies Yong Loo Lin School of Medicine National University of Singapore Clinical Research Centre Block MD11, Level 2, 10 Medical Drive Singapore, 117597 Singapore Phone: 65 65168686 Email: nurdy@nus.edu.sg

Abstract

Background: As the COVID-19 pandemic evolves, challenges in frontline work continue to impose a significant psychological impact on nurses. However, there is a lack of data on how nurses fared compared to other health care workers in the Asia-Pacific region.

Objective: This study aims to investigate (1) the psychological outcome characteristics of nurses in different Asia-Pacific countries and (2) psychological differences between nurses, doctors, and nonmedical health care workers.

Methods: Exploratory data analysis and visualization were conducted on the data collected through surveys. A machine learning modeling approach was adopted to further discern the key psychological characteristics differentiating nurses from other health care workers. Decision tree–based machine learning models (Light Gradient Boosting Machine, GradientBoost, and RandomForest) were built to predict whether a set of psychological distress characteristics (ie, depression, anxiety, stress, intrusion, avoidance, and hyperarousal) belong to a nurse. Shapley Additive Explanation (SHAP) values were extracted to identify the prominent characteristics of each of these models. The common prominent characteristic among these models is akin to the most distinctive psychological characteristic that differentiates nurses from other health care workers.

¹Alice Lee Centre for Nursing Studies, Yong Loo Lin School of Medicine, National University of Singapore, Singapore, Singapore

³Dr Moewardi Hospital Surakarta, Jawa Tengah, Indonesia

⁴Cerebrovascular Disease Department, 115 People's Hospital, Ho Chi Minh City, Vietnam

⁵Zydus Hospital, Ahmedabad, India

⁶Yashoda Hospital, Secuderabad, India

⁷Senthil Multi Specialty Hospital, Erode, India

⁹Department of Neurology, Ng Teng Fong General Hospital, Singapore, Singapore

Dong et al

Results: Nurses had relatively higher percentages of having normal or unchanged psychological distress symptoms relative to other health care workers (n=233-260 [86.0%-95.9%] vs n=187-199 [74.8%-91.7%]). Among those without psychological symptoms, nurses constituted a higher proportion than doctors and nonmedical health care workers (n=194 [40.2%], n=142 [29.5%], and n=146 [30.3%], respectively). Nurses in Vietnam showed the highest level of depression, stress, intrusion, avoidance, and hyperarousal symptoms compared to those in Singapore, Malaysia, and Indonesia. Nurses in Singapore had the highest level of anxiety. In addition, nurses had the lowest level of stress, which is the most distinctive psychological outcome characteristic derived from machine learning models, compared to other health care workers. Data for India were excluded from the analysis due to the differing psychological response pattern observed in nurses in India. A large number of female nurses emigrating from South India could not have psychologically coped well without the support from family members while living alone in other states.

Conclusions: Nurses were least psychologically affected compared to doctors and other health care workers. Different contexts, cultures, and points in the pandemic curve may have contributed to differing patterns of psychological outcomes amongst nurses in various Asia-Pacific countries. It is important that all health care workers practice self-care and render peer support to bolster psychological resilience for effective coping. In addition, this study also demonstrated the potential use of decision tree–based machine learning models and SHAP value plots in identifying contributing factors of sophisticated problems in the health care industry.

(JMIR Nursing 2022;5(1):e32647) doi:10.2196/32647

KEYWORDS

COVID-19; psychological outcome; machine learning; nurses; health care workers

Introduction

In late 2019, well before COVID-19, the World Health Organization (WHO) declared 2020 as the "Year of the Nurse and Midwife" [1]. This was to recognize the vital role of nurses and midwives in health care and their inherent professional challenges, while commemorating the bicentenary of the birth of Florence Nightingale. When the pandemic hit the world in 2020, such recognition was like a fulfilled prophecy. The public are fully aware of the nature, dedication, and challenges of nursing professionals when they risk their lives, together with other health care workers, to fight against COVID-19.

Nurses have been on the frontline, fighting COVID-19, amidst an alarming failure in the global supply of protective gear and new coronavirus tests. Together with unprecedented overwork, global staff shortages have highlighted various vulnerabilities, acknowledged by WHO on the World Health Day.

Nurses play a central role in health care due to the close proximity and amount of time spent with patients. Consequently, they may disproportionately experience ongoing challenges, such as changes in clinical management, shortages of personal protective equipment, work overload, and extended shifts. They may also experience the fear of infection and the emotional toll related to supporting sick and dying patients and their families. As the pandemic evolves, these challenges may impose a significant psychological impact on nurses.

Nursing in 2020 is certainly to be remembered. With approximately 2 years and several COVID-19 waves, the battle against the pandemic seems endless. Health care professionals around the world have been working tirelessly to render support to the health care system embroiled by the pandemic. In particular, the backbone of any health care system—nurses—is enduring and persevering, with no real end of the pandemic in sight. Several reviews have reported mental health outcomes of health care professionals working during the COVID-19 pandemic. These include stress, anxiety, depression, burnout, and sleep disturbances [2-5]. Particularly within the Asia-Pacific region, both medical and nonmedical health care workers experienced some levels of psychological distress [6]. However, it is unclear whether nurses in this study fared better or worse compared to other health care workers. Several studies have reported that the psychological impacts on nurses were similar to those on other health care workers [7-9]. However, these studies were conducted in China, the epicenter of the initial COVID-19 outbreak. It is unclear whether other Asia-Pacific countries have similar findings.

In view of the lack of evidence on the psychological impacts of COVID-19 on nurses, and to honor nurses and midwives, this study aims to investigate the following: (1) the psychological outcome characteristics of nurses in different Asia-Pacific countries and (2) psychological outcome differences between nurses, doctors, and nonmedical health care workers. This study utilized data from our previous study [10]. The findings may infer focused interventions necessary to address mental health problems amongst health care workers.

Methods

Study Population and Study Design

From April 29, 2020, to June 4, 2020, health care workers in major tertiary institutions in India, Indonesia, Malaysia, Singapore, and Vietnam were invited to take part in a survey. Participants included doctors, nurses, and nonmedical health care workers (eg, allied health workers, technicians, administrators). The participating institutions were involved in COVID-19 management during the survey period. The study was approved by the Domain Specific Review Board, National Healthcare Group (2020/00144) as well as the Research Ethics



Committee of Zydus Hospitals (2020/220520) and governed by ethical principles of the Declaration of Helsinki.

Screening Questionnaires

The survey questionnaires included demographic information, medical history, somatic symptoms of participants during the month prior to the study, the Depression Anxiety Stress Scale (DASS-21), and the Impact of Events Scale-Revised (IES-R). These questionnaires were adopted to assess the psychological impact on health care workers due to the COVID-19 outbreak [10].

Depression, anxiety, and stress are the 3 emotional states measured by DASS-21 [11]. DASS-21 is applicable to anyone regardless of their health conditions. Depression, anxiety, and stress scores were derived by adding the scores for questions relevant to each emotional state. DASS-21 comes with thresholds based on the multiplication of emotion scores by 2, which are unique for depression, anxiety, and stress, to categorize levels of severity. DASS-21 was found to have an internal consistency of 0.95 in a psychometric analysis among Chinese hospital workers [12].

Unlike DASS-21, the IES-R measures event-induced distress [13]. It consists of 22 test questions relevant for posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD) symptoms, namely intrusion, avoidance, and hyperarousal. The score of each symptom was obtained by averaging the scores for relevant test questions. Psychometric analysis amongst Asian populations revealed a Cronbach α coefficient for the total scale as .96, while Cronbach α for the subscales of intrusion, avoidance, and hyperarousal was .94, .87, and .91, respectively, with a high degree of intercorrelation between the subscales (*r*=0.52-0.87) [14].

Study Outcomes

We compared the scores of DASS-21 and the IES-R amongst nurses, doctors, and nonmedical health care workers. Similarly, the differences in these scores within a subsample of nurses in different countries were compared. Finally, the most distinctive difference between nurses and other health care professionals was identified.

Statistical Analysis and Machine Learning Process

The diagram in Figure 1 depicts the flow of our analysis process.

During transformation (Figure 1), depression, anxiety, stress, intrusion, avoidance, and hyperarousal were expressed as an average value. In the subsequent stages, the average values were used to understand and investigate the psychological outcome characteristics of the various health care professionals and compare them with those of nurses in different countries.

In addition to deciphering useful information from numbers during the exploratory data analysis stage, a visual approach was adopted, as shown in the visualizations stage of the analysis process (Figure 1). Histograms, frequency charts, and scatter plots were used to analyze the spread of hyperarousal mean scores for nurses of each country. As the plots revealed a differing psychological response pattern with obviously higher hyperarousal mean scores for the nurses in India as compared to nurses in other countries, the preprocessing, transformation, exploratory data analysis, and visualizations stages were repeated to prepare another set of statistics excluding the data points for India.



Figure 1. Flow of the analysis process. AUROC: area under the receiver operating characteristic curve; DASS-21: Depression Anxiety Stress Scale; IES-R: Impact of Events Scale-Revised; LightGBM: Light Gradient Boosting Machine; SHAP: Shapley Additive Explanation.

The next step was to identify the critical psychological characteristics that distinguish nurses from other health care workers. Through modeling, the impacts of the psychological variables that made up the model could be discerned. Instead

https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e32647

the models (eg, probability and statistical models, differential equations, logic models, game theoretic models), machine learning was adopted. Traditional methods are restricted by the

of using traditional mathematical modeling approaches to build

underlying theory and assumptions of mathematical models, as well as the need for a mathematician's expertise to devise the system of mathematical models and inject the model parameter values obtained from calculations. If the underlying mechanisms are misunderstood or incorrect assumptions are made, the derived parameter values will not give rise to adequate goodness of fit. It is a process that relies heavily on human judgement, whereas machine learning methods are not limited by theories and assumptions, and the model parameter values iteratively determined in the course of model training are usually able to produce models that are more accurate than mathematical models. In addition, the verification of mathematical models takes a much longer time as the goal is often to ascertain a worldly theory. Machine learning focuses on finding the association between inputs and outputs, which may not necessarily lead to a conclusion about the causal relationship. The validation of a machine learning model is often not as onerous as the mathematical model and is done right after model training to provide an assurance of the model performance in a timely manner [15-17]. More importantly, the machine learning method suits the objective of this study as the underlying relationships between nurses and their psychological characteristics during COVID-19 were unknown when we began the study. COVID-19 is a novel pandemic that humans have no prior knowledge of. Machine learning methods are commonly used to identify patterns to enhance our understanding of the phenomenon or make predictions about diseases [18].

To identify the most distinctive psychological characteristic of nurses, Shapley Additive Explanation (SHAP) values were extracted from 3 types of decision tree-based models. These steps correspond with the Model Building and Model Evaluation and Interpretation stages of the analysis process (Figure 1). Decision tree-based models were selected as less effort for data preprocessing is required. Normalization and scaling of data values are not necessary for decision tree-based models [19]. Missing values and outliers do not significantly affect the modeling process [19,20]. Even if there are variables that are highly correlated with each other, decision tree-based models are able to handle the multicollinearity [21]. Consideration was also given for their relatively high model accuracy for a small data set upon inherently taking in the interaction effects between variables (interaction terms have to be consciously handled for some model types, eg, regression) [22]. Acceptable models can therefore be quickly built from algorithms for decision tree-based models.

SHAP values are mathematically derived numbers of how much each variable contributes to any machine learning model. The models built were Light Gradient Boosting Machine (LightGBM), GradientBoost, and RandomForest, and they were used for predicting whether a set of psychological distress characteristics belongs to a nurse. A binary target or dependent variable of 1 represented nurses, and 0 represented other health care professionals. The independent variables were depression, anxiety, stress, intrusion, avoidance, and hyperarousal. The data set was balanced through oversampling to achieve equal distribution of data with targets of 1 and 0, before the balanced data set was split into 2 for training and validation purposes in an 80:20 ratio. The parameters for model training were not key in the modeling process. The expectation was not to spend many hours tuning the models for their highest-possible performance but just for the models to be reasonably good for extracting useful information. To ensure that the models were adequately reliable, the target area under the receiver operating characteristic curve (AUROC) of each model, when applied on the validation data set (not requiring a large data set for only testing the AUROC), was set at above 70%. The models were able to converge within a few iterations with the training data set, even with the default algorithm settings. After each model was trained, the model was evaluated using the validation data set. The AUROC of the LightGBM, GradientBoost, and RandomForest models was 73.5%, 78.4%, and 74.0%, respectively. Subsequently, the rank of influence of each variable was concluded visually from the SHAP values for the training data set. The interpretations of the SHAP value plots are discussed in the Results section. The common-most influential variable across all the models, akin to the distinctive psychological outcome characteristic of nurses, as compared to other health care professionals, was established. This technique was used to discover the unique qualities of the K-Pop group Bangtan Boys (BTS) [23]. All analyses were performed in Python 3.7.3 with Anaconda Jupyter Notebook and SHAP version 0.37.0.

It is always necessary to review the steps taken in data preprocessing and transformation if the accuracy of models is not acceptable or no conclusion can be drawn from the SHAP value plots. The decision symbol connected to the Model Evaluation and Interpretation stage in Figure 1 depicts the feedback loop to initial stages. We did not observe consistencies in the SHAP value plots in our first attempt. We reperformed data preprocessing to remove data for India due to the differing psychological response pattern of the nurses in India, before we were able to observe an obvious similarity across all SHAP value plots.

Results

Participant Characteristics

A total of 1122 participants, including doctors, nurses, and nonmedical health care workers, were recruited from India, Indonesia, Malaysia, Singapore, and Vietnam. Nurses comprised 39.0% (n=438) of the study population, followed by nonmedical health care workers (n=389, 34.7%) and doctors (n=295, 26.3%). The median (IQR) age was 30 (27-34) years, with most participants being female (n=732, 65.2%) and married (n=606, 54%). The majority of the participants were Indian (n=436, 38.9%); see Table 1. Amongst the nurses (n=438, 39.0%), there was a significantly higher proportion of female nurses as compared to male nurses (362 [82.6%] vs 76 [17.4%]); see Table 2. In addition, nurses were relatively younger than other health care professions due to the relatively lower median age (24 years) amongst nurses in India (Figure 2).



 Table 1. Baseline characteristics of study participants (N=1122).

Characteristic	Value
Age (years), median (IQR)	30 (27-34)
Type of profession, n (%)	
Nurses	438 (39.0)
Doctors	295 (26.3)
Nonmedical	389 (34.7)
Country, n (%)	
India	384 (34.2)
Malaysia	175 (15.6)
Singapore	254 (22.6)
Indonesia	249 (22.2)
Vietnam	60 (5.4)
Sex, n (%)	
Female	732 (65.2)
Male	390 (34.8)
Ethnicity, n (%)	
Indian	434 (38.7)
Malay	211 (18.8)
Chinese	154 (13.7)
Others	323 (28.8)
Marital status, n (%)	
Married	606 (54.0)
Single	493 (44.0)





23 (2.0)

Table 2. Baseline characteristics of nurses (N=438).

Dong	et	al
Dong	υı	uı

Characteristic	Value
Age (years), median (IQR)	29 (25.0-33.5)
Country, n (%)	
India	167 (38.1)
Malaysia	94 (21.5)
Singapore	93 (21.2)
Indonesia	64 (14.6)
Vietnam	20 (4.6)
Sex, n (%)	
Female	362 (82.6)
Male	76 (17.4)
Ethnicity, n (%)	
Indian	179 (40.9)
Malay	84 (19.2)
Chinese	43 (9.8)
Others	132 (30.1)
Marital status, n (%)	
Married	218 (49.8)
Single	211 (48.2)
Divorced, separated, or widowed	9 (2.0)

Figure 2. Age distribution (overall sample vs nurses subsample).



Psychological Characteristics of Nurses in Different Countries

Considering psychological distress characteristics of nurses only, except for hyperarousal and anxiety, all other psychological distress scores were highest among nurses in Vietnam. Nurses in India and Singapore exhibited highest levels of hyperarousal and anxiety, respectively (Table 3).

The mean distribution of hyperarousal scores in the nurses showed that their overall higher hyperarousal scores were mainly

```
https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e32647
```

RenderX

due to the scores of nurses in India (Figures 3-5). A higher count density for hyperarousal mean values and 2 peaks of density (at mean values between 0.0 and 0.2 and between 0.6 and 1.0) in the distribution were observed in the nurses in India (more clearly shown in Figure 5). This was attributed to younger nurses in India (aged 20-24 years) having higher hyperarousal scores (Figure 6) relative to their same-age peers (ie, other health care workers or nurses) from other countries. Based on this observation, it became apparent that the nurses in India had a psychological response pattern that was different from the nurses in the other 4 countries.

Upon excluding the data for India, nurses in Vietnam had the highest scores for all psychological distress characteristics,

except for anxiety. Nurses in Singapore showed the highest anxiety score (Table 3).

Country	Depression	Anxiety	Stress	Intrusion ^b	Avoidance ^b	Hyperarousal ^b
India	0.1566	0.1575	0.2439	0.2470	0.2869	0.4386
Indonesia	0.1273	0.1720	0.2278	0.3647	0.2798	0.1543
Malaysia	0.1596	0.1657	0.2234	0.2294	0.2424	0.1915
Singapore	0.2167	0.2320	0.2827	0.2984	0.2772	0.2460
Vietnam	0.3286	0.1930	0.3787	0.3984	0.4875	0.3625
Overall mean	0.1736	0.1788	0.2515	0.2783	0.2834	0.2997

Table 3. Mean scores^a of psychological distress characteristics for nurses by country (all 5 countries, including India).

^aThe average of mean scores or normalized mean scores.

^bNormalized values by multiplying by 3 and dividing by 4 were adopted for IES-R (Impact of Events Scale-Revised) subscales (ie, intrusion, avoidance, and hyperarousal). This was to make IES-R scores (0-4) to be in the same scale as DASS-21 (Depression Anxiety Stress Scale) (0-3).

^cNumbers in italics are the mean scores of nurses in different countries that are higher than their respective overall mean scores (last row of the table).









XSL•FO RenderX



Figure 5. Hyperarousal of nurses by country (plots with different y axis limits). IES-R: Impact of Events Scale-Revised.

Figure 6. Hyperarousal versus age, by profession and by nurses of each country (dots inside circles represent younger nurses in India). IES-R: Impact of Events Scale-Revised.



XSL•FO RenderX

Differences Between Nurses, Doctors, and Nonmedical Health Care Workers

As discussed in the previous section that the nurses in India exhibited a vastly different psychological response pattern, and the data for India were excluded from the subsequent analysis and building of machine learning models (analysis including the data points for India is provided in Tables S1 and S2 of Multimedia Appendix 1, corresponding to Tables 4 and 5 of this main paper, respectively). Upon excluding the nurses in India, the overall mean hyperarousal score of nurses reduced to 0.2140 (normalized), which was below the overall sample mean of 0.2463 (normalized); see Table 4. This, in turn, placed the nurses' hyperarousal score to be the lowest. Similarly, the scores for depression, anxiety, stress, intrusion, and avoidance amongst nurses were below the respective overall sample mean (Table 4). The most severe levels of psychological distress were observed in nonmedical health care workers, with the highest scores for all psychological distress characteristics except for depression. Doctors were affected in terms of depression

(0.3200) and stress (0.4424) during the early COVID-19 phase (Table 4).

Regarding the clinical severity of psychological outcomes, most participants displayed normal or unchanged psychological distress characteristics (n=609-666, 82.5%-91.2%); see Table 5. Nurses, however, had higher percentages of normal or unchanged characteristics compared to other health care workers: in nurses, avoidance was the lowest (n=233, 86.0%) and stress was the highest (n=260, 95.9%), while among other nonnurse workers, avoidance was the lowest (n=187, 74.8%) in nonmedical health care workers and hyperarousal was the highest (n=199, 91.7%) in doctors (see Table 5). Thus, nurses were least psychologically affected by COVID-19.

There were 482 participants who were normal or had no symptoms at all for all the 6 psychological distress characteristics. Among them, there were 194 (40.2%) nurses, followed by 146 (30.3%) nonmedical health care workers and 142 (29.5%) doctors.

Profession		Depression	Anxiety	Stress	Intrusion ^b	Avoidance ^b	Hyperarousal ^b		
Scores by profession									
	Overall	0.2546	0.2577	0.3775	0.3360	0.3363	0.2463		
	Nurses	0.1840	0.1920	0.2562	0.2975	0.2813	0.2140		
	Doctors	0.3200 ^c	0.2792	0.4424	0.3085	0.3020	0.2310		
	Nonmedical	0.2743	0.3104	0.4526	0.4016	0.4256	0.2945		
Two-tailed <i>P</i> values of a two-sample <i>t</i> test for comparing mean values (Cronbach α =.05)									
	Nurses vs doctors	<.001 (diff ^d)	.005 (diff)	<.001 (diff)	.75 (no diff ^d)	.57 (no diff)	.55 (no diff)		
	Nurses vs nonmedical	.009 (diff)	<.001 (diff)	<.001 (diff)	.004 (diff)	<.001 (diff)	.008 (diff)		

^aThe average of mean scores or normalized mean scores.

^bNormalized values by multiplying by 3 and dividing by 4 were adopted for IES-R (Impact of Events Scale-Revised) subscales (ie, intrusion, avoidance, and hyperarousal). This was to make IES-R scores (0-4) to be in the same scale as DASS-21 (Depression Anxiety Stress Scale) (0-3).

^cNumbers in italics are the mean scores by profession that are higher than their respective overall mean scores (first row of the table).

^dIf the *P* value of the 2-sample *t* test was <.05, it represented that there was a difference in the mean scores or normalized mean scores (denoted by "diff"). Otherwise, there was no difference (denoted by "no diff").


Table 5. Psychological distress severity (4 countries, not including India).^a

Severity	category	Depression, n (%)	Anxiety, n (%)	Stress, n (%)	Intrusion, n (%)	Avoidance, n (%)	Hyperarousal, n (%)	
All (nur	All (nurses, doctors, and nonmedical health care workers; N=738)							
Nor	mal/not at all	638 (86.4)	614 (83.2)	673 (91.2)	627 (85.0)	609 (82.5)	666 (90.2)	
Mile	d/a little bit, and above	100 (13.5)	124 (16.8)	65 (8.8)	111 (15.0)	129 (17.5)	72 (9.8)	
Nurses ((N=271)							
Nor	mal/not at all	245 (90.4)	242 (89.3)	260 (95.9)	234 (86.4)	233 (86.0)	249 (91.9)	
Mile	d/a little bit, and above	26 (9.6)	29 (10.7)	11 (4.1)	37 (13.6)	38 (14.0)	22 (8.1)	
Doctors	(N=217)							
Nor	mal/not at all	178 (82.0)	173 (79.7)	193 (88.9)	191 (88.0)	189 (87.1)	199 (91.7)	
Mile	d/a little bit, and above	39 (18.0)	44 (20.3)	24 (11.1)	26 (12.0)	28 (12.9)	18 (8.3)	
Nonmed	Nonmedical health care workers (N=250)							
Nor	mal/not at all	215 (86.0)	199 (79.6)	220 (88.0)	202 (80.8)	187 (74.8)	218 (87.2)	
Mile	d/a little bit, and above	35 (14.0)	51 (20.4)	30 (12.0)	48 (19.2)	63 (25.2)	32 (12.8)	

^aDASS-21 (Depression Anxiety Stress Scale) severity categories are based on 2 times of the sum of subscale scores: depression mild and above, \geq 10; anxiety mild and above, \geq 8; stress mild and above, \geq 15. IES-R (Impact of Events Scale-Revised) severity categories are based on the mean of subscale scores: intrusion, avoidance, and hyperarousal, a little bit and above, \geq 1.

Distinctive Psychological Distress Characteristics of Nurses

Due to the differing psychological response pattern of nurses in India, all data for India were excluded to build the 3 decision tree–based machine learning models (LightGBM, GradientBoost, and RandomForest) for predicting whether a health care worker is a nurse, based on the psychological scores. The SHAP values of these models were extracted to identify the distinctive psychological distress characteristics of nurses.

Figures 7a-7c represent the SHAP value plots. There is a corresponding SHAP value of each independent variable computed for all the data points, providing the local interpretation for understanding individual predictions. The magnitude of a SHAP value represents the impact of each independent variable in deviating the predicted values from the base value [24]. The base value is the average of the model outputs for the entire training data set. The sign of a SHAP value represents the directional force that increases (positive sign) or decreases (negative sign) the prediction away from the base value.

SHAP values can be plotted to provide a global interpretation of the model in understanding the general model behavior based on the model features. The red and blue dots, as shown in SHAP value plots (Figures 7a-7c), represent the higher and lower magnitude levels (referred to as feature values), respectively, as compared with the predicted values contributed by all individual data points. The amount of influence in both positive and negative directions of a variable is shown by the spread of the dots from the center. The variable with the widest spread of red dots (or appearing to have more red dots) than other variables is the most influential variable. As shown in the plots, variables are positioned from top to bottom sorted in the order of their importance.

Take Figure 7a for the LightGBM model as an example. Most of the red dots for DASS-21 stress scores are on the left side, which is the region for negative SHAP values, and are most spread out compared to other variables. This indicates that the DASS-21 stress item is the first variable on the list having the highest amount of influence over the LightGBM model, and stress has a negative relationship (the lower the stress, the higher the impact on the model prediction). Stress is placed right at the top in the plot corresponding with its rank of importance. This phenomenon about the stress of nurses was consistent in the SHAP value plots of all the 3 models. As shown in Table 6, stress in the negative direction was ranked first for all the models, and we could affirm that the most distinctive psychological characteristic of nurses was the lower stress level compared to doctors and nonmedical health care workers.



Figure 7. SHAP value plots: (a) LightGBM model, (b) GradientBoost model, and (c) RandomForest model. LightGBM: Light Gradient Boosting Machine; SHAP: Shapley Additive Explanation.





(b)



(c)



 Table 6. Global interpretation of SHAP^a value plots.

Rank ^b of variable influence	LightGBM ^c model	GradientBoost model	RandomForest model
1	Stress (–) ^d	Stress (-)	Stress (-)
2	Intrusion (+) ^d	Depression (-)	Avoidance (-)
3	Anxiety (+)	Anxiety (+)	Depression (-)
4	Avoidance (-)	Intrusion (+)	Intrusion (+)
5	Hyperarousal (+)	Avoidance (-)	Anxiety (+)
6	Depression (-)	Hyperarousal (+)	Hyperarousal (+)

^aSHAP: Shapley Additive Explanation.

^bRank 1 is most influential. Variables of each model were ranked and filled in accordingly in the table. The variable with the widest spread of red dots was ranked 1.

^cLightGBM: Light Gradient Boosting Machine.

^dThe "-" and "+" represent the direction of force in value prediction and correspond with the right or left region, respectively, where most red dots fall within the SHAP value plots. The "-" and "+" signs of a variable are the same for all the models.

Discussion

Principal Findings

The principal findings of our study are twofold. First, during the early phase of COVID-19 in the Asia-Pacific region, nurses were least psychologically affected than other health care workers. This was evidenced by their relatively higher percentages of normal or unchanged psychological distress symptoms relative to other health care workers. Additionally, among health care workers with no psychological distress symptoms, nurses constituted a higher proportion than doctors and nonmedical health care workers. Notably, despite the most demanding job nature (ie, greater exposure and longer time with patients), nurses showed the lowest level of stress, which is the most distinctive psychological outcome characteristic compared to other health care workers. Second, nurses in Vietnam showed the highest level of depression, stress, intrusion, avoidance, and hyperarousal symptoms compared to those in Singapore, Malaysia, and Indonesia. Nurses in Singapore had the highest level of anxiety. The differing patterns of psychological outcomes among nurses are probably related to different contexts, cultures, and points in the pandemic curve.

Our finding that amongst health care workers, frontline nurses were least psychologically affected is consistent with a previous study [25]. Li et al [25] reported that frontline nurses had lower vicarious traumatization scores relative to nonfrontline nurses and the general public. Furthermore, our finding is also consistent with a previous study conducted during the SARS pandemic [26], which reported that doctors were 1.6 times more likely to experience psychiatric symptoms than nurses. The authors attributed higher rates of doctors' anxiety to the need for maintaining a prolonged hypervigilant state in diagnosing SARS cases. By comparison, a rapid review conducted during the early phase of COVID-19 suggested that nurses may be at a higher risk for adverse mental health outcomes than doctors [27]. However, the authors acknowledged that confounding factors in the studies were not robustly addressed. The reason why nurses were least psychologically affected could be explained by their job scopes. The nature of the nursing

RenderX

profession in clinical settings requires teamwork. An integrative review suggested that positive teamwork has a significant correlation with mental resilience [28]. It is possible that despite the demanding workload during the pandemic, nurses have good mental resilience as they work in teams.

Although we believe that the differing patterns of psychological outcomes amongst nurses in various Asia-Pacific countries could be related to the magnitude of the pandemic in those countries, despite having the lowest volume of cases during the study period, nurses in Vietnam showed the highest level of depression, stress, intrusion, avoidance, and hyperarousal relative to nurses in Singapore, Malaysia, and Indonesia. This is in line with a previous study in Vietnam that reported a higher level of psychological distress in nurses than doctors, attributing the findings to their job nature and demands [29]. Singapore had the highest case volume, which might have contributed to the relatively higher anxiety level of nurses.

Although nurses in India showed the highest level of hyperarousal, the data for India were not accounted for in our conclusions due to the differing psychological response pattern exhibited amongst the nurses in India. The highest level of hyperarousal in nurses in India might be due to the larger proportion of younger nurses (two-third being <35 years old). A younger age is considered a risk factor for PTSD symptoms [30]. In view of fewer older and experienced nurses in India, younger nurses are likely to experience higher levels of hyperarousal due to the lack of supervision support, guidance, and leadership. It is also reported that a large number of female nurses across India are emigrants from states in South India, especially Kerala [31]. The emigrated nurses usually live alone in their cities of employment. With the lack of support from family members, they could not have psychologically managed themselves well in facing the work challenges posed by the COVID-19 pandemic.

During the early phase of the pandemic curve, relative to other health care workers, although nurses seemed to cope better psychologically, yet approximately three-fifth of the nurses reported some psychological distress. Notably, this proportion was lower than doctors (approximately three-fourth) and

nonmedical health care workers (two-third). This highlights significant psychological outcomes of COVID-19, for which effective coping strategies are essential to bolster psychological resilience in all health care workers, especially doctors and nonmedical health care workers.

During the early COVID-19 phase, health care workers had coped with the pandemic by holding on to their values. This is consistent with the meaning-making coping style postulated by Park and Folkman [32]. That is, health care workers coped by making meaning of their work with altruistic beliefs and goals in the battle against the pandemic. This led to psychological adaption and personal growth to occur early and possibly within 2 weeks [33]. Nurses reported their personal growth under the crisis (eg, gratitude, a stronger sense of professional identity, and self-reflection). Such growth promoted positive emotions and psychological adaptation. Moreover, health care workers reported improved mood over the 2 weeks' duration, due to acquiring more knowledge about COVID-19 [33]. This seems to concur with the decline in the frequency of mental health problems of Chinese health care workers over time [34,35].

With almost 2 years into the pandemic, the International Council of Nurses found that 20% of National Nurses Associations reported increased rates of nurses leaving the profession in 2020, likely due to the pandemic [36]. Accordingly, a recent scoping review reported that nurses will be under an increased risk for stress, burnout, and depression during the pandemic, where younger female nurses, with less clinical experience, are more vulnerable to adverse mental health outcomes [37]. Catton and Iro [38], nurses in WHO and the International Council of Nurses (ICN), recently called for an investment in the augmentation of the nursing profession since the availability of adequate nursing staff can reduce inpatient admissions and hospital stays [39], a dire situation that most countries are currently facing.

In view of the aforementioned worrying trend, and the fact that health care workers prefer self-help rather than seeking professional help [40,41], we recommend self-care coping strategies, such as self-reflection, reinforcing internal values, aerobic exercises, and support from religious organizations, peers, and family. These strategies were helpful during the previous SARS and Ebola epidemics [42-45]. Similarly, digital interventions, such as computerized resilience training over a medium-long course duration (12-17 sessions), may be useful to build up health care workers' resilience [46]. Furthermore, peer-led cognitive behavioral therapy group programs may also assist health care workers to cope psychologically [47]. Moreover, a structured peer support program through caring mentorship and self-reflection practice would be practical and useful for health care workers to continue to strive in coping with the pandemic [48,49].

Strengths

The novelty of our study is twofold. First, we used machine learning techniques and visualizations to discover trends. This novel machine learning approach predicts whether a health care worker is a nurse from a set of psychological scores. Although versatile models (eg, decision tree, neural network) are desirable for accuracy, many hesitate to adopt them, as the model interpretation of the independent variables is challenging. In

```
https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e32647
```

our study, decision tree-based models were adopted based on the fact that SHAP could explain the models and pick out the most distinctive characteristic. The use of SHAP in unravelling distinctive characteristics manifests the power of the SHAP algorithm [50]. With SHAP, the advantages of decision tree-based machine learning models in requiring less data processing effort and a not too large data set can be widely applied in situations in which the underlying principles of the relationship between variables are unknown and a quick solution is required. These are the limitations that a traditional statistical approach cannot overcome. For example, the statistical t test will not lead to a correct conclusion if the assumptions of the ttest are not present (eg, 1 of the assumptions is that data points should follow a normal distribution). The P value of the 2-sample t test for the DASS-21 stress item was the lowest among all psychological distress characteristics (ie, the highest level of difference) for the comparisons between nurses and doctors and between nurses and nonmedical health care workers (Table 4). This is consistent with our SHAP result, which shows a significant lower level of stress amongst nurses (Figures 7a-7c). The same result cannot be arrived at if the assumptions of the t test are not met. Like the t test (one-tailed), SHAP is capable of indicating the direction of influence (positive or negative) for each psychological distress characteristic. In addition, SHAP can present the level of contrast in graphical form. The notable advantage of SHAP is the model interpretation at both global and local levels, thus constituting a full suite of explanations for the gap between the overall average value and the model prediction. Such user-friendly interpretation style allows wide application of the SHAP technique in health care research. Second, to better understand the psychological outcomes of health care workers from a wider range of the Asia-Pacific region, we recruited a large sample from several countries. These health care workers have different occupational roles and were functioning in both medical and nonmedical roles during the early phase, which was the most stressful period of the pandemic. Understanding their psychological outcomes will help the health care industry to better prepare for future pandemics. In urgent situations like the current pandemic, where the presentations evolved rapidly, without any precedent case, machine learning can be a faster and efficient option to analyze data for identifying patterns and taking appropriate actions in a timely manner.

Limitations

Some limitations of our study merit acknowledgement. First, there are no similar mental health data prior to COVID-19 for comparison. This limited us to provide insight into the direct impact of COVID-19 on health care workers' psychological outcomes. Second, we used a cross-sectional survey with participant self-report questionnaires; hence, it was difficult to accurately assess mental health problems, due to a lack of specialist verification. Third, we did not have a follow-up study design, which could evaluate long-term mental health outcomes and coping. Future studies should include a better study design using clinical verification to further assess cases with significant psychological distress and follow them up to investigate the long-term psychological outcomes.

XSL•FO RenderX

Conclusion

In conclusion, during the early phase of COVID-19, nurses were least psychologically affected as they have better teamwork compared to other health care workers. Different contexts, cultures, and points in the pandemic curve may have also contributed to differing patterns of psychological outcomes amongst nurses in various Asia-Pacific countries. With no real end in sight for the current pandemic, along with their multidisciplinary colleagues, nurses worldwide are persevering to fight this war. Nurses require targeted psychological support dependent on regions, contexts, cultures, and points in the pandemic curve. Similarly, active outreach and targeted interventions should be provided to nonmedical health care workers and medical doctors to support their psychological well-being. To win this battle, it is crucial for all health care workers to hold on to their values, practice self-care, and render peer support to bolster psychological resilience for effective coping.

Acknowledgments

YHD is the current recipient of a Transition Award from the National Medical Research Council (NMRC/TA/0060/2017), Ministry of Health, Singapore. VKS is the current recipient of a Senior Clinician Scientist Award from the National Medical Research Council, Ministry of Health, Singapore.

Authors' Contributions

YHD conceptualized the study, was involved in analysis, and drafted the manuscript. MCY conducted the analysis and was involved in the writing and reviewing of the manuscript. XCT was involved in the writing and reviewing of the manuscript. RD, THN, AKS, KRN, MPV, MLST, AA, BYQT, and RCH were involved in data collection and writing and reviewing of the manuscript. MCHC was involved in conceptualization, analysis, and writing and reviewing of the manuscript. VKS was involved in conceptualization, data collection, analysis, and writing and critical review of the manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Supplementary materials: Tables S1 and S2. [DOCX File, 34 KB - nursing v5i1e32647 app1.docx]

References

- 1. Year of the Nurse and the Midwife 2020. 2020. URL: <u>https://www.who.int/campaigns/annual-theme/</u> year-of-the-nurse-and-the-midwife-2020 [accessed 2022-03-04]
- Danet Danet A. Psychological impact of COVID-19 pandemic in Western frontline healthcare professionals. A systematic review. Med Clin (Engl Ed) 2021 May 07;156(9):449-458 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.medcle.2020.11.003] [Medline: 33758782]
- da Silva Neto RM, Benjamim CJR, de Medeiros Carvalho PM, Neto MLR. Psychological effects caused by the COVID-19 pandemic in health professionals: a systematic review with meta-analysis. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 2021 Jan 10;104:110062 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2020.110062] [Medline: 32771337]
- Kontoangelos K, Economou M, Papageorgiou C. Mental health effects of COVID-19 pandemia: a review of clinical and psychological traits. Psychiatry Investig 2020 Jun;17(6):491-505 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.30773/pi.2020.0161] [Medline: 32570296]
- Stuijfzand S, Deforges C, Sandoz V, Sajin C, Jaques C, Elmers J, et al. Psychological impact of an epidemic/pandemic on the mental health of healthcare professionals: a rapid review. BMC Public Health 2020 Aug 12;20(1):1230 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-020-09322-z] [Medline: 32787815]
- Chew NW, Lee GK, Tan BY, Jing M, Goh Y, Ngiam NJ, et al. A multinational, multicentre study on the psychological outcomes and associated physical symptoms amongst healthcare workers during COVID-19 outbreak. Brain Behav Immun 2020 Aug;88:559-565 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2020.04.049] [Medline: 32330593]
- Hong S, Ai M, Xu X, Wang W, Chen J, Zhang Q, et al. Immediate psychological impact on nurses working at 42 government-designated hospitals during COVID-19 outbreak in China: a cross-sectional study. Nurs Outlook 2021 Jan;69(1):6-12 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.outlook.2020.07.007] [Medline: 32919788]
- Nie A, Su X, Zhang S, Guan W, Li J. Psychological impact of COVID-19 outbreak on frontline nurses: a cross-sectional survey study. J Clin Nurs 2020 Nov 25;29(21-22):4217-4226 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/jocn.15454] [Medline: 32786150]
- 9. Shen X, Zou X, Zhong X, Yan J, Li L. Psychological stress of ICU nurses in the time of COVID-19. Crit Care 2020 May 06;24(1):200 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13054-020-02926-2] [Medline: 32375848]

- 10. Tan BY, Chew NW, Lee GK, Jing M, Goh Y, Yeo LL, et al. Psychological impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on health care workers in Singapore. Ann Intern Med 2020 Aug 18;173(4):317-320. [doi: <u>10.7326/m20-1083</u>]
- 11. Lovibond S, Lovibond P. Manual for the Depression Anxiety Stress Scales, 2nd ed. Sydney: Psychology Foundation of Australia; 1995.
- 12. Jiang L, Yan Y, Jin Z, Hu M, Wang L, Song Y, et al. The Depression Anxiety Stress Scale-21 in Chinese hospital workers: reliability, latent structure, and measurement invariance across genders. Front Psychol 2020 Mar 6;11:247 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2020.00247] [Medline: 32210869]
- 13. Weiss D. The Impact of Event Scale: Revised. In: Cross-Cultural Assessment of Psychological Trauma and PTSD. New York, NY: Springer Science + Business Media; 2007:219-238.
- Creamer M, Bell R, Failla S. Psychometric properties of the Impact of Event Scale Revised. Behav Res Ther 2003 Dec;41(12):1489-1496. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.brat.2003.07.010</u>] [Medline: <u>14705607</u>]
- 15. Prediction Models: Traditional versus Machine Learning. 2019. URL: <u>https://blogs.gartner.com/jitendra-subramanyam/</u> prediction-models-traditional-versus-machine-learning/ [accessed 2022-03-04]
- 16. Traditional Modeling vs Machine Learning. 2018. URL: <u>https://www.thales.com/insights/</u> traditional-modeling-vs-machine-learning [accessed 2022-03-04]
- 17. Why Use Machine Learning Instead of Traditional Statistics?. 2018. URL: <u>https://towardsdatascience.com/</u> why-use-machine-learning-instead-of-traditional-statistics-334c2213700a [accessed 2022-03-04]
- Wiens J, Shenoy E. Machine learning for healthcare: on the verge of a major shift in healthcare epidemiology. Clin Infect Dis 2018 Jan 06;66(1):149-153 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/cid/cix731] [Medline: 29020316]
- 19. Dhiraj K. Top 5 Advantages and Disadvantages of Decision Tree Algorithm. 2019. URL: <u>https://dhirajkumarblog.</u> medium.com/top-5-advantages-and-disadvantages-of-decision-tree-algorithm-428ebd199d9a [accessed 2022-03-04]
- 20. Decision Trees Explained: Learn Everything about Decision Trees for Machine Learning. 2020. URL: <u>https://towardsdatascience.com/decision-trees-explained-3ec41632ceb6</u> [accessed 2022-03-04]
- 21. Laurae. Ensembles of Tree-Based Models: Why Correlated Features Do Not Trip Them—and Why NA Matters. 2016. URL: <u>https://medium.com/data-design/ensembles-of-tree-based-models-why-correlated-features-do-not-trip-them-and-why-na-matters-7658f4752e1b</u> [accessed 2022-03-04]
- 22. Christoph M. Interpretable Machine Learning: A Guide for Making Black Box Models Explainable. 2021. URL: <u>https://christophm.github.io/interpretable-ml-book</u> [accessed 2022-03-04]
- 23. The Data Science of K-Pop: Understanding BTS through Data and AI. URL: <u>https://towardsdatascience.com/</u> <u>the-data-science-of-k-pop-understanding-bts-through-data-and-a-i-part-1-50783b198ac2</u> [accessed 2022-03-04]
- 24. Choudhary A. A Unique Method for Machine Learning Interpretability: Game Theory & Shapley Values!. 2019. URL: https://www.analyticsvidhya.com/blog/2019/11/shapley-value-machine-learning-interpretability-game-theory [accessed 2022-03-04]
- 25. Li Z, Ge J, Yang M, Feng J, Qiao M, Jiang R, et al. Vicarious traumatization in the general public, members, and non-members of medical teams aiding in COVID-19 control. Brain Behav Immun 2020 Aug;88:916-919 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2020.03.007] [Medline: 32169498]
- 26. Chan AOM, Huak CY. Psychological impact of the 2003 severe acute respiratory syndrome outbreak on health care workers in a medium size regional general hospital in Singapore. Occup Med (Lond) 2004 May 01;54(3):190-196 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/occmed/kqh027] [Medline: 15133143]
- 27. De Kock JH, Latham HA, Leslie SJ, Grindle M, Munoz S, Ellis L, et al. A rapid review of the impact of COVID-19 on the mental health of healthcare workers: implications for supporting psychological well-being. BMC Public Health 2021 Jan 09;21(1):104 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-020-10070-3] [Medline: 33422039]
- 28. Baskin RG, Bartlett R. Healthcare worker resilience during the COVID-19 pandemic: an integrative review. J Nurs Manag 2021 Nov 09;29(8):2329-2342 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/jonm.13395] [Medline: 34182609]
- 29. Manh Than H, Minh Nong V, Trung Nguyen C, Phu Dong K, Ngo HT, Thu Doan T, et al. Mental health and health-related quality-of-life outcomes among frontline health workers during the peak of COVID-19 outbreak in Vietnam: a cross-sectional study. Risk Manage Healthc Policy 2020 Dec;13:2927-2936. [doi: <u>10.2147/rmhp.s280749</u>]
- 30. d'Ettorre G, Ceccarelli G, Santinelli L, Vassalini P, Innocenti GP, Alessandri F, et al. Post-traumatic stress symptoms in healthcare workers dealing with the COVID-19 pandemic: a systematic review. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2021 Jan 12;18(2):601 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph18020601] [Medline: 33445712]
- 31. Marie P, Rajan SI. Female emigration from India: case study of nurses. Econ Polit Wkly 2007;42(4):318-325 [FREE Full text]
- 32. Park CL, Folkman S. Meaning in the context of stress and coping. Rev Gen Psychol 1997 Jun 01;1(2):115-144. [doi: 10.1037/1089-2680.1.2.115]
- 33. Yuan S, Liao Z, Huang H, Jiang B, Zhang X, Wang Y, et al. Comparison of the indicators of psychological stress in the population of Hubei province and non-endemic provinces in China during two weeks during the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) outbreak in February 2020. Med Sci Monit 2020 Apr 15;26:e923767 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.12659/MSM.923767] [Medline: 32294078]

- 34. Lai J, Ma S, Wang Y, Cai Z, Hu J, Wei N, et al. Factors associated with mental health outcomes among health care workers exposed to coronavirus disease 2019. JAMA Netw Open 2020 Mar 02;3(3):e203976 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.3976] [Medline: 32202646]
- 35. Lu W, Wang H, Lin Y, Li L. Psychological status of medical workforce during the COVID-19 pandemic: a cross-sectional study. Psychiatry Res 2020 Jun;288:112936 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2020.112936] [Medline: 32276196]
- 36. International Council of Nurses. Nurse Shortage and Retention. URL: <u>https://www.icn.ch/sites/default/files/inline-files/</u> IND Factsheet-EN-03 1.2.pdf [accessed 2022-03-04]
- Sriharan A, West KJ, Almost J, Hamza A. COVID-19-related occupational burnout and moral distress among nurses: a rapid scoping review. Nurs Leadersh (Tor Ont) 2021 Mar;34(1):7-19 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.12927/cjnl.2021.26459] [Medline: <u>33837685</u>]
- 38. Catton H, Iro E. How to reposition the nursing profession for a post-covid age. BMJ 2021 Jun 14:n1105. [doi: 10.1136/bmj.n1105]
- 39. Aiken LH, Simonetti M, Sloane DM, Cerón C, Soto P, Bravo D, et al. Hospital nurse staffing and patient outcomes in Chile: a multilevel cross-sectional study. Lancet Global Health 2021 Aug;9(8):e1145-e1153. [doi: 10.1016/s2214-109x(21)00209-6]
- Kang L, Ma S, Chen M, Yang J, Wang Y, Li R, et al. Impact on mental health and perceptions of psychological care among medical and nursing staff in Wuhan during the 2019 novel coronavirus disease outbreak: a cross-sectional study. Brain Behav Immun 2020 Jul;87:11-17 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2020.03.028] [Medline: 32240764]
- 41. Cai H, Tu B, Ma J, Chen L, Fu L, Jiang Y, et al. Psychological impacts and coping strategies of front-line medical staff during COVID-19 outbreak in Hunan, China. Med Sci Monit 2020 Mar 23;26:e924171-1. [doi: 10.12659/msm.924171]
- 42. Chiang H, Chen M, Sue I. Self-state of nurses in caring for SARS survivors. Nurs Ethics 2007 Jan 19;14(1):18-26. [doi: 10.1177/0969733007071353] [Medline: 17334167]
- 43. Raven J, Wurie H, Witter S. Health workers' experiences of coping with the Ebola epidemic in Sierra Leone's health system: a qualitative study. BMC Health Serv Res 2018 Apr 05;18(1):251 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12913-018-3072-3] [Medline: 29622025]
- 44. Witter S, Wurie H, Chandiwana P, Namakula J, So S, Alonso-Garbayo A, et al. How do health workers experience and cope with shocks? Learning from four fragile and conflict-affected health systems in Uganda, Sierra Leone, Zimbabwe and Cambodia. Health Policy Plan 2017 Nov 01;32(suppl_3):iii3-iii13. [doi: 10.1093/heapol/czx112] [Medline: 29149313]
- 45. Xi H, Chu D, Chen J, Xie M, Hu P, Cao J. Multiple physical exercises improving the physical and mental health of PLA medical staffs in Chinese Ebola Treatment Unit in Liberia. Acad J Second Mil Med Univ 2015;36(7):711. [doi: 10.3724/sp.j.1008.2015.00711]
- 46. Maunder RG, Lancee WJ, Mae R, Vincent L, Peladeau N, Beduz MA, et al. Computer-assisted resilience training to prepare healthcare workers for pandemic influenza: a randomized trial of the optimal dose of training. BMC Health Serv Res 2010 Mar 22;10(1):72 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1472-6963-10-72] [Medline: 20307302]
- Cole CL, Waterman S, Hunter ECM, Bell V, Greenberg N, Rubin GJ, et al. Effectiveness of small group cognitive behavioural therapy for anxiety and depression in Ebola treatment centre staff in Sierra Leone. Int Rev Psychiatry 2021 Apr 17;33(1-2):189-197. [doi: <u>10.1080/09540261.2020.1750800</u>] [Medline: <u>32301358</u>]
- Waterman S, Hunter ECM, Cole CL, Evans LJ, Greenberg N, Rubin GJ, et al. Training peers to treat Ebola centre workers with anxiety and depression in Sierra Leone. Int J Soc Psychiatry 2018 Mar 12;64(2):156-165. [doi: 10.1177/0020764017752021] [Medline: 29432085]
- 49. Wagner AL, Seymour ME. A model of caring mentorship for nursing. J Nurs Staff Dev 2007;23(5):201-211. [doi: 10.1097/01.nnd.0000294926.14296.49]
- 50. Lundberg S, Lee S. A unified approach to interpreting model predictions. 2017 Presented at: The 31st International Conference on Neural Information Processing Systems; 2017; Long Beach, CA p. 4768-4777 URL: <u>https://proceedings.neurips.cc//paper/2017/file/8a20a8621978632d76c43dfd28b67767-Paper.pdf</u>

Abbreviations

AUROC: area under the receiver operating characteristic curve DASS-21: Depression Anxiety Stress Scale IES-R: Impact of Events Scale-Revised LightGBM: Light Gradient Boosting Machine PTSD: posttraumatic stress disorder SHAP: Shapley Additive Explanation WHO: World Health Organization



Edited by E Borycki; submitted 05.08.21; peer-reviewed by YJ Bao, A McLean; comments to author 25.10.21; revised version received 21.12.21; accepted 23.12.21; published 01.06.22. <u>Please cite as:</u> Dong Y, Yeo MC, Tham XC, Danuaji R, Nguyen TH, Sharma AK, RN K, PV M, Tai MLS, Ahmad A, Tan BYQ, Ho RC, Chua MCH, Sharma VK Investigating Psychological Differences Between Nurses and Other Health Care Workers From the Asia-Pacific Region During the Early Phase of COVID-19: Machine Learning Approach JMIR Nursing 2022;5(1):e32647 URL: https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e32647 doi:10.2196/32647 PMID:35648464

©YanHong Dong, Mei Chun Yeo, Xiang Cong Tham, Rivan Danuaji, Thang H Nguyen, Arvind K Sharma, Komalkumar RN, Meenakshi PV, Mei-Ling Sharon Tai, Aftab Ahmad, Benjamin YQ Tan, Roger C Ho, Matthew Chin Heng Chua, Vijay K Sharma. Originally published in JMIR Nursing (https://nursing.jmir.org), 01.06.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Nursing, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://nursing.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Acceptance of an Internet-Based Team Development Tool Aimed at Improving Work-Related Well-being in Nurses: Cross-sectional Study

Sylvia Broetje¹, PhD, RN; Georg F Bauer¹, MD, DPH; Gregor J Jenny¹, PhD

Center of Salutogenesis, Epidemiology, Biostatistics and Prevention Institute, University of Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland

Corresponding Author: Sylvia Broetje, PhD, RN Center of Salutogenesis Epidemiology, Biostatistics and Prevention Institute University of Zurich Hirschengraben 84 Zurich, 8001 Switzerland Phone: 41 446344854 Email: <u>sylvia.libro@gmail.com</u>

Abstract

Background: Workplace health interventions can produce beneficial health- and business-related outcomes. However, such interventions have traditionally focused on lifestyle behaviors of individuals, mostly not considering the role of working conditions. The wecoach intervention is an internet-based tool that combines both a digital and a participatory team development approach aimed at addressing critical job demands and resources as key aspects of health-promoting working conditions. Nursing staff are particularly affected by challenging working conditions and could potentially benefit greatly. Understanding the acceptance of novel workplace health promotion approaches is a critical precursor to their successful implementation and use.

Objective: This study aims to examine the factors influencing the acceptance of a digitally supported team development tool among nurse managers.

Methods: A sample of 32 nurse managers from 3 German-speaking countries tested we coach and completed our online questionnaire. Hypotheses were based on the unified theory of acceptance and use of technology (UTAUT) and the organizational health development (OHD) model and were tested using multiple regression analyses.

Results: Our analyses found that merely capacities on the team level (CapTeam) significantly contributed to the acceptance of we coach, although only after the other variables were excluded in the stepwise multiple regression analysis. The UTAUT predictors were unable to add significant variance explanation beyond that, and their inclusion masked the contribution of CapTeam.

Conclusions: For the acceptance of a digitally supported participatory tool, the fit with the team, its culture, and its motivation are of critical importance, while aspects proposed by traditional acceptance models, such as the UTAUT, may not be applicable.

(JMIR Nursing 2022;5(1):e36702) doi:10.2196/36702

KEYWORDS

digital intervention; eHealth; nurses; online intervention; organizational health; technology acceptance; UTAUT; workplace health promotion; mHealth

Introduction

Workplace Health Interventions

Workplace health programs can produce beneficial health- and business-related outcomes [1-3]. Such interventions have traditionally focused on targeting lifestyle behaviors of individuals, supporting them, for example, in quitting smoking,

RenderX

increasing their physical activity, or managing their stress levels. The role played by working conditions, however, has received little attention in the development of workplace health promotion programs [4]. A model well suited to studying and assessing the well-being-enhancing and well-being-diminishing aspects of work is the Job Demands-Resources model [5]. It proposes a dual pathway. Job resources, such as autonomy and social support, are linked to motivational outcomes, such as work

engagement, while high levels of job demands, such as work interruptions or role conflict, are linked to strain and health impairment. Its assumptions have found widespread support in empirical research [6]. Data collected during a large-scale stress management intervention conducted in Switzerland showed that a favorable ratio of job resources to job demands is associated with lower exhaustion and absenteeism as well as higher engagement and productivity of staff [7]. Reviews also indicate that at least some organization-level interventions aimed at improving working conditions can positively affect outcomes such as mental health, physical health, absenteeism, or staff turnover [8,9].

Teams are optimal units for workplace health promotion [10]. Leaders not only play an important role in the implementation of interventions [11], but teams and leaders are also the level on which many job demands and resources are created. Teams can apply the expertise about their workplace to develop measures that are tailored to their own situation, and the participation of the team in this process enhances ownership of the intervention and facilitates learning and communication.

At the same time, the ongoing megatrend of digitization has led to an increase in the delivery of interventions in digital format. The most common forms are health apps, wearables, and health portals [12]. Such approaches have been shown to improve mental health in general population samples [13] as well as in employees [14]. However, no digital interventions have, to the best of our knowledge, aimed to improve health and well-being in employees via the improvement of working conditions.

This presents a highly innovative form of workplace health intervention. Previous intervention research has focused on the effectiveness of workplace health interventions, with aspects of acceptance and implementation receiving little attention. This, however, is changing. Attention is now directed towards realist evaluations of interventions, acknowledging the entire intervention process [15] as well as aspects preceding the use of an intervention, as emphasized by the adoption dimension of the Reach Effectiveness Adoption Implementation Maintenance (RE-AIM) framework [16,17]. If digital workplace health interventions are to fulfill their potential, they not only must be effective and well implemented, supporting their internal and external validity, but also need to be accepted by potential users. According to Rogers [18], the adoption of innovations is a 5-step process, leading from (1) knowledge about the product to (2) persuasion of the product, (3) decision to adopt—or reject—the product to its (4) implementation and (5) confirmation that one has made the right decision. During the stage of persuasion, an opinion about the product is formed, which is influenced by different characteristics of the product. These characteristics stem from attributes of the product itself, as well as from relevant outside factors, such as current needs or compatibility with other products. In accordance with this model, we view acceptance as the phase of formation of attitudes and usage intentions that precedes the adoption of a product.

Health care is one of the industrial sectors with the highest levels of health risks. The sixth European working conditions survey [19] names the health sector as the one with the highest work intensity index, measuring aspects such as quantitative demands, time pressure, interruptions, and emotional demands. It also reports that health sector workers have a substantially above average experience of adverse social behavior at work. Approximately one-third of nurses in Europe and the United States feel burned out [20], and 33% of nurses report wanting to leave their current employer within the next year due to job dissatisfaction, with 9% intending to leave the profession altogether [21]. Poor working conditions are at the root of this situation, with low pay, limited educational and career opportunities, unsafe workplaces, and lack of resources, contributing to nurse turnover and health impairment [22]. Although these challenges also need to be addressed on the societal and political levels, interventions on the level of the individual health care organization and even on the unit or team level can make a contribution to the improvement of working conditions [23].

The Wecoach Approach

In this study, we examine what affects the acceptance of we coach, an internet-based tool that combines both a digital and a participatory team approach and guides team leaders through a health-oriented team development process. It is currently only available in German. When logging into we coach, the team leader interacts with a chatbot, which advises the leader on which training session to complete next and presents training materials on work and health, self-assessments, and online tools conduct team surveys and workshops, as well as to self-evaluation of progress and effectiveness (see Figures 1 and 2). After the initial training sessions, the entire team is involved and team members complete a survey that assesses job demands and resources with validated scales, such as the Health and Safety Executive (HSE) Stress Management Standards [24], which have been found to be relevant across many industries. Afterward, a team workshop is conducted that builds on these results, developing measures to reduce demands or strengthen resources. The team workshop is moderated by the team leader, who has been provided with material on how to organize and conduct the workshop. Instructions on maintaining the effects of the intervention and a health-oriented team culture are also included. This sequence of sensitizing participants to the relationship between work and health, providing information and enhancing self-efficacy in team leaders, followed by assessments and team workshops, has been honed by our department in many on-site interventions, and these experiences built the foundation for the digitally supported wecoach intervention. The wecoach tool is based on a capacity-building approach, which the World Health Organization's International Classification of Health Interventions describes as "providing resources or initiating strategies to increase the ability of an organisation or community to address health issues by creating new structures, approaches or values in relation to patterns of behaviour that may affect psychological health and wellbeing" [10,25].



Figure 1. Screenshot of the wecoach main page.

Chat 🚺 🛛	💼 Einstieg • > Kennenlernen • > 💽 -oder- Schritte des wecoach •	† 7	e
Tippen Sie Hallo ein, um mit mir einen Dialog zu starten oder fortzusetzen.	🚇 6 Schritte zur Verbesserung der Arbeitsbedingungen und des Teamklimas	☆	D
			\bigcirc
			()
	$\mathcal{F}_{=} \stackrel{\bullet}{\longrightarrow} \stackrel{\bullet}{\to} \bullet$		Q
	EINSTIEG TRAINING TEAM. BEFRAGUNG WORKSHOP WIRKUNG VERANKERUNG		Ω
	Sie setten sich mit dem Sie führen 2. Übungen Sie planen die Befrag: Sie planen einen Work- Thema Engagement + underkapung und zum ung und versenden den stopp und Leden das 3. Monaten die Wiskandhmen min auseinunder. Sie mach - konteren sich Stelper- en sich Geschner zum Stelen und stezen sich die Kaunt Register Bernellen der Mehlen Werkenden in Stelper- auf auf Abhenbedein- gungen einer Reiment- wicklung.		
Ihre Nachricht	Worke 5-12 Weeke 2428		
Need help?	Klicken Sie auf die Figuren, um den Text zu vergrössern		
			₿
Über uns Datenschutz Impressum Kontakt	Copyright	2017 CH Solutions GmbH	

Figure 2. Screenshot of a wecoach interactive form.

Chat 🕕 🖄	🛱 Einstieg • > Kennenlernen • > 🖸 -oder- Erfahrung mit Coac • 🤺 🕐	e
Tippen Sie Hallo ein, um mit mir einen Dialog zu starten oder fortzusetzen.	😰 Ihre Erfahrung mit Coaching 🌼	IJ
	Minutel Enformed habes file als	۵
	Witevier Erfanrung naben sie als Führungskraft bereits mit Coaching? Notieren Sie einige Worte dazu. Kamen hierbei auch Online-Methoden zum	()
	Einsatz?	Q
		<u>N</u>
	Fails Sie bereits Erfahrung mit Coaching haben: Hatten diese auch das Thema Arbeit. Stress. Enzagement und	Ш
	Gesundheit zum Inhalt?	
Ihre Nachricht		
Need help?		₽_
Über uns Datenschutz Impressum Kor	takt Copyright 2017 CH Solutions GmbH	÷.,

Study Aim and Hypotheses

The aim of this study is to examine the factors determining the acceptance of wecoach among nurse managers in 3 German-speaking countries in order to make a contribution to the understanding on what factors can help promote the use of participatory, digitally supported workplace interventions that can help address working conditions in a challenging work environment such as health care. We based our hypotheses regarding its acceptance on 2 models: the unified theory of acceptance and use of technology (UTAUT) and the organizational health development (OHD) model to capture the complexity of wecoach, which is simultaneously a technological innovation as well as an innovative participatory team approach.

```
https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e36702
```

RenderX

Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology

UTAUT [26] is 1 of the most widely used models of technology acceptance. It examines the factors that explain the intention to use new technologies, especially in organizational contexts. It was developed empirically and integrates elements from 8 established models, including traditional psychological theories such as the theory of reasoned action [27] and social cognitive theory [28,29], as well as other technology-related models, such as the technology acceptance model [30].

UTAUT proposes 4 predictors [26]. Performance expectancy describes the degree to which an individual believes that using the system will help them attain gains in job performance. Effort expectancy refers to the degree of ease associated with the use

of the system. Social influence is the degree to which an individual perceives that important others believe they should use the new system. Facilitating conditions refers to the degree to which an individual believes that an organizational and technical infrastructure exists to support the use of the system. The model proposes 2 outcome variables that indicate acceptance of a new technology: (1) behavioral intention, which is the expressed intention to use the technology in the near future, and (2) use behavior, which indicates how often people, within a certain period after the technology rollout, actually use the technology, typically tracked by company logs. Based on the original 8 theories from which UTAUT was synthesized, gender, age, voluntariness, and experience were also included into the original model as moderators.

UTAUT has been applied in different contexts, especially to study the acceptance of online banking [31], general information technology [32], e-government services [33], or e-learning tools [34]. Among health care professionals, it has been used predominantly to examine factors influencing the acceptance of electronic medical records [35-37].

A meta-analysis of 74 studies by Khechine et al [38] confirmed the strength and robustness of UTAUT and corroborated findings from a previous meta-analysis by Taiwo and Downe [39]. All 4 predictors have been found to significantly predict behavioral intention and use behavior, respectively, with regression weights ranging from 0.4 to 0.5 [38]. Performance expectancy was the strongest predictor of behavioral intention, indicating that users will be keen to use a new technology when they believe that it would improve their productivity, efficiency, and effectiveness. The moderators proposed in UTAUT have rarely been examined in empirical studies [38,40] and were not considered in the meta-analysis. Venkatesh et al [40] also later distanced themselves from the inclusion of moderators in the model and suggested a focus on the main effects for enhanced parsimony.

As our study is exploratory in nature and we want to focus on the initial impressions potential users have of wecoach, we included only behavioral intention as an indicator of acceptance in this study. We expect all 4 predictors to be relevant to the acceptance of we coach as a new technology. Our first hypothesis (H1) thus states:

- H1a: Performance expectancy contributes to the intention to use we coach.
- H1b: Effort expectancy contributes to the intention to use wecoach.
- H1c: Social influence contributes to the intention to use wecoach.
- H1d: Facilitating conditions contribute to the intention to use we coach.

Organizational Health Development Model

The wecoach tool is a complex intervention approach that is not only a new technology but also an innovative participatory approach that affects different organizational levels. For this reason, we considered it necessary to include additional predictors in our study. Attitudes or beliefs relating to the affected organizational levels may serve as the gateway to considering using such a tool, even before considering aspects such as usefulness or user-friendliness.

We included 3 variables from the OHD model [41]. The OHD model describes capacities on the individual and organizational levels that are needed to implement and sustain health interventions. For example, on the individual level, a leader needs to be competent and motivated to conduct an intervention and perceive it as fitting to their leadership style and values. These aspects should also be true for the members of their team. On the organizational level, resources should be available for the intervention and the intervention should fit with the goals and culture of the organization. Accordingly, we hypothesized that capacities on the individual leader's level (CapSelf), the team level (CapTeam), and the organizational level (CapOrg) will influence the intention to use wecoach. Our second hypothesis (H2) thus states:

- H2a: CapSelf contributes to the intention to use we coach.
- H2b: CapTeam contributes to the intention to use we coach.
- H2c: CapOrg contributes to the intention to use we coach.

Figure 3 illustrates our proposed study model with predictors from UTAUT and the OHD model.

Figure 3. Proposed study model with predictors from UTAUT and the OHD model. OHD: organizational health development; UTAUT: unified theory of acceptance and use of technology.



Methods

Participants and Procedure

The participants in our study were nurse managers and nurse executives working in hospitals or nursing homes in Switzerland, Austria, and Germany. Nurses without leadership responsibilities were not included in the study. The rationale for this decision is that we coach empowers team leaders to conduct a team development process, together with their staff, who do not directly interact with we coach. Since nurse managers would be the primary users of we coach, we were particularly interested in their acceptance of it.

Participants were identified by searching databases or publicly available lists of hospitals and nursing homes in all 3 countries. In some cases, an email address for the nursing director was directly available. In other cases, organization websites were listed, which were then searched for contact information of nursing directors, nurse managers. or other staff, such as human resource personnel, who might be in charge of team development or occupational health in nurses.

We contacted all the largest hospitals and nursing homes in all 3 countries. Additionally, using an online random generator, we also selected subsets of small and medium-size organizations in each canton or state. This varied slightly, based on the databases available for hospitals and nursing homes in each country; however, great efforts were undertaken to ensure that organizations of different sizes, from urban and rural areas and from all regions of each of the 3 countries, were included. The identified contacts were invited by email to participate in our study, and a flyer with further information was included. Participation in the study involved completing several modules of we coach and then answering our online questionnaire (all in German; total time approximately 60-90 minutes). We sent out emails to 2269 recipients working in more than 500 organizations, deemed suitable for participating in or sharing the information about the study, such as nursing unit managers, nursing directors, or persons in charge of human resource development or occupational health and well-being. Persons interested in participating contacted the first author. To be included in the study, participants had to be working in a nursing leadership role with staff supervision responsibilities in either a hospital or a nursing home. Participants were asked to complete 4 modules of wecoach. The first module acquainted them with the technical interface, such as the chatbot and interactive forms. It also introduced them to general information

about work and stress and asked them about their current level of confidence in undergoing health-oriented team development. The second module deepened the understanding of work, stress, engagement; introduced users to the and Job Demands-Resources model [5]; and provided an introduction to the team survey. In the third module, users learned how the team survey works and analyzed their own work situation. In the fourth module, they learned about the team workshop approach and practiced developing measures for improving 1 of their own job resources and job demands. These 4 modules represent only a selection of the full we coach tool and were chosen to provide participants with a good overview of the team development approach and the technology of wecoach, while not requiring too much time. However, participants were free to move around we coach and go over different modules as they pleased.

As an incentive, participants retained access to their fully active we coach account, which allowed them to conduct an entire team development process free of charge. In total, 105 persons registered to participate in the study; however, many did not complete the we coach modules or the questionnaire. The emails we received indicated that this was mainly due to time constraints. To encourage participation, we later provided an incentive of a raffle of 5 gift certificates for an online store worth S0 each (approximately US \$54).

Ethical Considerations

No ethical review of the study was necessary under federal, state, university, or departmental rules. The study was conducted under strict observation of ethical and professional guidelines.

Measures

We assessed the variables of UTAUT by modifying the items used by Venkatesh et al [26]. We attempted to maintain the meaning of the original items, while adjusting them slightly for the purposes of our study. For example, we rephrased the statement Using the system enables me to accomplish my tasks more quickly to I think that wecoach can enable me to more efficiently conduct team development. The capacities for the team development approach were assessed with newly developed items based on the OHD model [41], with 3 items assessing each dimension. All UTAUT and OHD items are illustrated in Table 1. Participants responded to all of these on 7-point scales ranging from 1 (strongly disagree) to 7 (strongly agree). Additional data collected were demographics, work setting, leadership role, and voluntariness of testing wecoach.



Broetje et al

Table 1. Items used to measure variables from UTAUT^a and the OHD^b model.

Variable	Items ^c
Behavioral intention	 I intend to use wecoach within the next 6 months. I plan to use wecoach in the next 6 months. I mean to use wecoach in the next 6 months.
Performance expectancy	 I find wecoach useful for conducting team development. I think that wecoach would make it easier for me to conduct team development. I think that wecoach can enable me to enhance the quality of team development. I think that wecoach can enable me to more efficiently conduct team development. I think that wecoach can convey the knowledge that I need to conduct team development.
Effort expectancy	 I find that we coach does what I want it to without problems. Operating we coach is clear and easy to understand. Using we coach does not require a lot of mental effort. I think that we coach has intuitive user navigation. Learning to operate the system is easy.
Social influence	 In general, I think that my organization would support the use of wecoach for team development. My fellow managers would support the use of wecoach for team development. My team would support the use of wecoach for team development. I think upper management would endorse the use of wecoach for team development. I would be more likely to use wecoach if my colleagues did so as well.
Facilitating conditions	 I have the resources necessary to use wecoach. I have the technological know-how to be able to use wecoach. The wecoach tool is compatible with other systems I use. Assistance for using wecoach is available if I need it. Using wecoach fits with my way of working. Using wecoach fits with the human resource development strategy of our organization.
CapSelf ^d	 I have the necessary competencies to do such team development. I am motivated to do such team development. This team development approach fits with my leadership style.
CapTeam ^e	 Our team has the competences necessary to undertake such team development. Our team is motivated to do such team development. Such team development fits with our team culture.
CapOrg ^f	 The necessary resources (time, finances) are available, so one can conduct such team development. Conducting such team development is in line with our organizational goals. Such team development fits well with our organizational culture.

^aUTAUT: unified theory of acceptance and use of technology.

^bOHD: organizational health development.

^cRated on a scale from 1 to 7.

^dCapSelf: capacities on the individual leader's level.

^eCapTeam: capacities on the team level.

^fCapOrg: capacities on the organizational level.

Analysis

All statistical analyses were performed using SPSS Statistics version 24. To test our hypotheses, we conducted multiple linear regression analyses with all variables that were significantly correlated with our outcome variable, behavioral intention. First, we used the enter method, followed by another analysis using the stepwise method.

Results

Sample Characteristics

In total, 36 participants reviewed we coach and completed our questionnaire. Of these, 4(11%) were removed from the analysis for the following reasons: not having a leadership role, not working in a hospital or long-term care setting, or not registering for the study. Our final sample consisted of 32 persons. Descriptive data on our sample are presented in Table 2.

Table 2. Sample characteristics (N=32).

Characteristic	Respondents					
Age (years), mean (SD)	40.56 (7.76)					
Gender, n (%)						
Female	23 (71.9)					
Male	9 (28.1)					
Work setting, n (%)						
Hospital	28 (87.5)					
Long-term care	2 (6.3)					
Other	2 (6.3)					
Work country, n (%)						
Switzerland	12 (37.5)					
Austria	12 (37.5)					
Germany	8 (25.0)					
Leadership level, n (%)						
Upper	6 (18.8)					
Middle	22 (68.8)					
Lower	4 (12.5)					
Voluntariness of testing wecoach, n (%)						
Own motivation	24 (75.0)					
Were advised to	8 (25.0)					
Minutes spent in wecoach, mean (SD)	137.75 (103.21)					

Preliminary Analyses

The internal reliabilities of our scales ranged from .72 to .92. All variables were examined for outliers based on 2.2 IQRs [42]. Two extreme low values were identified on the variable CapSelf and were winsorized by replacing them with the next lowest value that was not an outlier. Inspection of our outcome variable, behavioral intention, questioned its normal distribution, which was supported by a significant Shapiro-Wilk test (P=.02). Thus, we proceeded with our analyses using Spearman correlation analyses and the Kruskall-Wallis test for group comparisons.

We assessed group differences on the predictor and outcome variables based on sex, age, country, leadership level, and voluntariness of testing wecoach. No significant group differences were found in any of these. Note that no group comparisons were performed for work setting, since 28 (87.5%) of our final 32 participants worked in hospitals, while only 2 (6.25%) worked in long-term care and 2 (6.25%) in psychiatric acute care.

The variable of greatest interest to us was behavioral intention as an indicator of acceptance. Its mean level can be described as moderate. Of all assessed variables, it showed the highest degree of variability among participants. Table 3 displays the mean scores and SDs for behavioral intention and all predictors, their correlations, and internal reliabilities.



Table 3. Scores on UTAUT^a and OHD^b variables, correlations, and internal reliabilities^c (N=32).

Variable	Mean ^d (SD)	Correlation	(P)						
		Behavioral intention	Performance expectancy	Effort ex- pectancy	Social influ- ence	Facilitating conditions	CapSelf ^e	CapTeam ^f	CapOrg ^g
Behavioral intention	4.40 (1.94)	.92	N/A ^h	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Performance expectancy	5.57 (0.99)	.49 ⁱ	.92	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Effort expectancy	5.57 (0.88)	.36 ^j	.25	.81	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Social influence	4.78 (1.03)	.53 ⁱ	.50 ⁱ	.48 ⁱ	.79	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Facilitating conditions	4.65 (0.98)	.52 ⁱ	.59 ^k	.53 ⁱ	.78 ^k	.72	N/A	N/A	N/A
CapSelf	5.81 (0.67)	.29	.39 ^j	.50 ⁱ	.37 ^j	.37 ^j	.81	N/A	N/A
CapTeam	4.80 (1.15)	.61 ^k	.52 ⁱ	.46 ⁱ	.67 ^k	.60 ^k	.44 ^j	.93	N/A
CapOrg	4.45 (1.36)	.34	.38 ^j	.32	.65 ^k	.57 ⁱ	.40 ^j	.63 ^k	.87

^aUTAUT: unified theory of acceptance and use of technology.

^bOHD: organizational health development.

^cInternal reliabilities are reported in the diagonal.

^eCapSelf: capacities on the individual leader's level.

^fCapTeam: capacities on the team level.

^gCapOrg: capacities on the organizational level.

^hN/A: not applicable.

ⁱP<.01.

 $^{j}P < .05.$

^kP<.001.

Findings

To test our hypotheses, the predictors that were significantly correlated with the outcome variable, behavioral intention, namely performance expectancy, effort expectancy, social influence, facilitating conditions, and CapTeam, were entered into a multiple regression model. The assumptions for linear regression were tested and all met, with the possible issue of multicollinearity between social influence and facilitating conditions, which correlated at .776 (P<.001). Examination of the collinearity statistics found the lowest tolerance for facilitating conditions at .27 (with a variance inflation factor of

3.66) and social influence at .28 (with a variance inflation factor of 3.58). Depending on the chosen cut-off, these values can still be considered tolerable.

We began by simultaneously including all 5 predictors using the enter method. This allowed us to examine the overall predictive power of the model as well as examine the respective β weights of the predictors in conjunction. The model explained 43.9% of the variance in behavioral intention (adjusted R²=.331). As Table 4 illustrates, none of the predictors reached significance. CapTeam was the strongest predictor, followed, in declining order, by performance expectancy, social influence, facilitating conditions, and, lastly, effort expectancy.

Table 4. Contributions to behavioral intention: multiple regression analysis using the enter method.

Variable	Unstandardized coefficient B	SE	Standardized β	P value	95% CI
(Constant)	3013	2.240	N/A ^a	.19	-7.617 to 1.591
Performance expectancy	.441	0.345	.226	.21	268 to 1.150
Effort expectancy	.015	0.450	.007	.97	817 to .847
Social influence	.405	0.525	.215	.45	674 to 1.484
Facilitating conditions	.129	0.554	.065	.82	-1.011 to 1.268
CapTeam ^b	.485	0.349	.288	.18	232 to 1.203

^aN/A: not applicable.

^bCapTeam: capacities on the team level.



^dRated on a scale from 1 to 7.

Overlaps in explained variance may have caused the lack of any of the individual predictors reaching significance. To identify the most useful one(s), we also conducted stepwise multiple regression analysis. CapTeam was retained as the only predictor that uniquely contributed to behavioral intention with a standardized β of .582 (*P*<.001). This model explained 33.8% of the variance (adjusted R²=.316) in behavioral intention. All other variables were excluded from the model. These findings are illustrated in Table 5.

Table 5.	Contributions to	behavioral	intention: s	stepwise	multiple	regression	analysis.
----------	------------------	------------	--------------	----------	----------	------------	-----------

Variable		Unstandardized coefficient B	SE	Standardized β	P value	95% CI
Model 1					_	-
(Constant)		313	1.235	N/A ^a	.80	-2.835 to 2.209
CapTeam ^b		.981	0.250	.582	<.001	0.469-1.492
Excluded variables						
Performance ex	spectancy	.283	N/A	N/A	.094	N/A
Effort expectan	су	.093	N/A	N/A	.582	N/A
Social influenc	e	.324	N/A	N/A	.105	N/A
Facilitating cor	nditions	.285	N/A	N/A	.130	N/A

^aN/A: not applicable.

^bCapTeam: capacities on the team level.

A post hoc power analysis using G*Power (Faul, Erdfelder, Buchner, and Lang) [43] estimated the power of our regression analyses at .96, which is good and indicates that despite our limited sample size, our findings are interpretable.

Our findings were not able to confirm any of our hypotheses regarding the predictors of UTAUT (H1). None of the four predictors (ie, performance expectancy, effort expectancy, social influence, and facilitating conditions) significantly contributed to the acceptance of wecoach, indicated by behavioral intention. Of the 3 levels of capacities derived from the OHD model (H2), only CapTeam was found to be a significant predictor, although only after the other variables were excluded in the stepwise multiple regression analysis. Neither CapSelf nor CapOrg significantly contributed to behavioral intention. In summary, only H2b was partially confirmed.

Discussion

Principal Findings

The aim of our study was to examine factors that predict the acceptance of wecoach. In total, 32 nurse managers in Switzerland, Austria, and Germany tested several introductory modules of wecoach and completed our questionnaire, which assessed predictors from UTAUT [26] and the OHD model [41]. Although we hypothesized that all 7 would yield a significant influence on behavioral intention, our analyses found that merely CapTeam significantly contributed to the acceptance of wecoach, although only in the absence of the other predictors.

The level of behavioral intention to use we coach was moderate, while both performance expectancy and effort expectancy were quite high. This suggests that although users perceived we coach as rather useful, they also perceived it as requiring some effort.

Our findings raise the question of whether UTAUT was an appropriate model to determine acceptance in our study. We see findings similar to ours in a study by Apolinário-Hagen et al [44] in their examination of the acceptance of a stress management app. Their strongest predictor was attitudes about the use of health apps for stress management, and like in our study, no additional significant contribution by the UTAUT predictors was found. They concluded that attitudes "may be a more relevant initial precondition of acceptance than elaborated cognitive beliefs on usefulness or usability" [44]. Another, albeit smaller, significant predictor in their study was stress symptoms, alluding to the importance of the perceived need for the intervention.

This critique has been brought up repeatedly against models of technology acceptance. The use of a technology is not an end of its own, determined by how useful and user-friendly, but also by the perceived need for it, that is the task-technology fit [45,46]. According to Füllemann et al [47], an awareness for employee health is not yet present in many organizations, and hence, there may not have been a perceived need for an intervention to address this issue. The same is also implied in the Rogers [18] theory of innovation, which for the stage of attitude formation specifies that attributes not only inherent to but also external to the innovation, such as the need for it or its compatibility with other tools, are of relevance. The concept of fit is recognized in the intervention literature as well. Randall and Nielsen [48] proposed person-intervention fit and environment-intervention fit as 2 dimensions that acknowledge the complex social environment in which interventions occur and that provide a possible answer to why the same intervention sometimes succeeds and sometimes fails.

Given the participatory nature of wecoach, it makes sense that factors relating to the fit on the team level strongly contributed to its acceptance. CapTeam was the strongest contributor to acceptance in our regression analysis and reached significance in the absence of other predictors. The availability of resources on the organizational level and alignment with organization goals, as indicated by CapOrg, however, did not seem immediately relevant for the acceptance of wecoach, although

XSL•FO RenderX

it could be speculated that those, alongside the facilitating conditions, might gain salience in the actual implementation.

The 3 items of the CapTeam scale assessed competence, motivation, and identity, and a closer inspection of the items revealed that 2 of them (*Our team is motivated to do such team development* and *I think that such team development fits well with our team culture*) correlated highly with behavioral intention, while the third one (*Our team has the competences necessary to undertake such team development*) did not. It can be assumed then that the perceived motivation as well as fit with the team climate were the main drivers of intention to use wecoach. Note that these aspects relate entirely to the procedural aspect of wecoach, not the technological one. This could be particularly relevant in a highly collaborative work environment, such as nursing.

Consisting of not only a novel technological approach but also a novel approach to leadership and team development, we coach may be too complex a tool to be suitably assessed with technology-related variables of UTAUT alone. Indeed, the intervention aspect of we coach may have been more salient to the participants than the technology aspect of it. It would be interesting to further examine how users perceive and frame we coach along these 2 dimensions.

As interventions become more sophisticated and more complex, especially in the work context, it is important to acknowledge the limitations of UTAUT and to recommend careful and deliberate selection of variables matched to the level at which innovations occur in order to better understand acceptance. Such fit-related aspects, informed by implementation science and intervention research, may serve as a gateway that determine acceptance before aspects such as usefulness or user-friendliness are even relevant. UTAUT may thus still be a suitable, although not a sufficient model, to understand the acceptance of complex technologies, and enhancing models with carefully selected variables can support researchers and practitioners in detecting the appropriate level to address facilitators of and barriers to their acceptance.

Limitations and Outlook

Several limitations need to be considered in interpreting our findings. First, our sample of 32 was small and represented only a tiny fraction of the persons we invited to participate. This

means that our findings are difficult to generalize to a broader population of nurse managers, despite the satisfactory post hoc power analysis. This also increases the likelihood that our sample was biased and already interested in or open to workplace health promotion or digital interventions. Furthermore, although substantial efforts were undertaken to include staff working in nursing homes, only 2 (6.25%) participants did, limiting the conclusions that can be drawn about that setting. As with any study attempting predictions, longitudinal data would have allowed us to strengthen causal assumptions between the assessed variables. The inclusion of moderators might have also enhanced the predictive power of our model. However, although they contributed substantial variance explanation in the original UTAUT publication study [26], their inclusion may no longer be the most feasible approach [40]. In addition, in our study, sample size limitations did not permit their inclusion. Being an exploratory study examining the acceptance of a complex online-based leadership and team development intervention, qualitative data could yield valuable additional insights into the drivers of the different predictors, especially an in-depth exploration of the perceived motivation on the team level and fit with team culture. It would also be interesting to further understand in what terms users framed wecoach-whether they perceived it more as technology or a team development method.

Conclusion

Our study found that CapTeam is the only significant predictor of the intention to use we coach. This implies that for successful dissemination of such a digitally supported participatory tool, the fit to the team, its culture, and its motivation are of much greater relevance than its technological aspects.

UTAUT has previously been 1 of the dominant models to determine acceptance of new technologies. Our findings suggest that in the case of complex technologies, this may not be the most appropriate model. As new technologies and digital interventions become more complex, it is important to supplement acceptance models through the careful selection of variables matched to the level at which the innovations occur. This can help researchers and practitioners identify the appropriate level to more fully understand acceptance and to address related barriers and facilitators to implementation and use of innovations.

Acknowledgments

This work was supported by the UZH Foundation (ie, the foundation of the University of Zurich).

Authors' Contributions

The data analysis and manuscript were prepared by SB, with support from GFB and GJJ. All authors critically reviewed and contributed to the manuscript and approved the final version.

Conflicts of Interest

GFB and GJJ are board members of the company that distributes we coach.

References



- 1. Brunton G, Dickson K, Khatwa M, Caird J, Oliver S, Hinds K, et al. Developing Evidence-Informed, Employer-Led Workplace Health. London: EPPI-Centre, Social Science Research Unit, UCL Institute of Education, University College London; 2016.
- 2. Kuoppala J, Lamminpää A, Husman P. Work health promotion, job well-being, and sickness absences: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Occup Environ Med 2008;50(11):1216-1227. [doi: 10.1097/jom.0b013e31818dbf92]
- 3. Richardson KM, Rothstein HR. Effects of occupational stress management intervention programs: a meta-analysis. J Occup Health Psychol 2008 Jan;13(1):69-93. [doi: 10.1037/1076-8998.13.1.69] [Medline: 18211170]
- 4. Lehr D, Geraedts A, Asplund R, Khadjesari Z, Heber E, de Bloom J, et al. Occupational e-mental health: current approaches and promising perspectives for promoting mental health in workers. In: Wiencke M, Cacace M, Fischer S, editors. Healthy at Work: Interdisciplinary Perspectives. Cham: Springer; 2016:257-281.
- 5. Demerouti E, Bakker AB, Nachreiner F, Schaufeli WB. The job demands-resources model of burnout. J Appl Psychol 2001;86(3):499-512. [doi: 10.1037/0021-9010.86.3.499]
- 6. Bakker AB, Demerouti E. Job demands-resources theory: taking stock and looking forward. J Occup Health Psychol 2017;22(3):273-285. [doi: 10.1037/ocp0000056] [Medline: 27732008]
- Jenny GJ, Bauer GF, Füllemann D, Broetje S, Brauchli R. "Resources-demands ratio": translating the JD-R-Model for company stakeholders. J Occup Health 2020 Jan;62(1):e12101 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1002/1348-9585.12101</u>] [Medline: <u>31773879</u>]
- Bambra C, Egan M, Thomas S, Petticrew M, Whitehead M. The psychosocial and health effects of workplace reorganisation.
 A systematic review of task restructuring interventions. J Epidemiol Community Health 2007;61(12):1028-1037. [doi: 10.1136/jech.2006.054999]
- 9. Bond F, Flaxman P, Loivette S. A Business Case for the Management Standards for Stress: Research Report 431. London: University of London; 2006.
- 10. Bauer GF, Jenny GJ. Leadership and team development to improve organizational health. In: Nielsen K, Noblet A, editors. Organizational v. London: Routledge; 2018:237-261.
- 11. Nielsen K. Leaders can make or break an intervention but are they the villains of the piece. In: Kelloway EK, Nielsen K, Dimoff JK, editors. Leading to Occupational Health and Safety: How Leadership Behaviours Impact Organizational Safety and Well-Being. Hoboken, NJ: Wiley-Blackwell; 2017:197-209.
- 12. Deloitte. Perspektive E-Health? Consumer-Lösungen als Schüssel zum Erfolg? Veröffentlichung im Rahmen der Studienreihe "Intelligente Netze". Munich: Deloitte & Touche GmbH; 2014.
- Heber E, Ebert DD, Lehr D, Cuijpers P, Berking M, Nobis S, et al. The benefit of web- and computer-based interventions for stress: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Med Internet Res 2017 Feb 17;19(2):e32 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.5774] [Medline: 28213341]
- 14. Stratton E, Lampit A, Choi I, Calvo RA, Harvey SB, Glozier N. Effectiveness of eHealth interventions for reducing mental health conditions in employees: a systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS One 2017;12(12):e0189904 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0189904] [Medline: 29267334]
- 15. Nielsen K, Miraglia M. What works for whom in which circumstances? On the need to move beyond the "what works?" Question in organizational intervention research. Hum Relat 2016;70(1):40-62. [doi: 10.1177/0018726716670226]
- 16. Glasgow RE, Vogt TM, Boles SM. Evaluating the public health impact of health promotion interventions: the RE-AIM framework. Am J Public Health 1999 Sep;89(9):1322-1327. [doi: <u>10.2105/ajph.89.9.1322</u>] [Medline: <u>10474547</u>]
- 17. Glasgow RE, Harden SM, Gaglio B, Rabin B, Smith ML, Porter GC, et al. RE-AIM planning and evaluation framework: adapting to new science and practice with a 20-year review. Front Public Health 2019;7:64 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2019.00064] [Medline: 30984733]
- 18. Rogers E. Diffusion of Innovations. New York, NY: Free Press; 1995.
- 19. Eurofound. Sixth European Working Conditions Survey Overview Report (2017 Update). Luxemburg: Publications Office of the European Union; 2017.
- 20. Aiken LH, Sermeus W, Van den Heede K, Sloane DM, Busse R, McKee M, et al. Patient safety, satisfaction, and quality of hospital care: cross sectional surveys of nurses and patients in 12 countries in Europe and the United States. BMJ 2012 Mar 20;344:e1717 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.e1717] [Medline: 22434089]
- 21. Heinen M, van Achterberg T, Schwendimann R, Zander B, Matthews A, Kózka M, et al. Nurses' intention to leave their profession: a cross sectional observational study in 10 European countries. Int J Nurs Stud 2013 Feb;50(2):174-184. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2012.09.019] [Medline: 23107005]
- 22. Wiskow C, Albreht T, de Pietro C. How to Create an Attractive and Supportive Working Environment for Health Professionals. Copenhagen: World Health Organization, on behalf of the European Observatory on Health Systems and Policies; 2010.
- 23. Bourbonnais R, Brisson C, Vinet A, Vézina M, Abdous B, Gaudet M. Effectiveness of a participative intervention on psychosocial work factors to prevent mental health problems in a hospital setting. Occup Environ Med 2006 May;63(5):335-342 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/oem.2004.018077] [Medline: 16621854]
- 24. Cousins R, MacKay CJ, Clarke SD, Kelly C, Kelly PJ, McCaig RH. 'Management Standards' work-related stress in the UK: practical development. Work Stress 2004 Apr;18(2):113-136. [doi: <u>10.1080/02678370410001734322</u>]

- 25. Grimm LA, Bauer GF, Jenny GJ. A digital tool to build the capacity of leaders to improve working conditions related to psychological health and well-being in teams: intervention approach, prototype, and evaluation design of the web-application "wecoach". Front Public Health 2020;8:521355 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2020.521355] [Medline: 33425825]
- 26. Venkatesh V, Morris MG, Davis GB, Davis FD. User acceptance of information technology: toward a unified view. MIS Quarterly 2003;27(3):425-478. [doi: 10.2307/30036540]
- 27. Fishbein M, Ajzen I. Belief, Attitude, Intention and Behavior: An Introduction to Theory and Research. Reading, MA: Addison-Wesley; 1975.
- 28. Bandura A. Social Foundations of Thought and Action. New Jersey: Englewood Cliffs; 1986.
- 29. Compeau D, Higgins CA, Huff S. Social cognitive theory and individual reactions to computing technology: a longitudinal study. MIS Quarterly 1999 Jun;23(2):145-158. [doi: <u>10.2307/249749</u>]
- 30. Davis FD. Perceived usefulness, perceived ease of use, and user acceptance of information technology. MIS Quarterly 1989 Sep;13(3):319-340. [doi: 10.2307/249008]
- 31. Sok Foon Y, Chan Yin Fah B. Internet banking adoption in Kuala Lumpur: an application of UTAUT model. IJBM 2011 Apr 01;6(4):161-167. [doi: 10.5539/ijbm.v6n4p161]
- 32. Workman M. New media and the changing face of information technology use: the importance of task pursuit, social influence, and experience. Comput Hum Behav 2014 Feb;31:111-117. [doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2013.10.008]
- 33. Rodrigues G, Sarabdeen J, Balasubramanian S. Factors that influence consumer adoption of e-government services in the UAE: a UTAUT model perspective. J Internet Commer 2016 Feb 18;15(1):18-39. [doi: 10.1080/15332861.2015.1121460]
- 34. Thomas T, Singh L, Gaffar K. The utility of the UTAUT model in explaining mobile learning adoption in higher education in Guyana. Int J Educ Dev Using Inf Commun Technol 2013;9(3):71-85.
- 35. Chiu TM, Ku BP. Moderating effects of voluntariness on the actual use of electronic health records for allied health professionals. JMIR Med Inform 2015 Feb 10;3(1):e7 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/medinform.2548] [Medline: 25720417]
- 36. Hennington A, Janz BD. Information systems and healthcare XVI: physician adoption of electronic medical records: applying the UTAUT model in a healthcare context. CAIS 2007;19(1):60-80. [doi: 10.17705/1cais.01905]
- 37. Wills MJ, El-Gayar OF, Bennett D. Examining healthcare professionals' acceptance of electronic medical records using UTAUT. IIS 2008;9(2):396-401. [doi: 10.48009/2 iis 2008 396-401]
- Khechine H, Lakhal S, Ndjambou P. A meta-analysis of the UTAUT model: eleven years later. Can J Adm Sci 2016;33(2):138-152. [doi: 10.1002/cjas.1381]
- 39. Taiwo AA, Downe AG. The theory of user acceptance and use of technology (UTAUT): a meta-analytic review of empirical findings. J Theor Appl Inf Technol 2013;49(1):48-58.
- 40. Venkatesh V, Thong J, Xu X. Unified theory of acceptance and use of technology: a synthesis and the road ahead. JAIS 2016;17(5):328-376. [doi: 10.17705/1jais.00428]
- 41. Jenny GJ, Bauer GF. The limits of control: a systemic, model-based approach to changing organisations towards better health. In: Bauer GF, Jenny GJ, editors. Salutogenic Organizations and Change. Dordrecht: Springer; 2013:167-187.
- 42. Hoaglin DC, Iglewicz B, Tukey JW. Performance of some resistant rules for outlier labeling. J Am Stat Assoc 1986;81(396):991-999. [doi: 10.1080/01621459.1986.10478363]
- 43. Faul F, Erdfelder E, Lang A, Buchner A. G*Power 3: a flexible statistical power analysis program for the social, behavioral, and biomedical sciences. Behav Res Methods 2007 May;39(2):175-191. [doi: 10.3758/bf03193146] [Medline: 17695343]
- 44. Apolinário-Hagen J, Hennemann S, Fritsche L, Drüge M, Breil B. Determinant factors of public acceptance of stress management apps: survey study. JMIR Ment Health 2019;6(11):e15373. [doi: 10.2196/15373]
- 45. Dishaw MT, Strong DM. Extending the technology acceptance model with task-technology fit constructs. Inf Manag 1999;36(1):9-21. [doi: 10.1016/s0378-7206(98)00101-3]
- 46. Sun Y, Bhattacherjee A, Ma Q. Extending technology usage to work settings: the role of perceived work compatibility in ERP implementation. Inf Manag 2009;46(6):351-356. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.im.2009.06.003</u>]
- Füllemann D, Inauen A, Jenny G, Moser P, Bauer G. Betriebliches Gesundheitsmanagement in Schweizer Betrieben, Monitoring-Ergebnisse 2016. Gesundheitsförderung Schweiz Arbeitspapier 40. Bern: Gesundheitsförderung Schweiz; 2017.
- 48. Randall R, Nielsen K. Does the intervention fit? An explanatory model of intervention successfailure in complex organizational environments. In: Biron C, Karanika-Murray M, editors. Improving Organizational Interventions for Stress and Well-Being. London: Routledge; 2012:146-160.

Abbreviations

CapOrg: capacities on the organizational level CapSelf: capacities on the individual leader's level CapTeam: capacities on the team level OHD: organizational health development UTAUT: unified theory of acceptance and use of technology

Edited by E Borycki; submitted 21.01.22; peer-reviewed by A McLean, G Porter; comments to author 15.02.22; revised version received 05.03.22; accepted 16.03.22; published 22.04.22. <u>Please cite as:</u> Broetje S, Bauer GF, Jenny GJ Acceptance of an Internet-Based Team Development Tool Aimed at Improving Work-Related Well-being in Nurses: Cross-sectional Study JMIR Nursing 2022;5(1):e36702 URL: https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e36702 doi:10.2196/36702 PMID:35452403

©Sylvia Broetje, Georg F Bauer, Gregor J Jenny. Originally published in JMIR Nursing (https://nursing.jmir.org), 22.04.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Nursing, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://nursing.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Digital Health Literacy During the COVID-19 Pandemic Among Health Care Providers in Resource-Limited Settings: Cross-sectional Study

Mohammedjud Hassen Ahmed¹, MPH; Habtamu Alganeh Guadie², MPH; Habtamu Setegn Ngusie¹, MPH; Gizaw Hailiye Teferi³, MPH; Monika Knudsen Gullslett⁴, PhD; Samuel Hailegebreal⁵, MPH; Mekonnen Kenate Hunde⁶, MSc; Dereje Oljira Donacho⁷, MPH; Binyam Tilahun⁸, PhD; Shuayib Shemsu Siraj⁹, MPH; Gebiso Roba Debele⁹, MPH; Mohammedamin Hajure¹⁰, MSc; Shegaw Anagaw Mengiste¹¹, PhD

Corresponding Author:

Shegaw Anagaw Mengiste, PhD Department of Management Information Systems University of South East Norway Dalegårdsveien 24 C Drammen, 3028 Norway Phone: 47 31009832 Email: <u>Shegaw.Mengiste@usn.no</u>

Abstract

Background: Digital health literacy is the use of information and communication technology to support health and health care. Digital health literacy is becoming increasingly important as individuals continue to seek medical advice from various web-based sources, especially social media, during the pandemics such as COVID-19.

Objective: The study aimed to assess health professionals' digital health literacy level and associated factors in Southwest Ethiopia in 2021.

Methods: An institution-based cross-sectional study was conducted from January to April 2021 in Ethiopia. Simple random sampling technique was used to select 423 study participants among health professionals. SPSS (version 20) software was used for data entry and analysis. A pretested self-administered questionnaire was used to collect the required data. Multivariable logistic regression was used to examine the association between the digital health literacy skill and associated factors. Significance value was obtained at 95% CI and P < .05.

Results: In total, 401 study subjects participated in the study. Overall, 43.6% (n=176) of respondents had high digital health literacy skills. High computer literacy (adjusted odds ratio [AOR] 4.43, 95% CI 2.34-5.67; P=.01); master's degree and above (AOR 3.42, 95% CI 2.31-4.90; P=.02); internet use (AOR 4.00, 95% CI 1.78-4.02; P=.03); perceived ease of use (AOR 2.65, 95% CI 1.35-4.65; P=.04); monthly income of >15,000 Ethiopian birr (>US \$283.68; AOR 7.55, 95% CI 6.43-9.44; P<.001); good knowledge of eHealth (AOR 2.22, 95% CI 1.32-4.03; P=.04); favorable attitudes (AOR 3.11, 95% CI 2.11-4.32; P=.04); and perceived usefulness (AOR 3.43, 95% CI 2.43-5.44; P=.02) were variables associated with eHealth literacy level.

¹Department of Health Informatics, College of Public Health and Medical Sciences, Mettu University, Mettu, Ethiopia

²School of Public Health, College of Medicine and Health Sciences, Bahir Dar University, Bahir Dar, Ethiopia

³Department of Health Informatics, College of Medicine and Health Science, Debre Markos University, Debre Markos, Ethiopia

⁴Faculty of Health and Social Science, University of South-East Norway, Drammen, Norway

⁵Department of Health Informatics, College of Medicine and Health Science, Arba Minch University, Arba Minch, Ethiopia

⁶Department of Social Sciences, Mettu University, Mettu, Ethiopia

⁷Department of Health Informatics, Mettu University, Mettu, Ethiopia

⁸Department of Health Informatics, University of Gondar, Gondar, Ethiopia

⁹Department of Public Health, Mettu University, Mettu, Ethiopia

¹⁰Department of Psychiatry, Mettu University, Mettu, Ethiopia

¹¹Department of Management Information Systems, University of South East Norway, Drammen, Norway

Conclusions: In general, less than half of the study participants had a high digital health literacy level. High computer literacy, master's degree and above, frequent internet use, perceived ease to use, income of >15,000 Ethiopian birr (>US \$283.68), good knowledge of digital health literacy, favorable attitude, and perceived usefulness were the most determinant factors in the study. Having high computer literacy, frequent use of internet, perceived ease of use, perceived usefulness, favorable attitude, and a high level of education will help to promote a high level of digital health literacy.

(JMIR Nursing 2022;5(1):e39866) doi:10.2196/39866

KEYWORDS

digital, health; literacy; COVID-19; professionals; Ethiopia; health professionals; digital literacy; skills; knowledge; perception; use; education; training

Introduction

Information and communication technologies (ICTs) greatly reduce health disparities through promoting health, preventing disease, and supporting clinical care for all [1-3]. Moreover, the development of ICTs for patient and consumer health apps has been exploding in the past decade, with thousands of websites, hundreds of mobile apps, and dozens of special purpose devices targeted at the health care markets [4-6]. These ICTs enhance the digitalization of health and diversify the use of digital health around the globe; ultimately, it leads to the accessibility of high-quality, cost-effective health care service delivery through improving the communication of health professionals [7-11].

Public health emergencies such as COVID-19 need up-to-date health information for prevention, tackling of the disease, and the protection of the community from long-lasting economic and societal impacts. Digital health is the use of emerging ICT, mainly the internet, to improve health that emphasizes the roles that digital technologies play in facilitating health care, health information delivery and storage, and health-related social support [7,12,13]. However, electronic health tools provide little value if the intended actors of health care systems, such as patients and health professionals, lack the skills to engage them effectively. This makes the skills to search, select, appraise, and apply web-based health information and health care –related digital apps increasingly important in the health care area [5,14,15]. These skills are called digital health literacy or eHealth literacy [16-18].

Digital health literacy is a congregate set of 6 basic skills (traditional literacy, health literacy, information literacy, scientific literacy, media literacy, and computer literacy) [15]. On the other hand, digital health literacy not only requires the ability to search for health-related information, understand the information, and apply it appropriately but also indicates advanced technology that involve patient empowerment and involvement, sharing information, and social networking [19,20]. In the context of digitization, it needs to be emphasized that users are not just passive recipients but rather active participants in the communication process by interacting with existing content or by sharing their own health-related information [21]. In this regard, health care professionals should be able to identify and use reliable health care information sources from the internet and other relevant sources of information to make evidence-based medical decisions as well as to improve health care service delivery [10,15,22,23].

```
https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e39866
```

Ethiopia is at a pivotal moment in its efforts to strengthen the health status of its population. As Ethiopia has made progress in reaching the health-related Millennium Development Goals, the government has realized that these advances need to be accelerated if targets in the areas of maternal and child mortality and infectious diseases are to be achieved.

Even the interaction between technology and health care has a long history, as the embracing of digital health is slow because of limited infrastructural arrangements, capacity, and political willingness [7]. Regardless of the escalating number of internet users and mobile phone penetration around the globe, the implementation of digital health systems continues to be challenging, especially in resource-limited countries [24-26]. Ethiopia is in the process of putting in place a digital health program to improve the delivery of health care services. In line with this, the Ethiopian government has implemented a strategy that focuses on digitalizing the health system [27-30]. However, the low internet penetration in Ethiopia—less than 2%, [31]—and the skills needed to find and evaluate web-based resources remain a challenge for the sustainability of digital health programs [32].

Literature has depicted that digital health literacy positively influences health-promoting behaviors and people's health-related quality of life. Digital health literacy is also influenced by educational background, motivation for seeking the information, the technologies used, frequent internet use, computer literacy, digital health training, knowledge regarding the availability and importance of health information, perceived usefulness, having higher internet efficacy, and attitude toward using web-based health information resources [32-40]. Most of the previous studies conducted in Ethiopia did not examine the potential factors of digital health literacy skill. Some of them focused on digital health strategies, web-based health information source, and the application of ICT and use of computer in the health care area.

Addressing these problems will have a practical benefit for improving the quality of health and health care services. Moreover, evaluating health professionals' digital health literacy skills would allow the government to identify a variety of literacy levels and hindering factors to generate a proper response accordingly. Therefore, this study was aimed at assessing the digital health literacy skill and associated factors among health professionals working at public health facilities in the Illubabor and Buno Bedele zones, Ethiopia.

XSL•FO RenderX

Methods

Study Design and Setting

The cross-sectional study was conducted from January to April 2021 at selected public hospitals in the Illubabor and Buno Bedele zones, Oromia Regional state, Ethiopia. Currently, the Illubabor zone has 14 woredas and 1 administrative town. as well as 41 health centers and 2 hospitals (1 referral hospital and 1 primary hospital). Mettu Karl Referral Hospital and Darimu Hospital provide primary and advanced health care service for the Illubabor zone. The Buno Bedele zone has 10 woredas and 1 administrative town, as well as 3 hospitals called Buno Bedele General Hospital, Dambi Hospital, and Chora Hospital. The health systems of both zones include hospitals, health centers, and health posts.

Population

The source population were all health professionals working at the public hospitals of the 2 zones [41]. All selected health professionals working at the public health hospitals of the 2 zones and available during data collection time were included in the study. Health professionals who have less than 6 months working experience from the 2 zones were excluded from this study [41].

Sample Size and Sampling Procedure

The sample size was calculated using a single population proportion formula by considering the following assumptions.



Therefore, 423 participants were included for this study.

Data Collection and Data Quality Control

The design and development of the self-administered structured questionnaire for this study was guided by literature reviews. Questions were adapted from other studies [17,33,39,42-45]. The questionnaires gathered information about the participants' sociodemographic characteristics, computer skills, attitude, access, and technology-related factors. Data were collected using a self-administered questionnaire that was prepared in English. A total of 4 degree-holding health professionals and 8 health professionals participated in the data collection process as supervisors and data collectors, respectively.

To ensure the quality of data, a pretest was conducted at Jimma University, which has a similar population to our study setting, by taking 10% of respondents from the total sample size. Subsequently, the necessary correction was completed based on the pretest finding. The validity of the questionnaire was determined based on the view of experts, and the reliability was obtained by calculating the Cronbach α (.7) [41]. The scale evidenced high internal consistency (overall Cronbach α =.87). Data collecting material was checked for spelling errors and its completeness and code before the actual data collecting date.

The data were also checked daily by the supervisor and the investigator for its consistency and completeness.

A 2-day training was given to data collectors about the purpose of the study, the content of the questionnaires, and all the study protocols to be followed throughout the data collection. Health facilities were assigned to each data collector so as to increase the response rate. Supervisors conducted regular supervision. Data backup activities such as storing data in different places and duplicating hard and soft copies of data were performed to prevent data loss. Before running the logistic regression model, assumptions were checked for outliers, multicollinearity, and independent error terms. Multicollinearity was tested by running a false linear regression iterating the independent variables as the independent variable, and the result showed the entire variance inflation factor value as less than 3 and tolerance as greater than 0.7, which demonstrated the absence of multicollinearity [41]. The data were also checked for outliers by a box plot, and no outshining outlier effect was observed. The model's goodness of fit was also checked.

We used omnibus tests of model coefficients for the overall (global) fitness of the model and a Hosmer-Lemeshow test for the fitness of the data to the model. Consequently, the omnibus test result was significant with a P value <.05, and the Hosmer-Lemeshow test showed a good model fit with a P value of .61.

Data Management and Analysis

The data was entered using Epi Info (version 7; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention), and analysis was done using SPSS (version 20; IBM Corp) software. Frequency and descriptive statistics were used to describe respondents' characteristics.

Binary logistic regression analysis was conducted to assess the effect of selected variables on digital health literacy skill. Variables having a P value <.2 on the bivariate analysis were entered into a multivariable logistic regression analysis to check for confounding effects on the association from bivariate analysis. The strength of association was described at 95% CI, and a P value <.05 was considered significant. Odds ratios were used to determine the strength of association. Multicollinearity was checked between independent variables.

Ethics Approval

All methods of the study were carried out in accordance with relevant guidelines and regulations. All experimental protocols were approved by the ethical review board of Mettu University (approval ARCSV/161/2013). A permission letter was received from each hospital. After the objective of the study was explained, informed consent was obtained from all study participants. Moreover, privacy and the confidentiality of information were strictly guaranteed by all data collectors and investigators. The information retrieved was used only for the study. Thus, the names of participants and other personal identifiers were not included in the data collection tool.

Result

Participants

In total, 401 study subjects were included in the study. The response rate was 94.8% (401/423). The mean age of the participants was 32.13 (SD 11.2) years. Of the 401 participants, 217 (54.1%) were aged <30 years and 248 (61.8%) were male. Almost half (n=206, 51.4%) of the participants had a monthly

income of <5000 Ethiopian birr (<US \$94.56), and only 35 (8.7%) had a monthly income of 10,000-15,000 Ethiopian birr (US \$189.12-283.68). Regarding education, 119 (54.6%) participants had a diploma and only 46 (11.5%) had a master's degree and above. Additionally, 211 (52.6%) health

professionals had <5 years of working experience and only 48 (12%) had >10 years of working experience. Among the participants, 124 (30.9%) were nurses and 107 (26.7) were physicians, as shown in Table 1.

 Table 1. Sociodemographic characteristics of health professionals.

Va	iable, category	Participant (N=401), n (%)
Ag	e (years)	
	<30	217 (54.1)
	30-39	94 (23.4)
	40-49	49 (12.2)
	>49	41 (10.2)
Ge	nder	
	Female	153 (38.2)
	Male	248 (61.8)
Mo	onthly income (Ethiopian birr)	
	<5000 (<us \$94.56)<="" td=""><td>206 (51.4)</td></us>	206 (51.4)
	5000-10,000 (US \$94.56-189.12)	114 (28.4)
	10,000-15,000 (US \$189.12-283.68)	35 (8.7)
	>15,000 (>US \$283.68)	46 (11.5)
Ed	ucational status	
	Diploma	219 (54.6)
	Bachelor's degree	136 (33.9)
	Master's degree and above	46 (11.5)
Ex	perience (years)	
	<5	211 (52.6)
	5-10	142 (35.4)
	>10	48 (12)
Pr	ofessional category	
	Nurse	124 (30.9)
	Physician	107 (26.7)
	Midwifery	98 (24.4)
	Laboratorian	49 (12.2)
	Others	23 (5.7)

Digital Health Literacy Level

The median digital health literacy score was 27.4 (SD 8.3). Scores less than the median value were labeled as low digital health literacy level, and scores greater than or equal to the median value were labeled as high digital health literacy level.

From the total, 43.6% (175/401; 95% CI: 40.7-54.12) had high digital health literacy skills during the pandemic. Associated factors with a P value <.2 from the bivariate analysis were included in the final multivariable logistic regression model to control the effect of confounding as shown in Table 2.



Table 2.	Digital h	ealth lite	eracy leve	el questions	among	health	professionals	(N=401).
----------	-----------	------------	------------	--------------	-------	--------	---------------	----------

		,			
Items	Strongly dis- agree, n (%)	Disagree, n (%)	Neutral, n (%)	Agree, n (%)	Strongly agree, n (%)
Digital health literacy skills					
The internet is useful in helping you make decisions about your health	123 (30.7)	113 (28.2)	48 (12)	67 (16.7)	50 (12.5)
The internet is important for you to be able to access health resources	121 (30.2)	115 (28.7)	45 (11.2)	71 (17.7)	49 (12.2)
I know what COVID-19-related health resources are available on the internet	e 43 (10.8)	55 (13.8)	81 (20.2)	121 (30)	101 (25.2)
I know where to find helpful health resources on the internet	41 (10.2)	47 (11.7)	91 (22.7)	119 (29.7)	103 (25.7)
I know how to find helpful COVID-19 pandemic resources on the internet	6 (1.4)	56 (14)	78 (19.5)	181 (45.1)	80 (20)
I know how to use the internet to answer my questions about the COVID-19 pandemic	t 4(1)	52 (13)	75 (18.7)	179 (44.6)	91 (22.7)
I know how to use the health information about the COVID- 19 pandemic I find on the internet to help me	8 (2)	54 (13.5)	70 (17.4)	175 (43.6)	94 (23.5)
I have the skills I need to evaluate the COVID-19-related re- sources I find on the internet	- 11 (2.7)	48 (12)	69 (17.2)	172 (42.9)	101 (25.2)
I feel confident in using information from the internet to make COVID-19–related decisions	e 8 (2)	70 (17.5)	54 (13.5)	147 (36.6)	122 (30.4)

Internet Use

Overall, of the 401 respondents, 49.3% (n=198) reported that they used the internet and 203 (50.6%) reported that they have never used the internet. Of the 198 internet users, about one-half (n=99, 50%) accessed the internet or email on a daily basis. Most (304/401, 75.8%) health professionals had access to the internet from home.

Factors Associated With Digital Health Literacy Level

All variables were entered into the binary logistic regression model. Computer literacy, marital status, educational status, monthly income, place of residence, self-efficacy, perceived ease of use, perceived usefulness, attitude and knowledge, and the frequency of internet use were significant factors associated with digital health literacy from the bivariable analysis. All variables were entered into the multivariable logistic regression model. Computer literacy, educational status, monthly income, place of residence, self-efficacy, perceived ease of use, perceived usefulness, attitude and knowledge, and the frequency of internet use were significant factors associated with eHealth literacy from the multivariable analysis. Accordingly, those having high computer literacy were 4.43 (95% CI 2.34-5.67; P=.01) times more likely to have a high eHealth literacy level than those who have low computer literacy. Similarly, respondents who have a master's degree and above were 3.42 (95% CI 2.31-4.90;

P=.02) times more likely to have a high eHealth literacy level than those who have a bachelor's degree or diploma. Health professionals who used the internet daily were 4.00 (95% CI 1.78-4.02; P=.03) times more likely have a high eHealth literacy level than those who used less than 1 day per week. Similarly, respondents who perceived eHealth as being easy to use were about 2.65 (95% CI 1.35-4.65; P=.04) times more likely to have a high eHealth literacy level than respondents who perceived eHealth as not being easy to use. Respondents who earn a monthly income of >15,000 Ethiopian birr (>US \$283.68) were 7.55 (95% CI 6.43-9.44; P<.001) times more likely to have a high eHealth literacy level than respondents who received income of <15,000 Ethiopian birr (<US \$283.68). Those who have good knowledge of eHealth were 2.22 (95% CI 1.32-4.03; P=.04) times more likely to have a high eHealth literacy level than respondents with low knowledge of eHealth. Attitude was also found to be a significant factor that affected the level of eHealth literacy; respondents with favorable attitudes about eHealth were about 3.11 (95% CI 2.11-4.32; P=.04) times more likely to have a high level of eHealth literacy than health professionals who had unfavorable attitude toward eHealth. Additionally, health professionals who perceived usefulness were about 3.43 (95% CI 2.43-5.44; P=.02) times more likely to have a high eHealth literacy level than respondents who did not perceived usefulness, as shown in Table 3.



Ahmed et al

Table 3. Bivariable and multivariable analysis of factors associated with digital health literacy among health professionals.

Variables	ariables Digital literacy level, n		COR ^a (95% CI)	AOR ^b (95% CI)	P value
	High	Low			
Computer literacy					
High computer literacy	84	88	5.10 (2.43-7.65)	4.43 (2.34-5.67)	.01
Low computer literacy	190	39	1	1	
Marital status					
Married	211	98	1.40 (1.12-2.99)	1.21 (0.98-2.31)	.07
Not married	69	23	1	1	
Educational Status					
Diploma	145	74	1	1	
Bachelor's degree	101	35	1.50 (1.21-3.4)	1.49 (0.97-2.54)	.11
Master's degree and above	41	5	4.18 (2.51-6.54)	3.42 (2.31-4.90)	.02
Monthly income (Ethiopian birr)					
<5000 (<us \$94.56)<="" td=""><td>50</td><td>156</td><td>1</td><td>1</td><td></td></us>	50	156	1	1	
5000-10,000 (US \$94.56-189.12)	56	58	3.01 (2.11-5.04)	1.90 (0.96-4.11)	.09
10,000-15,000 (US \$189.12-283.68)	19	16	3.70 (3.21-5.03)	2.96 (2.55-4.04)	.01
>15,000 (>US \$283.68)	34	12	8.84 (5.44-11.65)	7.55 (6.43-9.44)	<.001
Frequency of internet use					
Less than 1 day per week	55	101	1	1	
Several days per week	67	48	2.56 (1.89-3.94)	2.31 (1.76-3.88)	.03
Daily	76	54	2.58 (1.81-3.81)	4.00 (1.78-4.02)	.03
Knowledge					
Good knowledge	190	56	2.39 (1.51-4.80)	2.22 (1.32-4.03)	.04
Poor knowledge	91	64	1	1	
Attitude					
Favorable attitude	210	56	3.38 (2.41-4.80)	3.11 (2.11-4.32)	.04
Unfavorable attitude	71	64	1	1	
Perceived ease of use					
Easy	147	80	2.73 (1.51-4.74)	2.65 (1.35-4.65)	.04
Not easy	70	104	1	1	
Perceived usefulness					
Useful	158	69	4.35 (2.76-6.89)	3.43 (2.43-5.44)	.02
Not useful	60	114	1	1	

^aCOR: crude odds ratio.

^bAOR: adjusted odds ratio.

Discussion

Principal Findings

This study attempted to describe and assess the digital health literacy of health professionals and significant factors. Digital health literacy is the major barrier to access updated health information for health professionals, specifically during public health emergencies. Overall, the findings from this study suggested that the digital health literacy level was low (43.6%;

https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e39866

XSL•FO RenderX 95% CI 40.7-54.12), which was consistent with previous findings [32,38,46-48]. At the same time, our result was lower than the study findings in the Netherlands (76%) [17], Pakistan (54.3%) [42], and Iran (54.4%) [48]. Likewise, a study in Chicago reported that one-quarter of health professionals had low digital health literacy [49]. This variation could be due to the fact that our study was focused on the resource-limited country setting of Ethiopia, in which the internet penetration was very low. Surprisingly, our finding was lower than those of the studies conducted in Northwestern Ethiopia, which

reported that 60% [36] and 69.3% [50] of respondents possessed high digital literacy. This could be due to infrastructure differences in the selected health care facilities.

In contrast, our finding was higher than that of the study conducted in Korea, where digital health literacy was 38.8% [51]. These different findings may be related to the difference between the target populations of these studies. In this study, the participants were health professionals, whereas the study conducted in Korea was among nursing students.

Digital health literacy level is interlinked with sociodemographic, behavioral, and technological factors. Our finding implies that the computer literacy level of health professionals had a direct relationship with digital health literacy level. The professionals who had a high computer literacy level were 4.43 (95% CI 2.34-5.67) times more likely to have higher digital health literacy, which was supported by a previous study [52]. This finding was due to the fact that computer literacy, which is the knowledge and ability to use computer-related technology, made the interaction of health professionals with digital health applications easier.

Professionals who had a master's degree were 3.42 (95% CI 2.31-4.90) times more likely to have a high level of digital health literacy than health professionals who were only diploma holders. This finding is supported by studies conducted elsewhere [38,45,53] and could be due to the fact that higher education makes one more proficient with digital tools use and web-based resources. This finding strengthens the concept that higher education is interlinked with higher use of the internet for health purposes [54].

Similar to previous finding elsewhere [33,38,50,55,56], this study revealed that health professionals who had a higher monthly income were more likely to have a high digital health literacy level, which was 2.96 (95% CI 2.55-4.04) and 7.55 (95% CI 6.43-9.44) times higher for health professionals who had a monthly income of 10,000-15,000 Ethiopian birr (US \$189.12-283.68) and >15,000 Ethiopian birr (>US \$283.68) than health professionals who earned <5,000 Ethiopian birr (<US \$94.56), respectively. This finding might be due to high-earning health professionals having the necessary digital tools such as computer, smart phone, and tablets. However, this study was in contrast with a previous study in Northwest Ethiopia, which reported that a higher monthly income lowers digital health literacy level [32]. This difference might be due to the study setting and participants' sociodemographic characteristics.

Health professionals who used the internet daily were 4.00 (95% CI 1.78-4.02) times more likely to have digital health competency than those who did not use the internet at least one day per week. This finding is in line with previous studies conducted in different areas [38,49,52,57,58] and could be due to the fact that the internet is the precondition for using digital health tools.

The result of this study indicates that health professionals who were knowledgeable on health information sources were about 2.22 (95% CI 1.32-4.03) times more likely to have higher digital health literacy than who had poor knowledge, and this result

```
https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e39866
```

 $XSI \bullet F($

was supported by previous studies [50,59,60]. The possible explanation for this finding could be that digital health–related knowledge builds the competency and skill for using web-based health information sources, and knowledgeable health professionals can look up what and how to do a skill or task.

Health professionals who had a favorable attitude were 3.11 (95% CI: 2.11, 4.32) times more likely to have higher digital health literacy. This result was consistent with previous studies [37,38,50,60]. The explanation for this result could be that the attitude of health professionals helps them be more committed, since they do not consider it to be wasting their time when using digital health tools. Having a favorable attitude indicates an understanding of the relevance and use of digital health tools that could lead to a high literacy level by creating motivated health professionals. Moreover, the change in attitude might lead the overall technological and cultural change.

Regarding the perceived ease of use, this study implied that health professionals who perceived using digital health tools as being easy were 2.65 (95% CI 1.35-4.65) times more likely to have a higher digital health literacy level than their counterparts. This finding could be due to the fact that health professionals who consider using digital tools as being easy were more confident when practicing and building their literacy, and it is known that the perceived ease of use could influence health professionals' acceptance of digital health information technologies [61].

Health professionals who perceive digital tools as useful were 3.43 (95% CI 2.43-5.44) times higher in digital health literacy. This finding is in line with a previous study in Northwest Ethiopia [36] and might be due to the perceived benefit from using digital health tools that enhanced health professionals' attitude, which ultimately leads to sustainably practicing the use of the tools.

Limitations

First, the study was a facility-based cross-sectional study, which could not be used to identify causal inference. Second, the study was conducted at health facilities and might not be generalizable to all administrations of the country. In addition, the study was not able to include health professionals working at private health facilities. Finally, we recommend repeating our study in different parts of the country to determine the level of eHealth literacy, including health professionals from private hospitals.

Conclusions

In general, less than half of the study participants had a high digital health literacy level. High computer literacy, master's degree and above, frequent internet use, perceived ease of use, monthly income of >15,000 Ethiopian birr (>US \$283.68), good knowledge of digital health, favorable attitudes, and perceived usefulness were the most determinant factors associated with digital health literacy skills. Having a high computer literacy, frequent use of internet, perceived ease of use, perceived usefulness, favorable attitude, and high level of education will help promote the level of digital health literacy. However, the level of digital health literacy among health professionals in this study area was relatively low. Thus, an attempt needs to be taken to fill the gap in digital health literacy among health

professionals that will help them increase their productivity and increase the relevance of digital health to their day-to-day tasks.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank the Mettu University, College of Health Science for the approval of ethical clearance and health facilities and data collectors, supervisors, and study participants.

Data Availability

The data sets generated and/or analyzed during the current study will be available upon reasonable request from the corresponding author.

Authors' Contributions

All authors made substantial contributions to conception and design, the acquisition of data, or the analysis and interpretation of data; took part in drafting the article or revising it critically for important intellectual content; gave final approval of the version to be published; and agree to be accountable for all aspects of the work.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- Hamine S, Gerth-Guyette E, Faulx D, Green BB, Ginsburg AS. Impact of mHealth chronic disease management on treatment adherence and patient outcomes: a systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2015 Feb 24;17(2):e52 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3951] [Medline: 25803266]
- Farach N, Faba G, Julian S, Mejía F, Cabieses B, D'Agostino M, et al. Stories from the field: the use of information and communication technologies to address the health needs of underserved populations in Latin America and the Caribbean. JMIR Public Health Surveill 2015 Mar 17;1(1):e1 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/publichealth.4108] [Medline: 27227124]
- Sequist TD, Cullen T, Acton KJ. Indian health service innovations have helped reduce health disparities affecting American Indian and Alaska Native people. Health Aff (Millwood) 2011 Oct;30(10):1965-1973. [doi: <u>10.1377/hlthaff.2011.0630</u>] [Medline: <u>21976341</u>]
- 4. Neter E, Brainin E. eHealth literacy: extending the digital divide to the realm of health information. J Med Internet Res 2012 Jan 27;14(1):e19 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1619] [Medline: 22357448]
- 5. Bickmore TW, Paasche-Orlow MK. The role of information technology in health literacy research. J Health Commun 2012 Oct;17 Suppl 3(sup3):23-29. [doi: 10.1080/10810730.2012.712626] [Medline: 23030559]
- Jensen JD, King AJ, Davis LA, Guntzviller LM. Utilization of internet technology by low-income adults: the role of health literacy, health numeracy, and computer assistance. J Aging Health 2010 Sep;22(6):804-826. [doi: 10.1177/0898264310366161] [Medline: 20495159]
- Maksimović M, Vujović V. Internet of things based e-health systems: ideas, expectations and concerns. In: Khan S, Zomaya A, Abbas A, editors. Handbook of Large-Scale Distributed Computing in Smart Healthcare. Scalable Computing and Communications. Cham, Switzerland: Springer; 2017:241-280.
- Pohl AL, Trill R. Digital health literacy as precondition for sustainable and equal health care a study focussing the users' perspective. 2016 Sep 03 Presented at: WIS 2016: Building Sustainable Health Ecosystems; September 16-18, 2016; Tampere, Finland p. 4637-4646. [doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-44672-1_4]
- 9. Levin-Zamir D, Lemish D, Gofin R. Media Health Literacy (MHL): development and measurement of the concept among adolescents. Health Educ Res 2011 Apr 19;26(2):323-335. [doi: 10.1093/her/cyr007] [Medline: 21422003]
- 10. Jackson DN, Trivedi N, Baur C. Re-prioritizing digital health and health literacy in Healthy People 2030 to affect health equity. Health Commun 2021 Sep 30;36(10):1155-1162. [doi: 10.1080/10410236.2020.1748828] [Medline: 32354233]
- Rouleau G, Gagnon MP, Côté J, Payne-Gagnon J, Hudson E, Dubois CA. Impact of information and communication technologies on nursing care: results of an overview of systematic reviews. J Med Internet Res 2017 Apr 25;19(4):e122 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.6686] [Medline: 28442454]
- 12. Wentzel MJ, Beerlage-de Jong N, Sieverink F, van Gemert-Pijnen JEWC. Slimmer eHealth ontwikkelen en implementeren met de CeHRes Roadmap. In: Politiek C, Hoogendijk R, editors. Co-Creatie eHealthboek: eHealth, technisch kunstje of pure veranderkunde?. Houten, the Netherlands: Aimpact BV; Dec 11, 2014.
- 13. Oh H, Rizo C, Enkin M, Jadad A. What is eHealth?: a systematic review of published definitions. World Hosp Health Serv 2005;41(1):32-40. [Medline: 15881824]
- 14. Park E, Kwon M. Testing the digital health literacy instrument for adolescents: cognitive interviews. J Med Internet Res 2021 Mar 15;23(3):e17856 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/17856] [Medline: 33720031]

- 15. Norman CD, Skinner H. eHealth literacy: essential skills for consumer health in a networked world. J Med Internet Res 2006 Jun 16;8(2):e9 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.8.2.e9] [Medline: 16867972]
- 16. Flash Eurobarometer 404. European citizen's digital health literacy: report. European Commission. 2014 Nov. URL: <u>http://publications.europa.eu/resource/cellar/fd42f9e7-937c-41f3-bf03-4221b2db712b.0001.04/DOC_1</u> [accessed 2022-10-28]
- van der Vaart R, Drossaert C. Development of the Digital Health Literacy Instrument: measuring a broad spectrum of Health 1.0 and Health 2.0 Skills. J Med Internet Res 2017 Jan 24;19(1):e27 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.6709] [Medline: 28119275]
- 18. Lems WF, Working Group in EULAR EFORt recommendations in patients 50 years and over with a fracture. The rheumatologist-orthopaedic surgeon connexion in secondary fracture prevention: SP0135 The eular/efort recommendations for patients with recent fracture. Ann Rheum Dis 2018 Jun 15. [doi: <u>10.1136/annrheumdis-2018-eular.7721</u>]
- 19. Kwon M, Park E. Perceptions and sentiments about electronic cigarettes on social media platforms: systematic review. JMIR Public Health Surveill 2020 Jan 15;6(1):e13673 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/13673] [Medline: 31939747]
- 20. van de Belt TH, Engelen LJ, Berben SA, Schoonhoven L. Definition of Health 2.0 and Medicine 2.0: a systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2010 Jun 11;12(2):e18 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1350] [Medline: 20542857]
- 21. Bittlingmayer UH, Dadaczynski K, Sahrai D, van den Broucke S, Okan O. Digital health literacy-conceptual contextualization, measurement, and promotion. Article in German. Bundesgesundheitsblatt Gesundheitsforschung Gesundheitsschutz 2020 Feb 16;63(2):176-184. [doi: 10.1007/s00103-019-03087-6] [Medline: 31950230]
- 22. Adams SA. Revisiting the online health information reliability debate in the wake of "web 2.0": an inter-disciplinary literature and website review. Int J Med Inform 2010 Jun;79(6):391-400. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2010.01.006</u>] [Medline: <u>20188623</u>]
- 23. Eysenbach G, Diepgen TL. The role of e-health and consumer health informatics for evidence-based patient choice in the 21st century. Clin Dermatol 2001;19(1):11-17. [doi: 10.1016/s0738-081x(00)00202-9] [Medline: 11369478]
- 24. Olok GT, Yagos WO, Ovuga E. Knowledge and attitudes of doctors towards e-health use in healthcare delivery in government and private hospitals in Northern Uganda: a cross-sectional study. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2015 Nov 04;15(1):87 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12911-015-0209-8] [Medline: 26537731]
- 25. Hoque MR, Bao Y, Sorwar G. Investigating factors influencing the adoption of e-Health in developing countries: a patient's perspective. Inform Health Soc Care 2017 Jan;42(1):1-17. [doi: 10.3109/17538157.2015.1075541] [Medline: 26865037]
- Shovlin A, Ghen M, Simpson P, Mehta K. Challenges facing medical data digitization in low-resource contexts. 2013 Jan 16 Presented at: 2013 IEEE Global Humanitarian Technology Conference (GHTC); October 20-23, 2013; San Jose, CA p. 365-371. [doi: 10.1109/ghtc.2013.6713713]
- Shiferaw F, Zolfo M. The role of information communication technology (ICT) towards universal health coverage: the first steps of a telemedicine project in Ethiopia. Glob Health Action 2012 Apr 02;5:1-8 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3402/gha.v5i0.15638] [Medline: 22479235]
- 28. Sagaro GG, Battineni G, Amenta F. Barriers to sustainable telemedicine implementation in Ethiopia: a systematic review. Telemed Rep 2020 Nov 01;1(1):8-15 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/tmr.2020.0002] [Medline: 35722252]
- Barkman C, Weinehall L. Policymakers and mHealth: roles and expectations, with observations from Ethiopia, Ghana and Sweden. Glob Health Action 2017 Jun 25;10(sup3):1337356 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/16549716.2017.1337356] [Medline: 28838303]
- 30. Gebre-Mariam M. Governance lessons from an interorganizational health information system implementation in Ethiopia. E J Info Sys Dev Countries 2018 Aug 06;84(5):e12045. [doi: <u>10.1002/isd2.12045</u>]
- 31. Stork C, Calandro E, Gillwald A. Internet going mobile: internet access and use in 11 African countries. Info 2013 Aug 02;15(5):34-51. [doi: 10.1108/info-05-2013-0026]
- Shiferaw KB, Tilahun BC, Endehabtu BF. Healthcare providers' digital competency: a cross-sectional survey in a low-income country setting. BMC Health Serv Res 2020 Nov 09;20(1):1021 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12913-020-05848-5] [Medline: 33168002]
- Juvalta S, Kerry MJ, Jaks R, Baumann I, Dratva J. Electronic health literacy in Swiss-German parents: cross-sectional study of eHealth Literacy Scale unidimensionality. J Med Internet Res 2020 Mar 13;22(3):e14492 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/14492] [Medline: 32167476]
- 34. Holt KA, Karnoe A, Overgaard D, Nielsen SE, Kayser L, Røder ME, et al. Differences in the level of electronic health literacy between users and nonusers of digital health services: an exploratory survey of a group of medical outpatients. Interact J Med Res 2019 Apr 05;8(2):e8423 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/ijmr.8423] [Medline: 30950809]
- 35. Thapa S, Nielsen JB, Aldahmash AM, Qadri FR, Leppin A. Willingness to use digital health tools in patient care among health care professionals and students at a university hospital in Saudi Arabia: quantitative cross-sectional survey. JMIR Med Educ 2021 Feb 19;7(1):e18590 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/18590] [Medline: 33605896]
- 36. Mengestie ND, Yilma TM, Beshir MA, Paulos GK. eHealth literacy of medical and health science students and factors affecting eHealth literacy in an Ethiopian University: a cross-sectional study. Appl Clin Inform 2021 Mar 07;12(2):301-309 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1055/s-0041-1727154] [Medline: <u>33827143</u>]
- Yang E, Chang SJ, Ryu H, Kim HJ, Jang SJ. Comparing factors associated with eHealth literacy between young and older adults. J Gerontol Nurs 2020 Aug 01;46(8):46-56. [doi: <u>10.3928/00989134-20200707-02</u>] [Medline: <u>32936926</u>]

- Shiferaw KB, Tilahun BC, Endehabtu BF, Gullslett MK, Mengiste SA. E-health literacy and associated factors among chronic patients in a low-income country: a cross-sectional survey. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2020 Aug 06;20(1):181 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12911-020-01202-1] [Medline: 32762745]
- 39. Adil A, Usman A, Jalil A. Qualitative analysis of digital health literacy among university students in Pakistan. J Hum Behav Soc Environ 2020 Dec 08;31(6):771-781. [doi: 10.1080/10911359.2020.1812462]
- 40. Shiferaw KB, Mehari EA, Eshete T. eHealth literacy and internet use among undergraduate nursing students in a resource limited country: a cross-sectional study. Inform Med Unlocked 2020;18:100273. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.imu.2019.100273</u>]
- 41. Ahmed MH, Bogale AD, Tilahun B, Kalayou MH, Klein J, Mengiste SA, et al. Intention to use electronic medical record and its predictors among health care providers at referral hospitals, north-West Ethiopia, 2019: using unified theory of acceptance and use technology 2(UTAUT2) model. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2020 Sep 03;20(1):207 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12911-020-01222-x] [Medline: 32883267]
- 42. Zakar R, Iqbal S, Zakar MZ, Fischer F. COVID-19 and health information seeking behavior: digital health literacy survey amongst university students in Pakistan. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2021 Apr 11;18(8):4009 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph18084009] [Medline: 33920404]
- 43. St. Jean B, Greene Taylor N, Kodama C, Subramaniam M. Assessing the digital health literacy skills of tween participants in a school-library-based after-school program. J Consum Health Internet 2017 Mar 10;21(1):40-61. [doi: 10.1080/15398285.2017.1279894]
- 44. Dadaczynski K, Okan O, Messer M, Leung AYM, Rosário R, Darlington E, et al. Digital health literacy and web-based information-seeking behaviors of university students in Germany during the COVID-19 pandemic: cross-sectional survey study. J Med Internet Res 2021 Jan 15;23(1):e24097 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/24097] [Medline: 33395396]
- 45. Tennant B, Stellefson M, Dodd V, Chaney B, Chaney D, Paige S, et al. eHealth literacy and Web 2.0 health information seeking behaviors among baby boomers and older adults. J Med Internet Res 2015 Mar 17;17(3):e70 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3992] [Medline: 25783036]
- 46. Tariq A, Khan SR, Basharat A. Internet Use, eHealth literacy, and dietary supplement use among young adults in Pakistan: cross-sectional study. J Med Internet Res 2020 Jun 10;22(6):e17014 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/17014] [Medline: 32519974]
- Park H, Moon M, Baeg JH. Association of eHealth literacy with cancer information seeking and prior experience with cancer screening. Comput Inform Nurs 2014 Sep;32(9):458-463. [doi: <u>10.1097/CIN.000000000000077</u>] [Medline: <u>25105588</u>]
- 48. KHademian F, Arshadi Montazer MR, Aslani A. Web-based health information seeking and eHealth literacy among college students. a self-report study. Invest Educ Enferm 2020 Feb 26;38(1):e08 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.17533/udea.iee.v38n1e08] [Medline: 32124576]
- 49. Vollbrecht H, Arora VM, Otero S, Carey KA, Meltzer DO, Press VG. Measuring eHealth literacy in urban hospitalized patients: implications for the post-COVID world. J Gen Intern Med 2021 Jan 19;36(1):251-253 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11606-020-06309-9] [Medline: 33078294]
- Velazquez-Pimentel D, Trockels A, Smith E. Internet use and eHealth literacy among health-care professionals in a resource limited setting: a cross-sectional survey [Letter]. Adv Med Educ Pract 2019 Sep 09;10:803-804 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2147/AMEP.S228037] [Medline: 31565017]
- 51. Kim S, Jeon J. Factors influencing eHealth literacy among Korean nursing students: a cross-sectional study. Nurs Health Sci 2020 Sep 24;22(3):667-674. [doi: 10.1111/nhs.12711] [Medline: 32154981]
- Tesfa GA, Kalayou MH, Zemene W. Electronic health-information resource utilization and its associated factors among health professionals in Amhara regional state teaching hospitals, Ethiopia. Adv Med Educ Pract 2021 Mar 01;12:195-202 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2147/AMEP.S289212] [Medline: 33688292]
- Adil A, Usman A, Khan NM, Mirza FI. Adolescent health literacy: factors effecting usage and expertise of digital health literacy among universities students in Pakistan. BMC Public Health 2021 Jan 09;21(1):107 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-020-10075-y] [Medline: <u>33422042</u>]
- 54. Xesfingi S, Vozikis A. eHealth literacy: in the quest of the contributing factors. Interact J Med Res 2016 May 25;5(2):e16 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/ijmr.4749] [Medline: 27226146]
- 55. Liu P, Yeh L, Wang J, Lee S. Relationship between levels of digital health literacy based on the Taiwan digital health literacy assessment and accurate assessment of online health information: cross-sectional questionnaire study. J Med Internet Res 2020 Dec 21;22(12):e19767 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/19767] [Medline: 33106226]
- 56. Alanezi F. Factors affecting the adoption of e-health system in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. Int Health 2021 Sep 03;13(5):456-470 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/inthealth/ihaa091] [Medline: 33170217]
- 57. Wong DK, Cheung M. Online health information seeking and eHealth literacy among patients attending a primary care clinic in Hong Kong: a cross-sectional survey. J Med Internet Res 2019 Mar 27;21(3):e10831 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/10831] [Medline: 30916666]
- 58. Athanasopoulou C, Välimäki M, Koutra K, Löttyniemi E, Bertsias A, Basta M, et al. Internet use, eHealth literacy and attitudes toward computer/internet among people with schizophrenia spectrum disorders: a cross-sectional study in two

distant European regions. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2017 Sep 20;17(1):136 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12911-017-0531-4] [Medline: 28931385]

- Coyne I, Prizeman G, Sheehan A, Malone H, While A. An e-health intervention to support the transition of young people with long-term illnesses to adult healthcare services: design and early use. Patient Educ Couns 2016 Sep;99(9):1496-1504. [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2016.06.005] [Medline: 27372524]
- 60. Stellefson ML, Shuster JJ, Chaney BH, Paige SR, Alber JM, Chaney JD, et al. Web-based health information seeking and eHealth literacy among patients living with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD). Health Commun 2018 Dec 05;33(12):1410-1424 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/10410236.2017.1353868] [Medline: 28872905]
- 61. Petrič G, Atanasova S, Kamin T. Ill literates or illiterates? investigating the eHealth literacy of users of online health communities. J Med Internet Res 2017 Oct 04;19(10):e331 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.7372] [Medline: 28978496]

Abbreviations

AOR: adjusted odds ratio

PMID:36301671

ICT: information and communication technology

Edited by E Borycki; submitted 26.05.22; peer-reviewed by S Kanfe, M Liu; comments to author 23.06.22; revised version received 25.06.22; accepted 28.06.22; published 14.11.22. <u>Please cite as:</u> Ahmed MH, Guadie HA, Ngusie HS, Teferi GH, Gullslett MK, Hailegebreal S, Hunde MK, Donacho DO, Tilahun B, Siraj SS, Debele GR, Hajure M, Mengiste SA Digital Health Literacy During the COVID-19 Pandemic Among Health Care Providers in Resource-Limited Settings: Cross-sectional Study JMIR Nursing 2022;5(1):e39866 URL: https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e39866 doi:10.2196/39866

©Mohammedjud Hassen Ahmed, Habtamu Alganeh Guadie, Habtamu Setegn Ngusie, Gizaw Hailiye Teferi, Monika Knudsen Gullslett, Samuel Hailegebreal, Mekonnen Kenate Hunde, Dereje Oljira Donacho, Binyam Tilahun, Shuayib Shemsu Siraj, Gebiso Roba Debele, Mohammedamin Hajure, Shegaw Anagaw Mengiste. Originally published in JMIR Nursing (https://nursing.jmir.org), 14.11.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Nursing, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://nursing.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Understanding Whole-Person Health and Resilience During the COVID-19 Pandemic and Beyond: A Cross-sectional and Descriptive Correlation Study

Sripriya Rajamani¹, MBBS, MPH, PhD, FAMIA; Robin Austin¹, DNP, RN-BC, PhD, FAMIA, FNAP; Elena Geiger-Simpson¹, RN, PHN, DNP, PMHNP-BC, APRN; Ratchada Jantraporn¹, RN, MSN; Suhyun Park¹, RN, MSN; Karen A Monsen¹, RN, PhD, FAMIA, FNAP, FAAN

University of Minnesota, Minneapolis, MN, United States

Corresponding Author:

Sripriya Rajamani, MBBS, MPH, PhD, FAMIA University of Minnesota 5-140 Weaver-Densford Hall; 308 Harvard St SE Minneapolis, MN, 55455 United States Phone: 1 6512787426 Email: <u>sripriya@umn.edu</u>

Abstract

Background: The COVID-19 pandemic has prompted an interest in whole-person health and emotional well-being. Informatics solutions through user-friendly tools such as mobile health apps offer immense value. Prior research developed a consumer-facing app MyStrengths + MyHealth using Simplified Omaha System Terms (SOST) to assess whole-person health. The MyStrengths + MyHealth app assesses strengths, challenges, and needs (SCN) for 42 concepts across four domains (My Living, My Mind and Networks, My Body, My Self-care; eg, *Income, Emotions, Pain*, and *Nutrition*, respectively). Given that emotional well-being was a predominant concern during the COVID-19 pandemic, we sought to understand whole-person health for participants with/without *Emotions* challenges.

Objective: This study aims to use visualization techniques and data from attendees at a Midwest state fair to examine SCN overall and by groups with/without *Emotions* challenges, and to explore the resilience of participants.

Methods: This cross-sectional and descriptive correlational study surveyed adult attendees at a 2021 Midwest state fair. Data were visualized using Excel and analyzed using descriptive and inferential statistics using SPSS.

Results: The study participants (N=182) were primarily female (n=123, 67.6%), aged \geq 45 years (n=112, 61.5%), White (n=154, 84.6%), and non-Hispanic (n=177, 97.3%). Compared to those without *Emotions* challenges, those with *Emotions* challenges were aged 18-44 (*P*<.001) years, more often female (*P*=.02), and not married (*P*=.01). Overall, participants had more strengths (mean 28.6, SD 10.5) than challenges (mean 12, SD 7.5) and needs (mean 4.2, SD 7.5). The most frequent needs were in *Emotions*, *Nutrition, Income, Sleeping*, and *Exercising*. Compared to those without *Emotions* challenges, those with *Emotions* challenges had fewer strengths (*P*<.001), more challenges (*P*<.001), and more needs (*P*<.001), along with fewer strengths for *Emotions* (*P*<.001) and for the cluster of health-related behaviors domain concepts, *Sleeping* (*P*=.002), *Nutrition* (*P*<.001), and *Exercising* (*P*<.001). Resilience was operationalized as correlations among strengths for SOST concepts and visualized for participants with/without an *Emotions* challenge. Those without *Emotions* challenges had more positive strengths correlations across multiple concepts/domains.

Conclusions: This survey study explored a large community-generated data set to understand whole-person health and showed between-group differences in SCN and resilience for participants with/without *Emotions* challenges. It contributes to the literature regarding an app-aided and data-driven approach to whole-person health and resilience. This research demonstrates the power of health informatics and provides researchers with a data-driven methodology for additional studies to build evidence on whole-person health and resilience.

(JMIR Nursing 2022;5(1):e38063) doi:10.2196/38063



KEYWORDS

Omaha System; whole-person health; strengths; resilience; assessment; app; health information technology; health informatics; nursing; health care; mobile health; health application; mHealth; health data; health community; digital health

Introduction

With more than 460 million cases of COVID-19 and more than 6 million deaths globally due to the pandemic as of March 2022 [1], along with the physical, financial, and emotional toll on the population, there is a critical need to renew focus on whole-person health and emotional well-being [2]. Whole-person health aims to help and empower individuals to improve their health in biological, behavioral, social, and environmental areas that are interconnected [3]. This whole-person health approach shifts the clinical and public health paradigms from limited transactional and disease-specific treatments to assessing and fostering overall health and promoting resilience [3].

This is known as strengths-based care, where the focus is on solutions and possibilities based on strengths (poststructuralist) models, with a shift away from deficit/pathology (structuralist) models that focus on problems and causes [4]. Strengths are defined as skills, capacities, actions, talents, potential, and gifts in each individual, family, and community [5]. The resilience of an individual is the ability to persevere, heal, and transform in the face of challenges, setbacks, and conflicts [6,7], and is dynamic across the life span [8], is applicable to mental health [9], and can be characterized using their strengths [7]. Movement toward a model that emphasizes talents and preferences is likely to benefit all persons, especially marginalized populations as the focus is on strengths [10], instead of deficits, and may help in decreasing stigmatization and improving engagement.

Informatics solutions through user-friendly tools such as apps for data collection and standards for data representation are useful for whole-person health assessments. A standardized terminology, Simplified Omaha System Terms (SOST), captures all of health in four domains: environmental, psychosocial, physiological, and health-related behaviors [11]. The Omaha System has been used as a strengths-based data capture model [12] and to operationalize resilience. It is mapped to clinical terminologies such as Systemized Nomenclature of Medicine-Clinical Terms (SNOMED CT) [13] and Logical Observation Identifiers Names and Codes, and is embedded within electronic health records (EHRs). In health care, strengths data should be considered in the context of problems so that the data is meaningful and adds value to improving health and health outcomes [14]. These tools with standardized data facilitate the integration of a consumer's whole-person strengths, challenges, and needs (SCN) data within nursing and interprofessional care [15] as well as population health measurement, accelerating the movement toward strength-oriented care and recognizing resilience.

Prior research has led to the development of a consumer-facing app MyStrengths + MyHealth (MSMH) [16] to standardize SCN data capture from a whole-person perspective using SOST [17-19]. Within MSMH and SOST, the integrity and rigor of the structure and concepts of the Omaha System are retained.

```
https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e38063
```

XSL•FC

The Omaha System is a multidisciplinary health terminology [11] that includes three components, the Problem Classification Scheme and related signs/symptoms, the Intervention Scheme, and the Problem Rating Scale for Outcomes. The 42 problem concepts in the Omaha System are organized within four domains (environmental, psychosocial, physiological, and health-related behaviors). These were simplified in SOST as My Living, My Mind and Networks, My Body, and My Self-care (Textbox 1).

The Omaha System Problem Classification Scheme defines the 42 concepts, each of which has 3 to 18 unique taxonomically assigned signs/symptoms/challenges (Figure 1). The Problem Rating Scale for Outcomes enables measurement of strengths across all concepts. A user rates each concept using the Likert-type ordinal scale, where 1 is very bad and 5 is very good (Figure 1). A rating of 4 (minimal challenges) or 5 (no challenges) is defined as a strength. The Intervention Scheme classifies needs (actions) to address all concepts: surveillance (check-ins); treatments and procedures (hands-on care); teaching, guidance, and counseling (info/guidance); and case management (care coordination). In the MSMH app, needs are expressed in four categories: info/guidance (I could use more information about this or some guidance in deciding what to do), hands-on care (hands-on care or help), check-ins (someone to check in with me); and care coordination (help managing my appointments and connections). A screenshot of SCN assessments for the *Exercising* concept is portrayed in Figure 1, and Textbox 2 presents the connections across the SOST domains, concepts, strengths, challenges, and needs.

The MSMH is freely available to researchers, educators, and clinicians, and is licensed through the university [16]. MSMH data are housed in a secure computing network from which license holders may download their complete data. Studies based on the MSMH app have detailed the development and pilot testing [18], analyzed women's cardiovascular health using the app [20], described whole-person health of older adults [21], and examined local data on whole-person health and opioids in the community [22]. Recent research has analyzed MSMH data for resilience at the community level [7] and examined the feasibility of using MSMH-aided consumer-generated data for knowledge discovery [23]. Researchers have used the Omaha System data to understand whole-person health [15], characterize strengths of older adults with chronic illness [24], and examine relationships between social determinants and health disparities [25].

With the growing interest in whole-person health, emotional well-being, and strengths-based care, there is a need to build a body of evidence to demonstrate the value of informatics tools such as the MSMH app. The objectives of this research were to use visualization techniques and data from attendees at a Midwest state fair to examine SCN overall and by groups with/without *Emotions* challenges and explore the resilience of participants.

Textbox 1. MyStrengths + MyHealth domains and concepts.

My Living

- Income
- Cleaning
- Home
- Safe at home and work

My Mind and Networks

- Connecting
- Socializing
- Role change
- Relationships
- Spirituality or faith
- Grief or loss
- Emotions
- Sexuality
- Caretaking
- Neglect
- Abuse
- Growth and development

My Body

- Hearing
- Vision
- Speech and language
- Oral health
- Thinking
- Pain
- Consciousness
- Skin
- Moving
- Breathing
- Circulation
- Digesting
- Bowels
- Kidneys or bladder
- Reproductive health
- Pregnancy
- Postpartum
- Infections

My Self-care

- Nutrition
- Sleeping
- Exercising
- Personal care

XSL•FO RenderX

- Substance use
- Family planning
- Health care
- Medications



Exercising	Exercising	×.	Exercis	ing	×-	Ŧ
Do any of these challenges apply to you?	How would you rate your exercising?	How would you rate your exercising?		Please select your needs for Exercising.		
sit to much	No Rating	No Rating		Check-ins	€	
exercice plan not adequate	Very G	ood	l			
do not exercise like I should	Good			Hands-on Care	*	
none apply	Okay			Info / Guidance	0	
	Very E	ad	(Care Coordination	2	
	🔶 No Ra	ing	ſ	No Needs	8	

Textbox 2. Connecting domains, concepts, strengths, challenges, and needs in MyStrengths + MyHealth app.



Methods

Ethics Approval

The cross-sectional visualization survey study received approval from the university's institutional review board (approval number: #STUDY00009465). Researchers collected deidentified data using the SOST and MSMH app.

Study Setting: Midwestern State Fair

Data collection occurred at a popular Midwest state fair event that is held over 12 days and attracts attendance of more than 2 million annually. This study was conducted in August and

```
https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e38063
```

RenderX

September 2021. Participants self-selected to participate in the study. Participation was restricted to adults (18 years or older) who could complete the MSMH app in English. An informed consent was displayed in the app; participants agreed to reuse their anonymous data for research prior to completing the assessment. They completed the MSMH assessment on university-owned iPads. Participants were given а university-branded drawstring backpack (US \$1.79 value) as an incentive for participation. At the end of the assessment, a unique code was displayed that participants could use to download a summary of their responses. The link to download the summary along with the participants' unique code was provided to each participant in a business card format.
Appropriate COVID-19 protocols were followed: masks were mandatory, iPads were sanitized after every use, and hand-sanitizing lotions were available in multiple places.

Study Tool: MSMH App

As displayed in Figure 1, the MSMH app presents SCN for each concept as previously described using the SOST [21,23]. If all concepts are rated, there would be a total of 42 strengths, 335 challenges, and 168 needs. Of these, 37 concepts were chosen for analysis based on the study objectives and the setting/sample, excluding 5 concepts that did not apply to the majority of participants (*Pregnancy, Postpartum, Family Planning, Consciousness*, and *Growth and Development*). The total time to complete the assessment was approximately 15 minutes per user.

Study Approach and Data Analysis

Data were stored in a secure computing environment hosted by the university. Data were analyzed using visualization techniques in Excel (Microsoft Corporation), and descriptive and inferential statistics were analyzed using SPSS (IBM Corp).

For aim 1, the overall SCN were examined for all participants using descriptive statistics and parallel coordinates visualization techniques [7,26]. Two cohorts were then formed for participants with one or more *Emotions* challenges and those without *Emotions* challenges. SCN were compared using independent sample *t* tests and parallel coordinates visualization techniques. In examining whole-person health and the *Emotions* concept using data visualization techniques, a novel cluster of

health-related behaviors domain concepts (*Sleeping*, *Nutrition*, and *Exercising*) were uncovered and were examined in detail. In addition, bubble charts were created to visualize relationships among SCN across the four domains (My Living, My Mind and Network, My Body, and My Self-care).

For aim 2, to examine resilience, a correlational analysis was conducted on the strengths of participants with and without *Emotions* challenge. Co-occurrences of various strengths across the 37 study concepts were analyzed using the Pearson correlation coefficient. The resulting correlation matrix was conditionally formatted in Excel with blue (most correlated), white (midrange), and red (least correlated).

Results

Overview

The study participants (N=182) were primarily female (n=123, 67.6%), aged \geq 45 years (n=112, 61.5%), White (n=154, 84.6%), and non-Hispanic (n=177, 97.3%). Almost half of the respondents indicated their marital status as married (n=84, 46.2%). The demographics of participants by age, gender, race, ethnicity, and marital status with and without *Emotions* challenges are presented in Table 1. Compared to those without *Emotions* challenges, those with *Emotions* challenges were aged 18-44 years (*P*<.001), more often female (*P*=.04), and not married (*P*=.02). The *Emotions* challenges identified by participants are highlighted in Table 2, with tired (n=69) and hard to manage my stress (n=46) identified as the top two challenges.

Table 1. Demographics of participants: overall and by group with and without an emotions challenge.

Sample characteristic		Sample (N=182), n (%)	Without an <i>Emotions</i> challenge, n (%)	With an <i>Emotions</i> challenge, n (%)	Difference by characteristic and the emotions challenge			
					Chi-square (df)	P value		
Ag	e (years)				14.49 (1)	<.001		
	18-44	70 (38.5)	18 (9.9)	52 (28.6)				
	45 to ≥65	112 (61.5)	61 (33.5)	51 (28.0)				
Ge	nder				4.17 (1)	.04		
	Female	123 (67.6)	47 (25.8)	76 (41.8)				
	Male/other	59 (32.4)	32 (17.6)	27 (14.8)				
Ra	ce				1.71 (1)	.19		
	White	154 (84.6)	70 (38.5)	84 (46.2)				
	All other	28 (15.4)	9 (4.9)	19 (10.4)				
Etł	nnicity				0.02 (1)	.88		
	Non-Hispanic/ non- Latinx	177 (97.3)	77 (42.3)	100 (54.9)				
	Hispanic/Latinx	5 (2.7)	2 (1.1)	3 (1.6)				
Ma	urital status				5.12 (1)	.02		
	Married	84 (46.2)	44 (24.2)	40 (22.0)				
	Other marital categories	98 (53.8)	35 (19.2)	63 (34.6)				

Table 2. Emotions challenges identified by participants.

Emotions challenges in participants	Participants, n
Tired	69
Hard to manage my stress	46
Hard to concentrate	31
Nothing excites me	27
Mood swings	23
Very sad, hopeless	16
Not interested in taking care of myself	16
Fearful	14
Hard to not repeat things I do	13
Strongly annoyed and acting out	11
Angry	8
Flashbacks	7
Hard to understand real life	6
See or hear things that others cannot	4
I think about killing myself or others	5
Self-harm	5

Aim 1: Overall Strengths, Challenges, Needs, and With/Without Emotions Challenges

Figure 2 presents the overall SCN of participants.

Figure 2. Overall strengths, challenges, and needs.



Strengths

XSL•FU RenderX

Participants had an average of 28 strengths (mean 28.6, SD 10.5). *Home* (n=152, 83.5%) and *Safe at Home and Work* (n=152, 83.5%) were the two concepts with the most strengths.

https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e38063

Challenges

Participants had an average of 12 challenges (mean 12, SD 7.5). Common challenges were *Nutrition* (n=129, 70.9%), followed by *Exercising* (n=109, 60.4%) and *Sleeping* (n=106, 58.2%). Figure 2 displays the challenges (red line) exceeding the

strengths (green line) for this cluster of health-related behaviors domain concepts. Over half (n=103, 56.6%) of the participants had one or more challenges in the *Emotions* concept.

Needs

Participants had an average of 4 needs (mean 4.2, SD 7.5). The *Emotions* concept had the most needs, with info/guidance being the common need for this concept (Figure 3). One out of five (n=35, 19.2%) participants identified a need related to *Emotions*. Overall, the top five needs were in *Emotions*, *Nutrition*, *Income*, *Sleeping*, and *Exercising* (Figure 3).

Overall, participants had more strengths than challenges and needs (Table 3). Compared to those without *Emotions* challenges, those with *Emotions* challenges had fewer strengths, more challenges, and more needs than those without *Emotions* challenges (P<.001 for all; Table 3).

The analysis of strengths across concepts and by group with/without *Emotions* challenge showed that the group without *emotions* challenge (indicated in green in Figure 4) had more strengths across all concepts. Compared to those without *Emotions* challenges, those with *Emotions* challenges had fewer strengths for *Emotions* (P<.001) and for the cluster of health-related behaviors domain concepts: *Sleeping* (P=.002), *Nutrition* (P<.001), and *Exercising* (P<.001).

Figure 5 displays the analysis of challenges across the two groups, with higher challenges across all concepts for those in

the *Emotions* challenge group (indicated by the red line). The group with the *Emotions* challenge had more challenges. Compared to those without *Emotions* challenges, those with *Emotions* challenges had more challenges on the cluster of health-related behaviors domain concepts: *Sleeping* (P=.003), *Nutrition* (P<.001), and *Exercising* (P<.001).

The analysis of needs showed more needs for all concepts in the group with *Emotions* challenges (Figure 6). Compared to those without *Emotions* challenges, those with *Emotions* challenges had more needs for *Emotions* (P<.001), and health-related behaviors domain concepts: *Sleeping* (P=.002), *Nutrition* (P<.001), and *Exercising* (P<.001).

Additional visual analysis was conducted across the four MSMH domains to understand whole-person health by domain and concept using bubble charts (Figure 7) in which larger bubble size indicated more challenges; being on the left end of the x-axis showed fewer strengths and on the higher end of the y-axis showed greater needs. This is much more pronounced for the group with *Emotions* challenges (red bubbles) as shown in Figure 7. The combined patterns of location on the two axes and the bubble size show pronounced difference by problem: bubble size and location were notably larger, higher, and more left for *Income* in the My Living domain; *Emotions* and *Socializing* in the My Mind and Networks domain; *vision* and *thinking* in My Body; and *Sleeping*, *Nutrition*, and *Exercising* in My Self-care.





60

Table 3.	Strengths,	challenges,	and needs:	overall and	by	group	with and	l without an	emotions	challenge.
						0				

Variable	Overall (N=182), mean (SD)	Without an <i>Emotions</i> challenge (n=79), mean (SD)	With an <i>Emotions</i> challenge (n=103), mean (SD)	P value
Strengths	28.6 (10.5)	32 (9.6)	26 (10.4)	<.001
Challenges	12 (7.5)	6.7 (3.9)	16.2 (7.0)	<.001
Needs	4.2 (7.5)	1.4 (2.4)	6.3 (9.2)	<.001





Figure 5. Challenges by concept and by group with and without Emotions challenges.



XSL•FU RenderX

Figure 6. Needs by concept and by group with and without Emotions challenges.



Figure 7. Strengths, challenges, and needs by domain, with and without Emotions challenges.



Aim 2: Characterize Resilience for Groups With and Without an Emotions Challenge

The correlational analysis to identify associations in strengths for participants with and without *Emotions* challenges are presented in Figures 8 and 9, respectively. A higher correlation indicates co-occurrence of strengths [7,27]. A total of 666 boxes are displayed for strength correlations with *Emotions* challenges and likewise for without *Emotions* challenges. A red box is an indicator of less correlation and a blue box is an indicator of high correlation, with the white box being in between. For those with *Emotions* challenges, 22.5% (n=150) are blue boxes out of the total of 666 boxes, and for those without *Emotions* challenges, 51.7% (n=344) are blue boxes. As shown in Figures 8 and 9, the correlations among concepts are less strong for those with *Emotions* challenges (more red boxes) and stronger for those without *Emotions* challenges (more blue boxes indicating more and greater positive correlations). The correlation matrix for the group without an *Emotions* challenge depicts strengths that extend across concepts/domains as indicated by the blue boxes that span horizontally and vertically.

Rajamani et al

Figure 8. Strength correlations with Emotions challenges.

With Emotions Challenges	Income	Cleaning	Home	Safe at work & home	Connecting	Socializing	Role change	Relationships	Spirituality or fach	Grief or loss	Emotions	Sexuality	Caretaking	Neglect	Abuse	Hearing	Vision	Speech and language	Dral health	Thinking	Pain	Skin	Moving	Breathing	Circulation	Digesting	Bowel function	Kidney/bladder Reproductive	health	Infections	Nutrition	Sleeping	Exercising	Personal care	Substance use	Health care	Medications
Income																																					
Cleaning	0.032																																				
Home	0.134	0.196																																			
Safe at work & home	0.192	0.228	0.363	a																																	
Connecting	0.175	0.357	0.41	5 0.289																																	
Socializing	0.015	0.255	0.35	2 0.009	0.402	2																															
Role change	0.089	0.308	0.28	0.289	0.370	0.366																															
Relationships	0.158	0.208	0.323	2 0.202	0.266	0.265	0.351																														
Spirituality or faith	0.188	0.183	0.278	8 0.157	0.283	0.326	0.266	0.342	-																												
Grief or loss	0.238	0.168	0.24	4 0.249	0.271	0.196	0.380	0.253	0.362	t																											
Emotions	0.110	0.211	0.123	2 0.221	0.196	0.214	0.391	0.264	0.322	0.454																											
Sexuality	-0.061	0.330	0.16	7 0.093	0.305	0.301	0.184	0.411	0.211	0.153	0.170																										
Caretaking	0.032	0.422	0.24	8 0.375	0.440	0.174	0.508	0.250	0.265	0.288	0.293	0.370																									
Neglect	0.063	0.261	0.253	2 0.138	0.270	0.176	0.296	0.292	0.231	0.366	0.348	0.269	0.303	-																							
Abuse	0.182	0.185	0.213	2 0.161	0.245	0.094	0.235	0.305	0.209	0.331	0.298	0.002	0.138	0.492																							
Hearing	-0.084	0.285	0.18	7 0.026	0.13	0.109	0.191	0.189	0.045	0.095	0.193	0.166	0.243	0.368	0.089																						
Vision	0.209	0.114	0.21	6 0.211	0.182	0.029	0.213	0.167	0.144	0.274	0.282	0.193	0.073	0.207	0.051	0.264																					
Speech and language	0.257	0.254	0.286	6 0.176	0.315	0.170	0.355	0.327	0.183	0.361	0.332	0.164	0.302	0.466	0.421	0.354	0.274																				
Oral health	0.200	0.257	0.395	9 0.268	0.235	5 0.293	0.126	0.090	0.180	0.177	0.205	0.076	0.135	0.229	0.128	0.292	0.310	0.291																			
Thinking	0.217	0.119	0.288	8 0.257	0.300	0.111	0.341	0.279	0.243	0.313	0.461	0.176	0.200	0.256	0.302	0.153	0.324	0.468	0.229																		
Pain	0.198	0.208	0.374	4 0.104	0.434	0.265	0.311	0.241	0.259	0.172	0.223	0.208	0.250	0.206	0.162	0.232	0.209	0.425	0.253	0.483																	
Skin	0.181	0.225	0.334	4 0.164	0.199	0.290	0.333	0.300	0.319	0.236	0.292	0.269	0.351	0.308	0.174	0.205	0,194	0.438	0.314	0.504	0.427																
Moving	0.158	0.249	0.30	0.083	0.218	0.196	0.177	0.455	0.177	0.128	0.116	0.442	0.160	0.277	0.152	0.262	0.324	0.323	0.224	0.383	0.500	0.426															
Breathing	0.341	0.243	0.44	1 0.321	0.437	0.163	0.311	0.270	0.306	0.265	0.218	0.097	0.243	0.314	0.334	0.299	0.297	0.563	0.355	0.386	0.589	0.422	0.425														
Circulation	0.244	0.293	0.30	1 0.187	0.307	0.109	0.220	0.233	0.308	0.213	0.335	0.185	0.204	0.323	0.203	0.352	0.280	0.477	0.267	0.340	0.589	0.382	0.483	0.713	-												
Digesting	0.181	0.141	0.221	9 0.164	0.195	0.125	0.170	0.215	0.153	0.113	0.208	0.105	0.183	0.265	0.222	0,162	0.236	0.291	0.273	0.422	0.385	0.530	0.471	0.559	0.516	-											
Bowel function	0.032	0.216	0.14	5 0.130	0.150	0.133	0.108	0.041	0.142	0.127	0.293	0.048	0.133	0.261	0.233	0.201	0,155	0.110	0.297	0.281	0.375	0.225	0.381	0.378	0.337	0.561											
Kidney/bladder	0.183	0.223	0.314	4 0.200	0.233	0.136	0.157	0.296	0.241	0.152	0.233	0.163	0.090	0.249	0.166	0.235	0.222	0.390	0.289	0.493	0.521	0.447	0.549	0.636	0.596	0.628	0.535										
Reproductive health	0.170	0.193	0.313	0.201	0.251	0.244	0.360	0.267	0.207	0.308	0.291	0.248	0.193	0.314	0.163	0.254	0.279	0.431	0.374	0.402	0.397	0.457	0.430	0.516	0.476	0.500	0.408	0.495									
Infections	0.184	0.145	0.290	0 0.241	0.103	0.098	0.330	0.270	0.227	0.294	0.225	0.067	0.300	0.305	0.271	0.082	0.113	0.466	0.146	0.338	0.427	0.386	0.411	0.441	0.522	0.334	0.248	0.426 0	424	-							
Nutrition	0.192	0.240	0.19	1 0.240	0.184	0.419	0.308	0.209	0.312	0.294	0.312	0.165	0.118	0.036	6 0.037	0.011	0.248	0.160	0.197	0.293	0.127	0.235	0.358	0.241	0.141	0.235	0.322	0.300 0	273	0.242 -	-						
Sleeping	0.091	0.103	0.23	3 0.085	0.293	0.196	0.290	0.278	0.135	0.274	0.207	0.068	0.062	0.149	0.167	0.165	0.347	0.293	0.301	0.276	0.278	0.180	0.303	0.408	0.303	0.305	0.226	0.289 0	.346	0.182	0.254	-					
Exercising	-0.040	0.053	0.18	3 0.074	0.124	0.349	0.096	0.067	0.248	0.193	0.269	0.163	0.011	0.024	0.008	0.082	0.243	-0.009	0.247	0.219	0.110	0.096	0.234	0.162	0.144	0.139	0.264	0.176 0	273	0.183	0.489	0.212	-				
Personal care	0.291	0.352	0.31	5 0.313	0.412	0.158	0.255	0.237	0.511	0.438	0.358	0.209	0.352	0.421	0.331	0.215	0.302	0.512	0.427	0.460	0.426	0.440	0.385	0.621	0.584	0.487	0.398	0.552 0	485	0.373	0.239	0.322	0.167				
Substance use	0.218	0.099	0.35	7 0.133	0.385	0.265	0.319	0.077	0.258	0.229	0.188	0.14 1	0.238	0.210	0.314	0.008	0.131	0.332	0.176	0.344	0.357	0.230	0.169	0.398	0.218	0.277	0.238	0.282 0	.367	0.185	0.164	0.153	0.134	0.401	-		
Health care	0.218	0.191	0.35	7 0.188	0.250	0.129	0.274	0.310	0.167	0.364	0.234	0.051	0.238	0.305	0.208	0.291	0.131	0.493	0.221	0.389	0.357	0.324	0.316	0.398	0.415	0.371	0.284	0.431 0	463	0.415	0.255	0.199	0.134	0.401	0.228	-	
Medications	0.263	0.191	0.35	7 0.297	0.385	0.084	0.319	0.171	0.212	0.319	0.234	0.186	0.376	0.305	0.156	0.149	0.315	0.547	0.221	0.525	0.497	0.324	0.316	0.398	0.267	0.277	0.284	0.382 0	367	0.357	0.164	0.153	0.039	0.505	0.434	0.537	-

Figure 9. Strength correlations without Emotions challenges.

Without Emotions Challenges	Income	Cleaning	Home	Safe at work & home	Con necting	Socializing	Role change	Relatio nships	Spirituality or faith	Grief or loss	Emotions	Sexuality	Caretaking	Neglect	Abuse	Hearing	Vision	Speech and language	Oralhealth	Th inking	Pain	Skin	Moving	Breathing	Circulation	Digesting	Bowel function	Kidney/bladder Reproductive	health	Nutrition	Sleeping	Exercising	Personal care	Su bstance use	Health care	Medications
Income																																				
Cleaning	0.214																																			
Home	0.232	0.519																																		
Safe at work & home	0.313	0.418	0.377																																	
Connecting	0.403	0.318	0.503	0.722																																
Socializing	0.226	0.276	0.398	0.479	0.479																															
Role change	0.432	0.410	0.344	0.304	0.530	0.307																														
Relationships	0.355	0.392	0.287	0.471	0.350	0.365	0.315																													
Spirituality or faith	0.199	0.027	0.187	0.248	0.248	0.318	0.201	0.252																												
Grief or loss	0.283	0.183	0.175	0.154	0.154	0.258	0.392	0.145	0.440																											
Emotions	0.270	0.185	0.343	0.408	0.408	0.537	0.378	0.316	0.216	0.472	-																									
Sexuality	0.131	0.327	0.187	0.144	0.144	0.238	0.286	0.252	0.060	0.370	0.414																									
Caretaking	0.131	0.402	0.282	0.353	0.353	0.398	0.456	0.434	0.138	0.440	0.513	0.451																								
Neglect	0.160	0.338	0.428	0.503	0.503	0.398	0.447	0.507	0.187	0.259	0.582	0.282	0.566																							
Abuse	0.171	0.468	0.685	0.486	0.486	0.530	0.342	0.389	0.175	0.192	0.449	0.175	0.397	0.685																						
Hearing	0.005	0.214	0.232	0.403	0.223	0.087	0.212	0.119	0.131	0,103	0.184	0.063	0.334	0.232	0.267																					
Vision	0.103	0.275	0.342	0.267	0.180	0.167	0.229	0.225	0.074	0.263	0.223	0.270	0.400	0.342	0.409	0.329																				
Speech and language	0.285	0.247	0.344	0.643	0.643	0.307	0.448	0.315	0.116	0.166	0.271	0.201	0.286	0.447	0.462	0.359	0.441																			
Oral health	0.372	0.303	0.356	0.233	0.335	0.375	0.432	0.145	0.273	0.478	0.394	0.349	0.349	0.264	0.379	0.240	0.368	0.349																		
Thinking	0.285	0.329	0.242	0.417	0.304	0.394	0.448	0.315	0.031	0.242	0.486	0.456	0.371	0.447	0.462	0.359	0.512	0.632	0.432																	
Pain	0.214	0.424	0.338	0.318	0.318	0.199	0.410	0.130	0.027	0.183	0.280	0.252	0.252	0.338	0.468	0.344	0.400	0.491	0.523	0.573																
Skin	0.112	0.380	0.422	0.394	0.284	0.367	0.420	0.196	0.261	0.359	0.355	0.344	0.344	0.322	0.439	0.326	0.472	0.420	0.483	0.509	0.459															
Moving	0.150	0.156	0.199	0.377	0.377	0.301	0.344	0.287	0.092	0.175	0.463	0.282	0.282	0.313	0.283	0.314	0.342	0.447	0.356	0.550	0.429	0.521														
Breathing	0.167	0.275	0.369	0.209	0.209	0.335	0.383	0.237	0.138	0.272	0.292	0.225	0.225	0.263	0.489	0.319	0.409	0.383	0.551	0.573	0.527	0.542	0.681													
Circulation	0.087	0.353	0.204	0.265	0.265	0.177	0.394	0.178	-0.003	0.045	0.233	0.318	0.238	0.301	0.417	0.295	0.435	0.394	0.296	0.569	0.506	0.451	0.398	0.514												
Digesting	0.402	0.477	0.377	0.353	0.353	0.318	0.371	0.343	0.216	0.232	0.315	0.295	0.295	0.282	0.397	0.334	0.400	0.286	0.579	0.456	0.627	0.608	0.666	0.489	0.398											
Bowel function	0.438	0.460	0.264	0.335	0.335	0.296	0.432	0.323	0.119	0.207	0.297	0.273	0.349	0.449	0.379	0.174	0.368	0.349	0.475	0.515	0.450	0.483	0.264	0.293	0.453	0.603	-									
Kidney/bladder	0.267	0.262	0.187	0.353	0.353	0.238	0.456	0.161	-0.019	0.232	0.414	0.295	0.295	0.377	0.397	0.267	0.466	0.456	0.349	0.711	0.627	0.344	0.471	0.489	0.659	0.373	0.503	-								
Reproductive health	0.318	0.259	0.142	0.302	0.302	0.256	0.389	0.201	0.011	0.226	0.358	0.380	0.380	0.320	0.346	0.190	0.432	0.469	0.426	0.709	0.542	0.359	0.409	0.339	0.483	0.453	0.570	0.748								
Infections	0.243	0.443	0.369	0.442	0.326	0.335	0.478	0.237	0.138	0.350	0.403	0.313	0.489	0.475	0.489	0.243	0.409	0.383	0.379	0.478	0.611	0.542	0.475	0.509	0.425	0.489	0.379	0.577 0.	22							
Nutrition	0.313	0.372	0.368	0.377	0.289	0.264	0.400	0.327	0.235	0.361	0.162	0.168	0.301	0.288	0.433	0.256	0.448	0.472	0.337	0.472	0.372	0.364	0.288	0.364	0.264	0.367	0.337	0.367 0.4	69 0.	439						
Sleeping	0.122	0.120	0.162	0.332	0.246	0.140	0.273	0.276	0.240	0.170	0.038	0.176	0.240	0.240	0.206	0.178	0.248	0.412	0.273	0.343	0.305	0.238	0.318	0.310	0.206	0.240	0.210	0.305 0.3	36 0.	382 0.45	9					
Exercising	0.178	0.320	0.284	0.301	0.217	0.361	0.304	0.241	0.262	0.343	0.171	0.071	0.262	0.207	0.359	0.288	0.293	0.373	0.354	0.373	0.442	0.333	0.284	0.416	0.361	0.389	0.354	0.325 0.4	08 0.	344 0.55	0.453					
Personal care	0.356	0.470	0.582	0.672	0.672	0.436	0.593	0.431	0.216	0.296	0.498	0.315	0.513	0.582	0.589	0.356	0.388	0.700	0.394	0.593	0.470	0.564	0.463	0.403	0.436	0.414	0.491	0.513 0.4	51 0.	525 0.49	0.365	0.413				
Substance use	0.344	0.424	0.519	0.518	0.418	0.353	0.329	0.305	0.177	0.250	0.375	0.177	0.252	0.429	0.574	0.344	0.400	0.654	0.376	0.491	0.496	0.459	0.338	0.359	0.353	0.477	0.450	0,402 0,4	00 0.	443 0.43	0.243	0.503	0.660	-		
Health care	0.243	0.443	0.369	0.559	0.442	0.245	0.478	0.339	0.138	0.350	0.292	0.313	0.401	0.475	0.489	0.394	0.409	0.668	0.293	0.573	0.443	0.542	0.369	0.312	0.514	0.401	0.465	0,401 0.4	22 0.	410 0.58	0.382	0.487	0.736	0.695	-	
Medications	0.359	0.329	0.344	0.530	0.417	0.220	0.448	0.413	0.201	0.317	0.378	0.201	0.371	0.550	0.462	0.212	0.299	0.540	0.266	0.540	0.491	0.420	0.344	0.288	0.394	0.371	0.515	0.541 0.4	69 0.	668 0.54	0.412	0.373	0.700	0.573	0.668	

Discussion

Findings and Implications

In this descriptive correlational study, SCN data from participants in a Midwest state fair over August-September 2021 were examined using visualization techniques. Overall, participants had more strengths than challenges and more challenges than needs. The data visualization techniques used to examine whole-person health and the *Emotions* concept

https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e38063

RenderX

revealed a novel cluster of health-related behaviors (My Self-care) domain concepts (*Sleeping, Nutrition*, and *Exercising*) with fewer strengths and more challenges and needs. This aligns with the association between sleep, physical activity, and diet during COVID-19 [28-30]. Furthermore, differences in SCN for *Sleeping* in groups with/without an *Emotions* challenge aligns with prior research on the impact of sleeping on overall mental health [31,32]. It is notable that more than half of the participants had challenges in the *Emotions* concept. That those with *Emotions* challenges had fewer strengths and more

challenges and needs across all concepts underscores the importance of a whole-person health perspective. Further research is needed to understand nuances related to SCN across and among these concepts in respect to whole-person health.

The finding that more than half of the participants had challenges in the *Emotions* concept underscores the impact and emotional toll of the pandemic. This aligns with the evidence that emotional issues such as depression, anxiety, and suicidal thoughts have increased since 2020 [2]; for example, the number of US adults who reported symptoms of anxiety or depression in January 2021 increased 4 times compared to June 2019 [2]. The How Right Now communications campaign by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention [2] aims to promote and strengthen the emotional well-being and resilience of people affected by stress, grief, and loss during the COVID-19 pandemic. Data on whole-person health such as those offered by this study has the potential to provide a quantitative data perspective to add to the qualitative lived experiences/narratives being shared as part of this initiative.

The finding that those with *Emotions* challenges also had many strengths is promising; and it is important to identify these as a tool to help understand and potentially bolster resilience. These findings align with prior strength-oriented studies [14,15,33-35]. Strengths can be used as tools to counter challenges, as an individual who has strength in *Socializing* or *Spirituality or Faith* is more likely to use social support systems to mitigate challenges related to concepts such as *Emotions, Relationships*, or *Grief or loss* and use these as their mechanisms to preserve and heal and, hence, build resilience [36,37].

The finding that those with Emotions challenges have fewer strengths and more challenges and needs across all four domains compared to those without Emotions challenges aligns with the literature regarding the impact of mental health on all of health [38,39]. Results align with prior studies that health and disease are a dynamic interconnected state with a ripple effect on other aspects of health [3,40]. Tools such as SOST and MSMH can provide a whole-person assessment and identify areas of strengths to leverage and help boost resilience. The SOST terminology within the MSMH app enabled comparisons across communities and clinical data [7,22], and has been used to analyze community-level resilience [7]. Given the potential for assessment at the individual and community level, powerful tools such as SOST and the MSMH app should be adopted within EHRs and personal health records to generate meaningful data for population health management.

This aligns with the current National Institutes of Health Bridge2AI Initiative that aims to build and leverage robust multidimensional data sets [41]. By tapping into increasing computing power along with machine learning, artificial intelligence, and transformative analytic techniques, these data sets can be used to draw insights on factors that facilitate whole-person health and resilience. Apps such as MSMH leverage the power of terminology standards and health informatics, and provide options for addressing the recommendations of the National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine on design and use of health information technology for whole-person health [42].

Strengths and Limitations

This research demonstrates the power of health informatics, standardized data, and technology to assess, visualize, and test individual- and community-level data. It demonstrates a data-driven methodology for additional studies to build evidence on whole-person health and resilience. Furthermore, such research offers a starting point for initiating conversations about whole-person health with individuals and communities regarding their strengths, challenges, and needs, beginning a shift from a deficit model of health toward whole-person health.

Some limitations were noted. Recruitment challenges due to COVID-19 were considerable, given limited attendance at the state fair and the fact that participants needed to participate indoors and wear a mask inside the research building. The sample may have been biased by these pandemic conditions, as fair attendees in 2021 may be unique in some way that is not known. Lastly, the survey took 15 to 20 minutes to complete, which was a deterrent to some potential participants.

Conclusions

This study examined standardized whole-person data using an app-aided and data-driven approach, quantifying SCN of individuals across all of health (environmental, psychosocial, physiological, and health-related behaviors domains). Examining SCN data for groups with and without *Emotions* challenges revealed patterns in overall health and for important health-related behaviors concepts. This study lays a foundation for numerous research opportunities, such as metric development to measure resilience and the use of SOST and MSMH in clinical care settings to reframe health care encounters in a whole-person perspective.

Acknowledgments

This study was supported by an Updraft Award from the University of Minnesota Informatics Institute. The data collection at the Minnesota State Fair was part of the 2021 portfolio of studies supported by the Driven to Discover Initiative by the University of Minnesota. The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the University of Minnesota.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.



References

- 1. COVID-19 Dashboard by the Center for Systems Science and Engineering (CSSE) at Johns Hopkins University (JHU). Johns Hopkins Coronavirus Resource Center. 2022. URL: <u>https://coronavirus.jhu.edu/map.html</u> [accessed 2022-04-25]
- 2. Taking care of your mental health. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2021. URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/</u> populationhealth/well-being/features/how-right-now.htm [accessed 2022-04-25]
- 3. Whole person health: what you need to know. National Center for Complementary and Integrative Health. 2021. URL: https://www.nccih.nih.gov/health/whole-person-health-what-you-need-to-know [accessed 2022-04-25]
- 4. Fenton AK. A strengths approach to child-protection education. ResearchOnline@JCU. 2012. URL: <u>https://researchonline.jcu.edu.au/24044/</u> [accessed 2022-05-01]
- 5. Rotegård AK, Ruland CM, Fagermoen MS. Nurse perceptions and experiences of patient health assets in oncology care: a qualitative study. Res Theory Nurs Pract 2011;25(4):284-301. [doi: 10.1891/1541-6577.25.4.284] [Medline: 22329082]
- 6. Caldeira S, Timmins F. Resilience: synthesis of concept analyses and contribution to nursing classifications. Int Nurs Rev 2016 Jun;63(2):191-199. [doi: 10.1111/inr.12268] [Medline: 27029400]
- Monsen KA, Austin RR, Goparaju B, Clarence Jones R, Mathiason MA, Pirsch A, et al. Exploring large community- and clinically-generated datasets to understand resilience before and during the COVID-19 pandemic. J Nurs Scholarsh 2021 May;53(3):262-269 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/jnu.12634] [Medline: 33811723]
- Herrman H, Stewart DE, Diaz-Granados N, Berger EL, Jackson B, Yuen T. What is resilience? Can J Psychiatry 2011 May;56(5):258-265. [doi: 10.1177/070674371105600504] [Medline: 21586191]
- Veer IM, Riepenhausen A, Zerban M, Wackerhagen C, Puhlmann LMC, Engen H, et al. Psycho-social factors associated with mental resilience in the Corona lockdown. Transl Psychiatry 2021 Jan 21;11(1):67. [doi: <u>10.1038/s41398-020-01150-4</u>] [Medline: <u>33479211</u>]
- 10. Guo W, Tsui M. From resilience to resistance: a reconstruction of the strengths perspective in social work practice. Int Soc Work 2010 Mar 05;53(2):233-245. [doi: 10.1177/0020872809355391]
- 11. Martin KS. The Omaha System: A Key to Practice, Documentation, and Information Management (reprinted 2nd ed). Omaha, NE: Health Connections Press; 2005.
- Gao G, Kerr M, Lindquist R, Chi CL, Mathiason MA, Austin RR, et al. A strengths-based data capture model: mining data-driven and person-centered health assets. JAMIA Open 2018 Jul;1(1):11-14 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jamiaopen/ooy015] [Medline: 31984314]
- Monsen KA, Finn RS, Fleming TE, Garner EJ, LaValla AJ, Riemer JG. Rigor in electronic health record knowledge representation: lessons learned from a SNOMED CT clinical content encoding exercise. Inform Health Soc Care 2016;41(2):97-111. [doi: 10.3109/17538157.2014.965302] [Medline: 25325887]
- Gao G, Austin R, Kirk L, Holland D, Bruhjell C, Monsen K. Mapping a strength-oriented approach to a standardized terminology: a case study. Stud Health Technol Inform 2021 Dec 15;284:379-383. [doi: <u>10.3233/SHTI210751</u>] [Medline: <u>34920552</u>]
- Monsen KA, Peters J, Schlesner S, Vanderboom CE, Holland DE. The gap in big data: getting to wellbeing, strengths, and a whole-person perspective. Glob Adv Health Med 2015 May;4(3):31-39 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7453/gahmj.2015.040] [Medline: 25984416]
- 16. Austin R, Monsen K. MyStrengths + MyHealth. 2018. URL: <u>https://www.mystrengthsmyhealth.com/</u> [accessed 2022-04-25]
- 17. Monsen K, Austin R, Kesler C, Martin K. Toward the convergence of connected health and public health: designing a web-based application for standardized consumer self-report of strengths and needs data. 2017 Presented at: APHA Annual Meeting & Expo 20; 2017; Atlanta, GA URL: <u>https://apha.confex.com/apha/2017/meetingapp.cgi/Session/53201</u>
- Austin R, Monsen K, Alexander S. Capturing whole-person health data using mobile applications. Clin Nurse Spec 2021;35(1):14-17. [doi: <u>10.1097/NUR.0000000000572</u>] [Medline: <u>33259357</u>]
- 19. Austin R. Picturing patterns in whole-person health: leveraging visualization techniques with structured consumer-generated m health data. University Digital Conservancy. 2018. URL: <u>https://conservancy.umn.edu/handle/11299/202216</u> [accessed 2022-05-01]
- 20. Austin RR, Mathiason MA, Lindquist RA, McMahon SK, Pieczkiewicz DS, Monsen KA. Understanding women's cardiovascular health using MyStrengths+MyHealth: a patient-generated data visualization study of strengths, challenges, and needs differences. J Nurs Scholarsh 2021 Sep;53(5):634-642. [doi: 10.1111/jnu.12674] [Medline: 33998130]
- Monsen K, Austin R, Jones R, Brink D, Mathiason M, Eder M. Incorporating a whole-person perspective in consumer-generated data: social determinants, resilience, and hidden patterns. Comput Inform Nurs 2021 Apr 08;39(8):402-410. [doi: <u>10.1097/CIN.000000000000730</u>] [Medline: <u>33831916</u>]
- 22. Monsen K, Austin R, Ondarra C. HIIT and health equity: using the My Strengths My Health app to provide users with local data regarding whole person health and opioids in the community. 2019 Presented at: APHA Annual Meeting & Expo; 2019; Philadelphia, PA URL: <u>https://apha.confex.com/apha/2019/meetingapp.cgi/Paper/443603</u>
- 23. Austin R, Mathiason M, Lu S, Lindquist RA, McMahon SK, Pieczkiewicz DS, et al. Toward clinical adoption of standardized mHealth solutions: the feasibility of using My Strengths+My Health consumer-generated health data for knowledge discovery. Comput Inform Nurs 2022 Feb 01;40(2):71-79. [doi: 10.1097/CIN.00000000000862] [Medline: 35115437]

- Monsen KA, Holland DE, Fung-Houger PW, Vanderboom CE. Seeing the whole person: feasibility of using the Omaha System to describe strengths of older adults with chronic illness. Res Theory Nurs Pract 2014;28(4):299-315. [doi: 10.1891/1541-6577.28.4.299] [Medline: 25577860]
- 25. Monsen KA, Brandt JK, Brueshoff BL, Chi C, Mathiason MA, Swenson SM, et al. Social determinants and health disparities associated with outcomes of women of childbearing age who receive public health nurse home visiting services. J Obstet Gynecol Neonatal Nurs 2017;46(2):292-303. [doi: 10.1016/j.jogn.2016.10.004] [Medline: 27998686]
- 26. Monsen K, Peterson J, Mathiason M, Kim E, Lee S, Chi CL, et al. Data visualization techniques to showcase nursing care quality. Comput Inform Nurs 2015 Oct;33(10):417-426. [doi: <u>10.1097/CIN.00000000000190</u>] [Medline: <u>26468967</u>]
- 27. Upton G, Cook I. Oxford Dictionary of Statistics (3rd ed). Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press; 2014.
- Villadsen A, Patalay P, Bann D. Mental health in relation to changes in sleep, exercise, alcohol and diet during the COVID-19 pandemic: examination of four UK cohort studies. Psychol Med 2021 Nov 02:1-10 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1017/S0033291721004657] [Medline: 34726136]
- Papazisis Z, Nikolaidis PT, Trakada G. Sleep, physical activity, and diet of adults during the second lockdown of the COVID-19 pandemic in Greece. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2021 Jul 08;18(14):7292 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph18147292] [Medline: 34299743]
- 30. Ingram J, Maciejewski G, Hand CJ. Changes in diet, sleep, and physical activity are associated with differences in negative mood during COVID-19 lockdown. Front Psychol 2020;11:588604. [doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2020.588604] [Medline: 32982903]
- Blackwelder A, Hoskins M, Huber L. Effect of inadequate sleep on frequent mental distress. Prev Chronic Dis 2021 Jun 17;18:E61 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5888/pcd18.200573] [Medline: 34138697]
- 32. Yuksel D, McKee GB, Perrin PB, Alzueta E, Caffarra S, Ramos-Usuga D, et al. Sleeping when the world locks down: correlates of sleep health during the COVID-19 pandemic across 59 countries. Sleep Health 2021 Apr;7(2):134-142 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.sleh.2020.12.008] [Medline: 33509687]
- Monsen KA, Vanderboom CE, Olson KS, Larson ME, Holland DE. Care coordination from a strengths perspective: a practice-based evidence evaluation of evidence-based practice. Res Theory Nurs Pract 2017 Feb 01;31(1):39-55. [doi: 10.1891/1541-6577.31.1.39] [Medline: 28196576]
- 34. Gao G, Kerr MJ, Lindquist RA, Chi C, Mathiason MA, Monsen KA. Discovering associations among older adults' characteristics and planned nursing interventions using electronic health record data. Res Theory Nurs Pract 2019 Feb 01;33(1):58-80. [doi: 10.1891/1541-6577.33.1.58] [Medline: 30796148]
- 35. Gao G, Pieczkiewicz D, Kerr M, Lindquist R, Chi C, Maganti S, et al. Exploring older adults' strengths, problems, and wellbeing using de-identified electronic health record data. AMIA Annu Symp Proc 2018;2018:1263-1272. [Medline: 30815168]
- Manning L, Ferris M, Rosario CN, Prues M, Bouchard L. Spiritual resilience: understanding the protection and promotion of well-being in the later life. J Relig Spiritual Aging 2019;31(2):168-186 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/15528030.2018.1532859] [Medline: 33335455]
- 37. Afifi TD. Individual/relational resilience. J Appl Commun Res 2018 Jan 17;46(1):5-9. [doi: 10.1080/00909882.2018.1426707]
- Koban L, Gianaros PJ, Kober H, Wager TD. The self in context: brain systems linking mental and physical health. Nat Rev Neurosci 2021 May;22(5):309-322 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41583-021-00446-8] [Medline: 33790441]
- 39. Physical health and mental health. Mental Health Foundation. 2022. URL: <u>https://www.mentalhealth.org.uk/a-to-z/p/physical-health-and-mental-health</u> [accessed 2022-05-01]
- 40. Sturmberg JP. Health and disease are dynamic complex-adaptive states implications for practice and research. Front Psychiatry 2021;12:595124. [doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.595124] [Medline: 33854446]
- 41. Langevin HM, Mudd LM. Using artificial intelligence to uncover the path to health restoration. National Center for Complementary and Integrative Health. 2021. URL: <u>https://www.nccih.nih.gov/research/blog/</u>using-artificial-intelligence-to-uncover-the-path-to-health-restoration [accessed 2022-05-01]
- 42. Krist A, Phillips R, Leykum L, Olmedo B. Digital health needs for implementing high-quality primary care: recommendations from the National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2021 Nov 25;28(12):2738-2742 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jamia/ocab190] [Medline: 34537851]

Abbreviations

EHR: electronic health record MSMH: MyStrengths + MyHealth SCN: strengths, challenges, and needs SNOMED CT: Systemized Nomenclature of Medicine–Clinical Terms SOST: Simplified Omaha System Terms



Edited by G Eysenbach, E Borycki; submitted 19.03.22; peer-reviewed by J Holt, CL Chi; comments to author 05.04.22; revised version received 12.04.22; accepted 18.04.22; published 16.05.22. <u>Please cite as:</u> Rajamani S, Austin R, Geiger-Simpson E, Jantraporn R, Park S, Monsen KA Understanding Whole-Person Health and Resilience During the COVID-19 Pandemic and Beyond: A Cross-sectional and Descriptive Correlation Study JMIR Nursing 2022;5(1):e38063 URL: https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e38063 doi:10.2196/38063 PMID:35576563

©Sripriya Rajamani, Robin Austin, Elena Geiger-Simpson, Ratchada Jantraporn, Suhyun Park, Karen A Monsen. Originally published in JMIR Nursing (https://nursing.jmir.org), 16.05.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Nursing, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://nursing.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Acceptability of an mHealth Family Self-management Intervention (myFAMI) for Pediatric Transplantation Families: Qualitative Focus

Stacee Marie Lerret^{1*}, PhD; Erin Flynn², BA; Rosemary White-Traut³, PhD; Estella Alonso⁴, MD; Alisha M Mavis^{5*}, MD; M Kyle Jensen^{6*}, MD; Caitlin G Peterson⁷, DO; Rachel Schiffman⁸, PhD

¹Division of Pediatric Gastroenterology, Hepatology, and Nutrition, Department of Pediatrics, Medical College of Wisconsin, Milwaukee, WI, United States

²Cincinnati Children's Hospital Medical Center, Cincinnati, OH, United States

⁴Division of Pediatric Gastroenterology, Hepatology, and Nutrition, Ann & Robert H Lurie Children's Hospital, Northwestern University Feinberg School of Medicine, Chicago, IL, United States

⁵Division of Gastroenterology, Hepatology, and Nutrition, Department of Pediatrics, Duke University School of Medicine, Raleigh, NC, United States

⁶Division of Pediatric Gastroenterology, Department of Pediatrics, University of Utah, Salt Lake City, UT, United States

⁷Division of Nephrology, Department of Pediatrics, University of Utah Health, Salt Lake City, UT, United States

⁸College of Nursing, University of Wisconsin-Milwaukee, Milwaukee, WI, United States

*these authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author:

Stacee Marie Lerret, PhD Division of Pediatric Gastroenterology, Hepatology, and Nutrition Department of Pediatrics Medical College of Wisconsin 8701 West Watertown Plank Road Milwaukee, WI, 53226 United States Phone: 1 414 266 3944 Email: slerret@mcw.edu

Abstract

Background: Around 1800 pediatric transplantations were performed in 2021, which is approximately 5% of the annual rate of solid organ transplantations carried out in the United States. Effective family self-management in the transition from hospital to home-based recovery promotes successful outcomes of transplantation. The use of mHealth to deliver self-management interventions is a strategy that can be used to support family self-management for transplantation recipients and their families.

Objective: The study aims to evaluate the acceptability of an mHealth intervention (myFAMI) that combined use of a smartphone app with triggered nurse communication with family members of pediatric transplantation recipients.

Methods: This is a secondary analysis of qualitative data from family members who received the myFAMI intervention within a larger randomized controlled trial. Eligible participants used the app in the 30-day time frame after discharge and participated in a 30-day postdischarge telephone interview. Content analysis was used to generate themes.

Results: A total of 4 key themes were identified: (1) general acceptance, (2) positive interactions, (3) home management after hospital discharge, and (4) opportunities for improvement.

Conclusions: Acceptability of the intervention was high. Family members rated the smartphone application as easy to use. myFAMI allowed the opportunity for families to feel connected to and engage with the medical team while in their home environment. Family members valued and appreciated ongoing support and education specifically in this first 30 days after their child's hospital discharge and many felt it contributed positively to the management of their child's medical needs at home. Family members provided recommendations for future refinement of the app and some suggested that a longer follow-up period would be beneficial. The development and refinement of mHealth care delivery strategies hold potential for improving outcomes for solid organ transplantation patients and their families and as a model to consider in other chronic illness populations.

Trial Registration: ClinicalTrials.gov NCT03533049; https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03533049

³Department of Nursing Research, Children's Wisconsin, Milwaukee, WI, United States

(JMIR Nursing 2022;5(1):e39263) doi:10.2196/39263

KEYWORDS

mHealth; pediatric patients; transplantation; family self-management; qualitative

Introduction

Background

Around 1800 pediatric transplantations were performed in 2021, which is approximately 5% of the annual rate of solid organ transplantations carried out in the United States [1]. With successes in achieving high patient and graft survival for pediatric transplantation recipients, focused efforts and the related metrics of quality of care have shifted toward psychosocial patient outcomes. Measures of family experience and outcomes are notably absent [2]. Effective family self-management, the ability and processes used by families to purposefully incorporate health-related behaviors into the family's daily functioning to prevent or attenuate illness or facilitate the management of complex health regimens, is a key consideration for posttransplantation outcomes [3-5].

Successful outcomes of transplantation require effective family self-management [5,6]. The first 30 days following hospital discharge is a critical time for families to self-manage the additional stressors associated with posttransplantation care including managing the child's medical schedule (laboratory/clinic appointments, medication administration), impact on family life, and worry about transplantation complications [7-10].

The use of mobile health (mHealth) technology, particularly to deliver self-management interventions, is a strategy that can be used to support family self-management for transplantation recipients [11,12]. Within an mHealth intervention, including monitoring health and adhering to the medical regimen, self-management strategies improved for adult lung transplantation patients [13]. Furthermore, transplantation recipients have reported that they are largely in favor of utilizing mHealth interventions to aid in their recovery [12,14].

The innovative use of mHealth emphasizes the importance of an interactive partnership between families and nurses [12], an essential component of surveillance and care coordination for the transition from hospital to home in complex patient populations [15-20]. The use of mHealth technology in the postdischarge period allows for ease of access by an additional means of communication between families and the medical team, offering the opportunity for outreach and proactive intervention. mHealth technology offers a low-cost and efficient strategy to provide focused health-related messaging [21-23] and reciprocal communication between the nurse and family. The ability to identify factors associated with difficulty managing the child's illness provides an opportunity to develop effective individualized family-centered interventions that have significant implications for care decisions, complications, and health care use.

Our team has previously conducted a pilot study of the implementation of a family self-management intervention (myFAMI) for families of pediatric heart, kidney, or liver transplantation recipients [24]. The effectiveness of interventions is tied to successful implementation [25]. Our initial evaluation of the intervention included quantitative assessments of feasibility, acceptability, and efficacy [26]. Family member use of the app was feasible in our study as 100% (21/21) of primary family members completed the app at least one day after discharge. More specifically, 81% (17/21) of primary family members used the app at a high frequency by completing the app at least 24/30 days after hospital discharge. Acceptability was evident with high nurse response rate (99%, 133/134) to family member trigger alerts within 2 hours. Improvements in patient outcomes of postdischarge coping, family quality of life, self-efficacy, and utilization of health care resources were in the expected direction [24]. The purpose of this analysis was to explore acceptability of myFAMI through an in-depth analysis of family member experiences with the myFAMI intervention. This exploration provides information for improving the intervention for use in future studies with pediatric transplantation families.

myFAMI App Description

The mHealth intervention, myFAMI, included the use of a smartphone app and nurse response (video or telephone) to support family self-management for family members after their child's transplantation. myFAMI promoted daily communication initiated by an in-app notification and completed by the participating family member for 30 days after discharge. Specifically, family members received an in-app notification at 8:00 AM reminding them to answer the 8 daily questions within 2 hours (ie, by 10 AM); 5 of the 8 questions were symptom-based (fever, vomiting, diarrhea, pain, other illness) and 3 were self-management-based (coping, medication administration, and medical appointments). Preidentified triggers for each question resulted in an alert to the research nurse who subsequently contacted the family to discuss any of the symptom(s) and self-management issues within 2 hours of receiving the alert. The preidentified triggers were defined as follows: (1) an answer of "yes" or "don't know" for the 5 symptom-based questions and (2) an answer of 3 or greater using a scale of "0" (no difficulty) to "10" (great difficulty) for the self-management questions. Figure 1 provides a summary of the app workflow and Figures 2 and 3 illustrate 2 of the 8 survey question pages [27]. Further details regarding myFAMI, study workflow, and app screenshots are available in our protocol manuscript [28] and app development manuscript [27].



Lerret et al

Figure 1. Summary of the myFAMI app workflow.

Survey access	 App downloaded to family member phone on the day of hospital discharge App activated and family member begins daily survey 1 day after hospital discharge
Survey notifications	• Family member receives personalized daily in-app notification to complete survey between 8 AM and 10 AM local time
Survey submission	 Family member completes 8 survey questions and submits via the app Research nurse contacts family member based on survey response(s)
Survey completion	 "Thank you" message appears for family members after daily completion Survey participation inactivates after 30 days

Figure 2. myFAMI app screenshot displaying one of the symptom-based survey questions.





Figure 3. App screenshot displaying one of the self-management–based survey questions.



Methods

Design

This study involves an evaluation of the acceptability of an mHealth intervention (myFAMI) as experienced by the intervention family members participating in a randomized controlled trial comparing myFAMI with standard postdischarge follow-up care [24]. The main pilot study was a randomized controlled trial that evaluated the efficacy of myFAMI [24]. The data for this report include qualitative data from family members who reported their experiences of participating in the mHealth intervention to discern strengths and uncover opportunities for improving the acceptability and outcomes of myFAMI.

Participants

A convenience sample of family units of pediatric heart, kidney, and liver transplantation recipients was enrolled. For this report, a family unit is defined as one of the following: (1) a primary family member only or (2) a primary and secondary family member. This may include a variety of family unit combinations such as mother/father, mother/aunt, father/grandmother, mother/grandmother. Over a 17-month period, family units were enrolled at 4 major pediatric transplantation programs in the United States. Participants were deemed eligible to participate if they were (1) 18 years of age or older; (2) English speaking; and (3) had a child (<18 years of age) who received a heart, kidney, or liver transplantation with expected discharge to home

from the hospital [24]. Likewise, family members were deemed ineligible to participate (1) if they had communication or cognitive impairment that limited their ability to complete the myFAMI questionnaires or (2) if the child had a prior transplantation that would minimize the potential for an experiential effect. A family unit was *not* excluded if only 1 family member (primary family member) was interested in participation.

Procedure

After receiving institutional review board approval at each of the 4 study sites, eligible family members and their child were identified and approached for voluntary participation and informed consent/assent was obtained. On the day of hospital discharge, family units were randomized to the control or intervention (myFAMI) group.

The qualitative data used for this analysis were provided by family members who were assigned to the myFAMI app and participated in a 30-day postdischarge telephone interview. One component of the telephone interview consisted of open-ended questions focused on the overall experience of using the app (Table 1). Overall, 5-10 minutes was devoted to this qualitative component for the myFAMI group. To ensure consistency of interview questions, interviews were conducted by a single interviewer from the Pediatric Translational Research Unit at the main study site using a semistructured interview guide. The interviews were audio-recorded and transcribed by the single interviewer who also verified the accuracy of the transcription and corrected as needed.

Table 1. Qualitative questions in the 30-day follow-up interview.

Lerret et al

Description	Questions
Challenges	• Tell me about any challenges you had with using the app? Technical challenges with the app itself maybe something we can improve for future use.
Functionality	 Tell me if you feel the app helped you after discharge? Helped you to manage your child at home? How much time did it take you to complete the app every day? Did the time spent with the app seem too long, too short, or just right?
Overall experience	Can you tell me more about your experience with using the app?Did you think it was easy or hard to use? Why?
Use of the app	 Did you answer the app every day for 30 days? If not, what were some of the reasons why you did not complete the app? (ie, technical problems with the app or app did not work, forgot that day)
Call experience	Did you receive a call from the research nurse?If yes, what went well? What did not go well?
Recommendations	What recommendations do you have for improving the app?Would you recommend using the app for other families?

Data Analysis

This qualitative approach was guided by content analysis, a systematic and rigorous means of describing the family member experience [29]. The systematic coding of responses was an iterative process leading to emerging themes that portrayed each family's perspectives on, acceptance of, and recommendations for myFAMI [29]. Two experienced qualitative researchers (SL and EF) independently reviewed the interview transcripts and coded data into categories of responses. The 2 reviewers then worked together to systematically compare the coded responses and develop initial themes. Through an iterative process, transcripts and themes were reevaluated to generate the final themes. Rigor was assured by use of an audit trail documenting development of final themes. Differences in coding in the independent review phase were resolved by discussion and consensus between the 2 reviewers.

Ethics Approval

The study was approved by the Institutional Review Board at the Children's Hospital of Wisconsin (IRB approval number 1183697) and at each individual enrolling transplantation center.

Results

Demographics

A total of 21 family units (primary family member only or primary and secondary family members of the transplanted child) had 30-day postdischarge interview data available for analysis. The final sample consisted of 32 primary and secondary family members. The majority of this sample comprised family members of children who received liver transplantations (13/21, 62%). An overwhelming majority of the children (20/21, 95%) and family members (30/32, 94%) were White. The child age spanned from infant to adolescent (range 30 days to 17 years). The age range for family members was 25-63 years. Additional demographic data are listed in Table 2.



Table 2. Demographics.

Characteristics	Values
Family member age (n=32), years, median (IQR)	36.5 (32-46)
Family member gender (n=32), n (%)	
Female	20 (62)
Male	12 (38)
Family member race (n=32), n (%)	
White	30 (94)
Asian	2 (6)
Marital status (n=32), n (%)	
Married	24 (75)
Single	8 (25)
Relationship to child (n=32), n (%)	
Mother	18 (56)
Father	11 (34)
Grandmother	1 (3)
Other	2 (6)
Child age (n=21), years, median (IQR)	8 (3-10.5)
Child gender (n=21), n (%)	
Female	10 (48)
Male	11 (52)
Child race (n=21), n (%)	
White	20 (95)
Asian	1 (5)
Child transplantation type (n=21), n (%)	
Heart	6 (29)
Kidney	2 (10)
Liver	13 (61)

General Acceptance

In the 30-day follow-up interview, nearly all participants (31/32, 97%) reported that the app was easy to use. In discussing certain features, 41% of family members (13/32) specifically mentioned that design features made the app easy to use. Question setup and phrasing were mentioned as a good part of the app design (4/32, 13%). One participant mentioned liking the pictures that were added with the questions, while 3 participants stated the notifications/reminders to complete the survey were good features. For example, a participant stated, "It sent notifications; reminders were helpful; simple and easy to use". Another parent stated, "Easy to use, being able to click yes or no". When asked about time spent with the app, the majority of family members (29/32, 91%) said it took 2 minutes or less to complete the app daily, and that time spent in the app was "just right."

Family members who did not complete the app every day reported various reasons for missing days, including that they forgot (2/32, 6%), were away from the child (1/32, 3%), or were not sure (2/32, 6%). One parent stated, "2 or 3 times I wasn't

```
https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e39263
```

RenderX

able to answer, days I may have gone home and wasn't next to him [child], didn't want to provide inaccurate information". One other family member stated, "I believe I missed one day, can't remember why".

When asked about their experience with the app, family members indicated high levels of general acceptance, with 88% (28/32) recommending use of the app for future candidates. Supporting the theme of acceptance, a family member reported, "Yes [they would recommend it to other families], great to have the psychological safety net", while another reported that they "highly recommend [use of the app]". One family member did not recommend the app without explanation and another said s/he would recommend the app clarifying that "would recommend if it [the app] was geared towards helping people understand symptoms of infection and rejection".

Positive Interactions

Overall, among the 32 participating primary and secondary family members, 163 triggers were generated based on answers provided in the app. When a trigger alert was generated, the

family member received a call from the research nurse to discuss reason for the alert. The nurses responded to 99.3% (162/163) of the trigger alerts within 2 hours. In all, 23/32 (72%) family members who were interviewed reported receiving a call from the research nurse; 21/23 (91%) of these family members stated that the calls with the research nurse were positive interactions (Table 3) and that the interactions with the research nurse were helpful (5/23, 22%). One family member supported this by saying, "Helped with adjustments in the beginning; she [the nurse] was very nice", while another family member stated, "Received quick calls and they were beneficial". Others who responded complimented the research nurses beyond the point of stating that it was a helpful interaction, that is, "Very positive and thorough; very caring, genuinely helpful". The family members who used a video call reported a positive experience and stated, "the Zoom interaction worked well; the ability to share real time was best". When asked what did not go well with the research nurse, only 1 participant (4%) answered by stating "Nice if a '5' would constitute a trigger versus a '3"".

Table 3. Themes and exemplar family member quotes.

Theme/category	Family member response
General Acceptance	Easy to use, multiple choice was helpful
	Reminders were handy
	Super easy and fast
	Easy, and I'm not that tech savvy
	Easy, straight forward, within minutes someone would call us; reassuring as we had problems with diarrhea secondary to potassium levels
	Easy to use, repetitive in nature helped with awareness
Positive Interactions (with the research nurse)	Interactions were great
	Direct calls with RNs went well
	Went well [conversation with nurse], friendly and open to conversation, beneficial
	Research nurses were good, positive interactions
	RNs were good and knowledgeable
	Everyone [nurses] were informative and supportive, positive experience
	Got better talking with nurses because of the app
Home Management: Helped Manage After Discharge	Yes, I can get a hold of nurse; helped me become less anxious
	I think it helped initially to focus in on potential rejection symptoms; helped reassure that someone would call and talk through
	The 'difficulty' questions weren't particularly helpful, but didn't hurt, might be valuable to some users
	Nice to know that is there was a problem they would call back right away
	Awareness versus management, didn't take symptoms for granted
	It keeps you cognizant of what to look for
	Yes, couple of times we had difficulty with taking medications and nurse provided sugges- tions that helped
	The app helped to take inventory of what was going on
	If we had questions about the PICC line, the team was able to respond with direct feedback $\$
Opportunities for Improvement	Good app, I liked it, possibly be able to open it back and do a follow-up note. It would be nice to have access to an ongoing record
	Maybe change your parameters, I thought a '3' was a good score so why did it cause a trigger? After than I put a '2' and didn't get a call
	Continue beyond the 30-day mark

Home Management

The majority of participants (23/32, 72%) stated that the app allowed them to better manage their child's medical-related care after hospital discharge. The family members noted that the app helped them to be aware of symptoms and monitor the child for rejection. They specifically identified the value of access to the nurse for managing problems and resolving difficulties with their child's treatments. The app and response by the nurse provided support, reassurance, and help with managing emotions, as one participant stated, "if I put in an illness the nurse called, it helped me manage" and another participant stated, "it helped me focus on getting him [child] better". As many as 5 participants (16%) reported that the app did not help in managing the child (ie, "not really" or "didn't add much value"). Specifically, 1 family member stated, "Not really manage, more of an assist".

Opportunities for Improvement

Although there were high levels of general acceptance, 25% of participants (8/32) also reported challenges, most frequently (4/8) technology-related challenges. Specifically, 1 participant stated, "In the beginning, the app didn't work well on the phone; a study team member helped to get it working". Two other

Lerret et al

JMIR NURSING

participants reported feeling uncertain while using the app. For example, 1 participant stated, "When it talked about bowel movements, I'd question whether I should say 'yes' or 'no'; if it changed a little, I wasn't sure how to record". Two participants stated that their only challenge was remembering to do the daily questions. One family member said, "No challenges other than remembering to complete it at times" and another parent stated, "the biggest challenge was remembering to complete it".

In considering potential challenges, themes emerged from participant responses regarding recommendations to improve the app. In this, a few themes regarding ideas for improvement developed. First, 5 of the 32 family members recommended having the questions presented in a different order each day and with varying pictures. One participant supported this theme by stating, "switch up some of the questions." Second, 4 participants recommended adding a space for extended feedback within the daily survey, that is, "Suggest adding a comments option. More chances for feedback...". Four others recommended having more flexibility in calls with nurses. For example, "... the ability to leave a time to call back". Lastly, 2 participants indicated that extending the use of the survey beyond 30 days would be beneficial, making a suggestion for, "longer, maybe out to the three-month mark".

 Table 3 lists additional family member responses for each of the 4 main themes.

Discussion

Principal Findings

The use of mHealth is an innovative approach that complements medical management for supporting the transition from hospital to home-based family self-management for medically complex children. This study aimed to understand parent perspectives and acceptability of a family self-management intervention (myFAMI) for the first 30 days after the child's heart, kidney, or liver transplantation. It was important to learn the family perspective on acceptability of myFAMI to more fully understand how to further improve this mHealth app to promote successful family self-management during this high-acuity time [30]. The themes emerging from family member responses to use of myFAMI provide insight into the usability and acceptability of a delivery model for postdischarge continuation of surveillance, support, and care management using an mHealth app combined with triggered nurse responses to support family self-management.

Family members reported overwhelmingly positive perceptions of acceptability of the app. The high acceptability for an mHealth smartphone intervention has been similarly reported by adult liver transplantation recipients who stated that an app would help with their transplantation recovery [14]. mHealth has also been reported as an accessible and effective way to provide medical care and psychosocial support to adolescent and young adult lung transplantation recipients, engaging them in their own health care [31]. Further, a study with a platform similar to the one used in this study utilized SMS text messaging with adolescent solid organ transplantation recipients. The high acceptance rate (68%) supported mHealth technology as an acceptable means of communicating with the clinical care team [32]. The widespread use of technology offers unique opportunities for the use of patient-nurse interfaces to efficiently support patients and families at home.

Family members reported appreciation for the positive interactions during direct conversations with the nurse (video or telephone) in response to triggers from the app, describing the nurses as knowledgeable and supportive. Adolescent heart, liver, and kidney transplantation recipients reported similar benefit to participating in an mHealth SMS text messaging intervention. More specifically, the adolescents reported appreciation for receiving SMS text messages and knowing someone is checking in as enhancing their health care experience [32]. Adult liver transplantation recipients prefer to use virtual video visits and SMS text message options to facilitate a fast response to questions especially early in the transplantation recovery process [14]. This immediate posttransplantation recovery phase was the focused time frame for myFAMI. Each family member received individual attention specific to the needs identified in his/her answers to the 8 daily questions. The importance of individualized care was also reported by lung transplantation recipients during the COVID-19 pandemic [31].

myFAMI is an individualized family self-management intervention that leveraged mHealth to facilitate timely and effective patient-nurse communication [24]. Family engagement is an important aspect of the posttransplantation recovery process and highlights the significance of developing and fostering a mutually beneficial partnership between families and the health care team [17]. Parents of transplantation recipients have reported the importance of seeking out information to participate in the medical discussion and decision making [8]. This supports how family members were engaged in the intervention by answering the daily questions in the app and talking to the nurse if a trigger alert was generated.

Families valued the support from medical experts in addition to their primary transplantation team. Parents of transplanted children reported that they were worried about complications, documented stress and worry in the first 3 weeks after hospital discharge, and indicated that support from the medical team had a positive influence on their ability to cope [9]. The additional layer of surveillance or monitoring was also positively received by family members in this study. Caregivers of adult lung transplantation recipients identified the need for and importance of additional education from the transplantation team [33]. Providing ongoing nursing support and education is an opportunity to promote effective family self-management in the home environment. The myFAMI nurses overwhelmingly provided ongoing support and education during their conversations with the family members in this study.

Recommendations for improvement to the app were functional and included extending the time frame for communication beyond 30 days following discharge. The 30-day time frame for this study was chosen based on hospital quality indicators for readmission [34,35]; however, family needs may not follow this specific schedule. Family members also suggested variability in the app, including presenting the questions in different order each day and using a variety of pictures to make

XSL•FO

the tool more engaging. An opportunity to schedule times to speak with the nurse may meet individual family member priorities including extended hours. With this qualitative design, distinct recommendations from the end user (family member) can be considered for future versions of myFAMI. Incorporation of enhancements can support an improved experience for family members utilizing myFAMI in the future.

Study limitations exist. The study questions focused on the experience with and acceptability of myFAMI and did not address other opportunities for support or identify other family member needs. Non-English speaking families were excluded in this pilot study and future research with this population is indicated. The racial breakdown of the myFAMI group was predominantly White, indicating a clear lack of racial diversity. Future research can target diverse populations to identify racial or ethnic disparities experienced after transplantation and unique opportunities to support family self-management [36,37].

A strength of this study was identifying the family experience for different family structures including mom/aunt, mom/dad, and mom/grandmother. While the sample size was small and limited robust statistical analyses, it was sufficient to reach saturation with commonality reported by family member experiences. However, future studies would benefit from larger samples sizes that would allow for differentiation of the unique perspectives of each type of family member.

Conclusions

This is the first study to qualitatively explore family member perceptions on the acceptability of a family self-management intervention for family members of pediatric heart, kidney, or liver transplantation recipients. Family members value and appreciate ongoing support and education specifically in the first 30 days after their child's hospital discharge. myFAMI allowed for the opportunity for families to feel connected to the medical team while in their home environment. A fully powered clinical trial to determine outcomes of myFAMI is indicated to extend the knowledge for use of mHealth to promote successful family self-management. The use of mHealth in a transitional care delivery model that also includes nurse-patient interaction initiated through the mHealth app may be an effective way to improve overall outcomes for solid organ transplantation patients and their families and a model to consider in other chronic illness populations.

Acknowledgments

We thank members of the mentoring team, Drs Medoff-Cooper, Ahamed, and Simpson, who provided support and guidance during the development and conduct of this study. We also thank the following individuals for their important role in the conduct of this study: Riddhiman Adib, Melodee Liegl, Jeff Crawford, Katie Neighbors, Mary Riordan, Melissa Semp, Truc Vo, Gail Stendahl, Shelley Chapman, and Rachel Unteutsch. An additional thank you to Drs Kindel, Pan, and Telega, for their support of this research project. Finally, we thank Dr Marianne Weiss for her ongoing support and guidance. Research reported in this publication was supported by the National Institute of Nursing Research of the National Institutes of Health under Award Number K23NR017652.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. United Network for Organ Sharing (UNOS). Transplants in the US by recipient age 2022. OPTN. URL: <u>https://optn.</u> <u>transplant.hrsa.gov/data/view-data-reports/national-data/#</u> [accessed 2022-06-30]
- Brett KE, Ritchie LJ, Ertel E, Bennett A, Knoll GA. Quality Metrics in Solid Organ Transplantation: A Systematic Review. Transplantation 2018 Jul;102(7):e308-e330 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/TP.00000000002149] [Medline: 29557915]
- Young G, Mintzer L, Seacord D, Castañeda M, Mesrkhani V, Stuber ML. Symptoms of posttraumatic stress disorder in parents of transplant recipients: incidence, severity, and related factors. Pediatrics 2003 Jun;111(6 Pt 1):e725-e731. [doi: 10.1542/peds.111.6.e725] [Medline: 12777592]
- Mohammad S, Sundaram SS, Mason K, Lobritto S, Martinez M, Turmelle YP, et al. Improvements in Disease-Specific Health-Related Quality of Life of Pediatric Liver Transplant Recipients During Immunosuppression Withdrawal. Liver Transpl 2021 May 30;27(5):735-746 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/lt.25963] [Medline: 33280227]
- 5. Ko D, Bratzke LC, Muehrer RJ, Brown RL. Self-management in liver transplantation. Appl Nurs Res 2019 Feb;45:30-38. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.apnr.2018.11.002</u>] [Medline: <u>30683248</u>]
- Ryan JL, Dandridge LM, Fischer RT. Adherence to laboratory testing in pediatric liver transplant recipients. Pediatr Transplant 2021 May;25(3):e13899. [doi: <u>10.1111/petr.13899</u>] [Medline: <u>33131187</u>]
- Lerret S, Weiss M. How ready are they? Parents of pediatric solid organ transplant recipients and the transition from hospital to home following transplant. Pediatr Transplant 2011 Sep;15(6):606-616. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1399-3046.2011.01536.x</u>] [Medline: <u>21736682</u>]
- 8. Lerret SM, Haglund KA, Johnson NL. Parents' Perspectives on Shared Decision Making for Children With Solid Organ Transplants. J Pediatr Health Care 2016 Jul;30(4):374-380. [doi: 10.1016/j.pedhc.2015.10.001] [Medline: 26547482]

- Lerret SM, Weiss ME, Stendahl G, Chapman S, Neighbors K, Amsden K, et al. Transition from hospital to home following pediatric solid organ transplant: qualitative findings of parent experience. Pediatr Transplant 2014 Aug 12;18(5):527-537 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/petr.12269] [Medline: 24814154]
- Lerret SM, Johnson NL, Haglund KA. Parents' perspectives on caring for children after solid organ transplant. J Spec Pediatr Nurs 2017 Jul 31;22(3):e12178. [doi: <u>10.1111/jspn.12178</u>] [Medline: <u>28371009</u>]
- Geramita E, DeVito Dabbs AJ, DiMartini A, Pilewski J, Switzer G, Posluszny D, et al. Impact of a Mobile Health Intervention on Long-term Nonadherence After Lung Transplantation: Follow-up After a Randomized Controlled Trial. Transplantation 2020 Mar;104(3):640-651 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/TP.00000000002872] [Medline: 31335759]
- 12. Vanhoof JMM, Vandenberghe B, Geerts D, Philippaerts P, De Mazière P, DeVito Dabbs A, PICASSO-Tx Consortium. Technology Experience of Solid Organ Transplant Patients and Their Overall Willingness to Use Interactive Health Technology. J Nurs Scholarsh 2018 Mar 28;50(2):151-162. [doi: 10.1111/jnu.12362] [Medline: 29193654]
- DeVito Dabbs A, Song MK, Myers BA, Li R, Hawkins RP, Pilewski JM, et al. A Randomized Controlled Trial of a Mobile Health Intervention to Promote Self-Management After Lung Transplantation. Am J Transplant 2016 Jul 14;16(7):2172-2180 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/ajt.13701] [Medline: 26729617]
- Lieber SR, Kim HP, Baldelli L, Evon DM, Teal R, Nash R, et al. What Liver Transplant Recipients Want in a Smartphone Intervention to Enhance Recovery: Prototype for the LiveRight Transplant App. Liver Transpl 2021 Apr 15;27(4):584-589. [doi: 10.1002/lt.25967] [Medline: 33300288]
- Starkweather A, Jacelon CS, Bakken S, Barton DL, DeVito Dabbs A, Dorsey SG, et al. The Use of Technology to Support Precision Health in Nursing Science. J Nurs Scholarsh 2019 Nov 30;51(6):614-623 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/jnu.12518] [Medline: 31566870]
- Weiss M, Bobay K, Bahr S, Costa L, Hughes R, Holland D. A Model for Hospital Discharge Preparation: From Case Management to Care Transition. J Nurs Adm 2015 Dec;45(12):606-614. [doi: <u>10.1097/NNA.00000000000273</u>] [Medline: <u>26502068</u>]
- Jerofke-Owen TA, McAndrew NS, Gralton KS, Totka JP, Weiss ME, Fial AV, et al. Engagement of Families in the Care of Hospitalized Pediatric Patients: A Scoping Review. J Fam Nurs 2022 May 04;28(2):151-171. [doi: 10.1177/10748407211048894] [Medline: 34605283]
- Naylor MD, Brooten D, Campbell R, Jacobsen BS, Mezey MD, Pauly MV, et al. Comprehensive discharge planning and home follow-up of hospitalized elders: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA 1999 Mar 17;281(7):613-620. [doi: 10.1001/jama.281.7.613] [Medline: 10029122]
- Naylor MD, Brooten DA, Campbell RL, Maislin G, McCauley KM, Schwartz JS. Transitional care of older adults hospitalized with heart failure: a randomized, controlled trial. J Am Geriatr Soc 2004 May;52(5):675-684. [doi: 10.1111/j.1532-5415.2004.52202.x] [Medline: 15086645]
- 20. Coleman EA, Mahoney E, Parry C. Assessing the quality of preparation for posthospital care from the patient's perspective: the care transitions measure. Med Care 2005 Mar;43(3):246-255. [doi: <u>10.1097/00005650-200503000-00007</u>] [Medline: <u>15725981</u>]
- Sorber J, Shin M, Peterson R, Cornelius CS, Mare S, Prasad A, et al. An amulet for trustworthy wearable mHealth. 2012 Presented at: HotMobile '12: 13th Workshop on Mobile Computing Systems and Applications; February 28-29, 2012; San Diego, CA. [doi: 10.1145/2162081.2162092]
- 22. Istepanian R, Jovanov E, Zhang Y. Introduction to the special section on M-Health: beyond seamless mobility and global wireless health-care connectivity. IEEE Trans Inf Technol Biomed 2004 Dec;8(4):405-414. [doi: 10.1109/titb.2004.840019] [Medline: 15615031]
- 23. Park S, Jayaraman S. Enhancing the quality of life through wearable technology. IEEE Eng Med Biol Mag 2003 May;22(3):41-48. [doi: 10.1109/memb.2003.1213625] [Medline: 12845818]
- Lerret SM, Schiffman R, White-Traut R, Medoff-Cooper B, Ahamed SI, Adib R, et al. Feasibility and Acceptability of a mHealth Self-Management Intervention for Pediatric Transplant Families. West J Nurs Res 2021 Jun 21:1939459211024656. [doi: 10.1177/01939459211024656] [Medline: 34154460]
- 25. Weiner BJ, Lewis CC, Stanick C, Powell BJ, Dorsey CN, Clary AS, et al. Psychometric assessment of three newly developed implementation outcome measures. Implement Sci 2017 Aug 29;12(1):108 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13012-017-0635-3] [Medline: 28851459]
- 26. Zauszniewski J, Bekhet A, Herbell K. Comprehensive evaluation of interventions: eight vital parameters. Nurse Res 2018 Dec 06;26(3):20-25. [doi: <u>10.7748/nr.2018.e1603</u>] [Medline: <u>30474362</u>]
- Adib R, Das D, Ahamed SI, Lerret SM. An mHealth App-Based Self-management Intervention for Family Members of Pediatric Transplant Recipients (myFAMI): Framework Design and Development Study. JMIR Nurs 2022 Jan 04;5(1):e32785 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/32785] [Medline: 34780344]
- Lerret SM, White-Traut R, Medoff-Cooper B, Simpson P, Adib R, Ahamed SI, et al. Pilot study protocol of a mHealth self - management intervention for family members of pediatric transplant recipients. Res Nurs Health 2020 Jan 27;43(2):145-154. [doi: <u>10.1002/nur.22010</u>]
- 29. Sandelowski M. Qualitative analysis: what it is and how to begin. Res Nurs Health 1995 Aug;18(4):371-375. [doi: 10.1002/nur.4770180411] [Medline: 7624531]

```
https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e39263
```

- 30. Verghese PS, Chinnakotla S, Berglund D, Matas AJ, Chavers B. Re-hospitalization after pediatric kidney transplant: A single-center study. Pediatr Transplant 2020 Aug 24;24(5):e13717. [doi: <u>10.1111/petr.13717</u>] [Medline: <u>32447837</u>]
- Hatzikiriakidis K, West S, Ayton D, Morris H, Martin RS, Paraskeva M. When immunosuppression and COVID-19 intersect: An exploratory qualitative study of young lung transplant recipient perceptions of daily life during a pandemic. Pediatr Transplant 2022 Apr 15:e14281. [doi: 10.1111/petr.14281] [Medline: 35427443]
- 32. Rathgeber SL, Hutchison SM, De Souza A, Lester R, Blydt-Hansen T, Human DG, et al. A text messaging intervention and quality of life in adolescents with solid organ transplants. Pediatr Transplant 2022 May 09;26(3):e14219. [doi: 10.1111/petr.14219] [Medline: 35142005]
- Glaze JA, Brooten D, Youngblut JA, Hannan J, Page T. The Lived Experiences of Caregivers of Lung Transplant Recipients. Prog Transplant 2021 Dec 27;31(4):299-304. [doi: 10.1177/15269248211046034] [Medline: 34704858]
- 34. Srivastava R, Keren R. Pediatric readmissions as a hospital quality measure. JAMA 2013 Jan 23;309(4):396-398. [doi: 10.1001/jama.2012.217006] [Medline: 23340643]
- Berry JG, Hall M, Neff J, Goodman D, Cohen E, Agrawal R, et al. Children with medical complexity and Medicaid: spending and cost savings. Health Aff (Millwood) 2014 Dec;33(12):2199-2206 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1377/hlthaff.2014.0828] [Medline: 25489039]
- 36. Niranjan SJ, Durant RW, Wenzel JA, Cook ED, Fouad MN, Vickers SM, et al. Training Needs of Clinical and Research Professionals to Optimize Minority Recruitment and Retention in Cancer Clinical Trials. J Cancer Educ 2019 Feb 3;34(1):26-34 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s13187-017-1261-0] [Medline: 28776305]
- Taani MH, Zabler B, Fendrich M, Schiffman R. Lessons learned for recruitment and retention of low-income African Americans. Contemp Clin Trials Commun 2020 Mar;17:100533 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.conctc.2020.100533] [Medline: 32211558]

Abbreviations

mHealth: mobile health

Edited by E Borycki; submitted 10.05.22; peer-reviewed by E Baker; comments to author 14.06.22; revised version received 23.06.22; accepted 23.06.22; published 15.07.22.

Please cite as:

Lerret SM, Flynn E, White-Traut R, Alonso E, Mavis AM, Jensen MK, Peterson CG, Schiffman R Acceptability of an mHealth Family Self-management Intervention (myFAMI) for Pediatric Transplantation Families: Qualitative Focus JMIR Nursing 2022;5(1):e39263 URL: <u>https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e39263</u>

doi:<u>10.2196/39263</u> PMID:<u>35838761</u>

©Stacee Marie Lerret, Erin Flynn, Rosemary White-Traut, Estella Alonso, Alisha M Mavis, M Kyle Jensen, Caitlin G Peterson, Rachel Schiffman. Originally published in JMIR Nursing (https://nursing.jmir.org), 15.07.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Nursing, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://nursing.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Normalizing Telemonitoring in Nurse-Led Care Models for Complex Chronic Patient Populations: Case Study

Kayleigh Gordon^{1,2}, PhD; Katie N Dainty^{1,3}, PhD; Carolyn Steele Gray^{1,4}, PhD; Jane DeLacy⁵, MHSc; Amika Shah^{1,2}, MScCH; Emily Seto^{1,2}, PhD, PEng

¹Institute of Health Policy, Management and Evaluation, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada

²Centre for Global eHealth Innovation, Techna Institute, University Health Network, Toronto, ON, Canada

³North York General Hospital, North York, ON, Canada

⁴Bridgepoint Collaboratory for Research and Innovation, Lunenfeld-Tanenbaum Research Institute, Sinai Health System, Toronto, ON, Canada ⁵William Osler Health System, Brampton, ON, Canada

Corresponding Author:

Kayleigh Gordon, PhD Institute of Health Policy, Management and Evaluation University of Toronto 155 College St 4th Floor Toronto, ON, M5T 3M6 Canada Phone: 1 416 978 4326 Email: kayleigh.gordon@mail.utoronto.ca

Related Article:

This is a corrected version. See correction statement: https://nursing.jmir.org/2023/1/e53833

Abstract

Background: The implementation of telemonitoring (TM) has been successful in terms of the overall feasibility and adoption in single disease care models. However, a lack of available research focused on nurse-led implementations of TM that targets patients with multiple and complex chronic conditions (CCC) hinders the scale and spread to these patient populations. In particular, little is known about the clinical perspective on the implementation of TM for patients with CCC in outpatient care.

Objective: This study aims to better understand the perspective of the clinical team (both frontline clinicians and those in administrative positions) on the implementation and normalization of TM for complex patients in a nurse-led clinic model.

Methods: A pragmatic, 6-month implementation study was conducted to embed multicondition TM, including heart failure, hypertension, and diabetes, into an integrated nurse-led model of care. Throughout the study, clinical team members were observed, and a chart review was conducted of the care provided during this time. At the end of the study, clinical team members participated in qualitative interviews and completed the adapted Normalization Measure Development questionnaires. The Normalization Process Theory guided the deductive data analysis.

Results: Overall, 9 team members participated in the study as part of a larger feasibility study of the TM program, of which 26 patients were enrolled. Team members had a shared understanding of the purpose and value of TM as an intervention embedded within their practice to meet the diverse needs of their patients with CCC. TM aligned well with existing chronic care practices in several ways, yet it changed the process of care delivery (ie, interactional workability subconstruct). Effective TM normalization in nurse-led care requires rethinking of clinical workflows to incorporate TM, relationship development between the clinicians and their patients, communication with the interdisciplinary team, and frequent clinical care oversight. This was captured well through the subconstructs of skill set workability, relational integration, and contextual integration of the Normalization Process Theory.

Conclusions: Clinicians successfully adopted TM into their everyday practice such that some providers felt their role would be significantly and negatively affected without TM. This study demonstrated that smartphone-based TM systems complemented the routine and challenging clinical work caring for patients with CCC in an integrated nurse-led care model.

(JMIR Nursing 2022;5(1):e36346) doi:10.2196/36346

KEYWORDS

telemonitoring; TM; nurse practitioner; NP-led care; models of care; integrated care; disease care model; disease; nurse; nurse-led implementation; complex chronic conditions; CCC; clinical team; mobile phone

Introduction

In Canada, the prevalence of complex chronic conditions (CCC) is increasing nationwide, affecting 12% to 52% of individuals [1-4]. Patients with CCC include both those with multimorbidity and those who also face clinical complexities and challenges such as clinical or psychosocial vulnerability [5]. Growing evidence suggests that multimorbidity and complexity are driven not only by the nature of aging but also by lower socioeconomic status and social marginalization [3,5,6]. Polypharmacy, increasing medication dosages, and high dosage frequency are also associated with high rates of adverse events, poor adherence, and high treatment burden on the patient [7-10], advancing routine care needs. Negative outcomes related to multimorbidity occur beyond merely a summed effect of single conditions as conditions interact with each other, mutually enhancing their negative effects, leading to new clinical issues and unanticipated care trajectories that do not align with existing care guidelines [11].

Case management has emerged as a strategy to better integrate the care for complex patients [12], involving one central contact between the patient and their providers [13,14]. However, the results of integrated care are mixed [8,11], in part because of often inconsistent clinical interactions and numerous providers who fulfill the most responsible clinician role. Nurse-led care models involving advanced nurse practitioners (NPs) are emerging as a more distilled iteration of case management. Such models have been found to be effective [15-18] in part because of a more person-centered approach, inherent in nursing epistemology. The nursing approach is holistic, considering the broader context of psychosocial and sociocultural influences [19]. In Ontario, NPs have the legal authority to diagnose, prescribe, and treat patients, enabling immediate decision-making and clinical action [20]. As NPs are generally salaried providers versus fee-for-service, they are able to spend more time with patients who require additional support, incorporating different strategies to facilitate comprehensive and complete care [21]. Without appropriate monitoring routines or technologies, additional clinical efforts may be limited in their potential effect.

Digital interventions such as telemonitoring (TM) aim to support chronic disease self-management through routine and timely data transmission, enabling clinicians to identify symptom exacerbations early and intervene [22,23]. Several studies and systematic reviews have shown that TM can improve clinical communication and coordination as well as support patient self-management [23,24]. Although the implementation of TM has been clinically successful in single conditions [25-30], some studies have shown mixed results in areas of all-cause mortality after 365 days and 30-day readmission rates [31,32]. Mixed results could be because of the challenges associated with implementing new technologies without a clear understanding

https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e36346

of existing workflows or an appropriate care model. In addition, there is limited research on TM for patients with CCC [33-35], which focuses on clinical workflows and care.

Implementing new models of care at scale is challenging [36], particularly in the context of clinical teams already working at capacity [37]. Normalization Process Theory (NPT) was used as a guide to determine the mechanisms (ie, conceptual or tangible) that contributed to or inhibited the process of embedding TM for CCC in an integrated nurse-led care model. NPT is a theory of implementation that focuses on the work involved to embed new interventions in their social context, detailing the mechanisms of coherence, cognitive participation, collective action, and reflexive monitoring [38-41]. Because of the importance of nurses' role in the delivery of care in this model, it was important to understand their perspectives on implementing and using multicondition TM systems over 6 months and identify any barriers or facilitators. The feasibility and patient adherence to TM in nurse-led care, as well as the characteristics of the patients who used the TM app in the model have already been published [42].

The objective of this study is to better understand the perspective of the clinical team during a 6-month implementation of TM for complex patients in a nurse-led clinic model. Our research question was as follows: "Can TM be successfully implemented in an integrated-nurse-led model within the context of everyday clinical practice for patients with CCC?"

The research subquestions included the following:

- 1. Does the intervention make sense to clinical staff?
- 2. Are team members willing to engage with the intervention?
- 3. How can TM be successfully embedded into the clinical workflow of a nurse-led care model?
- 4. What can be learned about the overall implementation to increase the spread of TM-enabled nurse-led models of integrated care for patients with CCC?

Methods

Study Setting

In 2018, an NP-led integrated model of care for complex patients was established at a large ambulatory facility in Southern Ontario. The NP-led team of colocated interdisciplinary clinicians included an undergraduate-prepared registered nurse (RN), a pharmacist, a social worker, a kinesiologist, and a dietician. Specialists were also available for referrals based on patient's previous care connections and new needs. Patients were seen in the clinic as often as weekly for 6 to 18 months, typically after an acute exacerbation or hospitalization. Although specialist appointments and routine primary care visits were not halted during the study period, the NP-led care model was intended to be the central coordinator for care, aiming to achieve clinical stabilization and optimization before repatriation back

XSL•FO

to routine primary care. In 2019, the smartphone-based TM platform Medly was integrated into the NP-led CCC model, enabling patients with multimorbidities including heart failure (HF), hypertension (HTN), and/or diabetes mellitus (DM) to record physiological metrics including blood pressure, weight, heart rate, blood sugar, and symptoms [42]. Although this list is not inclusive of all conditions associated with multimorbidity, they are common conditions that can be used as a foundation to realize a broader conceptualization of the tool in the future. On the basis of frequent readings at home, the algorithm generated self-care messages for patients and alerts for clinicians. Using a web-based dashboard containing a list of readings, alerts, and trend graphs, clinicians used their clinical judgment to conduct remote assessments, titrate medications, and determine further treatment actions. Critical alerts were sent by email to the NP and RN, although the RN conducted most monitoring duties during the study.

Ethics Approval

All research activities were conducted with ethics approval from the William Osler Office of Research Ethics (#18-0061), the University Health Network Research Ethics Board (#18-5667), and the University of Toronto Research Ethics Board (#37660).

Participants Sampling and Recruitment

There were 9 clinicians who were either frontline providers or administrators directly involved (ie, using the system in patient care or overseeing the TM in existing care workflows) in the implementation of the TM project and were invited via email to participate in the evaluation. Individuals were eligible to participate if they (1) were currently involved in the delivery of TM in the integrated nurse-led care model and (2) could speak and read in English. To maintain anonymity, the participants were not specifically identified by role. However, the roles included NPs, an RN, a social worker, a dietician, a pharmacist, a kinesiologist, a clinical manager, and senior administrators. Written informed consent was obtained from all participants.

Data Collection and Analysis

Overview

A multimethod single-case study using an interpretivist paradigm was carried out to collect study data including in-depth interviews, supplemented with observations and questionnaires. All data were collected by the research coordinator (KG), an RN with frontline experience caring for patients with CCC and knowledge of diverse clinical operations using an interpretivist paradigm.

Key Informant Interviews

Qualitative in-depth interviews were conducted upon completion of the 6-month implementation. A semistructured interview guide was developed based on the 4 overarching constructs outlined in the NPT (Table 1) [38,40,43] and the study objectives. Interviews were conducted in person or over the phone based on the participant's schedule, lasting between 30 minutes and over an hour. The interviews were audiotaped and professionally transcribed verbatim. In all cases, the purpose of the interviews was stated elicit individuals' experiences and opinions about the implementation of TM in the nurse-led chronic care model and were aware that the interviewer was not involved in providing care services.

Table 1. NPT^a constructs and sample interview questions.

NPT construct	Construct definition	Interview questions
Coherence	Sense-making and understanding the purpose of the potential of the intervention	"Can you tell me about your role in the clinic? Can you tell me about your normal routine when you come into work? How do you compare TM ^b to the current practices delivering complex chronic care?"
Cognitive participation	Buy-in and decision to commit to the work of the intervention	"You have been part of the clinic, which is utilizing TM, what is your understanding of TM?"
Collective action	The work that team members do to engage with the intervention	"Tell me about your experience working with and using TM? Do you feel it offers my benefits that are valued by team members? Do providers agree on the intent and benefit of using TM? Can you describe if and how TM affected your interactions with the patients?"
Reflexive monitoring	Reflection and appraisal of the intervention	"In your opinion, has your delivery of the TM program changed over time? Do you feel TM has contributed to patient care and patient self-care in the CMC? ^c Are there factors that facilitate or inhibit TM in this care model? How could the TM system be changed or improved? How sustainable do you think the TM activities are in the long-term?"

^aNPT: Normalization Process Theory.

^bTM: telemonitoring.

^cCMC: Complex Medicine Clinic.

In Situ Observation

Participants were observed throughout the entire study period. The research coordinator was embedded within the team to collect data through observations and field notes, typically 2 out of 5 days a week during the 6-month study period.

```
https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e36346
```

RenderX

Observations were made during patient visits, hallway conversations, team huddles, and group meetings to capture clinical discussions and workflows. Field notes were documented during the observations. The goal of this fieldwork was to generate comprehensive notes to better understand the

implementation of TM by the clinicians through observing workflows and operations.

Chart Review

A chart review was also performed to provide a clinical context for the complexity and acuity of the patient participants in this case. Clinical data included the number of diagnosed chronic conditions, number of medications per patient, and frequency of health encounters. Chart review metrics (ie, number of conditions, medications, and frequency of visits) were analyzed descriptively to understand the patient population and to inform observations, as well as interview questions.

Normalization Measure Development Questionnaire

The adapted Normalization Measure Development (NoMAD) questionnaire was administered to all participants upon study completion to supplement our understanding of the implementation processes in the nurse-led care model [44]. The 23-item NoMAD questionnaire represents a measure that was used to better understand participants' experiences with the implementation of TM in nurse-led care. Each question was adapted to the questionnaire to reflect the study's specific interventions. The word "telemonitoring" replaced the word "intervention" within the questionnaire. An email was sent as a reminder to complete the questionnaire during the last month of the study. Data within the NoMAD questionnaire were analyzed descriptively using absolute frequency and mean.

Analysis Approach

An interpretative description approach was used to guide the qualitative analysis [45,46]. Multiple coders worked together to review and code the transcripts inductively. A tabular matrix was created to define each construct and how it might relate to the project, which was then used to deductively analyze a detailed summary of the codes based on the 4 main constructs and subconstructs of NPT (Multimedia Appendix 1). For example, there was some discrepancy between several codes within the relational integration subconstruct and contextual integration subconstruct, which resulted in further refinement of the meaning in the NP-led chronic care context until consensus was reached. Following the analysis, key themes, emerging connections, and alternative explanations were discussed. Themes and subthemes were reviewed for feedback with 2 participants in person as a form of synthesized member checking [47]. As part of the iterative interpretative description

 Table 2. Clinical team characteristics.

approach, other data sources from different clinical team members (ie, qualitative interview data, observation data, and the NoMAD questionnaire) were qualitatively analyzed for patterns and themes to make sense of the important ideas to be conveyed and access their meaning in a new context [47]. Furthermore, 2 researchers (KG and AS) independently read and reread the interview and observation memo transcripts and then met to discuss the findings until consensus was reached. Our intent was to compare codes with emerging themes and identify, if any, additional themes, data divergences, or other contextual factors related to the implementation. Convergence of the qualitative and quantitative data was examined by reviewing the results related to each NPT construct to further our understanding of the mechanisms that facilitate or inhibit TM of CCC in integrated nurse-led models of care.

Results

Overview

In total, 9 clinical team members agreed to participate in the implementation. However, 1 participant went on maternity leave shortly after the study started and therefore did not complete the questionnaire or participate in an interview. Another participant declined to participate in the postevaluations as they were not involved with the TM system in their role. Clinical team characteristics are listed in Table 2. In total, 86% (6/7) of the participants completed the questionnaires, and 100% (7/7) participants were interviewed about their experience. In addition, 2 (29%) participants were interviewed twice to clarify their statements and verify their intended meaning.

Table 2 presents the descriptive characteristics of the team. All the respondents were women. Overall, participants were highly experienced in their professional job category with the majority having >10 years of experience at the study institution and in their professional job category. Using the NoMAD general questions about the intervention, 67% (4/6) participants rated TM as familiar. In terms of coherence, most respondents agreed that TM was of value in their work (5/6, 83%), and all indicated that they would support TM in the future (cognitive participation). Interestingly, respondents had mixed opinions that TM could be easily integrated into the existing work (4/6, 67%). Regarding reflexive monitoring, most agreed that their feedback could be used to improve TM in the future (5/6, 83%).

Study ID	Age range (years)	Duration at study institution (years)	Duration in professional job category (years)	Current job category
CTM002	51-60	>15	>15	Frontline
CTM003	41-50	6-10	11-15	Frontline
CTM005	41-50	>15	11-15	Frontline
CTM006	31-40	<1	1-2	Frontline
CTM007	51-60	>15	3-5	Management
CTM008	61-70	>15	6-10	Management
CTM009	51-60	10-15	>15	Management



The following results present the perspectives of key team members involved in the implementation of TM within the integrated nurse-led model of care according to the NPT (Multimedia Appendix 2).

Coherence: Does TM Make Sense as Part of Nurse-Led Complex Chronic Care Delivery?

Introducing TM and How the Requirements to Implement TM Were Processed

The mechanism of coherence focused on introducing TM as an intervention to support complex care and understanding how TM workflows might affect patient care preferences, clinical workflows, and care delivery practices. Processing the steps involved in implementing TM as well as the potential benefits of addressing current care challenges within existing individual workflows in the nurse-led care model was the first step in *sense-making*. Participants described specific challenges in managing CCC before implementation, including relying on snapshot assessments during in-person visits, poor patient recall, and patient handwritten or device logs. Given their reliance on patient-reported histories, clinicians struggled to obtain consistent and often accurate health data between appointments:

[Patients] bring a log. We ask them to write it down and then they bring a lot to their appointments. Some patients are very good with that, some patients are not. It all varies from patient to patient. Some are very compliant, some are not. [CTM002]

Overall, participants found TM easy to understand and were familiar with its broad purpose. Several clinicians had previously used a TM system based on health coaching, allowing them to compare the new TM platform to their previous experience (ie, differentiation subconstruct) and envision the potential steps involved in this implementation. Some staff members felt that their complex patients may be apprehensive about TM technology. Clinicians wondered if their patients would use it and what kinds of benefits might be realized:

I think because we've had a long experience implementing Telehomecare...there's a lot of similarities, there are differences in the case of Medly. I think the basic monitoring of patients is the same, it's what you do with the information, who it's going to, and how you react to it. The kind of response it generates...I think this is interesting because we're looking at multiple conditions. [CTM008]

Envisioning the Workflow Changes Required for TM Varied by Role

Individual participants reported similar understanding in providing TM for CCC (ie, providing visibility to the ongoing health status of their complex patients at home regularly might improve care overall). This contributed to a communal sense-making of how TM would work in a unique clinical model:

The ability to access patients virtually without them having to come into the hospital setting to receive care from a healthcare provider. [CTM009] Although all participants agreed on the purpose of TM, they had different views on the technology, the workload, and how each might affect their role (ie, the individual specification subconstruct). For the pharmacist, preexisting routines involved calling the patients weekly to obtain readings. The pharmacist thought that using TM would eliminate this process, creating more work time for other clinical responsibilities. By differentiating the workflow according to individual clinical responsibilities, the meaning of each clinician's role with regards to TM began to make sense:

I think because we've had a long experience implementing [TM systems]. While there's a lot of similarities, there are differences in the case of [this TM system]. I think the basic monitoring of patients is the same, it's what you do with the information, who it's going to watch it, and how you react to it. [CTM007]

Field observations further solidified strong support for TM in CCC from senior leadership and the NP in charge by discussing TM and evaluating TM workflows and individual workloads. One administrator was observed to describe their support for clinician engagement with TM and facilitation of the work of TM in nurse-led care. Clinicians seemed to internalize the collective effort based on how TM was perceived to address the current care gaps (ie, monitoring escalating acuity and providing consistent patient communication) faced in practice, thus making a collective decision to implement TM.

Cognitive Participation: Do Clinicians Engage With TM in Nurse-Led Chronic Care Delivery?

TM Training Varied by Clinical Responsibilities

Engagement with TM relied on clinicians to invest time in the go-live effort as well as throughout its implementation (ie, initiation subconstruct). During the implementation, the team engaged in multiple training sessions tailored to their roles. The process of learning to use TM centered around the individual's workflow that varied among clinicians. The NP spent time with the study coordinator learning to use the system, and the RN spent time shadowing at another site, observing not only their unique site-specific workflows but also the system in the context of different clinical responsibilities (ie, enrollment subconstruct). Having the bulk of TM responsibilities within the RN workflow was initially described as stressful because of perceived added workload:

The first month was stressful and then that, it eased out... [CTM002]

Other participants felt that the training was "straightforward" comparing similarities between the current care practices and TM tasks. This motivated clinicians to incorporate TM into daily work (ie, initiation subconstructs):

It was similar because we do ask them to check weight...blood pressure daily...and check their sugar, especially the patients who are on insulin. [CTM006]

```
https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e36346
```

XSL•FO RenderX

Aligning Workflows Supported a Willingness to Engage With TM and Clinical Buy-in

Before implementation, an appointment would include an assessment of the patients' history, conditions, medications, and recent physiological trends. Clinicians would rely on patient-reported information, in-person physiological measurements, and devices to evaluate the patient status. Having remote readings readily accessible on a web-based dashboard in part legitimized the decision to invest time to align TM practices in their workflow and envision the future workflow benefits (ie, legitimation subconstruct). Aligning TM-embedded workflows with TM responsibilities facilitated clinician engagement in practice:

I have to look at the readings before we come up with a plan, whatever concerns there are, which part of the day their readings are up high and is it related to their meals? Are they carb loading, etc.? So that all depends on the readings. If I don't have that info, my assessment is incomplete and if my assessment is incomplete, I'm not able to make a complete, more comprehensive care plan for the patient and with the patient. [CTM005]

In determining the overall fit of TM within the current workflow practices on a day-to-day basis, participants felt that TM would be a good fit, particularly because of more frequent patient monitoring (ie, activation subconstruct) without creating additional appointments.

Collective Action: How Can Multicondition TM Be Successfully Embedded in Nurse-Led Chronic Care Delivery?

Alert Management Aligned Well With Several Clinical Roles

Team members described how physiological readings were monitored within the integrated nurse model (ie, interactional workability subconstruct). TM alerts aligned well with certain more traditional RN responsibilities, such as clinical triage. The RN was responsible for monitoring the dashboard (ie, skill set workability subconstruct) and triaged relevant readings to the NP or other clinicians as clinically necessary:

[Name] used to keep tab on all the patients, on the alerts also...if she thought a patient would benefit from my following up or my talking to the patient, she would let me know and I used to speak with the patient on the phone and not wait for them to come in the clinic. So that was really helpful process. We could immediately tackle if there was any issue and not wait for the patient to actually come in so find out something was going wrong. [CTM006]

Although the primary responsibility of monitoring was held by the RN, it was apparent that other clinicians were using TM routinely in practice (eg, the pharmacist and dietician). By sharing patients on TM, the team suggested that the workload could be more easily divided among other members of the team, given the similar clinical scope of others' responsibilities in this care model. Communication of alerts would occur through

https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e36346

normal triage methods, hallway check-ins, or daily clinical huddles. Given the similar skill sets and clinical responsibilities, the pharmacist noted that having alert emails would also improve their workflow:

I don't have the emails so I think that would be of benefit. But I think that was one of the things that I kind of said in terms of improving the workflow. Right now, that's not my responsibility to log onto see their alerts, so I think it would be nice to have more inclusivity of the entire team that is following some of these patients. [CTM003]

TM Facilitated Sharing of the Clinical Workload

Clinicians frequently reviewed the TM dashboard, discussing TM during in-person patient appointments and during clinical case-review sessions with the entire team. For example, the responsibilities associated with the RN's TM work were successfully transferred to the NP as part of a normal clinical handover (ie, skill set workability subconstruct) when the nurse went on a holiday. When probed, how this transition occurred, they described the monitoring responsibility as part of all other clinical responsibilities (ie, contextual integration subconstruct):

If [nurse name] is not here, then I just take over monitoring [TM name] when she is gone. [CTM006]

Participants felt that TM facilitated communication within the model and between individual clinicians as they could all review the clinical dashboard, discuss the acuity and severity of the alert, and discuss the most appropriate clinical response (ie, contextual integration subconstruct):

It was actually the nurse mostly, [Name]. She was keeping a check on all the patients regularly and if she noticed something to do with patient blood sugar or their weight, those things, she would let me know and then I would call the patient back and would be working on that. That's how we used to do it. [CTM005]

In the new care model, participants felt that patients were more clinically acute than originally anticipated in the care model, often requiring significant nursing interventions (ie, intravenous medications or urgent bloodwork) during office visits. The work associated with TM (follow-up, titrating medications, referrals, etc) in combination with often unexpected and acute clinical interventions, was such that on several occasions an additional RN was brought in to implement additional nursing interventions (intravenous medications, electrocardiogram, and hypoglycemia management).

Knowing the Patient, Their Conditions, and Clinical Context Facilitated Active TM

Knowledge of the individual patient, their clinical conditions, and their specific clinical context was considered essential for successfully embedding the intervention in the nurse-led team (ie, contextual integration subconstruct). In one case, a TM alert identified a previously stable patient who was quickly decompensating. On the basis of an alert, the patient was brought in for an assessment and subsequently underwent emergent stent insertion. In this case, the combination of fluctuating weight

and symptom reporting resulted in clinical action by the nurse-led team, which the care team deemed to have potentially saved the patient's life:

...I talked to [name] (the NP) and we brought him in today...We had to send him over...to the cath lab. I think he will be staying a couple days, so he won't be taking readings for the next few days. [CTM002-memo log]

In another case, a patient was alerting frequently. However, after reviewing the readings and current trends, the team was able to identify that the patient had not answered the symptom questions as intended:

In the beginning I was calling him every day but now I know...once he put them in, he continues to do that. So, I don't call him every day now even if I see that specific alert, unless like I see ok he's having chest pain. If there's no change in your condition, don't answer yes, but he still continues sometimes. So now I know (that with him). [CTM002]

Integrating TM in the social context of care involved patient caregivers as well. Clinical staff reported that caregivers would call the team about a TM reading or alert, indicating that they were also involved in TM, such as monitoring trends at home. This additional opportunity for communication, which otherwise would not likely have occurred (ie, without TM), facilitated providers' understanding of the clinical context and continued use of the TM system as a tool to conduct complex care.

Reflexive Monitoring: What Can Be Learned of Overall Implementation to Increase the Spread of TM-Enabled Nurse-Led Models of Integrated Care for Patients With CCC?

TM Enhanced Comprehensive Care of Patients With CCC

The ability to track and trend multiple readings over time, particularly those in the past, was reported as clinically informative (ie, systematization and communal appraisal subconstructs), changing the overall clinical workflow of care delivery in this model:

Even up until December, I was reviewing back, their blood pressure [from] back in August... [CTM006]

Although specific health outcomes were not evaluated, clinicians reflected on how patients seemed to improve over time, which indicated the feasibility of TM within a nurse-led model from the provider's perspective. All clinicians felt that the ability to monitor their acute patients more frequently was important; however, monitoring patients after intravenous interventions or other in-office procedures was thought to be particularly supportive in mitigating unanticipated changes in health status (ie, communal appraisal subconstruct):

It's definitely been positive, for sure reduced emergency visits, because the alerts have triggered that connection. It's also influenced – some of the ways that they're reacting to these very complex patients...They know now that they can probably avoid

https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e36346

an admission, they get an alert, a patient's put on some weight or starting to feel breathless... [CTM007]

Clinicians described faster response times to TM than originally intended, suggesting that TM for CCC was successfully embedded as part of their normal work. This frequency of increased clinical oversight using TM contributed to sustained patient-provider communications:

I think [we responded] immediately. The moment we used to see any alert which needed attention, we used to do immediately. We never waited. [CTM005]

At other times, alerts identified whether a patient had forgotten to take their readings or missed a medication, which otherwise may not have been noticed, indicating that TM enabled a higher level of care. In a few instances, participants found that patients depended heavily on the clinical team to reach out. For example, TM would prompt the patient to call the clinic if an alert was generated, but this did not happen routinely, in part because clinicians responded very quickly.

TM Provided a Reliable Routine Source of Health Data in Complex Chronic Care

TM provided reliable clinical data on patients, which were previously not available or consistent (ie, systematization subconstruct):

Some of our patients, they don't record their blood pressure or they don't bring their glucometers, it's not easily known, so [with TM name] all the practitioners were able to access it and they did it without hesitation...sometimes they would forget to bring their readings or they don't take their readings; now it's all there, so it's very convenient. [CTM005]

Clinicians reported that TM provided additional contextual information before a patient's appointment, which helped with the *prep* work of composing a clinical history and care plan. This enabled more clinically informed patients visits and made good use of the time allotted for structured appointments with each provider:

I think that allows me to do my prep work...I usually log on and get their trends, get all that information, so it's a little bit more accurate, and I have time to sort of process it a little better than if they were to bring it in writing. [CTM003]

Clinicians also described a better understanding of their patient' health status when using TM in practice, demonstrating the relation integration of TM:

We're able to follow them [the patients] more closely and if we get alerts that we would call them, it's another sort of like a layer of protection in terms of if they're running into trouble then we can follow or provide care. [CTM003]

In terms of the overall patient population characteristics, associated clinical workload, and evaluation of how reliant (ie, embedded) TM had become in the clinic after 6 months, researchers asked what percentage of the other patients in their care might routine TM also be feasible. The overall response

XSL•FO RenderX

by clinicians was that they could envision most of their CCC patients benefiting from TM:

I think majority of our patients can be on [TM name]. It worked well for almost everyone we added. [CTM006]

Reconfigurations Suggested for TM Implementations in NP-Led Complex Care Models

In this implementation, the TM platform monitored 3 conditions (HF, HTN, and DM). However, clinicians identified several other conditions as highly prevalent within their complex patients (ie, reconfiguration) but also in the broader chronic care population. Opportunities to monitor mental health symptoms and/or conditions were similarly identified across participants:

We have a lot of people with anxiety and even depression, it's very prevalent in our patient population. You know we have the social worker for that very reason...Even if the Medly could have some questions about their mental well-being, I think that would help us. [CTM 006; CTM006-memo log]

The inability to monitor respiratory status in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) was identified as an area that would be clinically helpful in addition to the existing TM platform. Other routine metrics such as temperature have also been identified as important to monitor in future TM implementations:

For COPD, the temperature would be really helpful. Especially now, we are going into the winter season, it would be really helpful to have temperature for those patients [when they get flu-like symptoms] maybe even those with CHF as well... [CTM006]

Clinicians felt that visual differentiation of alerts by color (ie, critical vs noncritical) would be helpful in both the dashboard and email notifications, thereby designating a visual cue to quickly evaluate alert severity (ie, reconfiguration). The incorporation of TM into the routine care context in this model (ie, contextual integration) is such that a visual cue to identify critical needs could improve the efficiency of the monitoring process:

if we could get the system to identify the alert severity by color that would be very helpful...even if I only have just enough time to look at it quickly, I can see who is critical. [CTM002-memo log]

Discussion

Principal Findings

This study explored the perceptions and experiences of clinicians regarding the implementation of a TM platform for complex patients as part of a larger feasibility study in an integrated nurse-led model. Our findings suggest that TM made sense to the colocated nurse-led team by considering individually and collectively how this work might affect their current care preferences, workflows, and existing delivery practices. Team members were willing to engage with the intervention as it aligned with tasks the team had already asked patients to do,

```
https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e36346
```

such as monitoring blood pressure or weight at home regularly. A few clinicians had prior experience with the implementation of a TM system, which likely influenced their willingness to engage in and adopt the *Medly* system, which was evidenced by individuals comparing their experiences. Continuous patient engagement with the clinicians occurred frequently using TM and was considered fundamental in this case. Previous literature has indicated that regular interactions facilitated continued monitoring, further dialogue around disease management, documentation of new symptoms, and opportunities to identify health issues before they become critical [48,49].

TM aligned well with traditional RN responsibilities of assessment, communication, evaluation, triage, and delegation [50-52]. However, in this case, the RN had significant clinical responsibilities in addition to those of the TM, which may or may not be unique to other complex chronic disease management models. Previous research in TM of single conditions has suggested that nurses are well-positioned to manage TM requirements owing to the nature of the nurse-patient relationship [53], ability to analyze and apply TM data sources, multitasking, and providing a service that is fit for purpose [51,52,54]. However, other clinicians, particularly the pharmacist and dietician, routinely used TM data throughout the implementation in practice, suggesting that these roles might be better used in TM implementation in future. Previous literature has supported the greater involvement of pharmacists, given their growing scope of practice [55]. Although the scope of pharmacists varies widely across Canadian provinces, the support for an expanded scope in chronic disease populations has gained traction [56,57] given their in-depth knowledge of medication management, pharmacological interactions, as well as sign and symptom assessment and evaluation.

In terms of technology, several reconfigurations have been proposed to improve the existing platform. At the time of this study, a comprehensive mental health module was not available despite frequent links in the literature to conditions such as anxiety and depression in patients with CCC [50,58,59]. However, given our findings in support of this concept, we would strongly encourage a mental health component within the existing platform and other TM implementations targeting chronic care. Other conditions, such as COPD and chronic kidney disease, are important for monitoring in future TM implementations, as they are highly prevalent in the population.

During the study, the team continued to identify other patients who might have benefited from TM but were not eligible because of the preapproved participant numbers. This appears to suggest that TM was successfully embedded within routine practice in NP-led care, and that the full benefits of TM-enabled NP-led integrated care models have yet to be fully realized for patients, families, and health care systems. A multisite implementation with larger participant volumes is needed to evaluate the effectiveness of individual health outcomes and the organizational impact of this model of care delivery.

Implementation Learnings

Using NPT to evaluate the feasibility of implementation provided a foundation that can be used to enhance future research implementations as nurse-led care models expand and

XSL•FO RenderX

virtual care solutions such as TM for patients with CCC become more prevalent. Our findings suggest that TM-enabled nurse-led care is feasible, as demonstrated by its successful implementation in an ambulatory chronic care model. We offer the following learnings for clinicians, administrators, researchers, and policy makers to consider in developing and spreading nurse-led models for patients with CCC.

- 1. TM of physiological metrics for HF, HTN, and DM could be used in clinical practice, as monitoring aligned well with existing complex care practices.
- 2. RNs may be able to manage TM, in addition to their clinical responsibilities, in a nurse-led complex care model with a colocated multidisciplinary team.
- 3. The role of pharmacists in monitoring patients through TM should be considered because their responsibilities align well with TM triage and assessment. They could delegate tasks to the more responsible provider, in this case the RN or the NP as required.
- 4. TM-enabled workflows in chronic care still require complex needs to be triaged and directed as clinically necessary to the most responsible care provider (ie, the NP), as this maintains the centrally coordinated approach inherent within nurse-led care models.
- 5. TM platforms for complex chronic patients could consider incorporating the following:
 - Methods of monitoring COPD and chronic kidney disease as these conditions are prevalent in the population of patients with CCC.
 - Monitoring mental health conditions, particularly for anxiety and depression, could support diverse complex care needs.
 - Easy to read, visual alert systems, including the use of color-coding systems to facilitate quick clinical evaluations of acuity and severity.

Strengths and Limitations

This study had several notable strengths. First, TM was embedded into an existing nurse-led care model and not into a pilot clinic, a purposed clinic model, or a clinical model, contributing to the feasibility of TM in a real clinical environment that is actionable and informative. Second, the use of NPT strengthened the research by characterizing the core process elements of embedding TM in the implementation process, enabling researchers to describe the *work* involved in implementing TM in the NP-led model and contributing to existing research in the chronic care space. Third, unlike other TM implementations, patients were onboarded during regular clinical hours, avoiding additional appointments for TM onboarding or more expensive at-home visits for equipment setup and removal. Finally, patients within the complex care model were at times more medically acute, requiring a higher care level than envisioned initially in this outpatient model. Given the diversity and complexity inherent in multiple interacting diagnoses, the ability to manage this level of complexity using TM highlights the feasibility of TM for CCC in a nurse-led environment.

There were also several limitations to this study. First, interview data were collected upon study completion, and therefore, it was at times difficult to analyze clear differences in how the work was conducted (ie, mechanisms of collective action) and evaluation of the work processes (ie, reflexive monitoring) despite frequent clinical observations. Second, this study was conducted at a single site, but NP-led or nurse-led models of care could differ significantly in the scope of the care model, clinical roles, or target populations, thus hindering generalizability. Third, RN in this clinic had over 10 years of nursing experience, which may or may not be the case in future implementations. Finally, the NP-led care model was located within a large, multisite hospital system with access to existing clinical resources onsite, including a diagnostic imaging suite, laboratory, and urgent care center, and therefore, likely has access to clinical resources. This may have influenced the clinical workflow and normalization of TM in this case because access to these resources may not be generalizable to other sites. Other specialists were also available to support timely service delivery and provide additional clinical support to the clinic that likely shaped in part the overall clinician outlook of embedding TM in everyday routine practices.

Conclusions

A TM platform for complex chronic patients was successfully implemented within an NP-led integrated care model. From the perspective of clinicians and administrators, the process of normalization occurred because TM aligned well with existing complex care practices of frequent assessment and evaluation. Similar to other TM implementations, RN responsibilities within the TM system aligned well with the existing practices of clinical triage, assessment, and evaluation. However, our results demonstrate that the role of pharmacists and dieticians within the infrastructure of an ambulatory NP-led model may also align well with TM responsibilities. The feasibility of a new model of TM-enabled care for CCC was indicated in this study, which provides evidence that such models of care should be further investigated to determine their effectiveness in improving clinical management and better patient outcomes. Our research provides theoretically informed lessons also and recommendations that can be applied to future implementations and studies.

Acknowledgments

This research was made possible by the funding support from a Canadian Institutes of Health Research Personalized Health Catalyst Grant (Funding Reference Number 155443).



Conflicts of Interest

ES is considered one of the inventors of the Medly system under the intellectual property policies of the University Health Network (UHN), and may benefit from future commercialization of the technology by the UHN.

Multimedia Appendix 1

Matrix of the operationalization of constructs and subconstructs of the Normalization Process Theory. [DOCX File , 15 KB - nursing v5i1e36346 app1.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 2

Themes from clinical team members. [DOCX File, 18 KB - nursing v5i1e36346 app2.docx]

References

- Sakib MN, Shooshtari S, St John P, Menec V. The prevalence of multimorbidity and associations with lifestyle factors among middle-aged Canadians: an analysis of Canadian longitudinal study on aging data. BMC Public Health 2019 Feb 28;19(1):243 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-019-6567-x] [Medline: 30819126]
- Feely A, Lix LM, Reimer K. Estimating multimorbidity prevalence with the Canadian Chronic Disease Surveillance System. Health Promot Chronic Dis Prev Can 2017 Jul;37(7):215-222 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.24095/hpcdp.37.7.02] [Medline: 28703703]
- 3. Roberts KC, Rao DP, Bennett TL, Loukine L, Jayaraman GC. Prevalence and patterns of chronic disease multimorbidity and associated determinants in Canada. Health Promot Chronic Dis Prev Can 2015 Aug;35(6):87-94 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.24095/hpcdp.35.6.01] [Medline: 26302227]
- 4. Pefoyo AJ, Bronskill SE, Gruneir A, Calzavara A, Thavorn K, Petrosyan Y, et al. The increasing burden and complexity of multimorbidity. BMC Public Health 2015 Apr 23;15:415 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-015-1733-2] [Medline: 25903064]
- Violan C, Foguet-Boreu Q, Flores-Mateo G, Salisbury C, Blom J, Freitag M, et al. Prevalence, determinants and patterns of multimorbidity in primary care: a systematic review of observational studies. PLoS One 2014;9(7):e102149 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0102149] [Medline: 25048354]
- Moin JS, Moineddin R, Upshur RE. Measuring the association between marginalization and multimorbidity in Ontario, Canada: a cross-sectional study. J Comorb 2018;8(1):2235042X18814939 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/2235042X18814939] [Medline: 30574456]
- Gallacher K, May CR, Montori VM, Mair FS. Understanding patients' experiences of treatment burden in chronic heart failure using normalization process theory. Ann Fam Med 2011;9(3):235-243 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1370/afm.1249] [Medline: 21555751]
- Aoki T, Yamamoto Y, Ikenoue T, Onishi Y, Fukuhara S. Multimorbidity patterns in relation to polypharmacy and dosage frequency: a nationwide, cross-sectional study in a Japanese population. Sci Rep 2018 Feb 28;8(1):3806 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-21917-6] [Medline: 29491441]
- van Merode T, van de Ven K, van den Akker M. Patients with multimorbidity and their treatment burden in different daily life domains: a qualitative study in primary care in the Netherlands and Belgium. J Comorb 2018;8(1):9-15 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.15256/joc.2018.8.119] [Medline: 29651408]
- 10. Mannucci PM, Nobili A, REPOSI Investigators. Multimorbidity and polypharmacy in the elderly: lessons from REPOSI. Intern Emerg Med 2014 Oct;9(7):723-734. [doi: 10.1007/s11739-014-1124-1] [Medline: 25164413]
- Vetrano DL, Calderón-Larrañaga A, Marengoni A, Onder G, Bauer JM, Cesari M, et al. An international perspective on chronic multimorbidity: approaching the elephant in the room. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2018 Sep 11;73(10):1350-1356 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/gerona/glx178] [Medline: 28957993]
- Tortajada S, Giménez-Campos MS, Villar-López J, Faubel-Cava R, Donat-Castelló L, Valdivieso-Martínez B, et al. Case management for patients with complex multimorbidity: development and validation of a coordinated intervention between primary and hospital care. Int J Integr Care 2017 Jun 20;17(2):4 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5334/ijic.2493] [Medline: 28970745]
- Wozniak L, Soprovich A, Rees S, Al Sayah F, Majumdar SR, Johnson JA. Contextualizing the effectiveness of a collaborative care model for primary care patients with diabetes and depression (Teamcare): a qualitative assessment using RE-AIM. Can J Diabetes 2015 Oct;39 Suppl 3:S83-S91. [doi: 10.1016/j.jcjd.2015.05.004] [Medline: 26227866]
- 14. Kastner M, Hayden L, Wong G, Lai Y, Makarski J, Treister V, et al. Underlying mechanisms of complex interventions addressing the care of older adults with multimorbidity: a realist review. BMJ Open 2019 Apr 03;9(4):e025009 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2018-025009] [Medline: 30948577]
- 15. Heale R, James S, Garceau ML. A multiple-case study in nurse practitioner-led clinics: an exploration of the quality of care for patients with multimorbidity. Nurs Leadersh (Tor Ont) 2016;29(3):37-45. [doi: <u>10.12927/cjnl.2016.24891</u>] [Medline: <u>28032834</u>]

- Li S, Roschkov S, Alkhodair A, O'Neill BJ, Chik CL, Tsuyuki RT, et al. The effect of nurse practitioner-led intervention in diabetes care for patients admitted to cardiology services. Can J Diabetes 2017 Feb;41(1):10-16. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jcjd.2016.06.008</u>] [Medline: <u>27658765</u>]
- Hansen KT, McDonald C, O'Hara S, Post L, Silcox S, Gutmanis IA. A formative evaluation of a nurse practitioner-led interprofessional geriatric outpatient clinic. J Interprof Care 2017 Jul;31(4):546-549. [doi: <u>10.1080/13561820.2017.1303463</u>] [Medline: <u>28388276</u>]
- Housden L, Browne AJ, Wong ST, Dawes M. Attending to power differentials: how NP-led group medical visits can influence the management of chronic conditions. Health Expect 2017 Oct;20(5):862-870 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/hex.12525] [Medline: 28071841]
- 19. Carryer J, Adams S. Nurse practitioners as a solution to transformative and sustainable health services in primary health care: a qualitative exploratory study. Collegian 2017;24(6):525-531 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.colegn.2016.12.001]
- 20. Practice standard: nurse practitioner. College of Nurses of Ontario. 2019. URL: <u>https://www.cno.org/globalassets/docs/</u> prac/41038_strdrnec.pdf [accessed 2020-09-01]
- Heale R, James S, Wenghofer E, Garceau ML. Nurse practitioner's perceptions of the impact of the nurse practitioner-led clinic model on the quality of care of complex patients. Prim Health Care Res Dev 2018 Nov;19(6):553-560 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1017/S1463423617000913] [Medline: 29310746]
- 22. Desai AS, Stevenson LW. Connecting the circle from home to heart-failure disease management. N Engl J Med 2010 Dec 09;363(24):2364-2367. [doi: 10.1056/NEJMe1011769] [Medline: 21080836]
- 23. Aminuddin HB, Jiao N, Jiang Y, Hong J, Wang W. Effectiveness of smartphone-based self-management interventions on self-efficacy, self-care activities, health-related quality of life and clinical outcomes in patients with type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Nurs Stud 2021 Apr;116:103286. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2019.02.003] [Medline: 30827741]
- 24. Yi JY, Kim Y, Cho YM, Kim H. Self-management of chronic conditions using mHealth interventions in Korea: a systematic review. Healthc Inform Res 2018 Jul;24(3):187-197 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4258/hir.2018.24.3.187] [Medline: 30109152]
- Seto E, Leonard KJ, Cafazzo JA, Barnsley J, Masino C, Ross HJ. Mobile phone-based telemonitoring for heart failure management: a randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2012 Feb 16;14(1):e31 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1909] [Medline: 22356799]
- Seto E, Leonard KJ, Masino C, Cafazzo JA, Barnsley J, Ross HJ. Attitudes of heart failure patients and health care providers towards mobile phone-based remote monitoring. J Med Internet Res 2010 Nov 29;12(4):e55 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1627] [Medline: 21115435]
- 27. Seto E, Leonard KJ, Cafazzo JA, Masino C, Barnsley J, Ross HJ. Mobile phone-based remote patient monitoring improves heart failure management and outcomes: a randomized controlled trial. J Am Coll Cardiol 2011;57(14):E1260. [doi: 10.1016/S0735-1097(11)61260-6]
- Ware P, Dorai M, Ross HJ, Cafazzo JA, Laporte A, Boodoo C, et al. Patient adherence to a mobile phone-based heart failure telemonitoring program: a longitudinal mixed-methods study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019 Feb 26;7(2):e13259 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/13259] [Medline: 30806625]
- 29. Yun JE, Park JE, Park HY, Lee HY, Park DA. Comparative effectiveness of telemonitoring versus usual care for heart failure: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Card Fail 2018 Jan;24(1):19-28. [doi: 10.1016/j.cardfail.2017.09.006] [Medline: 28939459]
- Pekmezaris R, Tortez L, Williams M, Patel V, Makaryus A, Zeltser R, et al. Home telemonitoring in heart failure: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Health Aff (Millwood) 2018 Dec;37(12):1983-1989. [doi: <u>10.1377/hlthaff.2018.05087</u>] [Medline: <u>30633680</u>]
- 31. Ong MK, Romano PS, Edgington S, Aronow HU, Auerbach AD, Black JT, Better Effectiveness After Transition–Heart Failure (BEAT-HF) Research Group. Effectiveness of remote patient monitoring after discharge of hospitalized patients with heart failure: the better effectiveness after transition -- heart failure (BEAT-HF) randomized clinical trial. JAMA Intern Med 2016 Mar;176(3):310-318 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2015.7712] [Medline: 26857383]
- 32. Koehler F, Koehler K, Deckwart O, Prescher S, Wegscheider K, Kirwan BA, et al. Efficacy of telemedical interventional management in patients with heart failure (TIM-HF2): a randomised, controlled, parallel-group, unmasked trial. Lancet 2018 Sep 22;392(10152):1047-1057. [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(18)31880-4] [Medline: 30153985]
- 33. Martín-Lesende I, Recalde E, Viviane-Wunderling P, Pinar T, Borghesi F, Aguirre T, et al. Mortality in a cohort of complex patients with chronic illnesses and multimorbidity: a descriptive longitudinal study. BMC Palliat Care 2016 Apr 12;15:42 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12904-016-0111-x] [Medline: 27068572]
- Melchiorre MG, Lamura G, Barbabella F, ICARE4EU Consortium. eHealth for people with multimorbidity: results from the ICARE4EU project and insights from the "10 e's" by Gunther Eysenbach. PLoS One 2018;13(11):e0207292 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0207292] [Medline: 30427924]
- 35. Lessard L, Amyot D, Aswad O, Mouttham A. Expanding the nature and scope of requirements for service systems through service-dominant logic: the case of a telemonitoring service. Requirements Eng 2020;25(3):273-293 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00766-019-00322-z]

- 36. Scott Kruse C, Karem P, Shifflett K, Vegi L, Ravi K, Brooks M. Evaluating barriers to adopting telemedicine worldwide: a systematic review. J Telemed Telecare 2018 Jan;24(1):4-12 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1357633X16674087] [Medline: 29320966]
- Hammersley V, Parker R, Paterson M, Hanley J, Pinnock H, Padfield P, et al. Telemonitoring at scale for hypertension in primary care: an implementation study. PLoS Med 2020 Jun;17(6):e1003124 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1003124] [Medline: 32555625]
- May CR, Mair F, Finch T, MacFarlane A, Dowrick C, Treweek S, et al. Development of a theory of implementation and integration: Normalization Process Theory. Implement Sci 2009 May 21;4:29 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1748-5908-4-29] [Medline: 19460163]
- McEvoy R, Ballini L, Maltoni S, O'Donnell CA, Mair FS, Macfarlane A. A qualitative systematic review of studies using the Normalization Process Theory to research implementation processes. Implement Sci 2014 Jan 02;9:2 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1748-5908-9-2] [Medline: 24383661]
- 40. May C, Finch T. Implementing, embedding, and integrating practices: an outline of Normalization Process Theory. Sociology 2009;43(3):535-554. [doi: 10.1177/0038038509103208]
- 41. May C. Towards a general theory of implementation. Implement Sci 2013 Feb 13;8:18 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1748-5908-8-18] [Medline: 23406398]
- 42. Gordon K, Dainty KN, Steele Gray C, DeLacy J, Shah A, Resnick M, et al. Experiences of complex patients with telemonitoring in a nurse-led model of care: multimethod feasibility study. JMIR Nurs 2020 Sep 29;3(1):e22118 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/22118] [Medline: 34406972]
- 43. May C. Agency and implementation: understanding the embedding of healthcare innovations in practice. Soc Sci Med 2013 Feb;78:26-33 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2012.11.021] [Medline: 23246396]
- 44. Rapley T, Girling M, Mair FS, Murray E, Treweek S, McColl E, et al. Improving the normalization of complex interventions: part 1 development of the NoMAD instrument for assessing implementation work based on normalization process theory (NPT). BMC Med Res Methodol 2018 Nov 15;18(1):133 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12874-018-0590-y] [Medline: 30442093]
- Thorne S, Kirkham SR, MacDonald-Emes J. Interpretive description: a noncategorical qualitative alternative for developing nursing knowledge. Res Nurs Health 1997 Apr;20(2):169-177. [doi: 10.1002/(sici)1098-240x(199704)20:2<169::aid-nur9>3.0.co;2-i] [Medline: 9100747]
- 46. Thorne S. Interpretative description: qualitative research for applied practice. 2nd edition. Milton Park, UK: Routledge; Mar 21, 2016.
- 47. Thorne S, Kirkham SR, O'Flynn-Magee K. The analytic challenge in interpretive description. Int J Qual Methods 2004;3(1):1-11. [doi: 10.1177/160940690400300101]
- 48. Garnett A, Ploeg J, Markle-Reid M, Strachan PH. Self-management of multiple chronic conditions by community-dwelling older adults: a concept analysis. SAGE Open Nurs 2018;4:2377960817752471 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/2377960817752471] [Medline: 33415188]
- 49. Boult C, Wieland GD. Comprehensive primary care for older patients with multiple chronic conditions: "Nobody rushes you through". JAMA 2010 Nov 03;304(17):1936-1943. [doi: 10.1001/jama.2010.1623] [Medline: 21045100]
- Gordon K, Steele Gray C, Dainty KN, DeLacy J, Ware P, Seto E. Exploring an innovative care model and telemonitoring for the management of patients with complex chronic needs: qualitative description study. JMIR Nurs 2020;3(1):e15691 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/15691] [Medline: 34345777]
- Grisot M, Moltubakk Kempton A, Hagen L, Aanestad M. Data-work for personalized care: examining nurses' practices in remote monitoring of chronic patients. Health Informatics J 2019 Sep;25(3):608-616 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1460458219833110] [Medline: 30880551]
- Bagot K, Moloczij N, Arthurson L, Hair C, Hancock S, Bladin CF, et al. Nurses' role in implementing and sustaining acute telemedicine: a mixed-methods, pre-post design using an extended technology acceptance model. J Nurs Scholarsh 2020 Jan;52(1):34-46. [doi: 10.1111/jnu.12509] [Medline: 31508882]
- Vest BM, Hall VM, Kahn LS, Heider AR, Maloney N, Singh R. Nurse perspectives on the implementation of routine telemonitoring for high-risk diabetes patients in a primary care setting. Prim Health Care Res Dev 2017 Jan;18(1):3-13. [doi: 10.1017/S1463423616000190] [Medline: 27269513]
- 54. Brewster L, Mountain G, Wessels B, Kelly C, Hawley M. Factors affecting front line staff acceptance of telehealth technologies: a mixed-method systematic review. J Adv Nurs 2014 Jan;70(1):21-33. [doi: <u>10.1111/jan.12196</u>] [Medline: <u>23786584</u>]
- Mc Namara KP, Breken BD, Alzubaidi HT, Bell JS, Dunbar JA, Walker C, et al. Health professional perspectives on the management of multimorbidity and polypharmacy for older patients in Australia. Age Ageing 2017 Mar 01;46(2):291-299. [doi: <u>10.1093/ageing/afw200</u>] [Medline: <u>27836856</u>]
- 56. Mansell K, Edmunds K, Guirguis L. Pharmacists' scope of practice: supports for Canadians with diabetes. Can J Diabetes 2017 Dec;41(6):558-562. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jcjd.2017.08.243</u>] [Medline: <u>29037573</u>]

- 57. Donald M, King-Shier K, Tsuyuki RT, Al Hamarneh YN, Jones CA, Manns B, et al. Patient, family physician and community pharmacist perspectives on expanded pharmacy scope of practice: a qualitative study. CMAJ Open 2017;5(1):E205-E212 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.9778/cmajo.20160135] [Medline: 28401136]
- Gould C, O'Hara R, Goldstein MK, Beaudreau SA. Multimorbidity is associated with anxiety in older adults in the Health and Retirement Study. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry 2016 Oct;31(10):1105-1115 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1002/gps.4532</u>] [Medline: <u>27441851</u>]
- 59. Read JR, Sharpe L, Modini M, Dear BF. Multimorbidity and depression: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Affect Disord 2017 Oct 15;221:36-46. [doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2017.06.009] [Medline: 28628766]

Abbreviations

CCC: complex chronic conditions COPD: chronic obstructive pulmonary disease DM: diabetes mellitus HF: heart failure HTN: hypertension NoMAD: Normalization Measure Development NP: nurse practitioner NPT: Normalization Process Theory RN: registered nurse TM: telemonitoring

Edited by E Borycki; submitted 13.01.22; peer-reviewed by W Chen, A Virani; comments to author 27.02.22; revised version received 12.03.22; accepted 13.03.22; published 28.04.22.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Gordon K, Dainty KN, Steele Gray C, DeLacy J, Shah A, Seto E Normalizing Telemonitoring in Nurse-Led Care Models for Complex Chronic Patient Populations: Case Study JMIR Nursing 2022;5(1):e36346 URL: <u>https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e36346</u> doi:<u>10.2196/36346</u> PMID:<u>35482375</u>

©Kayleigh Gordon, Katie N Dainty, Carolyn Steele Gray, Jane DeLacy, Amika Shah, Emily Seto. Originally published in JMIR Nursing (https://nursing.jmir.org), 28.04.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Nursing, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://nursing.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Patients' Experiences of Care With or Without the Support of an Interactive App During Neoadjuvant Chemotherapy for Breast Cancer: Interview Study

Maria Fjell¹, RN, PhD; Ann Langius-Eklöf¹, RN, PhD; Marie Nilsson¹, MSW, PhD; Kay Sundberg¹, RN, PhD

Department of Neurobiology, Care Sciences and Society, Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden

Corresponding Author: Maria Fjell, RN, PhD Department of Neurobiology, Care Sciences and Society Karolinska Institutet Alfred Nobels Allé 23 Stockholm, 14183 Sweden Phone: 46 8 524 837 42 Email: maria.fjell@ki.se

Abstract

Background: Neoadjuvant chemotherapy (NACT) is often recommended for patients with breast cancer with more aggressive tumor characteristics. As with all chemotherapies, they can cause substantially disturbing symptoms. Most patients receive their treatment as outpatients, which means that they must take responsibility for self-care and management of symptoms at home for a long period. Patients with breast cancer undergoing chemotherapy may not receive sufficient support for management of treatment-related symptoms. For patients undergoing NACT, it has been concluded that information and supportive needs are not always met. In our previous study, the use of mobile health to support patients with breast cancer undergoing NACT reduced symptoms during treatment with the support of an interactive app. Therefore, it is important to investigate how patients experience their care and explore any specific contribution that the app may have brought in care.

Objective: This study aims to explore patients' experiences of care with or without the support of an interactive app during NACT for breast cancer.

Methods: This qualitative study was part of a larger randomized controlled trial and included 40 individual face-to-face interviews conducted with patients in both intervention and control groups after the end of NACT. The interviews were audio recorded, and the data were analyzed inductively using thematic analysis.

Results: No major differences in experience of care were observed between the groups. A total of 4 overarching themes emerged. In the first theme, *The health care context*, patients described care as assessible, although sometimes there was a lack of time and continuity with nurses. In the second theme, *Being a recipient of care*, it emerged that the patients experienced a warm and positive atmosphere at the clinics. In the third theme, *Taking an active role as a patient*, patients described being active in searching for information and various ways of participation in their own care. In the fourth theme, *The value of the app*, patients who had used the app experienced it as a complementary source of information, creating a sense of security. Using the app provided patients with the support of being contacted by a nurse if needed, enabled self-care, and facilitated the planning of daily activities.

Conclusions: Overall, patients' experiences of care were similar and mostly positive. However, for patients using the app, it provided additional support for information and self-care and enhanced participation in their own care. The easy access to a nurse gave patients a sense of security. The findings suggest integrating an interactive app as a complement to standard care to support patients with breast cancer during treatment.

International Registered Report Identifier (IRRID): RR2-10.1186/s12885-017-3450-y

(JMIR Nursing 2022;5(1):e39983) doi:10.2196/39983

KEYWORDS

RenderX

breast cancer; neoadjuvant chemotherapy; experiences of care; mobile health; mHealth; mobile app; patient participation; mobile phone

Introduction

Patients with breast cancer with more aggressive tumor characteristics are often treated using neoadjuvant chemotherapy (NACT), which is administered before surgery [1,2]. The main purpose of NACT is to reduce the tumor size, known as downstaging. This may allow less extensive surgery on the breast and axilla, thereby facilitating breast-conserving surgery instead of mastectomy, as well as improve cosmetic outcomes and reduce postoperative complications such as lymphedema [3,4]. NACT also allows early treatment of possible micrometastases and provides valuable prognostic information regarding the effectiveness of treatment [1,5]. The treatment is considered both safe and effective [1,6-8]. However, as with all chemotherapies, it can cause substantial physical and psychological symptoms [9,10].

In general, most patients with breast cancer receive treatment as outpatients, which means self-care and management of symptoms at home for a long period [11,12]. This means that patients are expected to participate in their own care, and this involves patient learning to obtain knowledge and skills to manage illness and symptoms in collaboration with the nurse [13]. It also includes a caring relationship between the nurse and patient built on reciprocity and trust [14]. However, it is evident that patients have different needs concerning participation [15]. There are patients who are satisfied with not being so active but also those who express that they want to participate in their own care, and for achieving that, there are both facilitators and barriers [16,17]. Participation should be considered on an individual basis, according to the patient's specific situation [18].

In contexts with short hospital stays and outpatient treatments, patients need to actively engage in self-care, but they need support in managing this condition [13,19]. Previous studies have shown that patients with breast cancer may not receive sufficient supportive care for treatment-related symptoms during chemotherapy [20,21]. Studies regarding patients' needs during NACT are few, and they report that information and supportive needs are not always met [22,23]. This may result in impaired well-being, reduced health-related quality of life, distressing visits to emergency departments, hospitalizations, and poor treatment outcomes [22,24]. Therefore, ensuring that the care needs are identified, assessed, and managed is imperative.

Technical advances in the field of mobile apps and web-based systems have led to an increased use of mobile health (mHealth) to improve the delivery of health care and to support patients with cancer [25,26]. Studies on the use of such technology have shown decreased symptom burden, improved health-related quality of life, and increased survival [26,27]. We developed an interactive app (Interaktor) for smartphones and tablets, with

the intention of supporting patients in real time during cancer treatment regarding symptom management [28]. The patients showed high adherence and engagement in using the app, which promoted continuous contact with the nurse [29] and led to less symptom burden during treatment of prostate and pancreatic cancer [30,31]. In a randomized controlled study using the Interaktor app during NACT, the results showed lower symptom prevalence and symptom distress and better emotional functioning than the control group 2 weeks after the end of treatment [32]. The next step in evaluating the use of the app was to explore whether the app contributed to standard care in any specific way. This study aimed to explore patients' experiences of care with or without the support of an interactive app during NACT for breast cancer.

Methods

Study Design

In this study, a qualitative design was applied to explore patients' experiences of care and the significance of using the app. This study is part of a larger randomized controlled trial (RCT; ClinicalTrials.gov NCT02479607) evaluating the Interaktor app in patients undergoing NACT for breast cancer [28].

Sample and Setting

In the larger RCT, 149 patients diagnosed with breast cancer and treated with NACT were included in an intervention group (n=74, 49.7%), using the app Interaktor in combination with standard care, or a control group (n=75, 50.3%), only receiving standard care [32]. Inclusion criteria were as follows: aged \geq 18 years, diagnosed with nonmetastatic breast cancer planned for NACT, able to read and understand Swedish, and no medical condition of cognitive dysfunction. The trial was conducted at 2 university hospital oncology clinics in Stockholm, Sweden.

When agreeing to participate in the RCT, the patients were informed by the researcher that they could later be contacted and invited to participate in an interview study about their experiences of care during NACT and the significance of the app among patients who had used it during the study. Three months after the end of NACT, a consecutive sampling strategy for the interviews was adopted in the first 20 patients, with an equal number of patients from both the intervention and control groups at the 2 hospitals. Subsequently, a strategic sampling strategy was used to capture a range of patient characteristics based on group, age, marital status, educational level, occupation, and treatment duration in weeks. A final sample of 40 patients from the intervention (n=21, 53%) and control (n=19, 53%)47%) groups was included in this study (Table 1). There were no statistically significant differences in the sociodemographic and clinical characteristics at baseline between the 2 groups.


Table 1.	Sociodemographic and	l clinical	characteristics a	at baseline	(N=40).
----------	----------------------	------------	-------------------	-------------	---------

0 1			
Characteristic	Intervention group (n=21)	Control group (n=19)	
Age (years) at inclusion, mean (SD; range)	51.7 (12.5; 30-73)	54.2 (13.5; 35-77)	
Marital status, n (%)			
Married or cohabiting	17 (81)	14 (74)	
Living alone	4 (19)	5 (26)	
Education level, n (%)			
University	13 (62)	11 (58)	
Secondary school	3 (14)	6 (32)	
Primary school	5 (24)	2 (10)	
Occupation, n (%)			
Working	16 (76)	13 (68)	
On sick leave	2 (10)	1 (5)	
Retired or unemployed	3 (14)	5 (26)	
NACT ^a duration in weeks, mean (SD; range)	15.3 (1.9; 11-20)	15.6 (2.5; 11-23)	

^aNACT: neoadjuvant chemotherapy.

Standard Care

Standard care consists of treatment and care according to national care guidelines, including visits to the physician at the oncology clinic before each chemotherapy treatment, approximately every second or third week, depending on the chemotherapy regimen. Moreover, the patient is assigned a contact nurse who has the overall responsibility for the patient throughout the care chain. The contact nurse provides the patient with information about the treatment and the planning of care during a scheduled visit before the start of treatment. During treatment, the contact nurse supports patients with information, establishes a care plan, assesses the patient's symptoms and needs, and takes actions based on these symptoms and needs. In case of questions or concerns related to treatment, the contact nurse is available during office hours. During other hours, patients are referred to the oncology emergency unit or inpatient or emergency department, depending on which hospital the patient is being treated at [33].

The Intervention With Interaktor for Patients With Breast Cancer During NACT

The content of Interaktor for NACT was developed through literature reviews, clinical guidelines, and discussions and consultations with health care professionals [32]. The app, running on a smartphone or tablet, has several features: self-reporting of 14 commonly prevalent symptoms during chemotherapy, the transfer of the reported symptoms to a secure server, a web interface where a nurse can monitor the patient's reports in real time, a risk assessment model for symptoms of concern that sends alerts to a nurse at the clinic by an SMS text message, and continuous access to evidence-based self-care advice and relevant websites related to assessed symptoms and other areas of concern. Moreover, the patients could monitor their own reported symptom history over time in graphs. When alerted, the nurse calls the patient to discuss the symptoms and their management. If an alert is triggered, a notification suggests that the patient reads the related self-care advice [34]. During the RCT, the patients reported symptoms daily on weekdays (8 AM-4 PM), starting on their first day of NACT and continuing until 2 weeks after the end of NACT, approximately 18 weeks in total. More details and illustrations of the app have previously been presented [28].

Data Collection

Data collection for this study was conducted between January 2016 and August 2017. The interviews were conducted by the first and third authors (MF and MN) and an additional researcher. All interviews took place in a secluded room at the 2 oncology clinics 3 months after the end of NACT. A semistructured interview guide was used, covering different aspects of patient participation such as the relationship between patients and nurses, patients' information needs, self-care, and caretaking [18,35]. In addition, the patients from the intervention group were asked about the significance of using the app during treatment. The patients were asked to speak as freely as possible around each question, and depending on the extent of the answers, follow-up questions were used (Textbox 1). The interviews were audio recorded and lasted between 14 and 61 minutes, with a median duration of 27 minutes.

Textbox 1. Interview guide.

Question and follow-up questions:

- 1. How did you experience the contact (care relationship) between you and the nurse during the treatment period?
- How has it been? Give examples.
- Has it come about naturally or have you and/or your relatives been forced to bear the weight of your care? Give examples.
- Has the nurse considered your experiences/wishes about your care? Give examples.
- Did you get help when you needed it? Give examples.
- 2. Do you feel that you have received enough information regarding your care and treatment? Give examples.
- How has the information been provided (written, verbal, over the phone, or during visits)?
- When was the information given?
- Was the information provided in such a way that you understood and could absorb it? Give examples.
- Did you lack any information? Give examples.

3. How did you experience your encounters with the nurse?

- Were you given enough time with the nurse?
- Did you feel you were taken seriously/respected? Give examples.
- 4. Have you been involved in your care?
- Can you describe how you have been involved or not involved?
- 5. Was there a dialogue in your meetings with the nurse? Give examples.
- In what way have you had the opportunity to express how you wanted your care/treatment to be?
- Have you had the chance to ask questions or express concerns? Give examples.
- Has the nurse considered any of your experiences/wishes in the planning of your care? Give examples.

6. Have you received advice and help on how to treat symptoms or other concerns? Give examples.

- Did the nurse explain the cause of the symptoms? Give examples.
- Did the nurse explain how the symptoms should be managed? Give examples.
- How did you experience the information given by the nurse?
- Did the advice help? Give examples.
- Did you get help with other basic needs (eg, sick leave and counseling)? Give examples.
- 7. Is there anything you would like to change in health care? Give examples.
- 8. What significance did the app have for you during the treatment? (Note: this question concerns the intervention group.)
- What significance did the app have for your involvement in care?

9. Is there something you would like to add before we finish the interview? Give examples.

Ethics Approval

This study was approved by the regional ethical review board of Stockholm, Sweden (registration numbers 2013/1652-31/2 and 201712519-32).

Data Analysis

The interviews were analyzed with an inductive approach using thematic analysis described by Braun and Clarke [35,36]. The recorded interviews were transcribed verbatim, and the texts were read several times to become familiar with the data as a whole. Each group (intervention and control) was analyzed separately by the first and second authors (MF and ALE). Statements from the patients in agreement with the study objective were systematically coded throughout the entire data set of each patient and transferred into a coding sheet. A code consisted of a few words or whole sentences. The codes from each group were then discussed by the 2 authors. As there were few differences in the codes concerning experiences of care between the 2 groups, the codes were merged into one coding sheet and tagged with an identification so that they could be distinguished. The analysis was continued by sorting the matching codes from both groups into areas. The areas were reviewed so that they covered all codes. Subsequently, the areas were analyzed into themes. The themes were then discussed, reviewed, and revised several times to ensure that they worked

XSL•FC

well in relation to the areas with included codes. Finally, the themes were defined, named, and renamed, resulting in 4 overarching themes and 10 subthemes (Figure 1). Throughout the entire analytic process and during the writing of the

manuscript, all authors (MF, ALE, MN, and KS) continuously discussed the analysis to increase trustworthiness. To illustrate the findings, examples of individual quotes from patients are presented in the Results section.

Figure 1. Overarching themes (gray rectangles) and subthemes (white rectangles) identified through the thematic analysis of interviews with the patients (N=40).



Results

Overview

Regardless of whether the patients had used the app, few differences emerged in the patients' experiences of care within the themes, and both groups reported both positive and negative experiences. The descriptions of patients' experiences of care are presented in three overarching themes: *The health care context, Being a recipient of care* and *Taking an active role as a patient.* The significance of the app for patients is described in the overarching theme *The value of the app.*

The Health Care Context

Accessibility of Care and Time

Patients who had experienced accessibility to care knew who they should contact when needed, and they stated that it had been easy to get in touch with the nurse. A patient stated the following:

I had all the contact information I needed. If there was something acute or if I needed contact during the weekend, I had information on where to call and reached the right department instantly. So, it has really been a comfort. [Patient 53, Intervention group]

The patients said that they had received sufficient time from the nurse during visits or over the telephone. Patients who had experienced accessibility difficulties described that they had not received specific contact information, and it was difficult to get in touch with the nurse owing to staff shortages. Sometimes, their calls were returned several days later or not at all, leading to frustration. This was described as follows:

It was hard not being able to get in direct contact with the contact nurse...I was frustrated having to wait so long to be called. [Patient 5, Control group]

Occasionally, patients did not get enough time to consult with the nurse or the opportunity to ask questions during visits or over the phone.

Continuity in Care

Having a contact nurse was valuable for good continuity and was a great support during the treatment period, as exemplified by the following quote:

Having the same contact nurse was a comfort that meant a lot...everything became easier when I met familiar faces. [Patient 6, Control group]

Lack of continuity was described as having to meet too many different nurses and physicians or not knowing who their contact nurse was, which in turn led to confusion and feelings of insecurity regarding whether the nurse was in control or not. A patient described this as follows:

It was a bit confusing because I had a change of contact nurse four times and I have had four different physicians. There has been no continuity if you know what I mean. [Patient 58, Intervention group]

Being a Recipient of Care

Personal Care

The atmosphere at the oncology clinics was perceived as friendly, positive, confirming, and warm, which was not commonly experienced elsewhere. The patients could laugh and have fun with the nurse even though they were receiving treatment for cancer. A good dialogue with the nurse where both parties could ask and answer questions as well as having discussions even if they had different opinions were considered crucial. The patients described being listened to and treated with respect and empathy by the nurse, which led to trust, safety, and encouragement to keep up with treatments. The following quote describes how a patient experienced it:

They told me that we will make sure this becomes a parenthesis in your life. And exactly those words I took note of, which made it feel like there was a positive future in some way. [Patient 15, Intervention group]

Negative experiences such as a sense of coldness and not being taken seriously were also described:

I felt a sense of coldness in the beginning when I needed a hug instead. [Patient 44, Control group]

Experiencing a lack of dialogue about symptoms or concerns or having to remind the nurse repeatedly regarding, for example, booking appointments or referrals to counseling or prescriptions of medicines, gave feelings of being only one in the crowd.

Receiving Information

The patients were generally satisfied with the verbal and written information they had received as well as answers to questions about the treatment and related symptoms, self-care, and future planning. This created a notion of being prepared and knowing what to expect during treatment:

I never felt anxious or nervous because I knew what would happen and how I might feel. [Patient 3, Control group]

Sometimes, there was a lot of information, which was hard to take in and keep track of. In contrast, some considered the information to be insufficient in certain areas or felt that they had to nag for answers to their questions. On a few occasions, patients felt that information was withheld regarding why NACT was chosen for them specifically instead of surgery and how the treatment affected the whole body. As a patient stated the following:

I do not think the whole picture of my disease was explained to me. I had the feeling of being withheld information...I wanted to know everything, so I asked for my medical records to try to understand. [Patient 30, Intervention group]

Taking an Active Role as a Patient

Searching for Information

Some patients described that they actively searched for more information than what was provided by the nurse. Usually, the internet was used to search for information about the illness, treatment, and other patients' experiences of the treatment to reassure themselves as to whether symptoms and signs were normal or not:

I found out a lot of different things myself about what was going to happen, why I felt like I did and so on. I care about my own body. [Patient 1, Intervention group]

The pharmacy was also a source of more information regarding prescribed medications. Moreover, patient organizations focusing on patients with breast cancer were used, especially to get in contact with and receive information from persons who have had breast cancer and have undergone treatment.

Participation in Own Care

The patients described their participation in care in various ways. Not being an active participant was commonly mentioned, albeit positively; they had accepted the situation and had no need to influence, choose, or have specific requests about their care. The highest priority was to get well from a serious disease, and they had accepted the plan and trusted the nurse to recommend what was best for them:

I accepted and followed what they recommended for me and that worked. I had no need to influence my care and treatment. [Patient 23, Control group]

Sometimes, treatment decisions and future planning were presented as a package at an early stage, and patients felt that their participation was not requested. A patient stated the following:

You were told that you should participate in the care. I did not know what options I had, or I could say that no alternatives were presented for me. The treatment and the planning were already decided and presented for me, and I accepted it. [Patient 33, Intervention group]

There were patients who described participation as following advice from the nurse. Realizing that they could do something themselves helped them feel better and made the treatment more manageable. Furthermore, having a treatment plan facilitated their daily planning. Having the possibility of discussing different matters regarding their care was also important for their feelings of involvement.

The Value of the App

A Source of Information

The patients described using Interaktor as an easy and accessible source of information where symptoms caused by the treatment were explained. Patients could follow the related self-care advice instead of contacting the contact nurse for information about how to manage their symptoms. A patient said the following:

Using the app led me to get information, for example about the mouth, which I had huge problems with. I could read about common symptoms and then there were recommendations on what I could eat and do myself. I thought it also helped me to seek even more information. [Patient 15, Intervention group]

Thus, the information in the app was a good complement to the verbal and written information provided by the nurse during treatment and created a sense of security. The links to the websites in the app felt safe and useful for obtaining more in-depth information.

Availability of Care

Using Interaktor was experienced by the patients as an easy and straightforward way to reach the contact nurse, as they were contacted directly in the event of severe symptoms or concerns. This was described as safe because they knew that they would be contacted by the nurse when they felt ill and because they experienced that they were contacted quickly:

Well, the times when I needed help, I got it right away. Otherwise, without the app, I had to call, and they called me back. With the app, they basically called ten minutes later. [Patient 25, Intervention group]

Furthermore, being contacted in the event of an alert was much more convenient than having to look for the right telephone number for the contact nurse.



Being Seen and Listened To

Reporting symptoms in the app facilitated the patients to share information about their health condition with the nurse, who could then monitor the patients' reports. The patients also stated that in the event of severe symptoms that led to contact with the nurse, they had the opportunity to ask questions and discuss any problems. Thus, the patients felt that they were being monitored in a positive way and led to feelings of being seen and listened to and not being on their own:

For me, it contributed with feelings of not being cast aside or of being alone. There was someone who actually saw what I reported and provided feedback. For me, this gave me a sense security I would say, a stability. [Patient 6, Intervention group]

Being Active in Own Health Management

The patients described being active by reporting symptoms daily, as opposed to contacting the nurse themselves when they felt unwell. Furthermore, the app facilitated self-care actions when symptoms occurred, to increase well-being. Reporting and monitoring symptoms in the graphs provided patients with an opportunity to reflect on how they felt every day. Being more conscious and aware of their symptoms enabled them to see patterns and fluctuations in their symptoms. This also facilitated their planning of activities and created positive feelings and comfort when they discovered that many days were trouble free. Reporting and keeping track of symptoms in the app was described as a way of keeping a diary:

For me, it was good to be able to go back and check how many days I felt ill, and when I came back to the clinic, I could say that I had felt really ill two weeks after the treatment, and then it became a bit better. So, for me, given that my memory does not work, I think that was supportive. [Patient 30, Intervention group]

Discussion

Principal Findings

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study to specifically explore experiences of care in patients with breast cancer during NACT and investigate the impact of an interactive app on standard care. Overall, patients from both groups expressed positive experiences with their care during NACT, although negative experiences were also mentioned. The patients in the intervention group experienced that using the app provided added value to standard care with regard to additional support for information, self-care, and enhanced participation in their own care. In Sweden, patients who receive NACT are treated according to national care guidelines, and the role of the contact nurse is to support patients throughout the chain of care [33]. However, results of this study are in congruence with those of other studies showing that patients request more support during their treatment in addition to what the health care offers [37]. Commonly, this support concerns information and how to manage symptoms caused by the illness and treatment [38]. Presently, the patients described the Interaktor app as providing extra support during the treatment period by having easy access

to self-care advice, information, and contact with the nurse if the symptoms were severe. The results are in line with those of the recent reviews where patients with cancer experienced apps as supportive tools that complemented or extended existing health care [39,40].

Although most of the patients felt well informed, a lot of information was given at the same time, which sometimes was hard to absorb. Studies have shown that patients undergoing treatment for cancer have a great need for relevant information to gain an understanding of the treatment [41-43]. Patients receiving chemotherapy often have trouble concentrating and difficulties remembering [44]. Supportive mHealth apps can thus be convenient for patients during treatment, as they can retrieve information to refresh their memory whenever needed.

We have previously reported increased symptom relief when using Interaktor [32], and the results of this study testify that the app was a facilitator for patients to participate in their own care. By reporting and monitoring their symptoms as well as using easily accessible self-care advice, they had been active in relieving their symptoms. Another benefit of using the app, mentioned by some, was the graphs showing the course of their symptoms, which was useful in planning everyday life. Furthermore, accessibility to nurses during treatment was essential for patients, especially in the case of severe symptoms. Accessibility to care characterizes how easily a patient can reach the health care provider. Availability refers to the extent to which the health care provider has the resources to be reached; for example, through personnel and technology [45]. Presently, Interaktor has served as a safe and convenient tool for achieving both.

Most patients described their dialogue with the nurse as respectful, encouraging, and personal. Using Interaktor reinforced patients' experiences of being seen, listened to, and feeling safe. Similarly, improved patient safety and increased communication between patients and health care providers were shown in a recent review of patients with cancer using mHealth [46]. Results from other studies on cancer care have shown that an established good relationship between the patient and nurse is vital for the patient to feel acknowledged, which also facilitates patient participation [18,44]. Interestingly, in this study, it was common for patients to be satisfied with their own care without the need to influence or have special requests for care. In contrast, some appreciated being active in searching for information and engaging in self-care. This indicates that patients may not be aware that there are many ways for them to participate in their own care. Studies have confirmed that the meaning of concept of participation is vague and needs to be clarified to be practically achieved in a clinical context [14,47].

Strengths and Limitations

The selected sample was considered to be ample in size and heterogeneity to provide richly textured information for trustworthiness of data. A thematic analysis method was chosen, providing a structured approach to handle the large data sets and to identify patterns across the data set [48,49]. In addition, by conducting most of the interviews and transcriptions, the first author, who also played a major part in the analysis, became acquainted with the material. The risk of the first author's

XSL•FO RenderX

preunderstanding was considered by confirming the transparency of the analysis with the other authors. The fact that the interviews were conducted 3 months after the end of NACT could have caused recall bias; however, the richness of the data testifies against this bias.

Conclusions

In this study, it was evident that patients felt well taken care of and mostly had positive experiences of their care during their treatment for breast cancer. This was regardless of whether they had used the app. The results show that there is potential for improvements in how information, communication, and access to a nurse are delivered in care. Patients using the interactive app experienced this as an added value during their treatment. The extra support for information and self-care enhanced participation in their own care, and easy access to nurses gave them a sense of security. These findings suggest that there are good reasons to integrate an interactive app as a complement to standard care to support patients treated for breast cancer. Further investigation should be conducted on nurses' experiences of the intervention with Interaktor and how it impacts their work. Moreover, an evaluation of the cost-effectiveness of the app is warranted.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank all the patients who participated in this study as well as the health care professionals at the oncology clinics who assisted the authors. The authors would also like to thank Marie-Therése Crafoord, who helped the authors with interviews and transcriptions, and the Health Navigator for collaborating and providing technical support for this project. The study was supported by grants from Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden (internal grants); the Swedish Research Council, Stockholm, Sweden (521-2014-2723); the Swedish Research Council for Health, Working Life and Welfare, Stockholm, Sweden (2014-04713); the Swedish Cancer Foundation, Stockholm, Sweden (160298); the Kamprad Family Foundation for Entrepreneurship, Research and Charity, Växjö, Sweden (20150015); and the Cancer Research Funds of Radiumhemmet, Stockholm, Sweden (184171).

Authors' Contributions

ALE and KS contributed to the study design. Interviews and transcriptions were performed by MF and MN. All authors performed the analyses. The manuscript was prepared by MF and subsequently reviewed and revised by all the authors, who also approved the final manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- Cain H, Macpherson IR, Beresford M, Pinder SE, Pong J, Dixon JM. Neoadjuvant therapy in early breast cancer: treatment considerations and common debates in practice. Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol) 2017 Oct;29(10):642-652 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.clon.2017.06.003] [Medline: 28669449]
- Graham PJ, Brar MS, Foster T, McCall M, Bouchard-Fortier A, Temple W, et al. Neoadjuvant chemotherapy for breast cancer, is practice changing? A population-based review of current surgical trends. Ann Surg Oncol 2015 Oct;22(10):3376-3382. [doi: 10.1245/s10434-015-4714-x] [Medline: 26202561]
- Curigliano G, Burstein HJ, Winer EP, Gnant M, Dubsky P, Loibl S, St. Gallen International Expert Consensus on the Primary Therapy of Early Breast Cancer 2017, et al. De-escalating and escalating treatments for early-stage breast cancer: the St. Gallen international expert consensus conference on the primary therapy of early breast cancer 2017. Ann Oncol 2017 Aug 01;28(8):1700-1712 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdx308] [Medline: 28838210]
- Woeste MR, Bhutiani N, Donaldson M, McMasters KM, Ajkay N. Evaluating the effect of neoadjuvant chemotherapy on surgical outcomes after breast conserving surgery. J Surg Oncol 2021 Mar;123(2):439-445. [doi: <u>10.1002/jso.26301</u>] [Medline: <u>33259649</u>]
- 5. Caparica R, Brandão M, Piccart M. Systemic treatment of patients with early breast cancer: recent updates and state of the art. Breast 2019 Nov;48:S7-20. [doi: 10.1016/S0960-9776(19)31115-4] [Medline: 31839166]
- 6. Asselain B, Barlow W, Bartlett J, Bergh J, Bergsten-Nordström E, Bliss J, et al. Long-term outcomes for neoadjuvant versus adjuvant chemotherapy in early breast cancer: meta-analysis of individual patient data from ten randomised trials. Lancet Oncol 2018 Jan;19(1):27-39 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(17)30777-5] [Medline: 29242041]
- 7. Chatterjee A, Erban JK. Neoadjuvant therapy for treatment of breast cancer: the way forward, or simply a convenient option for patients? Gland Surg 2017 Mar;6(1):119-124 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.21037/gs.2016.08.07] [Medline: 28210563]
- Haddad TC, Goetz MP. Landscape of neoadjuvant therapy for breast cancer. Ann Surg Oncol 2015 May;22(5):1408-1415 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1245/s10434-015-4405-7] [Medline: 25727557]
- 9. Denieffe S, Gooney M. A meta-synthesis of women's symptoms experience and breast cancer. Eur J Cancer Care (Engl) 2011 Jul;20(4):424-435. [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2354.2010.01223.x] [Medline: 20825463]

- Browall M, Brandberg Y, Nasic S, Rydberg P, Bergh J, Rydén A, et al. A prospective exploration of symptom burden clusters in women with breast cancer during chemotherapy treatment. Support Care Cancer 2017 May 15;25(5):1423-1429 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00520-016-3527-1] [Medline: 27981366]
- 11. Lai XB, Ching SS, Wong FK. A qualitative exploration of the experiences of patients with breast cancer receiving outpatient-based chemotherapy. J Adv Nurs 2017 Oct;73(10):2339-2350. [doi: <u>10.1111/jan.13309</u>] [Medline: <u>28370172</u>]
- 12. McKenzie H, Hayes L, White K, Cox K, Fethney J, Boughton M, et al. Chemotherapy outpatients' unplanned presentations to hospital: a retrospective study. Support Care Cancer 2011 Jul;19(7):963-969. [doi: <u>10.1007/s00520-010-0913-y</u>] [Medline: <u>20499108</u>]
- 13. Boman LE, Sandelin K, Wengström Y, Silén C. Patients' participation during treatment and care of breast cancer a possibility and an imperative. Eur J Oncol Nurs 2018 Dec;37:35-42. [doi: 10.1016/j.ejon.2018.09.002] [Medline: 30473049]
- Nilsson M, From I, Lindwall L. The significance of patient participation in nursing care a concept analysis. Scand J Caring Sci 2019 Mar;33(1):244-251. [doi: 10.1111/scs.12609] [Medline: 30070390]
- 15. Frank C, Asp M, Dahlberg K. Patient participation in emergency care a phenomenographic study based on patients' lived experience. Int Emerg Nurs 2009 Jan;17(1):15-22. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ienj.2008.09.003</u>] [Medline: <u>19135011</u>]
- Ringdal M, Chaboyer W, Ulin K, Bucknall T, Oxelmark L. Patient preferences for participation in patient care and safety activities in hospitals. BMC Nurs 2017;16:69 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12912-017-0266-7] [Medline: 29200965]
- Cohen E, Botti M. Cancer patients' perceptions of the barriers and facilitators to patient participation in symptom management during an episode of admission. Cancer Nurs 2015;38(6):458-465. [doi: <u>10.1097/NCC.0000000000226</u>] [Medline: <u>25629892</u>]
- Angel S, Frederiksen KN. Challenges in achieving patient participation: a review of how patient participation is addressed in empirical studies. Int J Nurs Stud 2015 Sep;52(9):1525-1538. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2015.04.008</u>] [Medline: <u>25980558</u>]
- Howell D, Mayer DK, Fielding R, Eicher M, Verdonck-de Leeuw IM, Johansen C, Global Partners for Self-Management in Cancer. Management of cancer and health after the clinic visit: a call to action for self-management in cancer care. J Natl Cancer Inst 2021 May 04;113(5):523-531 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jnci/djaa083] [Medline: 32525530]
- Cardoso F, Bese N, Distelhorst SR, Bevilacqua JL, Ginsburg O, Grunberg SM, et al. Supportive care during treatment for breast cancer: resource allocations in low- and middle-income countries. A Breast Health Global Initiative 2013 consensus statement. Breast 2013 Oct;22(5):593-605 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.breast.2013.07.050] [Medline: 24001709]
- Schmid-Büchi S, Halfens RJ, Müller M, Dassen T, van den Borne B. Factors associated with supportive care needs of patients under treatment for breast cancer. Eur J Oncol Nurs 2013 Mar;17(1):22-29. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ejon.2012.02.003</u>] [Medline: <u>22449715</u>]
- 22. Beaver K, Williamson S, Briggs J. Exploring patient experiences of neo-adjuvant chemotherapy for breast cancer. Eur J Oncol Nurs 2016 Mar;20:77-86. [doi: 10.1016/j.ejon.2015.06.001] [Medline: 26078034]
- LeVasseur N, Li H, Cheung W, Myers P, Mckevitt E, Warburton R, et al. Effects of high anxiety scores on surgical and overall treatment plan in patients with breast cancer treated with neoadjuvant therapy. Oncologist 2020 Mar;25(3):212-217 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1634/theoncologist.2019-0512] [Medline: 32162800]
- 24. Tang M, Horsley P, Lewis CR. Emergency department presentations in early stage breast cancer patients receiving adjuvant and neoadjuvant chemotherapy. Intern Med J 2018 May;48(5):583-587. [doi: <u>10.1111/imj.13785</u>] [Medline: <u>29722200</u>]
- Cruz FO, Vilela RA, Ferreira EB, Melo NS, Reis PE. Evidence on the use of mobile apps during the treatment of breast cancer: systematic review. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019 Aug 27;7(8):e13245 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/13245] [Medline: 31456578]
- Fridriksdottir N, Gunnarsdottir S, Zoëga S, Ingadottir B, Hafsteinsdottir EJ. Effects of web-based interventions on cancer patients' symptoms: review of randomized trials. Support Care Cancer 2018 Feb;26(2):337-351. [doi: 10.1007/s00520-017-3882-6] [Medline: 28921391]
- Denis F, Basch E, Septans A, Bennouna J, Urban T, Dueck AC, et al. Two-year survival comparing web-based symptom monitoring vs routine surveillance following treatment for lung cancer. JAMA 2019 Jan 22;321(3):306-307 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jama.2018.18085] [Medline: 30667494]
- 28. Langius-Eklöf A, Crafoord M, Christiansen M, Fjell M, Sundberg K. Effects of an interactive mHealth innovation for early detection of patient-reported symptom distress with focus on participatory care: protocol for a study based on prospective, randomised, controlled trials in patients with prostate and breast cancer. BMC Cancer 2017 Jul 04;17(1):466 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12885-017-3450-y] [Medline: 28676102]
- 29. Crafoord M, Fjell M, Sundberg K, Nilsson M, Langius-Eklöf A. Engagement in an interactive app for symptom self-management during treatment in patients with breast or prostate cancer: mixed methods study. J Med Internet Res 2020 Aug 10;22(8):e17058 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/17058] [Medline: 32663140]
- 30. Sundberg K, Wengström Y, Blomberg K, Hälleberg-Nyman M, Frank C, Langius-Eklöf A. Early detection and management of symptoms using an interactive smartphone application (Interaktor) during radiotherapy for prostate cancer. Support Care Cancer 2017 Jul;25(7):2195-2204 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00520-017-3625-8] [Medline: 28236145]
- 31. Gustavell T, Sundberg K, Segersvärd R, Wengström Y, Langius-Eklöf A. Decreased symptom burden following surgery due to support from an interactive app for symptom management for patients with pancreatic and periampullary cancer. Acta Oncol 2019 Sep;58(9):1307-1314. [doi: 10.1080/0284186X.2019.1633473] [Medline: 31284797]

RenderX

- 32. Fjell M, Langius-Eklöf A, Nilsson M, Wengström Y, Sundberg K. Reduced symptom burden with the support of an interactive app during neoadjuvant chemotherapy for breast cancer a randomized controlled trial. Breast 2020 Jun;51:85-93 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.breast.2020.03.004] [Medline: 32247251]
- 33. National guidelines for breast cancer. Regional Cancer Centers. 2020. URL: <u>https://www.cancercentrum.se/samverkan/</u> cancerdiagnoser/brost/vardprogram/ [accessed 2022-03-15]
- 34. Langius-Eklöf A, Christiansen M, Lindström V, Blomberg K, Hälleberg Nyman M, Wengström Y, et al. Adherence to report and patient perception of an interactive app for managing symptoms during radiotherapy for prostate cancer: descriptive study of logged and interview data. JMIR Cancer 2017 Oct 31;3(2):e18 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/cancer.7599] [Medline: 29089290]
- Frank C, Fridlund B, Baigi A, Asp M. Patient participation in the emergency department: an evaluation using a specific instrument to measure patient participation (PPED). J Adv Nurs 2011 Apr;67(4):728-735. [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2648.2010.05524.x] [Medline: 21118292]
- 36. Braun V, Clarke V. Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qual Res Psychol 2006 Jan;3(2):77-101. [doi: 10.1191/1478088706qp063oa]
- Evans Webb M, Murray E, Younger ZW, Goodfellow H, Ross J. The supportive care needs of cancer patients: a systematic review. J Cancer Educ 2021 Oct;36(5):899-908 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s13187-020-01941-9] [Medline: <u>33492650</u>]
- Fiszer C, Dolbeault S, Sultan S, Brédart A. Prevalence, intensity, and predictors of the supportive care needs of women diagnosed with breast cancer: a systematic review. Psychooncology 2014 Apr;23(4):361-374. [doi: <u>10.1002/pon.3432</u>] [Medline: <u>24677334</u>]
- Darley A, Coughlan B, Furlong E. People with cancer and their family caregivers' personal experience of using supportive eHealth technology: a narrative review. Eur J Oncol Nurs 2021 Oct;54:102030 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ejon.2021.102030] [Medline: 34531122]
- 40. Cai T, Huang Y, Zhang Y, Lu Z, Huang Q, Yuan C. Mobile health applications for the care of patients with breast cancer: a scoping review. Int J Nurs Sci 2021 Oct 10;8(4):470-476 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ijnss.2021.07.003] [Medline: 34631997]
- 41. Lo AC, Olson R, Feldman-Stewart D, Truong PT, Aquino-Parsons C, Bottorff JL, et al. A patient-centered approach to evaluate the information needs of women with ductal carcinoma in situ. Am J Clin Oncol 2017 Dec;40(6):574-581. [doi: 10.1097/COC.00000000000184] [Medline: 25730602]
- 42. Keinki C, Seilacher E, Ebel M, Ruetters D, Kessler I, Stellamanns J, et al. Information needs of cancer patients and perception of impact of the disease, of self-efficacy, and locus of control. J Cancer Educ 2016 Sep;31(3):610-616. [doi: 10.1007/s13187-015-0860-x] [Medline: 25994358]
- 43. Braun LA, Zomorodbakhsch B, Keinki C, Huebner J. Information needs, communication and usage of social media by cancer patients and their relatives. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol 2019 Jul;145(7):1865-1875. [doi: 10.1007/s00432-019-02929-9] [Medline: 31123824]
- 44. Ibrahim F, Sandström P, Björnsson B, Larsson AL, Drott J. 'I want to know why and need to be involved in my own care...': a qualitative interview study with liver, bile duct or pancreatic cancer patients about their experiences with involvement in care. Support Care Cancer 2019 Jul;27(7):2561-2567 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00520-018-4548-8] [Medline: 30430301]
- 45. McLaughlin CG, Wyszewianski L. Access to care: remembering old lessons. Health Serv Res 2002 Dec;37(6):1441-1443 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/1475-6773.12171] [Medline: 12546280]
- 46. Osborn J, Ajakaiye A, Cooksley T, Subbe CP. Do mHealth applications improve clinical outcomes of patients with cancer? A critical appraisal of the peer-reviewed literature. Support Care Cancer 2020 Mar;28(3):1469-1479 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00520-019-04945-4] [Medline: 31273501]
- Eldh AC, Holmefur M, Luhr K, Wenemark M. Assessing and reporting patient participation by means of patient preferences and experiences. BMC Health Serv Res 2020 Jul 29;20(1):702 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12913-020-05574-y] [Medline: 32727451]
- 48. Lorelli S, Nowell LS, Norris JM, White DE, Moules NJ. Thematic analysis: striving to meet the trustworthiness criteria. Int J Qual Methods 2017 Oct;16(1):1-13. [doi: 10.1177/1609406917733847]
- 49. Braun V, Clarke V. What can "thematic analysis" offer health and wellbeing researchers? Int J Qual Stud Health Well-being 2014;9:26152 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3402/qhw.v9.26152] [Medline: 25326092]

Abbreviations

mHealth: mobile health **NACT:** neoadjuvant chemotherapy **RCT:** randomized controlled trial



Edited by E Borycki; submitted 31.05.22; peer-reviewed by N Fridriksdottir, D Mayer; comments to author 02.07.22; revised version received 07.07.22; accepted 10.07.22; published 11.08.22. <u>Please cite as:</u> Fjell M, Langius-Eklöf A, Nilsson M, Sundberg K Patients' Experiences of Care With or Without the Support of an Interactive App During Neoadjuvant Chemotherapy for Breast Cancer: Interview Study JMIR Nursing 2022;5(1):e39983 URL: https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e39983 doi:10.2196/39983 PMID:35969443

©Maria Fjell, Ann Langius-Eklöf, Marie Nilsson, Kay Sundberg. Originally published in JMIR Nursing (https://nursing.jmir.org), 11.08.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Nursing, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://nursing.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Uncovering Important Drivers of the Increase in the Use of Virtual Care Technologies in Nursing Care: Quantitative Analysis From the 2020 National Survey of Canadian Nurses

Waldo Beauséjour^{1*}, MA; Simon Hagens^{1*}, MBA

Canada Health Infoway, Toronto, ON, Canada ^{*}all authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author: Waldo Beauséjour, MA Canada Health Infoway 150 King St W Toronto, ON, M5H 1J9 Canada Phone: 1 416 595 3449 ext 3421 Fax: 1 888 733 6462 Email: wbeausejour@infoway-inforoute.ca

Related Article:

This is a corrected version. See correction statement: https://nursing.jmir.org/2023/1/e50791

Abstract

Background: Canadian nurses are at the forefront of patient care delivery. Although the use of digital health technologies for care delivery is gaining momentum in Canada, nurses are encouraged to integrate virtual care into their practice. In early 2020, more Canadian nurses delivered care virtually compared with 3 years ago.

Objective: This study seeks to uncover the professional characteristics of Canadian nurses accessing virtual care in 2020, understand how these characteristics differ across types of technologies, investigate whether the nurses accessing virtual care possess the skills and knowledge needed to use these technologies, and determine the important drivers of the uptake of virtual care observed in 2020.

Methods: We used data from the 2017 and 2020 National Survey of Canadian Nurses. This survey collected data on the use of digital health technologies in nursing practice. It concerned regulated nursing professionals working in different health care settings and from different domains of nursing practice. We combined the chi-square independence test and logistic regression analysis to uncover the most relevant drivers of virtual care uptake by nurses in 2020.

Results: In early 2020, before the declaration of the COVID-19 pandemic, nurses who delivered care virtually were predominantly nurse practitioners (135/159, 84.9%) and more likely to work in a primary or community care setting (202/367, 55%) and in an urban setting (194/313, 61.9%). Factors such as nursing designation (*P*<.001), perceived quality of care at the health facility where the nurses practiced (*P*<.001), and the type of patient record–keeping system they had access to (*P*=.04) had a statistically significant effect on the probability of nurses to deliver care virtually in early 2020. Furthermore, nurses' perception of the quality of care they delivered through virtual technologies was statistically associated with their perception of the skills (χ^2_4 =308.7; *P* < 001) and hereminder (μ^2_2 , 282.4; *P* < 001) to use these technologies.

P<.001) and knowledge (χ^2_4 =283.4; *P*<.001) to use these technologies.

Conclusions: This study emphasizes the critical importance of nursing designation, geographic location, and type of patient record–keeping system in predicting virtual care integration in nursing practice. The findings related to geographic location can be used by decision-makers for better allocation of digital health resources among care settings in rural and urban areas. Similarly, the disparities observed across nursing designations have some implications for the digital training of nurses at all levels of practice. Finally, the association between electronic medical record use and uptake of virtual care could accelerate the implementation of more modernized record-keeping systems in care settings. Hence, this could advance interoperability and improve health care delivery.

RenderX

(JMIR Nursing 2022;5(1):e33586) doi:10.2196/33586

KEYWORDS

adoption of virtual care; secure messaging; nurses; nursing; telehealth; telehomecare; telemonitoring; remote patient monitoring; virtual videoconferencing; uptake of virtual care

Introduction

Background

Whether it is a hospital, nursing home, or community-based health facility, most Canadian health care settings have shifted to virtual care during the COVID-19 pandemic. However, before the pandemic, the adoption of this model of care delivery was already trending upward in Canada [1]. As nurses account for a large proportion of the workforce in these care settings and are at the forefront of patient care delivery, they are well positioned to benefit from the integration of virtual care technologies into clinical practice.

Virtual care refers to "any interaction between patients and members of their circle of care, occurring remotely, using any forms of communication or information technologies, with the aim of facilitating or maximizing the quality and effectiveness of patient care" [2]. It can be regarded as a multimodal technology that embodies telephone, videoconferencing, and messaging. In addition, virtual care can be viewed as a multipurpose technology for (1) remote patient monitoring (RPM), (2) telehealth, (3) patient education, (4) peer-to-peer education, and (5) health information exchange between patients and providers. Some authors have described virtual care as a mature version of telehealth [3,4]. As the Canadian health care system is increasingly embracing digital health solutions, more clinicians and patients are expected to use virtual care technologies. In Canada, the proportion of nurses virtually delivering care has increased substantially from 20% to 51% between 2017 and 2020 [5]. Although this growth was observed a few weeks before the pandemic, the progressive integration of virtual care technologies into nursing practice is very promising. These technologies can potentially augment nurses' capability to deliver care in nontraditional ways and improve their scope of practice [6]. Nevertheless, to sustain this progress in a changing health care landscape, it is crucial to understand the promotors and inhibitors of the uptake of virtual care technologies by nurses.

Our review of the existing literature mainly focused on identifying potential enablers of and barriers to virtual care adoption in nursing practice. Our brief search demonstrated that three sets of enabling and inhibiting factors had been studied by previous researchers: (1) personal and professional characteristics of the nurses, (2) factors related to the care setting where the nurses practice, and (3) factors related to the patients they serve. For the first set of factors, numerous researchers have highlighted training in virtual care technologies as one of the key ingredients that can enhance the technological skills of nurses [7-10]. This professional enhancement can consequently create a sense of confidence, which in turn could lead to the adoption of digital technologies in nursing care [11]. Nonetheless, if the training was only technology focused and neglected clinical and practice aspects, it could impede adoption

by frontline staff [7]. In addition, enhancing nurses' skills through training should be accompanied by ongoing technical support [12].

Nurses' attitudes toward the adoption of virtual care were also one of the personal factors explored by previous studies. Nurses with positive previous experiences with other digital health technologies such as electronic medical records (EMRs) were more inclined to integrate virtual care in their practice [12,13]. Fronczek et al [14] believed that providing nurses with additional education and experience during their career would equip them with the skills required to practice in virtual care environments.

Regarding care setting-related factors, previous studies have mostly emphasized the following as the main enablers of and barriers to the uptake of virtual care by nurses: (1) policy [7,15], (2) good collaboration between services [7,12], (3) changing working environment [7], (4) lack of encouragement from managers [9], (5) lack of coordination of services [12], (6) ambiguity around the objective of integrating virtual care technologies into clinical practice [7], and (7) existence of written guidance on the use of these technologies [12]. Among these factors, policy seemed to be an important element. Garber and Chike-Harris [15] maintained that it is essential for nurse practitioners (NPs) to be knowledgeable about the policies affecting their practice when delivering care through telehealth.

Enablers and barriers pertaining to the technology per se involved five factors [9,12,16]: (1) ease of use, (2) flexibility, (3) contextual integration of the technology, (4) privacy, and (5) security. For privacy and security, both nurses and patients must be assured that they can use virtual care technologies safely [6]. However, Hardcastle and Ogbogu [17] clearly stated, "ensuring data security is arguably the most challenging aspect of virtual care."

Most of the previous studies cited above [7-16] concentrated on identifying the factors driving the integration of virtual care into nursing practice. They also focused on finding out whether these factors affected nurses' adoption positively or negatively. There is a paucity of research investigating the weight of each of these factors in predicting the adoption of virtual care technologies in nursing practice. Therefore, it is almost difficult to decide which factors to prioritize or which one would have the greatest impact on adoption from a policy standpoint. In addition, these previous studies [9,10,13,16] were mostly systematic reviews aiming to inventory the different enablers of and barriers to the adoption of virtual care technologies by nurses. They used qualitative research methods, including (1) focus group discussions, (2) in-depth or semistructured interviews, and (3) ethnographic methods. Hence, the small sizes along with the nonprobabilistic nature of the samples used in these studies restricted their ability to infer their results to a larger nursing workforce. In addition, some previous findings

XSL•FO RenderX

concerned specific forms of virtual care technologies, notably videoconferencing and RPM, or focused on particular care settings. Building on these previous findings, our research contributes to filling the quantitative analysis gap in the literature on the drivers of virtual care adoption by nurses. In addition to quantifying the joint influence of the factors of adoption discussed above, our empirical research attempts to estimate the magnitude of the impact of each of these factors on the uptake of virtual care by nurses.

Objectives and Research Questions

The objective of this paper is twofold: (1) to examine the characteristics of Canadian nurses using virtual care technologies and (2) to investigate the drivers of the uptake of these technologies by nurses in direct patient care in 2020. Mapping the profile of nurses accessing virtual care technologies should help better address barriers to accessing these technologies. It should also help determine whether nurses have access to appropriate digital health solutions to enhance their scope of practice. More specifically, our study seeks to (1) uncover the professional characteristics of Canadian nurses accessing virtual care technologies in 2020; (2) understand how these characteristics differ across types of technologies, geographic location, and care settings; (3) investigate whether nurses accessing virtual care possess the skills and knowledge they need to use these technologies; and (4) determine the important drivers of the uptake of virtual care observed in 2020.

Methods

Data Source

The analysis used data generated from the 2020 National Survey of Canadian Nurses. This survey was designed to be representative of the entire Canadian nursing workforce, particularly nurses in direct patient care. The survey is conducted on a triennial basis. Two iterations of the survey were conducted in 2014 and 2017. The National Survey of Canadian Nurses mainly gathers data on the use of digital health technologies in nursing practice, more specifically, the use of EMR systems and virtual care technologies.

Study Population and Sample

The population of reference of the National Survey of Canadian Nurses comprised regulated nursing professionals working in different health care settings and from different domains of nursing practice, with a focus on nurses in direct patient care. These nursing professionals comprised (1) registered nurses (RNs), (2) NPs, (3) clinical nurse specialists (CNSs), (4) licensed practical nurses (LPNs), and (5) registered psychiatric nurses (RPNs). This categorization of regulated nursing professionals aligns with the definition adopted by the Canadian Institute for Health Information (CIHI) [18], except that the National Survey of Canadian Nurses also considered another group of regulated nursing professionals, called CNS. In 2019, the total number of regulated nurses in Canada was 439,975 [18].

During the design phase of the National Survey of Canadian Nurses, the survey confronted the lack of a pre-existing sampling frame that would have provided a complete list of all the regulated nursing professionals listed above. To construct an

```
https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e33586
```

XSL•F() RenderX alternative sampling frame, the survey conflated the membership lists provided by the Canadian Nurses Association (CNA) and Canadian Nursing Informatics Association (CNIA). We recognize that the use of this combined membership list as an alternative sampling frame may have coverage problems, meaning that all the participants from the population of interest may not be included in the survey frame. Nevertheless, both the CNA and CNIA have a large network of nurses, which accounts for a substantial proportion of the Canadian nursing workforce. Hence, their membership lists guaranteed an acceptable level of coverage for the 2020 National Survey of Canadian Nurses. In addition, to mitigate the lack of coverage and completeness of the sampling frame created from the combination of the CNA and CNIA membership lists, several strategies were implemented. They included (1) sending invitation emails to members of the l'Ordre des Infirmières et Infirmiers du Québec, (2) recruiting nurses from a web panel owned by the firm commissioned to field the survey, and (3) applying snowball methods by sending invitation emails to nurses referred by other nurses who had responded to the survey [5]. A total sample size of 1642 nurses was collected across Canada, 1132 (68.94%) of whom provided direct patient care. The National Survey of Canadian Nurses used a nonprobability sample; therefore, a margin of error cannot be associated with the sample.

Data Collection Instrument and Procedures

The 2020 National Survey of Canadian Nurses used a bilingual (English and French), user-friendly, and 30-minute-long web-based questionnaire. This questionnaire asked questions on EMR systems and virtual care technologies used by nurses providing direct patient care in their main care settings. In addition, several demographic data were collected during the survey: (1) primary domain of nursing practice, (2) nursing designation, (3) primary care setting, and (4) geographic location of the care setting where the nurse practiced. The survey link was distributed to all nurses from the CNA and CNIA membership lists through email invitations between January 20 and March 29, 2020. To boost the survey response rate, a multipronged modified Dillman [19] approach was implemented, including an incentive strategy. In addition, ethics approval was obtained before fielding the survey. The ethics approval was granted by an independent Canadian institutional review board in January 2020 (Advarra Inc; approval number: Pro00041060). It concerned the survey methodology or protocol, informed consent document, and data collection instrument. All the results expounded in this study were statistically weighted by the 2018 CIHI workforce data published in 2019 to ensure that they accurately represented the Canadian nursing workforce. A full description of the sample of Canadian nurses achieved in 2020 is provided in the survey report [5]. Similarly, a full version of the 2020 survey questionnaire along with the raw survey data can be accessed via the University of Victoria Dataverse portal [20].

Statistical Analysis

The data used in this paper concerned point-of-care nurses using virtual care technologies to deliver care in their main setting from the 2020 National Survey of Canadian Nurses. Data on 4

types of virtual care technologies were collected in 2020. The working definitions for these technologies are provided below (questions on access to virtual care technologies that were used in the National Survey of Canadian Nurses are provided in Multimedia Appendix 1):

- 1. Secure messaging or email refers to consultations via secure email or SMS text messages sent by patients to their health care provider (in this case, the nurses) about a specific health question or concern.
- 2. Videoconferencing refers to virtual visits conducted between patients while at home and their health care provider via face-to-face web-based virtual encounters. These virtual visits are more likely to be patient initiated.
- 3. Telehealth is a form of virtual care delivered through videoconferencing that is coordinated and facilitated by or between health facilities. It involves a remote clinician, who is the main provider, aided by another clinician based in the rural or remote region where the patient receiving the care resides. The patient can be either at home or at a health facility when receiving care [9].
- 4. RPM or telehome care occurs when a health provider (typically a nurse or paramedic) has electronic access to a patient's information for review, interpretation, and coaching opportunities to enhance the patient's self-management abilities.

Previous researchers [21-23] have favored the term information and communication technologies to refer to all digital technologies used to deliver care remotely. This delineation embodies a large palette of digital health technologies, including EMRs or electronic health record systems, which aim more at dealing with patients' health information or supporting clinical administrative activities [13]. This description seemed to be overly broad for the scope of our analysis as our definition of virtual care technology is not inclusive of EMRs and electronic health records. Instead, we limited our definition to the 4 aforementioned virtual care technologies collected from the 2020 National Survey of Canadian Nurses. In addition, our study used the terms virtual care use, uptake, and adoption interchangeably. Chen et al [24] relied on the number of times a telehealth technology was used to measure telehealth adoption. Their use index was quantitative in nature. Unlike these scholars, we defined binary use variables for the 4 virtual care technologies studied. For our study, use referred to the use of a virtual care technology by a nurse at least once, whereas a variable referred to a characteristic observed or collected for the nurses during the survey. Moreover, we used variable and factor interchangeably throughout the paper. We define our binary use variables as follows:

_	
×	
_	•

Here, the subscript i denotes the nurse, whereas j refers to the 4 virtual care technologies considered. The subscript j took the following values:



By conflating these 4 use factors, we created another binary use variable y_i . This combined variable refers to the use of at least

https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e33586

one of the 4 virtual care technologies; thus, it is the virtual care adoption variable. It constituted the main dependent variable of our analysis and was defined by the following equation:

×

The explanatory variables were derived from the body of literature on the adoption of virtual care by nurses, which has been expounded previously. These previous studies predominantly emphasized two groups of factors influencing the use of virtual care technologies in nursing care: nurses' skills and attitudes and factors pertaining to care settings where the nurses practice. On the basis of this, we retained the following independent variables: (1) nursing designation, (2) work experience (number of years working as a nurse), (3) skills and knowledge to use virtual care technologies, (4) perception of the quality of care delivered by the care setting where the nurse practices, (5) type of care setting, (6) geographic location of the setting, (7) patient record-keeping system used in the main care setting, and (8) policy about the use of virtual care technologies. These characteristics were analyzed using summary descriptive statistics and frequency tables. Moreover, the chi-square independence test along with association measures was used to test for the association between the use variables z_i^{\prime} and the independent factors retained. The joint effect of these predictors and their respective effects on virtual care adoption y_i were estimated through the specification of the following logistic regression model:

×

where X_i is a vector of observed explanatory variables representing the characteristics defined above for nurses, whereas β refers to a vector of regression coefficients, and π_i represents the probability that nurse *i* uses at least one virtual care technology. It is linked to the use variable y_i through the following equation:

Results

Current State of Virtual Care Use by Canadian Nurses

×

Table 1 shows the trends in the adoption of virtual care by Canadian nurses for each technology considered in the analysis between 2017 and 2020. This shows that the proportion of nurses virtually delivering care increased substantially between 2017 and 2020, with an overall average increase of 25 percentage points for the 4 technologies considered. The greatest rise was observed for secure email (+27 percentage points), whereas the smallest increase was noted for telehealth, indicating a more rapid uptake of the former and a slow adoption for the latter. Admittedly, some of these technologies require more infrastructure and technological resources than others do for their rollout in care settings. Data from the 2020 National Survey of Canadian Nurses were collected a few weeks before the World Health Organization declared COVID-19 a global pandemic; therefore, one may argue that the COVID-19

pandemic may not be the main driver of the surge in the use of virtual technologies by nurses observed in early 2020. Nevertheless, this progressive virtualization of nursing practice could help the Canadian health care system cope with the unprecedented increase in the demand for digital care by patients and streamline the deployment of nurses as they are at the

frontline of the response to the pandemic [25]. In addition, it is predicted that Canadian patients are likely to seek care through virtual modalities beyond the pandemic [26], thereby pushing nursing practice to adapt to these virtual care environments moving forward.

Table 1.	Access to virtua	l care technologies by	/ Canadian nurses in	2017 (N=1342	$(N=1047)^{a}$
Table 1.	Access to virtue	a care accimologies by	Canadian nurses m	12017 (11-1342	2020(11-10+7).

Virtual care technologies	Value				
	2017, n (%)	2020, n (%)	Percentage point change ^b		
Secure message	121 (9.02)	377 (36.01)	27		
Videoconference	40 (2.98)	283 (27.03)	24		
Telehealth	81 (6.04)	304 (29.04)	23		
RPM ^c	107 (7.97)	356 (34)	26		
At least 1 of the 4 technologies	268 (19.97)	534 (51)	31		

^aSource: 2017 and 2020 National Survey of Canadian Nurses, Canada Health Infoway, Environics, and Léger [5,27].

^bPercentage point change refers to the difference between the percentage of nurses accessing virtual care technology in 2020 and the proportion accessing the same technology in 2017.

^cRPM: remote patient monitoring.

Main Characteristics of Nurses Who Used Virtual Care Technologies in 2020

Overview

Tables 2 and 3 show the number and proportion of nurses who delivered care virtually in 2020 according to the type of technology. The results in Table 2 are presented for the personal

and professional characteristics considered in the analysis, notably age, work experience, nursing designation, and skills and knowledge in delivering care through videoconferencing and telemonitoring. The results in Table 3 pertain to the characteristics of the main care settings where the nurses surveyed practiced, notably the geographic location of the care setting, the type of setting, and the patient record–keeping system used at the care setting.



Table 2.	Personal and	professional	characteristics of	Canadian	nurses who	used virtual	care (VC)) technologie	es in 2020	(N=1047	7) ^a
----------	--------------	--------------	--------------------	----------	------------	--------------	-----------	---------------	------------	---------	-----------------

Factors or covariates	VC technologies						
	Secure email	Videoconferencing	Telehealth	RPM ^b	At least one VC technology	Did not use any VC technology	
Age (years), mean (SD)	40.6 (11.7)	39.6 (11.2)	38.7 (10.4)	39.5 (11.0)	41.9 (12.3)	42.9 (11.9)	
Work experience (years), mean (SD)	13.4 (11.1)	12.3 (10.8)	11.5 (10.3)	12.8 (11.7)	15.3 (12.3)	16.7 (11.8)	
Nursing designation, n (%)							
RN ^c (n=683)	171 (25)	116 (17)	137 (20.1)	164 (24)	280 (41)	403 (59)	
NP ^d (n=159)	122 (76.7)	114 (71.7)	114 (71.7)	119 (74.8)	135 (84.9)	24 (15.1)	
LPN ^e , RPN ^f , and CNS ^g (n=143)	63 (44.1)	40 (28)	44 (30.8)	60 (42)	87 (60.8)	56 (39.2)	
Other (n=61)	22 (36.1)	13 (21.3)	11 (18)	17 (27.9)	28 (45.9)	32 (52.5)	
Have the skills to use videoconference of	or telemonitori	ng, n (%), n=407					
Strongly and moderately agree	N/A ^h	232 (57)	N/A	232 (57)	N/A	N/A	
Have the knowledge to use videoconfer	ence or telemo	nitoring, n (%), n=40	7				
Strongly and moderately agree	N/A	243 (59.71)	N/A	243 (60)	N/A	N/A	

^aSource: 2020 National Survey of Canadian Nurses, Canada Health Infoway, and Léger [5,27].

^bRPM: remote patient monitoring.

^cRN: registered nurse.

^dNP: nurse practitioner.

^eLPN: licensed practical nurse.

^fRPN: registered psychiatric nurse.

^gCNS: clinical nurse specialist.

^hN/A: not applicable.



Beauséjour & Hagens

Table 3. Characteristics of the main care settings where the Canadian nurses accessing virtual care (VC) technologies in 2020 practiced (n=1047)^a.

Factors		VC technologies, n (%)							
		Secure email	Videoconferencing	Telehealth	RPM ^b	At least one VC technology	Did not use any VC technology		
Per	ception of overall quality of care at c	are setting		·					
	Poor (n=97)	25 (26)	6 (6)	15 (15)	8 (8)	36 (37)	61 (63)		
	Fair (n=181)	45 (24.9)	18 (9.9)	25 (13.8)	25 (13.8)	60 (33.1)	121 (66.9)		
	Good (n=425)	183 (43.1)	145 (34.1)	149 (35.1)	187 (44)	242 (56.9)	183 (43.1)		
	Excellent (n=344)	124 (36)	110 (32)	114 (33.1)	138 (40.1)	193 (56.1)	151 (43.9)		
I p	rovide more efficient health care with	n virtual video	conferencing or telen	onitoring (n=40	07)				
	Strongly and moderately agree	N/A ^c	195 (47.91)	N/A	195 (47.91)	N/A	N/A		
Ge	ographic location								
	Rural and indigenous communities (n=124)	33 (26.6)	21 (16.9)	37 (29.8)	48 (38.7)	64 (51.6)	60 (48.4)		
	Town or city (n=610)	195 (32)	128 (21)	134 (22)	159 (26.1)	275 (45.1)	336 (55.1)		
	Urban center (n=313)	153 (48.9)	131 (41.9)	135 (43.1)	153 (48.9)	194 (62)	119 (38)		
Ca	re setting								
	Primary and community care (n=367)	165 (45)	128 (34.9)	136 (37.1)	139 (37.9)	202 (55)	165 (45)		
	Other hospitals (n=397)	107 (27)	75 (18.9)	83 (20.9)	119 (30)	179 (45.1)	218 (54.9)		
	Teaching hospital (n=176)	63 (35.8)	39 (22.1)	49 (27.8)	55 (31.3)	93 (52.8)	83 (47.2)		
	Other nonhospital (government and others; n=107)	44 (41.1)	37 (34.6)	37 (34.6)	47 (43.9)	57 (53.3)	50 (46.7)		
Pat	ient record-keeping system								
	Paper only (n=149)	39 (26.2)	34 (22.8)	33 (22.1)	31 (20.8)	54 (36.2)	95 (63.8)		
	Fully electronic (n=280)	101 (36.1)	70 (25)	81 (28.9)	101 (36.1)	146 (52.1)	134 (47.9)		
	Hybrid (n=618)	260 (42.1)	210 (34)	198 (32)	235 (38)	346 (56)	272 (44)		
Ma	in care setting has a policy about the	use of email t	o communicate with	patient					
	Yes	427 (40.8)	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A		

^aSource: 2020 National Survey of Canadian Nurses, Canada Health Infoway, and Léger [5,27].

^bRPM: remote patient monitoring.

^cN/A: not applicable.

Age and Work Experience

Nurses virtually delivering care were aged, on average, 42 (SD 12.3) years, slightly half a year younger than the overall sample collected in 2020 (mean 42.5, SD 12.1 years). The aging of the nursing workforce is an important issue as it may lead to a nursing shortage [25], which would be detrimental for the Canadian health care system as it strives to respond to the growing demand for long-term care stemming from an aging population [18]. On average, nurses who had used telehealth tended to be younger (mean 38.7, SD 10.4 years) than their peers using the other virtual care modalities (mean 39.5, SD 11.0; 39.6, SD 11.2; and 40.58, SD 11.7 years for telemonitoring, videoconferencing, and secure email, respectively). Similarly, these nurses providing care through telehealth had, on average, fewer years of practice (mean 11.5, SD 10.3 years) than others using the other virtual care modalities (mean 12.3, SD 10.8; 12.8, SD 11.7; and 13.4, SD 11.1) years

RenderX

for videoconferencing, telemonitoring, and secure email, respectively). Nurses who lacked access to virtual care technologies, on average, were older (42.9, SD 11.9 years) and had more years of service (16.7, SD 11.8 years) than their counterparts accessing virtual care technologies.

Nursing Designation

As shown in Table 2, NPs constituted the nursing professionals who were the most likely to deliver care virtually in 2020 (135/159, 84.9%) regardless of the type of virtual care technology considered. Although RNs made up 68.34% (300,669/439,975) of the total supply of Canadian-regulated nurses and 69.08% (273,617/396,085) of the nurses employed in nursing-specific jobs in 2019 [18], they were more likely to report a lack of access to virtual care technologies (403/683, 59%) than other nursing designations. Given their role in the delivery of care across the care continuum, from primary care to end of life, RNs are well-positioned to bring about health

transformations that benefit the Canadian health care system [28]. Therefore, having greater access to virtual care technologies can potentially optimize their scope of practice.

Skills and Knowledge to Use Virtual Care Technologies

Several studies have argued that nurses' skills and knowledge are among the factors that facilitate the integration of virtual care into nursing practice [7-10,12]. The results in Table 3 show that more than half of the nurses who had used videoconferencing or telemonitoring in the past (232/407, 57% and 243/407, 59.7%, respectively) reported that they had the skills and knowledge to deliver care through videoconferencing and telemonitoring.

Main Care Settings of Nurses Using Virtual Care Technologies

Overview

Table 3 shows some variations in the use of virtual care technologies by nurses across care settings. Primary and community care settings include nursing homes, long-term care facilities, and homecare, whereas other hospital settings embody community hospitals and continuing care or rehabilitation hospitals. Overall, nurses working in primary and community care settings were more likely to use virtual health services (202/367, 55%) than nurses working in other settings. In addition, the use of secure messaging (165/367, 44.9%) and telehealth (136/367, 37.1%) was more prevalent among primary and community care nurses. These results align with those of Taylor et al [7], who found disparities in frontline staff acceptance of telehealth within and across service settings.

Geographic Location of Main Care Setting

At their inception, virtual care models were intended to deliver care to rural communities with limited access to traditional health care facilities [29]. In early 2020, a few weeks before the pandemic, more nurses working in rural and remote communities were delivering care virtually to their patients than 3 years ago. Approximately 51.6% (64/124) of nurses serving rural and indigenous communities reported that they had used at least one of the virtual care technologies considered in the analysis, an increase from 30% in 2017 [5]. However, Table 3 shows that rural nurses were less likely to use secure messaging (33/124, 26.6%) and videoconferencing (21/124, 16.9%) relative to their town and urban peers. In addition, the growth in the proportion of nurses using virtual health has been more substantial for nurses in cities and urban centers than for nurses serving rural and indigenous communities [5]. Results of the 2020 National Survey of Canadian Nurses also suggested that nurses serving rural and indigenous communities were more likely to report a lack of skills (16/48, 33.3%) in using virtual care technologies relative to their peers serving in towns or cities (52/191, 27.2%) and urban centers (35/166, 21.1%). Similarly, lack of knowledge to interact with virtual care tools was more prevalent among rural nurses (15/49, 30.6%) than among nurses practicing in

towns or cities (47/191, 24.6%) and urban centers (32/166, 19.3%). These disparities in competencies required to use virtual care could be one of the drivers of the discrepancies observed in the use of virtual care technologies between rural and urban nurses.

Drivers of the Uptake of Virtual Care Technologies by Nurses

Overall Factors

Table 4 reports the results of the regression model specified earlier in equation 4. Overall, the model is statistically significant (χ^2_{14} =160.7; *P*<.001). Hence, the professional characteristics of the nurses, their perception, and the characteristics of the care setting where they practice have a joint effect on the probability that these nurses deliver care virtually. In terms of goodness of fit, the estimated model has allowed to correctly predict >60% (count *R*²=0.6693) of the probabilities for nurses to use virtual care or not.

Regarding the individual effect of each factor entering the model, of all the care setting–level factors considered, only 1 was found to have a significant effect on the probability for nurses to deliver care virtually. Nursing designation (P<.001), perceived quality of care delivered by the care setting (P<.001), and type of patient record–keeping system (P=.04) all had a statistically significant effect on the probability of nurses using virtual care when their categories entering the model were taken together. In contrast, the model failed to provide statistical evidence for the effect of work experience, type of care setting, and geographic location of the care setting on predicting whether a nurse used virtually health. Therefore, knowing where a nurse worked, either their health care setting or the location, may not contribute to predicting whether they delivered care virtually or not.

For nursing designation, some differences across the considered designations are worth noting. NPs and the combined group of LPNs, RPNs, and CNSs were respectively 7 times (odds ratio 7.04) and more than twice (odds ratio 2.24) as likely to use virtual care technologies than RNs. These results confirm the disparities found earlier in the use of virtual care by nurses across designations. The data showed that the proportions of NPs and the combined group of LPNs, RPNs, and CNSs delivering care virtually in 2020 outnumbered the proportions of RNs. Similarly, there were some discrepancies in the probability of using virtual care across the perception of overall quality of care in the care setting. Indeed, nurses who perceived the overall quality of care in their care setting as excellent or good were more than twice (odds ratios 2.14 and 2.04, respectively) as likely to use virtual care relative to those who perceived the quality as poor. Nurses who felt that the overall quality of care in their care setting was poor did not significantly differ from those who rated the quality as fair in terms of their probability of using virtual health.



Table 4. Results of the estimation of model defined in equation 4^{a} .

<.001 ^c
N/A
<.001
<.001
.45
.93
<.001 ^c
N/A
.94
.005
.003
.34 ^c
N/A
.12
.98
.83
.04 ^c
N/A
.03
.01
.13 ^c
N/A
.21
.91
.002

^aNumber of observations=1131; log likelihood –480.386; Akaike Information Criteria 990.772; number of iterations=4; likelihood ratio χ^2_{14} =160.2; probability> χ^2 =0.0; pseudo R^2 (McFadden)=0.3722; count R^2 =0.6693.

^bN/A: not applicable.

^cTo test for the overall effect of each categorical variable on the dependent variable (probability to use virtual care), we used a Wald test. These values correspond to the P value associated with the chi-square statistic calculated for the Wald test for each categorical variable.

^dRN: registered nurse.

^eOmitted category of the categorical variable entering the model to avoid the problem of multicollinearity.

^fNP: nurse practitioner.

^gP<.01.

XSL•FO RenderX

^hLPN: licensed practical nurse.

ⁱRPN: registered psychiatric nurse.

^jCNS: clinical nurse specialist.

^kTo deal with the low sample sizes for LPNs, RPNs, and CNSs, we grouped them in a single category. We recognize that these 3 nursing professionals differ significantly in terms of their education, duties, and work settings. ${}^{1}P < .05$.

The patient record-keeping system that nurses had access to was found to have a statistically significant global effect on the

probability of using virtual care. However, nurses with access to fully electronic and hybrid record-keeping systems were

approximately twice as likely to deliver care virtually (odds ratios 1.66 and 1.67, respectively) than their peers using paper charts.

Although it was found to have no statistically significant effect on the probability of using virtual care, work experience had a negative effect on the outcome variable of the model. This indicates that nurses with more years of nursing practice would be less likely to adopt virtual technologies in clinical care. However, the marginal effect of work experience on the probability of using virtual care was found to be minimal.

Drivers Related to Virtual Care Through Secure Email and Videoconference

A policy-related variable was collected for nurses who delivered care through secure email, whereas skills and knowledge data were gathered for those delivering care through videoconferencing technology. A chi-square test of independence was conducted to investigate whether these factors were associated with the use of virtual care for these 2

technologies. The results of the test are provided in Table 5 and concern the subsample of nurses delivering care through secure email and videoconferencing. Table 5 shows that the existence of a policy on the use of email to securely communicate with patients in the care setting was statistically weakly associated with the use of email by nurses to consult with their patients $(\chi^2_2 = 61.4; P < .001;$ Cramer V=0.24). For nurses who had consulted directly with a patient via videoconference, their perception of the quality of care delivered through these virtual technologies was statistically driven by their skills and knowledge (χ^2_4 =308.7, P<.001; and χ^2_4 =283.4, P<.001, respectively). Furthermore, these self-assessment factors were strongly associated with perceived quality of care (Cramer V=0.62 and Cramer V=0.59, respectively). Therefore, taking into consideration how nurses feel about their skills and knowledge to use videoconference can help predict their perception of the quality of care delivered through these digital means. Consequently, this will improve their adoption of these virtual technologies.

Table 5. Independence test and association measures.

Characteristics and independent variables	Dependent variables	Chi-square (df)	<i>P</i> value (2-sided)	Level of association ^a
Policy				
Policy about the use of email to com- municate with the patient	Had used secure email to deliver care	61.4 (2)	<.001	0.24
Perception				
Skills to use virtual care	Perception of quality of care delivered through videoconference or telemonitoring	308.7 (4)	<.001	0.62
Knowledge to use virtual care	Perception of quality of care delivered through videoconference or telemonitoring	283.4 (4)	<.001	0.59

^aCramer V was calculated for the level of association.

Discussion

Principal Findings

Our study endeavored to quantify the effect of some of the drivers that were found to affect the adoption of virtual care in nursing practice by a spate of previous researchers who relied on qualitative methods. We were able to quantify the distribution of the uptake of virtual care across nursing designation, care setting, and geographic region. For instance, the results suggested that RNs and rural nurses reported the lowest adoption rate for the use of virtual care. For nursing designations, we found statistical evidence for disparities in the use of virtual care across designations. This could be linked to the differences in the scope of practice, roles, and competencies across all levels of nursing practice. For geographic location, Chen et al [24] found significant disparities in the adoption of telehealth between rural and urban hospitals. In addition to allowing them to reach out to patients in remote sites, virtual care is regarded by rural nurses as a mechanism that offers them the possibility to enhance and maintain skills and professional knowledge [9,30]. Moreover, some scholars have argued that telehealth could positively affect rural clinicians' occupational well-being, leading to greater retention and recruitment rates in remote care settings [31]. In addition, the results expounded in this paper

RenderX

shed light on the modalities of virtual care technologies that are being used across care settings and geographic locations. This will enable decision-makers to pinpoint the gaps in terms of the use of virtual health technologies. Thus, the allocation of digital health technology resources in rural and urban settings could improve.

The results of our regression model provided statistical evidence for the collective effect of nurses' professional characteristics, their perceptions, and the characteristics of the care settings where they practice their use of virtual care technologies. All these factors entering our regression model had already been identified in the literature. However, previous studies have looked into them separately but not as a whole. Furthermore, these studies failed to report on the magnitude of the effect of these factors on the use of virtual care in nursing care. Our results suggest that the effect of work experience on the use of virtual care was very marginal, signaling that this factor would not be a relevant predictor of the adoption of virtual care in nursing practice. Similarly, the existence of a policy on the use of email to communicate with patients in the care setting was found to be weakly associated with the use of email. Nurses have an instrumental role to play in supporting the design of policies and regulations aimed at supporting virtual care [32].

The significant association between the patient record-keeping system and the use of virtual care technologies is a promising finding that will help to better inform initiatives aimed at achieving interoperability. Our results suggest that nurses who access electronic EMRs have a higher likelihood of delivering care virtually. Earlier studies found that a lack of interoperability could fragilize the uptake of virtual care technologies by frontline workers [7].

Previous studies were limited to identifying enablers and inhibitors; however, they provided us with the main elements for our investigation. Therefore, by filling the gaps in terms of quantitative analysis of the drivers of virtual care adoption by nurses, our study complements these previous studies. However, similar to the study by Mair et al [13], we still believe that the integration of virtual care technologies into nursing practice can be convoluted and multifaceted. Concurrently, virtual care integration will substantially benefit nurses as the scope of their practice will be more developed, and nursing care delivery will become more flexible [6].

Limitations

Our study used data generated from the 2020 National Survey of Canadian Nurses. This survey combined the CNA and CNIA membership lists to establish the survey sample. In addition, other strategies were implemented to mitigate the lack of coverage and completeness resulting from the conflation of CNA and CNIA membership lists. Despite these strategies, nonmembers and underrepresented groups of nurses might have been left out from our analysis. Future studies could endeavor to obtain a more complete list of the Canadian-regulated nursing workforce from the CIHI. Moreover, limited professional characteristics and care setting–level factors were collected through the survey. In addition, factors related to the types of patients served by nurses were omitted from our analysis, although they were highlighted as relevant drivers of adoption in the literature. Consequently, several pertinent explanatory variables might have been omitted from the regression model. This omission of relevant predictors could generate some specification errors, although the predictive power of the model was satisfactory, and its overall significance passed the statistical hypothesis test. Nevertheless, our study laid the foundation for future research aiming to undertake a quantitative analysis of the drivers of virtual care adoption in nursing practice. From a resource allocation standpoint, future research could investigate the factors that drive the number of visits delivered by nurses through virtual care means and how these factors vary across virtual care technologies.

Conclusions

Our investigations suggest that the use of virtual care in nursing practice is mostly driven by three factors: (1) nursing designation, (2) the geographic location where a nurse practices, and (3) the type of patient record-keeping system accessed in the care setting. The disparities observed in the use of virtual care across nursing designations should draw the attention of both nursing leaders in care settings and nursing educators. These leaders need to ensure that virtual care technologies are accessible to nurses at all levels of practice and digital training is well embedded into nursing education programs. On the geographic location front, the disparities observed could be alleviated through the balanced and effective allocation of digital health resources between urban and rural regions. Finally, the association between access to EMRs and the use of virtual care by nurses should foster the adoption of more modernized patient record-keeping systems. This will have some positive implications for interoperability and health care delivery.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to extend their acknowledgments to the Performance Analytics team at Canada Health Infoway for reviewing this manuscript before submission.

The authors would like to thank the following organizations and individuals who significantly contributed to the design, implementation, distribution, dissemination, and analysis of the results of the 2020 National Survey of Canadian Nurses. The data and results from this survey served as the main source for their study: The Canadian Nurses Association (CNA); The Canadian Nursing Informatics Association (CNIA); L'Association Québécoise des infirmières et infirmiers en systèmes et technologies de l'information (AQIISTI); L'Ordre des infirmières et infirmiers d Québec (OIIQ); Glynda Rees, RN, MSN, President, Canadian Nursing Informatics Association, Faculty, BCIT School of Nursing; Éric Maillet, RN, PhD, Assistant Professor at the School of Nursing and Director of Health Informatics Programs at the University of Sherbrooke; Leanne M. Currie, RN, PhD, Associate Professor at University of British Columbia School of Nursing; Peggy White, former CNIA president; and Josette Roussel, RN, MSc (Nursing), MEd, former Executive Advisor at the Canadian Nurses Association.

The publication costs for this article have been covered by Canada Health Infoway Inc, a non-profit corporation funded by the Government of Canada.

Authors' Contributions

WB contributed to the conception and design of the study; literature review; data analysis and interpretation; and preparation, review, and editing of the manuscript. SH contributed to the conception and design of the study and reviewed the manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

WB and SH are employees of Canada Health Infoway Inc.

Multimedia Appendix 1

Increase in the use of virtual care in nursing care (December 2021). [DOCX File , 20 KB - nursing v5i1e33586 app1.docx]

References

- Hashiguchi OT. Bringing health care to the patient: an overview of the use of telemedicine in OECD countries. OECD Health Working Papers. 2020. URL: <u>https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/social-issues-migration-health/</u> <u>bringing-health-care-to-the-patient_8e56ede7-en</u> [accessed 2021-04-19]
- 2. Jamieson T, Wallace R, Armstrong K, Agarwal P, Griffin B, Wong I, et al. Virtual Care: a framework for a patient-centric system. Women's College Hospital Institute for Health Systems Solutions and Virtual Care (WIHV). 2015. URL: <u>https://www.womenscollegehospital.ca/assets/pdf/wihv/WIHV_VirtualHealthSymposium.pdf</u> [accessed 2021-09-10]
- 3. Roth M. Virtual care is no longer optional: what's now, what's next, and how to get there. Health Leaders Media. 2018. URL: <u>https://www.healthleadersmedia.com/innovation/</u>virtual-care-no-longer-optional-whats-new-whats-next-and-how-get-there, [accessed 2021-06-02]
- Sensmeier J. Virtual care: The time is now. Nurs Manage 2019 Feb;50(2):22-26. [doi:
- 10.1097/01.NUMA.0000552738.79448.3e] [Medline: <u>30695010</u>]
 2020 National Survey of Canadian Nurses: use of digital health technology in practice. Canada Health Infoway. 2020 May 11. URL: <u>https://www.infoway-inforoute.ca/en/component/edocman/</u> <u>3812-2020-national-survey-of-canadian-nurses-use-of-digital-health-technology-in-practice/view-document?Itemid=0</u> [accessed 2021-04-19]
- 6. Fronczek AE. Nursing theory in virtual care. Nurs Sci Q 2019 Jan;32(1):35-38. [doi: <u>10.1177/0894318418807926</u>] [Medline: <u>30798757</u>]
- Taylor J, Coates E, Brewster L, Mountain G, Wessels B, Hawley MS. Examining the use of telehealth in community nursing: identifying the factors affecting frontline staff acceptance and telehealth adoption. J Adv Nurs 2015 Feb;71(2):326-337. [doi: 10.1111/jan.12480] [Medline: 25069605]
- 8. Taylor J, Coates L. Caring from a distance: the role of telehealth. Nurs Times 2015;111(28-29):18-20. [Medline: 26477231]
- Penny RA, Bradford NK, Langbecker D. Registered nurse and midwife experiences of using videoconferencing in practice: a systematic review of qualitative studies. J Clin Nurs 2018 Mar;27(5-6):739-752. [doi: <u>10.1111/jocn.14175</u>] [Medline: <u>29149507</u>]
- 10. Kourkouta L, Maria L, Kiriaki T, Christos I, Frantzana A. The use of new information and communication technologies on nursing practice. EAS J Nurs Midwifery 2020 Jan 27;2(1):40-44 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.36349/easjnm.2020.v02i01.07]
- Bagot K, Moloczij N, Arthurson L, Hair C, Hancock S, Bladin CF, et al. Nurses' role in implementing and sustaining acute telemedicine: a mixed-methods, pre-post design using an extended technology acceptance model. J Nurs Scholarsh 2020 Jan;52(1):34-46. [doi: 10.1111/jnu.12509] [Medline: 31508882]
- 12. Koivunen M, Saranto K. Nursing professionals' experiences of the facilitators and barriers to the use of telehealth applications: a systematic review of qualitative studies. Scand J Caring Sci 2018 Mar;32(1):24-44. [doi: 10.1111/scs.12445] [Medline: 28771752]
- Mair FS, May C, O'Donnell C, Finch T, Sullivan F, Murray E. Factors that promote or inhibit the implementation of e-health systems: an explanatory systematic review. Bull World Health Organ 2012 May 01;90(5):357-364 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2471/BLT.11.099424] [Medline: 22589569]
- 14. Fronczek AE, Rouhana NA, Kitchin JM. Enhancing telehealth education in nursing: applying king's conceptual framework and theory of goal attainment. Nurs Sci Q 2017 Jul;30(3):209-213. [doi: 10.1177/0894318417708418] [Medline: 28899265]
- 15. Garber K, Chike-Harris KE. Nurse practitioners and virtual care: a 50-state review of APRN telehealth law and policy. Telehealth Med Today 2019 Jun 28;4:1-8 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.30953/tmt.v4.136]
- 16. Murray E, Burns J, May C, Finch T, O'Donnell C, Wallace P, et al. Why is it difficult to implement e-health initiatives? A gualitative study. Implement Sci 2011 Jan 19;6:2-11 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1748-5908-6-6] [Medline: 21244714]
- Hardcastle L, Ogbogu U. Virtual care: enhancing access or harming care? Healthc Manage Forum 2020 Nov 20;33(6):288-292
 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0840470420938818] [Medline: 32686506]
- Canadian Institute for Health Information. Nursing in Canada: a lens on supply and workforce. Canadian Institute for Health Information. Ottawa, ON: CIHI; 2020. URL: <u>https://www.cihi.ca/sites/default/files/rot/nursing-report-2019-en-web.pdf</u> [accessed 2021-08-24]
- 19. Dillman DA. Mail and telephone surveys the total design method. Wiley-Interscience. 1978. URL: <u>https://www.ojp.gov/ncjrs/virtual-library/abstracts/mail-and-telephone-surveys-total-design-method</u> [accessed 2022-03-15]
- 20. University of Victoria Dataverse. URL: <u>https://dataverse.scholarsportal.info/dataverse/canadahealthinfoway</u> [accessed 2022-01-21]
- 21. While A, Dewsbury G. Nursing and information and communication technology (ICT): a discussion of trends and future directions. Int J Nurs Stud 2011 Oct;48(10):1302-1310. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2011.02.020] [Medline: 21474135]

RenderX

- 22. Rouleau G, Gagnon M, Côté J. Impacts of information and communication technologies on nursing care: an overview of systematic reviews (protocol). Syst Rev 2015 May 23;4:75 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13643-015-0062-y] [Medline: 26002726]
- 23. Krick T, Huter K, Domhoff D, Schmidt A, Rothgang H, Wolf-Ostermann K. Digital technology and nursing care: a scoping review on acceptance, effectiveness and efficiency studies of informal and formal care technologies. BMC Health Serv Res 2019 Jun 20;19(1):400 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12913-019-4238-3] [Medline: 31221133]
- 24. Chen J, Amaize A, Barath D. Evaluating telehealth adoption and related barriers among hospitals located in rural and urban areas. J Rural Health 2021 Sep;37(4):801-811 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/jrh.12534] [Medline: 33180363]
- 25. Pyper W. Aging, health and work. Statistics Canada Catalogue no. 75-001-XIE. 2006 Feb. URL: <u>https://www150.</u> statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/75-001-x/10206/9095-eng.htm [accessed 2021-06-06]
- 26. Canadians' health care experiences during COVID-19. Canada Health Infoway. 2020 Sep 23. URL: <u>https://www.infoway-inforoute.ca/en/component/edocman/3828-canadians-health-care-experiences-during-covid-19/</u>view-document?Itemid=0 [accessed 2022-03-10]
- 27. 2017 National Survey of Canadian Nurses: Use of Digital Health Technology in Practice. Final Executive Report. Canada Health Infoway and Environics. 2017 May. URL: <u>https://www.infoway-inforoute.ca/en/component/edocman/3320-2017-national-survey-of-canadian-nurses-use-of-digital-health-technology-in-practice/view-document?Itemid=0</u> [accessed 2022-03-16]
- 28. Registered nurses: stepping up to transform health care. Canadian Nurses Association (CNA). 2013 Sep. URL: <u>https://www.mycna.ca/~/media/cna/files/en/registered_nurses_stepping_up_to_transform_health_care_e.pdf</u> [accessed 2021-04-17]
- 29. Anthony Jnr B. Use of telemedicine and virtual care for remote treatment in response to COVID-19 pandemic. J Med Syst 2020 Jun 15;44(7):132 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10916-020-01596-5] [Medline: 32542571]
- 30. Armer JM. A case study of the use of telemedicine by advanced practice nurses in rural Missouri. J Contin Educ Nurs 2003;34(5):226-233. [doi: 10.3928/0022-0124-20030901-11] [Medline: 14518639]
- 31. Graham M. The broader benefits: telehealth as an instrument to improve human security in remote and northern Canada. Queen's Policy Rev 2017;8(1):86 [FREE Full text]
- 32. Fathi J, Modin H, Scott J. Nurses advancing telehealth services in the era of healthcare reform. Online J Issues Nurs 2017 May 31;22(2). [doi: 10.3912/ojin.vol22no02man02]

Abbreviations

CIHI: Canadian Institute for Health Information CNA: Canadian Nurses Association CNIA: Canadian Nursing Informatics Association CNS: clinical nurse specialist EMR: electronic medical record LPN: licensed practical nurse NP: nurse practitioner RN: registered nurse RPM: remote patient monitoring RPN: registered psychiatric nurse

Edited by E Borycki; submitted 14.09.21; peer-reviewed by A McLean, A Joseph; comments to author 07.10.21; revised version received 15.12.21; accepted 23.01.22; published 31.03.22.

Please cite as: Beauséjour W, Hagens S Uncovering Important Drivers of the Increase in the Use of Virtual Care Technologies in Nursing Care: Quantitative Analysis From the 2020 National Survey of Canadian Nurses JMIR Nursing 2022;5(1):e33586 URL: https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e33586 doi:10.2196/33586 PMID:35357326

©Waldo Beauséjour, Simon Hagens. Originally published in JMIR Nursing (https://nursing.jmir.org), 31.03.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium,

provided the original work, first published in JMIR Nursing, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://nursing.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Original Paper

Nurses' Perspectives on an Electronic Medication Administration Record in Home Health Care: Qualitative Interview Study

Sara Karnehed¹, MSc; Lena-Karin Erlandsson¹, PhD; Margaretha Norell Pejner¹, PhD School of Health and Welfare, Halmstad University, Halmstad, Sweden

Corresponding Author: Sara Karnehed, MSc School of Health and Welfare Halmstad University Kristian IV:s väg 3 Halmstad, 30118 Sweden Phone: 46 733224077 Email: sara.karnehed@hh.se

Abstract

Background: eHealth is considered by policy makers as a prerequisite for meeting the demands of health care from the growing proportion of older people worldwide. The expectation about what the efficiency of eHealth can bring is particularly high in the municipal home health care sector, which is facing pressure regarding resources because of, for example, earlier discharges from hospitals and a growing number of patients receiving medications and treatments at home. Common eHealth services in home health care are electronic medication administration records (eMARs) that aim to communicate delegated tasks between professionals. However, there is an extensive gap in the research on how technology affects and is experienced by home health care professionals.

Objective: The objective of this paper is to shed light on how home care nurses experience eMARs in a Swedish municipality.

Methods: This qualitative interview study was conducted among home health care nurses using eMARs to facilitate communication and signing of delegated nursing tasks. The analysis of the interviews was performed using constructivist grounded theory, according to Charmaz.

Results: Of the 19 day-employed nurses in the municipality where an eMAR was used, 16 (84%) nurses participated in the study. The following two categories were identified from the focus group interviews: nurses become monitors and slip away from the point of care. The nurses experienced that they became monitors of health care through the increased transparency provided by the eMAR and the measurands they also applied, focusing on the quantitative aspects of the delegated nursing tasks rather than the qualitative aspects. The nurses experienced that their monitoring changed the power relations between the professions, reinforcing the nurses' superior position. The experience of the eMAR was regarded as transitioning the nurses' professional role—away from the point of care and toward more administration—and further strengthened the way of managing work through delegation to health care assistants.

Conclusions: Previous analyses of eHealth services in health care showed that implementation is a complex process that changes health care organizations and the work of health care professionals in both intended and unintended ways. This study adds to the literature by examining how users of a specific eHealth service experience its impacts on their daily work. The results indicate that the inscribed functions in an eHealth service may affect the values and priorities where the service is in use. This presents an opportunity for future research and for health care organizations to assess the impacts of specific eHealth services on health care professionals' work and to further examine the effects of inscribed functions in relation to how they may affect actions and priorities at individual and organizational levels.

(JMIR Nursing 2022;5(1):e35363) doi:10.2196/35363

KEYWORDS

RenderX

e-health; eHealth; eMAR; electronic medication administration record; homecare nurses; home health care; nursing profession; delegation; task-shifting; medication administration

Introduction

Background

The extensive use of eHealth has brought many new services to health care organizations, such as electronic health records (EHRs), mobile health apps, and electronic medical records. As defined by Eysenbach [1], eHealth refers to the use of internet technologies to organize and deliver health care, aiming to improve health care by using information and communication technology. Owing to their many affordances, caregivers introduce eHealth services with the expectation of increasing patient safety, making care more effective, reducing costs, and providing better conditions for people to receive medical care at home [2-4]. Policy makers consider eHealth as a prerequisite for meeting the demands of health care from the growing proportion of older people worldwide [5], and national policies aimed at facilitating the progress of eHealth infrastructures have been adopted in many countries. In Sweden, the government has undertaken a political vision for the country to become a world leader in using the opportunities offered by eHealth; therefore, an agency has been established to support this process [6]. The expectations of what eHealth can bring are particularly high in the municipal home health care sector, which is facing pressure concerning resources because of earlier discharge from hospitals and a growing number of patients receiving medications and treatments at home [7]. Prior studies indicate positive attitudes among decision-makers about eHealth services in municipal home health care, regarding it as an enabler and simplifier [8], which is in line with the political agenda. However, despite its many affordances, many implementations of eHealth services fail [9-11]. This might be because of resistance among health care workers [12], who correlate eHealth with threats to essential care values, fear of lost power, and professional integrity [13]. In a similar manner, eHealth can be experienced by health care professionals as taking focus from patient-centered meetings [14-16] and contributing to an increased amount of documentation and standardization of tasks, with lower staff influence as a result [17]. Thus, attitudes about eHealth seem to differ between policy makers on the one hand and health care professionals on the other hand. Prior studies have shown that the implementation of eHealth services is a complex process that changes health care organizations and the work of health care professionals in both intended and unintended ways [18,19]. To further understand the impact of eHealth and how it influences health care and health care work, extended knowledge about how health care workers experience different health services in different contexts is needed. Most studies regarding eHealth are researched in hospital care, whereas there is an extensive gap in research regarding eHealth services in professional home health care settings, especially services that aim to facilitate and make communication between professionals more effective [20,21]. To gain more knowledge in this field, where the use of eHealth is particularly expanding, this study focused on nurses' experience of an electronic medication administration record (eMAR) used to communicate and sign delegated nursing tasks in a home health care setting.

Setting and Technology

In Sweden, a person in need of care at home can apply for assistance. In cases of demand for care such as personal hygiene, food delivery, or purchasing, this is provided by a health care assistant (HCA). On the other hand, medical care is provided by a registered nurse. A customary solution in home health care is for HCAs and nurses to work in different organizations within the municipality. In cases of support for medical care, it is common for nurses to transfer tasks to HCAs through delegation. Delegation is regulated by the National Board of Health and Welfare's National Guidelines [22]. A frequent intervention in home health care is support regarding drug administration [23], which is also the most delegated task from nurses to HCAs in home health care [24,25]. It has been shown that common deviations regarding drug administration are failure to sign the list after administration, which has traditionally been made manually on paper; incorrect doses; and omission of doses, which can harm patient health [24,26,27]. Studies have shown that the use of an eMAR may increase patient safety and reduce common mistakes [28,29]. Therefore, more than half of the 290 municipalities in Sweden have recently implemented eMARs to improve efficiency and increase patient safety [30]. The eMAR in this study was implemented through the initiative of the local municipal board as part of a municipality-wide eHealth strategy, which is in line with the National Digitalization Strategy in Sweden [31].

The eMAR is used for the documentation of medication administration and other delegated tasks. It contains a worklist generated by the nurse to support HCAs, informing the tasks to be performed for each patient-for example, administer drugs to patient X at 8 PM—and the HCA logs the administration of medication manually. The eMAR does not interoperate with the EHR but is a separate system. More particularly, it comprises a web-based administration tool on a computer and a mobile app of the eMAR. Access to the eMAR in the computer is limited to system administrators and authorized personnel (nurses and managers). Through computers, nurses create worklists and handle delegations. The eMAR also provides information and statistics on signed and unperformed interventions at the individual and group levels, information on medication availability in patients' homes, and information on delegations. When a nurse registers a task via the computer, it is displayed directly in the mobile eMAR app and is visible to the HCA. The eMAR app can be used when nurses perform health- and medical care-related tasks; however, it is mostly used by HCAs when performing delegated tasks, such as drug administration to patients. The HCA creates a signature in the wearable eMAR in connection with the delegated task being performed.

In summary, there is political intention in Sweden and other countries to use and introduce eHealth, and most municipalities are active in this regard. Common eHealth services are eMARs that aim to communicate delegated tasks among professionals. However, more knowledge is needed regarding how the use of eMAR systems is experienced by municipality home health care nurses in their daily work. With nurses being one of the critical users of eMARs, their experiences provide a beneficial



understanding of the challenges and profits related to the use of similar eHealth services.

The aim of the article is to shed light on how home care nurses experience eMARs in a Swedish municipality.

Methods

Study Design

This paper describes home care nurses' experiences with an eMAR used in a Swedish home health care setting. A qualitative inductive approach was applied using focus group interviews as the data collection method. The analysis of the interviews was conducted using constructivist grounded theory (GT), according to Charmaz [32,33].

Setting and Participants

Nurses employed in a municipality in southwest Sweden, where an eMAR has been used since May 2019, were asked to participate in the study. Nurses were responsible for patients in municipal home health care. They were first informed orally about the meaning of the study by their managers and received oral and written information from the study's authors. Of the 19 day-employed nurses in the municipality, 16 (84%) nurses participated in the study. The authors were informed that the 16% (3/19) of nurses who did not participate in the study were not working when the interviews took place. There was no prior relationship between the participating nurses and the researchers conducting the focus groups.

Data Collection

Data collection took place from November 2019 to January 2020, using focus group interviews conducted by the first and last author (SK and MNP), 6 and 8 months after the implementation of the digital application. The interviews were accomplished in 4 focus groups, with 5 to 7 nurses in each group, and took place at the participants' workplace. Approximately 63% (10/16) of the nurses participated in the focus group interviews both 6 and 8 months after the implementation. Furthermore, 13% (2/16) of nurses only participated in the focus groups conducted 6 months after the implementation. In contrast, 25% (4/16) of the participating nurses only participated in the focus group conducted 8 months after the implementation. This arrangement was because of practical reasons, as not all nurses in the municipality were working at the same time. The participants' average work experience as a nurse in the municipality where the study took place was 11 years, ranging from <1 year to 30 years of employment. Each focus group interview lasted for 60 to 70 minutes and was recorded using a mobile microphone. The discussions in all focus groups began with an initial open interview question. No other interview guides were used. The initial question concerned the participants' experiences of using the eMAR: what is your experience working with the digital application? During the interviews, participants were encouraged to focus on the general topic announced by the initial question. The interviewer asked follow-up questions such as can you explain and in what way to obtain detailed answers.

RenderX

Analysis

Interviews were transcribed and analyzed following constructivist GT, according to Charmaz [32,33]. Charmaz [32] applied a social constructivist approach to GT, which considers reality as diverse and relates to the interviewees' statements and the researcher's interpretation of these as one of the many descriptions of reality. Furthermore, a social constructivist approach acknowledges that eHealth services are products made by humans within particular social and historical contexts who bring their understanding and assumptions into practice and, thus, represent and promote social institutions and hierarchies [34-40]. After the first interview, the data were transcribed and read several times by the first and last authors (SK and MNP). Initially, the data were coded line by line, in so-called initial coding, which implies naming each line of written data with a label that categorizes, summarizes, and accounts for each piece of data, emphasizing the actions and processes. The next step in the coding process involved focus coding, which compared the different initial codes, asking which theoretical categories these statements may indicate. Furthermore, the initial codes were assessed using data, and codes with greater analytic power were distinguished into focus codes. This coding process continued during data collection in the following 3 focus group interviews. When all data were collected, focus codes were compared and merged into further abstraction in so-called conceptual categories, covering the core meanings of nurses' experiences. During the analytical process of the research, analytical ideas that occurred were written in memos, which were informal notes written individually by the researchers. Bearing thoughts in the memos were further developed in the conceptual categories. The coverage of the codes and categories in the data was checked during the analysis, which was then discussed by the authors and experienced GT researchers.

Ethics

The study was reviewed and approved by the Swedish Ethics Review Authority (Drn 2019-03263). Participants were informed of the voluntary nature of participation and the right to withdraw at any time. The use of the mobile recordings was explained before each interview. Data were handled confidentially.

Results

Overview

Nurses' experiences of eMAR were described in the following two categories: *nurses become monitors* and *slip away from the point of care* with their respective codes. *Monitoring through transparency, monitoring shift focus,* and *monitoring changes power relations* were recurring factors in the data related to the first category. Monitoring was possible through the increased transparency provided by the eMAR and the measurands that the nurses also applied, focusing on the quantitative aspects of the delegated nursing tasks rather than the qualitative aspects of the tasks. Furthermore, nurses' monitoring of the HCA's work performances through the eMAR affected the power relations between the professions. The second category included the codes *eMAR creates new working tasks* and *eMAR enforces delegation as routine,* as the eMAR entailed an increased amount of administrative work away from the point of care and

further strengthened the way of managing work through delegation to HCAs.

Nurses Become Monitors

Overview

The nurses delegated most of the drug administration to HCAs. However, because of legislation, nurses were still responsible for the task being performed correctly. The eMAR allowed nurses to monitor HCAs regarding their performance of the task continuously and was considered by the nurses as giving them insight into the HCAs' work. Monitoring was enabled through the enhanced transparency afforded by the eMAR service. However, it also appeared that the monitoring prompted nurses to focus on the quantifiable parts of the working tasks as they applied the eMAR's specific focus on time, the performer, and its measurable variables about the delivered care. In this way, the nurses experienced monitoring as causing a shift in focus from other aspects of the task. In addition, the monitoring affected the relationships with HCA, where the nurses' superior position was considered to be strengthened because of the monitoring possibilities.

Monitoring Through Transparency

The eMAR provided transparency for nurses through real-time information about the HCA's performance regarding delegated tasks. In this way, nurses were able to control and keep HCAs under surveillance. When the eMAR was introduced, nurses realized that delegated tasks were not always performed correctly. The nurses estimated that the number of missed tasks was much greater than before digitalization, as they had rarely noticed omissions before. Transparency meant that the nurses could act on the information given by the eMAR immediately, something they regarded as positive, as they felt responsible for the delegated tasks being performed correctly. The increased information provided by the eMAR was considered positive in terms of patient safety and quality of care, as the nurses now had the possibility to acknowledge mistakes and work on improvements:

We see everything that happens. Now we notice how much is not going right, we did not do that before.

Before eMARs, signing lists were usually collected for inspection by the nurse every 1 or 2 months. With eMAR, nurses experienced reduced paper administration as they did not need to check and change documentation at the patients' homes. This work could now be conducted from the office. The ability to discover deviations and update information at a distance from the office was regarded as positive.

Monitoring Shifts Focus

The scope of the use of the eMAR varied among nurses. It replaced the paper-signing lists; thus, all nurses were obliged to use eMAR to document and control the delegated tasks. However, some inscribed functions (built in by designers) were only used by a small number of nurses; for example, the ability to compare the number of alarms within and among groups of HCAs. Furthermore, nurses assessed information in diverse ways. Some estimated the documented information in eMAR as neutral facts, whereas others perceived it as containing a

https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e35363

correct but reduced part of reality, which had to be complemented with other sources of information. Sometimes, the HCA performed the medication administration correctly but failed to document it properly.

The eMAR provided information about the time at which the drug administration had been performed and by whom. However, qualitative aspects of the performance, such as whether the patient was given the correct information, critical estimation about the plausibility of the prescription, patient involvement, the quality of the performance, or other aspects of nursing work, were not included in the information provided. However, most nurses used this reduced quantified information as a basis for assessing how well the HCAs performed their work. This resulted in quantification of HCAs' work performances, as the nurses applied the apps' specific focus on time and documentation:

And you can get a report for each specific HCA as well as what percentage they are on, so you can see if it is one that has hundred percent or if someone has only signed 80 percent in time, then maybe you should have a conversation with that person.

The inscribed functions and design of the eMAR also influenced the focus of the users. Nurses experienced that HCAs used the information in the eMAR to a greater extent than the information that was still provided on paper. For example, when administering drugs, one must check the medication, identity of the patient, written medication list, and information in the eMAR. However, the nurses experienced that HCAs did not always check the medication list on paper and relied only on the information in the eMAR. The nurses thought that this was because the information was stored in separate places, and the technology was accessible and more attractive than paper to use. According to the nurses, HCAs' prioritization of performing the tasks included in the eMAR sometimes led to a decreased focus on other important areas of their work, which were not included in the eMAR. As the following quote illustrates, the focus shifted from the patients to the eMAR and documentation itself:

When I worked one weekend, I remember it very clearly, they were so stressed. There was a member of staff there and she was sweating, she just focused on the app "There mustn't be any delays, mustn't be any delays." And I was just: "But you will not be hanged because you have given a drug five minutes late to a patient." But she was really worried about that she would get rid of her delegation to give drugs. It was the only thing she focused on, to give drugs within the time-frame in the application, and the risk is that she missed something else, like how the patient in front of her was doing.

Correct documentation could also give nurses a false picture of everything working well in care situations. Only when measurable tasks within the eMAR were omitted were the nurses informed. In the case of other misconducts, eMAR did not provide any information.

Monitoring Changes Power Relations

The eMAR offered an opportunity for nurses to control the HCAs' work performances. Monitoring affected their relationship with HCAs, changing the power relations between the professions. HCAs could not know when or if they were being checked. Nurses felt that the monitoring possibilities sometimes created stress, fear, and frustration among HCAs, and they described increased power in relation to HCAs. The eMAR alerted the nurse with visual alarms when a task was not performed correctly, which led to a focus on negative feedback from the HCAs. Monitoring was perceived as a new and complex situation for nurses:

It is a shift of power in that we can get such control over what they do. And they know about it. In that way, it is a power factor. That's exactly what it is, you go in and say "Now I have seen this mistake, so now we withdraw your delegation...so they are a bit stressed sometimes."

Although the eMAR was implemented as an initiative from the local municipal board, the nurses felt that they were held accountable for the implementation by the HCAs, who were frustrated with the nurses' monitoring and focus on documentation:

It is negative stress. Sometimes it feels like they think we have invented this. "How silly, we do the best we can, and we don't have time and we are so stressed," and so on. Then we have to promote this eMAR and explain that it is a quality system that we use according to our guidelines. Sometimes I feel that we have to take the shit for this in some way.

Slip Away From the Point of Care

Overview

In addition to the monitoring illustrated in the category above, the nurses also experienced that their professional role was transitioned, as the eMAR imposed them to perform new administrative working tasks and was used and designed to facilitate delegation as a modus operandi in the home health care organization. This further positioned nurses to administer and control nursing tasks rather than perform the tasks themselves.

eMAR Creates New Working Tasks

The implementation of the eMAR brought new assignments and areas of responsibility for the nurses, such as investigating deviations to a much larger extent than before, having personal follow-up meetings with HCAs, and providing technical support to colleges. Although they were grateful for the reduced paper administration because of digitalization, they also experienced an increased amount of these other administrative tasks, which they regarded as time consuming and not a part of what they considered their actual responsibilities as nurses. For example, the eMAR often alerted when a task had not been signed at all, and to investigate such a situation, the nurse had to find out who was responsible for performing the task among the HCAs. They needed to ask the HCA unit manager for information regarding work schedules, which often required emailing and calling to get hold of information. Notifications from the eMAR demanded immediate action from the nurses not only s they were responsible for the delegated tasks but also to keep the mobile screen for HCAs clean; otherwise, it would have been impossible for them to see other relevant information behind the notifications. The need for prompt action on eMAR alarms resulted in workflow disruptions for nurses. They felt that they were spending considerable time in investigations and personal follow-up conversations with HCAs and assessed this type of work as being outside their nursing profession and actual responsibilities:

And at the same time, you have all your own work that you have to keep up with and you sit there in conversations with managers and healthcare assistants, yes, it is not entirely simple. It can be quite frustrating when you have the whole diary full, and you have three booked meetings where you must discuss this and try to be flexible and still clear about the rules.

The nurses were not involved in decisions regarding the implementation of the eMAR and had no established formal ways of providing feedback to the eMAR developers. Smaller updates and new functions came without prior notice, and as the delegated tasks were considered to be the nurse's area of responsibility within the organization, HCAs turned to them with questions about technology and its use:

They come and ask me "How do I do this in the application, how does the application work?"...Yes, you feel that you are not only a nurse but also have become some kind of technical support or something. For my part, it's all right, but it's not really part of my job as a nurse (laughs).

Nurses expressed that they had the skills and abilities necessary to use digital health technology and services. They had experience working with eHealth services as EHRs, digital booking systems for medical products, mobile telephones, and email services were already a part of their daily work. The fact that not all systems were integrated was something they perceived as time consuming because of different log-ins and the occasional need for double documentation. The nurses expressed ambivalence about the functions of the various systems but accepted the organization's existing digital systems, although they did not always facilitate their work:

You just have to teach yourself and become friends with the systems...I don't know, it is difficult to dislike something that we must use. You just have to learn.

eMAR Enforces Delegation as Routine

The nurses' experiences indicated that the delegation of drug administration was routine within the organization. There were not enough nurses employed to administer drugs to the patients themselves without delegating the task to HCAs. Nurses said that this situation also existed before implementation. However, eMAR was designed in accordance with this organization of work and, in this way, strengthened delegation as a way of working. The nurses felt a certain pressure to delegate the administration of drugs to HCAs:

Karnehed et al

Quite simply, we have to deliver a delegation to someone we have barely seen or know who they are or what they are capable of.

The nurses had formal responsibility for medical tasks even if they were delegated, and they tried to find ways of influencing the HCAs' ability to fulfill these tasks correctly. This was realized by providing suggestions about the changed working routines in the organization. However, the nurses experienced a lack of mandate to influence organizational issues, and their attempts to organize the HCAs' work were not encouraged within the organization:

It's not so simple. If I say: "The two who have the phones with the application must be responsible for the drug administration," then I am perceived as controlling how they should do their work, and then it does not fall on fertile ground, and I get back from the management "That it is not my job to tell how they should do it." But the reason I do it is that no one else does it either. I have a responsibility to ensure that the drugs are given when they are supposed to be given, and if no one else takes responsibility for personnel management, you must go in and give a suggestion.

Owing to a perceived lack of mandate to influence identified structural causes of deviations regarding the delegated tasks, such as understaffing, lack of medication competence among HCAs, lack of internet connection at some places in the municipality, provision of portable devices that enable mobile connection for the eMAR, or issues regarding work organization, the nurses focused on individual causes of deviation, which was supported by the organization's guidelines. The individual focus on personal follow-ups with HCAs was experienced as frustrating as nurses sometimes felt that the discussions made no difference.

Discussion

The eMAR Has Transformative Effects

eHealth has many affordances, and it is important to acknowledge its many possibilities. The expectations for what eHealth can offer are often high, which is indicated in the very adoption of the concept, as defined and extensively cited by Eysenbach [1] as follows: not just a technical development but also an attitude that the use improves health care locally and worldwide. This enthusiastic state of mind is also visible in the Swedish Governmental Vision of eHealth 2025 [31], which aims for the country to be the best worldwide in using the opportunities offered by digitalization. However, it is not surprising that digitalization in health care is proceeding at a rapid pace. However, this study shows that the use of the eMAR was experienced as transforming some aspects of the nurse's profession toward a function of more control through monitoring and administration. This was not a pronounced goal for the use of eMAR but instead, an unintended consequence that might add to the understanding of the different views of eHealth between policy makers and health care professionals that now exist. The findings in this study are in line with results from previous research, stating that nurses considered documentation

and navigation in the eMAR system as time consuming and took time away from their patient near work [16]. However, previous research has also stated that using an eMAR does not result in less direct patient care [41]. Consequently, this study shows that a broad perspective should be considered in eHealth interventions, embracing both the intended and unintended aspects of their meaning and impact on social relations, professionals, and organizations. Therefore, these impacts should be taken into consideration when planning for and using this type of eHealth service.

As we have shown, the eMAR enabled nurses to monitor HCAs in real time regarding delegated tasks. The monitoring resulted in increased insight and clarity for the nurses, which was considered positive concerning patient safety, as they experienced more control over their area of responsibility. However, the information provided by the eMAR was mediated through its measurands, which focused on time and the performer, only making specific parts of reality visible. In this way, the use of the eMAR prompted nurses to assess tasks through numbers and measure the HCA's work performance in percentages, which they regarded as a focus shift from more qualitative aspects of nursing. This process can be understood using literature on transparency related to visualizing technologies. Flyverbom [42] uses the term prism as a metaphor for transparency to illustrate how visualizing technologies provide a mediated representation of reality. In this way, transparency not only makes certain things visible but also produces differences [37]. Orlikowski and Scott [43] made a similar reasoning, stating that materializations of discourse have performative consequences that affect practice. In our case, before the use of the eMAR, signing lists for documentation of medication administration were materialized in paper sheets in the patient's home. In contrast, the eMAR provided nurses with information about the person who performed the delegated task and the time when it was performed. Using the Orlikowski and Scott [43] perspective, this is most likely a material-discursive shift from retrospective transparency to real-time transparency, which resulted in work disruption and new working tasks for the nurses who had to act on the information by investigating deviations and holding follow-up meetings with HCAs. Real-time monitoring also affected the power relations between the 2 professions, strengthening the HCAs' subordinate positions.

Furthermore, the transition of the nursing profession toward a function of controller, as well as an increased focus on administration and measurands, is in line with the New Public Management model, introduced in the Swedish health care sector in the 1980s [44], where the pursuit of control, efficiency, productivity, and transparency is fundamental. The eMAR might further strengthen this development. However, depending on its design, an eHealth service may rely on, develop competence and judgment, or foster quality improvement through control, review, and governance. It is not implausible to consider that using an eMAR, where the measurable is prioritized, may lead to a focus on measurable parts of health care tasks, in favor of more immeasurable tasks, for example, to stop talking to patients while a task is performed and relieve anxiety by listening or the use of personal judgment.

XSL•FO RenderX

eMAR Enforces Delegation as Routine

Our findings demonstrate that nurses experienced delegation as praxis within the organization and that the eMAR supported this way of working. The nurses felt that they were expected to delegate tasks such as drug administration to HCAs. The Swedish National Board of Health and Welfare's regulations and general advice on the delegation of tasks in health care [22] describe that delegation can be used in exceptional cases and must not be applied to solve staff shortages or for economic reasons. Nevertheless, former studies have shown that HCAs perform most tasks requiring nurses, and instead of being a complementary solution, where medical tasks such as drug administration are undertaken by nurses, delegation has become routine in Swedish home health care settings [24,45]. This was confirmed by this study's results.

The study findings revealed that the eMAR alerted nurses that existing structures regarding delegation within the organization did not always function properly. Nurses experienced an increased omission of doses and late administration of drugs after the implementation of the eMAR. Medication administration is a complex task requiring counting, mixing, calculating, and controlling that the administration be performed at the right time for the right person in a correct dose and for accurate purposes [46]. The eMAR only provided information on parts of the task, leaving out other aspects of the administration. Even if the nurses experienced that their increased control of medical administration through the eMAR had positive effects on patient safety, they also acknowledged that other aspects that were not visualized in the eMAR had lower quality. The nurses' experiences of omissions regarding drug administration and other commonly delegated tasks should be further investigated to gain more knowledge about how this form of extensive delegation of medical tasks to HCAs affects patient security and quality of care.

To improve the situation regarding omissions, the nurses proposed structural changes in how HCAs worked. However, as they felt a lack of mandate to influence organizational issues, they focused on having follow-up conversations with individual HCAs. This was regarded as a time consuming and complex task to accomplish, partly because of the negative character of their feedback to the HCAs. This complexity regarding reporting and communicating adverse events in home health care has been highlighted in a prior study demonstrating that reporting of adverse events that involve colleagues is considered distressing by nurses [47]. The eMAR used in this study allowed nurses to observe inaccuracies in delegated tasks. To use this information constructively so that future mistakes can be prevented and a culture of safety may be fostered in the health care organization, structures for processing this increased amount of data are needed. Focusing on individual feedback rather than structural ones might hinder organizational changes that can contribute to delegated tasks being performed correctly. Therefore, we suggest that the information regarding mistakes and deviations displayed in the eMAR should be analyzed and managed with a broader focus than on individuals and at a higher level within the organization so that preventive work and a structural take on deviations can be conducted.

https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e35363

eHealth services were not new to the participants in this study. Several eHealth systems were already in use when the eMAR was implemented. Experiences from prior eHealth services, as well as eHealth services in use, might have influenced the nurses' experience of the eMAR. For example, previous research highlights the connection between the general use of digital technologies in daily life and the perception of digital technologies at work, stating that people who appreciate the advantages offered in a digitized society also recognize and expect profits provided by digital technologies at their job [48]. However, these aspects were not investigated further in this study.

Co-design as a Possibility

The findings in this study also indicate that the eMAR was implemented from the top of the organization and that the principles of co-design were not applied. Nurses had many ideas about the desirable features and design of the eMAR but lacked formalized paths to communicate with eMAR developers. The sender was regarded as unclear, and smaller updates were unannounced for reasons that the nurses were not informed of. The impression that decisions about eHealth services are made by unidentified persons at a higher level in the organizational hierarchy indicates a lack of employee involvement and has been previously acknowledged in research concerning eHealth in health care organizations [49]. As the eMAR was dependent on internet access and did not work in all geographical locations in the municipality, security was not perceived by the nurses to meet the safety requirements of health care. Therefore, analog paper copies and backup plans were always available. This suggests that the eMAR was not fully adapted to a specific context. Acknowledged factors for successful implementation of eHealth services are user involvement before implementation, sufficient time for users to learn the system, formalized feedback sessions where users can discuss experiences and specific issues, and available support from super users of the implemented system within the workplace [8,50]. Furthermore, the interaction between users and developers should continue, as problems and challenges in the system are addressed once the eHealth service is in use [36,51]. Therefore, we suggest that future implementations and uses of eHealth services involve end users to ensure alignment with the ongoing processes in the health care organization, as well as to incorporate professional values and understandings. Through collaboration, nurses and other health care professionals might have a greater influence on which areas of their work can benefit from eHealth and in what direction their professions will develop.

Methodological Discussion

Using GT analysis, according to Charmaz [32,33], proved to be useful in exploring how home care nurses in a Swedish municipality experienced eMARs. This method was considered helpful in achieving the objectives of the study. Furthermore, using interviews for data collection made it possible to see diversity in reality; however, there were some aspects that must be emphasized. First, the number of participants in the focus groups is recommended to be small [52], which was the case in this study, so that all the participants are able to speak. The composition of the group, in accordance with Krueger and Casey

XSL•FO

[52], was homogeneous, as all participants were nurses working in the same organization. Familiarity with technology is related to improved acceptance, and some challenges might only be visible during the first months immediately following implementation [53]. The dates of the focus groups were set so that participants would have some experience with the eMAR and, at times, intended to make participation possible for most of the nurses employed in the municipality. For practical reasons, some nurses participating for the second time, 8 months after the implementation, were placed in the same group as nurses who participated for the first time. Whether the composition of the focus group interviews influenced the discussions at the time of the interview and, thus, the results is difficult to say. On the other hand, the number of nurses in the municipality where the study was conducted was small, and almost everyone (16/19, 84% nurses) participated. Therefore, there is reason to believe that nurses discussed the issue on occasions other than during the interviews. From this point of view, the result is not believed to have been affected by the fact that some nurses participated for the second time, together with those who were interviewed for the first time. Second, to achieve credibility [54], the analysis was conducted jointly by the first and last authors (SK and MNP). The findings have also been discussed in 2 different seminars with other researchers affiliated with nursing and sociology. Finally, the process in this study is described in such a way that it can be followed and repeated by others. However, the findings in future studies may differ as the use and development of technology is rapidly advancing,

the use and development of technology is rapidly advancing, and the user adapts to prevailing conditions. The nurses participating in the study were offered to take part in the interview transcripts but did not ask for it.

The social constructivist perspective applied in the study distinguishes itself from the assumption about objective reality and, instead, adopts the assumption that reality is multiple, processual, and constructed [32,33]. In this manner, the study did not aim to evaluate the efficacy of the eMAR; rather, the experiences of its users and the human and technology

interactions were explored. When adopting a social constructivist perspective that recognizes eHealth services as social artifacts, it is possible to highlight the intended and unintended consequences and implications on existing hierarchies and social life. The constructivist approach has been useful in acknowledging this broader experience of eHealth services and recognizing larger structures embedded in participants' experiences.

Future studies should focus on the attitudes and experiences of end users of eHealth services, as well as developing theories and methods for investigating the effects and processes when technological and human agency come together in health care.

Conclusions

Previous analyses of eHealth services in health care have shown that implementation is a complex process that changes health care organizations and the work of health care professionals in both intended and unintended ways. This study adds to the literature by examining how users of a specific eHealth service—an eMAR used to manage the delegation of medical administration-experienced impacts on their daily work. The results showed that the nurses experienced that eMAR gave them more control and knowledge about how delegated tasks were performed. However, the eMAR also brought more complex and unexpected changes to their work situation, such as more administration, a focus shift toward quantifiable aspects of work, and changed power relations between the professions. As the nurses applied the eMARs' specific focus on time and documentation and its broader focus on delegation as a way of working, the results also indicate that inscribed functions in an eHealth service may affect values and priorities where the service is in use. This presents an opportunity for future research to assess the impact of specific eHealth services on health care professionals' work and further examine the effects of inscribed functions in relation to how they may affect actions and priorities at the individual and organizational levels.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. Eysenbach G. What is e-health? J Med Internet Res 2001;3(2):E20 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3.2.e20] [Medline: 11720962]
- Rosborg S, Lindberg M, Ramukumba M, Jäderlund Hagstedt L, Hägglund M. Exploring mHealths fit to workflow in homecare - a case study in Sweden. Stud Health Technol Inform 2019;265:54-59. [doi: <u>10.3233/SHTI190137</u>] [Medline: <u>31431577</u>]
- Rydenfält C, Persson J, Erlingsdottir G, Johansson G. eHealth services in the near and distant future in Swedish home care nursing. Comput Inform Nurs 2019;37(7):366-372. [doi: <u>10.1097/CIN.00000000000536</u>] [Medline: <u>31135467</u>]
- Kleiven HH, Ljunggren B, Solbjør M. Health professionals' experiences with the implementation of a digital medication dispenser in home care services - a qualitative study. BMC Health Serv Res 2020;20(1):320 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12913-020-05191-9] [Medline: 32299431]
- WHO guideline: recommendations on digital interventions for health system strengthening. World Health Organization. 2019. URL: <u>https://www.who.int/reproductivehealth/publications/digital-interventions-health-system-strengthening/en/</u> [accessed 2021-11-30]
- 6. Tjänster för vård, omsorg och apotek. eHälsomyndigheten. 2019. URL: <u>https://www.ehalsomyndigheten.se/</u> [accessed 2021-11-30]

- Glette MK, Røise O, Kringeland T, Churruca K, Braithwaite J, Wiig S. Nursing home leaders' and nurses' experiences of resources, staffing and competence levels and the relation to hospital readmissions - a case study. BMC Health Serv Res 2018;18(1):955 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12913-018-3769-3] [Medline: 30541632]
- 8. Frennert S, Baudin K. The concept of welfare technology in Swedish municipal eldercare. Disabil Rehabil 2021;43(9):1220-1227. [doi: 10.1080/09638288.2019.1661035] [Medline: 31503509]
- 9. Granja C, Janssen W, Johansen MA. Factors determining the success and failure of eHealth interventions: systematic review of the literature. J Med Internet Res 2018;20(5):e10235 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/10235] [Medline: 29716883]
- Yu-Tong T, Yan Z, Zhen L, Bing X, Qing-Yun C. Telehealth readiness and its influencing factors among Chinese clinical nurses: a cross-sectional study. Nurse Educ Pract 2022;58:103278 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.nepr.2021.103278] [Medline: 34954659]
- 11. Kubota T, Kuroda N, Horinouchi T, Ikegaya N, Kitazawa Y, Kodama S, et al. Barriers to telemedicine among physicians in epilepsy care during the COVID-19 pandemic: a national-level cross-sectional survey in Japan. Epilepsy Behav 2022;126:108487. [doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2021.108487] [Medline: 34922326]
- Yousef CC, Salgado TM, Farooq A, Burnett K, McClelland LE, Abu Esba LC, et al. Health care providers' acceptance of a personal health record: cross-sectional study. J Med Internet Res 2021;23(10):e31582 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/31582] [Medline: 34569943]
- Nilsen ER, Dugstad J, Eide H, Gullslett MK, Eide T. Exploring resistance to implementation of welfare technology in municipal healthcare services - a longitudinal case study. BMC Health Serv Res 2016;16(1):657 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12913-016-1913-5] [Medline: 27846834]
- 14. Andersson Marchesoni M, Axelsson K, Fältholm Y, Lindberg I. Technologies in older people's care. Nurs Ethics 2017;24(2):125-137. [doi: 10.1177/0969733015594665] [Medline: 26208722]
- Nakrem S, Solbjør M, Pettersen IN, Kleiven HH. Care relationships at stake? Home healthcare professionals' experiences with digital medicine dispensers a qualitative study. BMC Health Serv Res 2018;18(1):26 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12913-018-2835-1] [Medline: 29334953]
- Gregory LR, Lim R, MacCullagh L, Riley T, Tuqiri K, Heiler J, et al. Intensive care nurses' experiences with the new electronic medication administration record. Nurs Open (forthcoming) 2021 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/nop2.939] [Medline: 33999517]
- 17. Lotherington AT, Obstfelder A. Digitalisering av arbeidsflyt på sykehus konsekvenser for legers arbeidshverdag. Nord Tidsskr Helseforskning 2015;11(1):66-76. [doi: 10.7557/14.3480]
- Mair FS, May C, O'Donnell C, Finch T, Sullivan F, Murray E. Factors that promote or inhibit the implementation of e-health systems: an explanatory systematic review. Bull World Health Organ 2012;90(5):357-364 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2471/BLT.11.099424] [Medline: 22589569]
- 19. Cucciniello M, Lapsley I, Nasi G, Pagliari C. Understanding key factors affecting electronic medical record implementation: a sociotechnical approach. BMC Health Serv Res 2015;15:268 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12913-015-0928-7] [Medline: 26184405]
- Krick T, Huter K, Domhoff D, Schmidt A, Rothgang H, Wolf-Ostermann K. Digital technology and nursing care: a scoping review on acceptance, effectiveness and efficiency studies of informal and formal care technologies. BMC Health Serv Res 2019;19(1):400 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12913-019-4238-3] [Medline: 31221133]
- 21. Fuller AE, Guirguis LM, Sadowski CA, Makowsky MJ. Electronic medication administration records in long-term care facilities: a scoping review. J Am Geriatr Soc 2018;66(7):1428-1436. [doi: <u>10.1111/jgs.15384</u>] [Medline: <u>29684250</u>]
- 22. Günther G. Delegering av arbetsuppgifter inom hälso- och sjukvården. Region Uppsala. 2019. URL: <u>https://tinyurl.com/</u> 2dsvaer5 [accessed 2021-11-30]
- 23. Strandell R. Care workers under pressure a comparison of the work situation in Swedish home care 2005 and 2015. Health Soc Care Community 2020;28(1):137-147. [doi: 10.1111/hsc.12848] [Medline: 31507018]
- Gransjön Craftman Å, Grape C, Ringnell K, Westerbotn M. Registered nurses' experience of delegating the administration of medicine to unlicensed personnel in residential care homes. J Clin Nurs 2016;25(21-22):3189-3198. [doi: 10.1111/jocn.13335] [Medline: 27461555]
- Denton M, Brookman C, Zeytinoglu I, Plenderleith J, Barken R. Task shifting in the provision of home and social care in Ontario, Canada: implications for quality of care. Health Soc Care Community 2015;23(5):485-492. [doi: <u>10.1111/hsc.12168</u>] [Medline: <u>25471361</u>]
- 26. Härkänen M, Franklin BD, Murrells T, Rafferty AM, Vehviläinen-Julkunen K. Factors contributing to reported medication administration incidents in patients' homes a text mining analysis. J Adv Nurs 2020;76(12):3573-3583 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/jan.14532] [Medline: 33048380]
- 27. Barber ND, Alldred DP, Raynor DK, Dickinson R, Garfield S, Jesson B, et al. Care homes' use of medicines study: prevalence, causes and potential harm of medication errors in care homes for older people. Qual Saf Health Care 2009;18(5):341-346 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/qshc.2009.034231] [Medline: 19812095]
- 28. Qian S, Yu P, Hailey DM. The impact of electronic medication administration records in a residential aged care home. Int J Med Inform 2015;84(11):966-973. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2015.08.002</u>] [Medline: <u>26358850</u>]

RenderX

- 29. Alenius M, Graf P. Use of electronic medication administration records to reduce perceived stress and risk of medication errors in nursing homes. Comput Inform Nurs 2016;34(7):297-302. [doi: <u>10.1097/CIN.00000000000245</u>] [Medline: <u>27270628</u>]
- 30. E-hälsa och välfärdsteknik i kommunerna 2021: Uppföljning av den digitala utvecklingen i socialtjänsten och den kommunala hälso- och sjukvården. Socialstyrelsen. 2021. URL: <u>https://www.socialstyrelsen.se/globalassets/sharepoint-dokument/</u> artikelkatalog/ovrigt/2021-5-7384.pdf [accessed 2021-11-30]
- 31. Digitaliseringsstrategin. Regeringskansliet. 2021. URL: <u>https://www.regeringen.se/regeringens-politik/digitaliseringsstrategin/</u> [accessed 2021-11-03]
- 32. Charmaz K. Constructing grounded theory: a practical guide through qualitative analysis. London, UK: Sage Publications; 2006.
- 33. Bryant A, Charmaz K. The SAGE handbook of grounded theory. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications; 2010.
- 34. Lupton D. Digital health: critical and cross-disciplinary perspectives. Milton Park, UK: Routledge; 2018.
- 35. Lupton D. How do data come to matter? Living and becoming with personal data. Big Data Soc 2018;5(2):205395171878631. [doi: 10.1177/2053951718786314]
- 36. Orlikowski WJ. Using technology and constituting structures: a practice lens for studying technology in organizations. Organ Sci 2000;11(4):404-428. [doi: 10.1287/orsc.11.4.404.14600]
- 37. Albu OB, Flyverbom M. Organizational transparency: conceptualizations, conditions, and consequences. Bus Soc 2019;58(2):268-297. [doi: 10.1177/0007650316659851]
- 38. Joerges B, Czamiawska B. The question of technology, or how organizations inscribe the world. Organ Stud 1998;19(3):363-385. [doi: 10.1177/017084069801900301]
- 39. Moniz AB, Krings BJ. Robots working with humans or humans working with robots? Searching for social dimensions in new human-robot interaction in industry. Societies 2016;6(3):23. [doi: 10.3390/soc6030023]
- 40. Pinch TJ, Bijker WE. The social construction of facts and artefacts: or how the sociology of science and the sociology of technology might benefit each other. Soc Stud Sci 1984;14(3):399-441. [doi: 10.1177/030631284014003004]
- Lichtner V, Baysari M, Gates P, Dalla-Pozza L, Westbrook JI. Medication safety incidents in paediatric oncology after electronic medication management system implementation. Eur J Cancer Care (Engl) 2019;28(6):e13152 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/ecc.13152] [Medline: 31436876]
- 42. Flyverbom M. The digital prism: transparency and managed visibilities in a datafied world. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press; 2019. [doi: 10.1017/9781316442692]
- 43. Orlikowski WJ, Scott SV. Exploring material-discursive practices. J Manag Stud 2015;52(5):697-705. [doi: 10.1111/joms.12114]
- 44. Szebehely M, Trydegård GB. Home care for older people in Sweden: a universal model in transition. Health Soc Care Community 2012;20(3):300-309. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1365-2524.2011.01046.x</u>] [Medline: <u>22141377</u>]
- 45. Norell M, Ziegert K, Kihlgren A. Care priorities- Registered Nurses' clinical daily work in municipal elderly care settings. Scand J Caring Sci 2013;27(2):388-395. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1471-6712.2012.01051.x</u>] [Medline: <u>23003218</u>]
- 46. Manias E, Kinney S, Cranswick N, Williams A, Borrott N. Interventions to reduce medication errors in pediatric intensive care. Ann Pharmacother 2014;48(10):1313-1331. [doi: <u>10.1177/1060028014543795</u>] [Medline: <u>25059205</u>]
- 47. Pejner MN, Kihlgren A. Reporting adverse events-Swedish Registered Nurses experience in a municipal home care context. Nurs Open 2018;6(2):426-433 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/nop2.223] [Medline: 30918693]
- 48. Gellerstedt M, Babaheidari SM, Svensson L. A first step towards a model for teachers' adoption of ICT pedagogy in schools. Heliyon 2018;4(9):e00786 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.heliyon.2018.e00786] [Medline: 30294690]
- 49. Gjellebæk C, Svensson A, Bjørkquist C, Fladeby N, Grundén K. Management challenges for future digitalization of healthcare services. Futures 2020;124:102636. [doi: 10.1016/j.futures.2020.102636]
- 50. Konttila J, Siira H, Kyngäs H, Lahtinen M, Elo S, Kääriäinen M, et al. Healthcare professionals' competence in digitalisation: a systematic review. J Clin Nurs 2019;28(5-6):745-761. [doi: <u>10.1111/jocn.14710</u>] [Medline: <u>30376199</u>]
- 51. Gould JD, Lewis C. Designing for usability: key principles and what designers think. Commun ACM 1985;28(3):300-311. [doi: <u>10.1145/3166.3170</u>]
- 52. Krueger RA, Casey MA. Focus groups: a practical guide for applied research. 4th edition. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications; 2009.
- 53. Carayon P, Hoonakker P. Human factors and usability for health information technology: old and new challenges. Yearb Med Inform 2019;28(1):71-77 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1055/s-0039-1677907] [Medline: 31419818]
- 54. Patton MQ. Qualitative research & evaluation methods: integrating theory and practice. 4th edition. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications; 2014.

Abbreviations

RenderX

EHR: electronic health record **eMAR:** electronic medication administration record **GT:** grounded theory

https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e35363

HCA: health care assistant

Edited by E Borycki; submitted 02.12.21; peer-reviewed by RM Åhlfeldt, H Van Os-Medendorp; comments to author 23.01.22; revised version received 21.02.22; accepted 07.03.22; published 22.04.22. <u>Please cite as:</u> Karnehed S, Erlandsson LK, Norell Pejner M Nurses' Perspectives on an Electronic Medication Administration Record in Home Health Care: Qualitative Interview Study JMIR Nursing 2022;5(1):e35363 URL: https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e35363 doi:10.2196/35363 PMID:35452400

©Sara Karnehed, Lena-Karin Erlandsson, Margaretha Norell Pejner. Originally published in JMIR Nursing (https://nursing.jmir.org), 22.04.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Nursing, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://nursing.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Investigating #covidnurse Messages on TikTok: Descriptive Study

Bhavya Yalamanchili¹; Lorie Donelle², PhD, FCAN, RN; Leo-Felix Jurado¹, PhD, RN, APN, NE-BC, CNE, FAAN; Joseph Fera³, PhD; Corey H Basch¹, MPH, EdD

¹William Paterson University, Wayne, NJ, United States ²Western University, London, ON, Canada ³Lehman College, Bronx, NY, United States

Corresponding Author:

Corey H Basch, MPH, EdD William Paterson University 300 Pompton Rd Wayne, NJ, 07470 United States Phone: 1 9737202603 Email: baschc@wpunj.edu

Abstract

Background: During a time of high stress and decreased social interaction, nurses have turned to social media platforms like TikTok as an outlet for expression, entertainment, and communication.

Objective: The purpose of this cross-sectional content analysis study is to describe the content of videos with the hashtag #covidnurse on TikTok, which included 100 videos in the English language.

Methods: At the time of the study, this hashtag had 116.9 million views. Each video was coded for content-related to what nurses encountered and were feeling during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Results: Combined, the 100 videos sampled received 47,056,700 views; 76,856 comments; and 5,996,676 likes. There were 4 content categories that appeared in a majority (>50) of the videos: 83 showed the individual as a nurse, 72 showed the individual in professional attire, 58 mentioned/suggested stress, 55 used music, and 53 mentioned/suggested frustration. Those that mentioned stress and those that mentioned frustration received less than 50% of the total views (n=21,726,800, 46.17% and n=16,326,300, 34.69%, respectively). Although not a majority, 49 of the 100 videos mentioned the importance of nursing. These videos garnered 37.41% (n=17,606,000) of the total views, 34.82% (n=26,759) of the total comments, and 23.85% (n=1,430,213) of the total likes. So, despite nearly half of the total videos mentioning how important nurses are, these videos received less than half of the total views, comments, and likes.

Conclusions: Social media and increasingly video-related online messaging such as TikTok are important platforms for social networking, social support, entertainment, and education on diverse topics, including health in general and COVID-19 specifically. This presents an opportunity for future research to assess the utility of the TikTok platform for meaningful engagement and health communication on important public health issues.

(JMIR Nursing 2022;5(1):e35274) doi:10.2196/35274

KEYWORDS

COVID-19 pandemic; nurse; burnout; social media; stress; TikTok; nursing; COVID-19; pandemic; social support; digital peer support; health communication; peer support

Introduction

Nurses play an integral role in health care, with around 28 million nurses worldwide. The nursing profession dominates the variety of occupations in the health care industry, with about 59% of professionals. Despite nurses accounting for the majority of health care professionals, there is still a need for 5.9 million nurses globally [1].

https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e35274

Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, there has been an overwhelming number of deaths including many health care workers. The International Council of Nurses (2020) confirms 1500 nurses perished from COVID-19 in 44 countries [2]. The nature of the nursing role creates situations where most nurses are at high risk of being overworked, experiencing burnout, and exposed to potentially psychologically traumatizing events [3]. This has only been exacerbated by the onset of the COVID-19



pandemic. Previous research conducted during similar outbreaks (H1N1, severe acute respiratory syndrome) showed that nurses experienced the highest levels of work-related stress, and subsequent distress, compared to other groups of health care providers [4].

The pandemic heightened and brought to public attention many health care–related disparities. Nurses encountered many new and difficult challenges resulting from stress. The rates of severe stress among nurses have been reported as high as 56.4% [5]. The proportion of mental health issues among nurses during the pandemic are markedly higher than the general population prevalence of anxiety and depression estimated at 11.2% and 4.7%, respectively [6].

One of the most prominent causes of stress among nurses during the COVID-19 pandemic is the persistent fear of infection due to their proximity to those already ill. Contracting the infection as well as the possibility of spreading it to loved ones is reported as a major fear of nurses, thereby increasing stress levels both on the job and at home [7]. Many nurses were unable to stay with their loved ones during the beginning of the pandemic, elevating the potential for chronic stress, grief, and anxiety [8]. One study that looked specifically at nurses living in isolation to protect their relatives found high rates of stress in 39.1% of the participants [9].

Working long hours at the frontlines of the COVID-19 pandemic, nurses were substantially impacted by the lack of resources, increased physical and emotional stress, and increased risk of harm [10]. The lack of resources proved to be a substantial stressor for nurses, especially during the initial months of the pandemic when adequate personal protective equipment (PPE) was unavailable. Anecdotal accounts from the beginning of the pandemic consistently showed that concerns regarding inadequate PPE increased symptoms of anxiety, stress, and fear among nurses and other health care workers [3,11]. Shahrour and Dardas [7] found that the lack of PPE was associated with higher stress and worse mental health outcomes. Moreover, hospitals were inundated with COVID-19 admissions, as a result, nurses were given little reprieve from the high workload and the uncertainty of when the pandemic will end [8]. Global mental health experts note that COVID-19-related challenges increased the risk of moral harm and emotional stress [12]. Nurses providing patient care during unprecedented times and complex decision-making, and repeatedly seeing traumatic events resulted in anxiety, depression, exhaustion, and burnout [12,13].

Over the past 15 years, social media use has increased substantially, with around 72% of the American public using some type of social media platform [14]. These platforms are available for individuals of all genders and backgrounds; user demographics of these platforms vary as they garner different audiences. Research indicates that 78% of US adult women use at least one type of social media platform like TikTok or YouTube, compared to 66% of US adult males [14].

TikTok essentially functions as a repository of short-form mobile videos [15]. The social media app is marketed as a platform to develop creativity and content development skills, an edutainment portal, and a vehicle for commercial advertising

```
https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e35274
```

[16]. TikTok, a user-friendly platform originally designed to engage young audiences, enables users to develop, create, and share content and campaigns to a large and diverse audience. An influencer is an emerging role on social media defined as "everyday, ordinary Internet users who accumulate a relatively large following on blogs and social media through the textual and visual narration of their personal lives and lifestyles, engage with their following in digital and physical spaces, and monetize their following by integrating 'advertorials' into their blog or social media posts" [17]. Although nurses do not engage in commercial marketing, health communication can also be viewed under the umbrella of social marketing [18]. Nurses require knowledge and communication skills to reach the growing number of individuals and families who access health and health-related information through online and social media channels. However, the use of social media by health care professionals is a contentious issue; the presence of online misinformation challenges the integrity of online health information, and although many providers are embracing social media use, others perceive its use as unprofessional [19].

Social media in the nursing workplace can be beneficial if it is used appropriately. Social media has shown to enhance professional networking and provide an outlet to share feelings and seek support from other nurses and health care professionals. It also serves as a way to inform and educate consumers and colleagues, and can even enhance timely communication with patients and members of the health care team [20]. During a time of high stress and decreased social interaction, nurses have turned to social media platforms like TikTok as an outlet for expression, entertainment, and communication. Anecdotally, nurses have used #TiredHealthcareWorker on TikTok to document and expose untenable COVID-19-related working conditions, the unrelenting stress, and the impact on their mental health [21]. There is a clear lack of research published in this area. In response to this gap in the research literature, the purpose of this cross-sectional study was to describe the content of videos on the hashtag #covidnurse on TikTok.

Methods

This cross-sectional content analysis study included 100 videos in the English language from the hashtag #covidnurse on TikTok. At the time of the study, the hashtag had 116.9 million views. The videos were excluded if they were not in the English language and were not relevant to the subject being explored, nursing and COVID-19. The coding categories were finalized on July 19, 2021, whereas the coding was completed on August 14, 2021. The videos were included if they were in the English language and were relevant to the subject being explored, both nursing and COVID-19. The first 100 videos using the search term #covidnurse to have these criteria were included. For each video, the date of posting, number of views, comments, and likes were indicated. All videos were also analyzed for mention or suggestion of the content categories, which were created inductively and collaboratively. Data was collected by observing TikTok videos for mention or suggestion of various predetermined categories. Additionally, information about the creators was noted based on the video, bio, or caption. All the data from the video were collected, categorized, and organized

XSL•FO RenderX
using Excel (Microsoft Corporation). A single reviewer (BY) watched all 100 videos and indicated whether or not the content categories were present in each video. A second reviewer (CHB) watched 10 (10% of the sample) randomly selected videos for the same content to determine interrater reliability. Of the 220 data points, the two reviewers only differed on 3 points, resulting in a score of k=0.97.

Organization, data entry, and analysis were all completed in Excel. Descriptive statistics and independent 1-tailed *t* tests (α =.05) were completed to determine if the predetermined content characteristics had an impact on video interaction based on views (number of times the video was watched), likes (number of times the like button was hit indicating a level of approval), or comments (number of individual remarks) a video garnered. This study was exempt from review, as the William

Paterson University Institutional Review Board does not review methods that do not involve human participants.

Results

Combined, the 100 videos sampled received 47,056,700 views; 76,856 comments; and 5,996,676 likes. The respective averages were as follows: 470,567 (SD 1,232,554.2); 769 (SD 1626.44); and 59,967 (SD 231,319.51). Of the 100 videos, 39 mentioned safety, 54 did not mention safety, and 7 mentioned nurse-to-patient ratios. Table 1 shows different content characteristics and indicates how many of the videos reviewed included this content. The number of views, comments, and likes for videos with this content is also given in the table. Note that two content categories were eliminated from the table since they were not observed in any of the videos sampled. They were "mentions suicide" and "has misinformation."

Table 1. Observed content, views, comments, and likes of 100 TikTok videos on nursing.

	Videos (n=100), n	Views (n=47,056,700), n (%)	Comments (n=76,856), n (%)	Likes (n=5,996,676), n (%)
Individual is a nurse	83	43,894,700 (93.28)	69,398 (90.30)	5,662,290 (94.42)
Individual in professional attire	72	41,016,100 (87.16)	50,933 (66.27)	5,316,127 (88.65)
Mentions/suggests stress	58	21,726,800 (46.17)	45,405 (59.08)	2,562,825 (42.74)
Uses music	55	27,115,100 (57.62)	43,429 (56.51)	2,938,897 (49.01)
Mentions/suggests frustration	53	16,326,300 (34.69)	44,630 (58.07)	2,288,307 (38.16)
Mentions/suggests importance of nursing	49	17,606,000 (37.41)	26,759 (34.82)	1,430,213 (23.85)
Mentions/suggests social support	44	11,830,701 (25.14)	31,251 (40.66)	1,598,048 (26.65)
Uses humor	40	25,442,101 (54.07)	23,770 (30.93)	3,829,229 (63.86)
Mentions/suggests exhaustion	40	14,486,500 (30.79)	34,305 (44.64)	1,481,081 (24.70)
Mentions/suggests mental health	34	7,785,400 (16.54)	27,474 (35.75)	1,066,005 (17.78)
Using post as encouragement	32	10,716,500 (22.77)	15,457 (20.11)	963,531 (16.07)
Mentions/suggests being strong (mentally, physically, or emotionally)	26	11,613,400 (24.68)	24,872 (32.36)	1,449,092 (24.16)
Mentions/suggests being scared	25	7,507,000 (15.95)	26,791 (34.86)	1,164,559 (19.42)
Mentions/suggests hours worked	19	4,687,400 (9.96)	9590 (12.48)	408,386 (6.81)
Mentions/suggests burnout	19	1,089,400 (2.32)	6653 (8.66)	90,661 (1.51)
Mentions/suggests death (in relation to professional role regarding patient death or within the context of COVID-19–related deaths)	17	7,899,200 (16.79)	24,574 (31.97)	1,564,957 (26.10)
Uses dance	15	5,138,900 (10.92)	4685 (6.10)	361,124 (6.02)
Mentions/suggests COVID-19 vaccine	3	857,600 (1.82)	4082 (5.31)	81,800 (1.36)

There were 4 content categories that appeared in a majority (>50) of the videos: 83 showed the individual as a nurse, 72 showed the individual in professional attire, 58 mentioned/suggested stress, 55 used music, and 53 mentioned/suggested frustration. Despite the fact that videos with these content characteristics made up the majority, some did not garner a majority of the roughly 47 million total views. Those that mentioned stress and those that mentioned frustration received less than 50% of the total views (n=21,726,800, 46.17% and n=16,326,300, 34.69%, respectively). These observations,

though, were not statistically significant. Independent 1-tailed *t* tests (α =.05) were run to see if videos with this content garnered significantly more views, comments, and likes than videos without this content. All tests resulted in *P* values larger than .05. Hence, it does not appear that mentioning stress or mentioning frustration resulted in significantly more views, comments, or likes. Although not a majority, 49 of the 100 videos mentioned the importance of nursing. These videos garnered 37.41% (n=17,606,000) of the total views, 34.82% (n=26,759) of the total comments, and 23.85% (n=1,430,213)

RenderX

of the total likes. So, despite nearly half of the total videos mentioning how important nurses are, these videos received less than half of the total views, comments, and likes. These observations, however, were also not statistically significant as determined by independent 1-tailed *t* tests (α =.05). The respective *P* values were .19, .18, and .095.

Discussion

Although the year 2020 will be best remembered for the COVID-19 pandemic, 2020 was also distinguished globally as the year of the nurse and midwife. Over the course of the pandemic, the tireless work of nurses has been highly regarded in the mass media and through public displays of appreciation worldwide. Nurses have been indispensable to mitigating and containing the spread of COVID-19. However, their strong sense of duty to patients, their families, and their nursing colleagues was not without personal consequences to their physical and emotional well-being [10,22]. This research assessed the TikTok video messages conveyed within the hashtag #covidnurse.

TikTok videos in this study focused primarily on nurses' health and well-being, acknowledging the challenges faced by nurses, and provided a number of supportive and encouraging messages. Interestingly, messages related to COVID-19 and related to health promotion actions were only briefly mentioned. This finding seems inconsistent with others who have reported the importance of websites and social media as a health information resource during the pandemic [23]. Even more compelling is the notion that visual or illustrated health messages posted on platforms such as TikTok can reach and impact audiences with diverse health and digital health literacy skills; visual messaging can help to engage hard to reach people, contributing to information equity [24]. In our study, there were limited mentions of COVID-19 vaccines and no mention of misinformation. Yet, the World Health Organization has positioned misinformation (particularly online information) as a parallel pandemic and a substantial barrier to an efficient resolution to the COVID-19 outbreak. It may be the #covidnurse term emphasized nurses' experiences in providing direct care to patients with COVID-19 in acute care settings rather than nurses' role as health educator and communicator.

This study is limited by the inclusion of only one hashtag, studying content in English only, and the cross-sectional approach in which data was collected. Collecting data from videos only in English is limiting because neither the COVID-19 pandemic nor nursing care are geographically limited. Another limitation of the study is the fact that the data represents a snapshot in time and the results cannot be generalized. As the pandemic and social media evolve, the content from this hashtag also has the potential to change. However, this is the best possible assessment of the content studied as of the study closing date. Further, the presence of bots on this study sample, although highly unexpected, could not be verified. Despite these limitations, this study serves as an example of the type of content in this understudied area of research.

Social media and increasingly video-related online messaging such as TikTok are important platforms for social networking,

```
https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e35274
```

social support, entertainment, and education on diverse health and related topics including COVID-19 [25-27]. In a study assessing nursing students' COVID-19-related tweets, researchers reported that tweets "...praised the hard work of the medical staff, and urged the public to take responsible actions [compliance with public health recommendations]" [28]. In their systematic review of acute care nurses' pandemic work experiences, researchers found a high level of collegial support among nurses during the pandemic and expressed concern among practicing nursing about caring for and about the health and well-being of their coworkers [22]. This is consistent with the findings from this study where we report a high proportion of videos that highlight stress, frustration, exhaustion, and mental health issues relevant to nursing within the context of COVID-19. The TikTok hashtag #covidnurse may serve as a platform for nurses and others to process their experiences, give and receive empathy, and lighten their emotional load through sharing with others, bearing witness in the virtual sense [29].

In addition, several messages contained within #covidnurse also reflect compassionate messages of humor, peer support, and remaining strong [22]. Godfrey and Scott [30] found that nurses engaged in a peer support program during the COVID-19 pandemic benefitted from reduced stress, increased resilience, and a sense of community. The TikTok #covidnurse online site may provide nurses an *always available* informal peer support environment where viewers will see they are not alone, are appreciated for their work, experience empathy, and have their thoughts and feelings validated by their peers [30].

Despite the supportive video messages reported within this study, there is a growing concern regarding malicious and hurtful feedback from TikTok viewers. These vitriol responses are a growing concern across online social media platforms [31]. Comments in this study were not analyzed according to the civility of the comments; however, nursing students' tweets about the COVID-19 pandemic "used inappropriate language such as profanity and name-calling on this public platform." Similar findings were noted in a 2019 study of uncivil tweets among nursing students and nurses [28]. This presents an opportunity for future research: to assess the civility of TikTok commentary and therefore the utility of the TikTok platform for meaningful engagement and health communication on important public health issues. TikTok and other social media platforms are increasingly important health promotion and health communication venues with considerable audience impact. TikTok is an especially relevant platform for health promotion and health education targeted to children and young adults, presenting health information in a way that is engaging and relevant to a substantial online audience. The peer-to-peer nature of TikTok also serves as an accessible source of health information, social support, and health promotion coaching among the users [32]. Nurses, perceived as trusted health care providers, may find TikTok to be an especially important vehicle for health promotion activities for children and young adults. Further this research indicates the ability of TikTok to serve as a catalyst for social support. In conclusion, this research has important implications for nursing practice and the use of ethical and effective social media platforms for health promotion.

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. State of the World's Nursing Report 2020. World Health Organization. URL: <u>https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/</u> 9789240003279 [accessed 2021-10-02]
- 2. International Council of Nurses COVID-19 update. International Council of Nurses. 2021 Jan 13. URL: <u>https://www.icn.ch/sites/default/files/inline-files/ICN%20COVID19%20update%20report%20FINAL.pdf</u> [accessed 2021-11-27]
- 3. Stelnicki AM, Carleton RN, Reichert C. Nurses' mental health and well-being: COVID-19 impacts. Can J Nurs Res 2020 Sep;52(3):237-239. [doi: 10.1177/0844562120931623] [Medline: 32515209]
- 4. Sampaio F, Sequeira C, Teixeira L. Impact of COVID-19 outbreak on nurses' mental health: a prospective cohort study. Environ Res 2021 Mar;194:110620 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.envres.2020.110620] [Medline: 33316228]
- Badahdah A, Khamis F, Al Mahyijari N, Al Balushi M, Al Hatmi H, Al Salmi I, et al. The mental health of health care workers in Oman during the COVID-19 pandemic. Int J Soc Psychiatry 2021 Feb;67(1):90-95 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0020764020939596] [Medline: 32635837]
- 6. Mental health. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2021 Sep 13. URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/fastats/</u> mental-health.htm [accessed 2021-10-07]
- Shahrour G, Dardas LA. Acute stress disorder, coping self-efficacy and subsequent psychological distress among nurses amid COVID-19. J Nurs Manag 2020 Oct;28(7):1686-1695 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/jonm.13124] [Medline: 32767827]
- Aslan H, Pekince H. Nursing students' views on the COVID-19 pandemic and their percieved stress levels. Perspect Psychiatr Care 2021 Apr;57(2):695-701 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/ppc.12597] [Medline: 32808314]
- 9. Dai Y, Hu G, Xiong H, Qiu H, Yuan X. Psychological impact of the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) outbreak on healthcare workers in China. medRxiv. Preprint posted online on March 6, 2020. [doi: 10.1101/2020.03.03.20030874]
- 10. Turale S, Meechamnan C, Kunaviktikul W. Challenging times: ethics, nursing and the COVID-19 pandemic. Int Nurs Rev 2020 Jun;67(2):164-167 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/inr.12598] [Medline: 32578249]
- 11. Oudyk J, Smith P. Preliminary results for the pandemic healthcare workers' survey. OHCOW. 2020. URL: <u>https://tinyurl.</u> <u>com/yupe87pv</u> [accessed 2021-10-02]
- 12. Greenberg N, Docherty M, Gnanapragasam S, Wessely S. Managing mental health challenges faced by healthcare workers during covid-19 pandemic. BMJ 2020 Mar 26;368:m1211. [doi: <u>10.1136/bmj.m1211</u>] [Medline: <u>32217624</u>]
- 13. Zhang Y, Wang C, Pan W, Zheng J, Gao J, Huang X, et al. Stress, burnout, and coping strategies of frontline nurses during the COVID-19 epidemic in Wuhan and Shanghai, China. Front Psychiatry 2020;11:565520. [doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.565520] [Medline: 33192686]
- 14. Social media fact sheet. Pew Research Center. 2021. URL: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/fact-sheet/social-media/</u> ?menuItem=3814afe3-3f3c-4623-910b-8a6a37885ab8 [accessed 2021-10-02]
- 15. Our products. ByteDance. 2021. URL: https://www.bytedance.com/en/products [accessed 2021-11-27]
- 16. TikTok for business. TikTok. 2021. URL: <u>https://www.tiktok.com/business/en</u> [accessed 2021-11-27]
- 17. Abidin C. Communicative ♥ intimacies: influencers and perceived interconnectedness. Ada J Gender N Media Technol 2015(8):A. [doi: 10.7264/N3MW2FFG]
- Daniel KL, Bernhardt JM, Eroğlu D. Social marketing and health communication: from people to places. Am J Public Health 2009 Dec;99(12):2120-2122. [doi: <u>10.2105/AJPH.2009.182113</u>] [Medline: <u>19846685</u>]
- 19. Andrew S. Nurses and doctors are flocking to TikTok to crack jokes and lip sync. But are they eroding patients' trust? CNN. 2020 Jan 18. URL: <u>https://www.cnn.com/2020/01/18/us/tiktok-doctors-nurses-trnd/index.html</u> [accessed 2021-11-27]
- 20. A nurses guide to the use of social media. National Council of State Boards of Nursing. 2018. URL: <u>https://www.ncsbn.org/</u> NCSBN_SocialMedia.pdf [accessed 2021-10-04]
- 21. Hui K. Tired healthcare workers are turning to TikTok. Verywell Health. 2021 Sep 30. URL: <u>https://www.verywellhealth.com/</u> healthcare-workers-tiktok-videos-covid-5203936 [accessed 2021-11-27]
- 22. Fernandez R, Lord H, Halcomb E, Moxham L, Middleton R, Alananzeh I, et al. Implications for COVID-19: a systematic review of nurses' experiences of working in acute care hospital settings during a respiratory pandemic. Int J Nurs Stud 2020 Nov;111:103637 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2020.103637] [Medline: 32919358]
- Parsons Leigh J, Fiest K, Brundin-Mather R, Plotnikoff K, Soo A, Sypes EE, et al. A national cross-sectional survey of public perceptions of the COVID-19 pandemic: self-reported beliefs, knowledge, and behaviors. PLoS One 2020;15(10):e0241259 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0241259] [Medline: 33095836]
- 24. Sleigh J, Amann J, Schneider M, Vayena E. Qualitative analysis of visual risk communication on twitter during the Covid-19 pandemic. BMC Public Health 2021 Apr 28;21(1):810 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-021-10851-4] [Medline: 33906626]

RenderX

- Basch CH, Meleo-Erwin Z, Fera J, Jaime C, Basch CE. A global pandemic in the time of viral memes: COVID-19 vaccine misinformation and disinformation on TikTok. Hum Vaccin Immunother 2021 Aug 03;17(8):2373-2377. [doi: 10.1080/21645515.2021.1894896] [Medline: 33764283]
- 26. Basch CH, Fera J, Pierce I, Basch CE. Promoting mask use on TikTok: descriptive, cross-sectional study. JMIR Public Health Surveill 2021 Feb 12;7(2):e26392 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/26392] [Medline: 33523823]
- 27. Basch CH, Hillyer GC, Jaime C. COVID-19 on TikTok: harnessing an emerging social media platform to convey important public health messages. Int J Adolesc Med Health 2020 Aug 10:1. [doi: <u>10.1515/ijamh-2020-0111</u>] [Medline: <u>32776899</u>]
- 28. De Gagne JC, Cho E, Park HK, Nam JD, Jung D. A qualitative analysis of nursing students' tweets during the COVID-19 pandemic. Nurs Health Sci 2021 Mar;23(1):273-278. [doi: 10.1111/nhs.12809] [Medline: <u>33404157</u>]
- 29. Arman M. Bearing witness: an existential position in caring. Contemp Nurse 2007 Dec;27(1):84-93. [doi: 10.5555/conu.2007.27.1.84] [Medline: 18386958]
- 30. Godfrey KM, Scott SD. At the heart of the pandemic: nursing peer support. Nurse Leader 2021 Apr;19(2):188-193. [doi: 10.1016/j.mnl.2020.09.006]
- 31. Lee S, Kim H. Why people post benevolent and malicious comments online. Commun ACM 2015 Oct 23;58(11):74-79. [doi: 10.1145/2739042]
- Odlum M, Yoon S. Health information needs and health seeking behavior during the 2014-2016 Ebola outbreak: a Twitter content analysis. PLoS Curr 2018 Mar 23;10:1. [doi: <u>10.1371/currents.outbreaks.fa814fb2bec36e29b718ab6af66124fa</u>] [Medline: <u>29707416</u>]

Abbreviations

PPE: personal protective equipment

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 29.11.21; peer-reviewed by R Fang, K Reuter; comments to author 20.12.21; revised version received 20.12.21; accepted 22.12.21; published 14.01.22.

Please cite as:

Yalamanchili B, Donelle L, Jurado LF, Fera J, Basch CH Investigating #covidnurse Messages on TikTok: Descriptive Study JMIR Nursing 2022;5(1):e35274 URL: https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e35274 doi:10.2196/35274 PMID:35029536

©Bhavya Yalamanchili, Lorie Donelle, Leo-Felix Jurado, Joseph Fera, Corey H Basch. Originally published in JMIR Nursing (https://nursing.jmir.org), 14.01.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Nursing, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://nursing.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Developing and Testing a Protocol for Managing Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation of Patients with Suspected or Confirmed COVID-19: In Situ Simulation Study

Azizeh Sowan¹, RN, MSN, MBA, MSDA, PhD; Jenny Heins², RN, MSN, CMSRN, CHSE; Christopher Dayton³, MD, MPH; Elizabeth Scherer⁴, MD, MPH; Wing Sun Tam⁵, MBChB, MPH; Haritha Saikumar⁶, MD

¹School of Nursing, The University of Texas Health at San Antonio, San Antonio, TX, United States

²Center for Clinical Excellence, University Health, San Antonio, TX, United States

³Division of Pulmonary and Critical Care Medicine, Department of Emergency Medicine, The University of Texas Health at San Antonio, San Antonio, TX, United States

⁴Division of Trauma and Emergency Surgery, Department of Surgery, The University of Texas Health at San Antonio, San Antonio, TX, United States ⁵Emergency Department, Audie L Murphy Veterans Affairs Medical Center, South Texas Veterans Health Care System, San Antonio, TX, United States

⁶Pulmonary and Critical Care, The University of Texas at Austin Dell Medical School, Austin, TX, United States

Corresponding Author:

Azizeh Sowan, RN, MSN, MBA, MSDA, PhD School of Nursing The University of Texas Health at San Antonio 7703 Floyd Curl Dr MC 7975 San Antonio, TX, 78229-3900 United States Phone: 1 210 567 5799 Fax: 1 210 567 1719 Email: sowan@uthscsa.edu

Abstract

Background: Resuscitating patients with suspected or confirmed COVID-19 imposes unique challenges to organizations and code blue teams. Studies that applied the American Heart Association (AHA) COVID-19–related Interim Resuscitation Guideline and similar European guidelines are scarce.

Objective: This study aimed to develop and test a cardiopulmonary resuscitation protocol based on the AHA COVID-19–related Interim Resuscitation Guideline.

Methods: The study was conducted as an in situ simulation in a medical intensive care unit. The COVID-19 cardiopulmonary resuscitation protocol was created and validated by 11 health care team members and tested using 4 simulation sessions where 46 code blue team members participated. During the simulation, we observed role clarity, the effectiveness of communication, team dynamics, infection control measures, and the availability of essential supplies and equipment.

Results: The main issues identified in each simulation session were debriefed to the code blue teams and used to further revise the protocol. These include the assignment of tasks, availability of equipment and supplies, and failure of communication between the in-room and out-of-room teams. Solutions included changes in the placement of team members and roles and responsibilities; the creation of an isolation code medication package, a respiratory therapy kit, and an isolation code blue bag; and the use of two-way radios and N-95 masks with eye goggles to enhance communication between the teams.

Conclusions: This study shed light on the challenges to implement the AHA COVID-19–related Interim Resuscitation Guideline. The in situ simulation was an effective approach for rapid training, identifying unreliable equipment and ineffective and inefficient workflow, and managing the complexity of the physical environment.

(JMIR Nursing 2022;5(1):e38044) doi:10.2196/38044



KEYWORDS

in situ simulation; critical care; COVID; cardiopulmonary; resuscitation; COVID-19; treatment; health care; nursing; health care equipment; health care resources; health care training; health care staff

Introduction

The provision of cardiopulmonary resuscitation (CPR) to patients with suspected or confirmed COVID-19 presents infection control challenges inherent to the urgency of the procedure, interventions that cause aerosolization, and the need for multiple health care team members in close proximity. The additional complexity and resource management that accompany enhanced-isolation CPR (EI-CPR) also presents challenges related to communication barriers and the need to limit personnel and equipment exposure integral to safety-focused strict isolation protocols. To provide effective and safe EI-CPR, it is crucial that the risk of COVID-19 transmission to the health care team and patients be minimized and that communication, workflow, and resources be effectively managed.

In light of these challenges, the American Heart Association (AHA), in collaboration with other professional societies, has recommended modifications to the standard CPR algorithms [1] and issued a COVID-19–related Interim Resuscitation Guideline (thereafter referred to as the AHA COVID-19 Resuscitation Guideline) [2]. Studies that applied the AHA COVID-19 Resuscitation Guideline and similar European guidelines are scarce [3-7]. In response to these gaps, our simulation-based study aimed to develop and test a protocol based on the AHA COVID-19 Resuscitation Guideline for adult patients in hospital settings.

Careful integration of the AHA COVID-19 Resuscitation Guideline into the code blue workflow and testing different case scenarios based on institutional policies and available resources are crucial to the efficacy, efficiency, and safety of CPR. For example, Foong et al [5], Cheruku et al [6], and Sliver et al [7] proposed 3 different workflow models depicting the placement of code blue teams and equipment and used different communication tools between the in-room (inside the patient room) and out-of-room teams to maximize infection control measures. According to Foong et al [5], some of the unanticipated problems experienced in the new workflow were related to infection control, the conduct of resuscitation, resources, and poor communication between the teams. Continuous practice modifications and performance debriefing were necessary to optimize workflow, increase team competence, and improve the effectiveness of CPR [5].

Recent studies supported the effect of "in situ" simulation as a new simulation modality, in comparison to "off-site" simulation, on increasing confidence, competence, and teamwork and identifying system-based challenges to CPR [8,9]. Unlike off-site simulation that occurs in controlled lab environments, in situ simulation is encountered in a real-life setting where the clinical procedure occurs. The use of iterative in situ simulation to test protocols and train the multidisciplinary team members in preparation for EI-CPR for patients with suspected or confirmed COVID-19 has not been well-reported in the literature. In this in situ simulation–based study, we integrated the new AHA COVID-19 Resuscitation Guideline in our EI-CPR procedure by developing a protocol disseminated via a pocket card for the code blue team to manage the steps, roles, communication methods, and process of resuscitation.

Methods

Design, Setting, and Sample

This prospective observational study was conducted as an in situ simulation in a medical intensive care unit (ICU) in a 670-bed, Level I trauma magnet facility located in Southwestern United States after Institutional Review Board approval. The COVID-19 CPR protocol was created and validated by 11 health care team members. The protocol was then revised and tested using 4 simulation sessions as described below. A total of 46 health care team members participated in the 4 simulation sessions. Each mock code included 11 to 12 participants. The main eligibility criterion to participate in the in situ simulation sessions was being a member of the code blue team. Membership in code blue teams and the roles and responsibilities of the health care team members were assigned by the Directors and Patient Care Coordinators of all units in the hospital at the beginning of each shift. Non-code blue team members were not eligible to participate in the study.

Using a convenience sampling approach, our plan was to have as many code blue teams as required to streamline and refine the resuscitation process based on the new protocol (ie, until no major issues in communication, team dynamics, or equipment were found). Streamlining the process required 4 code blue teams as described below.

Creating and Testing the New Protocol

The code blue procedure for patients with suspected or confirmed COVID-19 was discussed in the Hospital Resuscitation Services Committee meeting where the AHA COVID-19 Resuscitation Guideline was reviewed. A protocol for COVID-19 CPR was created based on the new AHA guideline by WST and HS, 2 physicians and authors of this manuscript. Key information in the protocol was also made available in a double-sided pocket card. A meeting was conducted with a convenient sample of 6 nurses, 3 physicians, 1 respiratory therapist (RT), and 1 pharmacist (N=11) from the 30-bed, COVID-19–designated medical ICU who volunteered to provide feedback on the new protocol. The feedback targeted the clarity and validity of the information on the protocol and pocket card, ease of use based on the card and font sizes, and delineation of roles inside and outside of the room.

The feedback from the multidisciplinary team was incorporated, and the guideline and pocket card were revised. Multimedia Appendix 1 highlights the changes incorporated into our COVID-19 CPR process based on the AHA COVID-19 Resuscitation Guideline in comparison to our standard CPR algorithm prior to COVID-19 [1]. The new protocol focused on team organization as in-room and out-of-room teams, roles

and responsibilities, equipment placement, communication and coordination, the process of conducting CPR, and emphasized personal protective equipment (PPE) donning. It is worth noting that the AHA COVID-19 Resuscitation Guideline "recommended" the use of mechanical chest compression. Although these devices are used now in ICUs, their use was limited to the emergency department at the time of the study and due to a lack of resources.

The new COVID-19 CPR protocol was disseminated to all units in the hospital in the form of a pocket card by the nurse educators of the units and published in the COVID-19 resources file on the intranet. The chairman of the Resuscitation Services Committee also shared it electronically with hospital physicians.

In Situ Simulation

We conducted 4 in situ simulation sessions to train 4 code blue teams on our COVID-19 CPR protocol and test and streamline the process outlined in the protocol. The 4 in situ simulation sessions were conducted in the medical ICU using a high-fidelity mannequin simulator (Laerdal Medical). The standard code blue scenario used for this purpose was as follow: "Patient was admitted with COVID-19. Upon entering the patient's room, the nurse finds the patient unresponsive to verbal cues. Patient state 1: ventricular fibrillation. Patient state 2: asystole. Patient state 3: post intubation and return of spontaneous circulation." A total of 46 health care team members—20 nurses, 15 physicians, 5 RTs, 2 anesthesiologists, 1 technician, and 3 pharmacists—participated in the 4 mock codes.

The code blue teams were aware of the study but unaware of the timing of the mock code until they heard the overhead announcement to elicit a real-life response. The Directors and Patient Care Coordinators of all units in the hospital assigned roles and responsibilities to code blue teams at the beginning of each shift and provided nurses with a copy of the guide and pocket card in advance of the simulations. Code blue procedures were announced per the current protocol (ie, no designation for a positive or suspected COVID-19 patient was provided). Upon arrival, participants were prebriefed on (1) the COVID-19 CPR protocol using the pocket card, (2) the use of a high-fidelity mannequin simulator, and (3) the focus of the simulation. Participants were encouraged to ask questions. The nurse educator (JH) and 2 intensivists (CD and ES) served as content experts for all simulation sessions. Debriefing was conducted after each session by the nurse educator who facilitated the simulation. The debriefing also solicited the participants' feedback about the new protocol and the value of the pocket card on streamlining the resuscitation process.

Our focus during the simulation was on the changes incorporated into the resuscitation process. We observed role clarity; the effectiveness of communication between the in-room and out-of-room teams; team dynamics; appropriate PPE donning and doffing; and the availability of essential medications, supplies, and equipment to ensure that high-quality CPR was provided. We additionally observed each member's competence in completing their designated tasks.

Ethical Considerations

The study was approved by the Institutional Review Board of University of Texas Health (HSC20200657N).

Results

The main issues identified in each simulation session (Multimedia Appendix 2) were debriefed to the code blue teams and used to further revise the protocol and streamline the workflow.

First Simulation

Limiting the number of team members inside the room was one of the changes to the workflow after COVID-19 (Multimedia Appendix 1). A major issue faced in the first simulation session was the experience of fatigue by the technician from the continuous compressions. To solve this problem in subsequent simulations, we decided to place the technician with the out-of-room team, assign the compression task to the first response nurse, and add a third nurse to the in-room team to provide high-quality compressions. This change would result in 3 nurses in the room and 2 technicians outside the room. All 3 nurses in the room could administer medications and rotate providing high-quality compressions. The technicians would serve as runners and gatekeepers to obtain equipment and ensure the proper doffing of PPE and cleaning of equipment.

Another change we implemented to the workflow was placing all first-line code medications in the Pyxis crash cart. Bringing medications from the Pyxis crash cart into the isolation room caused major workflow disruption and delayed medication administration (Multimedia Appendix 2). A viable solution was the creation of an isolation code medication package by the pharmacy. In the debriefing and subsequent mock codes, the teams were instructed to take the isolation code medication package found in a tray in the code cart into the isolation room upon initial entry, as opposed to the full tray of code medications from the crash cart or the code cart itself.

Second Simulation

The addition of a third nurse to the in-room team allowed for high-quality compressions to be maintained and additional tasks such as medication administration and rhythm analysis to be completed by all members of the in-room team. Failure of communication between the in-room and out-of-room teams was the main issue faced in the second simulation. After COVID-19, we decided to use Cisco phones (Cisco 8821) as a communication tool between the in-room and out-of-room teams. Cisco phones are used by nurses in our hospital for daily communication with the multidisciplinary team and family members and to answer the call light. As described in Multimedia Appendix 2, Cisco phones were not the best method of communication during the mock code.

During the same day and using the same code blue team members, we decided to repeat the second simulation (Multimedia Appendix 2, Simulation 2 Part B) using the call light system (Rauland Responder 5), which also revealed communication issues (Multimedia Appendix 2). As a solution,

the code blue team suggested the use of two-way radios, which were tested in the third simulation.

Third Simulation

The two-way radios (Motorola VL50) were a better method of communication than Cisco phones and the call light system. One of the radios was assigned to one of the in-room nurses. However, due to the multiple responsibilities of the nurses on the team, the radio was sometimes left unattended. As a result, we decided to assign the main communication role in subsequent simulations to the physician team leader to narrate the code events to the recorder who was a member of the out-of-room team.

Another issue revealed in this session was a communication barrier related to wearing a respirator mask by the physician leader, which made it difficult to hear team members in close proximity and hampered communication via the two-way radios with the recorder from outside the room. The use of N-95 masks with eye goggles, as opposed to respirator masks, was suggested to enhance communication between the physician team leader and the out-of-room team in subsequent simulation sessions.

The third problem faced in this simulation was related to the commonly used supplies not being readily available in the room since the crash cart was no longer used inside the room. A respiratory therapy kit was developed and placed on each crash cart for the first responder to bring into the room along with the isolation code medication package as a solution to the problem (Multimedia Appendix 2). The list of supplies is available in Figure 1 (Multimedia Appendix 3).

Figure 1. Final Pocket Card. ETT: endotracheal tube; CPR: cardiopulmonary resuscitation; ICU: intensive care unit; LMA: laryngeal mask airway; RT: respiratory therapy.



Fourth Simulation

Assigning the main communication role to the physician team leader provided effective communication between the in-room and out-of-room teams. The recorder nurse from the out-of-room team served as the communicator of the needs for the in-room team, recorded events, and directed information from outside the room (eg, "Anesthesia is here"). As a result, two-way radios were issued to each unit and placed on each crash cart in the hospital. The use of N-95 masks with eye goggles, as opposed to respirator mask, by the physician team leader allowed clear communication between the in-room and out-of-room teams. No further major issues with equipment, supplies, communication, or workflow were faced in the fourth simulation session.

Final Protocol After Simulation

The issues faced in the 4 in situ simulation sessions helped us further revise our COVID-19 CPR protocol. The changes described in Multimedia Appendix 2 (last row) were incorporated into the protocol and pocket card in its final format (Figure 1, Multimedia Appendix 3). The final placement of team members as in-room and out-of-room teams is presented in Figure 2.



Figure 2. Placement of code blue team members based on the new resuscitation guide. PPE: personal protective equipment; RN: registered nurse.

Team Roles



Main Debriefing Points and Lessons Learned

The debriefing sessions focused on the difference between COVID-19 code blue response (ie, infection control, role clarity, team organization, communication, and equipment) in comparison to the traditional response. Our debriefing also included a skill-related discussion when we observed a need for improvement. The main debriefing points communicated to the team and lessons learned are presented in Multimedia Appendix 4. Staff perception about the new pocket cards and protocol was also solicited during the debriefing. Staff believed that the pocket card was an easy-to-use tool to remind members of their roles and placement, the necessary equipment, and the conduct of CPR.

Discussion

Principal Findings

COVID-19 created an urgent need for new resuscitation policies to manage the risk of disease transmission and optimize timely intervention for the patient. The pandemic has also increased awareness of the potential for future contagion that may require modification of resuscitation policies based on the associated risks of the particular pathogen. Our in situ simulation revealed

```
https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e38044
```

RenderX

challenges unique to COVID-19 while implementing the AHA COVID-19 Resuscitation Guideline. The main challenges were related to communication, roles and responsibilities, and skills.

COVID-19 introduced unique barriers to communication during EI-CPR-related to code blue team separation into in-room and out-of-room teams; the need to maintain a closed door between the teams to contain aerosol-generating procedures that hindered the visibility of the procedure and communication clues; and the need for donning PPE and protective measures. Two-way radios were an effective communication tool between the in-room and out-of-room teams. However, communication via two-way radios is not as intuitive as face-to-face communication. Although easy to use, two-way radios allow half-duplex communication where only one person can talk at a time and hinder the natural flow of communication. Additionally, the radios are handheld and require a push on the talk button for use, which limits the clinicians' physical movement in emergency procedures such as CPR. Furthermore, the radios need a closed loop of communication (such as "roger that"). Practicing communication using the radios and ensuring appropriate functioning and charge of the devices are important to minimize communication problems.

The few available studies on COVID-19–related CPR guidelines used other communication methods between the in-room and out-of-room teams. For example, Foong et al [5] used a whiteboard. Although cost-effective, a whiteboard is limited to visual communication and requires team members to keep looking at the board to read the written messages while performing time-sensitive procedures. Cheruku et al [6] used hospital-based mobile phones and networked videoconferencing, whereas Silver et al [7] used baby monitors. The 3 studies indicated the success of these communication strategies. Baby monitors are a cost-effective solution and have been used in Canadian hospitals to facilitate communication during CPR [10].

The negative effects of N-95 masks and face shields on speech perception among health care workers in the COID-19 pandemic were recently examined by Bandaru et al [11]. The authors found a significant increase in speech reception threshold and a significant decrease in speech discrimination scores, suggesting the use of alternate methods of communication. Despite the challenges faced by health care practices worldwide, COVID-19 may open opportunities for communication companies to develop intuitive, hand-free, full-duplex communication systems.

The organization of team members into in-room and out-of-room teams depends on the number of team members, available resources, and system policies. In our setting, it was ideal to have 2 physicians, 3 nurses, and an RT in the room. Our out-of-room team consisted of 2 nurses, 2 technicians, a pharmacist, a gatekeeper, and another physician if needed. Our teams' organization differed slightly from Cheruku et al [6], who included only 1 in-room physician and based their practice on remote medication delivery and adjustment of the ventilator and equipment [6]. Similar to our practice, 2 physicians in the room were used by Foong et al [5]. However, airway management was a responsibility of one of the physicians and an RT was not part of the resuscitation team in that study [5]. Despite the slight differences among studies in team organization, preassignment of roles to team members was emphasized to decrease role confusion and facilitate an effective response to a COVID-19 code blue emergency.

Similar to Cheruku et al [6], the lack of infection control was not an issue revealed in our study due to the fact that our staff was extensively trained on PPE donning and doffing. On the other hand, Foong et al [5] reported violations in infection control measures related to PPE donning and doffing, cross contamination between the in-room and out-of-room teams, and failure to comply with hand hygiene standards.

Limitations

Our study shed light on the challenges to implement the AHA COVID-19 Resuscitation Guideline. Our results are likely generalizable to other situations in which enhanced precautions are necessary. The 4 in situ simulation sessions identified and tested solutions to these challenges. Hospital systems need to implement new CPR algorithms to minimize the spread of COVID-19 [2]. The findings of this study should be interpreted in light of the following limitations. First, the study was conducted in a high-tech, Level I trauma magnet facility and well-equipped ICUs with sufficient resources. Additionally, our system provides robust PPE donning and doffing training programs. Therefore, the process of CPR and distribution and responsibilities of the in-room and out-of-room teams may not be generalizable to settings with limited resources. Second, the main focus of this study was identifying challenges and testing solutions to the new COVID-19 CPR protocol disseminated via a pocket card that includes team response to COVID-19-related EI-CPR. Our study did not focus on team competence on CPR, resuscitation metrics (eg, time to successful intubation and the quality of compression), effective handoff from the first responder nurse to the code blue team, or time taken for code blue. The study also did not use tools such as Simulation Team Assessment, and the results were solely based on observation and the debriefing process. Expanding this study in the future to include these outcome measures and tools is warranted. Third, team response during simulation may not reflect the actual performance in real cardiac arrest situations. Team members may lack the motivation to perform well during simulations or may overperform due to the Hawthorne effect. This suggests the need to observe performance during actual cardiac arrest situations.

Conclusions

COVID-19 introduced unique challenges to implementing the AHA COVID-19 Resuscitation Guideline. The main challenges were related to communication, roles and responsibilities, and equipment placement. The new COVID-19 CPR protocol disseminated via a pocket card provided an easy-to-use tool for code blue teams to remember their placement, carry out their roles and responsibilities, interact effectively, and place equipment properly. Preassignment of roles to team members is crucial to decrease role confusion and facilitate effective response. The two-way radios were effective to facilitate communication during code blue events.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to acknowledge the contributions of the code blue team members from all participating units.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1

XSL•FC RenderX

Difference in code blue process between the standard cardiopulmonary resuscitation (CPR) algorithm and the AHA (American Heart Association) COVID-19–related Interim Resuscitation Guideline. [DOCX File , 17 KB - nursing v5i1e38044 app1.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 2

Process of revising COVID-19 cardiopulmonary resuscitation (CPR) protocol. [DOCX File , 17 KB - nursing_v5i1e38044_app2.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 3

Main debriefing points communicated to the team and lessons learned. [DOCX File , 61 KB - nursing v5i1e38044 app3.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 4 Final pocket card. [DOCX File , 17 KB - nursing v5i1e38044 app4.docx]

References

- Callaway CW, Soar J, Aibiki M, Böttiger BW, Brooks SC, Deakin CD, Advanced Life Support Chapter Collaborators. Part 4: advanced life support: 2015 international consensus on cardiopulmonary resuscitation and emergency cardiovascular care science with treatment recommendations. Circulation 2015 Oct 20;132(16 Suppl 1):S84-145. [doi: 10.1161/CIR.00000000000273] [Medline: 26472860]
- Edelson DP, Sasson C, Chan PS, Atkins DL, Aziz K, Becker LB, American Heart Association ECC Interim COVID Guidance Authors. Interim guidance for basic and advanced life support in adults, children, and neonates with suspected or confirmed COVID-19: from the emergency cardiovascular care committee and get with the guidelines-resuscitation adult and pediatric task forces of the American Heart Association. Circulation 2020 Jun 23;141(25):e933-e943 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.120.047463] [Medline: 32270695]
- Nolan JP, Monsieurs KG, Bossaert L, Böttiger BW, Greif R, Lott C, European Resuscitation Council COVID-Guideline Writing Groups. European Resuscitation Council COVID-19 guidelines executive summary. Resuscitation 2020 Aug;153:45-55 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.resuscitation.2020.06.001] [Medline: 32525022]
- 4. Craig S, Cubitt M, Jaison A, Troupakis S, Hood N, Fong C, et al. Management of adult cardiac arrest in the COVID-19 era: consensus statement from the Australasian College for Emergency Medicine. Med J Aust 2020 Aug;213(3):126-133 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5694/mja2.50699] [Medline: 32656798]
- Foong TW, Hui Ng ES, Wee Khoo CY, Ashokka B, Khoo D, Agrawal R. Rapid training of healthcare staff for protected cardiopulmonary resuscitation in the COVID-19 pandemic. Br J Anaesth 2020 Aug;125(2):e257-e259 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.bja.2020.04.081] [Medline: 32416987]
- Cheruku S, Dave S, Goff K, Park C, Ebeling C, Cohen L, et al. Cardiopulmonary resuscitation in intensive care unit patients with coronavirus disease 2019. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth 2020 Oct;34(10):2595-2603 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1053/j.jvca.2020.06.008] [Medline: 32620487]
- 7. Silver S, Amaral N, Heng D, Mundle W. Simulation-based learning during COVID-19: a teaching strategy for protected code blues. J Contin Educ Nurs 2020 Sep 01;51(9):399-401. [doi: <u>10.3928/00220124-20200812-04</u>] [Medline: <u>32833029</u>]
- 8. Sharara-Chami R, Lakissian Z, Farha R, Tamim H, Batley N. In-situ simulation for enhancing teamwork in the emergency department. Am J Emerg Med 2020 Apr;38(4):833-834. [doi: 10.1016/j.ajem.2019.158452] [Medline: 31812231]
- Yager P, Collins C, Blais C, O'Connor K, Donovan P, Martinez M, et al. Quality improvement utilizing in-situ simulation for a dual-hospital pediatric code response team. Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol 2016 Sep;88:42-46. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijporl.2016.06.026] [Medline: 27497385]
- 10. Ward M. St Joe's turns to baby monitors to communicate during COVID-19 pandemic. CBC News. URL: <u>https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/hamilton/baby-monitors-covid-19-1.5548823</u> [accessed 2022-02-01]
- Bandaru SV, Augustine AM, Lepcha A, Sebastian S, Gowri M, Philip A, et al. The effects of N95 mask and face shield on speech perception among healthcare workers in the coronavirus disease 2019 pandemic scenario. J Laryngol Otol 2020 Sep 28:1-4 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1017/S0022215120002108] [Medline: 32981539]

Abbreviations

RenderX

AHA: American Heart Association
CPR: cardiopulmonary resuscitation
EI-CPR: enhanced-isolation cardiopulmonary resuscitation
ICU: intensive care unit
PPE: personal protective equipment

https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e38044

Edited by E Borycki; submitted 16.03.22; peer-reviewed by A Alkhaqani, D Lerner; comments to author 03.05.22; revised version received 06.05.22; accepted 07.05.22; published 16.06.22. <u>Please cite as:</u> Sowan A, Heins J, Dayton C, Scherer E, Tam WS, Saikumar H Developing and Testing a Protocol for Managing Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation of Patients with Suspected or Confirmed COVID-19: In Situ Simulation Study JMIR Nursing 2022;5(1):e38044 URL: https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e38044 doi:10.2196/38044 PMID:35675629

©Azizeh Sowan, Jenny Heins, Christopher Dayton, Elizabeth Scherer, Wing Sun Tam, Haritha Saikumar. Originally published in JMIR Nursing (https://nursing.jmir.org), 16.06.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Nursing, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://nursing.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Nurses' Experiences After Implementation of an Organization-Wide Electronic Medical Record: Qualitative Descriptive Study

Rebecca M Jedwab^{1,2}, CCRN, BSc, MNP, MNursPrac; Elizabeth Manias³, RN, BPharm, MPharm, MNStud, PhD; Alison M Hutchinson^{1,4}, RN, BAppSc (AdvNurs), MBioeth, PhD; Naomi Dobroff^{2,5}, RN, BHSci (Nursing), MPH; Bernice Redley^{1,4}, RN, BN (Hons), CritCareCert, PhD

¹Centre for Quality and Patient Safety Research-Monash Health Partnership, Institute for Health Transformation, School of Nursing and Midwifery, Deakin University, Melbourne, Australia

²Nursing and Midwifery Informatics, Monash Health, Melbourne, Australia

³Institute for Health Transformation, School of Nursing and Midwifery, Deakin University, Melbourne, Australia

⁴Nursing and Midwifery, Monash Health, Melbourne, Australia

⁵School of Nursing and Midwifery, Deakin University, Melbourne, Australia

Corresponding Author:

Rebecca M Jedwab, CCRN, BSc, MNP, MNursPrac Centre for Quality and Patient Safety Research-Monash Health Partnership Institute for Health Transformation School of Nursing and Midwifery, Deakin University 221 Burwood Highway, Burwood Melbourne, 3125 Australia Phone: 61 3 92517777 Email: jedwabr@deakin.edu.au

Abstract

Background: Reports on the impact of electronic medical record (EMR) systems on clinicians are mixed. Currently, nurses' experiences of adopting a large-scale, multisite EMR system have not been investigated. Nurses are the largest health care workforce; therefore, the impact of EMR implementation must be investigated and understood to ensure that patient care quality, changes to nurses' work, and nurses themselves are not negatively impacted.

Objective: This study aims to explore Australian nurses' postimplementation experiences of an organization-wide EMR system.

Methods: This qualitative descriptive study used focus group and individual interviews and an open-ended survey question to collect data between 12 and 18 months after the implementation of an EMR across 6 hospital sites of a large health care organization in Victoria, Australia. Data were collected between November 2020 and June 2021, coinciding with the COVID-19 pandemic. Analysis comprised complementary inductive and deductive approaches. Specifically, reflexive thematic analysis was followed by framework analysis by the coding of data as barriers or facilitators to nurses' use of the EMR using the Theoretical Domains Framework.

Results: A total of 158 nurses participated in this study. The EMR implementation dramatically changed nurses' work and how they viewed their profession, and nurses were still adapting to the EMR implementation 18 months after implementation. Reflexive thematic analysis led to the development of 2 themes: *An unintentional divide* captured nurses' feelings of division related to how using the EMR affected nurses, patient care, and the broader nursing profession. *This time, it's personal* detailed nurses' beliefs about the EMR implementation leading to bigger changes to nurses as individuals and nursing as a profession than other changes that nurses have experienced within the health care organization. The most frequent barriers to EMR use by nurses were related to the Theoretical Domains Framework domain of environmental context and resources. Facilitators of EMR use were most often related to memory, attention, and decision processes. Most barriers and facilitators were related to motivation.

Conclusions: Nurses perceived EMR implementation to have a mixed impact on the provision of quality patient care and on their colleagues. Implementing technology in a health care setting was perceived as a complex endeavor that impacted nurses' perceptions of their autonomy, ways of working, and professional roles. Potential negative consequences were related to nursing workforce retention and patient care delivery. Motivation was the main behavioral driver for nurses' adoption of EMR systems and hence a key consideration for implementing interventions or organizational changes directed at nurses.

RenderX

(JMIR Nursing 2022;5(1):e39596) doi:10.2196/39596

KEYWORDS

computerized medical records systems; COVID-19; implementation science; motivation; nurses; qualitative research

Introduction

Background

The implementation of health care technology systems such as electronic medical record (EMR) systems causes major changes in nurses' workplaces, work, and workflows [1]. Understanding EMR-related impact on nurses is needed to support their work in providing round-the-clock, direct patient care [2]. The implementation of new health care technologies has been shown to increase nurses' stress [3-5]; hence, such implementation may exacerbate existing problems of nurse shortages and high workloads. There is an urgent need to understand ways to support nurse retention and productivity in rapidly changing workplaces [6]. In contrast to international settings, the implementation of EMR systems throughout Australian hospitals has been relatively recent and has been promoted as enabling safe patient care [7] rather than financial incentivization. Examination of the impact of EMR implementation on nurses is limited and has largely focused on aspects of EMR implementation such as integrating EMR knowledge and exposure into university nursing education [8] or EMR usability [9]. Although EMR usability is often an enabler of EMR use and uptake, the study by Lloyd et al [9] focused on the comparison between nurses and medical colleagues and differences between clinical settings, rather than nurses' experiences. Nurses' attitudes toward health care technology were the focus of an integrative review of Australian literature; however, the scope of the review by Mills et al [10] was broader than EMR systems and identified mixed outcomes related to nurses' attitudes toward health care technologies (both positive and negative perceptions of usefulness and impact on patient care) [10]. Although 1 observational time and motion study examined an Australian health care organization's large-scale EMR implementation, the focus was on time spent on nursing activities and time spent with patients and not on the nurses' experiences of using the system [11]. Another Australian qualitative study explored nurses' early experiences after EMR implementation [12]; however, the EMR was a hybrid system (mix of paper and electronic documentation) and therefore a gap remains in understanding nurses' experiences of a large-scale full EMR implementation in their workplace [13]. There is a need to investigate nurses' experiences of an EMR implementation to ensure any changes to nurses' work do not impact the delivery of safe, high-quality patient care. In the qualitative study underpinning this paper, Australian nurses' postimplementation experiences of an organization-wide complete EMR system were examined inductively and deductively, using a theoretical framework to support the understanding and contextualization of its influences on nurses' behaviors.

Purpose

XSL•FO

As EMRs become commonplace throughout Australian health care organizations and demands on nurses increase, it is vital

```
https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e39596
```

to explore nurses' experiences and monitor and mitigate negative impacts on nurses' work and workflows and the nurses themselves. This study aimed to explore Australian nurses' EMR experiences after implementation of an organization-wide EMR system to inform future technology implementation strategies that enhance nurses' work, workflows, and well-being.

Methods

Overview

This qualitative descriptive study used data collected from focus group and individual interviews and free-text responses to an open-ended question at the end of a survey: "Please use the box below for any additional comments on your experiences of EMR." Qualitative data were collected in the context of a large mixed methods pre- and postimplementation study. Preimplementation qualitative data and pre-post survey findings have been reported elsewhere [14-16].

Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria

All nurses working in inpatient areas throughout 6 hospital sites of a single health care organization where the EMR was implemented in 2019 were eligible for inclusion. Nurses working casually (ie, not in a permanent position) as part of the EMR implementation team or working in areas where the EMR system was not fully implemented (ie, using a combination of paper and electronic documentation) were excluded.

Setting, Recruitment, and Data Collection

A large multisite public health care organization located in Victoria, Australia, was the setting for this study. The health care organization provides public health care services to persons of all ages in inpatient and outpatient settings, employs over 8500 nurses and midwives, and has approximately 3300 beds across major hospital sites and multiple community locations. The service caters to a multicultural, linguistically and sociodemographically diverse community. The Australian health care system provides public health insurance coverage for all, with the option for individuals to purchase private health insurance if desired [17]. The health care organization implemented the EMR system in 3 stages during 2019: one site went live in August 2019, two sites in October 2019, and three sites in November 2019.

Recruitment for participation in the post-EMR implementation phase included several strategies: nurses provided their email address at the end of a survey indicating their consent to be contacted to participate in qualitative data collection; nurses were invited to provide free-text comments at the end of the survey; and real-time in-person convenience sampling recruitment was undertaken in clinical settings. Using these multiple recruitment strategies helped to minimize the intrinsic limitations of convenience sampling, limited response bias, and supported broad participation in data collection. All nurses who

met the eligibility criteria and indicated interest, verbally or in writing, were given an opportunity to participate.

Data collection occurred between November 2020 and June 2021. Throughout this period, access to the hospital sites varied owing to restrictions associated with the COVID-19 pandemic. Web-based platforms were used when in-person access was restricted. In-person data collection complied with COVID-19 pandemic–related health care and social distancing restrictions. All focus group and individual interviews were conducted by the first author (RMJ; female PhD student employed at the health care organization) at mutually agreeable times that included after hours and weekends. To acknowledge their time for participation, a drink voucher was offered to nurses at the completion of the focus group or individual interviews (approved by ethics committees). None of the nurses withdrew consent or participated more than once.

The semistructured interview guide was based on the "4I" model for appreciative inquiry [18] and included open-ended questions such as "How are you feeling about the EMR?" and "What works well?" The same interview guide was used for all focus group and individual interviews (Multimedia Appendix 1). Nurses had the option of providing demographic information, including their age, gender, nurse classification, years of work experience, highest education level, hours worked per fortnight, clinical work area, and the specific site of the health care organization. In addition, the free-text survey comments provided in response to the statement "Please use the box below for any additional comments on your experiences of EMR" were included in the analysis. The researcher (RMJ) collected field notes and reflective notes to ensure reflexivity. All interviews were recorded and transcribed verbatim for analysis. Nurse participants were not invited to review transcripts or results owing to logistic issues of repeated contact and privacy concerns and to minimize any burden.

Study Rigor

Study trustworthiness incorporated consideration of study credibility, dependability, transferability, and reflexivity [19]. Credibility was upheld by including multiple research team members in data analysis. The use of illustrative quotes, research team involvement in discussions of data interpretation and analysis, and keeping detailed field notes supported study and data dependability. Transferability was supported by broad inclusion criteria and recruitment of diverse nurse participants across multiple hospital sites. Research team reflexivity was discussed and managed through reflection on roles, biases, and perceptions in relation to data interpretation and analysis [20].

Theoretical Framework

Justification for using the Theoretical Domains Framework (TDF) [21] and Capability, Opportunity, Motivation-Behavior (COM-B) model [22] as an analytical framework and model for deductive analysis in this study is 4-fold: First, there is a lack of theory-informed investigations examining Australian nurses' experiences of EMR adoption in their workplace. Second, the use of this theoretical framework and model to examine barriers to and facilitators of nurses' EMR use supports the identification of targeted theory-informed behavior change

interventions that address specific barriers and promote desired behaviors [23]. Third, the analytical framework and model have been widely and successfully used to evaluate and design interventions related to health care settings and digital health [24,25]. Finally, the TDF considers a wide range of individual, organizational, and contextual factors that affect behavior; hence, it assists in exploring and understanding behavioral influences on nurses' postimplementation EMR experiences.

Data Analysis

Overview

Complementary inductive and deductive data analysis methods over 2 stages were used to create meaning from the data and elicit a deep understanding of nurses' perspectives and experiences post-EMR implementation. All qualitative data were included in both stages of inductive and deductive data analysis. Inductive data analysis using reflective thematic analysis [20] was completed first to minimize the risk of fitting data to a predetermined idea or model [26] and to explore and capture meaning across the data set [27]. In the second analytical stage, the TDF was used as a deductive theoretical coding framework to support the understanding of factors that affected nurses' behaviors in the post-EMR implementation phase [21].

Inductive Data Analysis

The following six steps of reflective thematic analysis by Braun and Clarke [20] were used to guide the inductive data analysis:

- 1. Familiarization: data familiarization included listening to the audio recordings multiple times and multiple readings of the interview transcripts and qualitative comments. Field comments and reflexive notes were also reviewed.
- Coding: data were transferred into Microsoft Excel (version 2019), and each quote was defined as up to 3 sentences long. Coding was undertaken inductively by the first author in 2 rounds and then grouped into subthemes and themes.
- 3. Generating initial themes.
- 4. Developing and reviewing themes.
- 5. Refining, defining, and naming themes: regular discussions with the research team throughout data collection and data analysis were used to support coding, subtheme and theme development, refinement and naming, and discussion of data saturation. The lack of new information was reached by the end of the 19th interview; however, data collection continued to ensure that opportunities were given for all nurses interested in participating.
- 6. Writing-up: the findings of thematic analysis are included in their entirety in this paper.

Deductive Data Analysis

After the completion of inductive data analysis, deductive data analysis commenced with the coding of each quote to one of the 14 domains of the TDF [21]. Context was used to identify each code as either a barrier to or facilitator to nurses' use of the EMR. The TDF data were subsequently mapped to the corresponding COM-B components [22].

Ethics Approval and Data Reporting

Approval (low-risk) was obtained from both Monash Health and Deakin University Human Research Ethics Committees

(references HREC/46439/MonH-2018-154603(v3) and 2019-003). The Consolidated Criteria for Reporting Qualitative Studies guidelines were used to guide data reporting [28].

Results

Overview

A total of 158 nurses participated in this study: 35 (22%) nurses participated through focus group interviews (6/22, 27%) or individual interviews (16/22, 73%). The survey, sent to 4159 nurses, had a response rate of 9.5%. A total of 31.4% (123/392) of survey respondents provided free-text responses to an open-ended question that were analyzed in conjunction with focus group and individual interview data. In total, 20% (78/392) of survey respondents provided their email addresses, but despite initial contact and 2 reminder emails, only 22% (17/78) of these nurses participated in a focus group or individual interview. A total of 36% (8/22) of interviews were conducted on-site at the health care organization and the remainder were web-based (14/22, 64%). The focus group or individual interviews lasted between 12 and 70 (median 32) minutes, with up to 9 nurses per focus group. Nurses who did not wish to provide their demographic information or refused audio recording but wished to participate through the collection of field notes were permitted to do so.

Participant Demographics

Participant demographics information was available for 146 nurses. Most were registered nurses (45/146, 30.8%), aged between 50 and 59 years (40/146, 27.4%), female (132/146, 90.4%), had worked between 4.5 and 9 years (24/146, 16.4%), had a postgraduate qualification (55/146, 37.7%), and worked part-time (60/146, 41.1%) in critical care areas (74/146, 50.7%) of the health care organization (Multimedia Appendix 2).

Nurses Adopting and Adapting to the EMR

The first stage of data analysis involved inductive data analysis using reflexive thematic analysis and led to the development of two overarching themes: (1) *An unintentional divide*; and (2) *This time, it's personal.* Exemplar quotes for each theme and subtheme are presented in Multimedia Appendix 3.

Theme 1: An Unintentional Divide

The implementation of the EMR system caused feelings of division among nursing staff related to the implementation and adoption of EMR; ongoing support; perceptions of EMR and how it affected their work; and how EMR impacted the nurse as an individual and their profession. *An unintentional divide* includes three subthemes: (1) Then and now, (2) Clicking or caring, and (3) Consequences and assumptions.

Subtheme 1: Then and Now

Subtheme 1: Then and Now contrasts nurses' reflections on their initial reactions to EMR implementation processes and adapting to the new system. Nurses reflected on missed opportunities to improve clinical practice with EMR compared with paper-based systems and discussed different social influences that impacted their experience of adapting to a new way of working. Nurses also discussed the differences in how they thought the EMR was implemented, that is, whether they thought it was beneficial

```
https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e39596
```

XSI•FC

to change all clinical documentation over to a computer system at once, and factors that influenced their experiences and helped them to adapt over time, such as culture, training, and support (offered both during implementation and on an ongoing basis).

Nurses referred to differences between their initial reactions to the implementation process and support provided at the time of implementation "then" and "now" when data collection occurred (between 12 and 18 months after implementation). Nurses felt that their initial reactions (shock, disappointment, and stress) had developed over time into some level of acceptance (learning about different aspects of EMR and getting used to working with computers).

Nurses discussed their unmet expectations related to specific aspects of the EMR implementation, such as eliminating documentation duplication and expanding nurses' scope of practice. Some nurses felt their expectations were not met with the EMR and found the implementation period stressful; hence, it took them time to adjust (Multimedia Appendix 3, quotes 1-4). The timing of the EMR implementation, and if all clinical documentation were transitioned to the EMR at once, it affected whether some nurses deemed it as a positive or negative experience (Multimedia Appendix 3, quote 5).

Nurses also discussed the factors that influenced their experiences and adaptation to the new system, such as attitudes and culture, support, training, and education. Nurses felt that the implementation was both positively and negatively affected by the attitudes of their colleagues and the ward culture, as well as whether nurses were confident in using technology (Multimedia Appendix 3, quotes 6-8). Some nurses admitted that getting used to the system was difficult and took some time; however, as time went on, they adapted and learned. Nurses acknowledged that EMR adoption was more difficult for colleagues who worked part-time and therefore lacked EMR experience or exposure (Multimedia Appendix 3, quotes 9-11, 17, and 18).

The EMR implementation was described as successful by nurses when they felt that they had learned the system and adapted their ways of working and workflows. Many nurses attributed this success to the ongoing support provided by the organization throughout the EMR implementation and were grateful. Nurses also identified super users (nurses who had undergone increased EMR training and education and provided collegial support specific to EMR implementation) and their training as valuable and supportive (Multimedia Appendix 3, quotes 14 and 15). However, it should be noted that some super users acknowledged that they experienced difficulty and stress, which they attributed to pressure to support their peers with the EMR while also caring for their own patients (Multimedia Appendix 3, quote 16). At the time of data collection, some nurses thought that the EMR could be better used to its full capacity, citing knowledge gaps from inadequate training and ongoing education, and poor understanding of new EMR workflows impacted its use (Multimedia Appendix 3, quote 12). Nurses provided suggestions for how the health care organization could better support their workforce during an EMR implementation, as well as suggestions to improve EMR acceptance that often

referred to individualization of the screen or alerts (Multimedia Appendix 3, quote 19).

Subtheme 2: Clicking or Caring

This subtheme reflected nurses' different feelings about what they should spend their time on the EMR or their patients. With limited time, some nurses felt they faced a choice between having "to click" (ie, use the EMR) versus "care" (ie, spending time on patient care). Some nurses felt that their duty toward the EMR took them away from direct patient care and interpersonal interactions (Multimedia Appendix 3, quotes 20 and 21). Others expressed concerns that colleagues were completing EMR documentation that did not match their clinical actions because they were worried about the potential for negative responses from management (Multimedia Appendix 3, quotes 22 and 23).

Nurses often expressed both positive and negative views about EMR workflows and their impact on nurses (eg, device integration not being available for all clinical areas, communication changes, and medication safety concerns related to visibility and clarity of orders on EMR; Multimedia Appendix 3, quotes 24-30). Nurses reported negative feelings related to poor experiences with the privacy of patient information with the EMR (ie, anyone being able to read the computer screen), not finding the EMR easy to use, the layout of the EMR, and vast amounts of information (Multimedia Appendix 3, quotes 34-36). Negative experiences of using the EMR caused nurses to develop workarounds to circumnavigate EMR aspects they were unhappy with or that did not fit their desired way of working (Multimedia Appendix 3, quotes 37 and 38). This negativity was often voiced in the context of the time taken to perform nursing tasks or documentation, time spent finding out where to document on the EMR, or correcting documentation from other colleagues (Multimedia Appendix 3, quotes 39-42). In contrast, nurses' positive EMR experiences related to patient care delivery included the ability to view all clinical information in one location, improved legibility owing to eliminating handwriting, and less duplication of documentation (Multimedia Appendix 3, quotes 32 and 33).

Nurses felt that their autonomy had been negatively impacted by EMR and that their clinical documentation on the EMR was of lower quality than when it was on paper (Multimedia Appendix 3, quotes 43 and 44). The EMR was perceived as both a physical and psychological barrier to providing patient care, and the EMR hardware and software disrupted nursing care (Multimedia Appendix 3, quotes 41, 42, and 45-48). When asked what matters most, nurses most often responded that nursing documentation quality and meaningfulness in the context of providing quality and safe patient care (Multimedia Appendix 3, quotes 49 and 50).

Subtheme 3: Consequences and Assumptions

Consequences and assumptions captured the impact of the EMR implementation on nurses' work satisfaction and well-being, and how this affected different groups of nurses. Many nurses reported how they were impacted by the EMR implementation. Some attributed their decrease in work satisfaction since EMR implementation to having less time with patients and experiencing changes to their work and interpersonal relationships.

Negative changes in nurses' work satisfaction and personal well-being also had negative impacts on their intention to remain in the workforce (Multimedia Appendix 3, quotes 51-53). Some nurses' comments indicated that they were questioning whether they remained in their roles, whereas others stated that they knew of nurses who had resigned from the organization owing to the pressure associated with EMR implementation. There were nurses who acknowledged that there were other work stressors, not just EMR, contributing to nurses' decreased well-being and work satisfaction, including the COVID-19 pandemic. The pandemic was often referred to as an additional burden on nurses and appeared to exacerbate the stress of EMR owing to requiring personal protective equipment to work in isolation rooms while using the EMR (Multimedia Appendix 3, quotes 54 and 55). Conversely, other nurses acknowledged that having the EMR was useful during the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic, providing up-to-date clinical information accessible to the entire health care team (Multimedia Appendix 3, quote 56).

Differences in nurses' assumed or actual EMR knowledge created unrest among groups of nurses, including older and younger nurses, and those who were more knowledgeable or proficient with the EMR and those who were not. Nurses felt that some colleagues who were not competent or confident in using the EMR negatively impacted them because of subsequent challenges with documentation, where missing information from previous shifts made it difficult for nurses to complete their work. Some nurses reported that they felt divided from their colleagues, and they were being judged on their EMR ability, not their clinical knowledge or nursing experience (Multimedia Appendix 3, quotes 57-59). Judgment related to EMR knowledge and capability extended to assumptions about groups of nurses, specifically related to age. When referring to younger nurses, it was assumed they were more computer-literate and therefore would be more competent with EMR. Older nurses were acknowledged as valuable peers who were not as competent with technology as their younger colleagues and felt the largest negative impact of the EMR implementation (Multimedia Appendix 3, quotes 60-62). However, some nurses expressed surprise that there were older nurses coping with the EMR implementation (Multimedia Appendix 3, quote 63).

Theme 2: This Time, It's Personal

Nurses reported that the EMR implementation was a bigger change and had had more personal consequences for both the nurse individually and nursing as a profession than other workplace changes they had experienced. *This time, it's personal* includes two subthemes: (1) A constantly changing profession and (2) What will nursing become?

Subtheme 1: A Constantly Changing Profession

Subtheme 1: A constantly changing profession reflects nurses' experiences of the change of an EMR and how the EMR implementation compared with previous workplace changes they had experienced. Nurses also discussed their fears and

XSL•FO

frustrations with the changes introduced by the EMR implementation.

Many nurses felt that as a profession, nurses were used to change; however, EMR implementation appeared to have a greater impact on their professional practice than previous changes they had experienced (Multimedia Appendix 3, quotes 64 and 65). Nurses discussed their colleagues' different responses, their resistance to change, and how the change affected other nurses, leading to a loss of confidence. The physical change to electronic documentation on EMR and discontinuation of paper-based documentation appeared to be what mostly challenged nurses, although some nurses noted it was a positive change owing to the reduced incidence of lost information and poor communication (Multimedia Appendix 3, quotes 66-69). Some nurses felt that the changes increased their time spent on documentation, and this was often compared with other EMR systems perceived as easier to use (Multimedia Appendix 3, quotes 70 and 71).

Nurses acknowledged the inevitability of moving to an electronic documentation system, several fears and frustrations with the system and workflows upset nursing staff, including potential negative consequences for themselves individually and for nursing as a profession. Fear of negative consequences owing to changes to the visibility and legality of nursing documentation was often voiced, with nurses' frustration extending to having to use and adapt to a system that they felt was not easy or intuitive to use (Multimedia Appendix 3, quotes 74-78). Unfortunately, despite extensive consultation with nurses across clinical areas throughout the health care organization, some felt there was insufficient nursing input in the development of the EMR. (Multimedia Appendix 3, quotes 79 and 80).

Subtheme 2: What Will Nursing Become?

Subtheme 2: What will nursing become? reflects nurses' concerns regarding perceptions of their roles in this new era of technology use. Nurses expressed concern about the increasing busyness of nurses' work and how the EMR would impact this busyness, and were also unsure how the EMR would change the perceptions and roles of their profession. However, nurses were also grateful to be able to provide their opinions regarding the EMR and to provide feedback and suggestions regarding EMR optimization.

Nurses were worried that their valuable story and insight, which came only from the unique role of providing 24/7 patient care, was missing from the EMR (Multimedia Appendix 3, quotes 81 and 82). To some nurses, their work, and the visibility of

their work had become more task focused with the EMR, and they felt that nursing had become depersonalized. Nurses also expressed the view that some colleagues from other disciplines have different views of clinical documentation on EMR and felt this changed the relationships among professions (Multimedia Appendix 3, quotes 83 and 84). Intradisciplinary relationships were also seen to be affected by EMR, with nurses stating that the previously useful incidental role modeling that came from observing colleagues' nursing documentation, patient interactions, or interprofessional collaboration were gone with EMR (Multimedia Appendix 3, quotes 85 and 86). There were also concerns voiced by nurses that graduate nursing staff or new nurses entering the profession would be limited in their critical thinking owing to their habits of following EMR prompts.

Some nurses felt that their scope of practice was limited owing to the EMR functionality limiting their actions, or the inbuilt automation that accompanies the EMR, which differed from the workflows in practice when paper-based documentation was in use. Despite this limitation, some nurses appreciated the heightened visibility of information within EMR and believed that accountability was beneficial in supporting quality patient care (Multimedia Appendix 3, quotes 87-90).

Nurses were hopeful that having the EMR throughout the health care organization would be an ongoing process of evaluation and optimization. They were grateful to be asked to participate in the research project and felt that this empowered them to provide feedback to the organization. Nurses were also asked how they could continue to develop the EMR, as they felt their voice was missing and wanted to be included in ongoing optimization and use of improvement strategies (Multimedia Appendix 3, quotes 91 and 92).

Facilitators and Barriers to Change

Overview

The second stage of data analysis involved coding and mapping data to the TDF [21] (deductive analysis). A total of 1236 codes were identified and mapped to 13 of the 14 domains of the TDF [21]. Most of these data were related to barriers to nurses' use of the EMR (819/1236, 66.26%), while just over a third were related to facilitators (417/1236, 33.74%). The underlying determinants of nurses' behaviors were identified by mapping the TDF data to their corresponding COM-B [22] model components (capability, opportunity, and motivation). Table 1 presents exemplar quotes and the percentages of total coded barriers and facilitators for each TDF domain.



Jedwab et al

TDF domain	Total coded barriers (N=819), n (%)	Exemplar quotes—barriers	Total coded facil- itators (N=417), n (%)	Exemplar quotes—facilitators
1. Knowledge	28 (3.4)	1. "So many mistakes being made as so many ways to interpret" [SP ^a 313]	11 (2.6)	2. "If people know how to use it properly then it's brilliant" [FG ^b 8P ^c 1]
2. Skills	72 (8.8)	3. "Everyone's not proficient in EMR ^d and different level experience" [FG6P1]	64 (15.4)	4. "We were actually talking at work um before maybe we needed just another ses- sion, like maybe 6 months into EMR, which we are doing nowwhich is won- derful." [FG4P1]
3. Social or professional role and identity	82 (10)	5. "I just wonder where the, you know, the future of nursing is going to go if this is if this is how we're going to do our job. You know, we're ticking boxes." [FG16P1]	63 (15.1)	6. "But I think most important thing would obviously still just be the patient care and then your EMR and then I think the fact that you can just double click on things means that you could spend more time with your patient and you're not stressing about documentation, cause you can al- ways go back to ityou can just do every- thing you need for your patient and then document everything after." [FG9P2]
4. Beliefs about capabil- ities	47 (5.7)	7. "I do default to asking the 20 year olds help me I don't know where to find that thing. And it actually gives me a feeling of being very disempoweredI was previ- ously a really experienced senior nurse that people would come to for help, and now I'm like, I'm useless at this." [FG1P1]	29 (7)	8. "Where you feel you've done a good thingwhere you, you find your worth in your jobif you've engaged with someone, and you've made a difference, then you go home feeling better about the job that you do." [FG16P1]
5. Optimism	30 (3.7)	9. "The program is not user friendly." [SP175]	52 (12.5)	10. "It's so time efficient. It's so easy to ah communicate with other team members through EMR um and it's easy to look up things, everything is on the computer in front of you. So I have really, really loved using EMR." [FG21P1]
6. Beliefs about conse- quences	18 (2.2)	11. "It does slow things down when it comes to the double checking and admin- istering the medications." [FG21P1]	0 (0)	N/A ^e
7. Reinforcement	13 (1.6)	12. "To me if the system's not as good, if not better than the system we've got, not for the coroner, but for each other, then it's not meaningful, and it's not worth it." [FG1P1]	9 (2.2)	13. "And that was the one of the other success to be honestpolicies updated." [FG5P1]
9. Goals	4 (0.5)	14. "I actually don't know where to give advice on the EMR or where to give feedback on it." [FG1P2]	21 (5)	15. "It's most important to be like, very user friendly, so that we can make sure that everything's documented properly for patients and for their safety." [FG22P1]
10. Memory, attention and decision processes	106 (12.9)	16. "Sort of find EMR more complicated than it needed to bethere's more stuff in there then you really need from a day-to- day point of view." [FG16P1]	67 (16.1)	17. "For the most part, it's an effective system and helps I think, the teams, nurs- ing, allied health, everyone work a bit more cohesively because it's all in one spot. And things can't go missing on EMR, which, which can only benefit pa- tient care at the end of the day." [FG20P2]
11. Environmental con- text and resources	250 (30.5)	18. "I feel that my nursing assessment is less valuable, I can only record limited data that fits in to pre-determined tick boxes." [SP231]	52 (12.5)	19. "Everything is a click away, or a cou- ple of clicks awayinformation about the patientrather than rummaging through paperwork and decipher someone's writ- ing, whether they've been referred, whether they've been seen, everything's

Table 1. Percentage of total coded barriers and facilitators for each Theoretical Domains Framework (TDF) domain with exemplar quotes (N=1236).

XSL•FO RenderX so yeah, clearer and easy to find" [FG20P1]

Jedwab et al

TDF domain	Total coded barriers (N=819), n (%)	Exemplar quotes—barriers	Total coded facil- itators (N=417), n (%)	Exemplar quotes—facilitators
12. Social influences	27 (3.3)	20. "And I think praising that, and role modeling, that is super important. And I think that's the risk when you've got senior nurses that are not role modeling the ap- propriate management or the appropriate use of the system." [FG14P1]	44 (10.6)	21. "But then the other helpful thing is your colleaguesshare with your col- leaguesbecause they will know some- thing that you don't know, and you know something that they don't know, and then you communicate and you, you get these things done, and it it's not as difficult." [FG4P1]
13. Emotion	142 (17.3)	22. "I was in tears, like, three times over EMReveryone knew I was struggling with EMR." [FG15P1]	2 (0.5)	23. "With EMR medication mistakes have reduced to such a great extent like person- ally for myself, I don't have that anxiety anymore that am I looking through the chart properly and not missing anything, EMR is doing that for me." [FG21P1]
14. Behavioral regula- tion	0 (0)	N/A	3 (0.7)	24. "I know some, I'm probably one of them still sort of pine a little bit for the paper but I think we, you know, things went missing with paper or things don't go missing on EMR, we have to adapt and move on, we've all sort of resigned our- selves to it." [FG20P2]

^aSP: survey participant number.

^bFG: focus group interview or individual interview number.

^cP: participant number.

^dEMR: electronic medical record.

^eN/A: not applicable.

Capability

Just over a quarter of the barriers (206/819, 25.2%) and a third of the facilitators (145/417, 34.8%) related to nurses' use of the EMR system were associated with their capability. Barriers were often related to memory, attention, and decision processes (106/819, 12.9% of the total barriers; Table 1, quote 16). For example, cognitive overload attributed to nurses looking for information in multiple areas of the EMR was perceived to impair memory. Nurses also expressed frustration with needing to remember how to use EMR and where to find information. Capability-related facilitators involved skills such as competence and confidence in using EMR, skills development, and time and opportunities for ongoing practice, education, and training (64/417, 15.4% of total facilitators; Table 1, quote 4). Facilitators related to memory, attention, and decision processes were as follows: easier decision-making support with prompts within EMR to assist medication safety; less cognitive burden owing to improved legibility and clarity of patient information within the EMR compared with paper-based documentation; and use of and access to clinical information from anywhere within the health care organization (67/417, 16.1% of total facilitators; Table 1, quote 17).

Opportunity

RenderX

Overall, 33.8% (277/819) of the reported barriers to and 23% (96/417) of facilitators of nurses' use of the EMR related to opportunity. Barriers related to the environmental context and resources included nurses' difficulty using the EMR, more time spent on the EMR than with their patients, and negative impacts

of the EMR on communication (250/819, 30.5% of total barriers). The layout of the EMR was identified by nurses as problematic owing to multiple areas and ways of inputting information, and lack of standardization between organizations and between clinical areas (eg, critical care and pediatrics). EMR downtime and hardware issues, including slowness of the system, also emerged as barriers to nurses' EMR use. Nurses felt that the EMR restricted their scope of practice; for example, selection of options rather than free-text input and restrictions related to editing or viewing of information within the system (Table 1, quote 18). Absence in the EMR of both patients' and nurses' narratives of care caused concerns about quality of care. Some nurses reported that the EMR contributed to negative impact on communication, with fewer clinician-clinician and clinician-patient interactions. In contrast, environmental facilitators included having a single point of access to clinical information, clinicians documenting contemporaneously, and nurses supporting their colleagues (52/417, 12.5% of total facilitators; Table 1, quote 19). Social facilitators included supportive colleagues and leadership (44/417, 10.6% of total facilitators; Table 1, quote 21).

Motivation

Motivation emerged as the most common behavioral driver among both barriers and facilitators (336/819, 41% of barriers and, 176/417, 42.2% of facilitators). Facilitators included the EMR supporting nurses' professional identity and role by enabling them to do their work and prioritize patient care (63/417, 15.1% of total facilitators; Table 1, quote 6). Time to adjust to EMR and build confidence as well as previous EMR

use were other facilitators of nurses' EMR use. Support and leadership from colleagues, including senior staff and managers, were voiced as important facilitators in supporting nurses' transition to EMR.

Nurses' anxiety about needing to learn and use a new system, stress related to additional pressures in an already busy work environment, and fear and resistance to change with the EMR implementation emerged as emotional barriers to EMR use by nurses (142/819, 17.3% of total barriers; Table 1, quote 22). Nurses' burnout was discussed in the context of the EMR being an additional stressor for already exhausted and stressed nurses (especially older nurses, defined as nurses >50 years of age, and those opposed to using technology).

Discussion

Principal Findings

The implementation and adoption of an organization-wide EMR system was an ongoing and dynamic experience for nurses who had to adapt to new ways of working. Nurses were divided in their positive and negative perceptions of the EMR and how it had impacted their work and their profession. The EMR implementation was a large organizational change that forced some nurses to reflect on their professional roles and identity and how they pictured their work moving forward.

Motivation was the underlying behavioral driver for nurses to use the EMR. Although motivation is a known element of the psychological dimension of user experience [29], many previous EMR nursing studies have simply focused on satisfaction with the system, documentation, and time spent using the EMR as influences on nurses' EMR use [30]. Interestingly, motivation was also the main behavioral driver for nurses in pre-EMR implementation qualitative data from the same health care organization [16] and was found to be an important nurse priority for EMR implementation in a Canadian Delphi study [31].

The use of the COM-B model [22] to understand behavioral drivers for nurses' responses to the EMR implementation identified both reflective and autonomous motivation processes that were influential and may help to explain consequences for nurses' well-being. For example, the positive effect of motivation impacting well-being is greater when the motivation is internally driven (autonomous) rather than externally influenced [32], and autonomous motivation has been found to positively influence both well-being and behavior change in health care settings [29]. Examples of internally driven motivation in this study included nurses' feelings of self-confidence in using the EMR and nurse-led improvements to local EMR use. Externally driven motivation was demonstrated by collegial encouragement and the completion of EMR components for fear of negative consequences. Many nurses in this study indicated low levels of autonomy and negative impact of the EMR. Possible reasons included the EMR being overprescriptive with documentation requirements and automated tasking, low visibility of some key nurses' work, decreased time spent with patients, and not feeling involved in the EMR's development or content. In this study, factors related to nurse well-being in relation to using EMRs were identified, as well as plausible links between nurse well-being and motivation, helping to fill a gap in the current literature [33].

The loss of nurses' narrative owing to EMR use was raised as a concern for patient safety as well as nursing workforce retention. The absence of some clinical information and nurses' narrative from EMR, as well as concerns about the loss of nurses' professional identity and work visibility, created feelings of poor work satisfaction and may have had negative impacts on patient care delivery. Consistent with previous nursing literature, nurses identified time spent with patients and colleagues as well as reinforcement of their hard work and quality patient care outcomes as influential on their work satisfaction and intention to stay in their roles [34]. Unfortunately, some nurses felt their work had reduced to simply documenting for the sake of "ticking the box" on EMR, which did not fully demonstrate their work or support understanding of what was completed or still needed to be done [35]. Nurses also expressed concern about the loss of patients' narratives in the EMR owing to changed workflows and the potential for negative impacts on patient care owing to a lack of cohesive patient information, an issue that has been previously identified in international literature [36,37].

Social influences, although viewed as an important influence on EMR use by nurses, were expressed as both positive (ie, nurses frequently providing support to each other) and negative (ie, dividing colleagues, assumptions about groups of nurses such as older nurses and younger nurses). The impact of social influences on EMR use by nurses identified in this study is consistent with findings reported in international literature and could be used as leverage by health care organizations to support nurses' adoption and use of EMR [38,39].

End-user buy-in, through the inclusion of nurses during the design and implementation process, was intended to ensure that the system was fit for purpose [40,41]. However, at 12 to 18 months after implementation, many nurses argued that they would benefit from more time to practice and learn EMR. Although an intensive change management, training and education program was delivered to all nurses before EMR, with follow-up support after implementation, nurses identified specific scenarios and varied clinical settings as requiring further supportive measures and ongoing EMR practice. Nurses who self-identified as needing further EMR support, training, or education may benefit from engaging in organizational support available to assist with EMR knowledge or practice gaps [42]. By identifying barriers and facilitators to nurses' EMR use, providing a safe space for nurses to voice their concerns, and feedback loops to communicate findings back to the health care organization, this study has the potential to support Australian nurses' EMR acceptance. Supporting nurses' use, acceptance, and knowledge of EMR may prevent EMR workarounds and deviations in workflows that can result from lack of knowledge, frustration regarding software layout, hardware slowness, and downtimes [43-45].

Nurses were concerned that it took them a long time (up until the time of data collection, ie, 12-18 months after implementation) to adjust to using the EMR in their work. The

ongoing apprehensions about the EMR not meeting their expectations, inconsistent EMR use among colleagues, and cynicism regarding the legal implications of clinical documentation in the EMR indicate that these nurses may still be in the early acceptance phase. Similarly, a large Australian study examining nurses' adoption of health care technology found that competing work demands, insufficient hardware access, and lack of support, as well as age-related decreased confidence and computer knowledge, were the main barriers to adoption [46]. Similarly, an analysis of American nurse and hospital survey data identified EMR usability and the work environment as influential factors in nurses' adoption of EMR [47].

Reflections on the Use of Multiple Methodological and Analyses Techniques

There were several benefits to using multiple data sources (focus group interviews, individual interviews, and free-text comments) and using complementary inductive and deductive analyses. Compared with comments made in the focus group and individual interviews where a researcher was present, many free-text comments were written using very direct and blunt language, a difference that may be owing to the anonymity provided by the survey. Differences in language between the interviews and free-text comments may also be a consequence of the Hawthorne effect. However, nurses who participated in the interviews also expressed appreciation for the opportunity to speak openly and frankly about the EMR.

The opportunities provided by multiple data sources were deemed beneficial in enabling participation and eliciting information from a wide range of participants to obtain a comprehensive understanding. Despite a limitation of survey data collection that clarification about responses could not be sought through further questioning, the free-text data provided important information about nurse workflows and aspects of nursing work not captured elsewhere. The breadth of the responses supports the transferability of the study findings to various health care settings. In addition, the use of multiple complementary data sources supported nurses' participation and contributed honest opinions and perceptions about the effects of the EMR on them professionally and personally.

Using inductive and theory-informed deductive qualitative analyses provided a deep understanding of nurses' perspectives and experiences and behavioral drivers, and issues influencing EMR adoption, and how it impacts their work, workflows, and the nurses personally. These results differ from previous reports in the literature that have typically examined nurses' ease of use of EMR, satisfaction, or specific clinical outcomes related to nurses' work and workflows with EMR systems. This study also fills a gap in the literature of theory-informed investigations of Australian nurses' experiences of EMR.

Limitations and Reflexivity

Limitations of this study relate to the potential for sampling bias and low response rate; a large percentage of nurses were aged >50 years, which may have influenced data interpretation. As of December 2021, only 36% of registered Australian nurses and midwives were aged >50 years [48]. Furthermore, only 22% (17/78) of the survey respondents who indicated they wished to participate in a focus group or individual interview (ie, by providing their email address at the end of the survey) could be contacted despite 2 follow-up emails. The reason for their nonresponse is not known. They may have been too busy, changed their minds, lacked interest in participating, been averse to a web-based focus group or individual interview, had privacy concerns, or been preoccupied with activities associated with the organization's COVID-19 pandemic response. Strategies to mitigate these concerns included visiting clinical areas in person (when permitted) and explaining that nurses did not need to provide contact details to participate.

COVID-19 pandemic restrictions on research activities at the hospital sites meant that the researcher was only able to attend each hospital site in-person once. During these interactions, ward staff were often willing to briefly and honestly discuss the EMR (with the researcher), but declined to have their comments recorded or transcribed. The potential effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on nurses' experiences of the EMR cannot be directly accounted for; however, nurses made both positive and negative comments related directly to both adapting to the EMR and its implementation in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic. The timing of COVID-19 pandemic restrictions led to an interrupted change management, training, and education program.

Conclusions

Undertaking both inductive and deductive data analyses enabled an in-depth examination of Australian nurses' experiences of an organization-wide full EMR system implementation. The findings revealed that barriers were most frequently related to the domains of environmental context and resources, and most facilitators were related to the domains of memory, attention, and decision processes. Motivation has emerged as the leading factor influencing nurses' EMR adoption behaviors; hence, it should be the main component addressed in future behavior change strategies to improve EMR adoption and optimization. Implementing the EMR before the COVID-19 pandemic was seen as beneficial by some nurses owing to having a planned organizational change and facilitating access to clinical information. In contrast, it was perceived as an additional stressor by some nurses owing to isolation and use of personal protective equipment. For the benefits of EMR systems to be realized to their full potential by nurses, perceptions of the system must change from a system for retrospective documentation requiring completion compliance and taking a nurse away from providing care, to a tool that can facilitate prospective nursing decision-making that enables multidisciplinary care planning, improves clinical practice, and supports nurses' work.



Acknowledgments

The authors thank all study participants. The first author is a grateful recipient of an Australian Government Research Training Program Scholarship and has received Scholarships from the Australian Nurses Memorial Centre Australian Legion of Ex-Servicemen and Women and Victorian Nursing and Midwifery Trust. These funders had no role in the design of the study; in the collection, analyses, or interpretation of data; in the writing of the manuscript, or in the decision to publish the result.

Authors' Contributions

RMJ worked on conceptualization, methodology, validation, formal analysis, investigation, data curation, resources, writing—original draft, writing—review and editing, visualization, supervision, project administration, and funding acquisition. EM worked on conceptualization, methodology, validation, resources, writing—review and editing, visualization, supervision, and project administration. AMH worked on conceptualization, methodology, validation, resources, writing—review and editing, visualization, supervision, and project administration. ND worked on conceptualization, methodology, resources, writing—review and editing, visualization, supervision, and project administration. BR worked on conceptualization, methodology, validation, formal analysis, investigation, data curation, resources, writing—original draft, writing—review and editing, visualization, supervision, and project administration. BR worked on conceptualization, methodology, validation, formal analysis, investigation, data curation, resources, writing—original draft, writing—review and editing, visualization, supervision, and project administration.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Semistructured interview guide. [DOCX File, 13 KB - nursing_v5i1e39596 app1.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Nurse participant demographic characteristics (N=146). [DOCX File , 19 KB - nursing_v5i1e39596_app2.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 3 Illustrative quotes for reflexive thematic analysis themes. [DOCX File, 33 KB - nursing_v5i1e39596_app3.docx]

References

- Ash JS, Berg M, Coiera E. Some unintended consequences of information technology in health care: the nature of patient care information system-related errors. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2004;11(2):104-112 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1197/jamia.M1471] [Medline: 14633936]
- 2. Strudwick G, McGillis Hall L. Nurse acceptance of electronic health record technology: a literature review. J Res Nurs 2015 Nov 25;20(7):596-607 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1744987115615658]
- 3. Califf CB, Sarker S, Sarker S. The bright and dark sides of technostress: a mixed-methods study involving healthcare IT. MIS Q 2020 Jun 1;44(2):809-856 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.25300/misq/2020/14818]
- 4. Gephart S, Carrington JM, Finley B. A systematic review of nurses' experiences with unintended consequences when using the electronic health record. Nurs Adm Q 2015;39(4):345-356. [doi: <u>10.1097/NAQ.00000000000119</u>] [Medline: <u>26340247</u>]
- Kaihlanen A, Gluschkoff K, Laukka E, Heponiemi T. The information system stress, informatics competence and well-being of newly graduated and experienced nurses: a cross-sectional study. BMC Health Serv Res 2021 Oct 15;21(1):1096 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12913-021-07132-6] [Medline: 34654427]
- International Council of Nurses, Policy Brief: The Global Nursing shortage and Nurse Retention. International Council of Nurses. 2021. URL: <u>https://www.icn.ch/sites/default/files/inline-files/</u> <u>ICN%20Policy%20Brief_Nurse%20Shortage%20and%20Retention_0.pdf</u> [accessed 2022-02-25]
- 7. Victoria's digital health roadmap. Victorian Government Department of Health. Melbourne, Australia: Victorian Government; 2021. URL: <u>https://www.health.vic.gov.au/publications/victorias-digital-health-roadmap</u> [accessed 2022-02-25]
- Mollart L, Newell R, Geale SK, Noble D, Norton C, O'Brien AP. Introduction of patient electronic medical records (EMR) into undergraduate nursing education: an integrated literature review. Nurse Educ Today 2020 Nov;94:104517. [doi: 10.1016/j.nedt.2020.104517] [Medline: 32853983]
- 9. Lloyd S, Long K, Oshni Alvandi A, Di Donato J, Probst Y, Roach J, et al. A National Survey of EMR Usability: comparisons between medical and nursing professions in the hospital and primary care sectors in Australia and Finland. Int J Med Inform 2021 Oct;154:104535. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2021.104535] [Medline: 34425552]

RenderX

- 10. Mills J, Chamberlain-Salaun J, Henry R, Sando J, Summers G. Nurses in Australian acute care settings: experiences with and outcomes of e-health. An integrative review. Int J Manag Inform Technol 2013 Jan 23;3(1):1-8 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.24297/ijmit.v3i1.1384]
- 11. Bingham G, Tong E, Poole S, Ross P, Dooley M. A longitudinal time and motion study quantifying how implementation of an electronic medical record influences hospital nurses' care delivery. Int J Med Inform 2021 Sep;153:104537. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2021.104537] [Medline: 34343955]
- Wynter K, Holton S, Nguyen L, Sinnott H, Wickramasinghe N, Crowe S, et al. Nurses' and midwives' experiences of the first phase of the implementation of an electronic medical records system. Aust Health Rev 2022 Apr;46(2):188-196. [doi: 10.1071/AH21118] [Medline: 34454640]
- 13. Williams C, Hamadi H, Cummings CL. Optimizing the cognitive space of nursing work through electronic medical records. Comput Inform Nurs 2020 Nov;38(11):545-550. [doi: 10.1097/CIN.00000000000666] [Medline: 32826398]
- Jedwab RM, Hutchinson AM, Manias E, Calvo RA, Dobroff N, Redley B. Change in nurses' psychosocial characteristics pre- and post-electronic medical record system implementation coinciding with the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic: pre- and post-cross-sectional surveys. Int J Med Inform 2022 Jul;163:104783 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2022.104783] [Medline: 35512624]
- 15. Jedwab RM, Hutchinson AM, Manias E, Calvo RA, Dobroff N, Glozier N, et al. Nurse motivation, engagement and well-being before an electronic medical record system implementation: a mixed methods study. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2021 Mar 08;18(5):2726 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph18052726] [Medline: 33800307]
- Jedwab RM, Manias E, Hutchinson AE, Dobroff N, Redley B. Understanding nurses' perceptions of barriers and enablers to use of a new electronic medical record system in Australia: a qualitative study. Int J Med Inform 2021 Nov 29;158:104654. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2021.104654] [Medline: 34883386]
- 17. Dixit SK, Sambasivan M. A review of the Australian healthcare system: a policy perspective. SAGE Open Med 2018 Apr 12;6:2050312118769211 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/2050312118769211] [Medline: 29686869]
- Coghlan AT, Preskill H, Tzavaras Catsambas T. An overview of appreciative inquiry in evaluation. New Dir Eval 2003 Dec 11;2003(100):5-22 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/ev.96]
- 19. Long T, Johnson M. Rigour, reliability and validity in qualitative research. Clin Eff Nurs 2000 Mar;4(1):30-37 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1054/cein.2000.0106]
- 20. Braun V, Clarke V. Thematic Analysis: A Practical Guide. Thousand Oaks, CA, USA: Sage Publications; 2021.
- 21. Atkins L, Francis J, Islam R, O'Connor D, Patey A, Ivers N, et al. A guide to using the Theoretical Domains Framework of behaviour change to investigate implementation problems. Implement Sci 2017 Jun 21;12(1):77 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13012-017-0605-9] [Medline: 28637486]
- 22. Michie S, van Stralen MM, West R. The behaviour change wheel: a new method for characterising and designing behaviour change interventions. Implement Sci 2011 Apr 23;6:42 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1748-5908-6-42] [Medline: 21513547]
- 23. Collins CS, Stockton CM. The central role of theory in qualitative research. Int J Qual Methods 2018 Aug 30;17(1):160940691879747 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1609406918797475]
- 24. Debono D, Taylor N, Lipworth W, Greenfield D, Travaglia J, Black D, et al. Applying the Theoretical Domains Framework to identify barriers and targeted interventions to enhance nurses' use of electronic medication management systems in two Australian hospitals. Implement Sci 2017 Mar 27;12(1):42 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13012-017-0572-1] [Medline: 28347319]
- Kent B, Redley B, Wickramasinghe N, Nguyen L, Taylor NJ, Moghimi H, et al. Exploring nurses' reactions to a novel technology to support acute health care delivery. J Clin Nurs 2015 Aug;24(15-16):2340-2351. [doi: <u>10.1111/jocn.12881</u>] [Medline: <u>26041122</u>]
- 26. Sandelowski M. Theory unmasked: the uses and guises of theory in qualitative research. Res Nurs Health 1993 Jun;16(3):213-218. [doi: 10.1002/nur.4770160308] [Medline: 8497673]
- 27. Braun V, Clarke V. Reflecting on reflexive thematic analysis. Qual Res Sport Exerc Health 2019 Jun 13;11(4):589-597 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/2159676x.2019.1628806]
- Tong A, Sainsbury P, Craig J. Consolidated criteria for reporting qualitative research (COREQ): a 32-item checklist for interviews and focus groups. Int J Qual Health Care 2007 Dec;19(6):349-357. [doi: <u>10.1093/intqhc/mzm042</u>] [Medline: <u>17872937</u>]
- 29. Peters D, Calvo RA, Ryan RM. Designing for motivation, engagement and wellbeing in digital experience. Front Psychol 2018 May 28;9:797 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.00797] [Medline: 29892246]
- 30. Tolentino DA, Gephart SM. State of the science of dimensions of nurses' user experience when using an electronic health record. Comput Inform Nurs 2020 Jul 28;39(2):69-77. [doi: <u>10.1097/CIN.00000000000644</u>] [Medline: <u>32732645</u>]
- McGinn CA, Gagnon MP, Shaw N, Sicotte C, Mathieu L, Leduc Y, et al. Users' perspectives of key factors to implementing electronic health records in Canada: a Delphi study. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2012 Sep 11;12:105 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1472-6947-12-105] [Medline: 22967231]
- 32. Ryan RM, Deci EL. Intrinsic and extrinsic motivations: classic definitions and new directions. Contemp Educ Psychol 2000 Jan;25(1):54-67. [doi: 10.1006/ceps.1999.1020] [Medline: 10620381]

RenderX

- Nguyen OT, Shah S, Gartland AJ, Parekh A, Turner K, Feldman SS, et al. Factors associated with nurse well-being in relation to electronic health record use: a systematic review. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2021 Jun 12;28(6):1288-1297 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jamia/ocaa289] [Medline: 33367819]
- 34. Phillips C. Relationships between workload perception, burnout, and intent to leave among medical-surgical nurses. Int J Evid Based Healthc 2020 Jun;18(2):265-273. [doi: 10.1097/XEB.00000000000220] [Medline: 32141948]
- 35. Sims S, Leamy M, Levenson R, Brearley S, Ross F, Harris R. The delivery of compassionate nursing care in a tick-box culture: qualitative perspectives from a realist evaluation of intentional rounding. Int J Nurs Stud 2020 Jul;107:103580 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2020.103580] [Medline: 32380263]
- 36. Moros DA. The electronic medical record and the loss of narrative. Camb Q Healthc Ethics 2017 Apr;26(2):328-331. [doi: 10.1017/S0963180116000918] [Medline: 28361728]
- Manias E, Bucknall T, Wickramasinghe N, Gray K, Schaffer J, Rosenfeld E. Patient and family engagement in communicating with electronic medical records in hospitals: a systematic review. Int J Med Inform 2020 Feb;134:104036. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2019.104036] [Medline: <u>31835159</u>]
- 38. Holtz B, Krein S. Understanding nurse perceptions of a newly implemented electronic medical record system. J Technol Hum Serv 2011 Oct;29(4):247-262 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/15228835.2011.639931]
- De Benedictis A, Lettieri E, Gastaldi L, Masella C, Urgu A, Tartaglini D. Electronic Medical Records implementation in hospital: an empirical investigation of individual and organizational determinants. PLoS One 2020 Jun 4;15(6):e0234108 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0234108] [Medline: 32497058]
- 40. Fennelly O, Cunningham C, Grogan L, Cronin H, O'Shea C, Roche M, et al. Successfully implementing a national electronic health record: a rapid umbrella review. Int J Med Inform 2020 Dec;144:104281 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2020.104281] [Medline: 33017724]
- 41. Brown J, Pope N, Bosco AM, Mason J, Morgan A. Issues affecting nurses' capability to use digital technology at work: an integrative review. J Clin Nurs 2020 Aug;29(15-16):2801-2819. [doi: <u>10.1111/jocn.15321</u>] [Medline: <u>32416029</u>]
- 42. De Leeuw JA, Woltjer H, Kool RB. Identification of factors influencing the adoption of health information technology by nurses who are digitally lagging: in-depth interview study. J Med Internet Res 2020 Aug 14;22(8):e15630 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/15630] [Medline: 32663142]
- 43. Bristol AA, Nibbelink CW, Gephart SM, Carrington JM. Nurses' use of positive deviance when encountering electronic health records-related unintended consequences. Nurs Adm Q 2018;42(1):E1-11. [doi: 10.1097/NAQ.00000000000264] [Medline: 29194338]
- 44. Lee S. Measuring nurses' experiences with unintended adverse consequences in EMR use in acute care settings. Comput Inform Nurs 2021 Jul 12;39(11):747-754. [doi: 10.1097/CIN.00000000000788] [Medline: 34238833]
- 45. Fraczkowski D, Matson J, Lopez KD. Nurse workarounds in the electronic health record: an integrative review. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2020 Jul 01;27(7):1149-1165 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jamia/ocaa050] [Medline: 32651588]
- 46. Eley R, Soar J, Buikstra E, Fallon T, Hegney D. Attitudes of Australian nurses to information technology in the workplace: a national survey. Comput Inform Nurs 2009;27(2):114-121. [doi: <u>10.1097/NCN.0b013e318197557e</u>] [Medline: <u>21685837</u>]
- Kutney-Lee A, Sloane DM, Bowles KH, Burns LR, Aiken LH. Electronic health record adoption and nurse reports of usability and quality of care: the role of work environment. Appl Clin Inform 2019 Jan;10(1):129-139 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1055/s-0039-1678551] [Medline: 30786302]
- 48. Nursing and Midwifery Board of Australia. Nursing and Midwifery Board of Australia Registrant data. Australian Health Practitioner Regulation Agency. 2021. URL: <u>https://www.nursingmidwiferyboard.gov.au/documents/default.</u> <u>aspx?record=WD19%2F29030&dbid=AP&chksum=a9wMxcTS2JDE1aLACqBpbw%3D%3D</u> [accessed 2022-02-25]

Abbreviations

COM-B: Capability, Opportunity, Motivation-Behavior **EMR:** electronic medical record **TDF:** Theoretical Domains Framework

Edited by E Borycki; submitted 16.05.22; peer-reviewed by K Turner; comments to author 23.06.22; revised version received 29.06.22; accepted 02.07.22; published 26.07.22.

<u>Please cite as:</u>

Jedwab RM, Manias E, Hutchinson AM, Dobroff N, Redley B Nurses' Experiences After Implementation of an Organization-Wide Electronic Medical Record: Qualitative Descriptive Study JMIR Nursing 2022;5(1):e39596 URL: https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e39596 doi:10.2196/39596 PMID:35881417



©Rebecca M Jedwab, Elizabeth Manias, Alison M Hutchinson, Naomi Dobroff, Bernice Redley. Originally published in JMIR Nursing (https://nursing.jmir.org), 26.07.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Nursing, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://nursing.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Original Paper

Exploring the Impact of Virtual Reflection Groups on Advanced Practice Nurse Students During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Focus Group Study With Master's Students

Jofrid Berit Høybakk¹, MSc; Andréa Aparecida Gonçalves Nes¹, PhD; Monica Evelyn Kvande¹, PhD; Marianne Trygg Solberg¹, PhD

Lovisenberg Diaconal University College, Oslo, Norway

Corresponding Author:

Jofrid Berit Høybakk, MSc Lovisenberg Diaconal University College Lovisenberggt 15B Oslo, N-0456 Norway Phone: 47 932 40 395 Email: jofrid.hoybakk@ldh.no

Abstract

Background: In the master's program of advanced practice nursing at a Norwegian university college, the learning activity reflection groups were converted into virtual reflection group (VRG) meetings during the COVID-19 pandemic. Regardless of the students' clinical practices in different hospitals, they could participate in the same VRG meeting on the web together with the educator from the university college, and the clinical supervisors were invited to participate. The students were in the process of developing the core competence required in their role as advanced practice nurses (APNs), and they had increased responsibility in the implementation of the VRG meetings.

Objective: In this study, we aimed to explore how master's students of advanced practice nursing experienced VRG meetings during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Methods: A qualitative exploratory design was adopted using focus group interviews. A group of students in the master's program of advanced practice nursing participated in an interview that lasted for 60 minutes. They had experienced participating in the VRG meetings following a rigorous guide during their clinical practice. The data from the focus group were analyzed using qualitative content analysis.

Results: The main findings of this study highlighted the importance of structure in VRG meetings, the role of increased responsibility in students' learning processes, the development of APN students' competencies, and increased professional collaboration with clinical supervisors. The APN students and clinical supervisors also continued their discussions in the clinical setting afterward, which strengthened the collaboration between students' education in the master's program and their clinical practice.

Conclusions: VRG meetings gave the students the opportunity to lead professional discussions while reflecting thoroughly on the chosen patient cases from clinical practice. They experienced receiving feedback from fellow students, supervisors, and educators as stimulating their critical thinking development.

(JMIR Nursing 2022;5(1):e40418) doi:10.2196/40418

KEYWORDS

advanced practice nurse; competence; COVID-19; professional discussions; qualitative study; virtual reflection groups; interviews; learning; development



Introduction

Background

Recently, the world has experienced a pandemic of a new disease, COVID-19, and health professionals, especially nurses, have had to face challenges they had not experienced before [1,2]. The COVID-19 pandemic has brought about radical changes to education systems worldwide. During this period (2020-2022), a rapid increase in distance learning has taken place, in which technology-supported pedagogical methods have been developed, along with the use of digital tools for web-based education and communication between students and educators [2-5]. In a Norwegian master's program in advanced practice nursing, a new alternative learning activity, the virtual reflection group (VRG), supported by technology, was introduced to students during the COVID-19 pandemic [6]. The VRG learning activity aims to enhance students' development of the competencies required in their role as advanced practice nurses (APNs). This advanced competence is necessary for the care and management of patients facing complex health care demands [7,8]. The complicated issues affecting patients with one or several chronic diseases or comorbidities, together with a significant increase in the ageing population, pose several challenges in health care [9,10]. An APN is a generalist or specialized nurse who has acquired the expert knowledge base, complex decision-making skills, and clinical competencies for advanced nursing practice with a minimum of a master's degree [11]. The APN role is in development both internationally and nationally in Norway. Owing to the changing tasks and increased responsibilities expected of nurses in Norwegian hospitals, there is the need for APNs with broad clinical competence at an advanced level. APNs are especially required to care for patients with complex demands, including unresolved or acute clinical problems [12].

The competencies that APN students need to develop during their education include the knowledge to conduct systematic clinical examinations and health assessments, the skills to handle complex patient situations independently, and the ability to assess the severity of the patient's health, including changes over time [13]. Consequently, APN students must develop a professional and autonomous role by acquiring advanced knowledge in critical thinking, clinical decision-making, and comprehensive assessment [7]. The APN core competence also includes leadership, collaboration, guidance, and coaching, along with evidence-based practice [13].

The Norwegian master's program in APN is in line with the European requirements of 120 credits [14]. To improve students' learning process throughout their master's education, constructive alignment is incorporated at the university college as a pedagogical learning model, assuring logical interaction between learning activities, assessment, and learning outcomes [14,15]. The learning outcomes are developed to help students achieve the core competencies necessary to manage complex patient situations [14]. The master's program consists of

alternating lectures and 3 periods of clinical practicums, from 8 to 11 weeks.

The learning outcomes for students in the clinical practicums were as follows: (1) further develop and act independently based on the knowledge of the role of advanced clinical nurses, (2) justify and argue for one's own choice of action together with others involved, (3) apply knowledge and skills to implement and independently assess the results of knowledge-based nursing practices, and (4) analyze and critically reflect on their own and others' actions in acute, serious, or critical situations [14]. The students are gradually developing the necessary competence to assume the role of APN, supported by a clinical supervisor. To facilitate the integration of theory and experience in clinical practice, APN students participate in reflection groups [14].

The reflection groups are a learning activity that supports the collaborative learning of students, together with their educator, and their clinical supervisors are also invited to participate [6]. Through reflection, the students can express their views and arguments, along with their previous experiences, which the group members can either confirm or challenge [16]. The study by Schön [17] distinguished between reflection-in-action and reflection-on-action concepts. Reflection-in-action means that when something unexpected or problematic happens, the person thinks about it and adapts their actions to the current situation, whereas reflection-on-action means thinking back to what happened in the situation and why it occurred to better understand it. The study by Edwards [18] added 2 more steps to the Schön [17] reflection process: reflection-before-action and reflection-beyond-action. The APN students practice reflection-before-action when they prepare for meeting in the reflection groups. Later, reflection-beyond-action in the reflection groups allows APN students to use an experienced story or case to enhance their self-exploration and awareness, which promotes life-long learning, advances practice development, and leads to transformative learning [18]. Reflection is a particularly important process in developing professional competence in clinical practice [19].

Originally, the reflection group meetings in the master's program were arranged on campus, and therefore, the student's supervisor could not participate [14]. The new learning design with web-based meetings has recently replaced campus-based reflection groups. The web-based VRG meeting, which uses rigorous guidelines, was tested in a pilot project from 2019 to 2020 for APN students in critical care. In 2021, the VRG was implemented in the master's program during the COVID-19 pandemic lockdown [6]. The benefit of the VRG meetings was that even if the students' clinical practice took place in different hospitals, they could participate in the same VRG meeting on the web, together with the educator from the university college, using the digital platform Zoom, and the clinical supervisors could also participate remotely [6]. In these meetings, the students were in the process of developing core competencies for their role as APNs. Their learning process, showing their increased responsibility in VRG meetings, is illustrated in Figure 1.



Figure 1. A model illustrating the learning process and responsibilities of students participating in virtual reflection group (VRG) meetings. APN: advanced practice nurse.

A responsible student,	Discussion in the VRG	
together with the clinical supervisor, choose a case from clinical pratice.	The responsible student leads the discussion, following the rigorous	Expected outcome from VRG
The student searches for an article related to the problem in the chosen case. The student shares the case and the article with all the group members.	guidelines for the meeting. A student with the role as a respondent presents a critical review of the article. The supervisor shares clinical experience. The educator provides guidance when needed.	Experience in leading professional discussions. Transferability of experiences from VRG to similar situations in clinical practice. Development of the APN role in close collaboration with the clinical supervisor.

Objective

In this study, we aimed to explore how the APN master's students experienced the VRG meetings during the COVID-19 pandemic. The following were research questions:

- How did the master's students experience the VRG meetings in the development of their competence as an APN?
- How did the master's students experience the collaboration with the clinical supervisor in conducting the VRG?

Methods

Design

This study used a qualitative exploratory design with focus group interviews. An advantage of using focus group interviews is that they provide the group dynamics and synergies for accessing rich information from the students [20,21]. The interactions between the participants in the focus group can provide insight into a range of students' opinions, perceptions, and attitudes, which might be less accessible in individual interviews [20]. The group dynamics and interactions were expected to help the master's students clarify their experiences in participating in VRG meetings during their clinical placement.

Setting and Participants

This study was conducted at a Norwegian university college with students in a master's program in advanced practice nursing

during the COVID-19 pandemic. All students participated in a VRG using rigorous guidelines [6]. They had completed the third placement of their clinical practice in different hospitals and units in East Norway, and they were invited to participate in the study after receiving both oral and written information. A total of 6 female students gave their informed consent to participate in the focus group interview.

Data Collection

The focus group interview was conducted in October 2021, immediately after the students had completed their clinical practice, which included participating in the VRG. The focus group interview was performed on-site in a meeting room at the university college, with the participants seated around a table to indicate the equal importance of each participant's contributions. Neither the moderator (MTS) nor the comoderator (MEK) was responsible for educating the master's students, which encouraged an honest and open dialogue during the interview. The open-ended questions of the interview guide (Textbox 1) were developed to answer the research questions.

During the interview, the participants were encouraged to ask questions, exchange anecdotes, and comment on each other's experiences and views, and the group dynamics helped the participants to create narratives [20,21]. The interview was audio-recorded and lasted for 60 minutes, which is a common duration of a focus group interview [20].



Textbox 1. The interview guide.

Main questions:

Can you talk about your experiences participating in the virtual reflection group (VRG) meetings?

- What are the benefits and limitations of the VRG meetings?
- What was your experience of following a guide for conducting the VRG meetings?
- What learning outcomes did you achieve from the VRG meetings regarding the development of your role as an advanced practice nurse (APN)?
- How did the professional discussion contribute to your development as an APN?

Supporting questions:

Different roles are included in the implementation of a VRG: What expectations did you have in advance regarding

- leading the professional discussion when conducting the VRG?
- including the clinical supervisors in the discussion to share their experiences?
- your role as respondent?

Ethical Considerations

The study was approved by the faculty at the university college and registered at the Norwegian Centre for Research Data (reference number NSD 578229). All participants provided informed consent to participate in the focus group interviews, and they were assured of full confidentiality and anonymity [21]. The moderator (MTS) and comoderator (MEK) ensured that no names or other personal information remained in the audiotape.

Data Analysis

The data from the focus group interviews were transcribed verbatim by the first author (JBH) as a starting point for further

analysis. All authors took part in the process of data analyses and read transcript data several times to gain insight into the content. The data were analyzed inspired by Graneheim and Lundman [22], using qualitative content analysis.

In the first step, the data were divided into meaning units related to the purpose of the project. The identified meaning units were then condensed into descriptions close to the text. In the second step, the underlying meanings of the condensed meaning units were interpreted, and all authors agreed upon the division of the results into subthemes and themes. During the analysis, we moved forward and backward among the meaning units, subthemes, and themes [22,23]. An example of the step-by-step analysis used to develop the theme of the *VRG meeting structure* is presented in Table 1.

Table 1. Example illustrating the analysis process from meaning unit to theme.

Meaning unit	Condensed meaning unit de- scription close to the text	Interpretation of the underlying meaning	Subtheme	Theme	
Participating in the VRG ^a meeting by presenting the case and leading the meeting	Following the rigorous guide- lines provided structure when conducting the VRG meetings	Using rigorous meeting guide- lines contributed to the distribu- tion of the disponible time and clarified the roles for partici- pants	Following a rigorous guideline for the VRG meeting	VRG meeting structure	
Digital communication in groups may inhibit the spontaneous, unstructured discussion via Zoom, as everyone who participated had to wait for their turn to speak	Challenge leading a web- based discussion and being responsible for all the partici- pants in the discussion	Following the guideline en- sured that all group members were included in the discussion. Waiting for one's turn to partic- ipate in the discussion gave time for reflection.	Following a rigorous guideline for the VRG meeting	VRG meeting structure	
Useful to follow the guideline, got more responsibility for the implementa- tion of the reflection groups.	The guidelines gave structure when leading the discussion in the meeting.	The student was responsible for leading the professional discus- sion, with reflection on the ex- perienced case.	Delegation of respon- sibility to the VRG members	VRG meeting structure	
In the VRG, we went through both the article and the patient case. We also started a discussion about the case.	It was instructive both to present the patient case and to be the respondent.	Both the roles of leading the discussion and being a respondent increased the student's responsibility when conducting the VRG.	Delegation of respon- sibility to the VRG members	VRG meeting structure	

^aVRG: virtual reflection group.



Trustworthiness

All authors have extensive research experience. The second author (AAGN) worked in an undergraduate nursing program, whereas all the other authors worked in a postgraduate critical care nursing education program. The first author (JBH) is in an assistant professor program, and the others are associate professors. The moderator and comoderator, in line with Polit and Beck [21], limited their reactions to the participants and tried to avoid influencing the answers, both verbally and nonverbally. The participants talked at length about their experiences and were not afraid to express their diverse perceptions. The comoderators took notes during the interviews to supplement the verbal transcripts in the analysis discussions. The different levels of expertise deepened the transparency of the results in this study, as all the authors participated in the analysis and agreed on the results.

Results

Overview

This study explored how APN master's students experienced participating in a VRG meeting during the COVID-19 pandemic. We identified 3 themes and 6 subthemes in the data, as illustrated in Figure 2. To ensure anonymity when presenting the results, references to individual participants' statements use nonidentifying letters (A-F), representing the individual APN student.

Figure 2. Results with themes and subthemes. APN: advanced practice nurse; VRG: virtual reflection group.



VRG Meeting Structure

Preparing for the VRG Meeting

The responsible student experienced the importance of having enough advance time to prepare the selected patient case together with the clinical supervisor and to look for a research article that could highlight the chosen patient situation. The flexibility to choose the time for the VRG meeting was also important to facilitate and ensure supervisor participation. Furthermore, the responsible student described the case with anonymized information and saved it on a secure digital learning platform (Canvas). The group members accessed the patient case in advance in preparation for the VRG meetings.

Following a Rigorous Guideline for the VRG Meeting

In the data, we found that all the participants became familiar with the new structure to follow during the VRG, as outlined in the meeting guideline. They found it useful to follow the rigorous meeting guideline in terms of providing structure when conducting the VRG meetings using web-based digital communication. The students felt that the guideline reinforced their responsibility to be prepared for their different roles, including the responsible student, the respondent, and the remaining students in the VRG, together with the clinical supervisor and educator. One of the participants compared the experiences of the regular reflection group and the VRG meeting, stating the following:

https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e40418

RenderX

I achieved more learning outcomes now, participating in VRG meetings by presenting the case, leading the meetings and also, as a respondent, giving feedback on the research article related to the patient case. I think I gained many more benefits from this type of reflection group. [Participant C]

It appears that using a rigorous meeting guideline contributed to the distribution of disponible time and clarification of the participants' roles.

The students perceived both benefits and challenges of VRG meetings. One student stated the following:

Digital communication in groups may inhibit the spontaneous, unstructured discussion via Zoom, as everyone who participated had to wait for their turn to speak, in contrast to being in the same physical room. [Participant C]

However, there were also descriptions related to the benefits of waiting for one's turn to speak: "What you say may be more thoughtful, but you may also censor yourself because you have thought too much about it" (Participant D).

Furthermore, as the reflection groups took place digitally, some students missed meeting each other face to face, which provides opportunities for spontaneous discussion. In addition, the experience of safety in the group was perceived as important. The confidence in each other was generated by previous contact

with group members. Following the guideline ensured that all group members were included in the discussion.

Delegation of Responsibility to the VRG Members

The participants experienced as positive the distribution of different roles and responsibilities for the VRG members. In every meeting, a different student was responsible for presenting the chosen case and leading the discussion, whereas another student was the respondent, providing critical feedback on the chosen article. The remaining students participated in the discussion together with the clinical supervisor and the educator. One of the students elaborated on the roles:

In our reflection group, we went through both the article and the patient case. Further, we started a discussion about the case, which was the reflection itself. I expected responses on the case and the chosen article I had presented. [Participant B]

The responsible student gained experience in finding and choosing relevant research articles that highlighted a patient's case. The student in the respondent's role was learning to be critical of research. Both students learned to evaluate and reflect on the research articles in addition to knowing how and where to apply the acquired knowledge in an educational and clinical context.

One of the students in the respondent role reported about focusing on the chosen research article:

The respondent role was limited to giving feedback on the relevance of the selected research article to the chosen patient case and its methodological approach, and not so much focus was given to the content of the chosen patient situation. [Participant D]

Another student reported that the achievement of the learning outcomes was possible because of the delegated responsibilities regarding leading the meeting and being a respondent:

Both roles increased (the student) responsibility when conducting the VRG, and it was instructive both to present the patient case and to be the respondent. [Participant A]

When leading the discussion, students experienced that the guideline provided a structure for the meeting and helped a great deal with the distribution of the tasks. The students experienced that the meeting guidelines provided a clear structure for the distribution of time and responsibilities when conducting the VRG meeting. The student responsible for presenting the case was also responsible for leading the professional discussion through reflection, which occurred after the respondent's feedback on the chosen research article for the studied patient case.

Competence Development

Preparing for Leading the VRG Meeting

Preparing in advance for the VRG meetings, together with the clinical supervisor, stimulated the students' reflection, especially when describing the patient situation. During the VRG, the

students acquired experience in leading academic discussions and were challenged in their development of critical thinking.

Stimulation of APNs' Critical Thinking

The students experienced an increased focus on the APN role in the VRG meetings. They were in the last of the 3 periods of clinical practice and had achieved advanced knowledge and developed the competence to make complex clinical decisions and use critical thinking at a higher level. They reported the development of academic argumentation by participating in the VRG meetings:

I like to argue, which becomes much easier when you can use research to justify the issues. For example, when it comes to change in routines... [Participant B]

In the data, we found that the students were more self-confident with the competence they acquired through their master's education, which was an ongoing process. They found that the VRG meetings were useful as they were challenged to argue and express their opinions on different issues concerning clinical patients, which stimulated their development of critical thinking. The flexibility and safe environment of the VRG meetings were also underlined. They could join in a discussion based on their clinical practice, and they could stay in it even if their arguments were flawed. In addition, they felt more confident in their competence regarding ethical issues with reflection on ethical dilemmas from clinical practice.

The students reported how the content of the VRG meetings, which were based on actual patient cases, relevant research articles, and feedback from their peers, stimulated their reflection skills and increased their knowledge:

To elaborate a patient case and find a relevant article that you will receive feedback on stimulates reflection: Is the case I have written good enough? Is the research I have found good enough? It is an advantage to get a "second opinion" from another APN who looks at the content with different eyes than I do. [Participant C]

The students reflected together, thus contributing to their different opinions, whereas one of the students gained experience in leading the discussions.

Stimulation of APNs' Leadership of Professional Discussion

The students were responsible for leading the VRG meetings, and they facilitated an in-depth discussion of the presented patient case. They acquired experience in leading professional discussions according to the meeting guidelines. They also reported positive and instructive experiences from receiving feedback on the article and leading the discussion focused on the chosen patient situation.

The data show that some of the participants were afraid and insecure in leading the VRG meeting, as they were responsible for presenting the case to their fellow students, clinical supervisors, and educators. A student (Participant F) reported that it was useful to be a little insecure while practicing the leading role in front of the other group members. Another

student reflected on the uncertainty they experienced leading the professional discussion in the VRG meetings:

The first time, I was unsure about my leading role in relation to the educator role, about how strong a position I should take in leading the discussion. [Participant D]

Another student experienced that it was a challenge to lead the virtual discussion with fellow students because of the need to pay attention to the task at hand and, at the same time, ensure that everyone had the chance to say something in the discussion. They perceived that the size of the VRG was important to ensure the achievement of learning outcomes, as 1 student commented:

I think practising in a small group is good, compared to a large group, which can be scary. Small groups, where you are confident in each other, are fine. [Participant A]

They found that the sensation of safety related to small groups increased the activity and gave all members an opportunity to speak. One student (Participant B) expressed that she dared to say more in a small group and with people that everyone knew.

Participating in VRG meetings gave the students the experience of leading professional discussions. One student (Participant F) mentioned that these experiences were useful in developing their competence as future APNs. In the VRG meeting discussions, they experienced keeping their focus on the APN role and responsibilities in close collaboration with their clinical supervisor.

Professional Collaboration

Ensure the Exchange Around Supervisor's Experiences

The clinical supervisor participated in the VRGs and shared experiences that challenged the students to think critically about how to apply research in clinical practice. The VRG meeting structure made the participation of the clinical supervisor possible to the benefit of the responsible student and the other students. The students gave positive feedback regarding their experiences in collaboration with the clinical supervisor in terms of preparing for VRG meetings and leading professional discussions. The students perceived it as very useful to get feedback directly from the supervisors, who could contribute their clinical experience and identify the relevance of the chosen research article to the selected patient case. One student elaborated on the benefit of having the clinical supervisor as a participant in the VRG meeting, stating the following:

It helps to get a different view of the case. The supervisor can participate and give input on how it works in everyday life, justifying why it works and why they do things the way they do. [Participant F]

Another student chose a case in collaboration with the clinical supervisor, in which the topic was pain, and she elaborated on the learning outcomes:

The more I read, the more exciting it became. It was interesting to get feedback from the respondent on the case. I heard several points of view on how we could choose to solve the situation. To discuss around

RenderX

a case was very instructive, and several thoughts came up. It was an exciting case. [Participant C]

When selecting cases from clinical practice, the students had to select a research article that could clarify the chosen case. They experienced excellent collaboration with their clinical supervisors, who helped them find a relevant research article for the chosen patient case. One student experienced it in the following manner:

The clinical supervisor came up with unique points of view from the unit the case was drawn from and could explain the background, why it had turned out the way it had, and what choices were made that the rest of us could only comment on; it was absolutely valuable. [Participant D]

The students felt that the clinical supervisor could bring out other points of view on the case, as seen from the practice side, and elaborate on and justify the assessment and management that were done based on an APN's role and responsibilities.

The students experienced that the supervisor's input was valuable to the choice of the research article. This input was based on a critical assessment of the research article that evaluated its relevance to the chosen patient case. One of the students (Participant D) stated, "There was a good collaboration with the practice supervisor who helped me find a relevant research article that could highlight the chosen patient case."

Another student (participant B) stated, "To get feedback from the supervisor on research related to the patient case, for example, if it was a good article or if I should choose something else." The students felt that they gained relevant competence to develop as an APN from their experiences of participating in the VRG meetings regarding linking research to clinical situations.

Strengthening of Professional Discussions in Clinical Context

According to 1 student (Participant E), the topics that were raised in the VRG meetings had ripple effects on clinical practice, as the supervisors brought the topic back to their units. One student (Participant F) illustrated these effects by referring to the topics raised by the supervisors about their clinical practice that were discussed in the VRG meetings. The supervisors from clinical practice who participated in the VRG meetings also showed commitment, as 1 student elaborated on as follows:

The supervisor later discussed in clinical practice the topic that had been chosen (for the VRG) and afterwards how the situation had been followed up. [Participant A]

Another student reflected on the compliance between the possible procedure discussed for the patient case based on the research article and the procedure performed by the supervisor in clinical practice:

My supervisor found the topics I raised in the VRG interesting. I located a research article with a few points that interested the clinical supervisor, and the

supervisor brought this knowledge back to the clinical practice. [Participant D]

In the VRG meetings, APN students, clinical supervisors, and educators had the experience of reflecting on clinical practice situations. They linked relevant research-based knowledge to current patient cases from the unit. The discussions in the VRG meetings positively influenced decision-making related to patient cases in clinical practice, which strengthened the professional discussion related to the clinical context.

Discussion

Principal Findings

This study aimed to explore how APN master's students experienced VRG meetings, which were implemented for all master's students during the COVID-19 lockdown. By participating in the VRG meetings and experiencing different roles, the APN students increased their responsibility, both by leading and taking part in professional discussions about issues derived from clinical practice. The APN students experienced rigorous guidelines as useful for organizing meetings with a structure that facilitated the distribution of time [6]. The students took turns assuming responsibility for leading the meeting discussions, which they reported as a useful experience in preparing for their role as APNs. As described in the literature, leading professional discussions is one of the core competencies required in the APN role, and the meetings allowed students to develop advanced abilities in leadership and collaboration [13], a skill that was identified in a previous study to be highly important in APN education [7]. The students reported that they experienced increased learning outcomes by participating in VRG meetings and collaborating in various roles.

By changing from on-site meetings at the campus to distance learning through web-based meetings that followed rigorous guidelines in conducting the VRGs, the students took on increasing responsibility, which improved their learning process and learning outcomes in the clinical practicum. These findings are in line with the results of another study that explored how students adapted to the changes associated with the pedagogical transition to distance learning and use of digital tools because of the COVID-19 pandemic lockdown [3]. The students were trained in digital communication, distance learning, and the use of digital tools during the lockdown [1,2,4,5]. Our APN students also experienced the COVID-19 pandemic by reducing the face-to-face physical contact between them in different clinical placements and the contact between the students and educators, results that are in line with other studies [2,5]. In addition, the students participating in the VRGs experienced that it could be challenging to discuss issues in a digital setting rather than face to face, as spontaneous responses in the discussions were less likely [2]. Despite the challenges in web-based communication, the students pointed out some advantages. In the VRG meetings, the students followed rigorous guidelines, including waiting for their turn to speak while others were talking. By waiting for their turn, the students experienced extra time to reflect on the issues they were discussing, which they experienced as a benefit.

The results of this study show that by participating in VRG meetings, the APN students were challenged to reflect on the

competence they had developed in their master's education. They also experienced increased awareness of the APN's role in complex patient situations during clinical placement. Preparing the case in advance of the VRG meeting contributed to the students' in-depth knowledge, as they used the content from a research article for professional argumentation in discussions regarding the chosen patient situation. These results coincide with a review highlighting the importance of helping students to understand and enhance the APN role by using advanced knowledge and research in their professional development [7]. Furthermore, our study found that the students felt more confident in their competence regarding ethical issues. In general, nurses' reflections on ethics lead to greater self-confidence by clarifying their role and helping them find solutions to improve their clinical practice [24]. Moreover, competence in systematic reflection is necessary when working in clinical practice environments [25]. Reflection in groups has a particularly important role in developing one's professional practice, and reflection-beyond-action can help students understand clinical situations by using a story in the context of a past experience. Reflection on clinical issues is also important in life-long learning for the further development of professional competence [18]. Participating in VRG meetings and reflecting on clinical issues improved the APN students' ability to achieve a deeper understanding of complex patient situations.

The results show that the discussions in the VRG meetings stimulated the APN students to develop their critical thinking skills, as they received feedback from other group members. The APN students need to be trained in critical thinking because it allows them to actively participate in their learning process in developing competence as an APN [7]. Critical thinking is the process by which the students form a reflective judgment about what to believe or what to do in a given context [1]. Critical thinking is defined by the American Association of Colleges of Nursing as all or part of the process of questioning, analysis, synthesis, interpretation, inference, inductive and deductive reasoning, intuition, application, and creativity, which leads to clinical judgments and safe clinical decisions [4]. Another study found that the greatest development of competence was in relation to direct clinical practice. Although the students entered the program with different levels of competence, this was largely equalized during their education in the master's program [26]. The data from the focus group in our study showed that the learning outcomes from the VRGs strengthened the students' critical thinking skills in the process of developing their competence, in particular by taking increased responsibility for leading professional discussions.

The discussions in the VRGs promoted the strengthening of the collaboration between education and clinical practice. Implementation of the reflection groups as VRGs facilitated participation of the clinical supervisors together with the responsible student, meeting the group of students from other placements in different hospitals and the educator on the web in the meeting. The clinical supervisor who participated contributed to the updated clinical experiences in the professional discussion, which the students experienced as having a positive influence on their process of developing competence as an APN. The clinical supervisor contributed to

XSL•FO RenderX

the discussion with practical experiences to help students better understand the challenges APNs face in complex patient situations with a strong medical focus. APN students also need to learn medical subjects while maintaining a holistic approach that includes providing patient-centered care, which is the foundation of nursing [7]. Developing clinical decision-making is another important aspect of clinical competence [26,27]. APNs are experts in nursing who have extended their medical knowledge while retaining their unique nursing character [7]. In the process of helping students develop their professional APN role, the clinical supervisor acts as a role model in connecting medical topics to the assessment and management of the clinical situation in the chosen case.

The VRGs had implications for clinical practice as the supervisors, together with the students, continued their professional discussions after the meetings. The students reported in the focus group that the supervisors followed up in clinical practice on the issues from the discussions and the challenges identified in the VRG and together they continued to further reflect on and beyond the situations in the clinical unit [17,18]. During their reflections on the chosen case, the students gained a deeper understanding of the situation by developing increased situational awareness, as supported by the clinical supervisor. An important learning outcome in the master's program is to achieve increased situational awareness in complex patient situations [14]. The students had useful experiences cooperating with the supervisor in linking research to the chosen situation from practice when preparing for the VRG meetings. Together, they brought the new knowledge back to the clinical practice for further assessment and implementation, which gave the APN students useful and relevant experiences in preparation for the APN role. Developing evidence-based practice through the critical assessment of research is part of an APN's core competence [13]. The APN students are, according to the results from a Swedish study, engaged in the process of gaining a more advanced identity for the APN role, which is based on both practical and theoretical knowledge [27]. Developing the role as an APN includes advanced knowledge in critical thinking, clinical decision-making, and comprehensive assessment [7,8]. In professional discussions in the VRGs, the APN students took on increased responsibility in collaboration with the clinical supervisor in preparing the case. Together, they followed up on the issues from their reflections by continuing professional discussions in clinical practice. The students' experiences from their reflections in the VRGs increased their competence in preparing them for the APN role.

The study has implications for practice, as the results provide useful information that supports the use of the VRG, which

increases the possibility of clinical supervisors joining the meetings and supports the students in developing their new APN role. The digital competence achieved throughout the COVID-19 lockdown will prove useful when continuing to conduct VRGs after the pandemic, and further use of VRGs will continue to strengthen the collaboration between health care institutions that offer clinical practice and educational institutions that are responsible for ensuring the quality of nursing education.

Limitations

This study has some limitations, as only 1 focus group interview was conducted. The interview was completed after the last period of the students' clinical placement during an APN master's program, with 6 students enrolled in this course participating in the focus group interview. However, although it was only 1 interview, it generated rich data that provided sufficient information power [28]. The 6 students had experience with different clinical placements in different hospitals and were divided into different groups for the VRGs. Only students were selected as respondents for this study. Including clinical supervisors in this study could have provided useful information from their point of view.

Conclusions

Reflection groups were implemented as VRG meetings using web-based communication during the lockdown because of the COVID-19 pandemic. The rigorous guidelines for the VRGs ensured a solid structure for the meetings, and professional discussions stimulated APN students' critical thinking and the development of competencies. The participants responsible for the VRG meetings experienced increased responsibility as they were in charge of organizing the meetings, chose a patient case, and found research related to the patient case. The students in the respondent role reported their development of critical assessment in the clinical and research contexts, as they were responsible for giving feedback on the chosen patient case and the research article. This study found that participating in VRG meetings challenged APN students to reflect on the competence they had developed in their master's education. They experienced achieving increased awareness of the APN role in complex clinical patient situations during clinical placement. As the VRG meetings were web-based, the clinical supervisor could participate with the educators and students from placements in different hospitals. The clinical supervisors contributed by sharing their actual experiences, which improved the professional discussions. The APN students and clinical supervisors continued the discussions in the clinical settings afterward, which strengthened the collaboration between education in the master's program and clinical practice.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

XSL•FC RenderX

1. Riegel F, Martini JG, Bresolin P, Mohallem AG, Nes AA. Developing critical thinking in the teaching of nursing: a challenge in times of Covid-19 pandemic. Esc Anna Nery 2021 Jan 29;25(spe):e20200476. [doi: 10.1590/2177-9465-ean-2020-0476]

- 2. Woo BF, Poon SN, Tam WW, Zhou W. The impact of COVID19 on advanced practice nursing education and practice: a qualitative study. Int Nurs Rev 2022 Sep;69(3):330-339. [doi: <u>10.1111/inr.12732</u>] [Medline: <u>34820837</u>]
- Langegård U, Kiani K, Nielsen SJ, Svensson PA. Nursing students' experiences of a pedagogical transition from campus learning to distance learning using digital tools. BMC Nurs 2021 Jan 19;20(1):23 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12912-021-00542-1] [Medline: <u>33468132</u>]
- 4. Seibert SA. Problem-based learning: a strategy to foster generation Z's critical thinking and perseverance. Teach Learn Nurs 2021 Jan;16(1):85-88 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.teln.2020.09.002] [Medline: 33013248]
- 5. Jung D, De Gagne JC, Choi E, Lee K. An online international collaborative learning program during the COVID-19 pandemic for nursing students: mixed methods study. JMIR Med Educ 2022 Jan 24;8(1):e34171 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/34171] [Medline: 34982035]
- Solberg MT, Landfald Ø, Clarke S, Sørensen AL. Using a design-based research methodology to develop virtual reflection groups for Master's students in nursing: an applied study. Soc Sci Humanities Open 2022;6(1):100286. [doi: 10.1016/j.ssaho.2022.100286]
- Ljungbeck B, Sjögren Forss K, Finnbogadóttir H, Carlson E. Content in nurse practitioner education a scoping review. Nurse Educ Today 2021 Mar;98:104650 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.nedt.2020.104650] [Medline: 33203544]
- Egerod I, Kaldan G, Nordentoft S, Larsen A, Herling SF, Thomsen T, INACTIC-group. Skills, competencies, and policies for advanced practice critical care nursing in Europe: a scoping review. Nurse Educ Pract 2021 Jul;54:103142 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.nepr.2021.103142] [Medline: 34265667]
- 9. Health among the elderly in Norway. Norwegian Institue of Public Health. 2019 Jun 15. URL: <u>https://www.fhi.no/en/op/hin/groups/health-and-ageing-in-norway/</u> [accessed 2022-06-17]
- Henni SH, Kirkevold M, Antypas K, Foss C. Perceptions of the scope of practice of nurse practitioners caring for older adults: level of agreement among different healthcare providers. Scand J Caring Sci 2021 Jun;35(2):492-501. [doi: <u>10.1111/scs.12861</u>] [Medline: <u>32323373</u>]
- 11. Guidelines on Advanced Practice Nursing. International Council of Nurses. 2020. URL: <u>https://www.icn.ch/system/files/</u> <u>documents/2020-04/ICN_APN%20Report_EN_WEB.pdf</u> [accessed 2022-06-17]
- 12. The need for nurses with clinical broad competence in hospitals. Directorate of Health. 2021. URL: <u>https://www.helsedirektoratet.no/rapporter/</u>

behovet-for-sykepleiere-med-klinisk-breddekompetanse-i-sykehus--faglige-og-tjenestemessige-behov [accessed 2022-06-17]

- 13. Tracy MF, O'Grady ET. Hamric and Hanson's Advanced Practice Nursing: An Integrative Approach. 6th edition. St. Louis, MO, USA: Elsevier; 2019.
- Master's Degree in Advanced Practice Nursing, specialising in illness management or intensive care nursing. Lovisenberg Diaconal University College. 2020 May 12. URL: <u>https://ldh.no/en/courses-and-programmes/</u> <u>master-s-degree-in-advanced-practice-nursing-specialising-in-illness-management-or-intensive-care-nursing</u> [accessed 2022-06-17]
- 15. Biggs J, Tang C. Teaching for Quality Learning at University. 4th edition. Oxford, UK: Open University Press; 2011.
- 16. Lauvås P, Lycke KH, Strømsø HI. Når læring er det viktigste: Undervisning i høyere utdanning. 6th edition. Oslo, Norway: Cappelen akademisk forlag; 2016.
- 17. Schön DA. The Reflective Practitioner: How Professionals Think In Action. London, UK: Temple Smith; 1983.
- Edwards S. Reflecting differently. New dimensions: reflection-before-action and reflection-beyond-action. Int Pract Dev J 2017 May 17;7(1):1-14. [doi: <u>10.19043/ipdj.71.002</u>]
- 19. Lauvås P, Handal G. Veiledning og praktisk yrkesteori. 3rd edition. Oslo, Norway: Cappelen Damm akademisk; 2014.
- 20. Malterud K. Kvalitative forskningsmetoder for medisin og helsefag: en innføring. 4th edition. Oslo, Norway: Universitetsforlaget; 2017.
- 21. Polit D, Beck C. Resource Manual for Nursing Research: Generating and Assessing Evidence for Nursing Practice. 11th edition. Philadelphia, PA, USA: Wolters Kluwer; 2020.
- 22. Graneheim UH, Lundman B. Qualitative content analysis in nursing research: concepts, procedures and measures to achieve trustworthiness. Nurse Educ Today 2004 Mar;24(2):105-112. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.nedt.2003.10.001</u>] [Medline: <u>14769454</u>]
- 23. Lindgren BM, Lundman B, Graneheim UH. Abstraction and interpretation during the qualitative content analysis process. Int J Nurs Stud 2020 Aug;108:103632. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2020.103632] [Medline: 32505813]
- 24. Heggestad AK, Førde R, Magelssen M, Arnekleiv B. Ethics reflection groups for school nurses. Nurs Ethics 2021 Mar;28(2):210-220 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0969733020940373] [Medline: 32729357]
- 25. Scheel LS, Bydam J, Peters MD. Reflection as a learning strategy for the training of nurses in clinical practice setting: a scoping review. JBI Evid Synth 2021 Sep 13;19(12):3268-3300. [doi: <u>10.11124/JBIES-21-00005</u>] [Medline: <u>34519284</u>]
- Taylor I, Bing-Jonsson PC, Finnbakk E, Wangensteen S, Sandvik L, Fagerström L. Development of clinical competence - a longitudinal survey of nurse practitioner students. BMC Nurs 2021 Jul 16;20(1):130 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12912-021-00627-x] [Medline: 34271923]
- 27. Bergström P, Lindh V. Developing the role of Swedish advanced practice nurse (APN) through a blended learning master's program: consequences of knowledge organisation. Nurse Educ Pract 2018 Jan;28:196-201. [doi: 10.1016/j.nepr.2017.10.030] [Medline: 29126056]

RenderX
28. Malterud K, Siersma VD, Guassora AD. Sample size in qualitative interview studies: guided by information power. Qual Health Res 2016 Nov;26(13):1753-1760. [doi: 10.1177/1049732315617444] [Medline: 26613970]

Abbreviations

APN: advanced practice nurse **VRG:** virtual reflection group

Edited by E Borycki; submitted 20.06.22; peer-reviewed by S Sarejloo, P Fiore; comments to author 21.08.22; revised version received 24.08.22; accepted 24.08.22; published 15.09.22.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Høybakk JB, Nes AAG, Kvande ME, Solberg MT Exploring the Impact of Virtual Reflection Groups on Advanced Practice Nurse Students During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Focus Group Study With Master's Students JMIR Nursing 2022;5(1):e40418 URL: <u>https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e40418</u> doi:<u>10.2196/40418</u> PMID:<u>36107492</u>

©Jofrid Berit Høybakk, Andréa Aparecida Gonçalves Nes, Monica Evelyn Kvande, Marianne Trygg Solberg. Originally published in JMIR Nursing (https://nursing.jmir.org), 15.09.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Nursing, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://nursing.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Nurse-Led Virtual Delivery of PIECES in Canadian Long-Term Care Homes to Support the Care of Older Adults Experiencing Responsive Behaviors During COVID-19: Qualitative Descriptive Study

Anna Garnett¹, MSc, PhD; Denise Connelly², BScPT, MSc, PhD; Marie-Lee Yous³, MSc, PhD; Lillian Hung⁴, PhD; Nancy Snobelen⁵, MBA, DHA; Melissa Hay⁶, BSc, MPT, PhD; Cherie Furlan-Craievich⁷, RD; Shannon Snelgrove⁸, BA, RN; Melissa Babcock⁷, RPN; Jacqueline Ripley⁸, RPN; Pam Hamilton⁹, BA; Cathy Sturdy-Smith¹⁰, BA, MSc; Maureen O'Connell¹¹, BHSc

¹¹Pieces Canada, Barrie, ON, Canada

Corresponding Author:

Anna Garnett, MSc, PhD Arthur Labatt Family School of Nursing Western University 1151 Richmond St London, ON, N6A 3K7 Canada Phone: 1 519 661 2111 Email: <u>agarnet6@uwo.ca</u>

Abstract

Background: Worldwide, the COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in profound loss of life among older adults living in long-term care (LTC) homes. As a pandemic response, LTC homes enforced infection control processes, including isolating older adults in their rooms, canceling therapeutic programs, and restricting family member visits. Social isolation negatively impacts older adults in LTC, which may result in increased rates of anxiety, depression, physical and cognitive decline, disorientation, fear, apathy, and premature death. Isolation of older adults can also cause an increase in responsive behaviors (eg, yelling, hitting, calling out) to express frustration, fear, restricted movement, and boredom. To respond to the challenges in LTC and support frontline staff, older adults, and family members, a novel registered practical nurse (RPN)-led delivery of the PIECES approach for addressing responsive behaviors among older adults with dementia using virtual training/mentoring was implemented in Canadian LTC homes. PIECES employs a person- and family/care partner–centered collaborative team-based approach to provide education and capacity-building for nurses; engages families as active participants in care; and embeds evidence-informed practices to provide person- and family-centered care to older adults with complex needs, including dementia.

Objective: The aim of this study was to describe the experiences of LTC staff, family/care partners, and older adult research partners with implementation of a novel RPN-led virtual adaptation of the PIECES care-planning approach for responsive behaviors in two Canadian LTC homes during the COVID-19 pandemic.

¹Arthur Labatt Family School of Nursing, Western University, London, ON, Canada

²School of Physical Therapy, Western University, London, ON, Canada

³School of Nursing, McMaster University, Hamilton, ON, Canada

⁴School of Nursing, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada

⁵Registered Practical Nurses Association of Ontario (WeRPN), Mississauga, ON, Canada

⁶Health and Rehabilitation Sciences, Western University, London, ON, Canada

⁷Vision 74 Inc, Sarnia, ON, Canada

⁸Copper Terrace Long-term Care Home, Chatham, ON, Canada

⁹Pieces Canada, Kingston, ON, Canada

¹⁰Pieces Canada, Owen Sound, ON, Canada

Methods: Using a qualitative descriptive design, two focus groups were held with three to four staff members (eg, RPNs, managers) per LTC home in Ontario. A third focus group was held with three PIECES mentors. Individual semistructured interviews were conducted with RPN champions, family/care partners, and older adult research partners. Research team meeting notes provided an additional source of data. Content analysis was performed.

Results: A total of 22 participants took part in a focus group (n=11) or an in-depth individual interview (n=11). Participant experiences suggest that implementation of RPN-led virtual PIECES fostered individualized care, included family as partners in care, increased interdisciplinary collaboration, and improved staff practices. However, virtual PIECES, as delivered, lacked opportunities for family member feedback on older adult outcomes. Implementation facilitators included the provision of mentorship and leadership at all levels of implementation and suitable technological infrastructure. Barriers were related to availability and use of virtual communication technology (family members) and older adults became upset due to lack of comprehension during virtual care conferences.

Conclusions: These findings offer promising support to adopting virtual PIECES, a team approach to gather valuable family input and engagement to address residents' unmet needs and responsive behaviors in LTC. Future research should investigate a hybridized communication format to foster sustainable person- and family-centered care-planning practices to include active collaboration of families in individualized care plans.

(JMIR Nursing 2022;5(1):e42731) doi:10.2196/42731

KEYWORDS

long-term care; older adults; families; responsive behaviors; qualitative; COVID-19; PIECES; nurse(s); care home; infection; therapeutic; anxiety; depression; cognitive; fear; death; dementia; communication; technology

Introduction

Globally, the COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in death and decline in the physical, mental, and behavioral health of older adults in long-term care (LTC) [1,2]. This population has been more vulnerable to the COVID-19 virus than the general population in part due to their living situation, advanced age, less robust immune system, and increased likelihood of having multiple comorbidities [3]. In Canada, two-thirds of COVID-19 deaths were among older adults in LTC from March 11, 2020, to May 8, 2020 [1]. In the early stages of the pandemic, LTC homes prioritized containing the spread of COVID-19 through strict infection control processes, which included isolating older adults in their own rooms, pausing therapeutic activities, and imposing restrictions on visits by family members. These measures meant that many older adults experienced prolonged periods of seclusion and a loss of social engagement. The social isolation of older adults in LTC homes was further exacerbated by government-mandated restrictions on in-person gatherings, which compounded the already stringent restrictions in place across many LTC homes [4].

Outcomes of social isolation among older adults include a heightened risk of experiencing anxiety, depression, physical and cognitive decline, and premature death [5-7]. Other impacts include worsening apathy and boredom [8,9]. Many older adults' family members provide up to 30% of care, including assistance with personal care, nutrition, as well as social stimulation and emotional support [10]. These family members are also recognized by the LTC home staff as key partners in the care of older adults; however, current practice models used to guide care planning and delivery do not readily include them as active team members [11]. As a result, prohibiting caregivers from in-person visits with older adults in LTC in the earliest waves of the pandemic served to exacerbate older adults' social the subsequent health and behavioral isolation and consequences.

```
https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e42731
```

Prior to the pandemic, 50% of older adults with dementia in LTC experienced responsive behaviors (eg, yelling, restlessness, hitting) in response to unmet needs such as pain, boredom, thirst, and hunger [12]. Multiple factors within LTC contribute to disproportionate responsive behaviors, including lack of staff education, inadequate skills, lack of support from leaders in management, and insufficient staffing resources [13]. Isolation of older adults with dementia can lead to higher incidences of responsive behaviors with a resultant increased use of antipsychotic medications by LTC staff [14]. During multiple waves of COVID-19, increased incidence of responsive behaviors in older adults in LTC was documented with the concomitant widespread isolation resulting from infection control processes and restrictions on in-person gatherings [15,16]. Approximately 51% of family members have reported an increase in responsive behaviors in persons with dementia since the pandemic started [15]. This exacerbation in behaviors highlights the need for interventions to support older adults and the care staff, and calls attention to the need to engage all persons caring for them (eg, older adults, families, frontline staff) in care-planning processes (eg, team-based) and policy development (eg, infection control and family as essential care partners, not visitors).

An example of a team-based care-planning model is PIECES, which consists of a holistic, relationship-based, and evidence-informed team approach to collaborative assessment and shared care designed for use by interdisciplinary teams to address the complex physical and mental health (eg, cognitive, emotional, social, psychological) needs of older adults [17]. Understanding what matters to the person and family is central to the PIECES model. The PIECES approach includes the following components in assessing the individual: Physical, Intellectual, and Emotional health; maximizing the Capabilities of an individual to support quality of life; integrating the living Environment of a person; and encompassing a person's Self, including beliefs, culture, and life story [17]. PIECES has been

implemented across Canada by interdisciplinary teams and in diverse settings, including acute care, LTC, home and community care, complex continuing care, and mental health settings, to put a plan in place to address responsive behaviors.

The PIECES approach educates staff to recognize and address mental health challenges and responsive behaviors, leading to more thorough assessments using a variety of existing tools, strengthening partnerships between LTC homes and external resources, and improving family satisfaction with care delivery [18,19]. In acute care settings, PIECES enhances collaboration between different disciplines, promotes individual assessments of older adults, and facilitates problem-solving to address behaviors [19,20]. By virtue of its person-centered design, the PIECES approach is well-suited to be delivered by registered practical nurses (RPNs), as the largest regulated frontline staff in LTC homes [21] who are most familiar with the older adults' day-to-day behavioral expressions and changes. In-person delivery of PIECES has been demonstrated to improve the recognition and early management of responsive behaviors and communication between staff and family; however, it has not previously been implemented virtually [20]. Virtual care is well-placed to support interdisciplinary team-based care planning by enhancing team communication, providing continuity of care, and facilitating collaborations between specialists such as geriatricians, physicians, and mental health experts [22-24]. Moreover, virtual care may offer novel training and leadership opportunities for frontline RPNs to lead care discussions involving multiple parties (eg, family care partners, health care providers, older adult LTC residents) regardless of their physical location.

During the COVID-19 pandemic, an urgent need emerged for increased support for older adults experiencing responsive behaviors in LTC [22]. This study employed a virtual adaptation of PIECES [17] training using Personal Health Information Protection Act–approved Zoom videoconferencing technology. Synchronous meetings using virtual technology for RPNs to conduct individualized family care conferences with the family off-site, the older adult, and other health care team members (on- or off-site) were used to create an integrated care plan. This virtual PIECES intervention, shepherded by an on-site RPN champion from within the partner LTC home, provided the health care team with care protocols, supported by behavioral support staff, to maintain quality in care practices during the COVID-19 pandemic and inclusion of family in care decisions.

PIECES-trained staff completed PIECES referrals for residents experiencing responsive behaviors with the collaboration of other staff members (eg, personal support workers, social workers, recreational therapists, nurses) in the LTC home. RPN champions then contacted family members to schedule a virtual family care conference to discuss the behaviors of residents and to put in place a plan of care to address these behaviors. The RPN champion, PIECES-trained staff, family member, and resident (if able and willing) were present at the care conferences held by Zoom. PIECES-trained staff or RPN champions followed up with families to provide telephone or in-person updates regarding the outcomes of strategies put in place to address responsive behaviors. The role of PIECES mentors was to provide PIECES training for LTC staff, debrief with PIECES-trained staff and RPN champions, and address any questions. Understanding the facilitators and barriers to virtual PIECES implementation is an important future step to sustain and spread virtual care delivery. The purpose of this study was therefore to describe experiences and implementation facilitators and barriers in delivering a novel RPN-led virtual adaptation of the PIECES care-planning approach to address behavioral expressions in two Canadian LTC homes during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Methods

Study Design

This study used a qualitative descriptive design, which allows for the provision of a detailed description and low-inference interpretations of data, defined as remaining close to the words of participants [25]. The Consolidated Criteria for Reporting Qualitative Research (COREQ) statement was used as a reporting guideline (see Multimedia Appendix 1) [26].

Setting

Two LTC homes in Ontario, Canada, were involved to inform and host implementation of a virtual PIECES intervention. There was no pre-established relationship between the research team and the LTC homes prior to the study. Both sites are considered as midsized privately owned LTC homes (138 and 146 beds, respectively) that have been in operation for more than 30 years; one home operates as a for-profit venture and the second as nonprofit, offering varying services (eg, family physician, nursing and personal care, housekeeping, meals, laundry, leisure activity programming, nutritional services, and services within the community such as physiotherapist, social worker, X-ray, and ultrasound services).

Sample and Recruitment

Study participants consisted of RPN champions, PIECES mentors, PIECES-trained LTC staff of various disciplines (eg, nursing, nutrition, recreation, behavioral management), family/care partners, and older adult research partners. The older adult research partners who participated in this study were selected based on the clinical judgment of the director of care in the LTC home. The director of care has a nursing background and purposely selected the two residents to be research partners, as they were able to understand the purpose of the study and contribute through virtual means. Convenience sampling [27] was used to select these participants. The participants were key stakeholders in implementing virtual PIECES at the LTC homes and family/care partners, who were active members of virtual care conferences to provide the family/resident story and to discuss mitigating the responsive behaviors of older adults. Participants were invited to engage via email or by phone. Participants were able to read, understand, and speak English. The sample size was not predetermined. However, review of qualitative descriptive studies showed that most studies included 11 to 25 participants [28]. The sample size was deemed sufficient once diverse data were obtained and overlapping data indicated the approximation of data saturation [29,30].

XSL•FO RenderX

Study processes were explained to all participants who then provided written consent for their involvement in the study. All focus groups and interviews were conducted using Zoom videoconferencing by two female postdoctoral fellows with experience in qualitative research (MLY, MH). A total of three focus groups were held. Two focus groups were held with three to four PIECES-trained staff of each LTC home (ie, one focus group per LTC home). A focus group was also held with the three PIECES mentors. Since the PIECES mentors regularly engaged with the LTC staff members (eg, behavioral management lead, registered dietitian, RPNs, managers) throughout the implementation of virtual PIECES, their perspective was important to inform understanding of the facilitators and barriers to this process. These focus groups were 60-80 minutes in length. Individual semistructured interviews were conducted with RPN champions, family/care partners, and older adult research partners. These interviews lasted between 30 and 70 minutes, and no repeat interviews were conducted. Focus group and interview guides (see Multimedia Appendix 2 for sample questions) were developed through a review of the literature on various concepts, including PIECES, virtual care conferences, responsive behaviors, older adults, and LTC, and feedback of the research team members. Participants were asked about their experiences with the virtual PIECES intervention, implementation facilitators and barriers, and recommendations for improvement of the intervention. Interviews were recorded, anonymized, and transcribed verbatim. Field notes were documented by two interviewers with training in qualitative data collection methods (MLY, MH) throughout meetings and interviews.

Data Analysis

Qualitative content analysis was used to summarize data and form interpretation of key messages as well as provide rich, detailed descriptions of the entire data set [25]. This inductive analytic method allows for identifying, describing, interpreting, and summarizing emerging patterns within the data while ensuring themes are linked to the voices of participants [31-33]. Open coding was used to develop themes, which offered a general description of the experience [34]. Analysis of interview transcripts, as well as observational field notes, allowed the research team to explore organizational factors, implementation process, team engagement, experiences in using technology, and the virtual care planning from the perspectives of key stakeholders. Preliminary codes and themes were generated by two research team members (MLY, AG) and then consensus of thematic inclusion was reached with all research team members. Data analysis included reflexive participant collaboration

wherein RPN champions, PIECES mentors, LTC staff, and older adult research partners provided ongoing feedback on interpretations to support participant validation in the presenting of findings [35,36].

Rigor and Trustworthiness

Approaches were used to uphold rigor and trustworthiness in qualitative research, including addressing Lincoln and Guba's [37] criteria: credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability. Investigator triangulation of research team members with experience supporting older adults and family/care partners in LTC, addressing responsive behaviors, and qualitative research ensured credibility of the findings. This strategy was also found to complement and support the validation of data [37]. Comprehensive and detailed descriptions of the setting and sample of the study were used to ensure that the findings were transferable [37]. The research team ensured that processes of the study were informed logically by conducting a comprehensive review of the existing literature to determine gaps in the literature.

Ethical Considerations

Ethics approval was granted from the local University Ethics Boards (#118629 and #H21-01428). All participants received a written introduction to the study and an informed consent form written in lay language, which they signed prior to participating in the study. Study IDs were assigned to participants to maintain anonymity and participation was voluntary. The three core principles—respect for persons, concerns for welfare, and justice—of the Tri-Council Policy Statement [38] were enacted throughout the study. A Can \$25 gift card (approximately US \$20) was provided to all nonacademic research team participants in recognition of their study participation.

Results

Demographic Characteristics

A total of 22 participants took part in a focus group (n=11) or interview (n=11) during the midstage of virtual PIECES implementation. Most of the participants were female (90.9%). Both older adult research partners were male. They were involved in reviewing information and providing feedback on research outputs such as manuscripts and presentations. There was diverse representation of team members. LTC staff had various roles within the LTC homes (see Table 1). Limited demographic information was collected as not to burden participants in addition to the time they had already contributed to the study.



Variable Gender

Role

Table 1. Descriptive characteristics of the participants

1. Descriptive characteristics of the participants.		
able	Participants, n	
der		
Female	20	
Male	2	
2		
Family/care partner	7	
LTC ^a staff (eg, behavioral management lead, registered dietitian, RPN ^b , manager)	8	

LIC stall (eg, behavioral management lead, registered dietman, KFW, manager)	
PIECES mentor (eg, physiotherapist, psychogeriatric resource consultant, manager of specialized geriatric services)	3
RPN champion	2
Older adult research partner	2

^aLTC: long-term care.

^bRPN: registered practical nurse.

Themes

Overview of Themes

Resultant themes were grouped according to: (1) participant experiences, (2) implementation facilitators, and (3)

Textbox 1. Overview of themes.

Experiences

- Virtual PIECES provided individualized care for older adults
- Families recognized as partners in care through virtual PIECES •
- Virtual PIECES led to greater interdisciplinary collaboration •
- Virtual PIECES improved the practice of long-term care (LTC) staff •
- Virtual PIECES contained limited opportunities for families to provide feedback on outcomes

Implementation facilitators

- Huddles were helpful for interdisciplinary team involvement •
- Mentorship provided support and encouragement for staff to deliver virtual PIECES
- Leadership in all forms was key to implementing virtual PIECES •
- Equipping LTC homes with technological infrastructure was essential

Implementation barriers

- Availability and use of virtual communication technology
- Concerns surrounding the presence and involvement of older adults at virtual care conferences

Experiences

Experiences Subthemes

Overall participating family/care partners, LTC staff, RPN champions, PIECES mentors, and older adult research partners reported positive experiences engaging with the virtual adaptation of the PIECES approach. Emergent themes of their experiences with virtual PIECES demonstrated that it: (1) provided opportunities for individualized care for older adults, (2) recognized families as partners in care, (3) led to greater interdisciplinary collaboration, (4) improved the practice of LTC staff (eg, communication with family), but (5) contained limited opportunities for families to provide feedback on outcomes.

implementation barriers of the virtual adaptation of the PIECES

approach (see Textbox 1 for an overview of themes). The two LTC homes are identified as Site 1 and Site 2, respectively, and

participant IDs are used when providing direct quotations.

Virtual PIECES Provided Individualized Care for Older Adults

Virtual PIECES was perceived by family/care partners, staff, older adult research partners, and PIECES mentors as a way to ensure that older adults were provided with individualized care to meet their needs and abilities. Family/care partners felt that, through virtual PIECES, staff were making greater efforts to relate to older adults on a more personal level.



I think it [Virtual Care Conference] was more personalized for mom because the annual meeting, it's just more or less an update for me to let me know her weight and when they bathe her and what her diet is and how physiotherapy is going so that's mainly what that annual meeting is about but this meeting a couple of Fridays ago was more on a personal level and an emotional level just trying to get in touch with mom as far as her personality goes rather than her physical care. So that was nice. [Site 1, FCP 2]

PIECES conversations helped to build trust with older adults, which led to greater family satisfaction with care. Some family/care partners stated that they learned more about their family member through virtual care conferences, such as the occurrence of new behaviors and the severity of depression. Staff perceived that interactions with family/care partners and older adults were more positive through PIECES and they took more time to get to know older adults. Staff who participated in PIECES had knowledge regarding the older adults' preferences that were shared with them by family members during care conferences. This enabled the staff to share the older adults' preferences with other staff members so they could better meet the older adults' needs on a consistent basis. These staff also tailored their care to optimize independence among older adults as much as possible. "Capabilities too, like if she's [older adult] capable [to instill her own eye drops] and she can do it and she wants to stay as independent as possible that makes her feel glad that she can maintain that" [Site 1, Staff 1].

Videoconferencing used in delivering PIECES provided comfort for older adults, which enabled them to discuss their care with staff in the presence of a family/care partner.

So specifically with one of our PIECES referred resident, this resident did attend the care conference and she was delighted and eager to see her family. It was lovely to see their interactions so it was nice to kind of observe that interaction between the family member and the resident. We were able to discuss and involve that resident in her care and her actions so that was really nice to be able to involve the resident because that is in our bill of rights that each resident, they have the right to receive their own care and be involved in their own care plan. [Site 2, Staff 1]

RPN champions noted that there was improved rapport between family care partners, older adults, and staff as a result of individualized care delivered using virtual PIECES.

Families Recognized as Partners in Care Through Virtual PIECES

In the implementation of virtual PIECES, families were formally recognized as care partners. Family/care partners appreciated that PIECES staff sought their input and were asking questions about their older adult family members. Families believed that their perspectives were being heard by staff and that staff implemented specific actions to address their feedback.

I just feel like any other conversations that we had regarding mom were kind of like dismissed or ignored

```
https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e42731
```

RenderX

and not even brought in the loop about things that were happening so I I think this has been huge that calls are made, that people are talking to me about it and saying this is what we're seeing, what is your feedback? How can we help with that? How can we do this so that the staff isn't frustrated, your mom's not frustrated and we're all working together, that makes sense to me but that's not how it was so I feel like finally that's what's happening [Site 2, FCP 3]

Prior to virtual PIECES, some family/care partners had limited interactions with LTC home staff unless an emergency arose. As a result of virtual PIECES, family/care partners felt they were welcome to call staff and ask questions about their family members. Staff and RPN champions similarly acknowledged the value of seeking input of families in care planning and to ensure that families' concerns are being acted upon.

I mean family has always been part of the team and with our care conferences, our annual care conferences and family has always been encouraged to come in. I definitely think PIECES has enhanced that family portion and definitely has enlightened the family on the different lens that we are looking at from a health perspective. [Site 2, Staff 1]

Using videoconferencing for care conferences allowed family members to participate in care planning regardless of their physical location.

Virtual PIECES Led to Greater Interdisciplinary Collaboration

Virtual PIECES enabled greater interdisciplinary collaborations to provide care for older adults in LTC: "I think that a multidisciplinary approach to our intervention gives us the best information that we can. It helps solve our investigation from all sorts of perspectives and viewpoints" [Site 2, Staff 1]. The success of the intervention was perceived by LTC staff, RPN champions, and PIECES mentors as involving various disciplines (eg, nursing, directors of care, recreational therapy, housekeeping).

Everybody, absolutely everybody is part of the team from the directors to the cleaning lady, the PSWs [personal support workers], the nurses, the RNs [registered nurses], physios, the kitchen staff, the laundry staff. Everybody is working in conjunction to make their home the best possible experience for them so I see everybody involved. [Site 1, FCP 2]

Staff perceived that they were better able to work with different services such as Behavioural Supports Ontario to address responsive behaviors of older adults. At Site 2, the Geriatric Mental Health Outreach team was so impressed with the implementation of virtual PIECES that they reached out to staff to inquire about the referral processes used.

Virtual PIECES Improved the Practice of Staff

LTC staff, RPN champions, and PIECES mentors perceived that virtual PIECES encouraged more holistic assessments as routine practice in addressing responsive behaviors:

You get the chance to look at the person holistically and see what we're missing and then the PIECES assessment helps you do that and it takes you through physical and emotional cognitive abilities. So then by going step by step, you can actually say okay, I'm missing this person or I'm missing this step, they're not on the nursing rehab program, I've missed the pain component. I think it's just highlighted it and making it actionable. [Site 2, RPN Champion 1]

LTC staff had a better understanding of triggers, were less task-oriented, and better able to prioritize care. They became more confident in addressing behaviors and were now looking for inconsistencies in resident assessments. "We check for irregularities...dehydrated she could get confused and agitated because she's not eating and not drinking. We addressed that because of PIECES" [Site 1, Staff 2]. Staff were more knowledgeable in seeking input from families and communicating with them. This helped fill a gap in LTC about how best to involve older adults and families in care. Staff experienced resilience in moving forward with PIECES despite COVID-19 challenges. The PIECES-trained staff team was seen by other staff members as experts.

Virtual PIECES Contained Limited Opportunities for Families to Provide Feedback on Outcomes

Although virtual PIECES involved family, there was a lack of feedback opportunities for family/care partners regarding what actions have been taken as a result of meetings. Family/care partners were interested in knowing whether suggestions were being used by staff and whether the older adults' behaviors had improved.

All I would say is maybe more feedback or more detail of what is being done. We had no idea about, we didn't know about virtual [PIECES] being used or what it is was or how it was used...All we got in the conference was that the social worker spends an hour a day with her, that's all we got. What they do in that hour, I have no idea. [Site 2, FCP 5]

One family/care partner suggested that a phone call would suffice to provide an update. One PIECES mentor similarly recognized the need to seek feedback from families on the implementation process of virtual PIECES.

The one thing I did want to mention is how critical it is in their organizations that they've gone back to their family, the families who have been part of this to kind of use as a reference check for their implementation process so I didn't want to forget them because they have been a big part in the implementation in their respective organizations [PIECES Mentor 3]

Implementation Facilitators

Implementation Facilitators Subthemes

Implementation facilitators of the virtual adaptation of the PIECES approach themes included: (1) huddles were helpful for interdisciplinary team involvement, (2) mentorship provided support and encouragement for staff to deliver virtual PIECES,

```
https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e42731
```

(3) leadership in all forms was key to implementing virtual PIECES, and (4) equipping LTC homes with technological infrastructure was essential.

Huddles Were Helpful for Interdisciplinary Team Involvement

Huddles (ie, LTC staff unit-specific meetings) to engage the interdisciplinary team in virtual PIECES were formally implemented at Site 2. These were helpful in discussing older adults with new responsive behaviors to better understand their past history.

[RPN Champion] had one [huddle] the other day. We were just discussing a new resident and some care approaches too and just like background information on her so just to better understand how to properly care for her and manage her behaviors. [Site 2, Staff 2]

The huddles were found to be a helpful strategy in relieving staff of the burden to seek individual input from various disciplines in their completion of assessments as all staff members were gathered in one meeting. This was especially important when staff were faced with limited time and heavy workloads.

Those huddles are definitely very beneficial. A great way to get information to front line staff very quickly to a mass audience so that huddle and identifying the short form, we really can review and complete a short form in a short amount of time with a multidisciplinary team. The short form essentially can be completed with the input from all the team members at a huddle and there's multidisciplinary team members coming as well. There was dietary, management, front line, PSWs, RPNs, RNs. [Site 2, Staff 1]

Mentorship Provided Support and Encouragement for Staff to Deliver Virtual PIECES

Virtual PIECES delivery was made possible through mentorship provided by managers, senior staff members, and PIECES mentors. PIECES mentors were found to be excellent support for staff as they were experts in PIECES, provided encouragement, and celebrated staff accomplishments.

I was hesitant. [PIECES mentor 2] was very helpful. She really got us through this and I told her now I'm writing a book of [PIECES mentor 2] like focus on her positives and priorities and so I have her now in the back of my mind and saying these things and I carry that out on the floor when I'm working and I thought no matter how fast the pace is, taking a few minutes of extra time, I think that's really what we're taking away from this and I think it's a constant learning, I know more this week than last week and I think there are more residents in each Zoom meeting we've had [Site 1, Staff 1]

PIECES mentors ensured that information was consistently delivered across homes. LTC home administrators were supportive of staff and RPN champions, and made certain that they were provided with dedicated time to participate in training

of PIECES and complete assessment forms. A natural partnership occurred between Site 1 and 2 as a result of the virtual PIECES implementation, and both sites supported each other through sharing of resources such as financial report templates and algorithms that worked well for implementing virtual PIECES.

[Manager] has been involved and she's done a lot of offering ideas and asking for what I would think if I was on the unit. She's done a lot of the process planning and has said do you think that would work or not. And then you guys as well and also collaborating with [Site 2], it has been useful to hear their ideas and how they're doing it. It has been very helpful. I think we've adapted to some of their ideas and maybe vice versa, I don't know if they've used any of our ideas but their algorithm really helped get ours going because I think we had a hard time starting it. [Site 1, RPN Champion 1]

Leadership in All Forms Was Key to Implementing Virtual PIECES

The key to implementing virtual PIECES was the support provided by various leaders such as managers and RPN champions. Staff perceived that RPN champions were excellent role models for the rest of staff. Some staff members also assumed the role of leaders in implementing virtual PIECES and led team huddles.

I know [Site 2 Staff 2]'s here for one of her resources shifts and she was doing that, formally huddling the staff and you could see that she was quite confident and knowledgeable and asking questions to kind of help her to understand what was happening. [Site 2, RPN Champion 1]

Managers and administrators of LTC homes were very supportive of staff in implementing virtual PIECES and saw a need for the intervention due to the increase of responsive behaviors.

The support from leadership and they've had tremendous support and that needs to be on an ongoing way...What is going to be so essential is the ongoing support from leadership and a commitment and this is with all organizations and however big or large the team and whether along continual care, that leadership continues pave the way for the implementation in practice and there has certainly been tremendous leadership support that's just so critical as we move forward [PIECES mentor 1]

Equipping LTC Homes With Technological Infrastructure Was Essential

Staff were able to implement virtual PIECES with the support of their managers and administrators with regard to access to technology and training: "I was not very familiar with Zoom...We've come a long way from not knowing how to plug in the TV" [Site 1, Staff 1]. Videoconferencing was new for many older adults, families, and staff. Over time, and with the technological support and resources, families and staff have become more confident in using Zoom for meetings: "I don't

https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e42731

know whether it was a 1- or 3-month difference...so we are making headway with Zoom and I think people are becoming more used to the virtual communication" [Site 2, Staff 3]. Managers recognized the need to ensure that equipment is being stored securely, devices are connected, and clear instructions/resources are provided for staff and families in using technology: "[Manager] is really instrumental as to finding a place to store the technology, getting it in place, writing out the templates for the staff so I feel that was really well managed" [Site 2, RPN Champion 1].

Implementation Barriers

Implementation Barriers Subthemes

Despite the numerous facilitators and positive experiences with the virtual adaptation of the PIECES approach, there were some barriers reported, including: (1) availability and use of virtual communication technology, and (2) concerns surrounding the presence and involvement of older adults at virtual care conferences.

Availability and Use of Virtual Communication Technology

Virtual PIECES was generally well-received by older adults, family/care partners, and staff. Some family/care partners were comfortable in using virtual communication technology for work-related meetings and other events. Other family/care partners were unfamiliar with the technology.

I had to get help with my daughter, she helped set me up but I'm learning. I will learn eventually how to do it myself, it's just going to take me awhile, I have to see it and do it a few times but I'm finally getting the hang of using my phone regularly, it's an iPhone. I know how to make phone calls and I know how to go online but it's hard. [Site 1, FCP 6]

The study team offered tech support (ie, information technology [IT] squad for a driveway visit) to support family members, but this was declined by participating family members. Other participants recalled minor issues with technology such as connectivity challenges leading to frozen screens or no sound available during family care conference meetings.

Sometimes there's technical difficulties so there could be no sound on one meeting and then another meeting we couldn't get a picture so when things work out just so, you've really climbed a mountain and things are great so the challenge would be more so just the technical aspect of things. [Site 2, Staff 1]

Concerns Surrounding the Presence and Involvement of Older Adults at Virtual Care Conferences

While staff and family/care partners appreciated the involvement of older adults in care planning, the extent of meaningful engagement at virtual care conferences may depend on individual circumstance. Staff and family/care partners perceived that advanced cognitive impairment among older adults may cause them to be upset during meetings as they may not be able to comprehend conversations.

Having the resident present, sometimes it's harder though depending how advanced their dementia is,

like sometimes it's very upsetting to some residents but if they are able to understand what's happening, it's like an interaction so really, very helpful, that the volume is up and the screen is large and if you figure things out, it runs very smoothly...I think the challenges really happen when residents aren't willing to stay because this has been upsetting to them, like we had one, and she said that is not my daughter, what have you done to my daughter, and it got to be too much, so we had to remove her. [Site 1, Staff 1]

Some issues raised were of a sensitive nature, such as new behaviors, and this may have been upsetting for older adults to hear. The sensory impairments of older adults were also perceived by family/care partners as impacting their ability to participate in virtual care conferences due to decreased hearing and sight.

How do you get the nuances of a virtual call when you're 80 and you've never done it and you can't hear very well or your hearing's not as great so I think for us it was probably easier to have the call with [Site 2 Staff 1] with mom not there to actually talk about the issues and I know it's hard, I mean it is good to have mom's perspective but I also do think that [Site 2 Staff 1] also sees her and talks to her too. [Site 2, FCP 3]

Discussion

Principal Findings

To our knowledge, this is the first study to explore the experiences and implementation barriers and facilitators of a virtual adaptation of the PIECES approach in an LTC setting. Overall, virtual PIECES was well-received by participating family/care partners, LTC staff, PIECES mentors, RPN champions, and older adult research partners. Participants described how virtual PIECES supported care planning to address responsive behaviors and provided an opportunity to offer individualized care within the challenging context of the COVID-19 pandemic. Study findings suggest that virtual PIECES has value beyond the pandemic and is an important approach to engage family/care partners in LTC homes who may otherwise be excluded from care processes. LTC staff and family/care partners described how virtual PIECES helped them to provide care that was individually tailored to the life stories, preferences, and abilities of older adults.

Collaboration between family/care partners and LTC staff helped facilitate successful responses for older adults who were experiencing responsive behaviors. Prior research has shown that family members are well-positioned to support LTC staff in recognizing changes in an individual's health because of their extensive familiarity with them [39]. Benefits of virtual care conferences, such as ease of access and inclusivity, were also appreciated by family/care partners and LTC staff. Family/care partners felt they could contribute important information to inform the older adult's care and were also given opportunities to learn about care provision by the LTC home. Despite the well-known benefits of family involvement in care-planning

```
https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e42731
```

processes in LTC, research conducted in the United States found that only 16% of family/care partners participated in care-planning processes [40]. Older adults with more advanced forms of cognitive impairment may require greater involvement of family in care planning as they are unable to verbally communicate their needs and wishes, yet half of older adults in LTC with severe cognitive impairment do not have a family/care partner involved in their assessments [40]. Steps to foster person- and family-centered care can involve collaborative discussions that engage family members through interprofessional education for LTC staff and through the provision of opportunities for staff and family to attend care conferences [41,42]. Interventions in LTC that involve partnerships between family and staff often lead to positive outcomes such as improved quality of life for older adults and decreased burden and depression for caregivers [43,44]. Furthermore, these successful interventions also encouraged multiple key stakeholders to help engage family in care planning [43].

In this study, participants perceived that virtual PIECES, with its emphasis on inclusive and regular engagement and communication, enhanced individualized care for older adults experiencing responsive behaviors. Family/care partners felt that LTC staff knew the older adults on a more personal level and engaged with genuine interest to improve care delivery. This helped to strengthen and build trusting relationships between LTC staff, families, and older adults. Older adults who were unable to take part in virtual care conferences were well-represented by family/care partners who advocated for them, discussed medications and potential triggers for responsive behaviors, and could represent the older adults in decision-making processes, which are all key components of person- and family-centered care [45]. Positive relationships between older adults, family, and staff, as well as regular communication are necessary for collaborative decision-making regarding care [46,47]. Moreover, older adults and/or their families should be engaged in the development of personalized care plans in LTC [40]. Findings from this study highlight the important role that LTC leadership has to facilitate different approaches to person- and family-centered care, a finding that is also documented in the research literature [41]. Virtual communication technology, as implemented in this study, is a recognized tool to support older adults' social connections with their family members [16].

Our findings further demonstrated that the virtual care conferences and team huddles implemented as part of virtual PIECES facilitated the ability of family/care partners and LTC staff to develop care plans to address responsive behaviors. Virtual care conferences held either by video or teleconference have been found to reduce stress among families and providers and increase the confidence of staff in addressing responsive behaviors [48]. Research on a video-consultation program to link health experts with multidisciplinary LTC staff to develop care plans to address responsive behaviors resulted in new recommendations that were followed for 72.3% of older adults [49]. However, despite being invited to participate in care-based discussions to address older adults' behaviors, families rarely participated [49]. This finding suggests there is a need for

XSL•FO RenderX

Garnett et al

improved communication, education, and efforts to foster an inclusive environment so that families are familiar and comfortable with the meaningful role they can have at care conferences. Going forward, it will be important to evaluate the impact of interventions including virtual PIECES on resident outcomes in LTC, such as quality of life, responsive behaviors, agitation, pain, and depression, and fostering LTC staff and family/care partners relationships.

Ensuring that LTC homes had sufficient technological infrastructure was necessary for the successful implementation of virtual PIECES in this study. Family/care partners and LTC staff experienced challenges with the virtual communication technology at varying points, which included a lack of familiarity and receiving insufficient training to use the technology. Identified benefits of using technology to implement virtual PIECES included the ease of providing mentorship through virtual platforms and the facilitation of education to enhance staff practice. This research also highlights policy implications, including an identified need to provide support to families and staff in LTC to use technology, and ensuring that financial and human resources are available to offer technology as a mode of communication for all older adults and families during the pandemic and beyond. Integral to this process would be addressing aspects of equity; providing dedicated funding and IT resource personnel to assist families in accessing internet-based platforms. LTC homes should promote the use of technology among families by conducting online case conferences and family council meetings. Further, it will be important to ensure that diversity and inclusion are considered in the promotion and use of technology for family engagement. This may require closed captioning, an interpreter, language translation, and/or inclusion of culturally relevant care elements in LTC care models. Videoconferencing rather than telephone calls should be encouraged so that emotional connections and familiarity are nurtured by being able to recognize people on screen, and to see facial expressions and nonverbal cues [50]. They should ensure that homes have good quality WiFi in all locations-internal and external to the building-that staff receive technological training and support, and that LTC staff job descriptions recognize the role of staff to assist older adults and family/care partners to engage with technology [16]. Findings from this study suggest that family/care partners are interested in the outcomes of virtual conferences and value opportunities to provide feedback. Henceforth, family/care partners should have opportunities for structured and predictable communication where they can connect with both older adults and the LTC staff [50]. During and beyond pandemics and outbreaks, there would be a benefit to having key staff members assigned as primary contacts for family/care partners to facilitate ongoing tailored communication using video, telephone, or email [51].

Strengths and Limitations

This study exhibits numerous strengths, including participants from key stakeholder groups representing multiple roles within the LTC home; participation of older adults and family/care partners in collaborating in research; in-depth exploration of experiences with the virtual care–planning process, including

https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e42731

facilitators and barriers related to implementation of virtual PIECES; and the use of several strategies to ensure the trustworthiness and rigor of the study findings. Moreover, this is the first known study to implement a virtual adaptation of the PIECES approach in LTC. Limitations identified were the inclusion of only two LTC homes located in Ontario, Canada; the use of single interviews that may have constrained the ability to capture implementation experiences over time; and a lack of participant demographic information such as ethnicity, age, education level, years living in the LTC home, and family/care partner support. Most of the participants in this study were female. This finding is consistent with the gender distribution in LTC, as 90% of paid staff in LTC are women [52].

In an ideal situation, a randomized controlled trial would have been conducted, but given the constraints and challenges of COVID-19, this was an opportunity to explore a useful tool in a different format. In future research, studies could look to compare the usual PIECES format versus virtual PIECES. Family/care partners were provided with a one-page summary describing the virtual PIECES intervention. Despite receiving this information, some family/care partners were still unsure about the purpose of virtual PIECES. Future studies, especially those that include partnering with families and residents, should ensure that participants have full understanding of interventions and be provided with opportunities to ask questions. A potential strategy could be introducing the intervention at family and resident council meetings to offer opportunities for dialogue and clarification.

Conclusion

This study entailed implementing a recognized clinical care planning tool (PIECES) in a virtual format to support the care of older adults experiencing responsive behaviors in LTC within the context of the COVID-19 pandemic. Findings suggest that virtual videoconferencing approaches to team-based care planning can be successfully implemented in LTC, and provide increased opportunities for engagement and inclusivity for LTC staff, family members, and older adults living in LTC. These findings are important because they indicate that family members can continue to be engaged in the care of older adults despite pandemic or outbreak situations, which may necessitate constraints on in-person participation. Moving forward, future research should explore how to effectively embed virtual care-planning processes more broadly into the policy and procedures of LTC homes, including understanding the required infrastructure, training, and supports needed to optimize inclusivity and equity. Important next steps could explore how virtual team-based care-planning approaches could potentially be used in remote locations to increase access to health care specialists such as geriatricians and nurses with geriatric specialization, and to foster engagement of family/care partners who may be unable to participate in person due to work or geographic limitations. Moreover, more research is needed to understand how virtual technology (eg, translation software) could increase engagement for older adults and family/care partners who are from linguistically and culturally diverse populations.

Acknowledgments

We wish to express our sincerest thanks for the insight and shared lived experiences of all participants and collaborators who have held the research team accountable throughout the implementation science project. This work was supported by Healthcare Excellence Canada (formerly Canadian Foundation for Healthcare Improvement and Canadian Patient Safety Institute) through the *LTC+: Acting on Pandemic Learning Together* initiative. This work was also supported by contributions from WeRPN (formerly Registered Practical Nurses Association of Ontario).

Conflicts of Interest

NS is a research consultant contracted to WeRPN to design and implement WeRPN's research strategic plan to encourage and pursue research involving registered practical nurses. She served as a member of the research team as in-kind resources from WeRPN to support the research and conduct knowledge translation and exchange activities for WeRPN members and non-members.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Consolidated Criteria for Reporting Qualitative Research (COREQ) checklist. [DOCX File , 22 KB - nursing v5i1e42731 app1.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Sample focus group and interview questions. [DOCX File, 24 KB - nursing v5i1e42731 app2.docx]

References

- Hsu AT, Lane N, Sinha SK, Dunning J, Dhuper M, Kahiel Z, et al. Impact of COVID-19 on residents of Canada's long-term care homes – ongoing challenges and policy responses. International Long Term Care Policy Network. 2020 May 10. URL: <u>https://ltccovid.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/05/LTCcovid-country-reports_Canada_Hsu-et-al_May-10-2020-2.pdf</u> [accessed 2022-11-30]
- Simard J, Volicer L. Loneliness and isolation in long-term care and the COVID-19 pandemic. J Am Med Dir Assoc 2020 Jul;21(7):966-967 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jamda.2020.05.006] [Medline: 32505516]
- 3. Wang L, Wang Y, Ye D, Liu Q. Review of the 2019 novel coronavirus (SARS-CoV-2) based on current evidence. Int J Antimicrob Agents 2020 Jun;55(6):105948 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ijantimicag.2020.105948] [Medline: 32201353]
- 4. Chu CH, Wang J, Fukui C, Staudacher S, A Wachholz P, Wu B. The impact of COVID-19 on social isolation in long-term care homes: perspectives of policies and strategies from six countries. J Aging Soc Policy 2021 May 09;33(4-5):459-473. [doi: 10.1080/08959420.2021.1924346] [Medline: 33969815]
- Domènech-Abella J, Mundó J, Haro JM, Rubio-Valera M. Anxiety, depression, loneliness and social network in the elderly: Longitudinal associations from The Irish Longitudinal Study on Ageing (TILDA). J Affect Disord 2019 Mar 01;246:82-88. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jad.2018.12.043</u>] [Medline: <u>30578950</u>]
- 6. Holt-Lunstad J. The potential public health relevance of social isolation and loneliness: prevalence, epidemiology, and risk factors. Public Policy Aging Rep 2017;27(4):127-130. [doi: <u>10.1093/ppar/prx030</u>]
- Lara E, Caballero FF, Rico-Uribe LA, Olaya B, Haro JM, Ayuso-Mateos JL, et al. Are loneliness and social isolation associated with cognitive decline? Int J Geriatr Psychiatry 2019 Nov 25;34(11):1613-1622. [doi: <u>10.1002/gps.5174</u>] [Medline: <u>31304639</u>]
- Beerens HC, Zwakhalen SM, Verbeek H, Ruwaard D, Hamers JP. Factors associated with quality of life of people with dementia in long-term care facilities: a systematic review. Int J Nurs Stud 2013 Sep;50(9):1259-1270. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2013.02.005] [Medline: 23465959]
- Cohen-Mansfield J, Marx MS, Freedman LS, Murad H, Regier NG, Thein K, et al. The comprehensive process model of engagement. Am J Geriatr Psychiatry 2011 Oct;19(10):859-870 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/JGP.0b013e318202bf5b] [Medline: 21946802]
- 10. Ansah J, Koh V, Qureshi MA, Matchar DB. Modeling to inform long-term care policyplanning for an aging society. In: Qudrat-Ullah H, Tsasis P, editors. Innovative healthcare systems for the 21st century. Cham: Springer; 2017:183-224.
- Tupper SM, Ward H, Parmar J. Family presence in long-term care during the COVID-19 pandemic: call to action for policy, practice, and research. Can Geriatr J 2020 Dec 23;23(4):335-339 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.5770/cgj.23.476</u>] [Medline: <u>33282052</u>]
- 12. Dementia in long-term care. Canadian Institute for Health Information. URL: <u>https://www.cihi.ca/en/dementia-in-canada/</u> <u>dementia-care-across-the-health-system/dementia-in-long-term-care</u> [accessed 2022-09-14]

- Song Y, Mohamed Nassur A, Rupasinghe V, Haq F, Boström AM, Reid C, et al. Factors associated with residents' responsive behaviours towards staff in long-term care homes: a systematic review. Gerontologist 2022 Jan 30:online ahead of print. [doi: 10.1093/geront/gnac016] [Medline: 35094085]
- de Freitas Oliveira L, Camargos EF, Martini LLL, Machado FV, Carvalho Garbi NMR. Use of psychotropic agents to treat agitation and aggression in Brazilian patients with Alzheimer's disease: A naturalistic and multicenter study. Psychiatry Res 2021 Jan;295:113591. [doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2020.113591] [Medline: 33271491]
- 15. Hindmarch W, McGhan G, Flemons K, McCaughey D. COVID-19 and long-term care: the essential role of family caregivers. Can Geriatr J 2021 Sep 13;24(3):195-199 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5770/cgj.24.508] [Medline: 34484502]
- Ickert C, Stefaniuk R, Leask J. Experiences of long-term care and supportive living residents and families during the COVID-19 pandemic: "It's a lot different for us than it is for the average Joe". Geriatr Nurs 2021 Nov;42(6):1547-1555 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.gerinurse.2021.10.012] [Medline: 34741828]
- 17. Hamilton P, LeClair J, Collins J, Sturdy-Smith C, O'Connell M. PIECES Resource Guide: Guiding collaborative engagement, shared assessment, and supportive care, 7th edition. Toronto: Pieces Canada; 2020.
- McAiney CA, Stolee P, Hillier LM, Harris D, Hamilton P, Kessler L, et al. Evaluation of the sustained implementation of a mental health learning initiative in long-term care. Int Psychogeriatr 2007 Oct 27;19(5):842-858. [doi: <u>10.1017/S1041610206004443</u>] [Medline: <u>17069667</u>]
- 19. Yous M, Ploeg J, Kaasalainen S, Martin LS. Healthcare professionals' perceptions of P.I.E.C.E.S. education in supporting care delivery for older adults with responsive behaviours of dementia in acute care. Gerontol Geriatr Educ 2020 Feb 01;41(1):32-51. [doi: 10.1080/02701960.2019.1572011] [Medline: 30704367]
- 20. Hung L, Lee PA, Au-Yeung AT, Kucherova I, Harrigan M. Adopting a clinical assessment framework in older adult mental health. J Psychosoc Nurs Ment Health Serv 2016 Jul 01;54(7):26-31. [doi: <u>10.3928/02793695-20160616-05</u>] [Medline: <u>27362382</u>]
- 21. Long-term care staffing study. Ontario Ministry of Long-Term Care. URL: <u>https://www.ontario.ca/page/long-term-care-staffing-study#return</u> [accessed 2022-09-13]
- Donnelly C, Ashcroft R, Bobbette N, Mills C, Mofina A, Tran T, et al. Interprofessional primary care during COVID-19: a survey of the provider perspective. BMC Fam Pract 2021 Mar 03;22(1):31 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12875-020-01366-9] [Medline: <u>33535973</u>]
- Farris G, Sircar M, Bortinger J, Moore A, Krupp JE, Marshall J, et al. Extension for community healthcare outcomes-care transitions: enhancing geriatric care transitions through a multidisciplinary videoconference. J Am Geriatr Soc 2017 Mar;65(3):598-602. [doi: 10.1111/jgs.14690] [Medline: 28032896]
- 24. Powers B, Homer M, Morone N, Edmonds N, Rossi MI. Creation of an interprofessional teledementia clinic for rural veterans: preliminary data. J Am Geriatr Soc 2017 May;65(5):1092-1099. [doi: <u>10.1111/jgs.14839</u>] [Medline: <u>28295142</u>]
- 25. Sandelowski M. Whatever happened to qualitative description? Res Nurs Health 2000 Aug;23(4):334-340. [doi: 10.1002/1098-240x(200008)23:4<334::aid-nur9>3.0.co;2-g] [Medline: 10940958]
- Tong A, Sainsbury P, Craig J. Consolidated criteria for reporting qualitative research (COREQ): a 32-item checklist for interviews and focus groups. Int J Qual Health Care 2007 Dec;19(6):349-357. [doi: <u>10.1093/intqhc/mzm042</u>] [Medline: <u>17872937</u>]
- 27. Etikan I. Comparison of Convenience Sampling and Purposive Sampling. Am J Theor Appl Stat 2016;5(1):1. [doi: 10.11648/j.ajtas.20160501.11]
- Kim H, Sefcik J, Bradway C. Characteristics of qualitative descriptive studies: a systematic review. Res Nurs Health 2017 Mar;40(1):23-42 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/nur.21768] [Medline: 27686751]
- 29. Khan SN. Qualitative Research Method Phenomenology. Asian Soc Sci 2014 Oct 30;10(21):298-310. [doi: 10.5539/ass.v10n21p298]
- 30. Steward B. Strategic choices in research planning. In: Finlay L, Ballinger C, editors. Qualitative research for allied health professionals: challenging choices. Chichester, England: Wiley; 2006:30-45.
- 31. Lambert VA, Lambert CE. Qualitative descriptive research: an acceptable design. Pacif Rim Int J Nurs Res 2012;16(4):255-256 [FREE Full text]
- 32. Sandelowski M. What's in a name? Qualitative description revisited. Res Nurs Health 2010 Mar;33(1):77-84. [doi: 10.1002/nur.20362] [Medline: 20014004]
- 33. Vaismoradi M, Turunen H, Bondas T. Content analysis and thematic analysis: implications for conducting a qualitative descriptive study. Nurs Health Sci 2013 Sep 11;15(3):398-405. [doi: <u>10.1111/nhs.12048</u>] [Medline: <u>23480423</u>]
- 34. Elo S, Kyngäs H. The qualitative content analysis process. J Adv Nurs 2008 Apr;62(1):107-115. [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2648.2007.04569.x] [Medline: 18352969]
- 35. Motulsky S. Is member checking the gold standard of quality in qualitative research? Qual Psychol 2021 Oct;8(3):389-406. [doi: 10.1037/qup0000215]
- 36. Slettebø T. Participant validation: exploring a contested tool in qualitative research. Qual Soc Work 2020 Oct 27;20(5):1223-1238. [doi: 10.1177/1473325020968189]
- 37. Lincoln YS, Guba EG, Pilotta JJ. Naturalistic inquiry. Int J Intercult Relat 1985 Jan;9(4):438-439. [doi: 10.1016/0147-1767(85)90062-8]

- 38. Tri-council policy statementhical conduct for research involving humans. Canadian Institutes of Health Research, Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada, Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council. 2018. URL: <u>http://www.pre.ethics.gc.ca/eng/policy-politique_tcps2-eptc2_2018.html</u> [accessed 2022-09-13]
- Powell C, Blighe A, Froggatt K, McCormack B, Woodward-Carlton B, Young J, et al. Family involvement in timely detection of changes in health of nursing homes residents: a qualitative exploratory study. J Clin Nurs 2018 Jan 06;27(1-2):317-327 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/jocn.13906] [Medline: 28557103]
- 40. McCreedy E, Loomer L, Palmer JA, Mitchell SL, Volandes A, Mor V. Representation in the care planning process for nursing home residents with dementia. J Am Med Dir Assoc 2018 May;19(5):415-421 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jamda.2018.01.004] [Medline: 29534863]
- 41. Bender D, Lui K, Holyoke P. Five opportunities for healthcare leaders to better support person- and family-centred care in long-term care settings. Healthc Manage Forum 2017 Jan;30(1):20-25 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0840470416660090] [Medline: 28929898]
- Caspar S, Ratner PA, Phinney A, MacKinnon K. The influence of organizational systems on information exchange in long-term care facilities: an institutional ethnography. Qual Health Res 2016 Jun 12;26(7):951-965. [doi: 10.1177/1049732315619893] [Medline: 26758177]
- 43. Gaugler JE. Family involvement in residential long-term care: a synthesis and critical review. Aging Ment Health 2005 Mar 19;9(2):105-118 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/13607860412331310245] [Medline: 15804627]
- 44. Gaugler JE, Mitchell LL. Reimagining family involvement in residential long-term care. J Am Med Dir Assoc 2022 Mar;23(2):235-240. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jamda.2021.12.022</u>] [Medline: <u>34973167</u>]
- 45. Harrison SL, Cations M, Jessop T, Hilmer SN, Sawan M, Brodaty H. Approaches to deprescribing psychotropic medications for changed behaviours in long-term care residents living with dementia. Drugs Aging 2019 Mar 11;36(2):125-136. [doi: 10.1007/s40266-018-0623-6] [Medline: 30535930]
- 46. Cranley LA, Slaughter SE, Caspar S, Heisey M, Huang M, Killackey T, et al. Strategies to facilitate shared decision-making in long-term care. Int J Older People Nurs 2020 Sep 20;15(3):e12314 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/opn.12314] [Medline: 32196984]
- Mariani E, Vernooij-Dassen M, Koopmans R, Engels Y, Chattat R. Shared decision-making in dementia care planning: barriers and facilitators in two European countries. Aging Ment Health 2017 Jan 21;21(1):31-39. [doi: 10.1080/13607863.2016.1255715] [Medline: 27869501]
- 48. Doyle C, Jackson D, Loi S, Malta S, Moore K. Videoconferencing and telementoring about dementia care: evaluation of a pilot model for sharing scarce old age psychiatry resources. Int Psychogeriatr 2016 Sep;28(9):1567-1574. [doi: 10.1017/S1041610216000740] [Medline: 27189501]
- Catic AG, Mattison ML, Bakaev I, Morgan M, Monti SM, Lipsitz L. ECHO-AGE: an innovative model of geriatric care for long-term care residents with dementia and behavioral issues. J Am Med Dir Assoc 2014 Dec;15(12):938-942. [doi: 10.1016/j.jamda.2014.08.014] [Medline: 25306294]
- 50. Hart JL, Turnbull AE, Oppenheim IM, Courtright KR. Family-centered care during the COVID-19 era. J Pain Symptom Manage 2020 Aug;60(2):e93-e97 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2020.04.017] [Medline: 32333961]
- Hado E, Friss Feinberg L. Amid the COVID-19 pandemic, meaningful communication between family caregivers and residents of long-term care facilities is imperative. J Aging Soc Policy 2020 May 22;32(4-5):410-415. [doi: 10.1080/08959420.2020.1765684] [Medline: <u>32441209</u>]
- 52. Estabrooks CA, Keefe J. COVID-19 crisis in nursing homes is a gender crisis. Policy Options. 2020 May 19. URL: <u>https://policyoptions.irpp.org/magazines/may-2020/covid-19-crisis-in-nursing-homes-is-a-gender-crisis/</u> [accessed 2022-09-13]

Abbreviations

COREQ: Consolidated Criteria for Reporting Qualitative Research IT: information technology LTC: long-term care PSW: personal support worker RN: registered nurse RPN: registered practical nurse



Edited by E Borycki; submitted 15.09.22; peer-reviewed by HH Ju, M Kapsetaki; comments to author 09.10.22; revised version received 24.10.22; accepted 25.11.22; published 13.12.22. <u>Please cite as:</u> Garnett A, Connelly D, Yous ML, Hung L, Snobelen N, Hay M, Furlan-Craievich C, Snelgrove S, Babcock M, Ripley J, Hamilton P, Sturdy-Smith C, O'Connell M Nurse-Led Virtual Delivery of PIECES in Canadian Long-Term Care Homes to Support the Care of Older Adults Experiencing Responsive Behaviors During COVID-19: Qualitative Descriptive Study JMIR Nursing 2022;5(1):e42731 URL: https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e42731 doi:10.2196/42731

PMID:<u>36446050</u>

©Anna Garnett, Denise Connelly, Marie-Lee Yous, Lillian Hung, Nancy Snobelen, Melissa Hay, Cherie Furlan-Craievich, Shannon Snelgrove, Melissa Babcock, Jacqueline Ripley, Pam Hamilton, Cathy Sturdy-Smith, Maureen O'Connell. Originally published in JMIR Nursing (https://nursing.jmir.org), 13.12.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Nursing, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://nursing.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

An mHealth App-Based Self-management Intervention for Family Members of Pediatric Transplant Recipients (myFAMI): Framework Design and Development Study

Riddhiman Adib^{1*}, MS; Dipranjan Das^{1*}, MS; Sheikh Iqbal Ahamed^{1*}, PhD; Stacee Marie Lerret^{2*}, PhD

¹Department of Computer Science, Marquette University, Milwaukee, WI, United States

²Department of Pediatrics, Medical College of Wisconsin, Milwaukee, WI, United States

^{*}all authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author:

Stacee Marie Lerret, PhD Department of Pediatrics Medical College of Wisconsin 8701 West Watertown Plank Road Milwaukee, WI, 53226 United States Phone: 1 4142663944 Fax: 1 4142665781 Email: <u>slerret@mcw.edu</u>

Abstract

Background: Solid-organ transplantation is the treatment of choice for children with end-stage organ failure. Ongoing recovery and medical management at home after transplant are important for recovery and transition to daily life. Smartphones are widely used and hold the potential for aiding in the establishment of mobile health (mHealth) protocols. Health care providers, nurses, and computer scientists collaboratively designed and developed mHealth family self-management intervention (myFAMI), a smartphone-based intervention app to promote a family self-management intervention for pediatric transplant patients' families.

Objective: This paper presents outcomes of the design stages and development actions of the myFAMI app framework, along with key challenges, limitations, and strengths.

Methods: The myFAMI app framework is built upon a theory-based intervention for pediatric transplant patients, with aid from the action research (AR) methodology. Based on initially defined design motivation, the team of researchers collaboratively explored 4 research stages (research discussions, feedback and motivations, alpha testing, and deployment and release improvements) and developed features required for successful inauguration of the app in the real-world setting.

Results: Deriving from app users and their functionalities, the myFAMI app framework is built with 2 primary components: the web app (for nurses' and superadmin usage) and the smartphone app (for participant/family member usage). The web app stores survey responses and triggers alerts to nurses, when required, based on the family members' response. The smartphone app presents the notifications sent from the server to the participants and captures survey responses. Both the web app and the smartphone app were built upon industry-standard software development frameworks and demonstrate great performance when deployed and used by study participants.

Conclusions: The paper summarizes a successful and efficient mHealth app-building process using a theory-based intervention in nursing and the AR methodology in computer science. Focusing on factors to improve efficiency enabled easy navigation of the app and collection of data. This work lays the foundation for researchers to carefully integrate necessary information (from the literature or experienced clinicians) to provide a robust and efficient solution and evaluate the acceptability, utility, and usability for similar studies in the future.

International Registered Report Identifier (IRRID): RR2-10.1002/nur.22010

(JMIR Nursing 2022;5(1):e32785) doi:10.2196/32785

KEYWORDS

RenderX

pediatric patients; transplant; mobile health; mHealth; family self-management; smartphone

https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e32785

Introduction

Solid-organ transplantation is the treatment of choice for children with end-stage organ failure [1,2], such as heart, lung, liver, kidney, pancreas, and small bowel failure. Although transplantation is now a routine surgical procedure throughout hospitals in the United States, it is only a treatment, not a cure. In 2020 alone, approximately 2000 children in the United States received a transplant [3]. The benefits of transplantation are limited by risks of the immediate procedure and chronic immunosuppression [4,5], making the posttransplant period critically important. Posttransplant challenges include the provision of focused discharge plans, family functioning, and family member roles after transplant, which are continuously being explored for pediatric transplant recipients [6-8].

The at-home daily management of posttransplant pediatric patients is of utmost importance and can impact patient and family coping [9]. Families must learn to adjust to multifaceted lifestyle changes and care, such as precise administration of multiple medications, management of abdominal drains and enteral tube feeding, or central line care. These actions, along with planning of follow-up care for laboratory studies and clinical appointments, make family life complex. These challenges are some of the factors that may place patients at risk for readmission in the first 30 days after hospital discharge [10,11]. Parents of pediatric liver and kidney recipients with higher stress levels (self-reported) find greater difficulty with medication administration [12,13]. However, frequent and focused communication and support from the health care team improves postdischarge health outcomes in different patient groups, including patients with heart failure [14], acute kidney injury [15], and type 2 diabetes [16]. As self-management strategies using a mobile health (mHealth) intervention improve overall health outcomes for adult lung transplant patients [17], the same should hold true for pediatric transplant patients.

Considering current technological advancements globally, researchers have been exploring the potential of commonly available smartphone apps for the provision of better and improved health care and support [18-23]. For medically complex adult patients, regular contact and communication through the use of smartphone apps improve general health conditions [24,25]. This creates a provision for providing mHealth interventions through effectively designed smartphone apps that support the interactive partnership between family members and the health care team [26]. A few examples include improvement of well-being [27,28], obesity treatment [29,30], and recovery from alcoholism [31,32]. In addition, patients undergoing transplantation have been identified as an ideal population to utilize and perform mHealth research [33]. Therefore, this is an opportunity to build a smartphone-driven app framework to provide connected health management solutions and support family members of pediatric transplant recipients.

This paper reports the outcomes of the design and development of a smartphone-based intervention app for an mHealth family self-management intervention (myFAMI) for families of pediatric transplant recipients. The research project was initiated

```
https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e32785
```

by a collaborative team of health care providers, pediatric nurses, and computer scientists. The myFAMI protocol is described in the protocol manuscript [34]. The features and functionalities of the developed myFAMI smartphone app and associated software framework are reviewed. We outline the key points in designing such an app, the challenges, and the strategized development procedure. The motivation for this project was to leverage the usage of consumer digital health care and its potential for supporting transplant families after hospital discharge. myFAMI was designed to support the exchange of information between the caregiver (family) and the health care team (nurses). The aim of this research is to use the action research (AR) methodology to build a well-designed and evidence-based mHealth intervention app (myFAMI).

Methods

The myFAMI software framework was designed using the AR methodology [35,36] based on prior research motivations and completed through separate stages of research and development: research discussions, feedback and modifications, alpha testing, and deployment and release improvements.

Design Motivation

The initial discussion for provision of the intervention for family members included building cellular text-based information provision. Although the usage of cellular text seems feasible and reliable, it was not comprehensive to complete the full list of our requirements for this research project (ie, capture of survey completion time, assure individual notification receipt). Lessons from previously completed text-based interventions [37,38] helped the research team plan for commonly known issues. The research team collaborated biweekly over 3 months to discuss all functionalities, use cases, user bases, and the timeline.

The collaborative research team comprised health care providers, nurses, and computer scientists. The team planned a randomized controlled trial (RCT) with myFAMI [34] as the treatment and standard postdischarge follow-up care as the control. The intervention promoted daily communication, facilitated through a smartphone app, which led the research team to the design and development of such an app framework. Family units of pediatric transplant recipients (heart, kidney, liver transplants) from four major US-centered pediatric transplant programs were recruited for the study. Inclusion and exclusion criteria were used to select a bias-free population group and were randomized to reduce bias [34].

The research problem for this part was to develop a software framework that was:

- Available for all (most) smartphone users (Android and iOS)
- Available for the survey submission (within the time frame)
- Able to notify users for survey submission through smartphones
- Technically error free (minimal to no bugs in the software)

The primary design motivations were:

XSL•FO

- Easier connectivity with the nurses: Family members needed to connect with the nurses on a daily basis, and the primary point was to have easier and fluent connectivity with nurses.
- Interesting and colorful: To avoid monotony, the app needed to feel interesting and look colorful to the end users.
- Error free and easy to use: Since the intervention is technology assisted, getting an error during live use would add bias to the study results. For this reason, the app needed to be absolutely error free and intuitive to use.

Although the focus was on the end users, that is, family members of pediatric patients, the framework was developed in such a way that nurses and system admins could easily use and navigate the system with personalized access. The set of requirements defined the ideal app for this purpose and guided the research team in designing the final framework.

Action Research Methodology

The AR methodology [35,36] was adopted for the design of the myFAMI framework to support the collaborative research between a team of providers, nurses, and computer scientists. The AR methodology [39,40] is the study of technology, its applications in the real world, and the practical real-world consequences of those technology-assisted actions. Our research aimed to follow the set of research approaches under AR, with a focus on technology design.

Within AR, the researcher tries to provide a service to a research client (in our case, nurses), as well as simultaneously add to the

knowledge in that particular domain (in our case, discharge support in pediatric solid-organ transplantation patient family members). AR aims to both improve the client of the study as well as obtain further insights into the design, which is one of the key appeals of AR. As described in detail in the Results section, myFAMI was designed with 3 level of access roles to the app framework, and specific functionalities in each access were curated with care from individuals within that access level. Upon collection of requirements, the research team had recurring meetings to decide on a set of features that is feasible within the development timeline yet significantly boosts the productivity of the complete procedure with minimal steps. All the webpages and app pages went through multiple iterations of feedback, and following the AR methodology, changes were made based on that feedback.

Within the app design phase, the key idea was to focus on the ease of use of the technology. Any research team can prototype an idea and build an app framework; however, the framework will only become useful and meaningful when it is used in practice, and AR focuses on practice.

Research Stages

A multidisciplinary research team, including health care providers, pediatric nurses, and computer scientists, worked collaboratively to conceptualize and generate the smartphone app framework. Figure 1 portrays the workflow of the development process, that is, the workflow and timeline of the design and development process of the myFAMI app framework.

Figure 1. Workflow and timeline of the design and development process of the myFAMI app framework. Bidirectional arrows represent moving back and forth between stages, and unidirectional arrows represent moving forward with time. myFAMI: mHealth family self-management intervention.





Stage 1: Research Discussions

Based on the literature review, expertise-based knowledge of pediatric transplantation and previous experience of the development of app frameworks, the research team initiated relevant research discussions. The primary focus of these discussions included deciding on the most important features, defining the problem key points, laying out basic functionalities, deciding on the best intervention method (text message vs smartphone), confirming user roles, and laying out alpha testing plans and timelines. A limited number of research meetups were conducted to decide on the key points in this context.

Stage 2: Feedback and Modifications

In the next stage, the computer scientists in the team started building the minimum viable product (MVP) [41], while the nurses continued to evaluate it. At this stage, the team had more frequent meetings and decided on advanced functionalities for the app. Transplant family members were not involved in this stage; however, they contributed to the final shape of the MVP in the later stage of development (stage 4). The meeting discussion points frequently moved back and forth between stages 1 and 2 and explored potential factors to improve efficiency, user comfort features, and potential errors. This led to some major bug fixing on the app framework.

Stage 3: Alpha Testing

In this stage, the major task was to test the apps for any potential bugs or errors. The nurses took turns in role-playing and went through each section of the apps. A few issues were identified: (1) A check for enabling in-app notifications was needed in case any notification through the apps was missed; (2) test pagers were missed a few times, which was resolved promptly; and (3) the slider for survey response in the iOS app was accidentally set at 2 at startup, which was fixed. All the issues were resolved to prepare the framework for final deployment. The research team also decided on ways to download user data and portray them in the admin panel at this stage.

Stage 4: Deployment and Release Improvements

After completion of the alpha testing stage, the myFAMI app framework was deployed in the field. Although the initial deployment to the real world (running the public server, releasing the app in the respective app store, ie, Google Play Store and Apple App Store) was completed at this stage, access to the participants continued over time based on the timeline of the intervention protocol. Minor changes were made at this stage based on feedback from the 2 participating transplant families (as beta testers) of the trial: (1) In the earlier version, the word "emesis" was used and changed to "vomiting" in later releases, and (2) some other texts required rewording to properly express the true content, such as the notification response "You should expect a phone call" was changed to "Thank you for your participation. You may be contacted by the study team to discuss one or more of your concerns." These minor changes significantly improved the overall user experience and concerns expressed by the participants.

System Component Description

Users and Their Roles

The target audience of the intervention app was family members of pediatric transplant patients. From the app development perspective, to make the intervention effective, we included 3 types of users in the app ecosystem:

- Participants: By "participant," we refer to the family members of the pediatric transplant patients. Since they were "participating" in this intervention, we used this term, contrary to other options, such as "patients" or "users." Participants only had access to the smartphone apps and were unaware of the other components. The primary role of the participants was to check in daily in the myFAMI smartphone app and to complete the required survey on the pediatric transplant patient's health status and coping difficulty.
- Nurses: Nurses in the hospitals were one of the key user groups in our framework. Nurses were primarily responsible for responding to trigger alerts by the participants. Because of this, nurses' access was limited only to the myFAMI web admin panel.
- Superadmin: On the highest level, the superadmin had access to the database itself and app codes required for the registration of participants to the myFAMI smartphone app. The superadmin access was limited to a small number of people, the project principal investigator (PI), and the app management team. The research assistant and the PI's role was to preregister the participants through the superadmin access. The superadmin access was provided through the admin panel generated by the Django web framework (Django Software Foundation), and it was minimally used except in cases of emergencies.

App Components and General Functionalities

myFAMI is a multicomponent, user-centered app with multiple modular fragments efficiently tied together and available on both Android and iOS platforms. The prime components of the framework are:

- The web app (for nurses' and superadmin usage) with Application Programming Interface (API) endpoints (for web server connectivity with the smartphone app)
- The smartphone app (for participants' usage).

The participants are registered through the web app and use the smartphone app, which stores and retrieves information on the web server, as required.

The process starts when a family agrees to be a participant in the study after discussion with the physician. The participant is registered by the research assistant or the PI through the myFAMI web admin panel. Each participant's personal information is stored privately within REDCap [42], where only the research team has access to it. Individually, each participant is connected through a unique "study id," which is only known to the nurses and unknown to the participants. While registering to the system, the participants are also provided access to the myFAMI smartphone app, although its access is not granted until the patient is released home with the family.

https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e32785

A general overview of the day-to-day operation of the myFAMI app ecosystem is shown in Figure 2. It portrays step-by-step

communication stages between the participants, the web server, nurses, and the superadmin.

Figure 2. Interaction between app components and users' actions. API: Application Programming Interface; myFAMI: mHealth family self-management intervention.



Per protocol of the designed intervention (described in detail in Lerret et al [34]), at day 1 after hospital discharge, the myFAMI participants (intervention group) are granted access to the myFAMI smartphone app through the myFAMI web app. The participants log in to the myFAMI smartphone app, and their specialized access token is stored on the smartphone. This token is used throughout the study to authenticate their identity and access to the server. Every day at 8:00 AM local time, the web server pushes notifications to the participants for a reminder to submit survey responses. After the participants submit their responses, the response is sent to the web server, stored, and further analyzed to identify the immediate potential problem. If a potential problem (eg, serious deterioration of health outcome measures) is identified, the web server automatically triggers an alert notification to the nurse team. This alert contains information about the issue for the specific participant. The nurse then responds by calling the participant within 2 hours to discuss the potential problem. If no alert is triggered, no action is taken, and the response is simply stored in the web server for later reviewing by the research team.

Based on the action cycle and study protocol planned, a set of basic requirements were decided by the collaborative research team for the myFAMI app ecosystem. The goal was to build all the basic functionalities, distribute the functionalities as best fitted, and later improve based on discussions in iterations. The basic requirements discussed were:

- Participant actions:
 - Register and log in.
 - Receive a notification for a reminder.
 - View, answer questions, and submit the survey.
- Research team actions:
 - Log in to the admin panel.
 - Register new participants.
- https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e32785

RenderX

- View participant details, survey submission dates, and individual survey responses.
- Download and visualize survey response data.
- Update alert trigger communication media: pagers, phone numbers, or emails.

Factors to Improve Efficiency

One key feature of our study was a focus on specific components that would add ease of access and usability for the participants using the myFAMI smartphone app. Any generic smartphone app would be able to collect relevant data needed; however, in many studies, we face the issue of missing data [43]. A main reason for this issue is the lack of human-centered design in smartphone apps [44] and apathy toward responding correctly. To mitigate these issues and to motivate the participants to regularly and easily submit responses, we focused on a few factors that improve overall efficiency. These features included improvements to the participant experience to make it easy and intuitive to take actions in the app. In our case, we improved on the following:

- Personal encouragement messages: To avoid monotonicity of daily push notifications in the myFAMI smartphone app, we added a variety of motivating text messages. Personalized text messages have been shown to improve the overall user response in smartphone interventions [45,46]. The personalized messages in myFAMI are related to the number of days passed past discharge and adding a personal tone to the scheduled notifications. A few examples are:
 - "Welcome to Day 1 of the transplant study. Please complete the questions on the app by 10:00 AM today. Thanks for your participation."
 - "Good morning! Due to popular demand, we have your questions for today! Please view now."

- "Only 1 more week to go! Check out today's questions! Thanks for helping with this study."
- Clean and clear progress bar: During early testing of the myFAMI smartphone app, we explored test users not answering all questions, because of not remembering how many questions need to be answered in a complete survey daily. In the first phase, we added a textbox saying "Question 1 of 8." However, it still did not change much, since users do not always read all the texts. Since a visual cue is better than a textual cue [47], we added a clear progress bar along with that, which visually shows how much of the survey is left. This feature helped participants in getting an idea of the end line for the daily surveys.
- Easily interpretable responses: In specific questions (eg, "Does your child have a fever?"), when the participants responded "Yes," we aimed to ask them additional questions on the actions taken. This is part of the train-up completed prior to releasing, and since this is a standard follow-up question, asking about it helps the nurses make a decision and reach back to the participants with further information. In its response, that goal was to incorporate easy-to-understand responses that make the survey submission more personal and like a conversation. A few examples are:
 - "I have not done anything different."
 - "I have given a medication."
 - "I have changed the diet."

Results

Principal Findings

Here, we describe the complete end product of the myFAMI app as a result of the AR methodology maintained through our design and development process. First, we discuss an overview of the app framework, followed by a description of 2 complementary app components, the admin web app with API endpoints and the smartphone app. Our final product, as targeted, successfully presents myFAMI and works great as a communication bridge between family caregivers (participants) and nurses.

Web App and API Endpoints

The web app (for nurses' and superadmin usage) with API endpoints (for web server connectivity with smartphone apps) is the main power source of myFAMI. The web app runs directly on the web server and connects the myFAMI smartphone app with the web server through API endpoints. API endpoints signify a set of connections between computer programs, more commonly a software interface to connect with another software [48]. The myFAMI web app is written in pure Python language on the Django web framework [49]. The Django web framework is wildly popular in the software development community and has been used to develop popular web services [50], such as Instagram, Mozilla, and Pinterest. A few benefits [49,50] of the Django web framework to build web apps are as follows: (1) Django provides an easy user authentication protocol, (2) Django has built-in admin panel support for easier and faster development, and (3) Django follows the model-view-template

(MVT) pattern and handles the controller by itself, allowing developers to easily code and prototype with fewer errors.

The primary focus of the myFAMI web app is threefold: (1) provide access to daily operation for nurses, (2) provide access to superadmins for smooth operation and overview, and (3) keep API endpoints running for the myFAMI smartphone app. We broadly categorize and describe specific features for individual groups within the myFAMI web app.

Screenshots of individual modules of the myFAMI web app are presented in Figures 3-8, along with a brief discussion below. Personalized information is redacted through color coding (red represents the myFAMI web app username, orange represents personalized information by participants, blue represents a unique appcode for participant access control, brown represents a unique study id for the participant, purple represents original survey responses, green represents true time, and yellow represents communication endpoints).

For the superadmin access level, the main features of the myFAMI web app are based on component creation:

- Registration of a new hospital center: We started participant registration at 1 major US pediatric transplant center and later added 3 other large centers for the study. The centers are located in different time zones, so the superadmins had to create "Hospital" entities through the myFAMI web app along the studies. The time zone was significant since it allowed us to notify participants from different locations to get smartphone notifications daily at the same time (8:00 AM).
- Registration of a new nurse: Several registered nurses were employed for the study. One of the key features of the myFAMI web app is to register new nurses to the system and provide them credentials so that they can log in to (and log out of) the myFAMI web app, as well as start receiving trigger alerts (discussed later in the Smartphone App: Android and iOS section).
- Update communication for alerts: The myFAMI web app also has a Settings page for communication endpoints. Two email and pager numbers for the PI and the team of research nurses are set for receiving the triggers, and the numbers are not hard-coded but are rather set up as a changeable field for flexibility and easier adjustments driven by the study (Figure 8). The trigger emails/texts contain specific information about the participant survey responses.

We broadly categorized the features in the myFAMI web app for nurses into 4 groups:

- Registration of participants: Nurses can log in to the myFAMI web app to register new participants (Figure 3). They can also enable/disable the app access from their end, as well as register participants to receive daily notifications for the smartphone app.
- View participants and survey responses: Nurses (and researchers) can obtain an overview of the total list of participants under individual study centers (Figure 4) and also go to a specific participant's profile (Figure 5). The option to view individual survey responses (Figure 6) is

also available to make better inferences about the next course of action.

- Overview of data: For researchers, we included 2 individual options to download the aggregated dataset from the admin panel. One download option was for researchers where the responses were stored as plain text, and the other download option was for the statistician where the datasets were coded by numbers (along with a codebook provided). This was helpful since data could be accessed and visualized while the study was ongoing.
- Graphical representation: For data visualization, a graphical overview of all survey responses by a single participant (Figure 7) is provided in the myFAMI web app. The feature is immensely helpful and helps nurses obtain a quick overview of the past status of the pediatric transplant patient at home.

Finally, we list selected significant API endpoints with actions on the web server as well as the smartphone, and their rationale as well, as shown in Table 1.

Figure 3. Web app screenshot: registration of new participants in the myFAMI web app. myFAMI: mHealth family self-management intervention.

Dashboard myfami	l≡		•
•	Add Participant		Home > myfami
Search O	Participant Information		
	Patient Name		
MAIN NAVIGATION	Type in the name of patient	B	
🖵 Patients	Hospital		
Add Patient		•	
Settings	Study Id		
ABOUT	Type in the study id		
	App Code		
O FAQ	EC3AEPJA		
About myFAMI	Gender		
	Male	•	
	Address		
	Enter		

Figure 4. Web app screenshot: dashboard after log-in by researcher. myFAMI: mHealth family self-management intervention.

Dashboard myfami	=		» 🔜 «
•	Participants		Home > myfami
Search Q	Participant Information		
MAIN NAVIGATION	# Study Id Patient Name Hospital	Gender App Code Activated App	
Patients	1 myFami Demo	Male 🤟	
Add Patient	2	Female 💙	
Settings	3	Male 🤟	
	4	Male 🗱	
	5	Female 🖌	
FAQ	6	Male 🖌	
O About myFAMI	7	Male 🤟	
	8	Male 💙	
	9	Female 🖌	
	10	Male 🖌	



Figure 5. Web app screenshot: specific participant details. myFAMI: mHealth family self-management intervention.

Dashboard myfami	=	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	*
•	Participants	Home > myfa	mi
Search Q		Survey List	
MAIN NAVIGATION		# Surveys Taken	
🖵 Patients	Study Id	1. Test Taken at Feb. 12, 2019, 9:18 a.m.	
Add Patient	App Code	2. Test Taken at Feb. 13, 201, 9:03 a.m.	
Settings	Activated V	3. Test Taken at Feb. 14, 20. 8:10 a.m.	
ABOUT		4. Test Taken at Feb. 15, 20 , 9:49 a.m.	
O FAQ	Activated before I year, I month	5. Test Taken at Feb. 16, 20 <mark>0</mark> , 9:28 a.m.	
About muEAM	Export for Researcher	6. Test Taken at Feb. 17, 20, 9:20 a.m.	
About myrami	Export for Statistician	7. Test Taken at Feb. 19, 200, 9:38 a.m.	
		8. Test Taken at Feb. 20, 20 <mark>11</mark> , 8:15 a.m.	
	Informations	9. Test Taken at Feb. 22, 2011, 8:59 a.m.	
	Q Address	10. Test Taken at Feb. 23, 20 , 8:42 a.m.	

Figure 6. Web app screenshot: single survey response by a single participant. myFAMI: mHealth family self-management intervention.





Figure 7. Web app screenshot: graphical summary of all survey responses by a single participant. myFAMI: mHealth family self-management intervention.



Figure 8. Web app screenshot: update page for communication endpoints (pager numbers and emails). myFAMI: mHealth family self-management intervention.

Dashboard myfami	=	© «
•	Settings	Home > myfami
Search Q	Settings Details	
	Pager 1	
MAIN NAVIGATION		
🖵 Patients	Pager 2	
Add Patient		
Settings	Pager 3	
ABOUT	Email 1	
O FAQ		
O About myFAMI	Email 2	
	Save	



Table 1. Web API^a endpoints with functionality description, rationale, and action on smartphones.

API endpoint	Functionality	Action on smartphone apps	Rationale
<base_url>/appcode/ver- ify/<str:appcode>^b</str:appcode></base_url>	Verify appcode	Activates a specific user based on the appcode	After installing the myFAMI ^c smartphone app, participants are authorized for the survey through a unique appcode. The API endpoint validates individual appcodes and stops intruders/accidental users who get access to the myFAMI app through app stores.
<base_url>/token/up- load/<str:plat- form>/<str:app- code>/<str:token></str:token></str:app- </str:plat- </base_url>	FCM ^d token upload with platform information (iOS/Android)	Collects a unique FCM token from the smartphone and uploads it to the web server	The token is used by the FCM service to send daily notifi- cations to the appropriate recipient. The API endpoint up- loads a unique FCM token to the myFAMI web server.
<base_url>/user/verify</base_url>	User authentication	Collects log-in credentials and checks with the web server	The API endpoint checks log-in credentials of the participants and allows them access to the myFAMI smartphone app.
<base_url>/sur- vey/save/<str:appcode></str:appcode></base_url>	Save survey responses	Saves the daily survey response	The API endpoint stores daily survey responses by partici- pants and stores them on the web server.
<base_url>/send/notifi- cation</base_url>	Send push notifications from the FCM server to the myFA- MI smartphone app	When a push message is received from the FCM server, shows the notification to the participant us- ing the app	When called, the API endpoint pushes a notification prompt to the FCM server, which pushes a notification to the indi- vidual's smartphone. Participants in the intervention group received daily notifications for 30 days.

^aAPI: Application Programming Interface.

^bThe "str" in the endpoint signifies a string code in the codebase.

^cmyFAMI: mHealth family self-management intervention.

^dFCM: Firebase Cloud Messaging.

Smartphone App: Android and iOS

Although the myFAMI web app keeps running in the background for smoother operation of the intervention, the myFAMI smartphone is the user interface that the participants respond to and interact with. The myFAMI smartphone is built for 2 individual platforms, Android and iOS, to cover the broad range of smartphones the participants might have. For easier availability, the apps are made available in both app stores (Google Play Store and Apple App Store). Android and iOS are the two most popular smartphone operating systems currently and hold over 99% of market users as of 2021 [51]. In case a participant did not have any of these 2 types of smartphones, they were provided with one with the myFAMI app installed.

Both versions of the myFAMI smartphone app are identical and built with native code support, in Android Studio using the Android software development kit (SDK) [52] with Native Java as the programming language [53] and in XCode [54] with Swift programming language [55]. Both the programming languages are wildly adopted in the programming world, and the SDKs have been maintained for a long time by the Android community and Apple.

The prime feature of the myFAMI smartphone app is easier connectivity with the web server, through (1) a reminder to complete the survey questions with daily notifications sent from the web server and (2) capturing of the user response to the survey and storing it on the web server.

For the smartphone apps, we summarize the prime features:

• Participant access: The participants can log in to the myFAMI smartphone app through provided credentials.

```
https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e32785
```

The app access is provided on the day of patient's hospital discharge; however, the app is not activated yet until the next day. When the nurses activate the specific app access (through the appcode in myFAMI web app), the participants get access to the intervention and can submit survey responses. The personalized study id for an individual participant is not shown in the myFAMI app.

- Survey notifications: Participants receive a daily reminder notification at 8:00 AM local time for the 30 days of intervention. The notification is shown by the myFAMI smartphone app and takes participants directly to the submit survey page. The notification is sent from Firebase Cloud Messaging (FCM) [56] servers through the myFAMI web server and is a key component of the myFAMI app framework. For every day, there is a personalized message for the notification (discussed in the Factors to Improve Efficiency section).
- Survey submission: The prime task of the participants in the myFAMI smartphone app is to complete the daily survey and submit it. The survey starts the next day after installation (day of patient's hospital discharge) for 30 consecutive days and contains 8 questions as part of the intervention. The questions have a clear progress bar on top to understand the progress level of the survey, a clear description, and colorful illustrations (collected from royalty-free image websites) relevant to the questions. Participants can submit once a day starting at 8:00 AM local time and cannot submit more than once a day. In this study, participants were encouraged to submit responses between 8:00 AM and 10:00 AM local time. After 30 days of the intervention, the app shut off submission of further surveys.

XSL•FO RenderX

The daily survey for participants consists of 8 specific questions regarding the health status of pediatric transplant patients. The daily survey is based on myFAMI [34], which is built upon individual and family self - management theory, with a focus on family self - management of pediatric transplant recipients at home.

The first 5 questions focus on clinical symptoms (ie, fever, vomiting, diarrhea, pain, and illness) because these can result in hospital readmission. Family members have 3 response options (ie, yes, no, and don't know). A response of yes or don't know prompts a trigger alert for the nurse to call the family for further discussion and an additional question to gather more

data and inform the trigger alert conversation with the family. The last 3 questions assess difficulty with coping, administering medications, and attending hospital appointments. These difficulty questions are measured with a Likert scale of 0 to 10, where 0 represents no difficulty and 10 represents a great deal of difficulty. Any response of 3 or greater prompts a trigger alert for the nurse to call the family for further discussion (trigger notification); see Table 2.

An outline of individual questions, response options, and the rationale is discussed in detail [34]. Screenshots of selected pages of the myFAMI smartphone app are presented in Figures 9-12.

Table 2.	Outline of individual of	uestions in the m	vFAMIa smartphone app	with responses an	d trigger components.
	o annie or marriadan e	acouono m une m	ji i initia sinareprisite app	, min responses an	a ingger componenter

Concern	Response type	Response options	Additional question (if answered yes or don't know)	Trigger
Fever	3 survey options	Yes/no/don't know	Please provide additional information (select only one option):	Yes/don't know
			(a) I have not done anything different.	
			(b) I have administered a medication.	
			(c) I have changed the diet.	
			(d) I have done something else.	
Vomiting	3 survey options	Yes/no/don't know	Please provide additional information (select only one option):	Yes/don't know
			(a) I have not done anything different.	
			(b) I have administered a medication.	
			(c) I have changed the diet.	
			(d) I have done something else.	
Diarrhea	3 survey options	Yes/no/don't know	Please provide additional information (select only one option):	Yes/don't know
			(a) I have not done anything different.	
			(b) I have administered a medication.	
			(c) I have changed the diet.	
			(d) I have done something else.	
Pain	3 survey options	Yes/no/don't know	Please provide additional information (select only one option):	Yes/don't know
			(a) I have not done anything different.	
			(b) I have administered a medication.	
			(c) I have changed the diet.	
			(d) I have done something else.	
Illness	3 survey options	Yes/no/don't know	Please provide additional information (select only one option):	Yes/don't know
			(a) I have not done anything different.	
			(b) I have administered a medication.	
			(c) I have changed the diet.	
			(d) I have done something else.	
Coping	Likert scale	0 (no difficulty) to 10 (great deal of difficulty)	N/A ^b	≥3
Medication	Likert scale	0 (no difficulty) to 10 (great deal of difficulty)	N/A	≥3
Appointments	Likert scale	0 (no difficulty) to 10 (great deal of difficulty)	N/A	≥3

^amyFAMI: mHealth family self-management intervention. ^bN/A: not applicable.

Please take today's test

Address



Figure 10. First question of the survey with specific question, relevant colorful illustration, and clear progress bar.



Question 1 of 8

No



Does your child have a fever of 100.4F or greater?



Yes



XSL•FO RenderX

)

Figure 11. Interpretable responses as follow-up for selecting "Yes" or "Don't know" in the previous question.



Figure 12. "Thank you" message after successful completion of survey submission.





A key component of the myFAMI app framework is the trigger alerts sent to the nurses. A preidentified response of yes or don't know for the first 5 symptom-related questions or a response of 3 or greater to the last 3 coping-related questions in the myFAMI web server sends a trigger alert to the study nurses. A notification with participant details and the survey response is sent to the communication endpoints, including 2 emails and 2 pager numbers (PI and study nurses) for a prompt response. The trigger alert notifies the nurses and tracks the participants who may benefit from a phone call from one of the study nurses. A brief overview of the trigger alert process is also detailed in Figure 1.

Discussion

Principal Findings

We discussed the final design of the myFAMI app framework in detail, with a technical breakdown of the ecosystem. In this section, we present our principal findings from planning, designing, developing, and executing the myFAMI app framework. The general acceptability and usability portray the potential to involve more family members of pediatric transplant patients for further research. The major strength of our design process is the integration of the AR methodology with theory-based intervention [57], in the context of transplant patient care, along with the application of specific factors to improve efficiency in order to improve the usability of the app. However, there are minimal differences in the content and execution of the proposed framework, which were limitations of our integrated process.

Strengths

The key strength of the research conducted for myFAMI is the process of integrating theory-based intervention [57] with the AR methodology [39,40]. myFAMI is the first of its kind intervention—the first RCT on the efficacy of a theory-based intervention on pediatric transplant patients' and families' postdischarge adjustment at home. The myFAMI app framework needed to be fluent and flawless to be able to handle the intervention over 4 major US-centered pediatric centers. We emphasized on adding action, reaction, and adjustment cycle to the software framework to fit in with the AR methodology, as well as prepare a robust app ecosystem for myFAMI.

Second, the identification and incorporation of factors to improve efficiency in the myFAMI app framework improved the overall user experience. Since the myFAMI app framework had 2 different sections (web app and smartphone app) and user groups (nurses and family members), we had to consider the unique user experiences, comfort, appropriate features, and communication format. Personal encouragement messages helped the participants remain on track with survey submissions as well as avoid the monotony of the daily survey submission. The focus was a friendly support system for the family. While completing the survey using the smartphone app, a clean and clear progress bar provided a sense of completion. Finally, the options for additional questions are framed in such a way that the survey feels like a conversation and the automation of the process seems less mechanical. Another key strength of the design process was the iterative research discussions and opportunity to discuss concerns. The complete framework went through several software versions before the final MVP, which is in the essence of the AR methodology. For example, initially the image related to the question on diarrhea had an image with a person sitting on a toilet. Upon discussion, the image was replaced. The research meetings helped both the provider and computer scientists in planning a better software solution; the provider learned about the intricate process of software development and technology, and the computer scientists learned about a medical intervention conduction protocol. This reflexivity is one of the core components of the AR methodology and is generated in a better pool of knowledge, which can be impactful for future research as well.

Finally, automated visualization of aggregated survey responses was meaningful for the research team to monitor. A line chart for temporal data is a clean and straightforward visualization; however, it allowed for detecting a pattern out of individual pediatric patient responses. Our future exploration includes complex data visualization on aggregated patient subgroups.

Limitations

Our proposed myFAMI app framework is highly effective in capturing responses for a smartphone-based intervention; however, there are limitations. As a software application, there were minor bugs identified during the deployment of the solution. Although alpha testing captured about 95% of commonly faced issues, new sets of issues arose when the app was deployed in the real world [58]. Even after rigorous testing, we faced random issues, including empty notifications triggered in the app. It is important to identify and resolve random bugs in the event notification prompting at the local time of the server, not the participant. One important limitation with app design was that pediatric transplant patient family members only provided feedback during beta testing. Transplant team members (nurses and doctors) were included in earlier development phases (ideation and alpha testing). Future projects should consider family member inclusions in the ideation phase of similar app development. Another key issue was to ensure that the survey response was not submitted accidentally. The protocol ensured the survey was actually submitted by the participant and not accidentally. To mitigate this, log-in credentials were required by the app for each submission; however, alpha testing showed that this reduced survey responses. Later, this security check was removed and a single prompt ("Are you sure you want to submit?") was used to minimize accidental submissions.

Future Directions

Our research completes a working prototype for myFAMI using smartphones; however, there are unexplored future directions that could improve the user experience as well as aid future researchers explore a similar problem domain. Primarily, for our myFAMI smartphone app, the survey questions would be randomized to reduce the risk of bias introduced by the survey question order [59] or survey fatigue [60]. Individual sets of images can be selected and shown in random in place of one single image for each question to avoid monotony. Additionally, different sets of colors or patterns of stripes for the myFAMI

smartphone app need to be added as the color scheme, making it suitable for the color-blind population [61]. Second, for the myFAMI web app, better visualization tools (circular area chart or violin plot in place of a line plot) could be incorporated to improve the researchers' experience. Finally, for myFAMI in general, a communication protocol for reconnection and encouragement can be established in case a participating family frequently misses survey submissions. Positive reinforcement is already added in the smartphone app ("You are doing great" after survey submission).

Conclusion

In this paper, we presented an overview of the design and development of the myFAMI app framework. We discussed relevant factors to improve efficiency, development features, and general insights by conducting a smartphone-based intervention for families of pediatric transplant recipients. Based on the literature review, this is the first study that evaluates a smartphone-based intervention to improve family self-management for family members of children who received a heart, kidney, or liver transplant. Our study portrays a need for strong collaboration between computer scientists, expert providers, and nurses in addressing technical difficulties and making it a successful intervention through the AR methodology. This study also lays the foundation for researchers to carefully integrate necessary information (from relevant stakeholders, their experience, or the literature) to provide a robust and efficient solution and evaluate the acceptability, utility, and usability for similar studies in the future.

Acknowledgments

Research reported in this publication was supported by the National Institute of Nursing Research of the National Institutes of Health (award no. K23NR017652). The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the National Institutes of Health.

We would like to acknowledge and thank the following members of the mentoring team: Drs Schiffman, White-Traut, Medoff-Cooper, and Simpson.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- Black CK, Termanini KM, Aguirre O, Hawksworth JS, Sosin M. Solid organ transplantation in the 21 century. Ann Transl Med 2018 Oct;6(20):409-409 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.21037/atm.2018.09.68] [Medline: 30498736]
- Clavien P, Camargo CA, Croxford R, Langer B, Levy GA, Greig PD. Definition and classification of negative outcomes in solid organ transplantation. Application in liver transplantation. Ann Surg 1994 Aug;220(2):109-120. [doi: 10.1097/00000658-199408000-00002] [Medline: 8053733]
- 3. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Transplants in the US by recipient age. United Network for Organ Sharing. URL: <u>https://optn.transplant.hrsa.gov/data/view-data-reports/national-data/#</u> [accessed 2021-08-10]
- 4. Fisher R. Cytomegalovirus infection and disease in the new era of immunosuppression following solid organ transplantation. Transpl Infect Dis 2009 Jun;11(3):195-202. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1399-3062.2009.00372.x</u>] [Medline: <u>19228345</u>]
- 5. Snydman D. Epidemiology of infections after solid-organ transplantation. Clin Infect Dis 2001 Jul 01;33 Suppl 1(s1):S5-S8. [doi: 10.1086/320897] [Medline: 11389515]
- Lerret S, Weiss M, Stendahl G, Chapman S, Menendez J, Williams L, et al. Pediatric solid organ transplant recipients: transition to home and chronic illness care. Pediatr Transplant 2015 Feb;19(1):118-129 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/petr.12397] [Medline: 25425201]
- Lerret SM, Johnson NL, Haglund KA. Parents' perspectives on caring for children after solid organ transplant. J Spec Pediatr Nurs 2017 Jul 31;22(3):e12178. [doi: 10.1111/jspn.12178] [Medline: 28371009]
- Cousino MK, Rea KE, Schumacher KR, Magee JC, Fredericks EM. A systematic review of parent and family functioning in pediatric solid organ transplant populations. Pediatr Transplant 2017 May 08;21(3):e12900. [doi: <u>10.1111/petr.12900</u>] [Medline: <u>28181361</u>]
- Poh P, Lee J, Loh Y, Tan T, Cheng K. Readiness for hospital discharge, stress, and coping in mothers of children undergoing cardiac surgeries: a single-center prospective study. Pediatr Crit Care Med 2020 May;21(5):e301-e310. [doi: 10.1097/PCC.0000000002276] [Medline: 32168300]
- McAdams-Demarco MA, Grams M, Hall E, Coresh J, Segev D. Early hospital readmission after kidney transplantation: patient and center-level associations. Am J Transplant 2012 Dec;12(12):3283-3288 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1600-6143.2012.04285.x] [Medline: 23016838]
- Patel M, Mohebali J, Shah J, Markmann J, Vagefi P. Readmission following liver transplantation: an unwanted occurrence but an opportunity to act. HPB (Oxford) 2016 Nov;18(11):936-942 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.hpb.2016.08.003] [Medline: 27642080]

- 12. Gerson A, Furth S, Neu A, Fivush B. Assessing associations between medication adherence and potentially modifiable psychosocial variables in pediatric kidney transplant recipients and their families. Pediatr Transplant 2004 Dec;8(6):543-550. [doi: 10.1111/j.1399-3046.2004.00215.x] [Medline: 15598321]
- 13. Fredericks E. Family roles and routines after pediatric liver transplantation: implications for quality of life and beyond. Pediatr Transplant 2012 Nov;16(7):688-691 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1399-3046.2012.01775.x] [Medline: 22905950]
- 14. Kalista T, Lemay V, Cohen L. Postdischarge community pharmacist-provided home services for patients after hospitalization for heart failure. J Am Pharm Assoc (2003) 2015;55(4):438-442. [doi: 10.1331/JAPhA.2015.14235] [Medline: 26161487]
- Elvey R, Howard S, Martindale A, Blakeman T. Implementing post-discharge care following acute kidney injury in England: a single-centre qualitative evaluation. BMJ Open 2020 Aug 13;10(8):e036077 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2019-036077] [Medline: 32792434]
- Michaud TL, Siahpush M, Schwab RJ, Eiland LA, DeVany M, Hansen G, et al. Remote patient monitoring and clinical outcomes for postdischarge patients with type 2 diabetes. Popul Health Manag 2018 Oct;21(5):387-394. [doi: 10.1089/pop.2017.0175] [Medline: 29583057]
- DeVito Dabbs A, Song MK, Myers BA, Li R, Hawkins RP, Pilewski JM, et al. A randomized controlled trial of a mobile health intervention to promote self-management after lung transplantation. Am J Transplant 2016 Jul;16(7):2172-2180 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/ajt.13701] [Medline: 26729617]
- Hasan MK, Haque MM, Adib R, Tumpa JF, Begum A, Love RR, et al. SmartHeLP: smartphone-based hemoglobin level prediction using an artificial neural network. AMIA Annu Symp Proc 2018;2018:535-544 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 30815094]
- Abroms LC, Lee Westmaas J, Bontemps-Jones J, Ramani R, Mellerson J. A content analysis of popular smartphone apps for smoking cessation. Am J Prev Med 2013 Dec;45(6):732-736 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2013.07.008] [Medline: 24237915]
- 20. Walter B, Schmid R, von Delius S. A smartphone app for improvement of colonoscopy preparation (ColoprAPP): development and feasibility study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2017 Sep 20;5(9):e138 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.7703] [Medline: 28931498]
- 21. Tuttle K, Kelemen A, Liang Y. Use of smartphone apps for improving physical function capacity in cardiac patient rehabilitation: systematic review. JMIRx Med 2020;2(3):e21906. [doi: 10.2196/21906]
- 22. Johnson NL, Lerret S, Klingbeil CG, Polfuss M, Gibson C, Gralton K, et al. J Pediatr Nurs 2020;54:42-49. [doi: 10.1016/j.pedn.2020.05.022] [Medline: 32531681]
- Woods L, Duff J, Roehrer E, Walker K, Cummings E. Design of a consumer mobile health app for heart failure: findings from the nurse-led co-design of Care4myHeart. JMIR Nurs 2019;2(1):e14633 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/14633] [Medline: 34345774]
- 24. Naylor M, Brooten D, Campbell R, Maislin G, McCauley K, Schwartz J. Transitional care of older adults hospitalized with heart failure: a randomized, controlled trial. J Am Geriatr Soc 2004 May;52(5):675-684. [doi: 10.1111/j.1532-5415.2004.52202.x] [Medline: 15086645]
- 25. McGarrigle L, Todd C. Promotion of physical activity in older people using mHealth and eHealth technologies: rapid review of reviews. J Med Internet Res 2020 Dec 29;22(12):e22201 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/22201] [Medline: 33372894]
- Starkweather A, Jacelon CS, Bakken S, Barton DL, DeVito Dabbs A, Dorsey SG, et al. The use of technology to support precision health in nursing science. J Nurs Scholarsh 2019 Nov;51(6):614-623 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/jnu.12518] [Medline: 31566870]
- Howells A, Ivtzan I, Eiroa-Orosa F. Putting the 'app' in happiness: a randomised controlled trial of a smartphone-based mindfulness intervention to enhance wellbeing. J Happiness Stud 2014 Oct 29;17(1):163-185. [doi: 10.1007/s10902-014-9589-1]
- Mak W, Tong A, Yip S, Lui W, Chio F, Chan A, et al. Efficacy and moderation of mobile app-based programs for mindfulness-based training, self-compassion training, and cognitive behavioral psychoeducation on mental health: randomized controlled noninferiority trial. JMIR Ment Health 2018 Oct 11;5(4):e60 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mental.8597] [Medline: 30309837]
- Allen JK, Stephens J, Dennison Himmelfarb CR, Stewart KJ, Hauck S. Randomized controlled pilot study testing use of smartphone technology for obesity treatment. J Obes 2013;2013:151597 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1155/2013/151597] [Medline: 24392223]
- Bonn S, Hult M, Spetz K, Löf M, Andersson E, Wiren M, et al. App technology to support physical activity and intake of vitamins and minerals after bariatric surgery (the PromMera Study): protocol of a randomized controlled clinical trial. JMIR Res Protoc 2020 Aug 14;9(8):e19624 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/19624] [Medline: 32795990]
- 31. McTavish FM, Chih M, Shah D, Gustafson DH. How patients recovering from alcoholism use a smartphone intervention. J Dual Diagn 2012;8(4):294-304 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/15504263.2012.723312] [Medline: 23316127]
- Perski O, Lumsden J, Garnett C, Blandford A, West R, Michie S. Assessing the psychometric properties of the digital behavior change intervention engagement scale in users of an app for reducing alcohol consumption: evaluation study. J Med Internet Res 2019 Nov 20;21(11):e16197 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/16197] [Medline: 31746771]

- 33. Fleming J, Taber D, McElligott J, McGillicuddy J, Treiber F. Mobile Health in solid organ transplant: the time is now. Am J Transplant 2017 Sep;17(9):2263-2276 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/ajt.14225] [Medline: 28188681]
- 34. Lerret SM, White Traut R, Medoff Cooper B, Simpson P, Adib R, Ahamed SI, et al. Pilot study protocol of a mHealth self management intervention for family members of pediatric transplant recipients. Res Nurs Health 2020 Jan 27;43(2):145-154 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/nur.22010] [Medline: 31985067]
- 35. Avison DE, Lau F, Myers MD, Nielsen PA. Action research. Commun. ACM 1999 Jan;42(1):94-97. [doi: 10.1145/291469.291479]
- 36. Hayes G. Knowing by doing: action research as an approach to HCI. In: Olson J, Kellogg W, editors. Ways of Knowing in HCI. New York, NY: Springer; 2014:49-68.
- Ahsan G, Tumpa J, Adib R, Ahamed S, Petereit D, Burhansstipanov L, et al. A culturally tailored intervention system for cancer survivors to motivate physical activity. 2018 Presented at: IEEE 42nd Annual Computer Software and Applications Conference (COMPSAC); 23-27 July 2018; Tokyo, Japan p. 875-888. [doi: <u>10.1109/compsac.2018.00151</u>]
- 38. Williams D, Ahsan G, Addo I, Ahamed S, Petereit D, Burhansstipanov L, et al. Building a tailored text messaging system for smoking cessation in Native American populations. 2018 Presented at: IEEE 42nd Annual Computer Software and Applications Conference (COMPSAC); 2018; Tokyo, Japan p. 866-874. [doi: 10.1109/compsac.2018.00150]
- 39. Kock N. Information Systems Action Research: An Applied View of Emerging Concepts and Design. New York, NY: Springer Science & Business Media; 2007:A.
- 40. Robertson J. The three Rs of action research methodology: reciprocity, reflexivity and reflection-on-reality. Educ Action Res 2006 Dec 20;8(2):307-326. [doi: 10.1080/09650790000200124]
- 41. Moogk D. Minimum viable product and the importance of experimentation in technology startups. Technol Innov Manag Rev 2012;2(3):23-26. [doi: 10.22215/timreview/535]
- 42. Harris P, Taylor R, Minor B, Elliott V, Fernandez M, O'Neal L, REDCap Consortium. The REDCap consortium: building an international community of software platform partners. J Biomed Inform 2019 Jul;95:103208 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2019.103208] [Medline: 31078660]
- 43. Molenberghs G, Kenward M. Missing Data in Clinical Studies. New York, NY: John Wiley & Sons; 2007:-536.
- 44. Brick J, Kalton G. Handling missing data in survey research. Stat Methods Med Res 1996 Sep;5(3):215-238. [doi: 10.1177/096228029600500302] [Medline: 8931194]
- 45. Leightley D, Puddephatt J, Jones N, Mahmoodi T, Chui Z, Field M, et al. A smartphone app and personalized text messaging framework (InDEx) to monitor and reduce alcohol use in ex-serving personnel: development and feasibility study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2018 Sep 11;6(9):e10074 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/10074] [Medline: 30206054]
- 46. Luther L, Fischer M, Johnson-Kwochka A, Minor K, Holden R, Lapish C, et al. Mobile enhancement of motivation in schizophrenia: a pilot randomized controlled trial of a personalized text message intervention for motivation deficits. J Consult Clin Psychol 2020 Oct;88(10):923-936. [doi: 10.1037/ccp0000599] [Medline: 32790451]
- 47. Cheema A, Bagchi R. The effect of goal visualization on goal pursuit: implications for consumers and managers. J Mark 2011 Mar;75(2):109-123. [doi: 10.1509/jmkg.75.2.109]
- 48. Ofoeda J, Boateng R, Effah J. Application programming interface (API) research: a review of the past to inform the future. Int J Enterp Inf Syst 2019;15(3):76-95. [doi: <u>10.4018/ijeis.2019070105</u>]
- 49. Holovaty A, Kaplan-Moss J. The Definitive Guide to Django: Web Development Done Right. New York, NY: Apress; 2009:1-479.
- 50. Django. Why Django?. 2021. URL: https://www.djangoproject.com/start/overview/ [accessed 2021-07-01]
- 51. Statista. Mobile OS Market Share 2021. URL: <u>https://www.statista.com/statistics/272698/</u> global-market-share-held-by-mobile-operating-systems-since-2009/ [accessed 2021-08-01]
- 52. Schwarz R, Dutson P, Steele J, To N. The Android Developer's Cookbook: Building Applications with the Android SDK. New York, NY: Pearson Education; 2013:-321.
- 53. Arnold K, Gosling J, Holmes D. The Java Programming Language. Boston, MA: Addison Wesley Professional; 2005:-321.
- 54. Allan A. Learning iPhone Programming: From Xcode to App Store. Sebastopol, CA: O'Reilly Media; 2010:1-4493.
- 55. Wells G. The Future of iOS Development: Evaluating the Swift Programming Language. Claremont McKenna College Student Scholarship 2015:1-21. [doi: 10.1007/978-1-4842-0400-9_17]
- 56. Moroney L. Firebase cloud messaging. In: The Definitive Guide to Firebase. Berkeley, CA: Apress; 2017:163-188.
- Knafl K, Havill N, Leeman J, Fleming L, Crandell J, Sandelowski M. The nature of family engagement in interventions for children with chronic conditions. West J Nurs Res 2017 May;39(5):690-723 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0193945916664700] [Medline: 27596106]
- 58. Huerta F. The Bug in Production: What You Don't Know Can and Will Harm You. 2019 May 19. URL: <u>https://devops.</u> <u>com/the-bug-in-production-what-you-dont-know-can-and-will-harm-you/</u> [accessed 2021-05-01]
- 59. Thau M, Mikkelsen M, Hjortskov M, Pedersen M. Question order bias revisited: a split ballot experiment on satisfaction with public services among experienced and professional users. Public Admin 2020 Aug 04;99(1):189-204. [doi: 10.1111/padm.12688]
- 60. Sinickas A. Finding a cure for survey fatigue. Strateg Commun Results 2007;11(2):11.

61. Collinge R. How to Design for Color Blindness Internet. 2017 Jan 16. URL: <u>https://usabilla.com/blog/how-to-design-for-color-blindness/</u> [accessed 2021-05-12]

Abbreviations

API: Application Programming Interface
mHealth: mobile health
MVP: minimum viable product
MVT: model-view-template
myFAMI: mHealth family self-management intervention
PI: principal investigator
RCT: randomized controlled trial
SDK: software development kit

Edited by E Borycki; submitted 10.08.21; peer-reviewed by S Wilkinson, A Joseph; comments to author 07.10.21; revised version received 01.11.21; accepted 14.11.21; published 04.01.22.

Please cite as:

Adib R, Das D, Ahamed SI, Lerret SM An mHealth App-Based Self-management Intervention for Family Members of Pediatric Transplant Recipients (myFAMI): Framework Design and Development Study JMIR Nursing 2022;5(1):e32785 URL: https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e32785 doi:10.2196/32785 PMID:34780344

©Riddhiman Adib, Dipranjan Das, Sheikh Iqbal Ahamed, Stacee Marie Lerret. Originally published in JMIR Nursing (https://nursing.jmir.org), 04.01.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Nursing, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://nursing.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Personality, Attitudes, and Behaviors Predicting Perceived Benefit in Online Support Groups for Caregivers: Mixed Methods Study

Athena Milios^{1,2}, MSc; Ting Xiong^{2,3}, MSc; Karen McEwan², BA; Patrick McGrath^{1,2}, PhD

¹Department of Psychiatry, Dalhousie University, Halifax, NS, Canada

²Centre for Research in Family Health, Izaak Walton Killam Health Centre, Halifax, NS, Canada

³Institute of Health Policy, Management and Evaluation, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada

Corresponding Author:

Ting Xiong, MSc Centre for Research in Family Health Izaak Walton Killam Health Centre 5980 University Ave Halifax, NS, B3K 6R8 Canada Phone: 1 877 341 8309 ext 7 Email: <u>ting.xiong@dal.ca</u>

Abstract

Background: Online support groups (OSGs) are distance-delivered, easily accessible health interventions offering emotional, informational, and experience-based support and companionship or network support for caregivers managing chronic mental and physical health conditions.

Objective: This study aimed to examine the relative contribution of extraversion, agreeableness, neuroticism, positive attitudes toward OSGs on social networking sites, and typical past OSG use patterns in predicting perceived OSG benefit in an OSG for parents and caregivers of children with neurodevelopmental disorders.

Methods: A mixed methods, longitudinal design was used to collect data from 81 parents across Canada. Attitudes toward OSGs and typical OSG use patterns were assessed using the author-developed Attitudes Toward OSGs subscale (eg, "Online support groups are a place to get and give emotional support") and Past Behaviors in OSGs subscale (eg, "How often would you typically comment on posts?") administered at baseline—before OSG membership. The personality traits of extraversion, agreeableness, and neuroticism were assessed at baseline using the Ten-Item Personality Inventory. Perceived OSG benefit was assessed using the author-developed Perceived OSG Benefit scale (eg, "Overall, did you feel supported by other members in this group?"), administered 2 months after the initiation of OSG membership.

Results: A hierarchical regression analysis found that extraversion was the only variable that significantly predicted perceived OSG benefit (R^2 =0.125; *P*<.001).

Conclusions: The key suggestions for improving future OSGs were facilitating more in-depth, customized, and interactive content in OSGs.

(JMIR Nursing 2022;5(1):e36167) doi:10.2196/36167

KEYWORDS

online support groups; personality; support group; online support; peer support; caregiver; caregiving; caring; mother; father; usage pattern; extraversion; neuroticism; neurotic; agreeable; benefit; eHealth; Canada; North America; parent; neurodevelopment disorder; attitude; online behavior; emotional support; perceived benefit

Introduction

Background

RenderX

Online Support Groups (OSGs), or internet support groups, are health-focused online communities accessible through specific

```
https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e36167
```

websites or social networking sites (SNS). OSGs are increasing in use with the development of SNS, because they provide a means for caregivers to build social support networks [1]. Different channels of OSGs may influence OSG use and behaviors. For example, OSG users in closed groups via SNS may have higher levels of and more positive self-disclosure

than those on public forums [2]. Overall, participating in OSGs can help caregivers promote their well-being [3], facilitate information exchange and interaction [4,5], reduce depressive symptoms, and improve the quality of life [6].

A major advantage of OSGs, among other distance-delivered health interventions, is that they are accessible to a wide range of individuals seeking support to manage their health and well-being, in addition to being very cost-efficient for the health care system [7]. OSGs facilitate access to psychological (emotional) support, informational support, and companionship [8]. OSGs have shown great promise; however, further investigation is needed to assess factors influencing participation and user well-being, as measured by self-assessed or perceived benefit from the group [9,10]. Many previous efforts in understanding OSGs do not use well-validated measures to predict or assess the characteristics of those who participate and benefit from OSGs [11]. Demographic variables such as socioeconomic status and gender do not provide a complete enough measure to explain why and how much people participate in and benefit from OSGs [1].

Personality as a Predictor of OSG Use and Benefit

The personality traits found to be of the highest relevance in predicting OSG use and perceived benefit were extraversion [12], agreeableness [13-15], and neuroticism [14,16]. The openness and conscientiousness personality traits were not widely found to be predictors of OSG use or benefits. More specifically, Pornsakulvanich [13] found that of the Big Five personality traits, agreeableness positively predicted satisfaction (a construct closely related to perceived benefit) from online support. Agreeableness is characterized social bv cooperativeness, generosity, sympathy, and altruism [17]. Agreeableness has been shown to predict SNS use; for example, it is related to the number of pages viewed by SNS users [14,15]. Moreover, SNS (eg, Facebook) users in general (not just OSG users) also tend to be more extroverted than nonusers [12,14]. Extraversion is characterized by sociability, assertiveness, and the ability to experience positive emotions [17,18]. Extroverts tend to belong to more Facebook support groups [19] and are more likely to use SNS to establish social connections and friendships [15,20]. Furthermore, Moore and McElroy [21] found that neuroticism was associated with SNS (Facebook) use. Neuroticism is associated with distrustfulness, sadness, anxiety, embarrassment, and poor stress tolerance [17,18,21].

Attitudes as a Predictor of OSG Use and Benefit

Overall attitudes toward SNS (not just OSGs specifically) can predict how often people use social media to find social support [13]. Attitudes toward SNS can also predict satisfaction with perceived support from SNS [13].

Behaviors as a Predictor of OSG Use and Benefit

Caregivers of patients with autism spectrum disorder who participate in OSGs have positive views regarding OSGs and high levels of support satisfaction from the groups [22]. Coulson [23] found that OSGs help provide patients with both informational and emotional support and that participation in OSGs benefits patients with inflammatory bowel disease by

helping members to be more positive and improve their sense of well-being.

Demographics as Predictors of OSG Use and Benefit

Choi and colleagues [1] examined 5 components related to OSG participation: (1) demographics, (2) reading behaviors, (3) posting behaviors, (4) perceived roles in OSGs, and (5) values sought from OSGs. They found the most sought values in OSGs to be emotional support, experience-based informational support, unconventional informational support, and medical fact–based informational support. Lurkers (ie, passive OSG participants) demonstrate less extroverted behavior than posters, which could mean that lurkers possess certain preexisting characteristics or traits that make them less likely to actively participate in OSGs compared to posters [24]. Lurkers are also generally less satisfied with their OSG experience and benefit less from OSGs than those who actively post [8,24,25].

Objective and Hypotheses

The main objective of this study was to examine how (1) personality, (2) attitudes toward OSGs, and (3) typical behaviors in OSGs explain perceived OSG benefit. This objective was evaluated through an OSG we developed via SNS (ie, Facebook). More specifically, the goal was to determine the relative contribution of the personality traits of extraversion, agreeableness, and neuroticism, as well as attitudes toward OSGs and typical past OSG use behaviors, in predicting perceived OSG benefit (the outcome variable). To be able to predict OSG participation and the health benefits that typically ensue, a reliable and validated measure of potential predictors such as personality factors, attitudes toward OSGs use is needed.

It was hypothesized that extraversion, agreeableness, and neuroticism would be significant predictors of perceived benefit from the current OSG. A positive attitude toward OSGs was also expected to predict perceived OSG benefit [13,26]. Finally, it was hypothesized that past typical OSG use would predict perceived benefit from the current OSG.

Methods

Participants

The 2 intervention arms of an internet-based, 3-arm randomized controlled trial (RCT) [27] for caregivers of children with neurodevelopmental disorders and challenging behaviors formed the sample of the study. The control arm of the RCT did not receive invitations for OSG. The participants were 81 parents and caregivers of children aged 4-14 years, who are diagnosed with a neurodevelopmental disability including autism spectrum disorder, attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder, cerebral palsy, Down syndrome, epilepsy, fetal alcohol spectrum disorder, global developmental delay, intellectual disability, learning disability, and spina bifida. Participants were recruited nationally in Canada through service provider clinics and organizations, emails, social media campaigns, posters, and brochures. No extra incentive was provided for taking part in the study. Informed consent was obtained through a web-based consent form administered through the mystudies.ca website. Participants were informed about the length of the survey, the

purpose of the study, the investigator team, and data storage place and plan, and their questions about the study were answered before giving consent to the study. Access to the participants' data was restricted to the trained staff of the research team via institutional laptops or computers with antivirus software. The completion rate was 50.6% (81/160) of the eligible participants who received the emails containing the surveys.

Procedure

This study used mixed methods-there were both quantitative and qualitative components. Upon completing the pre-OSG baseline survey (Multimedia Appendix 1), participants were invited to join the closed Facebook OSG corresponding to their arm of the RCT program (either coached or self-managed) and provided with a welcome message containing guidelines for group participation. The surveys of the study were not advertised externally due to the closed membership of the OSG. After 2 months of OSG membership, the Perceived OSG Benefit scale (Multimedia Appendix 2) was administered. Both surveys were completed through the REDCap software (REDCap Consortium) [28], and the surveys were closed, which means that invitation links were shared with participants via email. Filling in the survey was entirely voluntary, and choosing not to participate did not influence any treatment that the participants were entitled to in the RCT.

OSG Content

The OSGs were both asynchronous web pages for text-based, peer-to-peer networking. There was a parent facilitator in each group welcoming new parents and encouraging positive discussion. This facilitator was also a parent of a child with a neurodevelopmental disorder and had experience using OSGs. The parent facilitator posted regularly to help members engage with module content and encourage them to practice the skills they were learning with their children; the overall purpose of each OSG was to connect parents, providing a platform for them to discuss specific topics and skills (eg, parenting strategies) as they were learning them, as well as to ask questions and share personal experiences. Parent facilitators received remuneration for their time. The OSG followed a relatively unstructured format-the role of the facilitator was simply to encourage discussion based on what members seemed interested in discussing, but there were no specific guidelines for the topics that had to be discussed as long as the issues were loosely related to the program and were appropriate based on the guidelines for group participation that they were given when they first joined the group.

Scale Development

To solicit items for the surveys, a literature search of OSGs for illnesses was conducted. Based on this search, a pre-OSG survey containing Likert-style responses was developed, called Personality, Attitudes, and Behavior around Health Forums (see Multimedia Appendix 1), to assess personality and attitudes toward OSGs and typical OSG use behaviors. To measure perceived group benefit, a survey was developed and named Perceived OSG Benefit (Multimedia Appendix 2). Both surveys were assessed by a panel of 10 health psychology experts and

a panel of 10 parent advisors to improve the clarity of the items, solicit additional scale items, and assess the face and content validity of the items in each scale. Each member gave their independent assessment of whether the items in each scale were interrelated and whether they were true measures of the construct each subscale was designed to assess. The experts also commented on the practicality of the tools. Feedback regarding ambiguous, repetitive, or undesirable items was provided. The feedback was used to create a revised draft. The use of reverse-coded items was minimized for clarity purposes, to avoid cognitive burden for participants, and to reduce respondent fatigue [29].

Measures

Demographics and Past OSG Behaviors

The first section of the baseline survey asks about demographic variables (ie, age, gender, duration of illness, and length of previous experience with OSGs). The next 4 questions ask about the nature of their typical participation patterns in OSGs (eg, their frequency of posting, commenting, and reacting to and viewing posts) based on all previous OSGs the parents have joined. An example of the questions is "How often would you typically comment on posts?"

Personality

The Ten-Item Personality Inventory includes 10 questions assessing the Big Five personality traits [30]. It has shown good construct validity and consistency reliability in a range of samples [30]. This study used the subscales to assess extraversion, agreeableness, and neuroticism. The items were each scored on a scale from 1-7, and their average was subsequently calculated for each trait. In this study, the internal consistency was 0.77 for extraversion, 0.52 for agreeableness, and 0.43 for neuroticism.

OSG Attitudes

The OSG attitudes subscale contains 10 questions related to attitudes (ie, beliefs and expectations) toward OSGs, including motivations for why an individual may want to use an OSG. There are questions regarding attitudes toward the usefulness of OSGs in providing various types of social support: emotional support (ie, "Online support groups are a place to get and give emotional support,"), medical and health-related informational support, and experience-based informational support [1,8,13,31,32]; the perceived trustworthiness of OSGs [1,31]; its usefulness for hope [23,24]; connection and friendship [33]; perceived enjoyment [13]; reducing isolation; raising awareness surrounding chronic illness [33]; and the sense of community [31].

Perceived OSG Benefit Scale

The Perceived OSG Benefit scale assesses to what extent participants perceived benefit from the OSG. The first 9 questions were adapted from previous literature and are rated from 1 to 5 on a Likert-type scale, with higher scores indicating higher perceived benefits. They ask about the perceived benefits of the OSG regarding providing support [22,33] (ie, "Overall, did you feel supported by other members in this group?"); meeting participant needs [34,35]; solving problems [22,35];
increasing parental hope [23]; reducing caregiver distress [22]; increasing self-efficacy [22,36]; well-being [23]; sense of community [31]; and overall satisfaction [1]. Question 10 (open-ended and qualitative) asks if there is anything else participants would like to add about how the group helped (or did not help) them.

Data Analysis

For the quantitative data, an a priori power analysis was performed using G*Power statistical software (version 3.1) [37]. The required sample size was calculated to be 80. Only individuals who completed all measures were included in the analyses. The psychometric properties of the 3 author-constructed scales (ie, OSG Attitudes, Past Behaviors, and Benefits) were assessed by internal consistency (ie, Cronbach α coefficient) and construct validity (ie, exploratory factor analyses).

A multiple hierarchical linear regression was performed to analyze the proportion of variance that the outcome variable was accounted for by each predictor (independent) variable. The 5 predictor variables were the total scores for extraversion, agreeableness, neuroticism, attitudes toward OSGs, and typical past OSG use behaviors; the outcome variable was perceived OSG benefit. The regression assumptions of (1) normally distributed residuals (the error terms must be normally distributed), (2) homoscedasticity (the variance of the errors must be roughly constant around the least-squares line), (3) linearity (the predictor variables must have a linear relationship with the outcome variables), (4) no multicollinearity, and (5) the absence of influential outliers were checked before running the regression to confirm that the data were suitable for a regression analysis. The qualitative data were analyzed using an inductive thematic analysis by AM [38]. The main themes were extracted from each participant's written (open-ended) response, following the steps outlined by Braun and Clarke [38]. In the first step, each response was read multiple times to get a general feel for the content. In the second step, the data were systematically reduced into smaller chunks by looking for emerging issues within each response. In the third step, preliminary themes were extracted. In the final step, the responses were all reviewed and compared among each other to develop and solidify common themes and subthemes [38,39].

Ethics Approval

This study was approved by the Research Ethics Board at the IWK Health Centre (1023970). The study was performed in accordance with the guidelines and regulations from the Research Ethics Board of IWK Health Centre. In addition, informed consent was obtained from the participants, and the respondents were fully informed of the purpose and procedures of the study. They were also assured of the confidentiality of information.

Results

Descriptive Statistics

The descriptive statistics (Table 1) revealed some interesting findings: notably, the entire (81/81, 100%) sample was female; most (33/81, 41%) have had their child's diagnosis for over 5 years; and roughly half (39/81, 48%) had been using OSGs for over 3 years, meaning that they were experienced OSG users.



Milios et al

Table 1. Demographic characteristics and online support group (OSG) use behaviors (N=81).

Demographic variable	Participant, n (%)	
Age of caregiver (years)		
18-29	5 (6)	
30-49	67 (83)	
50-64	8 (10)	
≥64	1 (1)	
Gender of caregiver		
Male	0 (0)	
Female	81 (100)	
Intervention group		
Coached	40 (49)	
Self-managed	41 (51)	
Time since child's diagnosis (years)		
<1	19 (23)	
1-3	18 (22)	
3-5	11 (14)	
>5	33 (41)	
Length of time accessing OSGs (years)		
<1	21 (26)	
1-2	21 (26)	
3-4	18 (22)	
≥5	21 (26)	
Frequency of creating posts in OSGs		
Once a month or less	47 (58)	
Every other week	15 (18)	
Weekly	16 (20)	
Daily or almost daily	3 (4)	
Commenting frequency on posts		
Once a month or less	24 (30)	
Every other week	26 (32)	
Weekly	14 (17)	
Daily or almost daily	17 (21)	
Reacting (like, dislike, and love, etc) frequency to posts		
Once a month or less	18 (22)	
Every other week	11 (14)	
Weekly	21 (26)	
Daily or almost daily	31 (38)	
Viewing frequency of posts		
Once a month or less	2 (2)	
Every other week	3 (4)	
Weekly	14 (17)	
Daily or almost daily	62 (77)	

XSL•FO RenderX

Psychometric Properties of Author-Constructed Scales

The internal consistency reliabilities of the Perceived OSG Benefit scale, the Attitudes Toward OSGs subscale, and Past Behaviors in OSGs subscale were Cronbach α =0.93, 0.78, and 0.82, respectively. Exploratory factor analyses were conducted to explore the factor structure and preliminarily assess the construct validity of the Attitudes Toward OSGs subscale and the Perceived OSG Benefit scale. Both scales revealed 1 principal component (construct), and each item had clear conceptual coherence with the main construct (latent variable) it was designed to measure (ie, attitudes toward OSGs and perceived OSG benefit). The items in the Attitudes Toward OSGs survey were part of a larger measure, "Personality, Attitudes, and Behaviors around Health Forums." The eigenvalue was 4.0, and the principal factor extracted explained 39.8% of the variance in the latent variable (positive attitudes toward OSGs). Factor analyses of the Perceived OSG Benefit scale also led to the extraction of 1 main factor (construct), providing evidence that the construct of self-reported OSG benefit is in fact unidimensional, meaning all the items in the self-reported OSG benefit survey were designed to assess benefit derived from OSGs. The eigenvalue for the principal factor was 6.1; this factor explained 68.3% of the variance in the latent variable (perceived OSG benefit) and was therefore considered an excellent approximation of what this survey was designed to measure, supporting its construct validity.

Regression Analysis

Before performing the regression analysis, the correlation matrix among all the variables was examined. The correlation between extraversion and perceived OSG benefit was the only significant correlation (at the 0.01 level, 2-tailed)—the Pearson correlation coefficient for these 2 variables was 0.35. After the regression analysis was performed, extraversion was found to be the only major predictor of self-reported OSG benefit (R^2 =0.125; P<.001). Even though the 5 predictor variables all together significantly predicted perceived OSG benefit (ie, the overall regression model was found to be significant; P=.02), extraversion was the only significant predictor of self-reported OSG benefit, explaining 12.5% of the variability in this outcome variable. The other 4 predictor variables combined only explained 3% of the variance (agreeableness: P=.36; neuroticism: P=.68; positive attitudes toward OSGs: P=.35; typical past OSG use pattern: P=.33).

Neither positive attitudes toward OSGs nor typical past OSG use patterns significantly predicted perceived benefit from the current OSG, meaning that neither of these hypotheses (hypothesis 2 and hypothesis 3) were supported.

Qualitative Results

The last question on the Perceived OSG Benefit scale ("Do you have anything else to add about your experience using the group or how the group helped or didn't help you? If so, could you provide some examples of how the group had an impact on you?") was answered by 73 (90%) out of 81 participants; 65 of the responses were relevant to the question being asked. Table 2 displays the main themes extracted and the number of participants who considered the theme important or relevant. A list of suggestions was also compiled, based on the open-ended responses of improvements suggested by the parents and caregivers, which could be useful for creators or facilitators to improve health and well-being-related outcomes from future OSGs.

The main theme was the lack of engagement, activity, and interaction, particularly from the OSG moderators, due to the paucity of posts; they are more likely to be irrelevant and for the OSG to be dismissed by its members (n=27). Main suggestions for improving future health-related OSGs were (1) posting psychoeducational content directly related to the needs of the patients/caregivers in the OSG; (2) expanded, larger groups could be more helpful due to acquiring more resources and diversity of opinions; and (3) more in-depth, proactive discussion generated by the moderators.



 Table 2. Main themes and suggestions for the benefits of future health-related online support groups (OSGs; n=65).

Themes and suggestions	Participant, n	Illustrative quotes
Negative OSG themes		
The lack of engagement, activity, and interaction, particularly from the OSG moderators, due to the paucity of posts; they are more likely to be irrelevant and for the OSG to be dismissed by its members	27	"There just wasn't a lot of conversation happening in my group. It was very small, and the content of the posts was largely composed of introductions."
The lack of awareness of the OSG, lack of ability to use the social networking sites on which the OSG was hosted (Face- book), or difficulty navigating the OSG's page (lack of digital literacy)	6	 "I'm not typically an online/Facebook user." "I don't really go on Facebook. I finally went on and signed up."
The lack of interpersonal connection and relevance of posts in the OSG; comments were found by some members to be super- ficial (lacking reflection or insight), general, and impersonal	6	 "I found it hard to connect as I'm used to being on my own as a single parent. Most were in relationships and felt I couldn't relate." "Real connection is difficult to establish online."
Positive OSG themes		
Feeling connection, encouragement, positivity, and reassurance from the OSG	4	"It's good to relate to other parents who are having some of the same experiences as I."
Felt welcome to share in the OSG and appreciated reading about situations or experiences that others shared for learning purposes	3	"Reading about others' struggles or experiences is helpful as I don't feel like it's just my family that struggles. I also like that people have posted articles or videos that have been helpful and align with the skills we are learning."
The OSG was well moderated, and shared experiences, and in- vited feedback and conversation	2	"I do appreciate that it is well moderated."
Main suggestions for improving future health-related OSGs		
Posting psychoeducational content directly related to the needs of the patients/caregivers in the OSG	N/A ^a	"I think that it would be more interesting if the moderator posted content that directly relates to what we cover in our phone conversations."
Expanded, larger groups could be more helpful due to acquiring more resources and diversity of opinions	N/A	"I find the larger the group within a community (such as Calgary or Alberta Autism), the better. It allows for enough similarity of situation and enough diversity of thought."
More in-depth, proactive discussion generated by the moderators (eg, asking questions that patients/caregivers can respond to) to engage members and encourage their input to posts (pa- tients/caregivers who are putting themselves out there by creat- ing posts want to feel heard and empathized with)	N/A	"It could be a better source of support if there was more discus- sion generated by the moderators and more input from the par- ticipants."
More sharing of personal experiences, as well as sharing more complex, deep, and vulnerable posts	N/A	"I'd like to see more controversial comments. I found comments to be very one-note and fluffy. I like sharing/hearing personal stories, it would just be nice for them to go deeper. I also didn't feel comfortable sharing in this type of setting. It made me question whether comments would be genuine and whether my opinions would be taken well. I didn't feel the 'opportunity cost' was there in terms of energy it would require to share/feel my opinions were interpreted correctly vs. benefit I'd receive."
Making OSGs more targeted, so that there is a stronger "com- mon denominator" among the members; mandating regular posting if patients/caregivers want to stay in the group to in- crease their motivation to engage	N/A	"I am part of other groups where parents with kids with the same diagnosis are together and those groups are FAR more supportive and informative."
Mandating regular posting if patients/caregivers want to stay in the group, in order to increase their motivation to engage.	N/A	"I don't feel like we are all engaging in it enough because it's voluntary. If everyone was told to post once a week about an experience or to comment it would be more interactive."

^aN/A: not applicable.

XSL•FO RenderX

Discussion

Findings and Implications

This study used a longitudinal mixed design to investigate the predictors of perceived benefits from OSGs among 81 parents of children with neurodevelopmental disorders and challenging behaviors. For this study, we developed and evaluated the Perceived OSG Benefit scale. A secondary analysis generated experiences and suggestions for OSG designs.

Our study yielded 3 principal findings. First, extraversion significantly predicts self-reported OSG benefit in a sample of caregivers of children with neurodevelopmental disorders and challenging behaviors.

Second, suggestions for future health-related OSGs for caregivers were made. They include customizing psychoeducational content; expanding the size of the OSG; more in-depth, proactive discussion; and more sharing of personal experiences and complex, deep, and vulnerable experiences. The qualitative data helped us understand what worked and what did not work in the OSGs.

Lastly, the Perceived OSG Benefit scale created in this study was found to have excellent internal consistency reliability, face validity, and content validity (ie, accurately, dependably, and effectively measuring the full depth and breadth of the construct it was designed to measure), which means it can be used by future researchers to measure benefit from other health-related OSGs. It can be used in the planning, facilitation, and assessment of future OSGs, to help clinicians and other facilitators run these groups in a way that leads to the greatest improvement in health and wellness–related outcomes of the patients/caregivers in the group. Improving the facilitation of OSGs could help caregivers build socioemotional connections and reduce their stress levels and isolation.

Limitations and Future Directions

The primary limitation of this study was that the caregivers participating were also completing a separate intervention, which may have confounded the assessment of perceived benefit from the OSGs. The membership of the OSGs in this study depended on the affiliated intervention; therefore, their experience with the intervention might have impacted their attitudes to and perceived satisfaction with the OSGs. Another limitation is that the author-developed surveys used in this study had not been previously validated, so their generalizability (external validity) to OSGs for other parent or caregiver populations has not yet been determined. Furthermore, the internal consistency of the agreeableness and neuroticism sections of the Ten-Item Personality Inventory was poor. Future research should examine whether these traits predict OSG benefit using a longer, more thorough assessment of the Big Five personality traits (with higher internal consistency reliability), such as the Big Five Personality Inventory (a 50-item measure) [17]. The sampling

method and design of the study may limit the generalizability of our findings. First, this study only examined the OSGs on Facebook as an example, whereas the other OSG users on public forums or websites may show different behaviors and patterns. Second, the OSGs designed in the study may have empowered extroverts to benefit from the group, and they may be more likely to participate in the web-based study. Future studies should use more rigorous designs, such as randomized controlled trials, to test this effect.

Since the preliminary validation of both author-created surveys was successful, they may be used by future researchers and clinicians to identify who would be more likely to participate in and benefit from OSGs. These assessments could then guide clinicians (and other facilitators) in tailoring the design of their OSGs to the specific strengths and vulnerabilities of the members. A flexible, caregiver-centered facilitation of OSGs could be more effective in improving the health and wellness outcomes of those who have preexisting characteristics that predict that they are less likely to benefit from OSGs, such as being introverts. Future research could test various methods (eg, post recommendations and reminders) of engaging caregivers who are less likely to participate in and benefit from OSGs (eg, introverts). Future designs of OSGs should boost their positive effects in both introverts and extroverts and empower both "posters" and "lurkers" to receive high levels of social support, such as posting useful information via OSG moderators.

Future research should further test and validate these author-created surveys in other populations, both for caregivers and patients dealing with a range of different health conditions. More research is also needed to examine why and how extraversion predicts greater perceived benefit (but also actual benefit) from OSGs, as well as using a larger scale (such as the Big Five Personality Inventory) to more thoroughly assess extraversion, agreeableness, and neuroticism in relation to increased OSG benefit. Future studies could also expand on the qualitative findings of this study and test the 6 recommendations for improving health-related OSGs provided by these parents and caregivers.

Conclusions

This study designed and evaluated the Perceived OSG Benefit scale and used a longitudinal design to examine the predictors of OSG benefits. We identified extraversion as a significant predictor of benefits from current OSG designs. Qualitative results yielded the current experiences and suggestions of OSG among parents of children with neurodevelopmental disorders, including customizing psychoeducation; expanding the size of the OSG; more in-depth, proactive discussion; and more sharing of personal experiences and complex, deep, and vulnerable experiences. This study lays a foundation for future studies that aim to study OSG benefits and customize OSG designs for parents of children with neurodevelopmental disorders.



Acknowledgments

The authors would like to acknowledge the health psychology experts and parent advisors who provided the initial feedback regarding the face and content validity of the 2 measures that were created as part of this study.

This project was funded by the Izaak Walton Killam (IWK) Health Centre, CHILD-BRIGHT Network, Canadian Institutes of Health Research, and Canada's Strategy for Patient-Oriented Research Initiative. The funders were not involved in designing the study, data collection, or data analysis.

Data Availability

Deidentified data sets used and analyzed during this study are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request with the permission of the Research Ethics Board of the Izaak Walton Killam (IWK) Health Centre.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1

Personality, Attitudes, and Behavior around Health Forums survey. [DOCX File , 23 KB - nursing v5ile36167 app1.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Perceived OSG Benefit scale. OSG: online support group. [DOCX File , 15 KB - nursing v5i1e36167 app2.docx]

References

- 1. Choi MJ, Kim SH, Lee S, Kwon BC, Yi JS, Choo J, et al. Toward predicting social support needs in online health social networks. J Med Internet Res 2017 Aug 02;19(8):e272 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.7660] [Medline: 28768609]
- Yang D, Yao Z, Seering J, Kraut R. The channel matters: self-disclosure, reciprocity and social support in online cancer support groups. New York, NY: Association for Computing Machinery; 2019 May 02 Presented at: CHI '19: Proceedings of the 2019 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems; May 4-9, 2019; Glasgow, United Kingdom p. 1-15. [doi: 10.1145/3290605.3300261]
- 3. Doty JL, Dworkin J. Online social support for parents: a critical review. Marriage Fam Rev 2014 Mar 03;50(2):174-198. [doi: 10.1080/01494929.2013.834027]
- 4. Hopwood J, Walker N, McDonagh L, Rait G, Walters K, Iliffe S, et al. Internet-based interventions aimed at supporting family caregivers of people with dementia: systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2018 Jun 12;20(6):e216 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.9548] [Medline: 29895512]
- Schwieger T, Campo S, Steuber KR, Weinstein SL, Ashida S. An exploration of information exchange by adolescents and parents participating in adolescent idiopathic scoliosis online support groups. Scoliosis Spinal Disord 2016;11:22 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13013-016-0084-9] [Medline: 27547830]
- Klemm PR, Hayes ER, Diefenbeck CA, Milcarek B. Online support for employed informal caregivers: psychosocial outcomes. Comput Inform Nurs 2014 Jan;32(1):10-20. [doi: <u>10.1097/CIN.000000000000009</u>] [Medline: <u>24284908</u>]
- Wright K. Communication in health-related online social support groups/communities: a review of research on predictors of participation, applications of social support theory, and health outcomes. Rev Commun Res 2016 Jan 31;4:65-87. [doi: 10.12840/issn.2255-4165.2016.04.01.010]
- 8. Wang X, Zhao K, Street N. Analyzing and predicting user participations in online health communities: a social support perspective. J Med Internet Res 2017 Apr 24;19(4):e130 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.6834] [Medline: 28438725]
- 9. Griffiths KM, Mackinnon AJ, Crisp DA, Christensen H, Bennett K, Farrer L. The effectiveness of an online support group for members of the community with depression: a randomised controlled trial. PLoS One 2012;7(12):e53244 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0053244] [Medline: 23285271]
- Steadman J, Pretorius C. The impact of an online Facebook support group for people with multiple sclerosis on non-active users. Afr J Disabil 2014;3(1):132 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.4102/ajod.v3i1.132</u>] [Medline: <u>28730005</u>]
- van Uden-Kraan CF, Drossaert CHC, Taal E, Seydel ER, van de Laar MAFJ. Participation in online patient support groups endorses patients' empowerment. Patient Educ Couns 2009 Jan;74(1):61-69. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.pec.2008.07.044</u>] [Medline: <u>18778909</u>]
- Brailovskaia J, Margraf J. Comparing Facebook users and Facebook non-users: relationship between personality traits and mental health variables - an exploratory study. PLoS One 2016;11(12):e0166999 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1371/journal.pone.0166999</u>] [Medline: <u>27907020</u>]

RenderX

- 13. Pornsakulvanich V. Personality, attitudes, social influences, and social networking site usage predicting online social support. Comput Human Behav 2017 Nov;76:255-262. [doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2017.07.021]
- 14. Correa T, Hinsley AW, de Zúñiga HG. Who interacts on the web?: the intersection of users' personality and social media use. Comput Human Behav 2010 Mar;26(2):247-253. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.chb.2009.09.003</u>]
- Gosling SD, Augustine AA, Vazire S, Holtzman N, Gaddis S. Manifestations of personality in online social networks: self-reported Facebook-related behaviors and observable profile information. Cyberpsychol Behav Soc Netw 2011 Sep;14(9):483-488 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/cyber.2010.0087] [Medline: 21254929]
- 16. Swickert RJ, Hittner JB, Harris JL, Herring JA. Relationships among internet use, personality, and social support. Comput Human Behav 2002 Jul;18(4):437-451. [doi: 10.1016/s0747-5632(01)00054-1]
- 17. Costa PTJ, McCrae RR. Primary traits of Eysenck's P-E-N system: three- and five-factor solutions. J Pers Soc Psychol 1995 Aug;69(2):308-317. [doi: 10.1037//0022-3514.69.2.308] [Medline: 7643307]
- Goldberg LR. The structure of phenotypic personality traits. Am Psychol 1993 Jan;48(1):26-34. [doi: 10.1037//0003-066x.48.1.26] [Medline: 8427480]
- 19. Ross C, Orr ES, Sisic M, Arseneault JM, Simmering MG, Orr RR. Personality and motivations associated with Facebook use. Comput Human Behav 2009 Mar;25(2):578-586. [doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2008.12.024]
- 20. Orchard LJ, Fullwood C, Galbraith N, Morris N. Individual differences as predictors of social networking. J Comput Mediat Comm 2014 Feb 17;19(3):388-402. [doi: 10.1111/jcc4.12068]
- 21. Moore K, McElroy JC. The influence of personality on Facebook usage, wall postings, and regret. Comput Human Behav 2012 Jan;28(1):267-274. [doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2011.09.009]
- 22. Clifford T. Support groups for parents of children with autism spectrum disorders [dissertation]. Queen's University. 2011. URL: <u>https://tinyurl.com/fvdrz5s8</u> [accessed 2022-08-05]
- Coulson NS. How do online patient support communities affect the experience of inflammatory bowel disease? an online survey. JRSM Short Rep 2013;4(8):2042533313478004 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/2042533313478004] [Medline: 24040493]
- 24. Mo P, Coulson N. Empowering processes in online support groups among people living with HIV/AIDS: a comparative analysis of 'lurkers' and 'posters'. Comput Human Behav 2010 Sep;26(5):1183-1193. [doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2010.03.028]
- 25. Zhang S, Bantum EO, Owen J, Bakken S, Elhadad N. Online cancer communities as informatics intervention for social support: conceptualization, characterization, and impact. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2017 Mar 01;24(2):451-459 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jamia/ocw093] [Medline: 27402140]
- 26. Lawlor A, Kirakowski J. Online support groups for mental health: a space for challenging self-stigma or a means of social avoidance? Comput Human Behav 2014 Mar;32:152-161. [doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2013.11.015]
- 27. McGrath PJ, Lach L. Parent training for challenging behaviour in children with neurodevelopmental disabilities: strongest familiesTM neurodevelopmental. Clinical Trials. 2022 Mar 31. URL: <u>https://clinicaltrials.gov/show/NCT03835689</u> [accessed 2022-08-14]
- Harris PA, Taylor R, Minor BL, Elliott V, Fernandez M, O'Neal L, REDCap Consortium. The REDCap consortium: building an international community of software platform partners. J Biomed Inform 2019 Jul;95:103208 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2019.103208] [Medline: 31078660]
- 29. Krosnick JA, Presser S. Question and questionnaire design. In: Wright JD, Marsden PV, editors. Handbook of Survey Research. 2nd ed. San Diego, CA: Elsevier; 2010:263-313.
- 30. Gosling SD, Rentfrow PJ, Swann WB. A very brief measure of the Big-Five personality domains. J Res Pers 2003 Dec;37(6):504-528. [doi: 10.1016/s0092-6566(03)00046-1]
- Huh J, Kwon BC, Kim SH, Lee S, Choo J, Kim J, et al. Personas in online health communities. J Biomed Inform 2016 Oct;63:212-225 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2016.08.019] [Medline: 27568913]
- 32. Owen JE, Boxley L, Goldstein MS, Lee JH, Breen N, Rowland JH. Use of health-related online support groups: population data from the California Health Interview Survey Complementary and Alternative Medicine Study. J Comput Mediat Commun 2010 Apr 01;15(3):427-446. [doi: 10.1111/j.1083-6101.2010.01501.x]
- 33. Russell DJ, Sprung J, McCauley D, Kraus de Camargo O, Buchanan F, Gulko R, et al. Knowledge exchange and discovery in the age of social media: the journey from inception to establishment of a parent-led web-based research advisory community for childhood disability. J Med Internet Res 2016 Nov 11;18(11):e293 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.5994] [Medline: 27836818]
- 34. Attkisson CC, Zwick R. The client satisfaction questionnaire. psychometric properties and correlations with service utilization and psychotherapy outcome. Eval Program Plann 1982;5(3):233-237. [doi: 10.1016/0149-7189(82)90074-x] [Medline: 10259963]
- 35. Kelly PJ, Kyngdon F, Ingram I, Deane FP, Baker AL, Osborne BA. The Client Satisfaction Questionnaire-8: psychometric properties in a cross-sectional survey of people attending residential substance abuse treatment. Drug Alcohol Rev 2018 Jan;37(1):79-86. [doi: 10.1111/dar.12522] [Medline: 28480521]
- 36. Kendall S, Bloomfield L. Developing and validating a tool to measure parenting self-efficacy. J Adv Nurs 2005 Jul;51(2):174-181. [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2648.2005.03479.x] [Medline: 15963189]

RenderX

- 37. Erdfelder E, Faul F, Buchner A. GPOWER: a general power analysis program. Behav Res Methods Instruments Comput 1996 Mar;28(1):1-11. [doi: 10.3758/bf03203630]
- 38. Braun V, Clarke V. Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qual Res Psychol 2006 Jan;3(2):77-101. [doi: 10.1191/1478088706qp063oa]
- Nowell LS, Norris JM, White DE, Moules NJ. Thematic analysis: striving to meet the trustworthiness criteria. Int J Qual Methods 2017 Oct 02;16(1):160940691773384. [doi: 10.1177/1609406917733847]

Abbreviations

OSG: online support group **RCT:** randomized controlled trial **SNS:** social networking sites

 Edited by E Borycki; submitted 04.01.22; peer-reviewed by A McLean, D Smit; comments to author 13.02.22; revised version received 19.05.22; accepted 03.06.22; published 18.08.22.

 <u>Please cite as:</u>

 Milios A, Xiong T, McEwan K, McGrath P

 Personality, Attitudes, and Behaviors Predicting Perceived Benefit in Online Support Groups for Caregivers: Mixed Methods Study JMIR Nursing 2022;5(1):e36167

 URL: https://nursing.jmir.org/2022/1/e36167

 PMID: 35980741

©Athena Milios, Ting Xiong, Karen McEwan, Patrick McGrath. Originally published in JMIR Nursing (https://nursing.jmir.org), 18.08.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Nursing, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://nursing.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Publisher: JMIR Publications 130 Queens Quay East. Toronto, ON, M5A 3Y5 Phone: (+1) 416-583-2040 Email: <u>support@jmir.org</u>

https://www.jmirpublications.com/

